Appendix A. Triple H Wind Project –Site Characterization Study - Report

Site Characterization Study of the Triple H Wind Resource Area Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota



Prepared for:

Infinity Wind Power, LLC 3760 State Street, Suite 200 Santa Barbara, California 93105

Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc.

March 9, 2016



TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	1
INTRODUCTION	
STUDY AREA	
METHODS	
RESULTS	10
Land Cover	10
Wetlands and Riparian Areas	10
Sensitive Habitats	13
Wildlife	14
Observed Wildlife	14
Federally-Listed Species	14
Northern Long-eared Bat	15
Whooping Crane	16
Red Knot	18
Interior Least Tern	18
Piping Plover	18
Sprague's Pipit	19
Pallid Sturgeon	19
South Dakota State-Listed Species	19
Northern River Otter	20
Swift Fox	20
Sicklefin Chub	21
False Map Turtle	21
Sensitive and Special-Status Plant Species	21
Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN)	21
Raptors	22
Bald Eagle	23
Golden Eagle	24
Other Raptor Species with Potential to Occur in the Area	25
Potential for Raptor Migration in the Area	25
Potential Raptor Nesting Habitat	
Areas of Potentially High Prey Density within the Triple H Wind Resource Area	26
Bird Migration	27
Breeding Birds	

Important Bird Areas	28
USFWS Birds of Conservation Concern	
USGS Breeding Bird Survey	29
Bats	31
Summary	34
REFERENCES	35

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Land cover/use (acres and percent composition) present within the Triple H Wind Resource Area (THWRA). Source: USGS NLCD 2011	10
Table 2. Wetland types and acreage within the Triple H Wind Resource Area (THWRA). Source: USFWS NWI 2015.	11
Table 3. Protected Areas within 10 miles of the Triple H Wind Resource Area. Sources:Landscape Assessment Tool 2016, TNC 2016, Google Earth 2016.	13
Table 4. Wildlife species observed at the Triple H Wind Resource Area and vicinity during the February 26, 2016 site visit	14
Table 5. Wildlife species listed as federally endangered (E), threatened (T), and candidate species by the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) with the potential to occur in the Triple H Wind Resource Area. Sources: Jennings et. Al 2005; USFWS 2016b	15
Table 6. State of South Dakota threatened (T) or endangered (E) species with documented occurrence in Hughes and Hyde Counties. Sources: SDDGF 2015, USGS 2016	20
Table 7. Birds and bats listed as South Dakota Species of Greatest Conservation Need with the potential to occur in the Triple H Wind Resource Area, based on distribution range maps. Federally and State-listed bird and bat species are included. Source: Jennings et al. 2005; USGS GAP 2016.	22
Table 8. Raptor species with the potential to occur in the Triple H Wind Resource Area, basedon range maps. Federally and State-listed bird species are included. Source:Jennings et al. 2005.	24
Table 9. Bat species with the potential to occur in the Triple H Wind Resource Area based on range maps (BCI 2015).	31
Table 10. Summary of public cumulative bat fatalities (by species) from wind energy facilities in North America.	32

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. General location of the Triple H Wind Resource Area in Hughes and Hyde Counties,	
South Dakota	5

Figure	2. Topography of the Triple H Wind Resource Area in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota	. 6
Figure	3. Elevation in the Triple H Wind Resource Area in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota	. 7
Figure	4. Land cover/use within the Triple H Wind Resource Area in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota	. 8
Figure	5. National Wetland Inventory (NWI) and National Hydrography Dataset (NHD) rivers, streams, and wetlands within the Triple H Wind Resource Area in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota	. 9
Figure	6. Aerial imagery of the Triple H Wind Resource Area, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota	.12
Figure	7. Location of the Triple H Wind Resource Area, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota, in relation to the whooping crane migration corridor and whooping crane observations.	.17
Figure	8. Nearest US Geological Survey Breeding Bird Survey routes to the Triple H Wind Resource Area (USGS 2014).	.30

LIST OF APPENDICES

- Appendix A. Photographs of the Triple H Wind Resource Area from the Site Visit on February 26, 2016. Additional photographs are available upon request.
- Appendix B. Correspondence with the US Fish and Wildlife Service and the South Dakota Department of Game, Fish, and Parks
- Appendix C. Bird Species of Conservation Concern (USFWS BCC) within the Prairie Potholes Bird Conservation Region
- Appendix D. Summary of Publicly-Available Studies from North American Wind Energy Facilities that have Reported Bat Fatalities

This document or presentation includes Whooping Crane migration use data from the Central Flyway stretching from Canada to Texas, collected, managed and owned by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Data were provided to Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. as a courtesy for their use. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service has not directed, reviewed, or endorsed any aspect of the use of these data. Any and all data analyses, interpretations, and conclusions from these data are solely those of Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc.

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

The Triple H Wind Resource Area (THWRA or Project) is approximately 39,069 acres (ac; 15,811 hectares [ha]) located in the Northwestern Glaciated Plains Level III Ecoregion of Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota. Land ownership in and around the THWRA is primarily private. Dominant land cover types are grassland and crop. The most abundant cover types within the THWRA are herbaceous lands followed by croplands: corn, sunflower, and spring wheat. Wetlands, individual trees, isolated tree stands, and deciduous tree lines are scattered throughout the THWRA.

Grasslands scattered throughout the THWRA may provide stopover habitat for migrant or individual birds. Harvested grain crops, such as corn and sunflower (observed during the 2016 site visit), could serve as feeding areas for migrating water birds, waterfowl, and other birds. The intermittent and perennial streams and emergent wetlands provide important stopover habitat for migrating water birds, waterfowl, and shorebirds, and may be attractive to raptors that hunt birds concentrated at waterbodies. These types of habitats are found throughout the region and, therefore, their presence in the THWRA are unlikely to disproportionally concentrate bird use compared to the surrounding areas.

There are two State Trust Lands within the boundary of the THWRA, and there are 3 protected areas within 10 miles of the THWRA with the potential to attract wildlife to the general region. The closest area likely to attract wildlife is Hyde County Waterfowl Production Area that is adjacent to the southern edge of the project boundary.

Wildlife species associated with grasslands and tilled agricultural landscapes are expected to be the most common species at the THWRA. Data from the two closest US Geological Survey (USGS) Breeding Bird Survey (BBS) routes from 2011 to 2014 include 86 bird species, with brown-headed cowbird, western meadowlark, common grackle, dickcissel, red-winged blackbird, mourning dove, and cliff swallow being the most commonly recorded species. A great horned owl nest and a total of 11 avian species and one mammal species, were recorded during the February 26, 2016 site visit, .with snow goose and horned lark being the most commonly observed species.

Seven federally-listed endangered, threatened, or candidate species have the potential to occur within the counties containing the THWRA based on geographic ranges: northern long-eared bat, whooping crane, red knot, piping plover, interior least tern, Sprague's pipit, and pallid sturgeon. Occurrence of any of these species within the actual THWRA is unknown, but unlikely.

The following diurnal raptor and vulture species may occur in the THWRA: bald eagle, broadwinged hawk, Cooper's hawk, ferruginous hawk, golden eagle, northern goshawk, northern harrier, osprey, red-tailed hawk, rough-legged hawk, sharp-shinned hawk, and Swainson's hawk, three of which were documented during the winter 2016 site visit: golden eagle, northern harrier, and great horned owl. Non-breeding golden eagles are known to occur in the vicinity of the THWRA; bald eagles may occur year-round in the Project area. Nocturnal owl species that could be found in the Project area include the long-eared owl, short-eared owl, great horned owl, eastern screech owl, northern saw-whet owl, and burrowing owl.

One occupied great horned owl nest was recorded during the winter 2016 site. Potential raptor nesting areas were also documented in the winter 2016 site visit. Suitable raptor nesting habitat is present in the form of living and dead trees, buildings, and utility poles. Grassland areas could provide nesting habitat for ground-nesting raptors. Two prairie dog colonies were observed on the southern and eastern boundaries of the Project during the site visit. Prairie dog towns have the potential to concentrate raptor use. Other potential raptor prey species such as rodents, shrews, cottontails, and other birds are also present within the THWRA. Wetlands also serve to concentrate prey resources during most times of the year, but especially during migration and winter. With raptor roost sites (e.g., trees and power poles) and food available, it is likely that some raptors will use the THWRA for foraging.

Six of the eight bat species, based on range maps, that potentially occur in or around the THWRA have been documented as fatalities at wind energy facilities: big brown bat, eastern red bat, hoary bat, little brown bat, northern long-eared bat (federally-threatened and a State SGCN), and silver-haired bat. The other two bat species, the Townsend's big-eared bat (a State SGCN) and the western small-footed myotis, are unlikely to occur within the THWRA. Some suitable roosting and foraging bat habitat was found in the THWRA during the February 2016 site visit. Development and operation of the THWRA would likely result in fatalities of some bats with peak fatalities likely occurring during the fall season; however, fatalities should be within the average range of bat mortalities found at wind farms throughout the Midwest and South Dakota.

Information about sensitive species presence and locations may be requested from South Dakota Department of Game, Fish, and Parks (SDDGFP) and the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS); however, a search of the USFWS iPaC database has been conducted and is included in the report.

INTRODUCTION

Knowledge of biological resource issues early in the development phase of wind energy facilities helps the industry identify, avoid, and minimize future impacts potentially resulting from project construction and operations. This report describes biological resources present within the proposed Triple H Wind Resource Area (THWRA or Project) and evaluates these general characteristics relative to potential or known impacts on the resources from the proposed Project. This Site Characterization Study (SCS) is intended to meet the requirements of a Tier 2 Site Characterization of the Land-based Wind Energy Guidelines (USFWS 2012a) by describing biological issues and potential risks that development may pose to species of concern or their habitats.

STUDY AREA

The THWRA located in Hughes and Hyde Counties, approximately 2 miles (mi; 3.2 kilometers [km]) south of the city of Holabird, South Dakota (Figure 1). The THWRA is located within the Northwestern Glaciated Plains Level III Ecoregion, a transitional region between the generally more level, moister, more agricultural Northern Glaciated Plains to the east and the generally more irregular, dryer, Northwestern Great Plains to the west and southwest. This ecoregion is characterized by significant surface irregularity and high concentrations of seasonal and semi-permanent wetlands (prairie potholes). Land use is transitional between the intensive dryland farming to the east and the predominance of cattle ranching and farming to the west (Bryce et al. 1996). Mean temperatures in the area range between 14 – 60 Fahrenheit degrees (°F) (-10 and 16 Celsius degrees [°C]) and annual precipitation ranges from 9.8 to 21.6 inches (in) (250 to 550 mm; Bryce et al. 1996). The topography within the THWRA consists of rolling hills, with elevations ranging from 558 to 642 meters (m; 1,830 to 2,106 feet [ft]) above sea level (ASL; Figures 2 and 3; US Geological Survey [USGS] Digital Elevation Model [DEM] 2013). Land ownership in and around the THWRA is primarily private.

The primary land use/cover within the THWRA is herbaceous lands followed by cultivated crops, especially corn (*Zea mays*), sunflower (*Helianthus sp.*), and spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum*). All other land use/cover types represent a small percentage of the total area (Figure 4; US Geological Survey [USGS] National Land Cover Data [NLCD] 2011). Native plant communities are present within the THWRA, but non-native grasses are the most abundant grass type. The THWRA also contains open water areas, farmsteads, tree rows, wooded areas along streams, wind breaks, and wooded patches behind residences. Wetlands, especially freshwater emergent wetlands, are dispersed throughout the (Figure 5; USFWS NWI 2015, US Geological Service [USGS] National Hydrography Dataset [NHD] 2015). Appendix A includes representative photographs of the THWRA.

METHODS

Biological resources within the THWRA were evaluated through a reconnaissance-level site visit and a desktop search of publicly available data. Several sources of data were used to identify biological resources within the Project area, including published literature, field guides, prior assessments of the area, agency reports, data available from the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), the South Dakota Game, Fish, and Parks Department (SDDGFP), the USFWS National Wetlands Inventory (NWI), and public data sets. Information about sensitive species presence and locations was found online using the SDGFPD's list of Rare Animals and Plants (SDDGFP 2009, 2016a), the SDGFP's list of Threatened, Endangered, and Candidate Species (SDDGFPD 2015), and the USFWS Information, Planning, and Conservation (IPaC) System (USFWS 2016a, Appendix B).

The reconnaissance-level site visit conducted as part of this evaluation entailed an examination of the site from accessible public roads on February 26, 2016. Biological features and potential wildlife habitat, including plant communities, creeks, wetlands, topographic features, potential raptor nesting habitat, and potential raptor prey populations were evaluated during this visit. All wildlife species observed during the site visit were recorded (see Observed Wildlife section below), and photos were taken of the THWRA (Appendix A).



Figure 1. General location of the Triple H Wind Resource Area in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota.

WEST, Inc.



Figure 2. Topography of the Triple H Wind Resource Area in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota.

WEST, Inc.



Figure 3. Elevation in the Triple H Wind Resource Area in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota.



Figure 4. Land cover/use within the Triple H Wind Resource Area in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota.

WEST, Inc.



Figure 5. National Wetland Inventory (NWI) and National Hydrography Dataset (NHD) rivers, streams, and wetlands within the Triple H Wind Resource Area in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota..

RESULTS

Land Cover

Approximately 62.3% of the THWRA is covered by herbaceous lands, followed by cultivated crops (33.4%); all other land cover/use types represent less than 5% of the total Project area (Table 1, Figure 4; USGS NLCD 2011). Although the "herbaceous" category does not differentiate between planted and native grass, the site visit indicated that herbaceous areas and hay/pasture areas included both native and introduced plant species such as Kentucky bluegrass (*Poa pratensis*), smooth brome (*Bromus inermis*), and blue grama (*Bouteloua gracilis*).

Land Cover/Use	Acreage within the THWRA	% Composition within the THWRA
Herbaceous	24,327.7	62.3
Cultivated Crops	13,040.5	33.4
Developed, Open Space	900.7	2.3
Open Water	565.5	1.4
Hay/Pasture	126.2	0.3
Emergent Herbaceous Wetlands	74.2	0.2
Developed, Low Intensity	20.2	<0.1
Developed, Medium Intensity	8.9	<0.1
Deciduous Forest	2.2	<0.1
Total	39,066.1	100

 Table 1. Land cover/use (acres and percent composition) present within the Triple H Wind

 Resource Area (THWRA). Source: USGS NLCD 2011.

Wetlands and Riparian Areas

Broad-scale information about wetlands and riparian areas is based on USFWS NWI (2015), USGS NHD (2015) data (Table 2, Figure 5), topographic data (USGS DEM 2013), and aerial imagery (Figure 6; USDA 2014). Land cover/use data (Table 1, Figure 4, USGS NLCD 2011) are not a good representation of wetlands because they are not fine-scale enough to show the small wetland areas indicated in the USFWS NWI (2015) dataset. Therefore, there is a large discrepancy in the acreage of emergent wetlands reported in the NLCD and NWI datasets (74.2 ac and 1,979.8 ac, respectively). Although the NWI dataset likely overestimates the acreage of wetlands currently present within the Project area, it better represents the actual wetland cover at the THWRA as evidenced during the site visit on February 26, 2016.

According to NWI data, 1,115 features make up about 2,684 acres of wetlands and open water within the THWRA. Freshwater emergent wetlands are the dominant wetland type, making up about 73.8% of all NWI recorded wetlands in the THWRA (Table 2; USFWS NWI 2015). Freshwater ponds (13.8%), lakes (12.3%), and freshwater forested/shrub wetlands (0.1%) are the only other wetland feature types present within the THWRA.

	Wetland Acreage	% Composition of Wetlands
Wetland Type	within the THWRA	within the THWRA
Freshwater Emergent Wetland	1,979.8	73.8
Freshwater Pond	370.1	13.8
Lake	331.2	12.3
Freshwater Forested/Shrub Wetland	2.7	0.1
Total	2,683.8	100

Table 2. Wetland types and acreage within the Triple H Wind Resource Area (THWRA).Source: USFWS NWI 2015.



Figure 6. Aerial imagery of the Triple H Wind Resource Area, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota.

WEST, Inc.

Sensitive Habitats

State and federal agencies and organizations frequently purchase easements to conserve important habitats for migratory birds and other sensitive species. There are two State Trust Lands within the boundary of the THWRA, and two other protected areas within 10 mi (16 km) of the THWRA, with the potential to attract wildlife to the general region. Huron Wetland Management District - Waterfowl Production Area, adjacent to the southern edge of the Project boundary, is the closest protected area (Table 3).

Protected Area	Governing Agency/ Organization	Approximate Distance from Project Area (mi)	Direction from Project Area	
Huron Wetland Management District - Waterfowl		0	9	
Production Area	USFWS	0	0	
Crow Creek Reservation	Crow Creek Tribe	9.6	S	
Hand County Waterfowl Production Area 36	USFWS	9.9	SE	

Table 3. Protected Areas within 10 miles of the Triple H Wind Resource Area. Sources:	Landscape
Assessment Tool 2016, TNC 2016, Google Earth 2016.	-

Some acreage within the Project area might be under contract with the U.S. Department of Agriculture – Farm Service Agency (USDA-FSA) and be managed in agreement under the US Conservation Reserve Program (CRP). Although some restrictions may apply to the properties under this program, which could affect construction or operational procedures, CRP lands do not exclude wind development. The Hughes County FSA office may be contacted to verify the US CRP (2004) information, in order to adjust Project activities if necessary, by avoiding installation of wind turbines on CRP lands within the THWRA to the extent possible, or by siting turbines along the edges of CRP lands so that associated development (access roads, facilities) can be built on non-CRP lands.

The presence of wind turbines may alter landscape structure so that animal habitat use patterns are altered, possibly displacing some wildlife, including species of concern, through the indirect effects of habitat fragmentation and degradation. The greatest concern with displacement impacts are for wind energy facilities placed on native grasslands, which may be present in some locations throughout the THWRA (Table 1; NLCD 2011). Because the THWRA contains some native grasslands, it is possible that some grassland-dependent species may be displaced. As the project becomes more defined in terms of layout and proposed ground disturbance, further investigation into sensitive species and habitats may be warranted.

Development of the Project facilities, infrastructure, roads, and transmission lines could result in temporary impacts to the plant community itself as well as permanent loss of some vegetation into its developed land use. Installation of buried and overhead electrical collector systems and concrete pads for turbine foundations will primarily only have temporary surface impacts as the majority of the disturbed area will undergo restoration and revegetation rather than remaining permanently converted.

Wildlife

When exploring prospective sites for a wind energy facility, knowledge of wildlife and other biological resources helps the developer identify and avoid potential environmental problems early in the development process. The purpose of this section is to characterize wildlife resources within the proposed THWRA to determine if additional biological resource surveys are warranted, as well as to identify the timing of recommended future studies. Wildlife species associated with grasslands and cultivated croplands are expected to be the most common species at the THWRA. The federal Endangered Species Act (ESA) mandates protection of species listed as federally threatened or endangered and their associated habitats (ESA 1973).

Observed Wildlife

Wildlife species and habitats likely to occur in the THWRA were examined through a search of existing data and the site visit. Available data used to identify wildlife resources within the THWRA included published literature, field guides, and public data sets, as well as the SDGFP and USFWS websites. Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) biologist conducted a site visit on February 26, 2016 to evaluate habitat, potential for bird migratory pathways, and to look for raptor nests, prey populations, and other biological resources, recording all wildlife species and habitat characteristics observed during the site visit.

A total of 11 avian species and a great horned owl nest were recorded during the site visit conducted in 2016 (Table 4), with snow goose and horned lark being the most common avian species observed. Numerous photographs were also taken of the THWRA (Appendix A).

Common Name	Scientific Name
Passerines	
horned lark	Eremophila alpestris
mourning dove	Zenaida macroura
red-winged blackbird	Agelaius phoeniceus
unknown sparrow	N/A
Raptors	
golden eagle	Aquila chrysaetos
great horned owl	Bubo virginianus
northern harrier	Circus cyaneus
unknown raptor	N/A
Upland Game Birds	
ring-necked pheasant	Phasianus colchicus
Water Birds	
snow goose	Chen caerulescens
unknown duck	N/A
Mammals	
black-tailed prairie dog	Cynomys Iudovicianus

Table 4. Wildlife species observed at the Triple H Wind Resource Area and vicinity during the
February 26, 2016 site visit .

Federally-Listed Species

Six wildlife species listed as federally threatened (T) or endangered (E) under the ESA (ESA 1973) have been verified to occur or have the potential to occur in Hughes and Hyde Counties

(USFWS 2016b). This includes four federally listed avian species, one federally listed bat species, and one federally listed fish species (Table 5; USFWS 2016b). These six species are described in more detail below. One candidate (C) species possibly occurs as a migrant in Hyde County. Candidate species are not federally protected under the ESA, but some candidate birds are federally protected under the MBTA. However, since candidate species may become protected under the ESA within the life of the proposed project, they are addressed in this section (see Sprague's pipit).

·		Federal	Likelihood of
Common Name	Scientific Name	Status	Occurrence in THWRA
Mammals			
northern long-eared bat	Myotis septentrionalis	Т	Possible
Birds			
whooping crane ¹	Grus americana	E	Possible
red knot	Calidris canutus rufa	Т	Unlikely
interior least tern ¹	Sterna antillarum	E	Possible
piping plover ¹	Charadrius melodus	Т	Possible
Sprague's pipit	Anthus spragueii	С	Unlikely
Fish			-
pallid sturgeon	Scaphirhynchus albus	E	No occurrence

Table	5. Wildlife	species	listed a	s federally	endangered	(E),	threatened	(T), ai	nd candie	date
	species b	y the US	Fish and	d Wildlife S	ervice (USFW	VS) w	ith the pote	ntial to	occur in	the
	Triple H V	Vind Reso	ource Ar	ea. Sources	s: Jenninas e	t. al 2	005: USFW	S 2016	b.	

¹ Also listed as State threatened or endangered (SDDGFP 2015)

Northern Long-eared Bat

The northern long-eared bat (NLEB, *Myotis septentrionalis*) is found in the United States, from Maine to North Carolina on the Atlantic Coast, westward to eastern Oklahoma and north through part of South and North Dakota (USFWS 2016c). This species hibernates in caves and abandoned mines during winter. During the summer, individuals may roost alone or in small colonies beneath exfoliating bark, or in cavities or crevices of both live and dead trees (BCI 2015).

South Dakota contains 21 known northern long-eared bat hibernacula, all within the Black Hills, in western South Dakota, nine of which are abandoned mines (USFWS 2015d). Northern long-eared bats, including some pregnant females, have been captured during the summer along the Missouri River in South Dakota (Swier 2006, Kiesow and Kiesow 2010). Acoustic data recorded by bat monitoring stations operated by the South Dakota Department of Game, Fish, and Parks (SDDGFP) also detected the northern long-eared bat sporadically throughout the State (across 16 counties) in 2011 and 2012 (USFWS 2015d).

The USFWS recently determined that all operating wind facilities greater than 150 mi (241.4 km) from a cave with documented white-nose syndrome (WNS) would be exempt under rule 4d, and as currently understood, the Project falls within the 4d rule area for NLEB (greater than 150 mi from a cave with documented white nose syndrome; USFWS 2016k). The THWRA is located within the estimated range for the species (USFWS 2016c) and, as evidenced during to the site visit, suitable habitat features in the form of tall trees, abandoned buildings, riparian areas, and caves are present throughout the proposed THWRA. Although WNS (caused by the fungus

Pseudogymnoascus destructans) is the primary threat to northern long-eared bat populations (USFWS 2016c), there is additional concern about the impacts of wind facilities on bat species.

Due to its location, the presence of limited suitable habitat, and recorded occurrences of NLEB in the general vicinity of the Project, it is possible that this species occurs in the Project area during migration and/or summer (see Bats section).

Whooping Crane

The whooping crane (*Grus americana*) is a Federal and State endangered migratory species that prefers stopovers in croplands interspersed with palustrine wetlands (USFWS 2016e). The only self-sustaining wild population, with an estimated 308 whooping cranes (including 39 juveniles and 112 adult pairs) as of the winter of 2014-2015 (USFWS 2016e, USFWS 2016f), over-winters in the Texas Gulf Coast at the Aransas National Wildlife Refuge. The cranes then migrate north through Oklahoma, Kansas, Nebraska, and the Dakotas to breed in the Northwest Territories of Canada (USFWS 2016g). Each spring and fall, 95% of whooping crane sightings occur within a 180-mile (289-km) wide migration corridor along this route (Stehn 1998). The THWRA is within the 75 and 80% migration corridor (Figure 7; Stehn and Wassenich 2007).

Whooping cranes occasionally migrate with sandhill cranes (*Grus canadensis*), so stop-over sites used by sandhill cranes may be used to identify potential whooping crane stop-over areas (Canadian Wildlife Service [CWS] and USFWS 2007). The THWRA provides potentially suitable habitat for both sandhill and whooping crane species as it is primarily composed of herbaceous cover and cropland (62.3% and 33.4%, respectively), with interspersed streams and areas of open water (1.4% of the Project Area; Table 1). Although no whooping crane sightings have been documented within the THWRA, there have been eight confirmed sightings between 1991 and 2011 within 10 miles (16 km) of the current Project boundary (Cooperative Whooping Crane Tracking Project [CWCTP] 2014). In the spring of 2010, during monitoring for cranes conducted at the Titan I wind facility in Hand County, South Dakota, approximately 6 mi (9.25 km) northeast of the Project boundary, a group of five whooping cranes spent three days approximately 2 mi (3.22 km) from the project. The closest they ever were on the ground from a turbine was 1.2 mi (2 km; Stehn 2011).

Whooping cranes generally migrate at 1,000-5,000 ft (305-1,524 m), altitudes well above turbine height (Stehn and Wassenich 2007); thus, for the most part, whooping cranes are unlikely to collide with turbines. However, whooping cranes ascend and descend during landing, or in inclement weather, they may fly at lower altitudes, sometimes within rotor swept areas. Because whooping cranes are so rare, it is very difficult to predict the probability of whooping cranes colliding with proposed turbines. Generally, risk is considered low due to low population numbers and the little amount of time they spend flying during migration within the rotor swept heights. Due to its location, the habitat features observed during the site visit surrounded by agricultural and grassland cover types and freshwater emergent wetlands, and the documented whooping crane sightings in the general area, it is likely that this species occurs within the THWRA, but not to a greater degree than the surrounding areas with similar habitat.



Figure 7. Location of the Triple H Wind Resource Area, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota, in relation to the whooping crane migration corridor and whooping crane observations.

Red Knot

The rufa red knot (*Calidris canutus rufa*) is a federally-listed threatened shorebird species that breeds in the tundra of the central Canadian Arctic and winters in Tierra del Fuego at the southern tip of South America (USFWS 2013b). Outside of its breeding grounds, it uses marine habitats such as estuaries and bays (USFWS 2015b). The red knot is a potential but infrequent migrant through the THWRA during spring and fall, however, potential of occurrence within the Project area is considered unlikely given the lack of confirmed observations in the region (eBird 2016) and lack of suitable stopover habitat within the THWRA.

Interior Least Tern

The Federally and State endangered least tern (*Sterna antillarum*), interior population, breeds along barren areas near water such as riverine inter-channel sandbars, salt marshes, or salt flats (NatureServe 2016a). These birds prefer open habitat, and tend to avoid thick vegetation and narrow beaches. Favorable nesting habitat includes sand and gravel bars within a wide unobstructed river channel or open flats along shorelines of lakes and reservoirs, away from disturbed areas and near plentiful sources of small fish, although they will forage up to 12 km (7.5. mi) from their nests (USFWS 2015c, NatureServe 2016). Ideal foraging areas include shallow water regions of lakes, ponds, and rivers (USFWS 2013a, NatureServe 2016a).

Least terns may occur anywhere in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota during migration or breeding along the Missouri River. Although no suitable nesting habitat was identified within the THWRA during the site visit conducted in February 2016, there is evidence of breeding activity of interior least terns within 13 mi (21 km) of the Project area (USFWS 2013a, 2015c). There is some potential for interior least terns to occur in the Project area when they migrate.

Piping Plover

The piping plover (*Charadrius melodus*) is a Federally and State threatened migratory shorebird that nests and forages along shorelines of small lakes, large beaches, river islands, or industrial pond shorelines. Wide beaches with sparse vegetation are preferred nesting habitat, while wintering habitat includes ocean beaches (NatureServe 2016b). The piping plover Northern Great Plains Distinct Population Segment (DPS) occupies sand and gravel bars and beaches along major rivers and around lakes, reservoirs, ponds, and alkali wetlands. In South Dakota, the species has been documented in Hughes County (SDDGFP 2015), one of the counties intersected by the THWRA.

Critical Habitat is designated along the Missouri River/Oahe Reservoir in Hughes County (USFWS 2002); this is the closest critical habitat to the THWRA (within about 20 mi [33 km] to the west of the Project boundary). There is very little information available about historic levels of breeding piping plovers prior to the 1980's. The 1988 Recovery Plan (USFWS 1988) documents historic breeding along the Missouri River and in alkaline wetlands in South Dakota. Although Oahe Reservoir supported approximately 19% of all Missouri River piping plovers from 1994 through 2004 (Aron 2005), recent surveys of off-river sites have found few birds nesting in alkaline wetlands throughout the State (USFWS 2009).

Inland nesting piping plovers are infrequently seen at suitable migration stopover points, indicating that they may fly non-stop to their Gulf of Mexico wintering areas (Johnson et al. 1997). Reports of piping plovers during migration are not common for the State, but do occur east and west of the THWRA (eBird.org 2016). Piping plovers are not known to breed within the THWRA, but they do breed in the vicinity of the Project along the Missouri River (Aron 2005). The February 2016 site visit indicated that emergent wetlands within the Project may provide limited suitable piping plover habitat during low water years (Table 2). Although unlikely, the potential for occurrence of breeding piping plovers exists based on suitable habitat present within and around the THWRA. Outside of the breeding period, this species may migrate over the Project area.

Sprague's Pipit

The Sprague pipit (*Anthus spragueii*), a federal candidate species, is a declining ground nesting songbird that breeds and winters in open, contiguous grasslands that lack shrubs or trees. Breeding territories are established for both nesting and foraging, and are likely influenced by the size of grassland patches and the amount of grassland in the landscape (Jones 2010). Therefore, Sprague's pipit is an area sensitive species that is highly vulnerable to grassland degradation and fragmentation. Sprague's pipits may not be as tightly tied to native prairie in winter or migration as they are during the breeding season (Igl and Ballard 1999). The breeding range of Sprague's pipit in South Dakota is generally north of the THWRA; however the species may migrate through any portion of South Dakota using native and non-native habitats such as weedy fields, pastures, and grazed grasslands as stopover sites, and native, medium to intermediate height prairie with low visual obstruction as breeding territories (Davis 2004, USFWS 2014a).

Verified or potential occurrence of this species has been reported for Hyde County (USFWS 2016h, eBird 2016). The proposed Project might cause grassland habitat loss, alteration, and fragmentation, with negative effects on habitat suitability for Sprague's pipits. While large blocks of native prairie in the THWRA are limited and use of the Project area by breeding Sprague's pipits is unlikely, use of the Project area by migrant birds is possible.

Pallid Sturgeon

The pallid sturgeon (*Scaphirhynchus albus*) is a Federally and State endangered fish species adapted to sandy areas with fine substrates, floodplains, backwaters, chutes, sloughs, islands, sandbars, and main channel waters within large river ecosystems (USFWS 2014b). Major threats to this species are habitat alteration caused by channelization and dam construction, leading to the replacement of estuarine and flooded areas by permanent lakes and alteration of water flow and temperature. Although potential/verified occurrence of the pallid sturgeon has been reported for all counties that are contiguous with the Missouri River, including Hughes County, its geographic range falls outside the THWRA (USFWS 2013b). The pallid sturgeon can be found in the Missouri River, approximately 13.5 mi (21.7 km) southwest of the Project. Therefore, the pallid sturgeon will not be affected by the development and operations of the THWRA.

South Dakota State-Listed Species

Eight species ranked by the state of South Dakota as threatened or endangered are listed as occurring in Hughes and Hyde Counties (SDDGFP 2015), including three federally-listed avian

species (whooping crane, interior least tern, and piping plover) and one federally-listed fish species (pallid sturgeon), discussed in the Federally-Listed Species section above. Of the remaining four species, two are mammals (swift fox [*Vulpes velox*] and northern river otter [*Lontra Canadensis*]), one is a fish (sicklefin chub [*Macrhybopsis meeki*]), and one is a reptile (false map turtle (*Graptemys pseudogeographica*; Table 6).

	0 7		
Common Name	Scientific Name	State Status	Likelihood of Occurrence within the THWRA
Mammals			
Northern river otter	Lontra canadensis	Т	Possible
swift fox	Vulpes velox	Т	Unlikely
Birds			-
whooping crane ¹	Grus americana	Е	Possible
interior least tern ¹	Sterna antillarum	E	Possible
piping plover ¹	Charadrius melodus	Т	Possible
Fish			
pallid sturgeon ¹	Scaphirhynchus albus	E	No occurrence
sicklefin chub	Macrhybopsis meeki	Т	Unlikely
Reptile			-
false map turtle	Graptemys pseudogeographica	Т	Possible

Table	6.	State	of	South	Dakota	threatened	(T)	or	endangered	(E)	species	with	documente	d
	0	ccurr	ence	e in Hu	ghes and	d Hyde Cour	nties	. S	ources: SDD0	GF 2	2015, USC	S 20'	16.	

¹ Also a Federally listed species described in the Federally-listed Species section

Northern River Otter

The northern river otter (*Lontra canadensis*) can be found in various aquatic environments such as marshes, rivers, streams, and lakes. They require abundant riparian vegetation and prey, good water quality, limited disturbance, and year-round access to open water (SDDGFP 2016b).

Water development, fluctuating water levels in reservoirs, shoreline development, pesticide residue runoff and other contamination of wetlands, accumulation of toxic substances in otter prey, and alteration of riparian vegetation resulting in habitat loss and degradation, are considered major threats to the northern river otter (SDDGFP 2012). Waterbodies within the THWRA may provide marginal habitat for northern river otters. Whenever possible, project siting and development of the THWRA along waterbodies should consider minimization of ground disturbance and construction activity impacts by using already disturbed areas for placement of poles, avoiding removal of riparian vegetation, and avoiding construction of access roads adjacent to wetland and riparian habitats. With appropriate siting of infrastructure, any key features for otters can be avoided and negative effects can be minimized.

Swift Fox

The swift fox (*Vulpes velox*) relies on open, rolling mixed-grass and short grass prairies with little or no shrubs. They also inhabit areas of mixed agricultural use, but population densities are lower in these areas. Prairie dog towns are a preferred habitat of swift fox, as they use burrows made by other mammals or dig their own burrows in sandy soils on high ground (NatureServe 2016c). Major threats to this species include loss of suitable native short and mixed-grass prairie due to

conversion to agricultural and development. Herbaceous and agricultural areas within the THWRA, as well as prairie dog towns identified during the site visit, might provide suitable habitat for the swift fox. If swift foxes are present in prairie dog colonies immediately adjacent to the proposed Project area, direct impacts could include increased habitat loss and fragmentation from the disturbance of prairie dog colonies or complexes. Additional prairie dog town surveys are recommended within the proposed project area and, if found, they should be avoided to the extent possible to minimize disturbance to foxes and other species (i.e. raptors). Surveys for foxes may be required if the priaire dog complexes cannot be avoided by construction. However, based on a compilation of recent records and areas with established populations (Stratman 2015) and because the THWRA falls slightly outside of the species distribution (USGS 2016), it is unlikely that this species will occur in the THWRA.

Sicklefin Chub

The sicklefin chub (*Macrhybopsis meeki*), adapted to gravel and sand runs of large rivers with low to moderate gradients, such as the Missouri River, has experienced population declines as the result of habitat alteration caused by channelization, water diversion, and dam construction (NatureServe 2016d). No large rivers run through the THWRA, and the Missouri River is located 13.5 mi (21.7 km) south of the Project; therefore, it is unlikely that the sicklefin chub will occur in the THWRA and no direct impacts are anticipated.

False Map Turtle

The false map turtle (*Graptemys pseudogeographica*) occupies large rivers and associated oxbows, lakes, ponds, reservoirs, sloughs, and wetland. This species needs areas with abundant vegetation and soft substrates, and sites that are protected from shore predators for basking (Bandas and Higgins 2004). The greatest threats to survival are destruction of nesting habitat and nests by camping tourists, agricultural practices, and pollution. In South Dakota, numbers are decreasing due to several possible factors, including water pollution, river channelization, impoundments, reduction of suitable nesting sites, and unlawful shooting (NatureServe 2016e). Although the wetlands and streams within the THWRA represent potential habitat for the false map turtle, impacts can be minimized by proper siting of infrastructure and avoiding wetlands and waterbodies to the extent possible; therefore it is unlikely that the false map turtle will be negatively impacted as a result of the Project activities.

Sensitive and Special-Status Plant Species

Two federally Threatened plant species, the Leedy's roseroot (*Rhodiola integrifolia leedyi*) and the western prairie fringed orchid (*Platanthera praeclara*), are known to occur in South Dakota, neither of which has been documented in Hughes or Hyde Counties (USFWS 2016i, j). There are no State Threatened or Endangered plant species in South Dakota (SDGFPD 2015), and no State Rare Plant species occur within the THWRA based on documented occurrences (SDDGFP 2009).

Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN)

In addition to the Federally and State-listed species noted above, there are several species identified as Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN) by the SDDGFP's Wildlife Action

Plan (SDDGFP 2014) that have the potential to occur in the THWRA. Only bird and bat SGCN are presented in Table 7, as these are the two groups most likely to be impacted by a wind facility.

One bat SGCN, the northern long-eared bat (NLEB, Myotis septentrionalis), has the potential to occur in the THWRA (Table 7), while nineteen bird SGCN have the potential to occur in the THWRA. Most of these avian species are also protected under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA 1918), the federal Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA 1940), or listed as Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC; Appendix C; USFWS 2008).

the potential to occur in the Triple H Wind Resource Area, based on distribution range maps. Federally and State-listed bird and bat species are included. Source: Jennings et al. 2005; USGS GAP 2016.							
Common Name	Scientific Name	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter		
Bats northern long-eared bat ² Birds	Myotis septentrionalis		х				
American white pelican	Pelecanus erythrorhynchos		Х				
Baird's sparrow	Ammodramus bairdii	Х		Х			
bald eagle	Haliaeetus leucocephalus	Х	Х	Х	Х		
black tern ¹	Chlidonias niger		Х				
burrowing owl	Athene cunicularia		Х				
chestnut-collared longspur ¹	Calcarius ornatus		Х				
ferruginous hawk	Buteo regalis	Х	Х	Х	Х		
greater prairie-chicken	Tympanuchus cupido	Х	Х	Х	Х		
interior least tern ²	Sterna antillarum athalassos		Х				
lark bunting	Calamospiza melanocorys		Х				
LeConte's sparrow	Ammodramus leconteii	Х		Х			
marbled godwit ¹	Limosa fedoa	Х		Х			
northern goshawk	Accipiter gentilis				Х		
osprey	Pandion haliaetus	Х		Х			
piping plover ²	Charadrius melodus		Х				
Sprague's pipit	Anthus spragueii	Х	Х	Х			
whooping crane ²	Grus americana	Х		Х			
willet	Catoptrophorus semipalmatus		Х				
Wilson's phalarope	Phalaropus tricolor		Х				

Table 7. Birds and bats listed as South Dakota Species of Greatest Conservation Need with

¹Observed during BBS surveys in two closest routes (Pardieck et al. 2015)

²Also a Federal and/or State listed species described in the Federally-listed or State-listed Species section

Raptors

A desktop assessment of potential raptor roosting habitat, prey base, and species distributions was used to determine which raptor species have the potential to occur within the THWRA (Table 8). Three raptor species (golden eagle, northern harrier, and great-horned owl) were observed during the February 2016 field visit.

Bald Eagle

The bald eagle (*Haliaeetus leucocephalus*), a species protected under the Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA 1940), occurs in South Dakota as a resident (BirdLife International and NatureServe 2014), utilizing suitable areas year-round, with verified and potential occurrences reported for Hughes and Hyde Counties (eBirds 2016, NatureServe 2016f). Preferred nesting, foraging, and roosting bald eagle habitats include large, mature trees near water with abundant fish and waterfowl prey, especially in areas with little disturbance. Preferred perch sites include tall trees and snags located near nesting and foraging areas that provide good vantage points, while nests and foraging activities are usually associated with permanent water bodies (Buehler 2000, All About Birds 2016). There are multiple lakes and rivers within and/or adjacent to the Project that provide suitable nesting and wintering habitat for bald eagles. Furthermore, the Project is approximately 13.5 mi (21.7 km) northeast of the Missouri River, which serves as a migration corridor and provides suitable nesting and wintering habitat for bald eagles. Sightings of bald eagles are common along the Missouri River, near Oahe Reservoir (eBird 2016).

According to this desktop analysis, bald eagle use and/or nesting within the vicinity of the Project are likely. Surveys would be necessary to define actual eagle use, inform siting, and estimate potential impacts to bald eagles.

Common Name	Scientific Name	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter			
Vultures		Z						
turkey vulture	Cathartes aura		Х					
Usprey, Eagles, Kites, and Hawks								
bald eagle	Haliaeetus leucocephalus	Х	Х	Х	Х			
broad-winged hawk	Buteo platypterus	Х		Х				
Cooper's hawk	Accipter cooperii				Х			
ferruginous hawk ¹	Buteo regalis	Х	Х	Х	Х			
golden eagle*	Aquila chrysaetos				Х			
northern goshawk ¹	Accipiter gentilis				Х			
northern harrier*	Circus cyaneus		Х					
osprey ¹	Pandion haliaetus	Х		Х				
red-tailed hawk	Buteo jamaicensis	Х	Х	Х	Х			
tough-legged hawk	Buteo lagopus				Х			
sharp-shinned hawk	Accipter striatus				Х			
Swainson's hawk ²	Buteo swainsoni		Х					
Falcons								
American kestrel	Falco sparverius	Х	Х	Х	Х			
merlin	Falco columbarius				Х			
peregrine falcon	Falco peregrinus	Х		Х				
prairie falcon	Falco mexicanus				Х			
Owls								
burrowing owl ¹	Athene cunicularia		Х					
Eastern screech-owl	Megascops asio	Х	Х	Х	Х			
great horned owl*	Bubo virginianus	Х	Х	Х	Х			
long-eared owl	Asio otus		Х					
Northern saw-whet owl	Aegolius acadicus				Х			
short-eared owl	Asio flammeus	Х	Х	Х	Х			

Table 8. Raptor species with the potential to occur in the Triple H Wind Resource Area, based on range maps. Federally and State-listed bird species are included. Source: Jennings et al. 2005

*Observed during February 2016 site visit to THWRA

¹SGCN birds

²Observed during BBS surveys in two closest routes (Pardieck et al. 2015)

Golden Eagle

The golden eagle (*Aquila chrysaetos*), a federally protected species under the BGEPA (1940), usually hunts on the rimrock terrain of open grassland areas and nest on cliffs near open foraging areas such as grasslands or shrublands (Kochert et al. 2002). Observations of golden eagles have been reported in South Dakota during spring, fall, and winter (eBird 2016), with the majority of sightings in the vicinity of the Project area reported during the winter season (National Audubon Society [Audubon] 2010). During the site visit, suitable foraging and roosting habitat for this raptor species, such as tall trees within open grasslands, was found in the THWRA. Additionally, one golden eagle was observed perched in a tree between a crop field and a grassland during the site visit to THWRA.

Potential impacts for this species resulting from project development and operation include loss or disturbance of nesting, roosting, and foraging habitat, loss of nests, and collision with turbines and/or transmission lines. There have been documented golden eagle fatalities at wind energy facilities in the United States (Erickson et al. 2001), and the USFWS has expressed increasing concern regarding the potential effects of wind energy development on golden eagle populations (Pagel et al. 2010). Results from this desktop analysis and site visit indicate a golden eagle use within the THWRA. Similar to bald eagles, field surveys would be required to determine actual use levels and inform potential impact assessments further.

Other Raptor Species with Potential to Occur in the Area

Sixteen diurnal raptors, one vulture, and six owls have the potential to occur as residents and/or migrant species in the THWRA at some point during the year. One of these diurnal raptors, the northern harrier, was observed during the site visit conducted in February 2016 (Table 4).

Of the 16 diurnal raptors with potential to occur in the THWRA, five species are likely to nest within or around the Project area (Jennings et al. 2005): Ferruginous hawk (*Buteo regalis*), northern harrier (*Circus cyaneus*), red-tailed hawk (*Buteo jamaicensis*), Swainson's hawk (*Buteo swainsoni*), and American kestrel (*Falco sparverius*). Turkey vultures (*Cathartes aura*) are also summer residents (Jennings et al. 2005; Table 8). Broad-winged hawk (*Buteo platypterus*), osprey (*Pandion haliaetus*), and peregrine falcon (*Falco peregrinus*) are possible migrants through the THWRA. In addition to the species listed above, raptor species that may occur within the THWRA outside of the breeding season (migration, winter, or post-breeding dispersal) include: bald eagle, Cooper's hawk (*Accipter cooperii*), golden eagle, northern goshawk (*Accipiter gentilis*), roughlegged hawk (*Buteo lagopus*), sharp-shinned hawk (*Accipter striatus*), merlin (*Falco columbarius*), and prairie falcon (*Falco mexicanus*). Several of these raptor species are considered Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SPGN) by the state of South Dakota (Tables 7 and 8).

Of the eight owl species potentially occurring in the Project area, five have the potential to nest within the THWRA or vicinity (Jennings et al. 2005): burrowing owl (*Athene cunicularia*), eastern screech-owl (*Megascops asio*), great horned owl (*Bubo virginianus*), long-eared owl (*Asio otus*), and short-eared owl (*Asio flammeus*). One great horned owl was observed sitting on a nest approximately three miles south of the project boundary during the February 2016 site visit. The northern saw-whet owl (*Aegolius acadicus*) is a possible winter resident (Jennings et al. 2005).

Potential for Raptor Migration in the Area

Several factors influence the migratory pathways of raptors, the most significant of which is geography. Two geographical features often used by raptors during migration are ridgelines and shorelines of large bodies of water (Liguori 2005). The up drafts formed as the wind hits the ridges and thermals created over land (but not water) make for energy-efficient travel for raptors over long distances (Liguori 2005). It is for this reason that raptors often follow corridors or pathways (e.g., along prominent ridges with defined edges) during migration. Topography in the THWRA is relatively flat to gently rolling hills (Figures 2 and 3). None of the features of the THWRA are likely to concentrate raptors; however, the THWRA is located within the Central Flyway avian migratory

corridor used by raptors, and wetlands and water impoundments may provide some stopover and/or foraging habitat for raptors that migrate through the area.

Potential Raptor Nesting Habitat

Within the THWRA, trees and woodland areas occur around wetlands, streams, and houses, providing potential nesting opportunities for some raptor species. Raptors may also nest on manmade structures, such as power poles associated with power lines and structures associated with transmission lines, both of which are present in the Project area. Ground-nesting raptors, such as burrowing owls and northern harriers, may nest in the grassland areas located throughout the THWRA. One great horned owl was observed sitting on a nest located approximately 3.5 mi (5 km) south of the Project boundary during the February 2016 site visit.

Areas of Potentially High Prey Density within the Triple H Wind Resource Area

Studies at some wind energy facilities indicate that individual raptor species appear to differ from one another in their susceptibility to collision (National Research Council [NRC] 2007). Results from the Altamont Pass Wind Energy Facility (APWRA) suggest that mortality for some species is not necessarily related to abundance, possibly implying that the variance in susceptibility may be in part due to behavioral differences between species (Orloff and Flannery 1992). Orloff and Flannery (1992, 1996) suggested that high golden eagle mortality at the APWRA was in part due to the apparently high densities of California ground squirrels (*Spermophilus beecheyi*) in the area (Thelander and Smallwood 2007). Continued research at APWRA revealed that the degree of aggregation of Botta's pocket gopher (*Thomomys bottae*) burrows around the turbines was positively correlated to red-tailed hawk fatality rates (Smallwood et al. 2001, Thelander and Smallwood 2007, Thelander et al. 2003).

Rodents and lagomorphs are the prey species most likely to occur within the THWRA as these types of prey are associated with grassland and prairie habitats. Prairie dog towns, as well as other areas of colonial small mammals (e.g., ground squirrels), are known to attract foraging raptors. Prairie dog colonies are important foraging grounds for several raptor species likely to occur at the site, including red-tailed hawk, northern harrier, and Swainson's hawk. Hunting raptors may be concentrated year-round in the vicinity of prairie dog towns. Black-tailed prairie dogs (*Cynomys ludovicianus*) and eastern cottontails (*Sylvilagus floridanus*) as well as other prey species have the potential to occur within the THWRA based on USGS GAP range maps (USGS GAP 2016).

Black-tailed prairie dog towns provide hunting opportunities for eagles and may increase the risk for raptors. Some raptors are susceptible to collision with wind turbines, especially while hunting (Hoover and Morrison 2005). Prairie dog colonies are important foraging grounds for several raptor species likely to occur at the THWRA, including golden eagle, ferruginous hawk, red-tailed hawk, northern harrier, and Swainson's hawk. Foraging raptors may be concentrated in the vicinity of prairie dog towns year-round. Two prairie dog colonies were observed on the southern and eastern boundaries of the THWRA during the February 2016 site visit; one colony was located on the Huron Wetland Management District – Waterfowl Production Area, and the other was located on private property. Additionally, not all areas identified as potential habitat were visible

from existing, passable public roads. Placing setbacks from all prairie dog colonies may help reduce the risk of collision for raptors and eagles. It is generally recommended that active prairie dog colonies be avoided to the maximum extent possible when siting wind energy facilities.

In addition to lagomorphs and large colonial rodents, smaller rodent (e.g., mice, rats), bird, and shrew species associated with grassland/pasture or agricultural areas likely occur in the area. Ponds, wetlands, and flooded areas may concentrate waterfowl, waterbirds, and shorebirds in wet years when water is abundant. If flooded depressions are used by large concentrations of these species, then they may serve as an attractant to some foraging raptors, especially those that often feed on waterfowl and/or shorebirds (e.g., bald eagle, golden eagle, peregrine falcon, and prairie falcon). Because these water systems are heavily dependent on rainfall patterns, their ability to support concentration of prey species and foraging raptors will likely vary significantly from year to year.

It should also be noted that prey densities can fluctuate dramatically based on habitat and climatic factors, and are likely to change over time. With raptor roost sites (e.g., trees and power poles) and food available, it is likely that some raptors will use the THWRA for foraging.

Bird Migration

Most species of birds are protected by the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA 1918). Nocturnal migrating passerines are assumed to move in broad fronts across inland landscapes rather than along specific topographical features (Gauthreaux et al. 2003, NRC 2007). Large numbers of passerines have collided with lighted communication towers and buildings when foggy conditions and spring or fall migration coincide. Birds appear to become confused by the lights during foggy or low ceiling conditions and fly in circles around lighted structures until they become exhausted or collide with the structure (Erickson et al. 2001). Most collisions at communication towers are attributed to the guy wires on these structures, which wind turbines do not have.

Many species of songbirds migrate at night and may collide with tall man-made structures, though no large mortality events have been documented at wind energy facilities in North America on the same scale as those mortality events observed at communication towers (National Wind Coordinating Collaborative [NWCC] 2004).

The THWRA is located within the Central Flyway and it is likely that birds including passerines, raptors, and waterfowl migrate through the proposed Project area. Wetlands and grasslands found within the THWRA may provide stopover habitat for migrants or individuals during postbreeding dispersal. The combination of wetlands and grasslands found in the THWRA may be attractive to a broader suite of birds than when only one of these land cover types occurs. Additionally, corn fields, one of the harvested crops present within the THWRA, typically serve as feeding areas for migrating and wintering waterfowl. However, concentrated bird use within the Project area is unlikely as the habitats within the THWRA are similarly distributed throughout the immediate surrounding areas. The Hyde County Waterfowl Production Area, located adjacent to the southern edge of the project boundary (Table 3), has the potential to attract waterfowl to the general area, which may result in increased risk of collision with turbines. Cultivated crop lands may provide food in the form of wasted grains for migrating birds, such as sandhill cranes and geese. Emergent wetlands and small ponds are also utilized for foraging and reproduction by resident bird species which have been observed on Breeding Bird Survey Routes (see Breeding Bird Section) near the THWRA. It's possible that large numbers of waterfowl may concentrate around the local waterbodies; therefore, locating turbines as far from lakes as possible will reduce the potential for collisions and will also minimize the risk of disturbing lakes and their complexes. Overall impacts are expected to be similar to other projects in the Midwest.

Breeding Birds

Displacement of grassland nesting birds is often one of the primary concerns wildlife agencies express regarding the placement of wind facilities in and near grassland areas. Recent research has focused on the potential displacement of grassland passerines at wind energy facilities, and some uncertainty currently exists over the effects of wind energy facilities on the breeding success of these birds. In Minnesota, researchers found that breeding passerine density on CRP grasslands was reduced in the immediate vicinity of turbines (Leddy et al. 1999), but changes in density at broader scales were not detected (Johnson et al. 2000). Piorkowski (2006) conducted a displacement study at a wind energy facility in Oklahoma where, of the grassland species present in the proposed wind resource area, only the western meadowlark showed significantly lower densities near turbines. Piorkowski (2006) suggested that habitat characteristics were more important to determining passerine breeding densities than the presence of wind turbines. Shaffer and Buhl (2015) documented some avoidance by some grassland nesting species out to 300 m (985 ft) at wind energy facilities in North and South Dakota. The proposed THWRA contains a grassland/herbaceous cover, with the potential to support grassland sensitive species that may be negatively affected by development. Species potentially affected include several grassland obligate species and area sensitive species such as the burrowing owl, McCown's longspur (Calcaneus mccownii), and Baird's sparrow (Ammodramus bairdii; Ribic et al. 2009).

Important Bird Areas

Passerines are the most abundant bird group in most terrestrial ecosystems and are the most often reported fatalities at wind energy facilities (NRC 2007). The National Audubon Society (Audubon) has identified Important Bird Areas (IBAs) that provide essential habitat for one or more bird species (Audubon 2015). The IBAs include sites for breeding, wintering, and/or migrating birds, and can range from only a few acres to thousands of acres in size. The closest IBA to the Project area is the Fort Pierre National Grassland located 22.1 mi (35.6 km) southwest of the Project boundary. Other IBAs within 35 mi (56 km) of the THWRA include: Pierre Missouri River Bottomlands, Stone Lake Outwash Area, and Wolsey Crane Stopover Area (Audubon 2015).

USFWS Birds of Conservation Concern

The USFWS lists 27 Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC) species within the Prairie Potholes Bird Conservation Region 11 (BCR 11; Appendix C; USFWS 2008). These species are protected

under the Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA 1918), but do not receive any greater protection than other migratory birds unless they are also listed by the USFWS under the ESA (1973) or BGEPA (1940). However, these species have been identified as vulnerable to population declines in the BCR by the USFWS (2008).

The potential exists for some of these species to breed within suitable habitats in the THWRA, including the American bittern (*Botaurus lentiginosus*), least bittern (*Ixobrychus exilis*), Swainson's hawk, upland sandpiper (*Bartramia longicauda*), marbled godwit (*Limosa fedoa*), black tern (*Chlidonias niger*), black-billed cuckoo (*Coccyzus erythropthalmus*), short-eared owl, red-headed woodpecker (*Melanerpes erythrocephalus*), Sprague's pipit (*Anthus spragueii*), grasshopper sparrow (*Ammodramus savannarum*), chestnut-collared longspur (*Calcarius ornatus*), and dickcissel (*Spiza Americana*; Jennings et al. 2005). Although not recently recorded along nearby routes during BBS, there is potential for breeding bald eagles within the Project area (see Bald Eagle Section). The remaining BCC raptor, the peregrine falcon, is not likely to breed in the THWRA (Jennings et al. 2005). The remaining BCC species (Appendix C) are a mix of shorebirds, marsh birds, waterfowl, and passerines.

USGS Breeding Bird Survey

The two nearest USGS Breeding Bird Survey (BBS) Routes to the THWRA are the Crow Creek Route to the southeast and the Fort Thompson Route to the south (Figure 8; USGS 2014). Each BBS route is about 24.5 mi (39.4 km) long, and all birds seen or heard are tallied for a 3-minute period at survey points located every half-mile (0.8 km) along the route (USGS 1998).

From 2011 to 2014, 86 bird species have been recorded along the two BBS Routes (Pardieck et al. 2015). No currently designated Federal or State endangered or threatened species has been recorded. In 2011, 2,242 individual birds of 80 species were observed along the two routes surveyed (1,146 individuals of 65 species in Crow Creek and 1,096 birds of 53 species in Fort Thompson; Pardieck et al. 2015). The most abundant species observed were the brown-headed cowbird (*Molothrus ater*; 290 individuals), western meadowlark (*Sturnella neglecta*; 244 individuals), common grackle (*Quiscalus quiscula*; 196 individuals), dickcissel (*Spiza americana*; 174 individuals), red-winged blackbird (*Agelaius phoeniceus*; 156 individuals), mourning dove (*Zenaida macroura*; 134 individuals), and cliff swallow (*Hirundo rustica*; 108 individuals).

Ten BCC (USFWS 2008) species have been observed along the Crow Creek and/or Fort Thompson route (American bittern, black tern, chestnut-collared longspur, dickcissel, grasshopper sparrow, marbled godwit, red-headed woodpecker, Swainson's hawk, upland sandpiper; Appendix C).



Figure 8. Nearest US Geological Survey Breeding Bird Survey routes to the Triple H Wind Resource Area (USGS 2014).

Bats

Based on range maps (BCI 2015; USGS GAP 2016), eight bat species are possible residents and/or migrants in the THWRA (Table 9). Two of the eight species in Table 9 are included due to range (BCI 2015), but are unlikely to occur in the THWRA based on habitat restrictions: the Townsend's big-eared bat (Corynorhinus townsendii) and the western small-footed myotis (Myotis ciliolabrum). The six remaining species that have potential to occur in the THWRA based on range maps (Table 9) have been documented as fatalities at wind energy facilities: big brown bat (Eptesicus fuscus), eastern red bat (Lasiurus borealis), hoary bat (Lasiurus cinereus), little brown bat (Myotis lucifugus), northern long-eared bat (Myotis septentrionalis), and silver-haired bat (Lasionycteris noctivagans; Table 9 and 10).

0	Scientific		Likelihood of
Species	Name	Habitat	Occurrence
big brown bat¹	Eptesicus fuscus	Common in most habitats; abundant in deciduous forests and suburban areas with agriculture; maternity colonies beneath bark, or in tree cavities, buildings, barns, or bridges.	Probable
eastern red bat¹	Lasiurus borealis	Abundant tree bat; roosts in trees; solitary, prefers forested environments	Probable
hoary bat ¹	Lasiurus cinereus	Usually not found in human-made structures; roosts in trees along forest borders; very wide-spread. Found in a wide variety of habitats. Especially associated with humans, often using buildings, attics, and other man-made structures for nursery colonies.	Probable
little brown myotis ¹	Myotis lucifugus	Roost in tree cavities and crevices, and forage over meadows, farmland, and cliff faces.	Probable
northern long-eared bat ^{1,2,3}	Myotis septentrionalis	Found roosting beneath exfoliating bark and in tree cavities. Hibernates in caves and underground mines.	Possible
silver-haired bat ¹	Lasionycteris noctivagans	Common bat in forested areas, particularly old growth forests; maternity colonies in tree cavities or hollows; hibernates beneath exfoliating bark, in wood piles, and in cliff faces.	Probable
Townsend's big-eared bat ²	Corynorhinus townsendii	Commonly found in arid desert scrub and pine forests; maternity colonies in mines, caves, and buildings; hibernates in caves and abandoned mines.	Unlikely
western small-footed myotis	Myotis ciliolabrum	Hibernates in caves or mines. Rears young in cliff-face crevices, erosion cavities, and beneath rocks on the ground.	Unlikely
¹ Known wind Karsten 2010	energy facility fatalit	y (Derby et al. 2010, Derby et al. 2012, DeWitt 2011, Fiedler et a) 2004, Krenz et al. 2000, Miller 2008, Osborn et al. 1996, 2000	al. 2007, Hale and Piorkowski et al

Table 9. Bat species with the potential to occur in the Triple H Wind Resource Area based on range maps (BCI 2015).

2010, Thompson 2011)

² Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN; Aron 2005)

³ Federally-listed Species (USFWS 2016)
Of the eight potentially occurring species listed in Table 9, two species of bats are considered Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN) in South Dakota: Townsend's big-eared bat and northern long-eared bat (Table 7). While no known Townsend's big-eared bat fatalities at wind energy facilities have occurred, there are known northern long-eared bat wind facility fatalities (Table 10). The northern long-eared bat is also federally listed as threatened under the Endangered Species Act (ESA) by the USFWS (Table 5).

Common Name	Scientific Name	# Fatalities ¹	% Composition
hoary bat ²	Lasiurus cinereus	5,486	36.22
eastern red bat ²	Lasiurus borealis	3,711	24.5
silver-haired bat ²	Lasionycteris noctivagans	2,592	17.11
little brown bat	Myotis lucifugus	1,141	7.53
tri-colored bat ²	Perimyotis subflavus	644	4.25
big brown bat ²	Eptesicus fuscus	581	3.84
Mexican free-tailed bat ²	Tadarida brasiliensis	515	3.4
unidentified bat	N/A	330	2.18
northern long-eared bat	Myotis septentrionalis	46	0.3
unidentified Myotis	N/A	39	0.26
Seminole bat	Lasiurus seminolus	14	0.09
western red bat	Lasiurus blossevillii	13	0.09
Indiana bat	Myotis sodalis	7	0.05
evening bat ²	Nycticeius humeralis	7	0.05
big free-tailed bat	Nyctinomops macrotis	6	0.04
western yellow bat	Lasiurus xanthinus	3	0.02
unidentified free-tailed bat	N/A	3	0.02
eastern small-footed bat	Myotis leibii	2	0.01
pocketed free-tailed bat	Nyctinomops femorosaccus	2	0.01
unidentified Lasiurus bat	Lasiurus spp.	2	0.01
canyon bat	Parastrellus hesperus	1	0.01
cave Myotis ²	Myotis velifer	1	0.01
long-legged bat	Myotis volans	1	0.01
Total	19	15.147	100

Table 10. Summary of public cumulative bat fatalities	(by species) from wind energy facilities in
North America.	

¹ These are raw data and are not corrected for searcher efficiency or scavenging.

² Potential resident or migrant in the WPWRA (BCI 2015).

Cumulative fatalities and species from data compiled by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) from publicly available fatality documents (listed in Appendix D).

Additional notes on bat species and numbers:

Indiana bat fatalities in this table are also reported by USFWS (2010, 2011a). Three additional Indiana bat fatalities have been reported in USFWS Press releases (2011b, 2012b, 2012c), but are not included in this summary of bats found as fatalities.

One long-eared bat (*Myotis evotis*) was an incidental fatality recorded at Tehachapi, California (Anderson et al. 2004), but was not part of a formal search and is not included above.

An additional 677 bat fatalities (evening bat, eastern red bat, hoary bat, tricolored bat, Mexican free-tailed bat, and unidentified bat) have been found in Texas (Hale and Karsten 2010), but the number of fatalities by species is not reported.

Canyon bat formerly known as western pipistrelle (*Pipistrellus hesperus*; BCI 2015), and tricolored bat formerly known as eastern pipistrelle (*Pipistrellus subflavus*; BCI 2015).

The field visit conducted in February 2016 revealed some potential natural roosts in the form of mature tree stands with exfoliating bark near drainages (Appendix A). The larger cottonwood trees near streams may provide roosting habitat for several species which generally prefer to roost under the bark or in the foliage of larger trees. Numerous human-built barns, sheds, and other structures may provide suitable day, night, maternity, and bachelor roosts for bats during the summer or during migratory stop-overs. Several structures were located in close proximity to, or surrounded by, tree stands, providing alternate roosts for a bat colony. Although limited, several derelict man-made structures were also located near suitable drinking water sources in the form of still drainages, standing pooled water and flooded areas, and farm ponds. Stock tanks, found throughout the THWRA, also have potential to concentrate bats as they are usually reliable water sources year-round regardless of precipitation.

Bats generally forage over water and other open spaces, such as agricultural fields, grasslands, streams, and wetlands (Lee and McCracken 2002, Downs and Sanderson 2010). Because the THWRA is largely comprised of agricultural fields and grasslands, potential foraging habitat is present throughout the Project area. Insects often concentrate over wet areas associated with wetlands and streams, which may in turn concentrate foraging bats. Wooded areas adjacent to streams, open water areas, tree lines, and riparian areas provide areas of suitable foraging habitat for bats within the THWRA. Bat use is likely to be greatest in areas around ponds and wetlands when these areas have some available water, as bats would likely concentrate around these features to forage and drink. No bat hibernacula are known to occur in the area.

Bat casualties have been reported from most wind energy facilities where post-construction fatality data are publicly available. Reported estimates of bat mortality at wind energy facilities have ranged from 0.01 – 47.5 fatalities per turbine per year (0.9 – 43.2 bats per megawatt [MW] per year) in the US, with an average of 3.4 per turbine or 4.6 per MW (NWCC 2004). A majority of the bat casualties at wind energy facilities to date are migratory species that conduct long migrations between summer roosts and winter areas. The species most commonly found as fatalities at wind energy facilities include hoary bat, silver-haired bat (Lasionycteris noctivagans), and eastern red bat (Lasiurus borealis; Johnson 2005) (Table 10). To date, the highest numbers of bat fatalities found at wind energy facilities have occurred in eastern North America on ridge tops dominated by deciduous forest (NWCC 2004). However, Gruver et al. (2009), Barclay et al. (2007), and Jain (2005) recently reported relatively high fatality rates from facilities in Wisconsin, Canada, and Iowa that were located in grassland and agricultural habitats. Unlike the eastern U.S. wind energy facilities that reported higher bat fatality rates, the Wisconsin, Alberta and Iowa facilities are in open grasslands and crop fields. Based on data from other wind energy facilities in North America (Table 10), the most likely species to be impacted are the hoary bat and eastern red bat, with other migratory species also having some potential for impacts, although likely at lower levels.

Several studies have shown that bat fatalities peak in late summer and early fall, coinciding with the migration of many species (Johnson 2005; Kunz et al. 2007a; Arnett et al. 2008). A smaller spike in bat fatalities occurs during spring migration for some species at some facilities (Arnett et al. 2008). Operation of the proposed THWRA will likely result in some bat mortality. While the

magnitude of these fatalities and the degree to which bat species will be affected is difficult to determine, they should be within the average range of bat mortalities found throughout the Midwest and South Dakota based on general vegetation and landscape characteristics. Within the THWRA, the fall migration season will likely have the highest wind turbine-caused fatalities caused by collisions with moving turbine blades (Grodsky et al. 2011; Rollins et al. 2012) and barotrauma (Baerwald 2008).

Summary

Six species protected under the federal ESA (1973) have potential to occur within the counties containing the THWRA (SDDGFP 2015, USFWS 2016b; Appendix B): northern long-eared bat, piping plover, whooping crane, red knot, interior least tern, and pallid sturgeon. Of these, the whooping crane, piping plover, interior least tern, and red knot may possibly migrate through the area. The northern long-eared bat also has the potential to be a summer resident within the THWRA and occur during migration. The pallid sturgeon is unlikely to occur in the THWRA, as well as the Sprague's pipit, a Candidate species. No critical habitat for these species occurs within the THWRA. Year-round bald eagle use is possible within the THWRA, while golden eagles are likely to use the Project area during the winter, as evidenced during the site visit. Bald and golden eagles receive special protections under the BGEPA (1940). No State or Federally-listed plant species are known to occur within the counties intersected by the THWRA.

Sixteen diurnal raptor species have the potential to occur as residents, migrants, or rare visitors in the THWRA. Six owl species and one vulture species may also occur in the area. There is some potential habitat for nesting raptors within the THWRA and surrounding areas, mainly in the form of trees, utility poles, and old barns. Open grassland habitat for ground-nesting species, such as northern harriers and burrowing owls, is present throughout the THWRA.

Topography in the THWRA is relatively flat to gently rolling hills that would generally not be expected to concentrate or funnel raptors during migration. Prairie dog towns and emergent wetlands with concentrated prey species could attract migrating and wintering raptors, including eagles, into the area. Wetlands may provide important stopover habitat for migrating water birds (including the federally-listed whooping crane), waterfowl, shorebirds, passerines, and raptors. The THWRA project area is within the delineated whooping crane migration corridor and historical records of whooping cranes have occurred near the Project area.

Eight bat species have the potential to occur within the THWRA at some time during the year based on range maps, but two of these species are unlikely to occur based on habitat within the THWRA. Bat roosting habitat within the THWRA is present as isolated tree stands and human structures throughout the THWRA. Tree lines, wooded streams, agricultural fields, pastureland, and wetlands likely provide foraging habitat for bats throughout the THWRA, while pooled water, flooded areas, drainage ditches, stock tanks, and farm ponds provide drinking areas that may concentrate bat activity. Overall, bat impacts are likely to be within the average range of bat mortalities found throughout the region based on general vegetation and landscape characteristics of the THWRA.

REFERENCES

- All About Birds. 2016. Bald Eagle. Cornell Lab of Ornithology. Accessed January 2016. Profile available online at: <u>http://www.allaboutbirds.org/guide/Bald_Eagle/id;</u> Nesting information at: <u>http://www.allaboutbirds.org/guide/Bald_Eagle/lifehistory#at_nesting</u>
- Anderson, R., N. Neuman, J. Tom, W. P. Erickson, M. D. Strickland, M. Bourassa, K. J. Bay, and K. J. Sernka. 2004. Avian Monitoring and Risk Assessment at the Tehachapi Pass Wind Resource Area, California. Period of Performance: October 2, 1996 May 27, 1998. NREL/SR-500-36416. National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, Colorado. September 2004. http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy04osti/36416.pdf
- Arnett, E. B., W. K. Brown, W. P. Erickson, J. K. Fiedler, B. I. Hamilton, T. H. Henry, A. Jain, G. D. Johnson, J. Kerns, R. R. Koford, C. P. Nicholson, T. J. O'Connell, M. D. Piorkowski, R. D. Tankersley Jr. 2008. Patterns of Bat Fatalities at Wind Energy Facilities in North America. *Journal of Wildlife Management*. 72: 61-78.
- Aron, C. 2005. South Dakota Interior Least Tern (Sterna antillarum athalassos) and Piping Plover (Charadrius melodus) Management Plan. South Dakota Department of Game, Fish and Parks, Pierre, Wildlife Division Report No. 2005-02, 76 pp.
- Baerwald, E. F. 2008. Variation in the Activity and Fatality of Migratory Bats at Wind Energy Facilities in Southern Alberta: Causes and Consequences. Thesis. University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta, Canada.
- Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA). 1940. 16 United States Code (USC) § 668-668d. Bald Eagle Protection Act of 1940, June 8, 1940, Chapter 278, § 2, 54 Statute (Stat.) 251; Expanded to include the related species of the golden eagle October 24, 1962, Public Law (PL) 87-884, 76 Stat. 1246. As amended: October 23, 1972, PL 92-535, § 2, 86 Stat. 1065; November 8, 1978, PL 95-616, § 9, 92 Stat. 3114.
- Bandas, S. J., and K.F. Higgins. 2004. Field Guide to South Dakota Turtles. SDCES EC 919. Brookings: South Dakota State University.
- Barclay, R. M. R., E. F. Baerwald, and J. Gruver. 2007. Variation in Bat and Bird Fatalities at Wind Energy Facilities: Assessing the Effects of Rotor Size and Tower Height. Canadian Journal of Zoology 85: 381-387.
- Bat Conservation International (BCI). 2015. BCI Species Profiles. BCI, Inc., Austin, Texas. Accessed January 2016. Homepage: http://www.batcon.org; Range map data from 2003-2015
- BirdLife International and NatureServe (2014) Bird Species Distribution Maps of the World. 2012. Haliaeetus leucocephalus. The IUCN Red List of Threatened Species. Version 2015-3
- Bryce, S.A., J.M. Omernik, D.E. Pater, M. Ulmer, J. Schaar, J. Freeouf, R. Johnson, P. Kuck, and S.H. Azevedo. 1998. Ecoregions of North Dakota and South Dakota. (2 sided color poster with map, descriptive text, summary tables, and photographs). U.S. Geological Survey, Reston, VA. Scale 1:1,500,000.
- Bryce, S.A., Omernik, J.M., Pater, D.A., Ulmer, M., Schaar, J., Freeouf, J., Johnson, R., Kuck, P., and Azevedo, S.H., 1996, Ecoregions of North Dakota and South Dakota, (color poster with map, descriptive text, summary tables, and photographs): Reston, Virginia, U.S. Geological Survey (map scale 1:1,500,000).
- Buehler, D.A. 2000. Bald Eagle (Haliaeetus leucocephalus), The Birds of North America Online (A. Poole, Ed.). Ithaca: Cornell Lab of Ornithology. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.allaboutbirds.org/guide/bald_eagle/id</u>
- Canadian Wildlife Service (CWS) and US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2007. International Recovery Plan for the Whooping Crane. Third Revision. Ottawa: Recovery of Nationally Endangered Wildlife (RENEW) and USFWS, Albuquerque, New Mexico. 162 pp.

- Cooperative Whooping Crane Tracking Project (CWCTP). 2014. CWCTP-GIS. Whooping Crane Migration Corridor GIS Layer Created Based on Crane Observations. GIS layers from CWCTP, US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS), Grand Island.
- Davis, S.K. 2004. Area sensitivity in grassland passerines: effects of patch size, patch shape, and vegetation structure on bird abundance and occurrence in southern Saskatchewan. The Auk 121(4):1130-1145
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010. Post-Construction Fatality Survey for the Buffalo Ridge I Wind Project. May 2009 - May 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc., Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, and M. Sonnenberg. 2012. Post-Construction Casualty Surveys for the Buffalo Ridge II Wind Project. Iberdrola Renewables: March 2011- February 2012. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 31, 2012.
- DeWitt, S. 2011. Bat Fatality Monitoring Report for the Pigeon Creek Wind Turbine Adams County, near Payson, Illinois. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://docs.wind-watch.org/AEC-Pigeon-Creek-Turbine-Bat-Mortality-Study-2010-11.pdf</u>
- Downs, N.C. and L.J. Sanderson. 2010. Do Bats Forage Over Cattle Dung or Over Cattle? Acta Chiropterologica, 12(2):349-358.
- eBird. 2016. eBird: An Online Database of Bird Distribution and Abundance [Web Application]. eBird, Ithaca, New York. Accessed March 2016. Available online at: http://www.ebird.org.
- Endangered Species Act (ESA). 1973. 16 United States Code (USC) §§ 1531-1544, Public Law (PL) 93-205, December 28, 1973, as amended, PL 100-478 [16 USC 1531 *et seq*.]; 50 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR) 402.
- Erickson, W. P., G. D. Johnson, M. D. Strickland, D. P. Young, Jr., K. J. Sernka, and R. E. Good. 2001. Avian Collisions with Wind Turbines: A Summary of Existing Studies and Comparisons to Other Sources of Bird Collision Mortality in the United States. National Wind Coordinating Collaborative (NWCC) Publication and Resource Document. Prepared for the NWCC by WEST, Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 2001.
- Fiedler, J. K., T. H. Henry, R. D. Tankersley, and C. P. Nicholson. 2007. Results of Bat and Bird Mortality Monitoring at the Expanded Buffalo Mountain Windfarm, 2005. Tennessee Valley Authority. June 28, 2007.
- Gauthreaux, S.A. Jr., C. G. Belser, and D. van Blaricom. 2003. Using a Network of Wsr 88-D Weather Surveillance Radars to Define Patterns of Bird Migration at Large Spatial Scales. Pp. 335-346. *In*:
 P. Berthold, E. Gwinner, and E. Sonnenschein, eds. Avian Migration. Berlin: Springer.
- Google Earth. 2016. Google Earth. Image data: USDA Farm Services Agency, Parks/Recreatioon Areas, and Water Body Outlines. 2013 Digital Globe. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.google.com/earth/index.html</u>
- Grodsky, S. M. and D. Drake. 2011. Assessing Bird and Bat Mortality at the Forward Energy Center. Final Report. Public Service Commission (PSC) of Wisconsin. PSC REF#:152052. Prepared for Forward Energy LLC. Prepared by Department of Forest and Wildlife Ecology, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, Wisconsin. August 2011.
- Gruver, J., M. Sonnenberg, K. Bay, and W. Erickson. 2009. Post-Construction Bat and Bird Fatality Study at the Blue Sky Green Field Wind Energy Center, Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin July 21 - October 31, 2008 and March 15 - June 4, 2009. Unpublished report prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. December 17, 2009.

- Hale, A. M. and K. B. Karsten. 2010. Estimating Bird and Bat Mortality at a Wind Energy Facility in North-Central Texas. Presented at the National Wind Coordinating Collaborative (NWCC) Research Meeting VIII, October 19-21, 2010, Lakewood, Colorado. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://nationalwind.org/wp-</u> content/uploads/assets/research meetings/Research Meeting VIII Hale.pdf
- Hoover, S. L. and M. L. Morrison. 2005. Behavior of Red-Tailed Hawks in a Wind Turbine Development. Journal of Wildlife Management 69(1): 150-159.
- Igl, L.D., and B.M. Ballard. 1999. Habitat associations of migrating and overwintering grassland birds in southern Texas. The Condor 101(4): 771-782.
- Jain, A. 2005. Bird and Bat Behavior and Mortality at a Northern Iowa Windfarm. M.S. Thesis. Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa.
- Jennings, B., T. Cable, and R. Burrows. 2005. Birds of the Great Plains. Lone Pine Publishing International Inc., Canada.
- Johnson, G. D. 2005. A Review of Bat Mortality at Wind-Energy Developments in the United States. Bat Research News 46(2): 45-49.
- Johnson, R., S. Adolph, and K. Higgins. 1997. Life History of the Piping Plover in the Northern Great Plains and Great Lakes Regions. Performed for the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service in accordance with South Dakota Cooperative Fish and Wildlife Research Unit R WO No. 59. Available online at: http://pubstorage.sdstate.edu/wfs/318-W.pdf
- Johnson, G. D., W. P. Erickson, M. D. Strickland, M. F. Shepherd, and D. A. Shepherd. 2000. Avian Monitoring Studies at the Buffalo Ridge Wind Resource Area, Minnesota: Results of a 4-Year Study. Final report prepared for Northern States Power Company, Minneapolis, Minnesota, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. September 22, 2000. 212 pp. http://www.west-inc.com
- Jones, J.K. Jr., R. P. Lampe, C. A. Spenrath, and T. H. Kunz. 1973. Notes on the Distribution and Natural History of Bats in Southeastern Montana. Occasional Papers, Museum of Texas Tech University 15: 1-12.
- Kerlinger, P., J. L. Gehring, W. P. Erickson, R. Curry, A. Jain, and J. Guarnaccia. 2010. Night Migrant Fatalities and Obstruction Lighting at Wind Turbines in North America. Wilson Journal of Ornithology 122(4): 744-754.
- Kiesov, A. M., and J. A. Kiesov. 2010. BAT SURVEY ALONG THE MISSOURI RIVER IN CENTRAL SOUTH DAKOTA The Prairie Naturalist · 42(1/2): 35-66
- Kochert, M.N., K. Steenhof, C.L. Mcintyre, and E.H. Craig. 2002. Golden Eagle (Aquila chrysaetos), The Birds of North America Online (A. Poole, Ed.). Ithaca: Cornell Lab of Ornithology. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/684/articles/introduction</u>
- Krenz, J. D. and B. R. McMillan. 2000. Final Report: Wind-Turbine Related Bat Mortality in Southwestern Minnesota. Minnesota Department of Natural Resources, St. Paul, Minnesota.
- Kunz, T. H., E. B. Arnett, W. P. Erickson, A. R. Hoar, G. D. Johnson, R. P. Larkin, M. D. Strickland, R. W. Thresher, and M. D. Tuttle. 2007a. Ecological impacts of wind energy development on bats: questions, research needs, and hypotheses. *Frontiers in Ecology & the Environment*. 5: 315–324.
- Lee Y-F and McCracken GF. 2002. Foraging activity and resource use of Brazilian free-tailed bats Tadarida brasiliensis (Molossidae). Ecoscience 9: 306–13.
- Liguori, J. 2005. Hawks from Every Angle: How to Identify Raptors in Flight. Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey.
- Migratory Bird Treaty Act (MBTA). 1918. 16 United States Code (USC) § 703-712. July 13, 1918.

- Miller, A. 2008. Patterns of Avian and Bat Mortality at a Utility-Scaled Wind Farm on the Southern High Plains. Thesis. Texas Tech University, August 2008.
- National Audubon Society (Audubon). 2010. The Christmas Bird Count Historical Results [Online]. Available online at: http://www.christmasbirdcount.org. Accessed March 2016
- National Audubon Society (Audubon). 2015. The Important Bird Areas. IBAs by state. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.audubon.org/bird/iba</u>
- National Research Council (NRC). 2007. Environmental Impacts of Wind-Energy Projects. National Academies Press. Washington, D.C. www.nap.edu
- National Wind Coordinating Collaborative (NWCC). 2004. Wind Turbine Interactions with Birds and Bats: A Summary of Research Results and Remaining Questions. Fact Sheet. 2nd Edition. November 2004. Available online at: <u>http://www.nationalwind.org/assets/archive/Wind_Turbine_Interactions</u> with Birds and Bats - A Summary of Research Results and Remaining Questions 2004_.pdf
- NatureServe. 2016a. Least Tern (*Sternula antillarum*). NatureServe Explorer: An Online Encyclopedia of Life [Web Application]. Version 7.1. NatureServe, Arlington, Virginia, USA. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.natureserve.org/explorer</u>; Least tern comprehensive report available online at:

http://explorer.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName=Sterna+antillarum

- NatureServe. 2016b. Piping plover (*Charadrius melodus*). NatureServe Explorer: An Online Encyclopedia of Life [Web Application]. Version 7.1. NatureServe, Arlington, Virginia, USA. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.natureserve.org/explorer</u>; piping plover comprehensive report available online at: <u>http://explorer.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName=Charadrius+melodus</u>
- NatureServe. 2016c. Swift fox (*Vulpes velox*). NatureServe Explorer: An Online Encyclopedia of Life [Web Application]. Version 7.1. NatureServe, Arlington, Virginia, USA. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.natureserve.org/explorer</u>; swift fox comprehensive report available online at: <u>http://explorer.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName=Vulpes+velox</u>
- NatureServe. 2016d. Sicklefin chub (*Macrhybopsis meeki*). NatureServe Explorer: An Online Encyclopedia of Life [Web Application]. Version 7.1. NatureServe, Arlington, Virginia, USA. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.natureserve.org/explorer</u>; siccklefin chub comprehensive report available online at: <u>http://explorer.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName=</u> Macrhybopsis+ meeki
- NatureServe. 2016e. False map turtle (*Graptemys pseudogeographica*). NatureServe Explorer: An Online Encyclopedia of Life [Web Application]. Version 7.1. NatureServe, Arlington, Virginia, USA. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: http://www.natureServe, Arlington, Virginia, USA. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: http://www.natureserve.org/explorer; false mapl turtle comprehensive report available online at: http://www.natureserve.org/explorer; false mapl turtle comprehensive report available online at: http://www.natureserve.org/explorer; false mapl turtle comprehensive report available online at: <a href="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/Natureserve?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/Natureserve?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/Natureserve?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/Natureserve?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/Natureserve?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/Natureserve?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/Natureserve?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/Natureserve?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/Natureserve?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/Natureserve?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/Natureserve?searchName="http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/Natureserve?searchName="htt
- NatureServe. 2016f. Bald eagle (Haliaeetus leucocephalus). NatureServe Explorer: An Online Encyclopedia of Life [Web Application]. Version 7.1. NatureServe, Arlington, Virginia, USA. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: http://www.natureServe, Arlington, Virginia, USA. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: http://www.natureServe, Arlington, Virginia, USA. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: http://www.natureserve.org/explorer; bald eagle turtle comprehensive report available online at: http://www.natureserve.org/explorer; bald eagle turtle comprehensive report available online at: http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName= bald eagle http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName= bald eagle http://www.natureserve.org/servlet/NatureServe?searchName= bald eagle
- Orloff, S. and A. Flannery. 1992. Wind Turbine Effects on Avian Activity, Habitat Use, and Mortality in Altamont Pass and Solano County Wind Resource Areas, 1989-1991. Final Report P700-92-001 to Alameda, Contra Costa, and Solano Counties, and the California Energy Commission, Sacramento, California, by Biosystems Analysis, Inc., Tiburon, California. March 1992.

- Orloff, S. and A. Flannery. 1996. A Continued Examination of Avian Mortality in the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area. P700-96-004 Cn. Report from Ibis Environmental Services, Santa Cruz, California, and BioSystems Analysis, Inc., Tiburon, California, for the California Energy Commission, Sacramento, California. August 1996.
- Osborn, R. G., K. F. Higgins, C. D. Dieter, and R. E. Usgaard. 1996. Bat Collisions with Wind Turbines in Southwestern Minnesota. Bat Research News 37: 105-108.
- Osborn, R. G., K. F. Higgins, R. E. Usgaard, C. D. Dieter, and R. G. Neiger. 2000. Bird Mortality Associated with Wind Turbines at the Buffalo Ridge Wind Resource Area, Minnesota. American Midland Naturalist 143: 41-52.
- Pagel, J. E., D. M. Whittington, and G. T. Allen. 2010. Interim Golden Eagle Technical Guidance: Inventory and Monitoring Protocols; and Other Recommendations in Support of Golden Eagle Management and Permit Issuance. US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). February 2010. Available online at: <u>http://steinadlerschutz.lbv.de/fileadmin/www.steinadlerschutz.de/</u> <u>terimGoldenEagleTechnicalGuidanceProtocols25March2010_1_.pdf</u>
- Pardieck, K.L., D.J. Ziolkowski Jr., M.A.R. Hudson. 2015. *North American Breeding Bird Survey Dataset* 1966 - 2014, version 2014.0. U.S. Geological Survey, Patuxent Wildlife Research Center accessed October 2015. Available online at: <<u>www.pwrc.usgs.gov/BBS/RawData/</u>>
- Piorkowski, M. D. 2006. Breeding Bird Habitat Use and Turbine Collisions of Birds and Bats Located at a Wind Farm in Oklahoma Mixed-Grass Prairie. Thesis. Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma. 112 pp. July 2006. <u>http://www.batsandwind.org/pdf/Piorkowski_2006.pdf</u>
- Piorkowski, M.D. and T.J. O'Connell. 2010. Spatial Pattern of Summer Bat Mortality from Collisions with Wind Turbines in Mixed-Grass Prairie. American Midland Naturalist. 164: 260-269.
- Rollins K. E, D. K. Meyerholz, G.D. Johnson, A.P. Capparella, S.S. Loew. 2012. A forensic investigation into the etiology of bat mortality at a wind farm: barotrauma or traumatic injury?. Veterinary Pathology Online. 2012 Mar 1;49(2):362-71.
- Shaffer, J. A. and D. H. Johnson. 2009. Displacement Effects of Wind Developments on Grassland Birds in the Northern Great Plains. Presented at the National Wind Coordinating Collaborative (NWCC) Wildlife and Wind Research Meeting VII, October 28-29, 2008, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. Pre-Conference Session, October 27, 2008. Prepared for the NWCC by S.S. Schwartz. Published June 2009.
- Smallwood, K. S., L. Rugge, S. Hoover, M. L. Morrison, and C. G. Thelander. 2001. Intra- and Inter-Turbine String Comparison of Fatalities to Animal Burrow Densities at Altamont Pass. Presented at the the National Avian-Wind Power Planning Meeting IV, Washington D.C. S. S. Schwartz, ed. Pp. 23-37. RESOLVE, Inc. Year Published.
- South Dakota Game, Fish, and Parks Department (SDGFPD). 2009. South Dakota Natural Heritage Program. November 2009. South Dakota's Rare Plants. Available at: http://gfp.sd.gov/wildlife/threatened-endangered/rare-plant.aspx. Accessed March 2, 2016.
- South Dakota Department of Game, Fish and Parks (SDDGFP). 2012. South Dakota River Otter Management Plan. South Dakota Department of Game, Fish and Parks Wildlife. Division Report Number 2012-07, Pierre, South Dakota, USA.
- South Dakota Department of Game, Fish and Parks (SDDGFP). 2014. South Dakota Wildlife Action Plan. Wildlife Division Report 2014-03. South Dakota Department of Game, Fish and Parks, Pierre
- South Dakota Game, Fish, and Parks Department (SDGFPD). 2015. Threatened, Endangered, and Canditate Species of South Dakota by County. Updated August 10, 2015. Available at: http://gfp.sd.gov/wildlife/docs/ThreatenedCountyList.pdf. Accessed March 2, 2016.

- South Dakota Game, Fish, and Parks Department (SDDGFP). 2016a. South Dakota Natural Heritage Program. South Dakota's Rare Animals. Available at: <u>http://gfp.sd.gov/wildlife/threatened-endangered/rare-animal.aspx</u>. Accessed March 2, 2016.
- South Dakota Department of Game, Fish, and Parks (SDDGFP). 2016b. Northern river otter (Lontra Canadensis). Species fact sheet. SDDGFP, Pierre, South Dakota. Accessed on March 4, 2016. Available online: <u>http://gfp.sd.gov/wildlife/management/diversity/river-otter.aspx</u>
- Stehn, T. 1998. Journey North. Ask the Expert: Whooping Cranes. Tom Stehn, Whooping Crane Coordinator, US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) Aransas National Wildlife Refuge, Austwell, Texas. Date Cited. Available online. http://www.learner.org/jnorth/spring1998/jnexpert/CraneAnswer.html
- Stehn, T. 2011. Whooping Crane Recovery Activities: October, 2010 August, 2011. Aransas National Wildlife Refuge, US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). August 31, 2011.
- Stehn, T. 2007. Whooping Cranes and Wind Farms Guidance for Assessment of Impacts. US Fish and Wildlife Services (USFWS) technical report.
- Stehn, T. V. and T. Wassenich. 2007. Whooping Crane Collisions with Power Lines: An Issue Paper. Proceedings of the North American Crane Workshop, 2006.
- Stratman, M. R., editor. 2015. Swift fox conservation team: report for 2013–2014. Colorado Division of Parks and Wildlife, Brush, USA.
- Swier VJ. (2006) Recent distribution and life history information for bats of eastern South Dakota. Occasional Papers, Museum Texas Tech University 264: 1-21.
- Thelander, C. G. and K. S. Smallwood. 2007. The Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area's Effects on Birds: A Case History. Pp. 25-46. *In*: M. J. de Lucas, G. F. E. Janss, and M. Ferrer, eds. Birds and Windfarms: Risk Assessment and Mitigation. Quercus, Madrid, Spain.
- Thelander, C. G., K. S. Smallwood, and L. Rugge. 2003. Bird Risk Behaviors and Fatalities at the Altamont Wind Resource Area: Period of Performance, March 1998-December 2000. Subcontractor Report NREL/SR-500-33829. Report by BioResource Consultants, Ojai, California, for the National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, Colorado. 92 pp. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/wind/pdfs/33829.pdf</u>
- Thompson, J., D. Solick, and K. Bay. 2011. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Dry Lake Phase I Wind Project. Iberdrola Renewables: September 2009 - November 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 10, 2011.
- US Conservation Reserve Program (CRP) Acreage by County. 2004. Farm Service Agency, US Department of Agriculture. The cumulative acreage by County in 2004 was downloaded by the Conservation Biology Institute from the Farm Service Agency website on 4/2008. Additional metadata information was derived from the FSA website describing the Conservation Reserve Program. Contact Person: Jim Strittholt.
- US Conservation Reserve Program (CRP) Acreage by County. 2004. Farm Service Agency, US Department of Agriculture. The cumulative acreage by County in 2004 was downloaded by the Conservation Biology Institute from the Farm Service Agency website on 4/2008. Additional metadata information was derived from the FSA website describing the Conservation Reserve Program. Contact Person: Jim Strittholt.
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 1988. Great Lakes and Northern Great Plains piping plover recovery plan. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Twin Cities, MN. 160 pp.
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2002. Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; Designation of Critical Habitat for the Northern Great Plains Breeding Population of the Piping Plover; Final Rule. Department of the Interior Fish and Wildlife Service. 50 Code of Federal Regulations (CFR)

Part 17. RIN 1018-AH96. 67 Federal Register (FR) 176: 57638-57717. September 11, 2002. Available online at: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/docs/federal_register/fr3943.pdf</u>

- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2007. International Recovery Plan for the Whooping Crane (*Grus americana*) Third Revision. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: http://www.fws.gov/southwest/es/Documents/R2ES/Whooping_Crane_Recovery_Plan_FINAL_21_July-2006.pdf
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2008. Birds of Conservation Concern 2008. December 2008. Division of Migratory Bird Management. Arlington, Virginia. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/migratorybirds/pdf/grants/BirdsofConservationConcern2008.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2009. US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2009. Piping plover (Charadrius melodus) 5-year review: summary and evaluation. Northeast and Midwest Regions. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: http://www.fws.gov/northeast/endangered/PDF/Piping_Plover_five_year_review_and_summary.pdf
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2010. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service and Wind Farm Owners Work Together. News release prepared by G. Parham, USFWS. February 8, 2010. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/midwest/News/release.cfm?rid=177</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2011a. U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service Seeks Input on Developing Indiana Bat Habitat Conservation Plan for Wind Facility in Benton County. News release prepared by G. Parham, USFWS. May 25, 2011. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/midwest/</u> <u>Endangered/permits/hcp/FowlerRidge/NR_FowlerNOI25May2011.html</u>; Information on fatalities at: http://www.fws.gov/midwest/Endangered/permits/hcp/FowlerRidge/FowlerRidge/Summary.html
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2011b. Indiana Bat Fatality at Pennsylvania Wind Facility. Pennsylvania Field Office News, Northeast Region, USFWS Last updated October 12, 2011.
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2012a. Final Land-Based Wind Energy Guidelines. March 23, 2012. 82 pp. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/windenergy/docs/WEG_final.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2012b. Endangered Indiana Bat Found Dead at Ohio Wind Facility; Steps Underway to Reduce Future Mortalities. Newsroom, Midwest Region, USFWS. November 29, 2012. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/midwest/news/604.html</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2012c. Indiana Bat Fatality at West Virginia Wind Facility. West Virginia Field Office, Northeast Region, USFWS. Last updated August 23, 2012. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/westvirginiafieldoffice/ibatfatality.html</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2013a. Least Tern (*Sterna antillarum*). 5-Year Review: Summary and Evaluation. USFWS, Southeast Region, Mississippi Field Office, Jackson, Mississippi. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/docs/five_year_review/doc4294.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2013b. Pallid Sturgeon (*Scaphirhynchus albus*). South Dakota Field Office, Mountain-Prairie Region, USFWS. Updated September 9, 2013. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/southdakotafieldoffice/STURGEON.HTM</u>
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2013c. Eagle Conservation Plan Guidance. Module 1 Land-Based Wind Energy. Version 2. Division of Migratory Bird Management, USFWS. April 2013. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/migratorybirds/Eagle_Conservation_Plan_Guidance-Module%201.pdf</u>
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2014a. Speciesassessment and listing priority assignment Form. *Anthus spragueii*. Accessed March 2016. Available online at" <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/docs/candidate/assessments/2014/r6/B0GD_V01.pdf</u>

- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2014b. Revised Recovery Plan for the Pallid Sturgeon (*Scaphirhynchus albus*). U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Denver, Colorado. 115 pp.
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2015b. Northeast Region. Rufa red knot. Last Updated December 2015. Accessed March 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/northeast/redknot/</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2015c. Interior Least tern (*Sterna antillarum*) Species Profile. USFWS Environmental Conservation Online System (ECOS). ECOS available at: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/ecos/indexPublic.do. Interior</u> Least tern species profile available online at: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/tess_public/profile/speciesProfile.action?spcode=B07N</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2015d. Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; Threatened Species Status for the Northern Long-Eared Bat With 4(d) Rule. Docket No. FWS-R5-ES-2011-0024;4500030113. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, 50 CFR Part 17. 80 Federal Register (FR) 63: 17974-18033. April 2, 2015. Available online at: https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2015-04-02/pdf/2015-07069.pdf
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016a. Initial Project Scoping: IPaC Information, Planning, and Conservation System. IPaC, Environmental Conservation Online System (ECOS), USFWS. Last updated January 28, 2015. IPaC: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/ipac/;</u> IPaC Initial Project Scoping. Accesses January 2016. Available online at:: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/ipac/gettingStarted/map</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016b. Species by State Report: South Dakota. Accessed February 2016. Available online at: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/tess_public/reports/species-listed-by-state-report?state=SD&status=listed</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016c. Endangered Species. Northenr long-eared bat *(Myotis septentrionalis)* Status: Threatened with 4(d) rule. Last Updated March 3, 2016. Accessed March 3, 2016. Available at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/Midwest/endangered/mammals/nleb/index.html</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016d. Northern Long-Eared Bat Final 4(d) Rule. White-Nose Syndrome Zone Around WNS/Pd Positive Counties/Districts. Map created February 29, 2016. Accessed March 4, 2016. Available at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/Midwest/endangered/mammals/nleb/pdf/WNSZone.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016e. Whooping crane. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/refuge/Quivira/wildlife_and_habitat/whooping_crane.html</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016f. Whooping crane Survey Results: Winter 2014-2015. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: http://www.fws.gov/uploadedFiles/WHCR%20Update%20Winter%202014-2015.pdf
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016g. Whooping Crane (*Grus Americana*). Species Profile. USFWS Environmental Conservation Online System (ECOS). ECOS available at: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/ecos/indexPublic.do;</u> Whooping crane species profile available online at: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/speciesProfile/profile/speciesProfile.action?spcode=B003</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016h. South Dakota Listed Species by County List. January 2016. Available online at: US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). South Dakota Listed Species by County List. Updated 4 October 2012. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/southdakotafieldoffice/SpeciesByCounty.pdf</u>. Accessed March 2016
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016i. Leedy's roseroot (*Rhodiola integrifolia leedyi*) Species Profile. USFWS Environmental Conservation Online System (ECOS). ECOS available at: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/ecos/indexPublic.do.</u> Leedy's roseroot species profile available online at: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/tess_public/profile/speciesProfile?spcode=Q392</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016j. Western prairie fringed orchid (*Platanthera praeclara*) Species Profile. USFWS Environmental Conservation Online System (ECOS). ECOS available at: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/ecos/indexPublic.do.</u> Western prairie fringed orchid species profile available online at: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/tess_public/profile/speciesProfile?spcode=Q2YD</u>

- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016k.. Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; 4(d) Rule for the Northern Long-Eared Bat. Docket No. FWS–R5–ES–2011–0024;4500030113. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, 50 CFR Part 17. 81 Federal Register (FR) 9: 1900-1921. January 14, 2016. Available online at: <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2016-01-14/pdf/2016-00617.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). National Wetlands Inventory (NWI). 2015a. Wetlands Inventory Data. Updated October 1, 2015. Digital data and information. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/wetlands/data/</u>. Accessed March 3, 2016
- US Geological Survey (USGS) Digital Elevation Model (DEM). 2013. Digital Elevation Model (DEM) Imagery. Geospatial Data Presentation Form: raster digital data. Restona, VA. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://nationalmap.gov/viewer.html</u>
- US Geological Survey (USGS) National Land Cover Data (NLCD). 2011. National Land Cover Database NLCD, Muti-Resolution Land Characteristics Consortium (MRLC). USGS Earth Resources Observation and Science (EROS) Center, Sioux Falls, South Dakota. Information accessed October 2015. Available online at: <u>http://www.mrlc.gov/nlcd11_leg.php</u>
- US Geological Survey (USGS). 1998. Instructions for Conducting the North American Breeding Bird Survey. USGS, Patuxent Wildlife Research Center Laurel, Maryland. Accessed January 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.pwrc.usgs.gov/bbs/participate/instructions.html</u>
- US Geological Survey (USGS). 2014. Geographic Information Products from the North American Breeding Bird Survey. Version 2004.1. Patuxent Wildlife Research Center, USGS, Laurel, Maryland. Information and data accessed October 2015. Available online at:<u>http://www.mbr-pwrc.usgs.gov/ bbs/geographic information/geographic information products .htm</u>
- US Geological Survey (USGS). 2015. National Hydrography Dataset (NHD). State data. Available online at: <u>ftp://nhdftp.usgs.gov/DataSets/Staged/States/FileGDB/HighResolution/</u>. Accessed March 3, 2016.
- US Geological Survey (USGS). 2016. Gap Analysis Program Species Viewer. Species Data Portal, National Gap Analysis Program (GAP). Webpage last modified February 17, 2016. Information available online at: http://gapanalysis.usgs.gov/species/viewer/; Species ranges and distribution data Accessed February and March 2016. Available online at: <u>http://dingo.gapanalysisprogram.com/Species/viewer/Map.aspx</u>
- Young, D. P., Jr., D. Strickland, W. P. Erickson, K. J. Bay, R. Canterbury, T. Mabee, B. Cooper, and J. Plissner. 2004. Baseline Avian Studies, Mount Storm Wind Power Project, Grant County, West Virginia, May 2003 - March 2004. Final Report. Technical report prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Chantilly, Virginia, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, Concord College, Athens, West Virginia, and ABR, Inc., Forest Grove, Oregon. April 23, 2004. 141 pp.
- Young, D. P., Jr. and W. P. Erickson. 2006. Wildlife Issue Solutions: What Have Marine Radar Surveys Taught Us About Avian Risk Assessment? Presented at the Wildlife Workgroup Research Meeting VI, NWCC, San Antonio, Texas. November 14-16, 2006.

Appendix A. Photographs of the Triple H Wind Resource Area from the Site Visit on February 26, 2016. Additional photographs are available upon request.



Photo 1. Untilled grassland with stock tank in the foreground. Grassland may be grazed.



Photo 2. Untilled grassland with wetland. Wetland is a potential attractant for migratory birds.



Photo 3. Hay pasture with tree rows in the background.



Photo 4. Harvested sunflower field within the THWRA. Harvested grain fields could serve as feeding areas for migrating water birds, waterfowl, and other birds.



Photo 5. Harvested corn field within the THWRA. Harvested grain fields could serve as feeding areas for migrating water birds, waterfowl, and other birds.



Photo 6. Trees in draw provide potential raptor nesting habitat and bat foraging and roosting habitat.



Photo 7. Black-tailed prairie dog colony found on the southern boundary of the THWRA, in the Huron Wetland Management District – Waterfowl Production Area. Prairie dog colonies provide hunting opportunities for eagles and raptors, and thereby, may attract eagles and raptors to the area. This may increase the risk of raptor and wind turbine collision.



Photo 8. Exfoliating bark on trees, such as this one, provide roosting habitat for bats.

Appendix B. US Fish and Wildlife Service iPaC online review

Appendix C. Bird Species of Conservation Concern (USFWS BCC) within the Prairie Potholes Bird Conservation Region

Species	Recorded from 2011 to 2014 on Crow Creek Breeding Bird Survey Route?	Recorded in 2011 and 2013 on Fort Thompson Breeding Bird Survey Route?
Horned Grebe	No	No
American Bittern	Yes	No
Least Bittern	No	No
Bald Eagle	No	No
Swainson's Hawk	Yes	No
Peregrine Falcon	No	No
Yellow Rail	No	No
Mountain Plover	No	No
Solitary Sandpiper	No	No
Upland Sandpiper	Yes	Yes
Long-billed Curlew	No	No
Hudsonian Godwit	No	No
Marbled Godwit	Yes	Yes
Buff-breasted Sandpiper	No	No
Short-billed Dowitcher	No	No
Black Tern	Yes	No
Black-billed Cuckoo	No	No
Short-eared Owl	No	No
Red-headed Woodpecker	No	Yes
Sprague's Pipit	No	No
Grasshopper Sparrow	Yes	Yes
Baird's Sparrow	No	No
Nelson's Sharp-tailed Sparrow	No	No
McCown's Longspur	No	No
Smith's Longspur	No	No
Chestnut-collared Longspur	Yes	Yes
Dickcissel	Yes	Yes

Appendix C. US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) Birds Conservation Concern (BCC) within the Bird Conservation Region (BCR) 11 (Prairie Potholes) and their presence/absence in the vicinity of the Triple H Winds Resource Area (Pardieck et al. 2014, USFWS 2008). Appendix D. Summary of Publicly-Available Studies from North American Wind Energy Facilities that have Reported Bat Fatalities

Appendix D. Summary of publicly-available studies from North American wind energy facilities that report bat fatality data.

Dat latanty uata.		
Data from the following sources:		
Project, Location	Reference	Pro

Project, Location	Reference	Project, Location	Reference
Alite, CA (09-10)	Chatfield et al. 2010	Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR (08-10)	Gritski et al. 2011
Alta Wind I, CA (11-12)	Chatfield et al. 2012	Leaning Juniper, OR (06- 08)	Gritski et al. 2008
Alta Wind II-V, CA (11-12) Barton I & II, IA (10-11) Barton Chapel, TX (09-10) Beech Ridge, WV (12)	Chatfield et al. 2012 Derby et al. 2011a WEST 2011 Tidhar et al. 2013b	Lempster, NH (09) Lempster, NH (10) Linden Ranch, WA (10-11) Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 09)	Tidhar et al. 2010 Tidhar et al. 2011 Enz and Bay 2011 Arnett et al. 2011
Big Horn, WA (06-07)	Kronner et al. 2008	Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II;	Arnett et al. 2011
Big Smile, OK (12-13) Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 08) Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 09) Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II: 09)	Derby et al. 2013b Jeffrey et al. 2009a Enk et al. 2010	Madison, NY (01-02) Maple Ridge, NY (06) Maple Ridge, NY (07)	Kerlinger 2002b Jain et al. 2007 Jain et al. 2009a
10)	Enk et al. 2011a	Maple Ridge, NY (07-08)	Jain et al. 2009d
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 10- 11)	Enk et al. 2012b	Maple Ridge, NY (12)	Tidhar et al. 2013a
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III; 10- 11)	Enk et al. 2012a	Marengo I, WA (09-10)	URS Corporation 2010b
Blue Sky Green Field, WI (08; 09)	Gruver et al. 2009	Marengo II, WA (09-10)	URS Corporation 2010c
Buena Vista, CA (08-09)	Insignia Environmental 2009	Mars Hill, ME (07)	Stantec 2008
Buffalo Gap I, TX (06)	Tierney 2007	Mars Hill, ME (08)	Stantec 2009a
Buffalo Gap II, TX (07-08)	Tierney 2009	McBride, Alb (04)	Brown and Hamilton 2004
Buffalo Mountain, TN (00-03)	Nicholson et al. 2005	Melancthon, Ont (Phase I; 07)	Stantec Ltd. 2008
Buffalo Mountain, TN (05)	Fiedler et al. 2007	Meyersdale, PA (04)	Arnett et al. 2005
Buffalo Ridge, MN (94-95)	Osborn et al. 1996, 2000	Moraine II, MN (09)	Derby et al. 2010d
Buffalo Ridge, MN (00)	Krenz and McMillan 2000	Mount Storm, WV (Fall 08)	Young et al. 2009b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 96)	Johnson et al. 2000	Mount Storm, WV (09)	Young et al. 2009a, 2010b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 97)	Johnson et al. 2000	Mount Storm, WV (10)	Young et al. 2010a, 2011b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 98)	Johnson et al. 2000	Mount Storm, WV (11)	Young et al. 2011a, 2012b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 99)	Johnson et al. 2000	Mountaineer, WV (03)	Kerns and Kerlinger 2004
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 98) Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 99)	Johnson et al. 2000 Johnson et al. 2000	Mountaineer, WV (04) Munnsville, NY (08)	Arnett et al. 2005 Stantec 2009b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 01/Lake Benton I)	Johnson et al. 2004	Nine Canyon, WA (02-03)	Erickson et al. 2003
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 02/Lake Benton I)	Johnson et al. 2004	Noble Altona, NY (10)	Jain et al. 2011b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 99)	Johnson et al. 2000	Noble Bliss, NY (08)	Jain et al.2009e
Buttalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 01/Lake Benton II)	Johnson et al. 2004	Noble Bliss, NY (09)	Jain et al. 2010a
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 02/Lake Benton II)	Johnson et al. 2004	Noble Bliss/Wethersfield, NY (11)	Kerlinger et al. 2011

Appendix D. Summary of publicly-available studies from North American wind energy facilities that report bat fatality data. Data from the following sources:

Project, Location	Reference	Project, Location	Reference
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (09-10)	Derby et al. 2010b	Noble Chateaugay, NY (10)	Jain et al. 2011c
Buffalo Ridge II, SD (11-12) Casselman, PA (08) Casselman, PA (09)	Derby et al. 2012a Arnett et al. 2009 Arnett et al. 2010	Noble Clinton, NY (08) Noble Clinton, NY (09) Noble Ellenburg, NY (08)	Jain et al. 2009c Jain et al. 2010b Jain et al. 2009b
Castle River, Alb. (01)	Brown and Hamilton 2006a	Noble Ellenburg, NY (09)	Jain et al. 2010c
Castle River, Alb. (02)	Brown and Hamilton 2006a	Noble Wethersfield, NY (10)	Jain et al. 2011a
Cedar Ridge, WI (09)	BHE Environmental 2010	NPPD Ainsworth, NE (06)	Derby et al. 2007
Cedar Ridge, WI (10)	BHE Environmental 2011	Oklahoma Wind Energy Center, OK (04; 05)	Piorkowski and O'Connell 2010
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (09)	Stantec 2010	Pebble Springs, OR (09- 10)	Gritski and Kronner 2010b
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (10)	Stantec 2011	PGC site 6-3 (07)	Capouillez and Librandi-Mumma 2008, Librandi- Mumma and Capouillez 2011
Combine Hills, OR (Phase I; 04-05)	Young et al. 2006	Pine Tree, CA (09-10)	Consultants 2010
Combine Hills, OR (11)	Enz et al. 2012	Pioneer Prairie I, IA (Phase II; 11-12)	Chodachek et al. 2012
Condon, OR	Fishman Ecological Services 2003	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (10)	Derby et al. 2011c
Crescent Ridge, IL (05-06)	Kerlinger et al. 2007	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (11)	Derby et al. 2012c
Criterion, MD (11)	Young et al. 2012a	PrairieWinds SD1 (Crow Lake), SD (11-12)	Derby et al. 2012d
Criterion, MD (12)	Young et al. 2013	PrairieWinds SD1 (Crow Lake), SD (12-13)	Derby et al. 2013a
Crystal Lake II, IA (09)	Derby et al. 2010a	Prince Wind Farm, Ont (06)	Natural Resource Solutions 2008
Diablo Winds, CA (05-07)	WEST 2006, 2008	Prince Wind Farm, Ont (07)	Natural Resource Solutions 2009
Dillon, CA (08-09)	Chatfield et al. 2009	Prince Wind Farm, Ont (08)	Natural Resource
Dry Lake I, AZ (09-10)	Thompson et al. 2011	Red Canyon, TX (06-07)	Miller 2008
Dry Lake II, AZ (11-12)	I hompson and Bay 2012	Red Hills, OK (12-13)	Derby et al. 2013c
Elkhorn, OR (08)	Jeffrey et a. 2009b	Ripley, Ont (08)	Jacques Whitford 2009
Elkhorn, OR (10)	Enk et al. 2011b	Ripley, Ont (08-09)	Golder Associates 2010
Elm Creek, MN (09-10) Elm Creek II, MN (11-12) Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 99) Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 00)	Derby et al. 2010c Derby et al. 2012b Young et al. 2003 Young et al. 2003	Rugby, ND (10-11) Searsburg, VT (97) Shiloh I, CA (06-09) Shiloh II, CA (09-10)	Derby et al. 2011b Kerlinger 2002a Kerlinger et al. 2009 Kerlinger et al. 2010a
02)	Young et al. 2003	SMUD Solano, CA (04-05)	2005
Forward Energy Center, WI (08-10)	Grodsky and Drake 2011	Stateline, OR/WA (01-02)	Erickson et al. 2004
Fowler I, IN (09) Fowler III, IN (09) Fowler I, II, III, IN (10)	Johnson et al. 2010a Johnson et al. 2010b Good et al. 2011	Stateline, OR/WA (03) Stateline, OR/WA (06) Steel Winds I, NY (07)	Erickson et al. 2004 Erickson et al. 2007 Grehan 2008

Data from the following sources:	-		
Project, Location	Reference	Project, Location	Reference
Fowler I, II, III, IN (11)	Good et al. 2012	Stetson Mountain I, ME (09)	Stantec 2009c
Fowler I, II, III, IN (12)	Good et al. 2013	Stetson Mountain I, ME (11)	Normandeau Associates 2011
Goodnoe, WA (09-10)	URS Corporation 2010a	Stetson Mountain II, ME (10)	Normandeau Associates 2010
Grand Ridge I, IL (09-10)	Derby et al. 2010g	Summerview, Alb (05-06)	Brown and Hamilton 2006b
Harrow, Ont (10)	Natural Resource Solutions 2011	Summerview, Alb (06; 07)	Baerwald 2008
Harvest Wind, WA (10-12)	Downes and Gritski 2012a	Top of Iowa, IA (03)	Jain 2005
Hay Canyon, OR (09-10)	Gritski and Kronner 2010a	Top of Iowa, IA (04)	Jain 2005
High Sheldon, NY (10)	Tidhar et al. 2012a	Tuolumne (Windy Point I), WA (09-10)	Enz and Bay 2010
High Sheldon, NY (11)	Tidhar et al. 2012b	Vansycle, OŔ (99)	Erickson et al. 2000
High Winds, CA (03-04)	Kerlinger et al. 2006	Vantage, WA (10-11)	Ventus Environmental Solutions 2012
High Winds, CA (04-05)	Kerlinger et al. 2006	Wessington Springs, SD (09)	Derby et al. 2010f
Hopkins Ridge, WA (06)	Young et al. 2007	Wessington Springs, SD (10)	Derby et al. 2011d
Hopkins Ridge, WA (08)	Young et al. 2009c	White Creek, WA (07-11)	Downes and Gritski 2012b
Jersey Atlantic, NJ (08)	NJAS 2008a, 2008b, 2009	Wild Horse, WA (07)	Erickson et al. 2008
Judith Gap, MT (06-07)	TRC 2008	Windy Flats, WA (10-11)	Enz et al. 2011
Judith Gap, MT (09)	Poulton and Erickson 2010	Winnebago, IA (09-10)	Derby et al. 2010e
Kewaunee County, WI (99-01)	Howe et al. 2002	Wolfe Island, Ont (May- June 09)	Stantec Ltd. 2010a
Kibby, ME (11)	Stantec 2012	Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 09)	Stantec Ltd. 2010b
Kittitas Valley, WA (11-12)	Stantec Consulting 2012	Wolfe Island, Ont (January- June 10)	Stantec Ltd. 2011a
Klondike, OR (02-03)	Johnson et al. 2003	Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 10)	Stantec Ltd. 2011b
Klondike II, OR (05-06)	NWC and WEST 2007	Wolfe Island, Ont (January- June 11)	Stantec Ltd. 2011c
Klondike III (Phase I), OR (07-09)	Gritski et al. 2010	Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 11)	Stantec Ltd. 2012

Appendix D. Summary of publicly-available studies from North American wind energy facilities that report bat fatality data.

Two Indiana bat fatalities are reported by USFWS (2010, 2011c), among other reports. Three additional Indiana bat fatalities have been reported (2011a, 2012b, 2012c), but are not included in this list of public reports. One incidental long-eared bat (*Myotis evotis*) was recorded at Tehachapi, California (Anderson et al. 2004), but is not included in this list of public reports. Additional bat fatalities (evening bat, eastern red bat, hoary bat, tricolored bat, Mexican free-tailed bat, and unidentified bat) have been found in Texas (Hale and Karsten 2010), but the number of fatalities by species is not reported.

Appendix B. Triple H Wind Project Habitat Characterization – Technical Memo



ENVIRONMENTAL & STATISTICAL CONSULTANTS

415 West 17th Street, Suite 200, Cheyenne, Wyoming 82001 Phone: 307-634-1756 • www.west-inc.com • Fax: 307-637-6981

October 6, 2016

Christina White Triple H Wind Project, LLC 3760 State St., Suite 200 Santa Barbara, CA 93105

RE: Triple H Wind Project Habitat Characterization

Dear Ms. White,

Vegetation types (or Habitat) were delineated using ArcGIS, ArcMap 10.3 within the Triple H Wind Project (THWP) and a one mile buffer (Buffer). Using 2014 USDA NAIP aerial imagery in combination with 2011 South Dakota Land Cover Patterns, and 2015 USDA NASS cropland classification, all land within the two areas was digitized and assigned one of five habitat types (excluding National Wetland Inventory [NWI] wetlands; Table 1). NWI data was used to represent water within the two study areas. Those water features visible on the aerial imagery but not in the NWI data were digitized as "water" habitat.

The THWP, as described, contained slightly more than 39,271 acres and the one mile buffer contained approximately 31,858 acres. Croplands and grasslands were the dominant land cover types in the THWP accounting for 58% and 33% of the project area (Table 1). In descending order, the following habitat types made up the remaining area of the THWP: NWI wetlands, developed (roads, urban, residential, etc), trees, and water. Grasslands and croplands were again the dominant land cover within the Buffer area accounting for 46% and 45% of the area. Habitat types other than grassland and croplands in the Buffer in descending order included: NWI wetlands, developed, trees, and water (Table 1). The percentage of croplands was greater in the THWP than within the Buffer; whereas, grassland habitat was more prevalent within the Buffer.

Croplands were distributed primarily in the central portion of the THWP and grassland habitat was generally located in areas where NWI wetlands were more numerous (Figure 1). Grassland habitat consisted of herbaceous vegetation that appeared to be either cropped for hay production or grazed by livestock.

Let me know if you have any questions or need further details.

Sincerely,

Brian Heath Project Manager

	тнwр		Buffer	
Habitat Type	Acres	%	Acres	%
Cropland	22,796.8	58.0%	14,462.6	45.4%
Grassland	12,953.2	33.0%	14,643.9	46.0%
Developed	718.3	1.8%	719	2.3%
Trees	274.3	0.7%	386.2	1.2%
NWI Wetland ^a	2,524.2	6.4%	1,621.8	5.1%
Water	4.3	0.0%	24.4	0.1%
Total	39,271.1	100.0%	31,857.9	100.0%

Table 1. Digitized Land Cover within the Triple H Wind Project and 1 Mile Buffer.

^a USFWS National Wetland Inventory



Figure 1. Digitized Land cover within the Triple H Wind Project and 1 mile buffer.

Appendix C. Whooping Crane Stopover Habitat Assessment for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota

Whooping Crane Stopover Habitat Assessment For the Triple H Wind Project Hughes and Hyde Counties, SD



Triple H Wind Project, LLC

3760 State Street, Suite 200 Santa Barbara, California 93105

Prepared by:

Victoria Poulton & Brian Heath

Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. 415 West 17th Street, Suite 200 Cheyenne, Wyoming 82001

September 1, 2017



Pre-Decisional Document - Privileged and Confidential - Not For Distribution

This document or presentation includes Whooping Crane migration use data from the Central Flyway stretching from Canada to Texas, collected, managed and owned by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. Data were provided to the "Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc." as a courtesy for their use. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service has not directed, reviewed, or endorsed any aspect of the use of these data. Any and all data analyses, interpretations, and conclusions from these data are solely those of the "Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc."

INTRODUCTION

Triple H Wind Project, LLC is proposing construction of the Triple H Wind Project (THWP) in Hughes and Hyde Counties, SD (Figure 1). Whooping cranes migrate through the U.S. along an approximately 200-mile wide corridor between breeding grounds in Canada and wintering grounds in Texas along the Gulf of Mexico (Canadian Wildlife Service [CWS] and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS] 2007). The THWP is located in the distance bands where 75-85% of observations have occurred, based on confirmed sightings (CWCTP 2014; Figure 1). Potential stop-over habitat for whooping cranes was evaluated using a model developed by The Watershed Institute, Inc. (TWI 2012). The TWI habitat assessment model is a quantitative and easilyreplicated desktop approach to evaluating the quantity, quality, and locations of potential whooping crane stopover habitat in a given area. It is based on available data on water regime, water depth, visibility obstructions, wetland size, disturbance, and proximity to feeding areas, which are all factors that have been shown to affect how whooping cranes choose stopover habitat. The initial goal of the TWI model was to provide electric utilities with a tool for making power line-marking decisions, but the USFWS stated in a personal communication (D. Mulhern, USFWS [retired], November 19, 2012) that it should be applicable to wind power development areas for the identification of potential whooping crane stop-over habitat as well. This report describes results of the desktop evaluation of potential whooping crane stopover habitat using the TWI model for the THWP project area plus a 10-mile buffer.

TWI WHOOPING CRANE HABITAT ASSESSMENT

The TWI model is based on National Wetlands Inventory (NWI) wetlands data (USFWS 2016). It should be noted that wetland features identified in the NWI dataset may not all meet criteria defined by the U.S. Army Corps of Engineers for jurisdictional wetlands, and not all surface water features are represented in the NWI Version 1 dataset. Some additional surface water features were added to the set of features evaluated; these features were available from site-specific land cover mapping. NWI features were selected that intersected a 10-mile buffer of the THWP. Wetland features were then screened for unsuitability based on size, construction, and proximity to human disturbance and visual obstructions. U.S. National Agriculture Imagery Program (NAIP) aerial imagery from 2016 was used to evaluate the presence of human development and visual obstructions such as wooded areas. Spatial datasets for roads, highways, railroads, bridges, and electric transmission lines were available from South Dakota GIS (2017) or were digitized from available topographic and aerial imagery.

Screening and scoring of wetlands occurred in a step-wise fashion. Wetlands were first screened based on wetland type; wetlands described as forested, scrub-shrub, or excavated were removed from the dataset. The second screening step removed wetlands with calculated acreage of 0.25 acre or less. The third screening step was to designate buffers around human developments/sources of disturbance and screen the wetlands or portions of wetlands within those disturbance buffers. Table 1 lists human disturbance types included and the disturbance buffers used (based on the TWI model).

	Disturbance	
Disturbance Type	Buffer (m)*	Comments
Paved Roads	400	Non-State Trunk Road Inventory (NSTRI)
Gravel Roads	200	Non-State Trunk Road Inventory (NSTRI)
Dwellings and Developments	200	South Dakota GIS; only occupied structures were selected
Railroads	400	Spatial data not publicly available. Digitized from USGS 1:24,000 topographic map.
Power Lines	200	Spatial data not publicly available. Digitized from USGS 1:24,000 topographic map.
Bridges	400	Spatial data not publicly available. Digitized from NAIP 2016 aerial imagery.

Table 1. Disturbance types and buffe	r distances used to screen wetla	nds, based on TWI
2012.		

* Width of the buffer applied to each side of a linear feature, or radius applied to a point feature

Following the TWI model, wetlands were assigned scores based on five attributes that contribute to high-quality stop-over habitat for whooping cranes, including water regime, distance to crop fields for feeding, wetland size, whether the wetland is natural or man-made, and if the wetland is part of a wetland mosaic (Table 2). The scores for the five attributes were summed. Resulting scores were compared to the scores calculated by TWI for Quivira National Wildlife Refuge (NWR), which is a traditional stop-over site for whooping cranes in Kansas. Based on the average score for Quivira wetlands, scores of 12 or higher were considered by TWI to be potentially suitable habitat.

Aside from a few traditional stop-over sites such as Quivira NWR and Cheyenne Bottoms in Kansas, whooping crane stop-over sites are highly variable from year to year. If a wetland feature is scored by the TWI as potentially suitable (12 or higher), that does not necessarily mean that a whooping crane will ever visit that site; however, if a whooping crane is migrating through the area and conditions (stormy or foggy weather, inclement winds, sunset) cause the bird to look for a place to stop, it is more likely to choose a feature that possesses the characteristics scored highly by the TWI model, compared to lower scoring features.

Score Type	Attributes	Score Value
	Permanent (H) ¹	5
	Intermittently Exposed (G) ¹	4
Water Pegime	Semi-Permanent (F) ¹	3
Water Regime	Seasonally Flooded (C) ¹	2
	Intermittently/Temporarily	1
	Within adjacent to creatend ²	F
		5
		4
Distance to Food	0.51 – 1.0 km from cropland ²	3
	1.1 – 1.5 km from cropland ²	2
	>1.5 km from cropland ²	1
	>7 acres	5
	5 - 6.9 acres	4
Wetland Size	3 – 4.9 acres	3
	1 – 2.9 acres	2
	<1 acre	1
Natural Watland	Natural ³	2
	Created ³	0
Watland Maggie	Yes ⁴	3
	No ⁴	0

Table 2. Wetland scoring system used by the TWI model (TWI 2012).

¹ – Codes in parenthesis are codes from the Wetlands and Deepwater Habitats Classification system (Cowardin et al. 1979) used by the NWI system

² – Cropland areas from National Land Cover Database (NLCD; USGS 2014) and include the "cultivated crops" category.

³ – Based on NWI wetland codes indicating the wetland was diked or impounded.

 4 – A wetland was considered part of a mosaic if it was within $\frac{1}{4}$ mile of four or more other wetlands and with no visual obstructions such as wooded areas or buildings between the wetlands. Visual obstructions were assessed based on NAIP (2016) aerial imagery.

RESULTS

For the THWP and 10-mile buffer combined, 14,100 NWI features initially were identified. An additional 23 water bodies were digitized and added to the dataset, based on desktop or field assessments, for a total of 14,123 features going into the model. For these added features that did not have attributes provided by the NWI dataset, the highest score possible was assumed to be conservative for the regime and wetland type scores. Due to the high number of features retained by the model, an additional 1,065 linear, potentially incised and/or wooded features (intermittent and unknown perennial streambed features) were removed from the dataset, resulting in 10,403 remaining scored features¹. Of the 10,403 scored features, 4,867 had a score of 12 or higher.

¹ This step is not part of the TWI model.

Within the THWP boundary, there were 1,491 features that were scored, with scores ranging from 5 to 18 (Figures 2 and 3). Seven hundred fourteen features scoring 12 or higher were present within the THWP itself (Figure 3).

Within a 10-mile buffer of the THWP and excluding the area within the Project boundary, 8,912 wetland features were scored by the TWI model (Figures 4 & 5). High-scoring (12+) features were present throughout the 10-mile buffer area (Figure 5). High-scoring features of note included the Missouri River/Lake Sharpe in the southwest, Collins Slough at the eastern edge of the 10-mile buffer area, Medicine Knoll Creek and its tributaries in the west, and wet areas associated with Wolf Creek in the northeast (Figure 5). These high-scoring features included rivers and streams, emergent wetlands, impoundments, ephemeral drainages, prairie potholes, and depressions in fields (Figure 5).

When comparing the TWI model results between the THWP area and the 10-mile buffer area, the areas are similar in that features scoring 11 or 12 were most common (Figures 2 and 4). The largest high-scoring features in terms of acreage, and the areas with the most densely occurring high-scoring features were outside of the THWP boundary to the south, west, and north. The widespread availability of suitable stopover habitat indicates that if cranes are displaced from suitable habitat by development of the THWP, they are likely to find similar habitat nearby. The lack of a concentration of high-scoring features within the THWP relative to the surrounding landscape also infers whooping cranes may not be more attracted to the THWP and risky areas near wind turbine blades.

Through fall of 2014, 10 whooping crane observations were confirmed within 10-miles of the THWP (CWCTP 2014; Figure 6). The Cooperative Whooping Crane Tracking Project (CWCTP) emphasizes that the whooping crane observation data are incidental sightings and not accurate documentations of absence in areas where no observations are recorded, nor are observation locations representative of all sites used by tracked cranes since only the location of the first observation is logged in the database.

The U.S. Geological Survey (USGS) evaluated spatial intensity of use by 58 whooping cranes fitted with platform transmitting terminals (PTT; Pearse et al. 2015). Stopover sites used during spring and fall migration were tracked over five years. Based on stopover site use density and duration, 20-square-kilometer grid cells were categorized as unoccupied, low use, core intensity, or extended-use core intensity. The resulting data are meant as a tool to identify areas that may be important for migrating whooping cranes. Overlaying the USGS site use intensity data with the THWP indicates that the THWP is located in an area with lower use intensity as higher intensity cells occur to the north and southeast (Figure 7).

REFERENCES

- Canadian Wildlife Service and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (CWS and USFWS). 2007. International recovery plan for the whooping crane. Ottawa: Recovery of Nationally Endangered Wildlife (RENEW) and U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Albuquerque, New Mexico. 162 pp. <u>http://pbadupws.nrc.gov/docs/ML1118/ML111880004.pdf</u>
- Cooperative Whooping Crane Tracking Project (CWCTP). 2014. Central_flyway_WC_sightings_through_fall_2014. Shapefile loaned by the USFWS Nebraska Ecological Services Field Office.
- Cowardin, L. M., V. Carter, F. C. Golet, and E. T. LaRoe. 1979. Classification of wetlands and deepwater habitats of the United States. FWS/OBS-79/31, U.S. Department of Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington, D.C.

National Agriculture Imagery Program (NAIP). 2016. http://datagateway.nrcs.usda.gov/

Pearse, A.T., Brandt, D.A., Harrell, W.C., Metzger, K.L., Baasch, D.M., and Hefley, T.J. 2015. Whooping crane stopover site use intensity within the Great Plains: U.S. Geological Survey Open-File Report 2015–1166, 12 p., <u>http://dx.doi</u>. org/10.3133/ofr20151166.

South Dakota GIS accessed at <u>http://arcgis.sd.gov/server/sdGIS/data.aspx</u> in July 2017

- The Watershed Institute, Inc. (TWI) 2012. Potentially suitable habitat assessment for the whooping crane (*Grus americana*). Topeka, KS.
- U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2009. Whooping cranes and wind development An issue paper. Regions 2 and 6, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. http://www.neo.ne.gov/renew/wind-working-group/wind-whoopingcranes.pdf
- U. S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016. National Wetlands Inventory Wetlands, Version
 1. National Wetlands Inventory website. U.S. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington, D.C. http://www.fws.gov/wetlands/
- U.S. Geological Survey (USGS). 2014. NLCD 2011 Land Cover. USGS, Sioux Falls, South Dakota. <u>http://www.mrlc.gov/nlcd06_data.php</u>


Figure 1. Triple H Wind Project evaluated for whooping crane stopover habitat.



Figure 2. TWI scores for NWI wetland features within the Triple H Wind Project.



Figure 3. Wetland scores for the Triple H Wind Project using the TWI model.



Figure 4. TWI scores for wetlands in the 10-mile buffer but excluding land within the Triple H Wind Project boundary.



Figure 5. Map of wetlands scored using the TWI model for the Triple H Wind Project and 10-mile buffer.



Figure 6. Whooping crane observations through Fall 2014, data from the USFWS Nebraska Ecological Services Field Office.



Figure 7. USGS site use intensity data for the vicinity of the THWP (USGS 2015).

Appendix A. Table of all wetlands scored by the TWI model for the Triple H Wind Project and 10-mile buffer (See Excel spreadsheet).

Appendix B. Cooperative Whooping Crane Tracking Project – Attachment 1 Required Reading for Users of the Whooping Crane Tracking Project Database.

Required Reading for Users of the Whooping Crane Tracking Project Database

CWCTP-GIS data or derivatives thereof (e.g., shape files, jpegs) may not be distributed or posted on the Internet without inclusion of this explanatory document.

The Cooperative Whooping Crane Tracking Project (CWCTP) was initiated in 1975 to collect a variety of information on whooping crane migration through the U.S. portion of the Central Flyway. Since its inception in 1975, a network of Federal and State cooperating agencies has collected information on whooping crane stopovers and funneled it to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (Service) Nebraska Field Office where a database of sighting information is maintained. The WCTP database includes a hardcopy file of whooping crane sighting reports and a digital database in various formats based on those sighting reports. A subset of the database along with sight evaluation (habitat) information collected between 1975 and 1999 was summarized by Austin and Richert (2001).*

In the Fall of 2007, the CWCTP database was converted to a GIS format (ArcGIS 9.2) to facilitate input, updates, and provide output options in a spatial context. During this process, inconsistencies between the digital database and sighting report forms were identified and corrected. Location information in various formats was derived from data in the corrected database, and new fields were added to the corrected database (e.g., latitude and longitude in decimal degrees, an accuracy field, and location comment field). The attached file contains observation data through the 2008 Spring migration and is referred to as the CWCTP-GIS (2008a).

The appropriate use of the CWCTP-GIS is constrained by limitations inherent in both the GIS technology and bias inherent in any database comprised of incidental observations. Without an understanding of the assumptions and limitations of the data, analyses and output from the spatial database can result in faulty conclusions. The following assumptions and characteristics of the database are crucial to interpreting output correctly. Other, unknown biases also may exist in the data.

- First and foremost, the database is comprised of incidental sightings of whooping cranes during migration. Whooping cranes are largely opportunistic in their use of stopover sites along the Central Flyway, and will use sites with available habitat when weather or diurnal conditions require a break in migration. Because much of the Central Flyway is sparsely populated, only a small percent of stopovers are observed, those observed may not be identified, those identified may not be reported, and those reported may not be confirmed (only confirmed sightings are included in the database). Based on the crane population and average flight distances, as little as 4 percent of crane stopovers are in the Central Flyway does NOT mean that whooping cranes do not use that area or that various projects in the vicinity will not potentially adversely affect the species.
- In the database, the location of each sighting is based on the first observation of the crane group even though, in many cases, the group was observed at multiple locations in a local area. For this and other reasons described below, only broad-scale analyses

of whooping crane occurrences are appropriate. GIS **cannot** be legitimately used with this database for measurements of distance of whooping crane groups from various habitat types or geographic entities (i.e., using various available GIS data layers). In addition, point locations of whooping crane groups known to roost in various wetlands or rivers may not coincide with those wetlands. The user needs to refer to the attribute table or contact the Nebraska Field office for more specific information on individual observations.

- Precision of the data: When a "Cadastral" location (Township, Range, Section, ¼-Section) was provided on the original sighting form, the geographic point representing that sighting was placed in the center of the indicated Section or ¼-Section and the latitude and longitude of that point were recorded in degrees, minutes, and seconds (DMS). These records are indicated by "Cadastral" in the accuracy field. When Cadastral information was lacking, DMS latitude and longitude were derived by adding seconds (00) to the degrees and minutes of latitude and longitude originally estimated and recorded on the observation form. These observations are identified by "Historic" in the accuracy field. GPS latitude and longitude were used when available, but when none of the above were reported, the point was placed on text description of location (e.g., 3 miles N of Denton), and identified in the accuracy field with "Landmark". DMS latitude and longitude were used to populate the GIS data layer.
- Bias: Bias is an inherent characteristic of any data obtained through incidental sightings. That is, for the subset of crane use that is recorded, relatively more sightings are recorded in areas such as national wildlife refuges where knowledgeable observers are available to look for cranes and report their presence. Conversely, areas of high use may not be documented due to the absence of observers. However, use of areas such as national wildlife refuges is also determined to some extent by habitat management on the areas and availability of alternative habitat in the region. For these reasons, representations of the crane migration corridor based on percent of confirmed sightings should be interpreted conservatively, particularly in Oklahoma and Kansas where a high percent of sightings occur on a few national wildlife refuges. Whooping crane migration patterns and subsequent observations were also likely influenced by regional weather patterns such as wind and precipitation, as well as local farming practices which influence food availability. Factors such as these vary among regions and years and were not considered in this database.

The CWCTP-GIS will be updated annually following the Fall migration and distributed to State cooperators and Fish and Wildlife Service Ecological Services Field Offices in the Central Flyway. Contact information for these offices can be found at http://www.fws.gov. Federal regulatory agencies and project proponents should contact the appropriate Fish and Wildlife Service for help in evaluating potential project impacts to the endangered whooping crane.

* Austin, E.A. and A.L. Richert. 2001. A comprehensive review of observational and site evaluation data of migrant whooping cranes in the United States, 1943-99. U.S. Geological Survey. Northern Prairie Wildlife Research Center, Jamestown, North Dakota, and State Museum, University of Nebraska, Lincoln, Nebraska. 157 pp.

Appendix D. Triple H Wind Project, Northern Long-eared Bat Desktop Summer Habitat Assessment, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota

Triple H Wind Project Northern Long-eared Bat Desktop Summer Habitat Assessment

Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota



Prepared for:

Triple H Wind Project LLC

3760 State Street, Suite 200 Santa Barbara, CA 93105

Prepared by:

Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc.

415 West 17th Street, Suite 200 Cheyenne, Wyoming

December 21, 2017



TABLE OF CONTENTS

INTRODUCTION	. 1
PROJECT AREA DESCRIPTION	. 1
METHODS	. 1
RESULTS	. 3
REFERENCES	. 8

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Land use and land cover at the Triple H Project	4
Figure 2. Land use and land cover at the expanded Triple H Project	5
Figure 3. Northern long-eared bat habitat assessment of the Triple H Project	6
Figure 4. Northern long-eared bat habitat assessment of the expanded Triple H Project	7

INTRODUCTION

Triple H Wind Project, LLC contracted Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) to identify potential suitable habitat for the federally threatened northern long-eared bat (*Myotis septentrionalis*; NLEB) within the proposed Triple H Wind Project (Project).

During the summer, suitable habitat for this species consists of forested areas where bats might roost, forage, and commute between roosting and foraging sites. NLEB primarily forage or travel in forest habitat and are typically constrained to forest features (Boyles et al. 2009). Therefore, habitat suitability was evaluated based primarily on the presence of forested areas that NLEB might use for roosting and foraging.

PROJECT AREA DESCRIPTION

In 2016, the original Project area was based on a 200 megawatt (MW) project and now has been expanded to include three separate 250 NW phases. The proposed total area of the original Project is approximately 39,099 acres (ac; 61.1 square miles [mi²]; Figure 1). According to the U.S. Geological Survey National Land Cover Dataset (USGS NLCD 2011), the dominant land cover type within the original area of interest is herbaceous habitat, covering 62.4% of the land area (24,383 ac [38.1 mi²]). The second most common cover type is cultivated cropland, primarily corn and soybeans (33.3%; 13,026 ac [20.4 mi²]). Developed/open space (2.2%; 853 ac [1.3 mi²]) and open water (1.5%; 574 ac [0.9 mi²]) were the next highest habitat types. All other land cover types total less than 0.5% of the land area, individually. Deciduous forests are considered potential habitat for NLEB and combined make up approximately 0.01% (2.2 ac [0.003 mi²]) of all land cover types within the original Project area.

The proposed total area that includes the expanded boundary of the Project is approximately 110,139 ac (172.1 mi²; Figure 2). According to the USGS NLCD, the dominant land cover type within the expanded area of interest is herbaceous habitat, covering 68.9% of the land area (75,835 ac [118.5 mi²]). The second most common cover type is cultivated cropland, primarily corn and soybeans (27.5%; 30,262 ac [47.3 mi²]). Developed/open space (1.9%; 2,134 ac [3.3 mi²]) and open water (1.5%; 1,153 ac [1.8 mi²]) were the next highest habitat types. All other land cover types total less than 0.5% of the land area, individually. Deciduous forests combined make up approximately 0.02% (17 ac [0.03 mi²]) of all land cover types within the expanded Project area.

METHODS

Desktop review of land cover data and aerial imagery was used to assess the presence of suitable habitat for NLEB within the original and expanded areas of interest. Our definition of suitable summer habitat for the NLEB is intended to describe typical habitat used by reproductive females

and juveniles during the summer. The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) 2017 Range-Wide Indiana Bat Summer Survey Guidelines (USFWS 2017b) was used to define suitable habitat for NLEB.

WEST conducted a desktop assessment of potential suitable NLEB habitat by reviewing the USGS NLCD within a 2.5-mile buffer of the original and expanded Project areas, and delineating potential suitable habitat types (i.e., deciduous forest, evergreen forest, mixed forest, and woody wetlands) using Geographic Information Systems (GIS). The habitat delineations were then cross-checked and edited based on the most recent publicly available aerial imagery from the National Agriculture Imagery Program (NAIP) for the Project areas. The overall habitat layer was then edited to remove areas that had been cleared of trees and to refine habitat boundaries. Narrow commuting corridors not captured by the NLCD were also added based on the aerial imagery.

A habitat analysis was then conducted to assess connectivity of suitable foraging habitats (i.e., woodlots, forested riparian corridors, and natural vegetation communities adjacent to these habitats), roosting habitats, and commuting habitats (i.e., shelterbelts/tree-lines, wooded hedgerows) as suggested in the USFWS Indiana Bat Section 7 and Section 10 Guidance for Wind Energy Projects (USFWS 2011). The guidance suggests assessing the potential presence of Indiana bats (Myotis sodalis) and NLEB within the Projects based on availability of travel/commuting corridors within the Projects' boundaries, and connectivity to foraging or roosting habitat within a 2.5 mile buffer of the Projects. The minimum size for suitable foraging/roosting habitat is not well understood, but lower estimates are around 20 ac (Broders et al. 2006). We used a minimum patch size of 15 ac (0.2 mi²) to assign potential roosting habitat. Trees up to 1,000 feet (ft) from the next nearest suitable roost tree, woodlot, or wooded fencerow were considered suitable habitat (USFWS 2011). The 1,000-ft distance is based on observations of NLEB behavior indicating that isolated trees might only be suitable as habitat when they are less than 1,000 ft from other forested/wooded habitats. These estimates are based on available telemetry data on foraging activity. Based on this informed guidance, it is reasonable to conclude that NLEB are unlikely to occur within project areas located more than 1,000 ft from the nearest connected suitable habitat (USFWS 2016; USFWS 2011).

Forested patches were sorted by size into the following groups: <15 ac: small forest patches, 15-50 ac: potential NLEB roost/foraging habitat, and >50 ac: large potential roost/foraging habitat. All polygons representing forested habitats were buffered by 500 ft and dissolved to group any habitat patches within 1000 ft of each other. This buffer, representing all forested habitats within 1,000 ft of each other, was then purged of small isolated patches by selecting only those connected habitats containing forested patches at least 15 acres in size. This selection of habitat patches was then buffered by 1,000 ft to represent the potential foraging area for NLEB.

In addition to desktop analysis, USFWS South Dakota Field Office and South Dakota Game, Fish, and Parks were contacted to learn more about NLEB occurrence within Hughes and Hyde Counties.

RESULTS

According to the South Dakota Listed Species by County List (updated January 11, 2017; USFWS 2017a) there are known occurrences of NLEB within Hughes County by either acoustic or netting survey documentation and possible NLEB occurrence in Hyde County. However, when WEST contacted the USFWS South Dakota field office and South Dakota Game, Fish, and Parks, it was expressed that there were no known occurrences of NLEB in either county and that surveys had not been conducted that were known.

The desktop NLEB bat habitat assessment of the original boundary resulted in zero forested patches greater than 15 ac within the original Project boundary (Figure 3). Additionally, five forested patches greater than 15 ac occurred outside of the project boundary within the 2.5 mile buffer. The NLEB bat habitat assessment of the expanded boundary resulted in four forested patches greater than 15 ac within the expanded Project boundary (Figure 4). Two additional forested patches greater than 15 ac occurred outside of the expanded Project boundary within the 2.5 mile buffer.

Given that there were 0 – 6 forested patches greater than 15 ac within the 2.5 mile buffer of the original and expanded Project boundaries, WEST recommends a follow up on-site habitat assessment by a WEST permitted NLEB bat biologist to determine the potential suitability for NLEB summer presence within and around the Project boundaries. Presence/probable absence may be warranted if forest connectivity to larger contiguous forested habitat is found within either Project boundary.



Figure 1. Land use and land cover at the Triple H Project.



Figure 2. Land use and land cover at the expanded Triple H Project.



Figure 3. Northern long-eared bat habitat assessment of the Triple H Project.



Figure 4. Northern long-eared bat habitat assessment of the expanded Triple H Project.

REFERENCES

- Boyles, J. G. and C. K. R. Willis. 2009. Could Localized Warm Areas inside Cold Caves Reduce Mortality of Hibernating Bats Affected by White-Nose Syndrome? Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 8(2): 92-98.
- Broders, H.G., G.J. Forbes, S. Woodley and I.D. Thompson. 2006. Range extent and stand selection for roosting and foraging in forest-dwelling northern long-eared bats and little brown bats in the Greater Fundy Ecosystem, New Brunswick. Journal of Wildlife Management 70:1174-1184.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2011. Indiana Bat Section 7 and Section 10 Guidance for Wind Energy Projects (Revised: 26 October 2011). Available online at: http://www.fws.gov/midwest/endangered/mammals/inba/pdf/inbaS7and10WindGuidanceFinal26 Oct2011.pdf
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2013. Northern Long-Eared Bat (Myotis septentrionalis). USFWS Fact Sheet. September 2013.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2017a. South Dakota Listed Species by County List. January 2017.
- U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2017b. Range-Wide Indiana Bat Summer Survey Guidelines. US Department of Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Region 3. USFWS. Fort Snelling, Minnesota.48pp.
 https://www.fws.gov/midwest/endangered/mammals/inba/surveys/pdf/2017INBASummerSurveyG uidelines9May2017.pdf

Appendix E. Avian Use Surveys for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota – Final Report April 2016 – March 2017

Avian Use Surveys for the Triple H Wind Project Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota

Final Report April 2016 – March 2017



Prepared for:

Triple H Wind Project, LLC

3760 State Street, Suite 200 Santa Barbara, California 93105

Prepared by:

Brian Heath and Guy DiDonato

Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. 415 West 17th Street, Suite 200 Cheyenne, Wyoming 82001

September 19, 2017



Privileged and Confidential - Not For Distribution

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Triple H Wind Project, LLC (THWP) has proposed a wind energy facility in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota referred to as the Triple H Wind Project (Project). THWP contracted Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) to conduct baseline wildlife surveys to estimate the potential impacts of Project construction and operations on wildlife. This document provides the results of fixed-point avian use surveys conducted at the Project from April 2016 through March 2017. The surveys were conducted following the tiered process outlined in the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) Land-Based Wind Energy Guidelines and the USFWS Eagle Conservation Plan Guidance (ECPG).

The principal objectives of the study were to: 1) provide site-specific bird resource and use data that would be useful for evaluating potential impacts from the proposed wind energy facility; 2) provide information that could be used for project planning and design of the facility to minimize impacts to birds; and 3) collect data on eagle use in the area following the ECPG. This survey effort was designed to supplement additional baseline wildlife surveys conducted at the Project in 2016/2017 including a raptor nest survey, prairie grouse lek surveys, acoustic monitoring for bats, and a habitat characterization study, the results of which are included in separate reports.

Year-round avian use surveys were conducted at 24 points established throughout the Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017. Surveys at each point were conducted approximately monthly for a period of 60 minutes (min), with all bird species recorded during the first 20 min, and then only large birds recorded during the remaining 40 min of the survey period. A total of 238 60-min fixed-point surveys were completed and 59 unique bird species were identified. Regardless of bird size, five species composed 63.5% of all observations: red-winged blackbird, sandhill crane, snow goose, horned lark, and Canada goose. All other species accounted for less than 3% of the observations, individually. The most abundant large bird species observed were sandhill crane (3,970 individuals in 20 groups) and snow goose (3,875 individuals in six groups).

Diurnal raptor use was highest during the spring (0.34 birds/plot/60-min survey) and lowest during the winter (0.09). Six diurnal raptor species were identified with the most common being northern harrier (21 observations) and red-tailed hawk (17 observations). A total of four eagles (all bald eagles) were recorded during surveys, with an additional two bald eagles and four golden eagles observed incidentally during the study. The raptor species with the highest exposure index was the red-tailed hawk (0.02), which was ranked sixth of all species. Diurnal raptor use was recorded at all but three of the 24 points with the highest use recorded at point 10, primarily due to higher use by *Buteo* species and northern harriers at this point.

Mean annual diurnal raptor use was 0.12 raptors/plot/20-min survey, which ranked 44th compared to 46 other studies of wind energy facilities where protocols similar to the present study were implemented and had data for three or four different seasons. While overall risk to raptors is low, based on species composition of the most common raptor fatalities at other western wind energy facilities and species composition of raptors observed at the Project during the surveys, the

majority of the fatalities of diurnal raptors will likely consist of red-tailed hawks. It is expected that risk to raptors would be unequal across seasons, with the lowest risk in the winter and highest risk during the spring. Raptor fatality rates are expected to be comparable to other wind energy facilities in South Dakota and the Midwest region.

A total of 15 sensitive species were observed within the Project during surveys or incidentally during the study. No state and/or federally-listed species were observed. Sensitive species recorded during the study included 12 species designated as either a state species of greatest conservation need and/or federal bird of conservation concern. Three rare species that are tracked by the South Dakota Natural Heritage Program were observed during surveys or incidentally within the Project.

STUDY PARTICIPANTS

Western EcoSystems Technology

Brian Heath Carmen Boyd Guy DiDonato Sarah Martinson Kristen Klaphake Andrea Chatfield Wendy Bruso Katie Michaels Carissa Goodman Dave Klein Chris Fritchman Brenda Weber Michael Gerringer Project Manager Report Manager Statistician Data Analyst GIS Technician Report Compiler Technical Editing Manager Technical Editing Coordinator Senior Technical Editor Technical Editor Field Supervisor Field Technician Field Technician

REPORT REFERENCE

Heath, B. and G, DiDonato. 2017. Avian Use Surveys for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota. DRAFT Final Report: April 2016 – March 2017. Prepared for Triple H Wind Project, LLC, Santa Barbara, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. September 19, 2017.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	i
INTRODUCTION	. 1
STUDY AREA	. 1
METHODS	. 4
Fixed-Point Avian Use Surveys Survey Plots Survey Methods Observation Schedule Incidental Observations Quality Assurance and Quality Control Data Compilation and Storage. Statistical Analysis Bird Diversity and Species Richness Avian Use, Percent of Use, and Frequency of Occurrence Bird Flight Height and Behavior Bird Exposure Index Spatial Use	. 4 . 6 . 6 . 7 . 7 . 7 . 7 . 7 . 7 . 7 . 8 . 8 . 8 . 9
RESULTS	. 9
Bird Diversity and Species Richness. Bird Use, Percent of Use, and Frequency of Occurrence Waterbirds. Waterfowl Shorebirds. Gulls/Terns. Diurnal Raptors Upland Game Birds Large Corvids Passerines Bird Flight Height and Behavior Bird Exposure Index. Spatial Use. Eagle Observations Incidental Observations	. 9 10 10 10 10 11 11 11 12 14 15 16 22 22 23
DISCUSSION	25
Potential Impacts Bird Types of Concern Waterbirds Waterfowl	25 28 29 29

Use Comparison	Diurnal Raptors	30
Exposure Index Analysis 32 Fatality Studies 32 Use versus Fatality Rates 36 Eagles 36 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 37 REFERENCES 39	Use Comparison	
Fatality Studies 32 Use versus Fatality Rates 36 Eagles 36 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 37 REFERENCES 39	Exposure Index Analysis	32
Use versus Fatality Rates	Fatality Studies	32
Eagles	Use versus Fatality Rates	
CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	Eagles	
REFERENCES	CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS	
	REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

 Table 2. Summary of species richness (species/plot^a/survey^b), and sample size by season and overall during the fixed-point bird avian surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017	Table 1. Land cover types, coverages, and composition within the Triple H Wind Project	4
 Table 3. Mean bird use (number of birds/plot^a/survey^b), percent of use (%), and frequency of occurrence (%) for each bird type and species by season during the fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 201713 Table 4. Flight height characteristics by bird type^a and raptor subtype during fixed-point avian use surveys^b at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 201715 Table 5. Relative exposure index and flight characteristics for bird species^a during fixed-point avian use surveys^b at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017	Table 2. Summary of species richness (species/plot ^a /survey ^b), and sample size by season and overall during the fixed-point bird avian surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017	9
 Table 4. Flight height characteristics by bird type^a and raptor subtype during fixed-point avian use surveys^b at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017	Table 3. Mean bird use (number of birds/plot ^a /survey ^b), percent of use (%), and frequency of occurrence (%) for each bird type and species by season during the fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017	.13
 Table 5. Relative exposure index and flight characteristics for bird species^a during fixed-point avian use surveys^b at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017. Table 6. Eagle minutes^a by season for bald eagles (BAEA) observed during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017. Table 7. Incidental wildlife observed while conducting surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017. Table 8. Summary of sensitive species observed at the Triple H Wind Project during avian use surveys (AU) and as incidental wildlife observations (Inc.) from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017. Table 9 Raptor fatalities, by species, recorded at new-generation wind energy facilities in the Midwest region of North America. 	Table 4. Flight height characteristics by bird type ^a and raptor subtype during fixed-point avian use surveys ^b at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017	.15
 Table 6. Eagle minutes^a by season for bald eagles (BAEA) observed during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017	Table 5. Relative exposure index and flight characteristics for bird species ^a during fixed-point avian use surveys ^b at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.	16
 Table 7. Incidental wildlife observed while conducting surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017. Table 8. Summary of sensitive species observed at the Triple H Wind Project during avian use surveys (AU) and as incidental wildlife observations (Inc.) from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017. Table 9 Raptor fatalities, by species, recorded at new-generation wind energy facilities in the Midwest region of North America. 	Table 6. Eagle minutes ^a by season for bald eagles (BAEA) observed during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017	.22
Table 8. Summary of sensitive species observed at the Triple H Wind Project during avian use surveys (AU) and as incidental wildlife observations (Inc.) from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017. Table 9 Raptor fatalities, by species, recorded at new-generation wind energy facilities in the Midwest region of North America.	Table 7. Incidental wildlife observed while conducting surveys at the Triple H Wind Project	
Table 9 Raptor fatalities, by species, recorded at new-generation wind energy facilities in theMidwest region of North America	from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017	.22
	from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017 Table 8. Summary of sensitive species observed at the Triple H Wind Project during avian use surveys (AU) and as incidental wildlife observations (Inc.) from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017	22 24

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Overview of the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota. ... 2

Figure	2. The land cover types and coverage within the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota (USGS NLCD 2011; Homer et al. 2015 and WEST habitat mapping Heath 2016b).	3
Figure	3. Locations of avian use survey points at the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota	5
Figure	4a. Relative large bird use (birds/800-meter plot/60-minute survey) by observation point during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.	.17
Figure	4b. Relative diurnal raptor use (raptors/800-meter plot/60-minute survey) by observation point during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017	.18
Figure	4c. Relative small bird use (birds/100-meter plot/20-minute survey) by observation point during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.	.18
Figure	5a. Flight paths for waterbirds and shorebirds observed during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017	.19
Figure	5b. Flight paths for waterfowl observed during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016	.20
to Mar	ch 28, 2017	.20
Figure	5c. Flight paths for diurnal raptors observed during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016	.21
to Mar	ch 28, 2017	.21
Figure	6. Fatality rates for all birds (number of birds per megawatt [MW] per year) from publicly available wind energy facilities in the Midwest region of North America	.26
Figure	7. Comparison of annual diurnal raptor use during fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017, and annual diurnal raptor use recorded other North American wind energy facilities.	.31
Figure	8. Fatality rates for diurnal raptors (number of raptors per MW per year) from publicly available wind energy facilities in the Midwest region of North America	.34

LIST OF APPENDICES

- Appendix A. All Bird Types and Species Observed at the Triple H Wind Project during Fixed-Point Avian Use Surveys, April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017
- Appendix B. Mean Use, Percent of Use, and Frequency of Occurrence for Large Birds and Small Birds Observed during Fixed-Point Surveys at the Triple H Wind Project, April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017

- Appendix C. Species Exposure Indices for Large Birds and Small Birds during Fixed-Point Surveys at the Triple H Wind Project, April 18 2016 – to March 28, 2017
- Appendix D. Mean Use by Point for All Birds, Major Bird Types, and Diurnal Raptor Subtypes during Fixed-Point Surveys at the Triple H Wind Project, April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017

Appendix E. North American Fatality Summary Tables

INTRODUCTION

In 2016, Triple H Wind Project, LLC contracted Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) to conduct surveys and monitor wildlife resources in the Triple H Wind Project (Project) to estimate the impacts of wind energy facility construction and operations on wildlife. This document provides results of fixed-point avian use surveys conducted at the Project from April 18, 2016 through March 28, 2017. This survey effort supplements additional baseline survey work conducted at the Project in 2016/2017 including a raptor nest survey, prairie grouse lek surveys, acoustic monitoring for bats, and a habitat characterization study. Baseline wildlife studies at the Project were designed to address the questions posed under Tier 3 of the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) *Final Land-based Wind Energy Guidelines* (WEG; USFWS 2012) and Tier 2 of the USFWS *Eagle Conservation Plan Guidance* (ECPG; USFWS 2013).

The principal objectives of the study were to: 1) provide site-specific bird resource and use data that would be useful for evaluating potential impacts from the proposed wind energy facility; 2) provide information that could be used for project planning and design of the facility to minimize impacts to birds; and 3) collect data on eagle use in the area following the ECPG (USFWS 2013).

STUDY AREA

The proposed 39,091-acre (ac; 15,820-hectare [ha]) Project is located in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota, northeast of the Missouri River (Figure 1). The Project is located within the Northwestern Glaciated Plains Level III Ecoregion, a transitional region between the generally more level, moister, more agricultural Northern Glaciated Plains to the east and the generally more irregular, dryer, Northwestern Great Plains to the west and southwest (US Environmental Protection Agency 2015). This ecoregion is characterized by significant surface irregularity and high concentrations of seasonal and semi-permanent wetlands (prairie potholes). The topography within the Project consists of rolling hills, with elevations ranging from 558 to 642 meters (m; 1,830 to 2,106 feet [ft]) above sea level. Land ownership in and around the Project is primarily private.

The majority of the lands within the Project support agriculture, either as cultivated crops, hay, or pasture lands. Approximately 91% of the project consists of cultivated crops (22,692 ac [9,183 ha; 58.1%] and grassland/herbaceous plants (12,984 ac [5,254 ha; 33.0%]; Figure 2, Table 1) based on US Geological Survey (USGS) National Land Cover Dataset (NLCD; USGS NLCD 2011; Homer et al. 2015) and WEST habitat mapping data (Heath 2016b). The Project contains approximately 2,517 ac (1,018 ha; 6.4%) of lakes, wetlands, and stock ponds (Table 1). The remainder of the Project is composed of developed areas (1.8%) and trees (0.7%) (Figure 2, Table 1).



Figure 1. Overview of the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota.



Figure 2. The land cover types and coverage within the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota (USGS NLCD 2011; Homer et al. 2015 and WEST habitat mapping Heath 2016b).

Land Cover	Acres	% Composition
Croplands	22,692.1	58.1
Grasslands/Herbaceous/Hay/Pasture	12,894.3	33.0
NWI Wetlands/ Water	2,517.0	6.4
Developed	715.1	1.8
Trees	273.1	0.7
Total	39,091.5*	100

	Table 1. Land cover types, coverages,	and composition	within the	Triple H Wind	Project.
--	---------------------------------------	-----------------	------------	----------------------	----------

Data from the US Geological Survey (USGS) National Land Cover Dataset (NLCD; USGS NLCD 2011, Homer et al. 2015) and Heath (2016b).

* Total acreage calculated based on digitizing of cover types during desktop analysis and is approximate.

METHODS

Fixed-Point Avian Use Surveys

Avian point count surveys are the most widely used methodology for pre-construction avian use characterization and risk analysis (e.g., USFWS "Tier 3" studies [USFWS 2012]), because of their effectiveness and efficiency for characterizing the use of selected sites by a broad spectrum of diurnally-active birds (Ralph et al. 1993, Strickland et al. 2011). The objective of the fixed-point avian use surveys was to estimate the seasonal and spatial use of the study area by birds, particularly diurnal raptors (defined here as kites, accipiters, buteos, harriers, eagles, falcons, and osprey) and other large bird species. Fixed-point avian use surveys (variable circular plots) were conducted using methods described by Reynolds et al. (1980). Survey methodologies were generally comparable to those used at other wind energy sites in South Dakota, and were consistent with methods and survey efforts recommended in the WEG and ECPG (USFWS 2012, 2013).

Survey Plots

Twenty-four points were established throughout the Project with each survey plot consisting of an 800-m (2,625-ft) radius circle centered on the point (Figure 3). Plots were selected to survey representative habitats and topography of the Project, while meeting ECPG spatial sampling recommendations. The ECPG recommends at least 30% survey coverage of areas within one kilometer (km; 1.6 miles [mi]) of turbine locations (USFWS 2013). Because turbine locations were unknown at the start of surveys, plots were selected such that survey viewsheds covered approximately 30% of the entire 39,069-ac Project area.



Figure 3. Locations of avian use survey points at the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota.
Survey Methods

Points were surveyed for 60 minutes (min) each, with all species of birds recorded during the first 20-min of the survey period, and then only large birds recorded for the remaining 40-min. The initial 20-min surveys allowed for comparison of small and large bird use, including diurnal raptor use, with the majority of wind projects in the region, while the 60-min eagle surveys are consistent with the ECPG and were used to obtain a stronger dataset with which to evaluate large bird use and potential risk, particularly for eagles. Large birds observed within an 800-m plot and small birds within a 100-m plot were used for quantitative analysis and other comparative metrics. Small birds were defined as cuckoos, hummingbirds, swifts, woodpeckers, and passerines. Large birds were defined as waterbirds, waterfowl, shorebirds, diurnal raptors (i.e., kites, accipiters, buteos, eagles, falcons, northern harrier [*Circus cyaneus*], and osprey [*Pandion haliaetus*]), vultures, upland game birds, doves and pigeons, large corvids (e.g., magpies, crows, and ravens), large cuckoos, and goatsuckers.

The date, start and end time of the survey period, and weather information (e.g., temperature, wind speed and direction, and cloud cover) were recorded for each survey. Every bird group (each group may be as small as just one individual) observed during a survey was recorded and identified by a unique observation number. Information collected for each observation included: species or best possible identification, number of individuals, sex and age class (if possible), distance from plot center when first observed, closest distance, altitude above ground, activity (behavior), and habitat(s). Bird behavior and habitat type were recorded based on the point of first observation. Approximate flight height and distance from plot center at first observation were recorded to the nearest 5-m (16-ft) interval. Other information collected included whether or not the observation was auditory only, as well as the 10-min interval of the survey during which the detection first occurred. Additionally, for all eagle observations, data were collected following ECPG methodology, including minute by minute data collected throughout the duration of each eagle observation (USFWS 2013).

Locations of diurnal raptors, other large birds, and species of concern observed during surveys were recorded on field maps by unique observation numbers. Flight paths and perch locations were digitized using ArcGIS 10.4. Comments were recorded in the comments section of the data sheet.

Observation Schedule

Sampling intensity was designed to document bird use and behavior by habitat and season within the study area. Surveys were conducted approximately once per month from April 18, 2016 through March 28, 2017, with seasons defined as follows: spring (March 1 to May 14), summer (May 15 to August 14), fall (August 15 to November 14), and winter (November 15 to February 28). Surveys were carried out during daylight hours and survey periods were varied to approximately cover all daylight hours during a season. To the extent practical, each point was surveyed roughly the same number of times; however, harsh weather and road conditions in winter and spring prevented surveys at some points during those seasons.

Incidental Observations

Incidental wildlife observations provide records of wildlife seen outside of the standardized surveys. All diurnal raptors, unusual or unique birds, sensitive species, mammals, reptiles, and amphibians were recorded in a similar fashion to standardized surveys. The observation number, date, time, species, number of individuals, sex/age class, distance from observer, activity, height above ground (for bird species) and habitat were recorded.

Quality Assurance and Quality Control

Quality assurance and quality control (QA/QC) measures were implemented at all stages of the study, including in the field, during data entry and analysis, and report writing. Following field surveys, observers were responsible for inspecting data forms for completeness, accuracy, and legibility. Potentially erroneous data were identified using a series of database queries. Irregular codes or data suspected as questionable were discussed with the observer and/or project manager. Errors, omissions, or problems identified in later stages of analysis were traced back to the raw data forms, and appropriate changes in all steps were made.

Data Compilation and Storage

A Microsoft[®] ACCESS database was developed to store, organize, and retrieve survey data. Data were keyed into the electronic database using a pre-defined protocol to facilitate subsequent QA/QC and data analysis. All data forms and electronic data files were retained for reference.

Statistical Analysis

For analysis purposes, a visit was defined as the required length of time, in days, to survey all of the plots once within the study area. Visits were assigned according to the following criteria: 1) a single visit had to be completed in a single season, and 2) a visit could be spread across multiple dates, but a single date could not contain surveys from multiple visits. Under certain circumstances, such as extreme weather conditions, plots were not surveyed during some visits. In these cases, a visit might not have constituted a survey of all plots.

Bird Diversity and Species Richness

Bird diversity was illustrated by the total number of unique species observed. Species lists (with the number of observations and the number of groups) were generated by season and included all observations of birds detected, regardless of their distance from the observer. In some cases, the tally may represent repeated sightings of the same individual. For example, a sum of 50 individuals of northern harrier may be 50 unique birds or it may be one bird observed on 50 separate visits or something in between. Species richness by season was calculated by averaging the total number of species observed within each plot during a visit, then averaging across plots within each visit, followed by averaging across visits within the season. Overall species richness was calculated as a weighted average of seasonal values by the number of days in each season. Species diversity and richness were compared among seasons for fixed-point avian use surveys.

Avian Use, Percent of Use, and Frequency of Occurrence

For generating standardized fixed-point avian use estimates, large birds detected within the 800m radius plot during the full 60-min survey were used in the analysis, while small birds recorded within a 100-m radius plot during the initial 20-min survey were used in the analysis. The metric used to measure mean bird use was the number of birds per plot per survey (60-min survey for large birds and 20-min survey for small birds). These standardized estimates of mean bird use were used to compare differences between bird types, seasons, survey points, and other studies where similar methods were used. Mean use by season was calculated by summing the total number of birds seen within each plot during a visit, then averaging across plots within each visit, followed by averaging across visits within the season. Overall mean use was calculated as a weighted average of seasonal values by the number of days in each season.

While surveys for large birds at the Project were conducted over a 60-min survey period, for comparison to studies at other wind energy facilities that historically collected data during 20-min surveys, a separate use estimate for diurnal raptors was also calculated by using only those diurnal raptor observations recorded during the first 20-min of each survey.

Bird Flight Height and Behavior

Bird flight heights are important metrics to assess potential exposure. Flight height information was used to calculate the percentage of birds observed flying within the rotor-swept height (RSH) for turbines likely to be used at the Project. A RSH for potential collision with a turbine blade of 25 to 150 m (82 to 492 ft) above ground level (AGL) was used for the purposes of the analysis. The flight height recorded during the initial observation was used to calculate the percentage of birds flying within the RSH and mean flight height. The percentage of birds flying within the RSH at any time was calculated using the lowest and highest flight heights recorded.

Bird Exposure Index

The bird exposure index is used as a relative measure of species-specific risk of turbine collision and the species most likely to occur as fatalities at the wind energy facility. A relative index of bird exposure (R) was calculated for bird species observed during the surveys using the following formula:

$R = A^*P_f^*P_t$

Where A equals mean relative use for species *i* (large bird observations within 800 m of the observer or 100 m for small birds) averaged across all surveys, P_f equals the proportion of all observations of species *i* where activity was recorded as flying (an index to the approximate percentage of time species *i* spends flying during the daylight period), and P_t equals the proportion of all initial flight height observations of species *i* within the likely RSH. The exposure index does not account for other possible collision risk factors, such as foraging or courtship behavior.

Spatial Use

Large bird flight paths were qualitatively compared to study area characteristics (e.g., topographic features). The objective of mapping observed large bird locations and flight paths was to identify areas of concentrated use and/or consistent flight patterns by eagles, other diurnal raptors, waterbirds, waterfowl, and shorebirds. This information can be useful in turbine layout design or micro-siting individual turbines to reduce risk to birds.

RESULTS

Fixed-point avian use surveys were conducted within the Project from April 18, 2016 through March 28, 2017, during which time 238 surveys were completed (Table 2). The majority of survey points (15 of 24 total points) were visited 11 or 12 times, while the remaining nine points were visited only seven or eight times due to weather-related issues (e.g., flooded roads, snow and ice, drifted minimum maintenance roads, etc.) during the winter and spring. Two separate viewsheds and survey periods were used when calculating species richness, use, percent composition, percent frequency, and exposure index for large and small birds: an 800-m plot and 60-min survey period for large birds and a 100-m plot and 20-min survey period for small birds.

Bird Diversity and Species Richness

Fifty-nine unique species were observed over the course of all fixed-point avian use surveys (Table 2). A mean of 1.21 large bird species/800-m plot/60-min survey and 1.64 small bird species/100-m plot/20-min survey was recorded. Bird diversity (the number of unique species observed) was highest during the summer (41 species), followed by spring (39), fall (26), and winter (10). Large bird species richness (mean number of species per plot per survey) was higher during the summer (2.18 species/plot/survey) and spring (1.98) compared to the fall (0.81) and winter (0.17). Small bird species richness was similarly higher during the summer (3.43 species/plot/survey) and spring (2.03) than during the fall (0.79) and winter (0.55; Table 2).

2016 to	March 28, 2017.				
	Number of	# Surveys	# Unique	Species	Richness
Season	Visits	Conducted	Species	Large Birds	Small Birds
Spring	3	47	39	1.98	2.03
Summer	3	72	41	2.18	3.43
Fall	3	71	26	0.81	0.79
Winter	3	48	10	0.17	0.55
Overall	12	238	59	1.21	1.64

Table	2. Summary of species	richness (species	s/plot ^a /survey ^b), and	I sample size by	y season and
	overall during the fixed-	point bird avian s	surveys at the Triple	H Wind Project	from April 18,
	2016 to March 28, 2017.				

^a 800-meter (m) radius for large birds and 100-m radius for small birds.

^b 20-minute (min) survey period of small birds and 60-min survey period for large birds.

During the full 60-min survey period, a total of 25,849 birds were observed within 1,008 separate groups (defined as one or more individuals; Appendix A). Regardless of bird size, five species (8.5% of all species) composed 63.5% of all observations: red-winged blackbird (*Agelaius phoeniceus*), sandhill crane (*Grus canadensis*), snow goose (*Chen caerulescens*), horned lark

(*Eremophila alpestris*), and Canada goose (*Branta Canadensis*). All other species accounted for less than 3% of the observations, individually. The most abundant large bird species observed were sandhill crane (3,970 individuals in 20 groups) and snow goose (3,875 individuals in six groups). A total of 61 diurnal raptors were recorded within the Project, representing six identified species (Appendix A).

Bird Use, Percent of Use, and Frequency of Occurrence

Mean bird use, percent of use, and frequency of occurrence were calculated by season for all bird types (Table 3) and species (Appendix B). The highest overall large bird use occurred during the spring (120.50 birds/800-m plot/60-min survey), followed by fall (57.52), summer (4.28), and winter (0.57). Alternatively, small bird use was considerably higher in the winter (103.27 birds/100-m plot/20-min survey), compared to spring (56.25), summer (9.25), and fall (8.96; Table 3).

Waterbirds

Waterbird use was substantially higher in the fall (55.15 birds/plot/60-min survey) than in spring (0.01) and summer (0.03); no waterbirds were observed during winter surveys (Table 3). Higher use in fall was attributed almost entirely to several large groups of sandhill cranes (Appendix A). Waterbirds accounted for 95.9% of overall large bird use during fall, but less than 1% of the overall large bird use during other seasons. Waterbirds were observed during 13.9% of fall surveys, 2.8% of summer surveys, and only 1.4% of spring surveys (Table 3).

Waterfowl

Waterfowl had much higher use during the spring (102.62 birds/plot/60-min survey), compared to summer (0.83), fall (0.97), and winter (0.24; Table 3). High waterfowl use during the spring was largely due to several large groups of snow goose and Canada goose, which together accounted for 84.2% of the overall large bird use in spring (Appendices A and B1). Waterfowl composed 85.2% of the overall large bird use in spring and 42.6% in winter, but only 19.5% in summer and 1.7% in fall. Waterfowl were observed more frequently during the spring (32.8% of surveys) and summer (26.4%) compared to the fall (2.8%) and winter (4.4%; Table 3).

Shorebirds

Shorebirds had higher use during the spring (1.38 birds/plot/60-min survey) and summer (1.04), compared to fall (0.10); no shorebird use was recorded during winter (Table 3). Shorebirds composed 24.4% of overall large bird use during the summer, but less than 2% of the large bird use during other seasons. Shorebirds were observed during nearly half of spring and summer surveys (43.1% and 48.6%), but during only 4.3% of fall surveys (Table 3).

Gulls/Terns

Use by gulls/terns was observed only during spring (7.00 birds/plot/60-min survey) and fall (0.06; Table 3). The much higher use in spring was attributed entirely to several large groups of

Franklin's gulls (*Leucophaeus pipixcan*; Appendix A). Gulls/terns composed 5.8% of overall large bird use in spring, but only 0.1% in fall, and were observed during 5.6% of spring surveys and 1.4% of fall surveys (Table 3).

Diurnal Raptors

Diurnal raptor use was highest during the spring (0.34 birds/plot/60-min survey), followed by summer (0.25), fall (0.24), and winter (0.09; Table 3). Higher use during the spring was primarily due to higher use of the area by northern harrier (0.12 birds/plot/60-min survey) and red-tailed hawk (*Buteo jamaicensis*; 0.10; Appendix B). These two species also had the highest use of any diurnal raptor during both summer and fall, while bald eagle (*Haliaeetus leucocephalus*) had the highest use in winter (0.04 birds/plot/60-min survey; Appendix B). The only other diurnal raptor species observed during surveys were Swainson's hawk (*Buteo swainsoni*), American kestrel (*Falco sparverius*), and merlin (*Falco columbarius*), each with use estimates of less than 0.04 birds/plot/60-min survey in any give season (Appendix B). Diurnal raptors accounted for 14.8% of overall large bird use in winter and 5.8% in summer, but less than 1% of large bird use in spring and fall. Diurnal raptors were observed during 25.3% of spring surveys, 20.8% of spring surveys, 24.1% of fall surveys, and 8.5% of winter surveys (Table 3).

While large bird surveys at the Project were conducted over a 60-min survey period, for comparison to studies at other wind energy facilities that historically collected data during 20-min surveys, a separate use estimate for diurnal raptors was also calculated based on only the first 20 min of the survey. Based on this separate analysis, the annual mean diurnal raptor use at the Project was 0.12 raptors/plot/20-min survey.

Upland Game Birds

Upland game bird use was higher in the summer (0.76 birds/plot/60-min survey) and spring (0.57) than during fall (0.36) and winter (0.22; Table 3). The upland game bird species with the highest use was ring-necked pheasant (*Phasianus colchicus*) which comprised between 93% and 100% of upland game bird use in any given season (Appendix B1). Only two other upland game bird species were recorded during surveys: greater prairie-chicken (*Tympanuchus cupido*) and gray partridge (*Perdix perdix*). Use by greater prairie-chicken was observed only during the spring (0.04 birds/plot/60-min survey) and use by gray partridge was observed only during the fall (0.01; Appendix B). Upland game birds composed 38.7% of overall large bird use during the winter and 17.9% during the summer, but less than 1% of large bird use during spring and fall. Upland game birds were observed during 30.0% of spring surveys, 41.7% of summer surveys, 12.7% of fall surveys, and 1.9% of winter surveys (Table 3).

Large Corvids

American crow (*Corvus brachyrhyncos*) was the only large corvid species observed, and use by this species was higher during the spring (8.39 birds/plot/60-min survey) than during fall (0.11) and winter (0.02); no large corvid use was observed in summer (Table 3; Appendix B). American

crows accounted for 7.0% of overall large bird use in spring and 3.9% in winter, but only 0.2% in fall. This species was observed during 6.9% of spring surveys, 2.8% of fall surveys, and 2.2% of winter surveys (Table 3; Appendix B).

Passerines

Passerine use during the initial 20-min surveys (within a 100-m radius plot) was highest during the spring (42.04 birds/plot/20-min survey), followed by summer (9.25), fall (8.60), and winter (4.75; Table 3). Horned lark had the highest use by any one passerine species during the spring (25.08 birds/plot/20-min survey) and winter (2.55; Appendix B2), while western meadowlark (*Sturnella neglecta*) had the highest use in summer and snow bunting (*Plectrophenax nivalis*) had the highest use in fall (Appendix B2). Passerines were observed during 81.1% of spring surveys, 93.1% of summer surveys, 49.5% of fall surveys, and 33.0% of winter surveys (Table 3). Passerines accounted for over 95% of overall small bird use during summer and fall, but only 74.7% in spring and 4.6% in winter (Table 3). This lower percentage of use in spring and winter was attributed to several large groups of unidentified small birds observed in spring (601 individuals in eight groups) and winter (5,271 individuals in 14 groups; Appendix A), which comprised 25.3% of overall small bird use in spring and 95.4% in winter (Table 3).

Table 3. Mean bird use (number of birds/plot^a/survey^b), percent of use (%), and frequency of occurrence (%) for each bird type and species by season during the fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.

		Mean L	Jse		-	% of L	lse		-	% Freq	uency	
Type/Species	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter
Waterbirds	0.01	0.03	55.15	0	<0.1	0.6	95.9	0	1.4	2.8	13.9	0
Waterfowl	102.62	0.83	0.97	0.24	85.2	19.5	1.7	42.6	32.8	26.4	2.8	4.4
Shorebirds	1.38	1.04	0.10	0	1.1	24.4	0.2	0	43.1	48.6	4.3	0
Gulls/Terns	7	0	0.06	0	5.8	0	0.1	0	5.6	0	1.4	0
Diurnal Raptors	0.34	0.25	0.24	0.09	0.3	5.8	0.4	14.8	25.3	20.8	24.1	8.5
<u>Buteos</u>	0.14	0.08	0.07	0.02	0.1	1.9	0.1	3.2	11.1	6.9	7.2	1.9
<u>Northern Harrier</u>	0.12	0.10	0.08	0	<0.1	2.3	0.1	0	11.9	8.3	8.5	0
<u>Eagles</u>	0.04	0	0	0.04	<0.1	0	0	7.7	4.4	0	0	4.4
<u>Falcons</u>	0	0.01	0.01	0.02	0	0.3	<0.1	3.9	0	1.4	1.4	2.2
<u>Other Raptors</u>	0.04	0.06	0.07	0	<0.1	1.3	0.1	0	4.2	5.6	7.0	0
Upland Game Birds	0.57	0.76	0.36	0.22	0.5	17.9	0.6	38.7	30.0	41.7	12.7	1.9
Doves/Pigeons	0.18	1.36	0.52	0	0.1	31.8	0.9	0	11.1	43.1	14.4	0
Large Corvids	8.39	0	0.11	0.02	7.0	0	0.2	3.9	6.9	0	2.8	2.2
Large Birds Overall	120.50	4.28	57.52	0.57	100	100	100	100				
Passerines	42.04	9.25	8.60	4.75	74.7	100	96.0	4.6	81.1	93.1	49.5	33.0
Unidentified Birds	14.21	0	0.36	98.53	25.3	0	4.0	95.4	18.6	0	16.7	20.4
Small Birds Overall	56.25	9.25	8.96	103.27	100	100	100	100				

^{a.} 800-meter (m) radius plot for large birds and 100-m for small birds.

^b 60-minute (min) survey period for large birds and 20-min survey period for small birds.

Bird Flight Height and Behavior

Flight height characteristics, based on initial flight height observations and estimated use, were calculated for both bird types and species (Tables 4 and 5). During 60-min fixed-point avian use surveys, 216 groups of large birds, totaling 9,631 individuals, were observed flying within the 800-m plots. Overall, 16.8% of flying large birds were recorded within the RSH for turbine blades of 25 to 150 m (82 – 492 ft) AGL, 13.4% were below the RSH, and the majority of birds (69.8%) were flying above the RSH. The majority (70.0%) of flying diurnal raptors were observed below the RSH, while 18.0% were within the RSH and 12.0% were above the RSH. Approximately half (48.1%) of shorebirds were recorded within the RSH, with the remaining 51.9% observed below the RSH. The majority of waterbirds and waterfowl were recorded above the RSH (75.1% and 77.1%, respectively). All upland gamebirds and dove/pigeons (100%) and most large corvids (99.1%) were observed below the RSH. The majority (97.0%) of passerines recorded during 20-min surveys within the 100-m plots were observed below the RSH (Table 4).

Nine large bird species had at least 10 groups observed flying (Appendix C), and of these, the only species observed flying within the likely RSH during at least 50% of initial observations was red-tailed hawk (50.0%) and unidentified duck (50.0%; Table 5). Of all passerines and other small birds observed, seven species had at least 10 groups observed flying (Appendix C), and of these, only brown-headed cowbird (*Molothrus ater*) and horned lark were recorded flying within the RSH (27.9% and less than 0.1%, respectively; Table 5).

	-	<u> </u>			% within Flight Height			
	# Groups	# Obs	Mean Flight	% Obs		Categories	•	
Bird Type	Flying	Flying	Height (m)	Flying	0 - 25 m	25 - 150 m ^c	> 150 m	
Waterbirds	22	3,954	291.41	99.5	<0.1	24.8	75.1	
Waterfowl	72	4,737	40.58	98.8	10.5	12.5	77.1	
Shorebirds	28	79	11.75	51.6	51.9	48.1	0	
Gulls/Terns	5	508	68.80	100	81.3	0	18.7	
Diurnal Raptors	47	50	48.81	83.3	70.0	18.0	12.0	
<u>Buteos</u>	14	16	65.57	72.7	37.5	43.8	18.8	
<u>Northern Harrier</u>	20	21	4.90	100	100	0	0	
<u>Eagles</u>	3	3	38.00	75.0	66.7	33.3	0	
Falcons	2	2	3.5.00	66.7	100	0	0	
Other Raptors	8	8	144.62	80.0	50.0	12.5	37.5	
Upland Game Birds	7	32	2.00	25.8	100	0	0	
Doves/Pigeons	29	59	4.21	41.3	100	0	0	
Large Corvids	6	212	13.83	99.5	99.1	0.9	0	
Large Birds Overall	216	9,631	57.96	96.6	13.4	16.8	69.8	
Passerines	217	2,577	4.74	73.0	97.0	3.0	0	
Unidentified Small Birds	19	5,866	4.53	99.5	100	0	0	
Small Birds Overall	236	8,443	4.72	89.6	99.1	0.9	0	

Table 4. Flight height characteristics by bird type ^a and raptor subtype during fixed-point avian use
surveys ^b at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.

^{a.} 800-meter (m) radius plot for large birds and 100-m for small birds.

^b 60-minute (min) survey period for large birds and 20-min survey period for small birds.

^{c.} The likely "rotor-swept height" for potential collision with a turbine blade, or 25 to 150 m (82 to 492 feet) above ground level.

Bird Exposure Index

A relative exposure index based on initial flight height observations and relative abundance (defined as the use estimate) was calculated for each bird species. Those species that had exposure to the RSH are listed in Table 5, and a complete list of all species is presented in Appendix C. Sandhill crane had an exposure index far higher than any other species (3.43), followed by Canada goose (1.54) and snow goose (1.02; Table 5). All other species had an exposure index of 0.10 or less. The only diurnal raptor species with exposure indices greater than zero were red-tailed hawk (0.02), bald eagle (less than 0.01), and Swainson's hawk (less than 0.01). Based on observations within 100 m, the small bird species with the highest exposure index was brown-headed cowbird, with an index of 0.19 (Table 5).

	<u>4</u>			0/ Elving within		0/ \ M /ithin
	# 0	Overall	0/	% Flying within	F	
a .	Groups	Mean	%	RSH° based on	Exposure	RSH at
Species	Flying	Use	Flying	Initial obs	Index	Anytime
		Large E	Bird Speci	es ^d		
sandhill crane	18	13.90	99.5	24.8	3.43	26.7
Canada goose	13	3.53	97.0	45.0	1.54	45.0
snow goose	6	17.64	100	5.8	1.02	5.8
unidentified shorebird	1	0.10	100	100	0.10	100
unidentified duck	11	0.07	100	50.0	0.04	62.5
red-tailed hawk	10	0.06	70.6	50.0	0.02	66.7
blue-winged teal	9	0.08	83.3	30.0	0.02	30.0
American crow	6	1.76	99.5	0.9	0.02	0.9
northern pintail	13	0.07	84.0	23.8	0.01	33.3
mallard	16	0.16	62.7	9.4	<0.01	34.4
marbled godwit	7	0.05	60.0	22.2	<0.01	22.2
bald eagle	3	0.02	75.0	33.3	<0.01	33.3
unidentified hawk	7	0.04	77.8	14.3	<0.01	14.3
great blue heron	3	0.01	100	33.3	<0.01	33.3
Swainson's hawk	4	0.01	100	25.0	<0.01	25.0
greater yellowlegs	2	<0.01	100	50.0	<0.01	50.0
		Small E	Bird Speci	es ^d		
brown-headed cowbird	40	0.86	80.5	27.9	0.19	27.9
yellow-headed blackbird	2	0.06	100	57.9	0.04	57.9
bank swallow	2	0.02	100	62.5	0.02	62.5
horned lark	24	5.99	92.4	<0.1	<0.01	<0.1

Table 5. Relative exposu	re index and fligh	nt characteristics	for bird s	pecies ^a during	g fixed-point
avian use surveys	s ^b at the Triple H V	Vind Project from	April 18, 2	2016 to March	28, 2017.

^{a.} 800-meter (m) radius plot for large birds and 100-m for small birds

^b 60-minute (min) survey period for large birds and 20-min survey period for small birds.

^c RSH: the likely rotor-swept heights for potential collision with a turbine blade or 25 to 150 m (82 to 492 feet) above ground level.

^d Only includes species with actual exposure index values. For a complete list of all species refer to Appendix C.

Spatial Use

For all large bird species combined, use was highest at points 15 and 2 (353.86 and 264.08 birds/60-min survey; Figure 4a, Appendix D). Large bird use at other points ranged from 0.43 to 105.92 birds/60-min survey. The high mean use estimate for Point 15 was largely due to high waterbird (primarily sandhill crane) use at this point (349.43 birds/60-min survey), while high use at Point 2 was attributed to waterfowl (primarily snow goose; Appendix D). Waterbird use at other points ranged from zero to 66.43 birds/60-min survey, while waterfowl use at other points ranged from zero to 50.33. Waterbird use was recorded at only 10 of the 24 observation points, while waterfowl were recorded at all but one point (Appendix D). Use by gull/terns ranged from zero to 25.00 birds/60-min survey, with use recorded at only four of the 24 points. Diurnal raptor use was more consistent across observation points, ranging from zero to 0.88 birds/60-min survey; Figure 4b, Appendix D). The highest raptor use occurred at points 10 and 15, with zero raptor use recorded at points 11, 20, and 21 (Figure 4b). Eagle use was recorded at only four points (1, 16, 18, and 24) with use values ranging from 0.08 to 0.09 birds/60-min survey (Appendix D). Upland game bird use was recorded at all but three points with use ranging from 0.08 to 2.91 birds/60min survey, while use by doves/pigeons was observed at all but five points and ranged from 0.09 to 2.09 birds/60-min survey (Appendix D). Large corvid use was recorded at only four points and ranged from 0.14 to 16.75 birds/60-min survey. Small bird use, focused within 100 m, was highest at points 6 and 3 (447.33 and 111.00 birds/20-min survey) and ranged from 2.42 to 72.27 birds/20-min survey at other points (Figure 4c). The high mean use at Point 6 was primarily attributed to unidentified small birds, while high use at Point 3 was largely due to passerine use (Appendix D).

Flight paths of waterbirds, waterfowl, shorebirds, and diurnal raptor subtypes were digitized and mapped (Figures 5a-c). No obvious flyways or concentration areas were observed for any species. The available data do not indicate that any portions of the study area warrant being excluded from development due to relatively high bird use.



All Large Birds

Figure 4a. Relative large bird use (birds/800-meter plot/60-minute survey) by observation point during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.



Figure 4b. Relative diurnal raptor use (raptors/800-meter plot/60-minute survey) by observation point during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.



Figure 4c. Relative small bird use (birds/100-meter plot/20-minute survey) by observation point during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.



Figure 5a. Flight paths for waterbirds and shorebirds observed during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.



Figure 5b. Flight paths for waterfowl observed during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.



Figure 5c. Flight paths for diurnal raptors observed during avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.

Eagle Observations

The total eagle use survey effort was 237 hours, during which time four bald eagles (two adults and two immature birds) were observed within the 800-m survey radius around each point count location. Two of the observations occurred in spring and two in winter (Appendix A). These four bald eagle observations resulted in a total of four eagle minutes, with two eagle minutes recorded during spring and two in winter (Table 6). An eagle minute is defined as one minute of flight at or below 200 m AGL within 800 m of the observation point. The four eagle observations were recorded from four separate observation points: 1, 16, 18, and 24 (Figure 5c). Two additional bald eagles were recorded incidentally during the study (both during winter) and four golden eagles (*Aquila chrysaetos*) were also observed incidentally (two in spring and two in winter; see Incidental Observations section below).

Table 6. Eagle minutes^a by season for bald eagles (BAEA) observed during avian use surveys at
the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.

Parameter	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	Total
Survey Hours	47	71	71	48	237
BAEA Observations	2	0	0	2	4
BAEA Observations ≤800m and ≤ 200m AGL	2	0	0	2	4
Eagle Minutes ≤800m and ≤ 200m AGL	2	0	0	2	4

^a Eagle minutes are defined as the total number of minutes eagles were observed flying within the 800-meter (0.5mile) radius plot and at or below 200 meters (656 feet) above ground level (AGL).

Incidental Observations

Nine bird species, totaling 23 individuals, were observed incidentally during avian use surveys at the Project (Table 7). Three species, Cooper's hawk (*Accipiter cooperii*; two individuals), golden eagle (four individuals), and sharp-tailed grouse (*Tympanuchus phasianellus*; two individuals) were only seen incidentally at the Project (i.e., were not observed during standardized avian use surveys).

Species	Scientific Name	# grps	# obs
American kestrel	Falco sparverius	4	4
bald eagle	Haliaeetus leucocephalus	2	2
Cooper's hawk	Accipiter cooperii	2	2
golden eagle	Aquila chrysaetos	4	4
northern harrier	Circus cyaneus	1	1
red-tailed hawk	Buteo jamaicensis	1	1
Swainson's hawk	Buteo swainsoni	1	1
unidentified raptor		2	2
greater prairie-chicken	Tympanuchus cupido	2	4
sharp-tailed grouse	Tympanuchus phasianellus	1	2
Total	9 species	20	23

Table 7. Incidental wildlife observed while conducting surveys at the Triple H Wind Project fromApril 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.

Sensitive Species Observations

Fifteen sensitive species (all birds) were recorded during surveys or incidentally during the yearlong study (Table 8). This is a tally that in some cases may represent repeated observations of the same individual. No state and/or federally-listed species were observed during the study. Of the 15 species recorded during surveys or incidentally within the Project 12 species were designated as a state species of greatest conservation need (SGCN; SDGFP 2014a) and/or federal birds of conservation concern (BCC) in the Prairie Potholes Bird Conservation Region (11; USFWS 2008; Table 8). Three rare species that are tracked by the South Dakota Natural Heritage Program were observed during surveys or incidentally within the Project (SDGFP 2017; Table 8). Both the bald and golden eagle are provided further protection under the Federal Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA 1940).

	-		AU		In	С.	То	tal
Species	Scientific Name	Status	# of grps	# of obs	# of grps	# of obs	# of grps	# of obs
bald eagle	Haliaeetus leucocephalus	SGCN	4	4	2	2	6	6
black tern	Chlidonias niger	BCC, SGCN	1	4	0	0	1	4
chestnut-collared longspur	Calcarius ornatus	BCC, SGCN	10	17	0	0	10	17
Cooper's hawk	Accipiter cooperii	RA-S3B,SZN	0	0	2	2	2	2
dickcissel	Spiza Americana	BCC	3	6	0	0	3	6
golden eagle	Aquila chrysaetos	BCC, RA-S3S4B,S3N	0	0	4	4	4	4
grasshopper sparrow	Ammodramus savannarum	BCC	7	8	0	0	7	8
great blue heron	Ardea herodias	RA-S4B,SZN	3	3	0	0	3	3
greater prairie-chicken	Tympanuchus cupido	SGCN	2	3	2	4	4	7
lark bunting	Calamospiza melanocorys	SGCN	8	15	0	0	8	15
marbled godwit	Limosa fedoa	BCC, SGCN	13	15	0	0	13	15
merlin	Falco columbarius	RA-S3B,S3N	1	1	0	0	1	1
Swainson's hawk	Buteo swainsoni	BCC, RA-S4B,SZN	4	4	1	1	5	5
upland sandpiper	Bartramia longicauda	BCC	24	30	0	0	24	30
willet	Tringa semipalmata	SGCN	3	3	0	0	3	3
Total	15 species		83	113	11	13	94	126

Table 8. Summary of sensitive species observed at the Triple H Wind Project during avian use surveys (AU) and as incidental wildlife observations (Inc.) from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.

BCC = USFWS Birds of Conservation Concern in Prairie Potholes Bird Conservation Region (BCR 11; USFWS 2008); SGCN = state species of greatest conservation need (SDGFP 2014b); RA-S#B, S#N = state breeding and non-breeding ranks of rare animals tracked by South Dakota Natural Heritage Program (SDGFP 2017).

DISCUSSION

The WEG (USFWS 2012) and ECPG (USFWS 2013) both use a tiered approach to assess the impacts of wind energy development on species and their habitats. The 2016-2017 avian use surveys conducted at the Project and reported on herein were designed to address Tier 3 of the WEG and Tier 2 of the ECPG, providing site-specific data on avian use at the Project, and supplementing other baseline wildlife surveys at the Project. These studies provide additional data that, when combined with available literature reviewed in previous tiers, allows for assessing risk of potential significant adverse impacts to species of concern; identifying measures to mitigate significant adverse impacts, if necessary; and/or identifying a need for more field studies, if necessary. While the avian use surveys included small bird species observed during the initial 20-min of the survey period and all large birds observed during the full 60-min survey period, this report and impact assessment focuses on a smaller group of species, namely eagles and other diurnal raptors, as well as water dependent species (i.e., waterbirds and waterfowl).

Potential Impacts

Wind energy facilities can directly or indirectly impact wildlife resources. Direct impacts include fatalities from construction and operation of the wind energy facility and the loss of habitat where infrastructure is placed. Indirect impacts include the displacement of wildlife, either temporarily or permanently, during construction or the operational period of a wind energy facility and rendering habitat unsuitable through fragmentation of the landscape.

Mortality or injury due to collisions with turbines or other infrastructure is the most probable direct impact to birds from wind energy facilities. Collisions may occur with resident birds foraging and flying within the Project, or with migrant birds seasonally moving through the area. Project construction could affect birds through loss of habitat or fatalities from construction equipment. Impacts from decommissioning of the facility are anticipated to be similar to construction in terms of noise, disturbance, and equipment used. Potential mortality from construction equipment is expected to be relatively low, as equipment used in wind energy facility construction generally moves at slow rates or is stationary for long periods (e.g., cranes). The highest risk of direct mortality to birds during construction is most likely the potential destruction of nests of ground-and shrub-nesting species during initial site clearing.

Post-construction fatality monitoring reports from the Midwest region of North America show a wide variation in levels of bird mortality, ranging from 0.27 to 8.25 birds/MW/year (Figure 6; Appendix E1). This same wide variation in mortality was noted for studies specific to South Dakota wind farms, as bird mortality at the Wessington Springs facility ranged between 8.25 and 0.89 bird fatalities/MW/year in 2009 (Derby 2010f) and 2010 (Derby et al. 2011d), respectively. Other studies in South Dakota report between 1.41 and 5.06 birds/MW/year (Appendix E1).



Regional Bird Fatality Rates

Wind Energy Facility

Figure 6. Fatality rates for all birds (number of birds per megawatt [MW] per year) from publicly available wind energy facilities in the Midwest region of North America.

Data from the following sources:

Figure 7 (continued). Fatality rates for all birds	(number of birds per megawatt pe	er year) reported in publicly available studies at wind
energy facilities in the Midwest region o	of North America.	

Wind Energy Facility Reference Wind Energy Facility Reference Wind Energy Facility Reference Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase 1; Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I, 1998) Wessington Springs, SD (2009) Derby et al. 2010f Johnson et al. 2000b Johnson et al. 2000b 1998) Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008; Prairie Winds SD1, SD (2011-Gruver et al. 2009 Ripley, Ont (2008) Jacques Whitford 2009 Derby et al. 2012d 2012) 2009) Fowler I, IN (2009) Cedar Ridge, WI (2009) BHE Environmental 2010 Johnson et al. 2010 Top Crop I & II (2012-2013) Good et al. 2013a Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1998) Johnson et al. 2000b Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1997) Johnson et al. 2000b Kerlinger et al. 2014 2014) Wessington Springs, SD (2010) Moraine II, MN (2009) Derby et al. 2010d Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998) Johnson et al. 2000b Derby et al. 2011d Derby et al. 2013a Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011) Derby et al. 2011a Prairie Winds SD1, SD (2012-2013) Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013) Good et al. 2013b Buffalo Ridge I, SD (2009-2010) Derby et al. 2010b Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012) Derby et al. 2012a Top of Iowa, IA (2004) Jain 2005 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1996) Johnson et al. 2000b Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) Howe et al. 2002 Big Blue, MN (2013) Fagen Engineering 2014 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) Derby et al. 2010e Prairie Winds SD1, SD (2013-2014) Derby et al. 2014 Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010) Derby et al. 2010g Rugby, ND (2010-2011) Derby et al. 2011b NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006) Derby et al. 2007 Top of Iowa, IA (2003) Jain 2005 Cedar Ridge, WI (2010) BHE Environmental 2011 Prairie Winds ND1 (Minot), ND (2011) Derby et al. 2012c Big Blue, MN (2014) Fagen Engineering 2015 Elm Creek II. MN (2011-2012) Derby et al. 2012b Elm Creek, MN (2009-2010) Derby et al. 2010c Pioneer Prairiell, IA (2011-2012) Chodachek et al. 2012 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II, 1999) Johnson et al. 2000b Prairie Winds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010) Derby et al. 2011c

In addition to direct effects through collision mortality, wind energy development indirectly affects wildlife resources, causing a loss of habitat where infrastructure is placed and loss of habitat through behavioral avoidance and perhaps habitat fragmentation. Loss of habitat from installation of wind energy facility infrastructure (i.e., turbines, access roads, maintenance buildings, substations and overhead transmission lines) can be long-term or temporary; however, long-term infrastructure generally occupies only 5% to 10% of the entire development area (BLM 2005). Estimates of temporary construction impacts range from 0.2 to 1.0 hectares (0.5 to 2.5 acres) per turbine (Strickland and Johnson 2006, Denholm et al. 2009).

Behavioral displacement (avoidance) may lead to decreased habitat suitability for local populations (e.g., Stevens et al. 2013, Shaffer and Buhl 2015). Birds displaced by wind energy development may move to lower quality habitat with fewer disturbances, with an overall effect of reducing breeding success. Behavioral avoidance may render much larger areas unsuitable or less suitable for some species of wildlife, depending on how far each species is displaced from wind energy facilities. Indirect effects also include habitat fragmentation (e.g., more habitat edges due to roads and smaller areas of contiguous habitat) which could provide more generalized habitats and resistance-free travel lanes for predators and competitors in, for example, large grasslands and forests. This may impact the survivorship and reproductive ability of birds in the vicinity of the wind energy facility. Some studies suggest displacement effects associated with wind energy may have a greater impact than collision mortality (Gill et al. 1996, Pearce-Higgins 2012). The greatest concern for indirect impact of wind energy facilities on wildlife resources is where these facilities have been constructed in native vegetation communities, such as grasslands or shrub steppe that provide comparatively rare, high-quality habitat for some bird species and species of concern (USFWS 2012).

Relative to the Project, approximately 58% of the area is cultivated croplands and several areas with herbaceous vegetation area hayed. Siting facilities on agricultural land or other disturbed land cover types within the Project will reduce the potential for fragmentation and displacement.

Bird Types of Concern

The majority of bird species commonly observed during this study are not of conservation concern. For example, waterfowl was the most abundant large bird type recorded, accounting for 48.1% of overall large bird observations; however, approximately 95% of all waterfowl observations were of snow goose and Canada goose. These two species were primarily observed in very large groups flying above the RSH during spring. Both are abundant species in the Central flyway (USFWS 2016). The second most common large bird type recorded during surveys was waterbird which composed nearly 40% of large bird observations; however, the majority of waterbird use was attributed to just 20 groups of sandhill cranes totaling 3,970 individuals observed during fall migration.

Although the avian use surveys reported herein were conducted for all bird species observed, the discussion focuses on a waterbirds, waterfowl, and diurnal raptors including eagles. Upland game birds, including greater prairie-chicken were recorded at the Project in very low numbers (with the exception of the non-native ring-necked pheasant), and are not addressed here. For more

information on surveys conducted at the Project specifically for greater prairie-chicken, refer to the prairie grouse lek survey report (Heath 2016a).

Waterbirds

Waterbirds, including sandhill cranes, do not appear to be particularly susceptible to collision with wind turbines. Waterbirds made up 0.2% of all bird fatalities (n = 4,975) in an analysis of 116 standardized monitoring studies conducted at over 70 wind energy facilities throughout the US and Canada (Erickson et al. 2014a). According to the National Research Council (NRC, 2007) cumulative effects report, waterbirds comprised about 1% of documented fatalities at 14 wind energy facilities. Among publicly available reports reviewed by WEST, waterbirds accounted for 0.2% of fatalities recorded during 172 studies at facilities across North America (14 of 6,511 total fatalities; see Appendix F for a list of facilities and references). The tally in WEST's database excludes three sandhill crane fatalities documented in non-standardized resources (Smallwood and Karas 2009; Navarrete and Griffis-Kyle 2013, as cited in Gerber et al. 2014; Navarrete and Griffis-Kyle 2014; Stehn 2011). Only three sandhill crane fatalities at wind energy facilities are known: one fatality at an older-generation facility at Altamont Pass in California (Smallwood and Karas 2009), and two fatalities from a facility in west Texas (Navarrete and Griffis-Kyle 2013, as cited in Gerber et al. 2014; Stehn 2011), documented as part of a wintering crane displacement study conducted by graduate student L. Navarrete of Texas Tech University. The study in Texas also noted sandhill cranes using areas within three m (10 ft) of turbines (N. Gates, USFWS, pers. comm.).

Sandhill cranes composed 99.9% of waterbird observations recorded during the study. This included total of 3,970 individual cranes, observed in 20 separate groups (all during fall). The majority (about 75%) of these observations were recorded flying above the RSH, indicating these individuals were migrating over the Project, rather than using habitats within the Project. Sandhill cranes composed 96% of overall large bird use recorded during the fall; despite being observed during only 12.5% of fall surveys. Despite their abundance, potential impacts to sandhill cranes are estimated to be low based on all available data regarding crane and wind energy facility interactions in North America; however, the risk of collision cannot be entirely ruled out.

Waterfowl

Based on available evidence, waterfowl do not seem especially vulnerable to turbine collisions. In an analysis of 116 studies of bird mortality at over 70 facilities, waterfowl made up 2.7% of 4,975 fatalities found (Erickson et al. 2014a). In a database of 172 publicly available fatality studies, 184 waterfowl fatalities out of 6,511 total fatalities (2.9%) were documented, (see Appendix E for a list of facilities and references). Mallard (*Anas platyrhynchos*) was the most frequently found species (93 casualties).

Approximately 95% of waterfowl observations at the Project were of two species: snow goose (3,875 individuals in six groups) and Canada goose (778 individuals in 16 groups). Both species were primarily observed in fall flying above the RSH. Despite their abundance in the Central Flyway, these two species do not appear to be susceptible to collision with turbines and adverse impacts from the Project are not anticipated.

Diurnal Raptors

Use Comparison

Diurnal raptors occur in most areas with the potential for wind energy development (NRC 2007). Annual mean diurnal raptor use at the Project (0.12 raptors/plot/20-min survey) was compared with 46 other wind energy facilities that implemented similar protocols and had data for three or four seasons. The annual mean diurnal raptor use at these wind energy facilities ranged from 0.06 to 2.34 raptors/plot/20-min survey (Figure 7). A relative ranking of annual mean raptor use was developed based on the results from these wind energy facilities as low (0 - 0.5 raptors/plot/20-min survey), low to moderate (0.5 - 1.0), moderate (1.0 - 2.0), high (2.0 - 3.0), and very high (more than 3.0). Under this ranking, annual mean diurnal raptor use at the Project is considered to be low, ranking 44th compared to the 46 other wind energy facilities (Figure 7).



Figure 7. Comparison of annual diurnal raptor use during fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017, and annual diurnal raptor use recorded other North American wind energy facilities.

Data from the following	sources:				
Study and Location	Reference	Study and Location	Reference	Study and Location	Reference
Triple H, SD	This study.				
High Winds, CA	Kerlinger et al. 2005	Foote Creek Rim, WY	Johnson et al. 2000c	Wild Horse, WA	Erickson et al. 2003d
Diablo Winds, CA	WEST 2006	Roosevelt, WA	NWC and WEST 2004	North Sky River, CA	Erickson et al. 2011
Altamont Pass, CA	Orloff and Flannery 1992	Leaning Juniper, OR	Kronner et al. 2005	AOCM (CPC Proper), CA	Chatfield et al. 2010a
Elkhorn, OR	WEST 2005a	Dunlap, WY	Johnson et al. 2009a	Biglow Reference, OR	WEST 2005c
Big Smile (Dempsey), OK	Derby et al. 2010a	Klondike, OR	Johnson et al. 2002a	Simpson Ridge, WY	Johnson et al. 2000c
Cotterel Mtn., ID	BLM 2006	Stateline, WA/OR	Erickson et al. 2003a	Vantage, WA	Jeffrey et al. 2007
Swauk Ridge, WA	Erickson et al. 2003b	Antelope Ridge, OR	WEST 2009	Grand Ridge, IL	Derby et al. 2009
Golden Hills, OR	Jeffrey et al. 2008	Condon, OR	Erickson et al. 2002b	Tehachapi Pass, CA	Anderson et al. 2000, Erickson et al. 2002b
Windy Flats, WA	Johnson et al. 2007	High Plains, WY	Johnson et al. 2009b	Sunshine, AZ	WEST and the CPRS 2006
Combine Hills, OR	Young et al. 2003d	Zintel Canyon, WA	Erickson et al. 2002a, 2003c	Dry Lake, AZ	Young et al. 2007c
Desert Claim, WA	Young et al. 2003b	Nine Canyon, WA	Erickson et al. 2001b	Alta East (2011), CA	Chatfield et al. 2011
Hopkins Ridge, WA	Young et al. 2003a	Maiden, WA	Young et al. 2002	Alta East (2010), CA	Chatfield et al. 2011
Reardon, WA	WEST 2005b	Hatchet Ridge, CA	Young et al. 2007b	San Gorgonio, CA	Anderson et al. 2000, Erickson et al. 2002b
Stateline Reference, OR	URS et al. 2001	Bitter Root. MN	Derby and Dahl 2009	AOCM (CPC East), CA	Chatfield et al. 2010a
Buffalo Ridge, MN	Johnson et al. 2000b	Timber Road (Phase II), OH	Good et al. 2010		
White Creek, WA	NWC and WEST 2005	Biglow Canyon, OR	WEST 2005c		

Exposure Index Analysis

Exposure index analysis, which considers relative probability of exposure based on abundance, proportion of observations flying, and proportion of flight height of each species within the RSH, may provide some insight into which species would fly most often within RSH and potentially be the most likely turbine casualties. This index does not, however, take into consideration behavior (e.g., foraging, courtship), flight speed, size of the bird, the ability to detect and avoid turbines, and other factors that may vary among species and influence likelihood of turbine collision. For these reasons, the exposure index is only a relative index of collision risk among species. At the Project, the diurnal raptor species with the highest relative exposure index was red-tailed hawk (0.02), which was influenced by the relatively high use estimates by this species. Bald eagle and Swainson's hawk, each with an exposure index of less than 0.1, ranked lower, primarily due to the lower use estimates by these species or a relatively lower proportion of flight heights observed in the RSH. Based on the relative abundance of red-tailed hawk throughout the year and a higher exposure index than other raptor species during the surveys at the Project, there is higher potential for red-tailed hawk fatalities compared to other raptor species.

Fatality Studies

Johnson and Stephens (2011) summarized mortality data recorded at wind energy facilities in western North America, which included facilities in Alberta, Canada, as well as the states of North and South Dakota, Nebraska, Kansas, Oklahoma, Texas, Montana, Wyoming, Colorado, New Mexico, Idaho, Utah, Arizona, Nevada, Washington, Oregon, and California. Raw fatality counts were available at 21 facilities, while estimates of fatality rates were available at only 18 of these facilities. Eighteen facilities reported raptor fatality rates, which ranged from zero to 1.79 raptor fatalities per MW per year (mean: 0.19, median: 0.09 fatalities/MW/year; Johnson and Stephens 2011). The raptor fatality rates at two facilities were high relative to the remaining 16 facilities; both located in California. Estimates of raptor fatality rates at the remaining 16 facilities ranged from zero to 0.15 raptor fatalities/MW/year, with a mean of 0.07 fatalities/MW/year (median: 0.09 fatalities/MW/year).

Across North America, a total of 495 diurnal raptors representing 16 species are documented as wind turbine fatalities in 172 studies with publicly available fatality data (see Appendix E for a list of facilities and references), although not all facilities found diurnal raptor fatalities. Buteos were found most often as fatalities (258 fatalities; 52.1% of raptor fatalities), followed by falcons (174; 35.2%). About 77% of all Buteo fatalities were red-tailed hawk (199 fatalities), and about 91% of falcon fatalities were American kestrel (159 fatalities). Combined, these two species accounted for about 72% of all diurnal raptor fatalities documented in North America. Each remaining species accounted for 25 or fewer fatalities and accounted for 5.1% or less of the total fatalities individually.

A comparison of raptor fatality rates in the Midwest region of North America, which includes wind energy facilities in South Dakota, is illustrated in Figure 8, and a complete list of all publicly available and comparable raptor fatality rates from Midwestern projects can be found in Appendix E2. Diurnal raptor fatality rates at Midwestern facilities has ranged from zero to 0.47 raptor/MW/year, with just over half (20 of 36 facilities) having an estimated raptor fatality rate of zero (Figure 8, Appendix E2). At facilities in South Dakota, diurnal raptor fatality rates have been lower, ranging from zero to 0.20 raptors/MW/year (Figure 8, Appendix E2).

Within the Midwest region of North America, a total of 64 diurnal raptors representing nine species have been documented as wind turbine fatalities in 59 studies with publicly available fatality data (Table 9; see Appendix E2 for a list of facilities and references), although not all facilities found diurnal raptor fatalities. Buteo fatalities were reported most often (49 fatalities; 77% of raptor fatalities), followed by accipiters and falcons (six each; 9% each; Table 9). About 90% of all Buteo fatalities were red-tailed hawk (44 fatalities). During avian use survey at the Project, northern harrier was the most common raptor species recorded; however, this species has rarely been found as a fatality (no documented fatality in the Midwest; Table 9) despite its abundance in the region. Red-tailed hawk was the next most common raptor recorded during surveys and is the most likely species to be found as a fatality at the Project, should raptor fatalities occur.





Figure 8. Fatality rates for diurnal raptors (number of raptors per MW per year) from publicly available wind energy facilities in the Midwest region of North America.

Figure 8 (continued). Fatality rates for diurnal raptors	(number of raptors per MW per year) from publicly available wind energy facilities
in the Midwest region of North America.	

Data from the following sources:

Facility, Location	Fatality Reference	Facility, Location	Fatality Reference	Facility, Location	Fatality Reference
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1999)	Johnson et al. 2000b	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2011)	Derby et al. 2012c	PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2011-2012)	Derby et al. 2012d
Moraine II, MN (2009)	Derby et al. 2010d	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)	Derby et al. 2011c	Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001)	Howe et al. 2002
Winnebago, IA (2009-2010)	Derby et al. 2010e	PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2012-2013)	Derby et al. 2013a	Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)	Johnson et al. 2000b
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (2009-2010)	Derby et al. 2010b	Elm Creek, MN (2009-2010)	Derby et al. 2010c	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1996)	Johnson et al. 2000b
Cedar Ridge, WI (2009)	BHE Environmental 2011	Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013)	Good et al. 2013b	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1997)	Johnson et al. 2000b
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2013-2014)	Derby et al. 2014	Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012)	Chodachek et al. 2012	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1998)	Johnson et al. 2000b
Top of Iowa, IA (2004)	Jain 2005	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)	Johnson et al. 2000b	Fowler I, IN (2009)	Johnson et al. 2010
Cedar Ridge, WI (2010)	BHE Environmental 2011	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)	Johnson et al. 2000b	Big Blue, MN (2013)	Fagen Engineering 2014
Wessington Springs, SD (2010)	Derby et al. 2011d	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)	Johnson et al. 2000b	Big Blue, MN (2014)	Fagen Engineering 2015
Rugby, ND (2010-2011)	Derby et al. 2011b	Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008; 2009)	Gruver et al. 2009	Top of Iowa, IA (2003)	Jain 2005
NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006)	Derby et al. 2007	Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)	Derby et al. 2012b	Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)	Derby et al. 2010g
Wessington Springs, SD (2009)	Derby et al. 2010f	Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)	Derby et al. 2011a		

	<u>.</u>	Number of Raptor	Percent Composition
Species	Scientific Name	Fatalities*	of Raptor Fatalities
red-tailed hawk	Buteo jamaicensis	44	68.8
American kestrel	Falco sparverius	5	7.8
sharp-shinned hawk	Accipiter striatus	4	6.3
rough-legged hawk	Buteo lagopus	3	4.7
Cooper's hawk	Accipiter cooperii	2	3.1
Ferruginous hawk	Buteo regalis	1	1.6
Golden eagle	Aquila chrysaetos	1	1.6
merlin	Falco columbarius	1	1.6
Swainson's hawk	Buteo swainsoni	1	1.6
Unidentified accipter	Accipter spp.	1	1.6
unidentified raptor		1	1.6
Total		64	100

Table 9 Raptor fatalities, by species, recorded at new-generation wind energy facilities in the Midwest region of North America.

* Number of raptor fatalities are unadjusted, raw counts.

Use versus Fatality Rates

Comparable pre-construction raptor use and post-construction raptor mortality data are available for several studies at new-generation wind energy facilities, resulting in 34 pairs of raptor use with fatality data (see Appendix E2). Of these, 16 pairings were from studies at facilities classified as having relatively low raptor use (less than 0.5 raptors/plot/20-min survey), 13 were classified as having low to moderate raptor use (between 0.5 and 1.0), and five were classified as having moderate or high raptor use (greater than 1.0). Due to the relatively low sample size and other biological factors that can influence raptor fatality rates as discussed above, it is not known if the relationship between raptor use and fatality rates is a simple linear relationship. Additionally, mortality estimation for wind resource areas with moderate to high raptor use is subject to greater uncertainty due to a lack of available data, as few wind resource areas have had moderate or high pre-construction raptor use estimates. Furthermore, variation in species composition is likely to influence overall raptor mortality; however, data are not available at this time to perform species-specific regression analyses.

WEST used the available data to assess risk to raptors by examining the mean and range of mortality for wind energy facilities considered to have low raptor use. The proposed Project is classified as having low raptor use, and raptor fatality rates for this project may occur within the range of other wind energy facilities that also have low raptor use (i.e., a mean of 0.05 and a range of zero to 0.09 raptors/MW/year).

Eagles

Documenting the temporal and spatial use of the Project, using methodology consistent with the ECPG, was a primary goal of the avian use survey effort. Over the course of 237 hours of survey, a total of only four eagles, all bald eagles, were observed. An additional two bald eagles and four golden eagles were recorded incidentally during the study. All bald and golden eagle observations occurred in the winter and spring, suggesting very little to no use of the Project by breeding eagles. This is supported by the results of eagle nest surveys conducted at the Project

in 2016 during which no eagle nests were located within the Project and the surrounding 10-mile (16.1-km) buffer (Heath 2016c).

Eagle mortalities at wind energy facilities in the contiguous US (excluding the Altamont Pass Wind Resource Area in California) were summarized from public domain data by Pagel et al. (2013). Thirty-two wind energy facilities have experienced eagle fatalities (85 total fatalities – six bald eagles and 79 golden eagles [Pagel et al. 2013]). Three of the six bald eagle fatalities discussed by Pagel et al. (2013) were found in the Midwest (Iowa) and two were found in the Rocky Mountains (Wyoming). Two additional bald eagle fatalities have been found at wind energy facilities in Ontario (Allison 2012). Of the 212 North American studies at wind energy facilities (see Appendix E for a list of facilities and references), 24 golden eagle fatalities have been documented. Of those 24, 17 were found in California, five were found in the Pacific Northwest, and one eagle was found in both the Rocky Mountains and Midwest.

Given the low use of the site by bald and golden eagles and the relatively few bald eagle fatalities documented at wind energy facilities, impacts to eagles at the Project is estimated to be low; however, risk of collision cannot be entirely ruled out. For a thorough discussion of the potential effects of wind energy development on eagles, please see the Eagle Conservation Plan Guidance (USFWS 2013).

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

Tier 3 studies are used to address questions regarding impacts that could not be sufficiently addressed using available literature (i.e., during Tier 1 and 2 desktop analyses). These studies provide additional data that, when combined with available literature reviewed in previous tiers, allow for a better-informed assessment of the risk of significant adverse impacts to species of concern at the project area. The 2016-2017 avian use surveys conducted at the Project supplement additional wildlife studies completed at the Project including eagle/raptor nest surveys, prairie grouse lek surveys, habitat characterization study, and acoustic monitoring for bats (Heath 2016b, 2016a, 2016c, Heath et al. 2017).

Currently, few published studies are available from the Midwest that correlate raptor use and mortality rates. Raptor use at the Project was generally lower than use levels recorded at other wind energy facilities, based on research conducted at facilities throughout the US. Only four bald eagles were observed during avian use surveys, with an additional two bald eagles and four golden eagles observed incidentally during the study. Diurnal raptor fatality rates are expected to be within the range of fatality rates observed at other facilities where raptor use levels are lower. To date, no relationships have been observed between overall use by other bird types and fatality rates of those bird types at wind energy facilities. However, the flight characteristics, breeding, and foraging habits of some species may result in increased exposure for these species at the Project. To date, overall fatality rates for birds (including nocturnal migrants) at wind energy facilities have been consistently low in the Midwest region of North America. Overall bird fatality estimates at 38 wind energy facilities in this region have ranged from 0.27 to 8.25 fatalities/MW/year and diurnal raptor fatality rates have ranged from zero to

0.47 raptors/MW/year. Continued research conducted at facilities in South Dakota and the Midwest will help further our understanding of the impacts of wind energy facilities on bird species in this region.

REFERENCES

- AECOM. 2013. Annual Monitoring Report: July 2012 June 2013. Solano Wind Project Phase 3. Prepared for SMUD - Environmental Management, Sacramento, California. Prepared by AECOM, Sacramento, California. September 2013.
- Allison, T. D. 2012. Eagles and Wind Energy: Identifying Research Priorities. American Wind Wildlife Institute, Washington, D.C. May 2012. Available online at: <u>https://awwi.org/wpcontent/uploads/2013/09/AWWI White Paper Eagles and Wind Energy May 2012.pdf</u>
- Anderson, R., D. Strickland, J. Tom, N. Neumann, W. Erickson, J. Cleckler, G. Mayorga, G. Nuhn, A. Leuders, J. Schneider, L. Backus, P. Becker, and N. Flagg. 2000. Avian Monitoring and Risk Assessment at Tehachapi Pass and San Gorgonio Pass Wind Resource Areas, California: Phase 1 Preliminary Results. *In*: Proceedings of the National Avian Wind Power Planning Meeting III (PNAWPPM-III), May 1998, San Diego, California. National Wind Coordinating Collaborative (NWCC)/RESOLVE, Washington, D.C. Pp 31-46.
- Arnett, E. B., M. R. Schirmacher, C. D. Hein, and M. M. P. Huso. 2011. Patterns of Bird and Bat Fatality at the Locust Ridge II Wind Project, Pennsylvania. 2009-2010 Final Report. Prepared for the Bats and Wind Energy Cooperative (BWEC) and the Pennsylvania Game Commission (PGC). Prepared by Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. January 2011.
- Arnett, E. B., M. R. Schirmacher, M. M. P. Huso, and J. P. Hayes. 2009. Patterns of Bat Fatality at the Casselman Wind Project in South-Central Pennsylvania. 2008 Annual Report. Annual report prepared for the Bats and Wind Energy Cooperative (BWEC) and the Pennsylvania Game Commission. Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. June 2009. Available online at: <u>http://www.batsandwind.org/pdf/2008%20Casselman%20Fatality%20Report.pdf</u>
- Arnett, E. B., M. R. Schirmacher, M. M. P. Huso, and J. P. Hayes. 2010. Patterns of Bat Fatality at the Casselman Wind Project in South-Central Pennsylvania. 2009 Annual Report. Annual report prepared for the Bats and Wind Energy Cooperative (BWEC) and the Pennsylvania Game Commission. Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. January 2010.
- Bald and Golden Eagle Protection Act (BGEPA). 1940. 16 United States Code (USC) § 668-668d. Bald Eagle Protection Act of 1940, June 8, 1940, Chapter 278, Section (§) 2, 54 Statute (Stat.) 251; Expanded to include the related species of the golden eagle October 24, 1962, Public Law (PL) 87-884, 76 Stat. 1246. As amended: October 23, 1972, PL 92-535, § 2, 86 Stat. 1065; November 8, 1978, PL 95-616, § 9, 92 Stat. 3114.
- BHE Environmental, Inc. (BHE). 2010. Post-Construction Bird and Bat Mortality Study: Cedar Ridge Wind Farm, Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin. Interim Report prepared for Wisconsin Power and Light, Madison, Wisconsin. Prepared by BHE Environmental, Inc. Cincinnati, Ohio. February 2010.
- BHE Environmental, Inc. (BHE). 2011. Post-Construction Bird and Bat Mortality Study: Cedar Ridge Wind Farm, Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin. Final Report. Prepared for Wisconsin Power and Light, Madison, Wisconsin. Prepared by BHE Environmental, Inc. Cincinnati, Ohio. February 2011.
- BioResource Consultants, Inc. (BRC). 2012. Avian Mortality Monitoring Report, Pine Tree Wind Farm, Kern County, California. Prepared for the City of Los Angeles Department of Water and Power. Report prepared by BioResource Consultants, Inc., Ojai, California. March 26, 2012.
- Brown, W. K. and B. L. Hamilton. 2006. Monitoring of Bird and Bat Collisions with Wind Turbines at the Summerview Wind Power Project, Alberta: 2005-2006. Prepared for Vision Quest Windelectric, Calgary, Alberta by TAEM Ltd., Calgary, Alberta, and BLH Environmental Services, Pincher Creek, Alberta. September 2006. Available online at: <u>http://www.batsandwind.org/ pdf/Brown2006.pdf</u>

- Bureau of Land Management (BLM). 2005. Land Use Planning Handbook. BLM Handbook H-1601-1. March 11, 2005. Available online at: <u>http://www.blm.gov/pgdata/etc/medialib/blm/wo/Information</u> <u>Resources_Management/policy/blm_handbook.Par.38665.File.dat/h1601-1.pdf</u> and <u>http://www. blm.gov/pgdata/etc/medialib/blm/ca/pdf/pa/planning.Par.45838.File.dat/landuse_hb.pdf</u>
- Bureau of Land Management (BLM). 2006. Final Environmental Impact Statement for the Proposed Cotterel Wind Power Project and Proposed Resource Management Plan Amendment. FES 06-07. Serial No. IDI-33676. Prepared for the US Department of the Interior (USDOI), BLM, Twin Falls District, Burley Field Office, Cassia County, Idaho, on behalf of Windland, Inc., Boise, Idaho, and Shell WindEnergy Inc., Houston, Texas. March 2006.
- Chatfield, A. and K. Bay. 2014. Post-Construction Studies for the Mustang Hills and Alta Viii Wind Energy Facilities, Kern County, California. Final Report for the First Year of Operation: July 2012 - October 2013. Prepared for EverPower Wind Holdings, Inc. and Brookfield Renewable Energy Group. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 28, 2014.
- Chatfield, A., W. Erickson, and K. Bay. 2009. Avian and Bat Fatality Study, Dillon Wind-Energy Facility, Riverside County, California. Final Report: March 26, 2008 - March 26, 2009. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. June 3, 2009.
- Chatfield, A., W. P. Erickson, and K. Bay. 2010a. Avian Baseline Studies at the Sun Creek Wind Resource Area, Kern County, California. Final Report: May 2009 - May 2010. Prepared for CH2M HILL, Oakland, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. September 30, 2010. Available online at: <u>http://www.blm.gov/</u> <u>pgdata/etc/medialib/blm/ca/pdf/ridgecrest/alta_east_wind.Par.78046.File.dat/D3%20Avian%20Ba</u> <u>seline%20Studies%202010.pdf</u>
- Chatfield, A., W. P. Erickson, and K. Bay. 2010b. Final Report: Avian and Bat Fatality Study at the Alite Wind-Energy Facility, Kern County, California. Final Report: June 15, 2009 – June 15, 2010. Prepared for CH2M HILL, Oakland, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming.
- Chatfield, A., W. P. Erickson, and K. Bay. 2011. Avian Baseline Studies at the Alta East Wind Resource Area, Kern County, California. Final Report: July 10, 2010 - June 1, 2011. Prepared for CH2M HILL, Oakland, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc., Chevenne, Wyoming. July 13, 2011. Appendix D-8. In: Bureau of Land Management (BLM). 2013. Alta East Wind Project: Proposed Plan Amendment and Final Environmental Impact Statement. CACA #0052537. US Department of the Interior BLM. February 2013. Available online at: http://www.blm.gov/ca/st/en/fo/ridgecrest/alta east wind project.html; 2011 Avian Baseline Report (Appendix D-8) available online at: http://www.blm.gov/pgdata/ etc/medialib/blm/ca/pdf/ridgecrest/alta east wind.Par.22191.File.dat/D8%20Avian%20Baseline% 20Studies%202011.pdf
- Chatfield, A., D. Riser-Espinoza, and K. Bay. 2014. Bird and Bat Mortality Monitoring at the Alta Wind Energy Center, Phases I - V, Kern County, California. Final Report for the Second Year of Operation: March 4, 2013 - March 6, 2014. Prepared for Alta Windpower Development, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 22, 2014.
- Chatfield, A. and D. Russo. 2014. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring for the Pinyon Pines I & II Wind Energy Project, Kern County, California. Final Report for the First Year of Operation: March 2013 - March 2014. Prepared for MidAmerican Renewables, LLC, Des Moines, Iowa, and Alta Windpower Development, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 28, 2014.

- Chatfield, A., M. Sonnenberg, and K. Bay. 2012. Avian and Bat Mortality Monitoring at the Alta-Oak Creek Mojave Project, Kern County, California. Final Report for the First Year of Operation March 22, 2011 – June 15, 2012. Prepared for Alta Windpower Development, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. September 12, 2012.
- Chodachek, K., C. Derby, M. Sonnenberg, and T. Thorn. 2012. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Pioneer Prairie Wind Farm I LLC Phase II, Mitchell County, Iowa: April 4, 2011 – March 31, 2012.
 Prepared for EDP Renewables, North America LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 27, 2012.
- Denholm, P., M. Hand, M. Jackson, and S. Ong. 2009. Land-Use Requirements of Modern Wind Power Plants in the United States. NREL/TP-6A2-45834. National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), Golden, Colorado. August 2009. Available online at: <u>ftp://ftp.manomet.org/</u> <u>WildlifeandEnergy/Literature 8July10/NREL Land Use 2009.pdf</u>
- Derby, C., K. Bay, and A. Dahl. 2010a. Wildlife Baseline Studies for the Dempsey Wind Resource Area, Roger Mills County, Oklahoma. Final Report: March 2008 – February 2009. Prepared for HDR Engineering, Minneapolis, Minnesota, and Dempsey Ridge Wind Farm, LLC, a wholly owned subsidiary of Acciona Wind Energy USA LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. February 10, 2010.
- Derby, C., K. Bay, and J. Ritzert. 2009. Bird Use Monitoring, Grand Ridge Wind Resource Area, La Salle County, Illinois. Year One Final Report, March 2008 - February 2009. Prepared for Grand Ridge Energy LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 29, 2009.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010b. Post-Construction Fatality Survey for the Buffalo Ridge I Wind Project. May 2009 - May 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc., Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010c. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Elm Creek Wind Project: March 2009- February 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010d. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Moraine II Wind Project: March - December 2009. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010e. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Winnebago Wind Project: March 2009- February 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and S. Nomani. 2011a. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Barton I and II Wind Project: Iri. March 2010 - February 2011. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. Version: September 28, 2011.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and S. Nomani. 2011b. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Rugby Wind Project: Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. March 2010 - March 2011. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. Version: October 14, 2011.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, and M. Sonnenberg. 2012a. Post-Construction Casualty Surveys for the Buffalo Ridge II Wind Project. Iberdrola Renewables: March 2011- February 2012. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 31, 2012.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, and M. Sonnenberg. 2012b. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Elm Creek II Wind Project. Iberdrola Renewables: March 2011-February 2012. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. October 8, 2012.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, T. Thorn, K. Bay, and S. Nomani. 2011c. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Prairiewinds Nd1 Wind Facility, Basin Electric Power Cooperative, March - November 2010. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 2, 2011.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, T. Thorn, and A. Merrill. 2012c. Post-Construction Surveys for the Prairiewinds Nd1 (2011) Wind Facility Basin Electric Power Cooperative: March - October 2011. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 31, 2012.
- Derby, C. and A. Dahl. 2009. Wildlife Studies for the Bitter Root Wind Resource Area, Yellow, Medicine, and Lincoln Counties, Minnesota. Annual Report: March 25, 2008 - October 8, 2008. Prepared for Buffalo Ridge Power Partners, Argyle, New York. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismark, North Dakota. April 16, 2009. *In:* Minnesota Department of Commerce, Office of Energy Security. 2010. Bitter Root Wind Farm Project, Environmental Report. Site Permit Application, Appendix F. Minnesota Public Utilities Commission, Docket 25538. March 2010. Available online at: <u>http://www.calco.state.mn.us/commerce/energyfacilities/documents/ 25538/Appendix %20F Wildlife Studies.pdf</u>
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, K. Bay, and L. McManus. 2011d. 2010 Post-Construction Monitoring Results for the Wessington Springs Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 9 – November 16, 2010. Prepared for Wessington Wind Energy Center, LLC, Juno Beach, Florida. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. November 22, 2011.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, and G. DiDonato. 2014. Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Studies for the Prairiewinds Sd1 Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 2013 - February 2014. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, W. Erickson, K. Bay, and J. Hoban. 2007. Post-Construction Monitoring Report for Avian and Bat Mortality at the Nppd Ainsworth Wind Farm. Unpublished report prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, for the Nebraska Public Power District.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, and D. Fox. 2013a. Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Studies for the Prairiewinds Sd1 Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 2012 - February 2013. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. November 13, 2013.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, and A. Merrill. 2012d. Post-Construction Monitoring Results for the Prairiewinds Sd1 Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 2011 - February 2012. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. September 27, 2012.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, A. Merrill, and K. Bay. 2010f. 2009 Post-Construction Monitoring Results for the Wessington Springs Wind-Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report. Prepared for Wessington Wind Energy Center, LLC, Juno Beach, Florida. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 19, 2010.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, K. Taylor, K. Bay, and K. Seginak. 2008. Wildlife Baseline Studies for the Wessington Springs Wind Resource Area, Jerauld County, South Dakota, March 2007-November 2007. Technical report prepared for Power Engineers, Inc. and Babcock and Brown Renewable Holdings, Inc. by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST).

- Derby, C., G. Iskali, S. Howlin, T. Thorn, T. Lyon, and A. Dahl. 2013b. Post-Construction Monitoring Results for the Big Smile Wind Farm, Roger Mills County, Oklahoma. Final Report: March 2012 to February 2013. Prepared for Acciona Wind Energy, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. June 12, 2013.
- Derby, C., G. Iskali, M. Kauffman, T. Thorn, T. Lyon, and A. Dahl. 2013c. Post-Construction Monitoring Results, Red Hills Wind Farm, Roger Mills and Custer Counties, Oklahoma. Final Report: March 2012 to March 2013. Prepared for Acciona Wind Energy, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. June 12, 2013.
- Derby, C., J. Ritzert, and K. Bay. 2010g. Bird and Bat Fatality Study, Grand Ridge Wind Resource Area, Lasalle County, Illinois. January 2009 - January 2010. Prepared for Grand Ridge Energy LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. July 13, 2010. Revised January 2011.
- Derby, C., M. Wolfe, and T. Thorn. 2015 (*in review*). Whooping Crane (*Grus Americana*) and Sandhill Crane (*Grus Canadensis*) Monitoring at Five Operating Wind Facilities in North Dakota and South Dakota. American Midland Naturalist: submitted February 2015.
- Downes, S. and R. Gritski. 2012a. Harvest Wind Project Wildlife Monitoring Report: January 2010 January 2012. Prepared for Harvest Wind Project, Roosevelt, Washington. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc., Pendleton, Oregon May 1, 2012.
- Downes, S. and R. Gritski. 2012b. White Creek Wind I Wildlife Monitoring Report: November 2007 -November 2011. Prepared for White Creek Wind I, LLC, Roosevelt, Washington. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc., Pendleton, Oregon May 1, 2012.
- Enk, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, J. Baker, M. Kesterke, J. R. Boehrs, and A. Palochak. 2010. Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase I Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring Second Annual Report, Sherman County, Oregon. January 26, 2009 - December 11, 2009. Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc.(WEST) Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. April 2010.
- Enk, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, and J. R. Boehrs. 2012a. Year 1 Avian and Bat Monitoring Report: Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase III, Sherman County, Oregon. September 13, 2010 - September 9, 2011.
 Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. April 24, 2012.
- Enk, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, and J. R. Boehrs. 2012b. Year 2 Avian and Bat Monitoring Report: Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase II, Sherman County, Oregon. September 13, 2010 September 15, 2011. Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. April 23, 2012.
- Enk, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, J. Flaig, J. R. Boehrs, and A. Palochak. 2011a. Year 1 Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring Report: Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase II, Sherman County, Oregon. September 10, 2009 - September 12, 2010. Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. January 7, 2011.
- Enk, T., C. Derby, K. Bay, and M. Sonnenberg. 2011b. 2010 Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Report, Elkhorn Valley Wind Farm, Union County, Oregon. January – December 2010. Prepared for EDP Renewables, North America LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Walla Walla, Washington, and Cheyenne, Wyoming. December 8, 2011.
- Enz, T. and K. Bay. 2010. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring Study, Tuolumne Wind Project, Klickitat County, Washington. Final Report: April 20, 2009 - April 7, 2010. Prepared for Turlock Irrigation District, Turlock, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 6, 2010.

- Enz, T. and K. Bay. 2011. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Linden Ranch Wind Farm, Klickitat County, Washington. Final Report: June 30, 2010 - July 17, 2011. Prepared for EnXco. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. November 10, 2011.
- Enz, T., K. Bay, S. Nomani, and M. Kesterke. 2011. Bird and Bat Fatality Monitoring Study, Windy Flats and Windy Point II Wind Energy Projects, Klickitat County, Washington. Final Report: February 1, 2010 - January 14, 2011. Prepared for Windy Flats Partners, LLC, Goldendale, Washington. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 19, 2011.
- Enz, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, and A. Palochak. 2012. Post-Construction Monitoring Studies for the Combine Hills Turbine Ranch, Umatilla County, Oregon. Final Report: January 7 - December 2, 2011. Prepared for Eurus Energy America Corporation, San Diego, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Walla Walla, Washington.
- Erickson, W., P. Rabie, K. Taylor, and K. Bay. 2014a. Comparison of Avian Mortality Sources and Evaluation and Development of Compensatory Mitigation Options for Birds. Presented at the National Wind Coordinating Collaborative (NWCC), Wind Wildlife Research Meeting X, December 2-5, 2014, Broomfield, Colorado. Available online at: <u>https://nationalwind.org/wpcontent/uploads/2014/04/34_Erikson.pdf</u>
- Erickson, W. P., K. Bay, V. Poulton, and J. Gehring. 2009. Wildlife Baseline Studies for the White Pines Wind Resource Area, Mason County, Michigan, September 14, 2006 - November 29, 2008. Draft report prepared for BP Alternative Energy North America, Houston, Texas, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) and Michigan Natural Features Inventory (MNFI), Lansing, Michigan. January 20, 2009.
- Erickson, W. P., A. Chatfield, and K. Bay. 2011. Avian Baseline Studies for the North Sky River Wind Energy Project, Kern County, California. Final Report: May 18, 2010 – May 26, 2011. Final Report. Prepared for CH2M HILL, Portland Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 7, 2011.
- Erickson, W. P., J. Jeffrey, K. Kronner, and K. Bay. 2003a. Stateline Wind Project Wildlife Monitoring Annual Report, Results for the Period July 2001 - December 2002. Technical report submitted to FPL Energy, the Oregon Office of Energy, and the Stateline Technical Advisory Committee. Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. May 2003.
- Erickson, W. P., J. Jeffrey, D. P. Young, K. Bay, R. Good, K. Sernka, and K. Kronner. 2003b. Wildlife Baseline Study for the Kittitas Valley Wind Project: Summary of Results from 2002 Wildlife Surveys. Final Report: February 2002– November 2002. Prepared for Zilkha Renewable Energy, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. January 2003.
- Erickson, W. P., J. D. Jeffrey, and V. K. Poulton. 2008. Puget Sound Energy Wild Horse Wind Facility Avian and Bat Monitoring: First Annual Report: January–December, 2007. Prepared for Puget Sound Energy, Ellensburg, Washington. Prepared by by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. January 2008.
- Erickson, W. P., G. D. Johnson, K. Bay, and K. Kronner. 2002a. Ecological Baseline Study for the Zintel Canyon Wind Project. Final Report April 2001 – June 2002. Technical report prepared for Energy Northwest. Prepared for Energy Northwest by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. June 2002.
- Erickson, W. P., G. D. Johnson, M. D. Strickland, and K. Kronner. 2000. Avian and Bat Mortality Associated with the Vansycle Wind Project, Umatilla County, Oregon: 1999 Study Year. Final report prepared for Umatilla County Department of Resource Services and Development, Pendleton, Oregon. February 7, 2000.

- Erickson, W. P., G. D. Johnson, D. P. Young, D. Strickland, R. Good, M. Bourassa, K. Bay, and K. Sernka. 2002b. Synthesis and Comparison of Baseline Avian and Bat Use, Raptor Nesting and Mortality Information from Proposed and Existing Wind Developments. Technical report prepared for Bonneville Power Administration, Portland, Oregon by WEST, Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. December 2002. <u>http://www.bpa.gov/Power/pgc/wind/Avian_and_Bat_Study_12-2002.pdf</u>
- Erickson, W. P., K. Kronner, and K. J. Bay. 2007. Stateline 2 Wind Project Wildlife Monitoring Report, January - December 2006. Technical report submitted to FPL Energy, the Oregon Energy Facility Siting Council, and the Stateline Technical Advisory Committee.
- Erickson, W. P., K. Kronner, and R. Gritski. 2003c. Nine Canyon Wind Power Project Avian and Bat Monitoring Report. September 2002 – August 2003. Prepared for the Nine Canyon Technical Advisory Committee and Energy Northwest by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. October 2003. Available online at: <u>http://www.west-inc.com/reports/nine_canyon_monitoring_final.pdf</u>
- Erickson, W. P., E. Lack, M. Bourassa, K. Sernka, and K. Kronner. 2001b. Wildlife Baseline Study for the Nine Canyon Wind Project, Final Report May 2000-October 2001. Technical report prepared for Energy Northwest, Richland, Washington. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon.
- Erickson, W. P., D. P. Young, G. D. Johnson, J. Jeffrey, K. Bay, R. Good, and H. Sawyer. 2003d. Wildlife Baseline Study for the Wild Horse Wind Project. Summary of Results from 2002-2003 Wildlife Surveys May 10, 2002- May 22, 2003. Prepared for Zilkha Renewable Energy, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. November 2003. Available online at: <u>http://www.efsec.wa.gov/wildhorse/apl/Exhibits%20PDF/E14-Ecological %20Baseline%20Study-%2011_20_03.pdf</u>
- Fagen Engineering, LLC. 2014. 2013 Avian and Bat Monitoring Annual Report: Big Blue Wind Farm, Blue Earth, Minnesota. Prepared for Big Blue Wind Farm. Prepared by Fagen Engineering, LLC. May 2014.
- Fagen Engineering, LLC. 2015. 2014 Avian and Bat Monitoring Annual Report: Big Blue Wind Farm, Blue Earth, Minnesota. Prepared for Big Blue Wind Farm. Prepared by Fagen Engineering, LLC.
- Fiedler, J. K., T. H. Henry, R. D. Tankersley, and C. P. Nicholson. 2007. Results of Bat and Bird Mortality Monitoring at the Expanded Buffalo Mountain Windfarm, 2005. Tennessee Valley Authority. June 28, 2007.
- Gerber, B. D., J. F. Dwyer, S. A. Nesbitt, R. C. Drewien, C. D. Littlefield, T. C. Tacha, and P. A. Vohs. 2014. Sandhill Crane (*Grus Canadensis*). A. Poole, ed. The Birds of North America Online. Accessed November 7, 2014. Cornell Lab of Ornithology. Ithaca, New York. Retrieved from the Birds of North America Online: <u>http://bna.birds.cornell.edu/bna/species/031; doi: 10.2173/bna.31</u>
- Gill, J. P., M. Townsley, and G. P. Mudge. 1996. Review of the Impacts of Wind Farms and Other Aerial Structures Upon Birds. Scottish Natural Heritage Review No. 21. Scottish Natural Heritage. Battleby, United Kingdom.
- Good, R. E., J. P. Ritzert, and K. Adachi. 2013a. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Top Crop Wind Farm, Gundy and Lasalle Counties, Illinois. Final Report: May 2012 - May 2013. Prepared for EDP Renewables, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. October 22, 2013.
- Good, R. E., M. Ritzert, and K. Bay. 2010. Wildlife Baseline Studies for the Timber Road Phase II Wind Resource Area, Paulding County, Ohio. Final Report: September 2, 2008 - August 19, 2009. Prepared for Horizon Wind Energy, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. April 28, 2010.

- Good, R. E., M. L. Ritzert, and K. Adachi. 2013b. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Rail Splitter Wind Farm, Tazwell and Logan Counties, Illinois. Final Report: May 2012 - May 2013. Prepared for EDP Renewables, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. October 22, 2013.
- Gritski, R., S. Downes, and K. Kronner. 2010. Klondike III (Phase 1) Wind Power Project Wildlife Monitoring: October 2007-October 2009. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon, for Klondike Wind Power III LLC. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. April 21, 2010 (Updated September 2010).
- Gritski, R., S. Downes, and K. Kronner. 2011. Klondike Iiia (Phase 2) Wind Power Project Wildlife Monitoring: August 2008 - August 2010. Updated Final. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon, for Klondike Wind Power III LLC. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. Updated April 2011.
- Gritski, R. and K. Kronner. 2010a. Hay Canyon Wind Power Project Wildlife Monitoring Study: May 2009 -May 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Hay Canyon Wind Power Project LLC. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. September 20, 2010.
- Gritski, R. and K. Kronner. 2010b. Pebble Springs Wind Power Project Wildlife Monitoring Study: January 2009 January 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), and the Pebble Springs Advisory Committee. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. April 20, 2010.
- Gritski, R., K. Kronner, and S. Downes. 2008. Leaning Juniper Wind Power Project, 2006 2008. Wildlife Monitoring Final Report. Prepared for PacifiCorp Energy, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. December 30, 2008.
- Gruver, J., M. Sonnenberg, K. Bay, and W. Erickson. 2009. Post-Construction Bat and Bird Fatality Study at the Blue Sky Green Field Wind Energy Center, Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin July 21 - October 31, 2008 and March 15 - June 4, 2009. Unpublished report prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. December 17, 2009.
- Harvey & Associates. 2013. Montezuma II Wind Energy Center: Post Construction Monitoring Report, Year1. Prepared by NextEra Montezuma II Wind, LLC, Juno Beach, Florida. Prepared by H.T. Harvey
 & Associates, Los Gatos, California. September 3, 2013.
- Heath, B. 2016a. Prairie Grouse Lek Surveys for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, Sd. Prepared for Triple H Wind Project, LLC. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 1, 2016.
- Heath, B. 2016b. Triple H Wind Project Habitat Characterization. Prepared for Triple H Wind Project, LLC. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. October 6, 2016.
- Heath, B. 2016c. Triple H Wind Project Raptor Nest Survey. Prepared for Triple H Wind Project, LLC. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 20, 2016.
- Heath, B., K. Hammond, and D. Solick. 2017. Bat Activity Studies for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota. Prepared for Triple H Wind Project, LLC. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 6, 2017.
- Hein, C. D., A. Prichard, T. Mabee, and M. R. Schirmacher. 2013. Avian and Bat Post-Construction Monitoring at the Pinnacle Wind Farm, Mineral County, West Virginia, 2012. Final Report. Bat Conservation International, Austin, Texas, and ABR, Inc., Forest Grove, Oregon. April 2013.
- Homer, C. G., J. A. Dewitz, L. Yang, S. Jin, P. Danielson, G. Xian, J. Coulston, N. D. Herold, J. D. Wickham, and K. Megown. 2015. Completion of the 2011 National Land Cover Database for the Conterminous United States-Representing a Decade of Land Cover Change Information. Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing 81(5): 345-354. Available online at: <u>http://www.mrlc.gov/nlcd2011.php</u>

- Hotker, H., K. Thomsen, and H. Jeromin. 2006. Impacts on Biodiversity of Exploitation of Renewable Energy Resources: The Example of Birds and Bats - Facts, Gaps in Knowledge, Demands for Further Research, and Ornithological Guidelines for the Development of Renewable Energy Exploitation. Michael-Otto-Institut im NABU, Bergenhusen.
- Howe, R. W., W. Evans, and A. T. Wolf. 2002. Effects of Wind Turbines on Birds and Bats in Northeastern Wisconsin. Prepared by University of Wisconsin-Green Bay, for Wisconsin Public Service Corporation and Madison Gas and Electric Company, Madison, Wisconsin. November 21, 2002. 104 pp.
- ICF International. 2012. Montezuma Wind LLC (Montezuma I) 2011 Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring Report. Prepared for NextEra Energy Resources. Prepared by ICF International, Sacramento, California. May 17, 2012.
- ICF International. 2013. Montezuma Wind LLC (Montezuma I) 2012 Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring Report. Prepared for NextEra Energy Resources. Prepared by ICF International, Sacramento, California. May 2013.
- Jacques Whitford Stantec Limited (Jacques Whitford). 2009. Ripley Wind Power Project Postconstruction Monitoring Report. Project No. 1037529.01. Report to Suncor Energy Products Inc., Calgary, Alberta, and Acciona Energy Products Inc., Calgary, Alberta. Prepared for the Ripley Wind Power Project Post-Construction Monitoring Program. Prepared by Jacques Whitford, Markham, Ontario. April 30, 2009.
- Jain, A. 2005. Bird and Bat Behavior and Mortality at a Northern Iowa Windfarm. M.S. Thesis. Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, and L. Slobodnik. 2009a. Annual Report for the Maple Ridge Wind Power Project: Post-Construction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2007. Final report prepared for PPM Energy and Horizon Energy and Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) for the Maple Ridge Project Study. May 6, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, L. Slobodnik, A. Fuerst, and C. Hansen. 2009b. Annual Report for the Noble Ellenburg Windpark, LLC, Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2008. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC. April 13, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, L. Slobodnik, J. Histed, and J. Meacham. 2009c. Annual Report for the Noble Clinton Windpark, LLC, Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2008. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC. April 13, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, L. Slobodnik, and M. Lehman. 2009d. Maple Ridge Wind Power Avian and Bat Fatality Study Report - 2008. Annual Report for the Maple Ridge Wind Power Project, Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2008. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc, Horizon Energy, and the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) for the Maple Ridge Project Study. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC. May 14, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, L. Slobodnik, J. Quant, and D. Pursell. 2009e. Annual Report for the Noble Bliss Windpark, LLC, Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2008. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC. April 13, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, A. Fuerst, and A. Harte. 2010a. Annual Report for the Noble Bliss Windpark, LLC: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2009. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. March 9, 2010.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and A. Harte. 2011a. Annual Report for the Noble Wethersfield Windpark, LLC: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2010. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. January 22, 2011.

- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and K. Russell. 2010b. Annual Report for the Noble Clinton Windpark, LLC: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2009. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. March 9, 2010.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and K. Russell. 2010c. Annual Report for the Noble Ellenburg Windpark, LLC: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2009. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. March 14, 2010.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and K. Russell. 2011b. Annual Report for the Noble Altona Windpark, LLC: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2010. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. January 22, 2011.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and K. Russell. 2011c. Annual Report for the Noble Chateaugay Windpark, LLC: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2010. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. January 22, 2011.
- Jeffrey, J. D., K. Bay, W. P. Erickson, M. Sonneberg, J. Baker, M. Kesterke, J. R. Boehrs, and A. Palochak. 2009a. Portland General Electric Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase I Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring First Annual Report, Sherman County, Oregon. January 2008 - December 2008. Technical report prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST) Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. April 29, 2009.
- Jeffrey, J. D., W. P. Erickson, K. Bay, M. Sonneberg, J. Baker, J. R. Boehrs, and A. Palochak. 2009b. Horizon Wind Energy, Elkhorn Valley Wind Project, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring, First Annual Report, January-December 2008. Technical report prepared for Telocaset Wind Power Partners, a subsidiary of Horizon Wind Energy, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. May 4, 2009.
- Jeffrey, J. D., W. P. Erickson, K. J. Bay, V. K. Poulton, W. L. Tidhar, and J. E. Baker. 2008. Wildlife Baseline Studies for the Golden Hills Wind Resource Area, Sherman County, Oregon. Final Report May 2006 – October 2007. Prepared for BP Alternative Energy North America Inc., Houston, Texas, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming.
- Jeffrey, J. D., V. K. Poulton, K. J. Bay, K. F. Flaig, C. C. Roderick, W. P. Erickson, and J. E. Baker. 2007. Wildlife and Habitat Baseline Study for the Proposed Vantage Wind Power Project, Kittitas County, Washington. Final Report. Prepared for Invenergy. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. August 2007. Available online at: <u>https://www.co.kittitas.wa.us/uploads/cds/land-use/Wind%20Farm/WSA-07-01%20Vantage%20Wind%20%20Power%20Project%20Application/VANTAGE_WILDLIFE_BAS ELINE%20REPORT_8.27.07.pdf</u>
- Johnson, G., W. Erickson, and J. White. 2003. Avian and Bat Mortality During the First Year of Operation at the Klondike Phase I Wind Project, Sherman County, Oregon. Technical report prepared for Northwestern Wind Power, Goldendale, Washington, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. March 2003. http://www.west-inc.com
- Johnson, G. D., K. Bay, and J. Eddy. 2009a. Wildlife Baseline Studies for the Dunlap Ranch Wind Resource Area, Carbon and Albany Counties, Wyoming. June 4, 2008 - May 27, 2009. Prepared for CH2M HILL, Englewood, Colorado. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 25, 2009. Available online at: <u>http://amlportal.state.wy.us/</u> <u>out/downloads/Dunlap%20Addendum4.pdf</u>
- Johnson, G. D., K. Bay, and J. Eddy. 2009b. Wildlife Baseline Studies for the High Plains Wind Resource Area, Carbon and Albany Counties, Wyoming. Prepared for CH2M HILL. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming.

- Johnson, G. D. and W. P. Erickson. 2004. Analysis of Potential Wildlife/Wind Plant Interactions, Bighorn Site, Klickitat County, Washington. Prepared for CH2M HILL, Portland, Oregon by WEST, Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 2004.
- Johnson, G. D., W. P. Erickson, K. Bay, and K. Kronner. 2002a. Baseline Ecological Studies for the Klondike Wind Project, Sherman County, Oregon. Final report prepared for Northwestern Wind Power, Goldendale, Washington. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. May 29, 2002. Available online at: <u>http://wind.nrel.gov/public/library/johnson5.pdf</u>
- Johnson, G. D., W. P. Erickson, and J. D. Jeffrey. 2006. Analysis of Potential Wildlife Impacts from the Windy Point Wind Energy Project, Klickitat County, Washington. Unpublished report prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 3, 2006.
- Johnson, G. D., W. P. Erickson, M. D. Strickland, M. F. Shepherd, and D. A. Shepherd. 2000a. Avian Monitoring Studies at the Buffalo Ridge Wind Resource Area, Minnesota: Results of a 4-Year Study. Final report prepared for Northern States Power Company, Minneapolis, Minnesota, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. September 22, 2000. 212 pp.
- Johnson, G. D., W. P. Erickson, M. D. Strickland, M. F. Shepherd, and D. A. Shepherd. 2000b. Final Report: Avian Monitoring Studies at the Buffalo Ridge Wind Resource Area, Minnesota: Results of a 4-Year Study. Final report prepared for Northern States Power Company, Minneapolis, Minnesota, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. September 22, 2000. 212 pp. <u>http://www.west-inc.com</u>
- Johnson, G. D., W. P. Erickson, M. D. Strickland, M. F. Shepherd, D. A. Shepherd, and S. A. Sarappo. 2002b. Collision Mortality of Local and Migrant Birds at a Large-Scale Wind-Power Development on Buffalo Ridge, Minnesota. Wildlife Society Bulletin 30(3): 879-887.
- Johnson, G. D., J. Jeffrey, J. Baker, and K. Bay. 2007. Baseline Avian Studies for the Windy Flats Wind Energy Project, Klickitat County, Washington. Prepared for Windy Point Partners, LLC. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. May 29, 2007. Available online at: <u>http://www.efsec.wa.gov/Whistling%20Ridge/Adjudication/Cross%20Exhibits/</u><u>06.06C%20Windy%20Flats-Environmental%20Report%20Excerpt.pdf</u>
- Johnson, G. D., M. Ritzert, S. Nomani, and K. Bay. 2010. Bird and Bat Fatality Studies, Fowler Ridge I Wind-Energy Facility Benton County, Indiana. Unpublished report prepared for British Petroleum Wind Energy North America Inc. (BPWENA) by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST).
- Johnson, G. D. and S. E. Stephens. 2011. Wind Power and Bio Fuels: A Green Dilemma for Wildlife Conservation. Chapter 8. Pp. 131-155. *In*: D. E. Naugle, ed. Energy Development and Wildlife Conservation in Western North America. Island Press, Washington, D.C.
- Johnson, G. D., D. P. Young, W. P. Erickson, C. E. Derby, M. D. Strickland, R. E. Good, and J. W. Kern. 2000c. Final Report: Wildlife Monitoring Studies, Seawest Windpower Project, Carbon County, Wyoming, 1995-1999. Final report prepared for SeaWest Energy Corporation, San Diego, California, and the Bureau of Land Management, Rawlins, Wyoming, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 9, 2000.
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, L. Culp, A. Hasch, and A. Jain. 2009. Revised Post-Construction Avian Monitoring Study for the Shiloh I Wind Power Project, Solano County, California. Final Report: October 2009. Third Year Report (Revised 2010). Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI). Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC., McLean, Virginia. Available online at: <u>https://www.solanocounty.com/ civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?blobid=8914</u>
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, L. Culp, A. Hasch, and A. Jain. 2010. Post-Construction Avian Monitoring Study for the Shiloh II Wind Power Project, Solano County, California. Year One Report. Prepared for enXco Development Inc. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, McLean, Virginia. September 2010. Available online at: <u>https://www.solanocounty.com/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?blobid=12118</u>

- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, A. Hasch, J. Guarnaccia, and D. Riser-Espinoza. 2013a. Post-Construction Bird and Bat Studies at the Shiloh II Wind Project, LLC, Solano County, California. Final Report. Prepared for EDF Renewable Energy (formerly known as enXco). Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, McLean, Virginia. December 2012 (Revised June 2013).
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, A. Hasch, J. Guarnaccia, and D. Riser-Espinoza. 2013b. Post-Construction Bird and Bat Studies at the Shiloh III Wind Project, LLC, Solano County, California. Report on Year 1 Results. Prepared for EDF Renewable Energy (formerly known as enXco). Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, McLean, Virginia. August 2013.
- Kerlinger, P., J. Guarnaccia, R. Curry, and C. J. Vogel. 2014. Bird and Bat Fatality Study, Heritage Garden I Wind Farm, Delta County, Michigan: 2012-2014. Prepared for Heritage Sustainable Energy, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, McLean, Virginia. November 2014.
- Kerns, J. and P. Kerlinger. 2004. A Study of Bird and Bat Collision Fatalities at the Mountaineer Wind Energy Center, Tucker County, West Virginia: Annual Report for 2003. Prepared for FPL Energy and the Mountaineer Wind Energy Center Technical Review Committee. February 14, 2004. 39 pp.
- Kronner, K., B. Gritski, and S. Downes. 2008. Big Horn Wind Power Project Wildlife Fatality Monitoring Study: 2006–2007. Final report prepared for PPM Energy and the Big Horn Wind Project Technical Advisory Committee by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Mid-Columbia Field Office, Goldendale, Washington. June 1, 2008.
- Kronner, K., R. Gritski, J. Baker, V. Marr, G. Johnson, and K. Bay. 2005. Wildlife Baseline Study for the Leaning Juniper Wind Power Project, Gilliam County, Oregon. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC) and Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). Prepared for PPM Energy, Portland, Oregon and CH2M HILL, Portland, Oregon by NWC, Pendleton, Oregon, and WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. November 3, 2005.
- Madders, M. and D. P. Whitfield. 2006. Upland Raptors and the Assessment of Wind Farm Impacts. Ibis 148: 43-56.
- National Research Council (NRC). 2007. Environmental Impacts of Wind-Energy Projects. National Academies Press. Washington, D.C. <u>www.nap.edu</u>
- Navarrete, L. and K. L. Griffis-Kyle. 2014. Sandhill Crane Collisions with Wind Turbines in Texas. Proceedings of the North American Crane Workshop 12: 65-67.
- Nicholson, C. P., J. R.D. Tankersley, J. K. Fiedler, and N. S. Nicholas. 2005. Assessment and Prediction of Bird and Bat Mortality at Wind Energy Facilities in the Southeastern United States. Final Report. Tennessee Valley Authority, Knoxville, Tennessee.
- Normandeau Associates, Inc. 2010. Stetson Mountain II Wind Project Year 1 Post-Construction Avian and Bat Mortality Monitoring Study, T8 R4 Nbpp, Maine. Prepared for First Wind, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Normandeau Associates, Inc., Falmouth, Maine. December 2, 2010.
- Normandeau Associates, Inc. 2011. Year 3 Post-Construction Avian and Bat Casualty Monitoring at the Stetson I Wind Farm, T8 R4 Nbpp, Maine. Prepared for First Wind Energy, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Normandeau Associates, Inc., Falmouth, Maine. December 2011.

North American Datum (NAD). 1983. NAD83 Geodetic Datum.

- Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC) and Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2004. Ecological Baseline Studies for the Roosevelt Wind Project, Klickitat County, Washington. Final Report. Prepared by NWC, Pendleton, Oregon, and WEST, Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. September 2004.
- Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC) and Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2007. Avian and Bat Monitoring Report for the Klondike II Wind Power Project. Sherman County, Oregon. Prepared for PPM Energy, Portland, Oregon. Managed and conducted by NWC, Pendleton, Oregon. Analysis conducted by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 17, 2007.

- Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), and Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2005. Ecological Baseline Studies and Wildlife Impact Assessment for the White Creek Wind Power Project, Klickitat County, Washington. Prepared for Last Mile Electric Cooperative, Goldendale, Washington. Prepared by K. Kronner, R. Gritski, and J. Baker, NWC, Goldendale, Washington, and G.D. Johnson, K. Bay, R.Good, and E. Lack, WEST, Cheyenne Wyoming. January 12, 2005.
- Orloff, S. and A. Flannery. 1992. Wind Turbine Effects on Avian Activity, Habitat Use, and Mortality in Altamont Pass and Solano County Wind Resource Areas, 1989-1991. Final Report P700-92-001 to Alameda, Contra Costa, and Solano Counties, and the California Energy Commission, Sacramento, California, by Biosystems Analysis, Inc., Tiburon, California. March 1992.
- Pagel, J. E., K. J. Kritz, B. A. Millsap, R. K. Murphy, E. L. Kershner, and S. Covington. 2013. Bald Eagle and Golden Eagle Mortalities at Wind Energy Facilities in the Contiguous United States. Journal of Raptor Research 47(3): 311-315.
- Pearce-Higgins, J. W., L. Stephen, A. Douse, and R. H. W. Langston. 2012. Greater Impacts of Wind Farms on Bird Populations During Construction Than Subsequent Operation: Results of a Multi-Site and Multi-Species Analysis. Journal of Applied Ecology 49(2): 386-394.
- Ralph, C. J., G. R. Geupel, P. Pyle, T. E. Martin, and D. F. DeSante. 1993. Handbook of Field Methods for Monitoring Landbirds. General Technical Report (GTR). PSW-GTR-144. US Department of Agriculture (USDA) Forest Service General Technical Report (GTR), Pacific Southwest (PSW) Research Station, Albany, California. <u>http://www.fs.fed.us/psw/publications/documents/gtr-144/</u>
- Reynolds, R. T., J. M. Scott, and R. A. Nussbaum. 1980. A Variable Circular-Plot Method for Estimating Bird Numbers. Condor 82(3): 309-313.
- Shaffer, J. A. and D. A. Buhl. 2015. Effects of Wind-Energy Facilities on Breeding Grassland Bird Distributions. Conservation Biology: doi: 10.1111/cobi.12569.
- Smallwood, K. S. and B. Karas. 2009. Avian and Bat Fatality Rates at Old-Generation and Repowered Wind Turbines in California. Journal of Wildlife Management 73(7): 1062-1071.
- South Dakota Game, Fish and Parks (SDGFP). 2014a. Rare, Threatened or Endangered Animals Tracked by the South Dakota Natural Heritage Program. Accessed November 2014. Available online at: <u>http://gfp.sd.gov/wildlife/threatened-endangered/rare-animal.aspx</u>
- South Dakota Game, Fish and Parks (SDGFP). 2014b. South Dakota Wildlife Action Plan. Draft Revision. SDGFP, Pierre, South Dakota Available online at: <u>http://gfp.sd.gov/wildlife/docs/Wildlife</u> <u>ActionPlan-2014draft.pdf</u>
- South Dakota Game, F. a. P. S. 2017. Rare Animals Tracked by the South Dakota Natural Heritage Program. 2017. <u>http://gfp.sd.gov/wildlife/threatened-endangered/rare-animal.aspx#BIRDS</u>
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2008. 2007 Spring, Summer, and Fall Post-Construction Bird and Bat Mortality Study at the Mars Hill Wind Farm, Maine. Prepared for UPC Wind Management, LLC, Cumberland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec (formerly Woodlot Alternatives, Inc.), Topsham, Maine. January 2008.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2009a. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Mars Hill Wind Farm, Maine - Year 2, 2008. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec Consulting, Topsham, Maine. January 2009.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2009b. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Munnsville Wind Farm, New York: 2008. Prepared for E.ON Climate and Renewables, Austin, Texas. Prepared by Stantec Consulting, Topsham, Maine. January 2009.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2009c. Stetson I Mountain Wind Project: Year 1 Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2009 for the Stetson Mountain Wind Project in Penobscot and Washington Counties, Maine. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC. Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. December 2009.

- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2010. Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms Year 1 Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2009, for the Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms in Cohocton, New York. Prepared for Canandaigua Power Partners, LLC and Canandaigua Power Partners II, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. January 2010.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2011a. Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms Year 2 Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2010, for the Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms in Cohocton, New York. Prepared for Canandaigua Power Partners, LLC, and Canandaigua Power Partners II, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. October 2011.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2011b. Post-Construction Monitoring 2010 Final Annual Report Year 1, Milford Wind Corridor Phase I, Milford, Utah. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. August 2011.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2012. Post-Construction Monitoring 2011 2012, Milford Wind Corridor Phase I and II, Milford, Utah. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. May 2012.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013a. Palouse Wind Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, 2012-2013. Prepared for Palouse Wind, Whitman County, Washington. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. December 2013.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013b. Record Hill Wind Project Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2012. Prepared for Record Hill Wind LLC, Lyme, New Hampshire. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 2013. Available online at: <u>http://www.maine.gov/dep/ftp/WindPower ProjectFiles/PostConstructionMonitoring/RH%202012%20PCM%20Report_031313.pdf</u>
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013c. Rollins Wind Project Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2012. Prepared for First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 2013.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013d. Stetson II Wind Project Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2012. Prepared for First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 2013.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2014. Stetson I Wind Project 2013 Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, Year 5. Stetson I Wind Project, Washington County, Maine. Prepared for First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. February 2014.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2015. Record Hill Wind Project Year 2 Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, 2014. Prepared for Record Hill Wind LLC and Wagner Forest Management, Ltd., Lyme, New Hampshire. Prepared by Stantec Consulting, Topsham, Maine. March 2015.
- Stantec Consulting Services, Inc. (Stantec Consulting). 2012. Post-Construction Monitoring, Summer 2011 - Spring 2012. Year 1 Annual Report. Kittitas Valley Wind Power Project, Cle Elum, Washington. Prepared for Sagebrush Power Partners, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Stantec Consulting, Salt Lake City, Utah.
- Stehn, T. 2011. Whooping Crane Recovery Activities: October, 2010 August, 2011. Aransas National Wildlife Refuge, US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). August 31, 2011.
- Strickland, D. and G. D. Johnson. 2006. Overview of What We Know About Avian/Wind Interaction. Presented at the National Wind Coordinating Collaborative (NWCC) Wildlife Workgroup Research Meeting VI, November 14, San Antonio, Texas.
- Strickland, M. D., E. B. Arnett, W. P. Erickson, D. H. Johnson, G. D. Johnson, M. L. Morrison, J. A. Shaffer, and W. Warren-Hicks. 2011. Comprehensive Guide to Studying Wind Energy/Wildlife Interactions. Prepared for the National Wind Coordinating Collaborative (NWCC), Washington, D.C., USA. June 2011. Available online at: <u>http://www.batsandwind.org/pdf/</u> <u>Comprehensive Guide to Studying Wind Energy Wildlife Interactions 2011.pdf</u>

- Thompson, J. and K. Bay. 2012. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Dry Lake II Wind Project: February 2011 – February 2012. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. June 6, 2012.
- Thompson, J., D. Solick, and K. Bay. 2011. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Dry Lake Phase I Wind Project. Iberdrola Renewables: September 2009 - November 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 10, 2011.
- Tidhar, D., L. McManus, Z. Courage, and W. L. Tidhar. 2012a. 2010 Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Study and Bat Acoustic Study for the High Sheldon Wind Farm, Wyoming County, New York. Final Report: April 15 - November 15, 2010. Prepared for High Sheldon Wind Farm, Sheldon Energy LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Waterbury, Vermont. April 15, 2012.
- Tidhar, D., L. McManus, D. Solick, Z. Courage, and K. Bay. 2012b. 2011 Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Study and Bat Acoustic Study for the High Sheldon Wind Farm, Wyoming County, New York. Final Report: April 15 - November 15, 2011. Prepared for High Sheldon Wind Farm, Sheldon Energy LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Waterbury, Vermont. April 25, 2012.
- Tidhar, D., M. Sonnenberg, and D.P. Young, Jr. 2013. 2012 Post-Construction Carcass Monitoring Study for the Beech Ridge Wind Farm, Greenbrier County, West Virginia. Final Report: April 1 - October 28, 2012. Prepared for Beech Ridge Wind Farm, Beech Ridge Energy, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), NE/Mid-Atlantic Branch, Waterbury, Vermont. January 18, 2013.
- Tidhar, D., W. Tidhar, and M. Sonnenberg. 2010. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for Lempster Wind Project, Iberdrola Renewables. Prepared for Lempster Wind, LLC, Lempster Wind Technical Advisory Committee, and Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology Inc. (WEST), Waterbury, Vermont. September 30, 2010.
- Tidhar, D., W. L. Tidhar, L. McManus, and Z. Courage. 2011. 2010 Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Lempster Wind Project, Lempster, New Hampshire. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. and the Lempster Wind Technical Committee. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc., Waterbury, Vermont. May 18, 2011.
- Tierney, R. 2007. Buffalo Gap I Wind Farm Avian Mortality Study: February 2006-January 2007. Final Survey Report. Prepared for AES SeaWest, Inc. TRC, Albuquerque, New Mexico. TRC Report No. 110766-C-01. May 2007.
- Tierney, R. 2009. Buffalo Gap 2 Wind Farm Avian Mortality Study: July 2007 December 2008. Final Survey Report. Submitted by TRC, Albuquerque, New Mexico. TRC Report No. 151143-B-01. June 2009.
- URS Corporation. 2010a. Final Goodnoe Hills Wind Project Avian Mortality Monitoring Report. Prepared for PacifiCorp, Salt Lake City, Utah. Prepared by URS Corporation, Seattle, Washington. March 16, 2010.
- URS Corporation. 2010b. Final Marengo I Wind Project Year One Avian Mortality Monitoring Report. Prepared for PacifiCorp, Salt Lake City, Utah. Prepared by URS Corporation, Seattle, Washington. March 22, 2010.
- URS Corporation. 2010c. Final Marengo II Wind Project Year One Avian Mortality Monitoring Report. Prepared for PacifiCorp, Salt Lake City, Utah. Prepared by URS Corporation, Seattle, Washington. March 22, 2010.
- URS Corporation, Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), and Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC). 2001. Avian Baseline Study for the Stateline Project. Prepared for FPL Energy Vansycle, LLC, Juno Beach, Florida.

- US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2015. Level III and Level IV Ecoregions of the Continental United States. Information available online at: http://www.epa.gov/eco-research/ecoregions
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2008. Birds of Conservation Concern 2008. December 2008. Division of Migratory Bird Management. Arlington, Virginia. Available online at: <u>https://www.fws.gov/migratorybirds/pdf/grants/BirdsofConservationConcern2008.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2012. Land-Based Wind Energy Guidelines. March 23, 2012. 82 pp. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/cno/pdf/Energy/2012_Wind_Energy_Guidelines_final.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2013. Eagle Conservation Plan Guidance: Module 1 Land-Based Wind Energy, Version 2. US Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Division of Migratory Bird Management. April 2013. Executive Summary and frontmatter + 103 pp. Available online

https://www.fws.gov/migratorybirds/pdf/management/eagleconservationplanguidance.pdf

- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016. Waterfowl Population Status, 2016. U.S. Department of the Interior, Washington, D.C. USA.:
- US Geological Survey (USGS) National Land Cover Database (NLCD). 2011. National Land Cover Database 2011 (NLCD 2011). Multi-Resolution Land Characteristics Consortium (MRLC), National Land Cover Database (NLCD). USGS Earth Resources Observation and Science (EROS) Center, Sioux Falls, South Dakota. Available online at: <u>http://www.mrlc.gov/nlcd2011.php</u>; Legend at: <u>http://www.mrlc.gov/nlcd11_leg.php</u>
- USA Topo. 2017. USA Topo Maps. US Geological Survey (USGS) topographical maps for the United States. ArcGIS. ESRI, producers of ArcGIS software. Redlands, California.
- Ventus Environmental Solutions (Ventus). 2012. Vantage Wind Energy Center Avian and Bat Monitoring Study: March 2011- March 2012. Prepared for Vantage Wind Energy, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Ventus, Portland, Oregon. May 16, 2012.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2005a. Ecological Baseline Study at the Elkhorn Wind Power Project. Exhibit A. Final report prepared for Zilkha Renewable Energy, LLC, Portland, Oregon, by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. June 2005.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2005b. Ecological Baseline Study for the Proposed Reardan Wind Project, Lincoln County, Washington. Draft Final Report. Prepared for Energy Northwest, Richland, Washington, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. June 2005.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2005c. Wildlife and Habitat Baseline Study for the Proposed Biglow Canyon Wind Power Project, Sherman County, Oregon. March 2004 August 2005. Prepared for Orion Energy LLC., Oakland, California. WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. October, 2005.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2006. Diablo Winds Wildlife Monitoring Progress Report, March 2005 - February 2006. Technical report submitted to FPL Energy and Alameda County California. WEST. Cheyenne, Wyoming.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2008. Diablo Winds Wildlife Monitoring Progress Report: March 2005 – February 2007. Prepared by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 2008.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2009. Wildlife Baseline Studies for the Antelope Ridge Wind Resource Area, Union County, Oregon. August 28, 2008 August 12, 2009. Draft final report prepared for Horizon Wind Energy, Houston, Texas. Prepared by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2011. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Barton Chapel Wind Project: Iberdrola Renewables. Version: July 2011. Iberdrola Renewables, Portland, Oregon.

- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) and the Colorado Plateau Research Station (CPRS). 2006. Avian Studies for the Proposed Sunshine Wind Park, Coconino County, Arizona. Prepared for Sunshine Arizona Wind Energy, LLC., Flagstaff, Arizona, by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming, and the CPRS. Ecological Monitoring and Assessment Program, Northern Arizona University, Flagstaff, Arizona. May 2006.
- Woodward-Clyde International-Americas, (WCIA) and Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 1997. Avian Baseline Study for the Vansycle Ridge Project - Vansycle Ridge, Oregon and Wildlife Mortality Studies, Vansycle Wind Project, Washington. Prepared for Esi Vansycle Partners, L.P., North Palm Beach, Florida.
- Young, D.P., Jr., K. Bay, S. Nomani, and W. Tidhar. 2009a. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: March - June 2009. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 17, 2009.
- Young, D.P., Jr., K. Bay, S. Nomani, and W. Tidhar. 2010a. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: April - July 2010. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 27, 2010.
- Young, D.P., Jr., K. Bay, S. Nomani, and W. Tidhar. 2010b. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: July - October 2009. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 12, 2010.
- Young, D.P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, K. Bay, and R. Good. 2002. Baseline Avian Studies for the Proposed Maiden Wind Farm, Yakima and Benton Counties, Washington. Final Report, April 2001-April 2002. Prepared for Bonneville Power Administration, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. November 20, 2002. Available online at: <u>http://westinc.com/reports/maiden_final_technical.pdf</u>
- Young, D.P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, K. Bay, J. Jeffrey, E. G. Lack, R. E. Good, and H. H. Sawyer. 2003a. Baseline Avian Studies for the Proposed Hopkins Ridge Wind Project, Columbia County, Washington. Final Report: March 2002 - March 2003. Prepared for RES North America, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. April 30, 2003. Available online at: <u>http://wind.nrel.gov/public/library/young5.pdf</u>
- Young, D.P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, K. Bay, J. Jeffrey, E. G. Lack, and H. H. Sawyer. 2003b. Baseline Avian Studies for the Proposed Desert Claim Wind Power Project, Kittitas County, Washington. Final Report. Prepared for Desert Claim Wind Power, LLC, Ellensburg, Washington, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 2003.
- Young, D.P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, R. E. Good, M. D. Strickland, and G. D. Johnson. 2003c. Avian and Bat Mortality Associated with the Initial Phase of the Foote Creek Rim Windpower Project, Carbon County, Wyoming, Final Report, November 1998 - June 2002. Prepared for Pacificorp, Inc. Portland, Oregon, SeaWest Windpower Inc. San Diego, California, and Bureau of Land Management, Rawlins District Office, Rawlins, Wyoming. January 10, 2003. Available online at: http://west-inc.com/reports/fcr_final_mortality.pdf
- Young, D.P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, J. Jeffrey, K. Bay, R. E. Good, and E. G. Lack. 2003d. Avian and Sensitive Species Baseline Study Plan and Final Report. Eurus Combine Hills Turbine Ranch, Umatilla County, Oregon. Technical report prepared for Eurus Energy America Corporation, San Diego, California and Aeropower Services, Inc., Portland, Oregon, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. March 10, 2003.

- Young, D.P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, J. Jeffrey, and V. K. Poulton. 2007a. Puget Sound Energy Hopkins Ridge Wind Project Phase 1 Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring First Annual Report, January -December 2006. Technical report for Puget Sound Energy, Dayton, Washington and Hopkins Ridge Wind Project Technical Advisory Committee, Columbia County, Washington. Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. 25 pp.
- Young, D.P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, M. D. Strickland, R. E. Good, and K. J. Sernka. 2003e. Comparison of Avian Responses to Uv-Light-Reflective Paint on Wind Turbines. Subcontract Report July 1999 – December 2000. NREL/SR-500-32840. Prepared for National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, Colorado, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. Foote Creek Rim Wind Plant, Carbon County, Wyoming. January 2003. <u>http://www.west-inc.com</u>
- Young, D.P., Jr., J. Jeffrey, W. P. Erickson, K. Bay, V. K. Poulton, K. Kronner, R. Gritski, and J. Baker. 2006a. Eurus Combine Hills Turbine Ranch. Phase 1 Post Construction Wildlife Monitoring First Annual Report: February 2004 - February 2005. Technical report prepared for Eurus Energy America Corporation, San Diego, California, and the Combine Hills Technical Advisory Committee, Umatilla County, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla Washington, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. February 21, 2006. Available online at: http://wind.nrel.gov/public/library/young7.pdf
- Young, D.P., Jr., J. D. Jeffrey, K. Bay, and W. P. Erickson. 2009b. Puget Sound Energy Hopkins Ridge Wind Project, Phase 1, Columbia County, Washington. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring, Second Annual Report: January - December, 2008. Prepared for Puget Sound Energy, Dayton, Washington, and the Hopkins Ridge Wind Project Technical Advisory Committee, Columbia County, Washington. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. May 20, 2009.
- Young, D.P., Jr., G. D. Johnson, V. K. Poulton, and K. Bay. 2007b. Ecological Baseline Studies for the Hatchet Ridge Wind Energy Project, Shasta County, California. Prepared for Hatchet Ridge Wind, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 31, 2007. Available online from: <u>https://nrm.dfg.ca.gov/</u> FileHandler.ashx?DocumentVersionID=41939
- Young, D.P., Jr., M. Kauffman, M. Lout, and K. Bay. 2014a. 2013 Post-Construction Monitoring Study, Criterion Wind Project, Garrett County, Maryland. April - November 2013. Prepared for Criterion Power Partners, LLC, Oakland, Maryland. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Waterbury, Vermont. February 18, 2014.
- Young, D.P., Jr., M. Lout, Z. Courage, S. Nomani, and K. Bay. 2012a. 2011 Post-Construction Monitoring Study, Criterion Wind Project, Garrett County, Maryland: April - November 2011. Prepared for Criterion Power Partners, LLC, Oakland, Maryland. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Waterbury, Vermont. April 20, 2012. Revised November 25, 2013.
- Young, D.P., Jr., M. Lout, L. McManus, and K. Bay. 2014b. 2013 Post-Construction Monitoring Study, Beech Ridge Wind Energy Project, Greenbrier and Nicholas Counties, West Virginia. Final Report: April 1 - November 15, 2013. Prepared for Beech Ridge Energy, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Burlington, Vermont. January 28, 2014.
- Young, D.P., Jr., C. Nations, M. Lout, and K. Bay. 2013. 2012 Post-Construction Monitoring Study, Criterion Wind Project, Garrett County, Maryland. April - November 2012. Prepared for Criterion Power Partners, LLC, Oakland, Maryland. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Waterbury, Vermont. January 15, 2013.

- Young, D.P., Jr., S. Nomani, Z. Courage, and K. Bay. 2011a. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: April - July 2011. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 29, 2011.
- Young, D.P., Jr., S. Nomani, Z. Courage, and K. Bay. 2012b. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: July - October 2011. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 27, 2012.
- Young, D.P., Jr., S. Nomani, W. Tidhar, and K. Bay. 2011b. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: July - October 2010. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 10, 2011.
- Young, D.P., Jr., V. K. Poulton, and K. Bay. 2007c. Ecological Baseline Studies Report. Proposed Dry Lake Wind Project, Navajo County, Arizona. Prepared for PPM Energy, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 1, 2007. Available online at: <u>http://www.blm.gov/style/medialib/blm/az/pdfs/energy/dry-lake.Par.83529.</u> <u>File.dat/AppC-eco_baseline_study.pdf</u>

Appendix A. All Bird Types and Species Observed at the Triple H Wind Project during Fixed-Point Avian Use Surveys, April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017

•		Spring		Sum	mer	F	all	Wi	nter	Тс	otal
		# .	ँ #	#	#	#	#	#	#	#	#
Type / Species	Scientific Name	grps	obs	grps	obs	grps	obs	grps	obs	grps	obs
Waterbirds		1	1	2	2	21	3,971	0	0	24	3,974
double-crested cormorant	Phalacrocorax auritus	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	1
great blue heron	Ardea herodias	1	1	1	1	1	1	0	0	3	3
sandhill crane	Grus canadensis	0	0	0	0	20	3,970	0	0	20	3,970
Waterfowl		54	4,652	29	60	2	70	3	11	88	4,793
American wigeon	Anas americana	0	0	1	4	0	0	0	0	1	4
blue-winged teal	Anas discors	2	5	9	19	0	0	0	0	11	24
Canada goose	Branta canadensis	11	745	1	2	1	20	3	11	16	778
mallard	Anas platyrhynchos	15	32	7	19	0	0	0	0	22	51
northern pintail	Anas acuta	13	21	3	4	0	0	0	0	16	25
northern shoveler	Anas clypeata	3	9	2	3	0	0	0	0	5	12
snow goose	Chen caerulescens	5	3,825	0	0	1	50	0	0	6	3,875
unidentified duck		5	15	6	9	0	0	0	0	11	24
Shorebirds		28	71	59	75	3	7	0	0	90	153
greater yellowlegs	Tringa melanoleuca	2	2	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	2
killdeer	Charadrius vociferus	19	28	25	33	3	7	0	0	47	68
marbled godwit	Limosa fedoa	6	6	7	9	0	0	0	0	13	15
unidentified shorebird	NA	1	35	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	35
upland sandpiper	Bartramia longicauda	0	0	24	30	0	0	0	0	24	30
willet	Tringa semipalmata	0	0	3	3	0	0	0	0	3	3
Gulls/Terns		4	504	0	0	1	4	0	0	5	508
black tern	Chlidonias niger	0	0	0	0	1	4	0	0	1	4
Franklin's gull	Leucophaeus pipixcan	4	504	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	504
Diurnal Raptors		21	22	16	18	17	17	4	4	58	61
<u>Buteos</u>		9	10	5	6	5	5	1	1	20	22
red-tailed hawk	Buteo jamaicensis	6	7	4	5	4	4	1	1	15	17
Swainson's hawk	Buteo swainsoni	2	2	1	1	1	1	0	0	4	4
unidentified buteo	Buteo spp	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
<u>Northern Harrier</u>		8	8	6	7	6	6	0	0	20	21
northern harrier	Circus cyaneus	8	8	6	7	6	6	0	0	20	21
<u>Eagles</u>		2	2	0	0	0	0	2	2	4	4
bald eagle	Haliaeetus leucocephalus	2	2	0	0	0	0	2	2	4	4
<u>Falcons</u>		1	1	1	1	1	1	1	1	4	4
American kestrel	Falco sparverius	1	1	0	0	1	1	1	1	3	3
merlin	Falco columbarius	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	1

Appendix A. Summary of the number of observations and groups recorded by species and bird type for fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project^a, April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017.

		Spring		Sum	mer	Fall		Winter		Total	
		#	#	#	#	#	#	#	#	#	#
Type / Species	Scientific Name	grps	obs	grps	obs	grps	obs	grps	obs	grps	obs
Other Raptors		1	1	4	4	5	5	0	0	10	10
unidentified hawk		1	1	3	3	5	5	0	0	9	9
unidentified raptor		0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	1
Upland Game Birds		25	31	46	55	12	26	1	12	84	124
gray partridge	Perdix perdix	0	0	0	0	1	1	0	0	1	1
greater prairie-chicken	Tympanuchus cupido	2	3	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	3
ring-necked pheasant	Phasianus colchicus	23	28	46	55	11	25	1	12	81	120
Doves/Pigeons		6	9	46	98	15	36	0	0	67	143
mourning dove	Zenaida macroura	5	7	46	98	12	17	0	0	63	122
rock pigeon	Columba livia	1	2	0	0	3	19	0	0	4	21
Large Corvids		4	204	0	0	2	8	1	1	7	213
American crow	Corvus brachyrhynchos	4	204	0	0	2	8	1	1	7	213
Passerines		149	2,276	316	736	63	6,622	19	238	547	9,872
American goldfinch	Spinus tristis	0	0	3	6	0	0	0	0	3	6
American robin	Turdus migratorius	7	21	6	7	1	10	0	0	14	38
American tree sparrow	Spizella arborea	2	9	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	9
bank swallow	Riparia riparia	1	5	1	3	0	0	0	0	2	8
barn swallow	Hirundo rustica	0	0	19	43	6	40	0	0	25	83
bobolink	Dolichonyx oryzivorus	0	0	16	27	0	0	0	0	16	27
Brewer's blackbird	Euphagus cyanocephalus	2	15	0	0	0	0	0	0	2	15
brown-headed cowbird	Molothrus ater	11	116	57	192	2	3	0	0	70	311
brown thrasher	Toxostoma rufum	0	0	2	2	0	0	0	0	2	2
chestnut-collared longspur	Calcarius ornatus	7	8	3	9	0	0	0	0	10	17
common grackle	Quiscalus quiscula	7	11	41	80	4	15	0	0	52	106
dark-eyed junco	Junco hyemalis	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
dickcissel	Spiza americana	0	0	3	6	0	0	0	0	3	6
eastern kingbird	Tyrannus tyrannus	0	0	15	22	0	0	0	0	15	22
European starling	Sturnus vulgaris	4	8	0	0	2	155	0	0	6	163
grasshopper sparrow	Ammodramus savannarum	0	0	6	7	1	1	0	0	7	8
horned lark	Eremophila alpestris	26	1,135	8	18	5	9	14	122	53	1,284
house sparrow	Passer domesticus	0	0	2	23	0	0	2	53	4	76
lark bunting	Calamospiza melanocorys	0	0	8	15	0	0	0	0	8	15
northern rough-winged	Stalaidantari v parrinanzia	0	0	2	Б	0	0	0	0	2	Б
swallow	Steigidopteryx serriperinis	U	U	3	Э	U	U	U	U	3	Э
orchard oriole	Icterus spurius	0	0	1	1	0	0	0	0	1	1

Appendix A. Summary of the number of observations and groups recorded by species and bird type for fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project^a, April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017.

		Sp	ring	Sun	nmer	F	all	Wi	nter	То	otal
		#	#	#	#	#	#	#	#	#	#
Type / Species	Scientific Name	grps	obs	grps	obs	grps	obs	grps	obs	grps	obs
red-winged blackbird	Agelaius phoeniceus	27	456	33	54	2	6,000	0	0	62	6,510
Savannah sparrow	Passerculus sandwichensis	4	5	0	0	0	0	0	0	4	5
Say's phoebe	Sayornis saya	1	1	0	0	0	0	0	0	1	1
snow bunting	Plectrophenax nivalis	1	400	0	0	1	200	2	61	4	661
song sparrow	Melospiza melodia	5	6	1	2	4	109	0	0	10	117
tree swallow	Tachycineta bicolor	1	1	2	4	0	0	0	0	3	5
unidentified passerine		0	0	3	23	2	4	0	0	5	27
unidentified sparrow		0	0	4	7	0	0	0	0	4	7
western kingbird	Tyrannus verticalis	0	0	6	14	0	0	0	0	6	14
western meadowlark	Sturnella neglecta	41	70	71	154	33	76	1	2	146	302
yellow-headed blackbird	Xanthocephalus xanthocephalus	1	8	2	12	0	0	0	0	3	20
Unidentified Birds		8	601	0	0	16	136	14	5,271	38	6,008
unidentified small bird		8	601	0	0	16	136	14	5,271	38	6,008
											25,84
Overall		300	8,371	514	1,044	152	10,897	42	5,537	1,008	9
^a Regardless of distance from											

Appendix A. Summary of the number of observations and groups recorded by species and bird type for fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project^a, April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017.

' Regardless of distance from observer.

Appendix B. Mean Use, Percent of Use, and Frequency of Occurrence for Large Birds and Small Birds Observed during Fixed-Point Surveys at the Triple H Wind Project, April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017

Appendix B1. Mean bird use (number of birds/plot^a/60-min survey), percent of use (%), and frequency of occurrence (%) for each large bird type and species by season during the fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017.

	Mean Use				% of Use				% Frequency				
Type/Species	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	
Waterbirds	0.01	0.03	55.15	0	<0.1	0.6	95.9	0	1.4	2.8	13.9	0	
double-crested cormorant	0	0.01	0	0	0	0.3	0	0	0	1.4	0	0	
great blue heron	0.01	0.01	0.01	0	<0.1	0.3	<0.1	0	1.4	1.4	1.4	0	
sandhill crane	0	0	55.14	0	0	0	95.9	0	0	0	12.5	0	
Waterfowl	102.62	0.83	0.97	0.24	85.2	19.5	1.7	42.6	32.8	26.4	2.8	4.4	
American wigeon	0	0.06	0	0	0	1.3	0	0	0	1.4	0	0	
blue-winged teal	0.07	0.26	0	0	<0.1	6.2	0	0	2.8	11.1	0	0	
Canada goose	16.48	0.03	0.28	0.24	13.7	0.6	0.5	42.6	14.4	1.4	1.4	4.4	
mallard	0.44	0.26	0	0	0.4	6.2	0	0	12.5	8.3	0	0	
northern pintail	0.29	0.06	0	0	0.2	1.3	0	0	13.9	4.2	0	0	
northern shoveler	0.12	0.04	0	0	0.1	1.0	0	0	2.8	2.8	0	0	
snow goose	85.00	0	0.69	0	70.5	0	1.2	0	6.7	0	1.4	0	
unidentified duck	0.21	0.12	0	0	0.2	2.9	0	0	5.6	8.3	0	0	
Shorebirds	1.38	1.04	0.10	0	1.1	24.4	0.2	0	43.1	48.6	4.3	0	
greater yellowlegs	0.03	0	0	0	<0.1	0	0	0	1.4	0	0	0	
killdeer	0.78	0.46	0.10	0	0.6	10.7	0.2	0	40.3	30.6	4.3	0	
marbled godwit	0.08	0.12	0	0	<0.1	2.9	0	0	6.9	9.7	0	0	
unidentified shorebird	0.49	0	0	0	0.4	0	0	0	1.4	0	0	0	
upland sandpiper	0	0.42	0	0	0	9.7	0	0	0	26.4	0	0	
willet	0	0.04	0	0	0	1.0	0	0	0	4.2	0	0	
Gulls/Terns	7.00	0	0.06	0	5.8	0	0.1	0	5.6	0	1.4	0	
black tern	0	0	0.06	0	0	0	0.1	0	0	0	1.4	0	
Franklin's gull	7.00	0	0	0	5.8	0	0	0	5.6	0	0	0	
Diurnal Raptors	0.34	0.25	0.24	0.09	0.3	5.8	0.4	14.8	25.3	20.8	24.1	8.5	
<u>Buteos</u>	0.14	0.08	0.07	0.02	0.1	1.9	0.1	3.2	11.1	6.9	7.2	1.9	
red-tailed hawk	0.10	0.07	0.06	0.02	<0.1	1.6	<0.1	3.2	6.9	5.6	5.7	1.9	
Swainson's hawk	0.03	0.01	0.01	0	<0.1	0.3	<0.1	0	2.8	1.4	1.4	0	
unidentified buteo	0.01	0	0	0	<0.1	0	0	0	1.4	0	0	0	
<u>Northern Harrier</u>	0.12	0.10	0.08	0	<0.1	2.3	0.1	0	11.9	8.3	8.5	0	
northern harrier	0.12	0.10	0.08	0	<0.1	2.3	0.1	0	11.9	8.3	8.5	0	
<u>Eagles</u>	0.04	0	0	0.04	<0.1	0	0	7.7	4.4	0	0	4.4	
bald eagle	0.04	0	0	0.04	<0.1	0	0	7.7	4.4	0	0	4.4	

Appendix B1. Mean bird use (number of birds/plot^a/60-min survey), percent of use (%), and frequency of occurrence (%) for each large bird type and species by season during the fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017.

	Mean Use				% of Use				% Frequency			
Type/Species	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter
Falcons	0	0.01	0.01	0.02	0	0.3	<0.1	3.9	0	1.4	1.4	2.2
American kestrel	0	0	0.01	0.02	0	0	<0.1	3.9	0	0	1.4	2.2
merlin	0	0.01	0	0	0	0.3	0	0	0	1.4	0	0
<u>Other Raptors</u>	0.04	0.06	0.07	0	<0.1	1.3	0.1	0	4.2	5.6	7.0	0
unidentified hawk	0.04	0.04	0.07	0	<0.1	1.0	0.1	0	4.2	4.2	7.0	0
unidentified raptor	0	0.01	0	0	0	0.3	0	0	0	1.4	0	0
Upland Game Birds	0.57	0.76	0.36	0.22	0.5	17.9	0.6	38.7	30.0	41.7	12.7	1.9
gray partridge	0	0	0.01	0	0	0	<0.1	0	0	0	1.4	0
greater prairie-chicken	0.04	0	0	0	<0.1	0	0	0	2.8	0	0	0
ring-necked pheasant	0.53	0.76	0.35	0.22	0.4	17.9	0.6	38.7	30.0	41.7	12.7	1.9
Doves/Pigeons	0.18	1.36	0.52	0	0.1	31.8	0.9	0	11.1	43.1	14.4	0
mourning dove	0.10	1.36	0.25	0	<0.1	31.8	0.4	0	6.9	43.1	13.0	0
rock pigeon	0.08	0	0.27	0	<0.1	0	0.5	0	4.2	0	4.3	0
Large Corvids	8.39	0	0.11	0.02	7.0	0	0.2	3.9	6.9	0	2.8	2.2
American crow	8.39	0	0.11	0.02	7.0	0	0.2	3.9	6.9	0	2.8	2.2
Overall	120.50	4.28	57.52	0.57	100	100	100	100				

^{a.} 800-meter (m) radius plot for large birds

Appendix B2. Mean bird use (number of birds/plot^a/20-min survey), percent of use (%), and frequency of occurrence (%) for each small bird type and species by season during the fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017.

	Mean Use				-	% of L		% Frequency				
Type / Species	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter
Passerines	42.04	9.25	8.60	4.75	74.7	100	96.0	4.6	81.1	93.1	49.5	33.0
American goldfinch	0	0.08	0	0	0	0.9	0	0	0	4.2	0	0
American robin	0.76	0.10	0.14	0	1.4	1.1	1.5	0	9.7	8.3	1.4	0
American tree sparrow	0.38	0	0	0	0.7	0	0	0	8.3	0	0	0
bank swallow	0.07	0.04	0	0	0.1	0.5	0	0	1.4	1.4	0	0
barn swallow	0	0.60	0.54	0	0	6.5	6	0	0	25.0	5.8	0
bobolink	0	0.32	0	0	0	3.5	0	0	0	15.3	0	0
Brewer's blackbird	0.21	0	0	0	0.4	0	0	0	2.8	0	0	0
brown-headed cowbird	1.61	2.06	0.04	0	2.9	22.2	0.5	0	11.1	58.3	2.8	0
brown thrasher	0	0.03	0	0	0	0.3	0	0	0	2.8	0	0
chestnut-collared longspur	0.11	0.12	0	0	0.2	1.4	0	0	4.2	4.2	0	0
common grackle	0.16	1.03	0.22	0	0.3	11.1	2.4	0	10.6	33.3	5.7	0
dark-eyed junco	0.01	0	0	0	<0.1	0	0	0	1.4	0	0	0
dickcissel	0	0.08	0	0	0	0.9	0	0	0	4.2	0	0
eastern kingbird	0	0.31	0	0	0	3.3	0	0	0	19.4	0	0
European starling	0.26	0	2.16	0	0.5	0	24.1	0	9.2	0	2.8	0
grasshopper sparrow	0	0.08	0.01	0	0	0.9	0.2	0	0	6.9	1.4	0
horned lark	25.08	0.25	0.13	2.55	44.6	2.7	1.4	2.5	32.8	11.1	7.1	24.8
house sparrow	0	0.32	0	0.98	0	3.5	0	1.0	0	2.8	0	3.7
lark bunting	0	0.17	0	0	0	1.8	0	0	0	8.3	0	0
northern rough-winged swallow	0	0.07	0	0	0	0.8	0	0	0	4.2	0	0
orchard oriole	0	0.01	0	0	0	0.2	0	0	0	1.4	0	0
red-winged blackbird	2.67	0.69	0	0	4.7	7.5	0	0	22.2	34.7	0	0
Savannah sparrow	0.07	0	0	0	0.1	0	0	0	5.6	0	0	0
Say's phoebe	0.01	0	0	0	<0.1	0	0	0	1.4	0	0	0
snow bunting	8.89	0	2.78	1.17	15.8	0	31.0	1.1	2.2	0	1.4	4.1
song sparrow	0.08	0.03	1.51	0	0.1	0.3	16.9	0	6.9	1.4	4.2	0
tree swallow	0.01	0.06	0	0	<0.1	0.6	0	0	1.4	2.8	0	0
unidentified passerine	0	0.22	0.03	0	0	2.4	0.3	0	0	2.8	1.4	0
unidentified sparrow	0	0.10	0	0	0	1.1	0	0	0	5.6	0	0
western kingbird	0	0.19	0	0	0	2.1	0	0	0	8.3	0	0
western meadowlark	1.54	2.14	1.05	0.04	2.7	23.1	11.7	<0.1	52.2	75.0	28.2	2.2
yellow-headed blackbird	0.11	0.15	0	0	0.2	1.7	0	0	1.4	1.4	0	0

Appendix B2. Mean bird use (number of birds/plot^a/20-min survey), percent of use (%), and frequency of occurrence (%) for each small bird type and species by season during the fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017.

	Mean Use					% of U	se		% Frequency				
Type / Species	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	Spring	Summer	Fall	Winter	
Unidentified Birds	14.21	0	0.36	98.53	25.3	0	4.0	95.4	18.6	0	16.7	20.4	
unidentified small bird	14.21	0	0.36	98.53	25.3	0	4.0	95.4	18.6	0	16.7	20.4	
Overall	56.25	9.25	8.96	103.27	100	100	100	100					

^{a.} 100-meter (m) radius plot for small birds.

Appendix C. Species Exposure Indices for Large Birds and Small Birds during Fixed-Point Surveys at the Triple H Wind Project, April 18 2016 – to March 28, 2017

	# Groups	Overall	%	% Flying within RSH based	Exposure	% Within
Species	Flying	Mean Use	Flying	on initial obs	Index	RSH at anytime
sandhill crane	18	13.90	99.5	24.8	3.43	26.7
Canada goose	13	3.53	97.0	45.0	1.54	45.0
snow goose	6	17.64	100	5.8	1.02	5.8
unidentified shorebird	1	0.10	100	100	0.10	100
unidentified duck	11	0.07	100	50.0	0.04	62.5
red-tailed hawk	10	0.06	70.6	50.0	0.02	66.7
blue-winged teal	9	0.08	83.3	30.0	0.02	30.0
American crow	6	1.76	99.5	0.9	0.02	0.9
northern pintail	13	0.07	84.0	23.8	0.01	33.3
mallard	16	0.16	62.7	9.4	<0.01	34.4
marbled godwit	7	0.05	60.0	22.2	<0.01	22.2
bald eagle	3	0.02	75.0	33.3	<0.01	33.3
unidentified hawk	7	0.04	77.8	14.3	<0.01	14.3
great blue heron	3	0.01	100	33.3	<0.01	33.3
Šwainson's hawk	4	0.01	100	25.0	<0.01	25.0
greater yellowlegs	2	<0.01	100	50.0	<0.01	50.0
Franklin's gull	4	1.44	100	0	0	0
ring-necked pheasant	6	0.45	25.8	0	0	0
mourning dove	28	0.43	37.7	0	0	0
killdeer	16	0.30	41.2	0	0	0
upland sandpiper	1	0.11	13.3	0	0	0
rock pigeon	1	0.09	61.9	0	0	0
northern harrier	20	0.07	100	0	0	4.8
northern shoveler	4	0.04	83.3	0	0	0
black tern	1	0.01	100	0	0	0
American wigeon	0	0.01	0	0	0	0
willet	1	0.01	33.3	0	0	0
American kestrel	1	0.01	50.0	0	0	0
greater prairie-chicken	0	<0.01	0	0	0	0
unidentified raptor	1	<0.01	100	0	0	0
, merlin	1	<0.01	100	0	0	0
gray partridge	1	<0.01	100	0	0	0
double-crested cormorant	1	<0.01	100	0	0	0
unidentified buteo	0	<0.01	0	0	0	0

Appendix C1. Relative exposure index and flight characteristics by large bird species during the 60-minute fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.

RSH: The likely "rotor swept heights" for potential collision with a turbine blade, or 25-150 m (82-492 ft) above ground level (AGL).

	# Groups	Overall	%	% Flying within RSH	Exposure	% Within
Species	Flying	Mean Use	Flying	based on initial obs	Index	RSH at anytime
brown-headed cowbird	40	0.86	80.5	27.9	0.19	27.9
yellow-headed blackbird	2	0.06	100	57.9	0.04	57.9
bank swallow	2	0.02	100	62.5	0.02	62.5
horned lark	24	5.99	92.4	<0.1	<0.01	<0.1
unidentified bird (small)	19	31.62	99.5	0	0	0
snow bunting	4	2.87	100	0	0	0
western meadowlark	19	1.13	15.7	0	0	0
red-winged blackbird	27	0.72	78.1	0	0	45.0
European starling	1	0.60	0.60	0	0	0
song sparrow	0	0.41	0	0	0	0
house sparrow	0	0.37	0	0	0	0
common grackle	39	0.35	86.0	0	0	0
barn swallow	21	0.29	62.5	0	0	0
American robin	6	0.22	71.1	0	0	0
bobolink	5	0.08	47.8	0	0	0
American tree sparrow	1	0.08	66.7	0	0	0
eastern kingbird	5	0.08	36.4	0	0	0
unidentified passerine	3	0.06	100	0	0	0
chestnut-collared longspur	4	0.05	47.1	0	0	0
western kingbird	2	0.05	28.6	0	0	0
Brewer's blackbird	1	0.04	93.3	0	0	0
lark bunting	1	0.04	8.3	0	0	0
unidentified sparrow	1	0.02	14.3	0	0	0
grasshopper sparrow	0	0.02	0	0	0	0
dickcissel	0	0.02	0	0	0	0
American goldfinch	3	0.02	100	0	0	0
northern rough-winged swallow	3	0.02	100	0	0	0
tree swallow	1	0.02	60.0	0	0	0
Savannah sparrow	1	0.01	40.0	0	0	0
brown thrasher	1	<0.01	50.0	0	0	0
orchard oriole	0	<0.01	0	0	0	0
Say's phoebe	0	<0.01	0	0	0	0
dark-eyed junco	0	<0.01	0	0	0	0
brown-headed cowbird	40	0.86	80.5	27.9	0.19	27.9

Appendix C2. Relative exposure index and flight characteristics for small birds during the 20-minute fixed-point avian use surveys at the Triple H Wind Project from April 18, 2016 to March 28, 2017.

RSH: The likely "rotor swept heights" for potential collision with a turbine blade, or 25-150 m (82-492 ft) above ground level (AGL).

Appendix D. Mean Use by Point for All Birds, Major Bird Types, and Diurnal Raptor Subtypes during Fixed-Point Surveys at the Triple H Wind Project, April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017

	Observation Point												
Bird Type	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	8	9	10	11	12	
Waterbirds	0	0.83	0	15.00	14.73	29.17	0	0	0	0	0.91	0	
Waterfowl	1.55	259.25	1.45	1.25	1.00.	50.33	0.29	1.00	1.45	0.12	14.45	0.71	
Shorebirds	0.82	0.83	0.18	0.62	3.82	0.92	0.14	0.50	0.18	0.25	0.18	0.29	
Gulls/Terns	0	2	0	0	0	25.00	12.14	0	0	0	0	0	
Diurnal Raptors	0.27	0.17	0.18	0.25	0.09	0.08	0.57	0.25	0.09	0.88	0	0.43	
<u>Buteos</u>	0	0	0.09	0	0.09	0	0.29	0.17	0.09	0.38	0	0.14	
<u>Northern Harrier</u>	0.09	0.08	0.09	0.25	0	0	0.29	0.08	0	0.50	0	0.14	
<u>Eagles</u>	0.09	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
<u>Falcons</u>	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
<u>Other Raptors</u>	0.09	0.08	0	0	0	0.08	0	0	0	0	0	0.14	
Upland Game Birds	0.27	0.25	0.27	1.00	0.82	0.17	0.57	0.08	0.09	0.25	0	0.29	
Doves/Pigeons	0.55	0.75	0.45	0.50	0.09	0.25	1.00	0	0.09	0	0.27	0	
Large Corvids	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.43	0	0	0	0	0.14	
All Large Birds	3.45	264.08	2.55	18.62	20.55	105.92	15.14	1.83	1.91	1.50	15.82	1.86	
Passerines	19.36	10.75	92.64	9.62	5.64	4.33	13.43	2.17	3.00	2.25	4.55	2.57	
Unidentified Small Birds	0.09	0.25	18.36	2.75	1.64	443.00	0.14	0.25	1.00	0.12	0	0	
All Small Birds	19.45	11.00	111.00	12.38	7.27	447.33	13.57	2.42	4.00	2.38	4.55	2.57	

Appendix D. Mean use (number of birds/plot^a/ survey^b) by observation point for all birds, major bird types, and diurnal raptor subtypes observed at the Triple H Wind Project during fixed-point avian use surveys from April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017.

^{a.} 800-meter (m) radius plot for large birds, 100-m for small birds. ^b 60-minute (min) survey period for large birds, 20-min survey period for small birds.

Appendix D (*continued*). Mean use (number of birds/plot^a/ survey^b) by observation point for all birds, major bird types, and diurnal raptor subtypes observed at the Triple H Wind Project during fixed-point avian use surveys from April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017.

	Observation Point												
Bird Type	13	14	15	16	17	18	19	20	21	22	23	24	
Waterbirds	11.43	0	349.43	0	30.00	0	0	0	66.43	0	0.09	0	
Waterfowl	0.43	0.14	0.43	0.33	48.27	0.17	1.71	3.83	0.43	0.25	20.09	0	
Shorebirds	0.29	0.14	0.86	0.67	1.09	0.50	0.43	0.17	0.71	0.08	0.91	0.25	
Gulls/Terns	0	0	0.57	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	8.64	0	
Diurnal Raptors	0.29	0.14	0.71	0.50	0.55	0.25	0.29	0	0	0.08	0.18	0.25	
<u>Buteos</u>	0.14	0	0.14	0.42	0.36	0	0	0	0	0	0	0	
<u>Northern Harrier</u>	0	0.14	0.14	0	0	0.17	0.29	0	0	0.08	0	0.08	
<u>Eagles</u>	0	0	0	0.08	0	0.08	0	0	0	0	0	0.08	
<u>Falcons</u>	0	0	0.14	0	0.09	0	0	0	0	0	0	0.08	
<u>Other Raptors</u>	0.14	0	0.29	0	0.09	0	0	0	0	0	0.18	0	
Upland Game Birds	0.43	0	0.57	0	0.45	1.67	0.57	0.17	1.00	0.67	2.91	0.08	
Doves/Pigeons	0.29	0	1.29	1.00	0.91	0.83	0	0.17	1.57	0.75	2.09	1.33	
Large Corvids	0	0	0	0.67	0	16.75	0	0	0	0	0	0	
All Large Birds	13.14	0.43	353.86	3.17	81.27	20.17	3.00	4.33	70.14	1.83	34.91	1.92	
Passerines	3.71	4.43	31.43	3.00	39.73	16.42	9.71	3.25	6.43	7.42	47.09	2.75	
Unidentified Small Birds	0	0.43	0.43	0	0	2.83	0.29	0	0	0.08	25.18	0	
All Small Bird	3.71	4.86	31.86	3.00	39.73	19.25	10.00	3.25	6.43	7.50	72.27	2.75	

^{a.} 800-meter (m) radius plot for large birds, 100-m for small birds.

^b 60-minute (min) survey period for large birds, 20-min survey period for small birds.

Appendix E. North American Fatality Summary Tables

	Fatality	No. of	Total
wind Energy Facility	Estimate [*]	Iurpines	IVI VV
Mic Mic Mic Carrieres CD (2000)	lwest	0.4	F 4
Wessington Springs, SD (2009)	8.25	34	51
Blue Sky Green Fleid, WI (2008; 2009)	7.17	88	145
Cedar Ridge, WI (2009)	6.55	41	67.6
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)	5.93	138	103.5
Moraine II, MN (2009)	5.59	33	49.5
Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)	5.5	80	160
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (2009-2010)	5.06	24	50.4
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1996)	4.14	73	25
Winnebago, IA (2009-2010)	3.88	10	20
Rugby, ND (2010-2011)	3.82	71	149
Cedar Ridge, WI (2010)	3.72	41	68
Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)	3.64	62	148.8
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)	3.57	143	107.25
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1998)	3.14	73	25
Ripley, Ont (2008)	3.09	38	76
Fowler I, IN (2009)	2.83	162	301
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1997)	2.51	73	25
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)	2.47	143	107.25
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2012-2013)	2.01	108	162
Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)	1.99	105	210
Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001)	1.95	31	20.46
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2013-2014)	1.66	108	162
NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006)	1.63	36	20.5
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2011)	1.56	80	115.5
Elm Creek, MN (2009-2010)	1.55	67	100
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)	1.48	80	115.5
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I: 1999)	1.43	73	25
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2011-2012)	1.41	108	162
		68 (phase I)	102 (phase I)
Top Crop I & II (2012-2013)	1 35	132 (phase (II)	198 (phase II)
Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2014)	1.3	14	28
Wessington Springs SD (2010)	0.89	34	51
Rail Splitter II. (2012-2013)	0.84	67	100 5
Top of lowa IA (2004)	0.04	80	80
Big Blue, MN (2013)	0.01	18	36
$\begin{array}{c} \text{Dig Dide, Will (2013)} \\ \text{Grand Pidge L II. (2000, 2010)} \end{array}$	0.0	66	00
$\frac{1}{2002}$	0.40	00	99
1000000000000000000000000000000000000	0.42	09	00
Big Blue, Min (2014) Dispace Drainia II. 14 (2014, 2012)	0.37	61	30
Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012)	0.27	02	102.3
Rocky II		60	44 4
Foote Greek Rim, WY (Phase I; 1999)	3.4	09	41.4
FOOLE GREEK RIM, WY (Phase I; 2000)	2.42	69	41.4
FOOTE CREEK RIM, WY (Phase I; 2001-2002)	1.93	69	41.4
Summerview, Alb (2005-2006)	1.06	39	/0.2
Milford I & II, UT (2011-2012)	0.73	107	160.5 (58.5 I, 102 II)

	Fatality	No. of	Total
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Turbines	MW
Pacifi	c Northwest		
Windy Flats, WA (2010-2011)	8.45	114	262.2
Leaning Juniper, OR (2006-2008)	6.66	67	100.5
Linden Ranch, WA (2010-2011)	6.65	25	50
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2009-2010)	5.53	65	150
White Creek, WA (2007-2011)	4.05	89	204.7
Tuolumne (Windy Point I), WA (2009-2010)	3.2	62	136.6
Stateline, OR/WA (2001-2002)	3.17	454	299
Klondike II, OR (2005-2006)	3.14	50	75
Klondike III (Phase I), OR (2007-2009)	3.02	125	223.6
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2008)	2.99	87	156.6
Harvest Wind, WA (2010-2012)	2.94	43	98.9
Nine Canyon, WA (2002-2003)	2.76	37	48.1
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2010-2011)	2.68	65	150
Stateline, OR/WA (2003)	2.68	454	299
Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR (2008-2010)	2.61	51	76.5
Combine Hills, OR (Phase I; 2004-2005)	2.56	41	41
Big Horn, WA (2006-2007)	2.54	133	199.5
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2009)	2.47	76	125.4
Combine Hills, OR (2011)	2.33	104	104
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III; 2010-2011)	2.28	76	174.8
Hay Canyon, OR (2009-2010)	2.21	48	100.8
Elkhorn, OR (2010)	1.95	61	101
Pebble Springs, OR (2009-2010)	1.93	47	98.7
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2008)	1.76	76	125.4
Wild Horse, WA (2007)	1.55	127	229
Goodnoe, WA (2009-2010)	1.4	47	94
Vantage, WA (2010-2011)	1.27	60	90
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2006)	1.23	83	150
Stateline, OR/WA (2006)	1.23	454	299
Kittitas Valley, WA (2011-2012)	1.06	48	100.8
Klondike, OR (2002-2003)	0.95	16	24
Vansycle, OR (1999)	0.95	38	24.9
Palouse Wind, WA (2012-2013)	0.72	58	104.4
Elkhorn, OR (2008)	0.64	61	101
Marengo I, WA (2009-2010)	0.27	78	140.4
Marengo II, WA (2009-2010)	0.16	39	70.2
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2009)	2.47	76	125.4
Combine Hills, OR (2011)	2.33	104	104
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III; 2010-2011)	2.28	76	174.8
Hay Canyon, OR (2009-2010)	2.21	48	100.8
Elkhorn, OR (2010)	1.95	61	101
Pebble Springs, OR (2009-2010)	1.93	47	98.7
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2008)	1.76	76	125.4
Wild Horse, WA (2007)	1.55	127	229
Goodnoe, WA (2009-2010)	1.4	47	94
Vantage, WA (2010-2011)	1.27	60	90
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2006)	1.23	83	150
Stateline, OR/WA (2006)	1.23	454	299
Kittitas Valley, WA (2011-2012)	1.06	48	100.8
Klondike, OR (2002-2003)	0.95	16	24
Vansycle, OR (1999)	0.95	38	24.9

	Fatality	No of	Total			
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Turbines	MW			
Palouse Wind, WA (2012-2013)	0.72	58	104.4			
Elkhorn, OR (2008)	0.64	61	101			
Marengo I, WA (2009-2010)	0.27	78	140.4			
Marengo II, WA (2009-2010)	0.16	39	70.2			
Californ	ia					
Pine Tree, CA (2009-2010, 2011)	17.44	90	135			
Montezuma I, CA (2012)	8.91	16	36.8			
$\Delta t_{2} = L_{1} (2013 - 2014)$	7.8	290	720 (150 GE,			
$A(a \vdash v, OA(2010 - 2014))$	7.0	200	570 vestas)			
Alta I, CA (2011-2012)	7.07	100	150			
Shiloh I, CA (2006-2009)	6.96	100	150			
Montezuma I, CA (2011)	5.19	16	36.8			
Dillon, CA (2008-2009)	4.71	45	45			
Diablo Winds, CA (2005-2007)	4.29	31	20.46			
Shiloh III, CA (2012-2013)	3.3	50	102.5			
Shiloh II, CA (2010-2011)	2.8	75	150			
Shiloh II, CA (2009-2010)	1.9	75	150			
Mustang Hills, CA (2012-2013)	1.66	50	150			
Alta II-V, CA (2011-2012)	1.66	190	570			
High Winds, CA (2003-2004)	1.62	90	162			
Solano III. CA (2012-2013)	1.6	55	128			
Pinvon Pines I & II. CA (2013-2014)	1.18	100	NA			
High Winds CA (2004-2005)	11	90	162			
Montezuma II. CA (2012-2013)	1.08	34	78.2			
Alta VIII CA (2012-2013)	0.66	50	150			
Alite CA (2009-2010)	0.00	8	24			
Pine Tree CA (2009-2010, 2011)	17 44	90	135			
Montezuma L CA (2003-2010, 2011)	8 Q1	16	36.8			
	0.91	10	720 (150 CE			
Alta I-V, CA (2013-2014)	7.8	290	570 Vestas)			
Alta I, CA (2011-2012)	7.07	100	150			
Shiloh I, CA (2006-2009)	6.96	100	150			
Montezuma I. CA (2011)	5.19	16	36.8			
Alta VIII. CA (2012-2013)	0.66	50	150			
Alite, CA (2009-2010)	0.55	8	24			
Southwest						
Drv Lake I. AZ (2009-2010)	2.02	30	63			
Dry Lake II. AZ (2011-2012)	1.57	31	65			
Southern Plains						
Buffalo Gap I. TX (2006)	1.32	67	134			
Barton Chapel, TX (2009-2010)	1.15	60	120			
Buffalo Gap II TX (2007-2008)	0 15	155	233			
Big Smile OK (2012-2013)	0.09	66	132			
Red Hills OK (2012-2013)	0.08	82	123			
Southoa	<u>st</u>	52	120			
Buffalo Mountain, TNI (2000-2003)	11 02	З	1 98			
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2005)	1 1	18	28 98			
Northoast						
Stetson Mountain L ME (2013)	6 05	28	57			
Criterion MD (2011)	6.35	28	70			
Mount Storm WV/ (2011)	0.4 1 01	∠0 120	10			
	4.24	132	204			

	Fatality	No. of	Total
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Turbines	MW
Pinnacle, WV (2012)	3.99	23	55.2
Mount Storm, WV (2009)	3.85	132	264
Record Hill, ME (2012)	3.7	22	50.6
Criterion, MD (2013)	3.49	28	70
Lempster, NH (2009)	3.38	12	24
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2012)	3.37	17	25.5
Rollins, ME (2012)	2.9	40	60
Casselman, PA (2009)	2.88	23	34.5
Mountaineer, WV (2003)	2.69	44	66
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2009)	2.68	38	57
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2009)	2.66	54	80
Lempster, NH (2010)	2.64	12	24
Mount Storm, WV (2010)	2.6	132	264
Maple Ridge, NY (2007)	2.34	195	321.75
Noble Bliss, NY (2009)	2.28	67	100
Criterion, MD (2012)	2.14	28	70
Maple Ridge, NY (2007-2008)	2.07	195	321.75
Record Hill, ME (2014)	1.84	22	50.6
Noble Altona, NY (2010)	1.84	65	97.5
High Sheldon, NY (2010)	1.76	75	112.5
Mars Hill, ME (2008)	1.76	28	42
Noble Wethersfield, NY (2010)	1.7	84	126
Mars Hill, ME (2007)	1.67	28	42
Noble Chateaugay, NY (2010)	1.66	71	106.5
Noble Clinton, NY (2008)	1.59	67	100
High Sheldon, NY (2011)	1.57	75	112.5
Casselman, PA (2008)	1.51	23	34.5
Beech Ridge, WV (2013)	1.48	67	100.5
Munnsville, NY (2008)	1.48	23	34.5
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2010)	1.42	17	25.5
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2009)	1.39	50	125
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (2010)	1.32	50	125
Noble Bliss, NY (2008)	1.3	67	100
Beech Ridge, WV (2012)	1.19	67	100.5
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2011)	1.18	38	57
Noble Clinton, NY (2009)	1.11	67	100
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2009)	0.84	51	102
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2008)	0.83	54	80
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2010)	0.76	51	102

A=number of bird fatalities/MW/year
Appendix E1 (*continued*). Wind energy facilities in North America with publicly-available and comparable fatality data for all bird species. Data from the following sources:

Wind Energy Facility	Fatality Estimate	Wind Energy Facility	Fatality Estimate
Alite, CA (2009-2010)	Chatfield et al. 2010b	Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2009)	Arnett et al. 2011
Alta I, CA (2011-2012)	Chatfield et al. 2012	Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2010)	Arnett et al. 2011
Alta II-V, CA (2011-2012)	Chatfield et al. 2014	Maple Ridge, NY (2007)	Jain et al. 2009a
Alta I-V, CA (2013-2014)	Chatfield et al. 2012 Chatfield and Bay 2014	Maple Ridge, NY (2007-2008) Marango L WA (2009-2010)	Jain et al. 2009d
Barton Chapel TX (2009-2010)	WEST 2011	Marengo II WA (2009-2010)	URS Corporation 2010c
Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)	Derby et al. 2011a	Mars Hill, ME (2007)	Stantec 2008
Beech Ridge, WV (2012)	Tidhar et al. 2013	Mars Hill, ME (2008)	Stantec 2009a
Beech Ridge, WV (2013)	Young et al. 2014b	Milford I & II, UT (2011-2012)	Stantec 2012
Big Blue, MN (2013) Big Blue, MN (2014)	Fagen Engineering 2014	Milford I, UT (2010-2011)	Stantec 2011b
Big Horn WA (2006-2007)	Kronner et al. 2008	Montezuma I, CA (2011)	ICF International 2013
Big Smile, OK (2012-2013)	Derby et al. 2013b	Montezuma II, CA (2012-2013)	Harvey & Associates 2013
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2008)	Jeffrey et al. 2009a	Moraine II, MN (2009)	Derby et al. 2010d
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2009)	Enk et al. 2010	Mount Storm, WV (2009)	Young et al. 2009a, 2010b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2009- 2010)	Enk et al. 2011a	Mount Storm, WV (2010)	Young et al. 2010a, 2011b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2010-	Enk et al. 2012b	Mount Storm WV (2011)	Vound et al. 2011a, 2012b
2011) Distance OD (Dhasa III) 2010	Link et al. 2012D		
2011)	Enk et al. 2012a	Mountaineer, WV (2003)	Kerns and Kerlinger 2004
Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008; 2009)	Gruver et al. 2009	Munnsville, NY (2008)	Stantec 2009b
Buffalo Gap II, TX (2006) Buffalo Gap II, TX (2007-2008)	Tierney 2007	Nine Canyon WA $(2002-2003)$	Frickson et al. 2003c
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2000-2003)	Nicholson et al. 2005	Noble Altona, NY (2010)	Jain et al. 2011b
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2005)	Fiedler et al. 2007	Noble Bliss, NY (2008)	Jain et al. 2009e
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (2009-2010)	Derby et al. 2010b	Noble Bliss, NY (2009)	Jain et al. 2010a
Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)	Derby et al. 2012a	Noble Chateaugay, NY (2010)	Jain et al. 2011c
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1996) Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1997)	Johnson et al. 2000b	Noble Clinton, NY (2008) Noble Clinton, NY (2009)	Jain et al. 2009c
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I: 1998)	Johnson et al. 2000b	Noble Ellenburg, NY (2008)	Jain et al. 2009b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1999)	Johnson et al. 2000b	Noble Ellenburg, NY (2009)	Jain et al. 2010c
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)	Johnson et al. 2000b	Noble Wethersfield, NY (2010)	Jain et al. 2011a
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)	Johnson et al. 2000b	NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006)	Derby et al. 2007
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)	Johnson et al. 2000	Palouse Wind, WA (2012-2013) Pebble Springs OR (2009-2010)	Stantec 2013a Gritski and Kronner 2010b
Casselman, PA (2009)	Arnett et al. 2000	Pine Tree CA (2009-2010, 2011)	BioResource Consultants
Cedar Ridge WI (2009)	BHE Environmental 2010	Pinnacle WV (2012)	2012 Hein et al. 2013
Cedar Ridge, WI (2003)	BHE Environmental 2011	Pinvon Pines & II. CA (2013-2014)	Chatfield and Russo 2014
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2009)	Stantec 2010	Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012)	Chodachek et al. 2012
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (2010)	Stantec 2011a	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)	Derby et al. 2011c
Combine Hills, OR (2011)	Young et al. 2006a	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2011)	Derby et al. 2012c
Combine Hills, OR (Phase I; 2004-2005)	Enz et al. 2012 Young et al. 2012a	PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2011-2012) PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2012-2013)	Derby et al. 2012d
Criterion MD (2012)	Young et al. 2012a	PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2012-2013) PrairieWinds SD1 SD (2013-2014)	Derby et al. 2013a Derby et al. 2014
Criterion, MD (2013)	Young et al. 2014a	Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013)	Good et al. 2013b
Diablo Winds, CA (2005-2007)	WEST 2006, 2008	Record Hill, ME (2012)	Stantec 2013b
Dillon, CA (2008-2009)	Chatfield et al. 2009	Record Hill, ME (2014)	Stantec 2015
Dry Lake I, AZ (2009-2010)	Thompson et al. 2011	Red Hills, OK (2012-2013)	Derby et al. 2013c
Elkhorn, OR (2008)	Jeffrev et al. 2009b	Rollins, ME (2012)	Stantec 2013c
Elkhorn, OR (2010)	Enk et al. 2011b	Rugby, ND (2010-2011)	Derby et al. 2011b
Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)	Derby et al. 2010c	Shiloh I, CA (2006-2009)	Kerlinger et al. 2009
Elm Creek, MN (2009-2010)	Derby et al. 2012b	Shiloh II, CA (2009-2010)	Kerlinger et al. 2010
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 1999)	Young et al. 2003c	Shiloh II, CA (2010-2011) Shiloh III, CA (2012-2013)	Kerlinger et al. 2013a
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 2000)	Young et al. 2003c		
2002)	Young et al. 2003c	Solano III, CA (2012-2013)	AECOM 2013
Fowler I, IN (2009)	Johnson et al. 2010	Stateline, OR/WA (2001-2002)	Erickson et al. 2004
Grand Ridge I. IL (2009-2010)	Derby et al. 2010g	Stateline, OR/WA (2003) Stateline, OR/WA (2006)	Erickson et al. 2004
Harvest Wind, WA (2010-2012)	Downes and Gritski	Stetson Mountain I, ME (2009)	Stantec 2009c
Hay Canyon, OR (2009-2010)	Gritski and Kronner 2010a	Stetson Mountain I. ME (2011)	Normandeau Associates 2011
Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2014)	Kerlinger et al. 2014	Stetson Mountain I, ME (2013)	Stantec 2014
High Sheldon, NY (2010)	Tidhar et al. 2012a	Stetson Mountain II, ME (2010)	Normandeau Associates 2010
High Sheldon, NY (2011)	Tidhar et al. 2012b	Stetson Mountain II, ME (2012)	Stantec 2013d
High Winds, CA (2003-2004) High Winds, CA (2004-2005)	Kerlinger et al. 2006	Summerview, Alb (2005-2006)	Brown and Hamilton 2006
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2006)	Young et al. 2007a	Top of Iowa, IA (2003)	Jain 2005
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2008)	Young et al. 2009b	Top of Iowa, IA (2004)	Jain 2005

Appendix E1 (*continued*). Wind energy facilities in North America with publicly-available and comparable fatality data for all bird species. Data from the following sources:

Wind Energy Facility	Fatality Estimate	Wind Energy Facility	Fatality Estimate
Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001)	Howe et al. 2002	Tuolumne (Windy Point I), WA (2009- 2010)	Enz and Bay 2010
Kittitas Valley, WA (2011-2012)	Stantec 2012	Vansycle, OR (1999)	Erickson et al. 2000
Klondike II, OR (2005-2006)	NWC and WEST 2007	Vantage, WA (2010-2011)	Ventus 2012
Klondike III (Phase I), OR (2007-2009)	Gritski et al. 2010	Wessington Springs, SD (2009)	Derby et al. 2010f
Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR (2008-2010)	Gritski et al. 2011	Wessington Springs, SD (2010)	Derby et al. 2011d
Klondike, OR (2002-2003)	Johnson et al. 2003	White Creek, WA (2007-2011)	Downes and Gritski 2012b
Leaning Juniper, OR (2006-2008)	Gritski et al. 2008	Wild Horse, WA (2007)	Erickson et al. 2008
Lempster, NH (2009)	Tidhar et al. 2010	Windy Flats, WA (2010-2011)	Enz et al. 2011
Lempster, NH (2010)	Tidhar et al. 2011	Winnebago, IA (2009-2010)	Derby et al. 2010e
Linden Ranch, WA (2010-2011)	Enz and Bay 2011		

	<u> </u>	Raptor		
	Use	Fatality	No. of	Total
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Estimate	Turbines	MW
Triple H, SD (2016-2017)	0.12			
	Midwest	0.47	70	05
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1999)	NA	0.47	73	25
Moraine II, MN (2009)	NA	0.37	33	49.5
Winnebago, IA (2009-2010)	NA	0.27	10	20
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (2009-2010)	NA	0.2	24	50.4
Cedar Ridge, WI (2009)	NA	0.18	41	67.6
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2013-2014)	NA	0.17	108	162
Top of Iowa, IA (2004)	NA	0.17	89	80
Cedar Ridge, WI (2010)	NA	0.13	41	68
Ripley, Ont (2008)	NA	0.1	38	76
Wessington Springs, SD (2010)	0.232	0.07	34	51
Rugby, ND (2010-2011)	NA	0.06	71	149
NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006)	NA	0.06	36	20.5
Wessington Springs, SD (2009)	0.232	0.06	34	51
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2011)	NA	0.05	80	115.5
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)	NA	0.05	80	115.5
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2012-2013)	NA	0.03	108	162
Elm Creek, MN (2009-2010)	NA	0	67	100
Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013)	NA	0	67	100.5
Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012)	NA	0	62	102.3
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)	NA	0	138	103.5
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)	NA	0	143	107.25
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)	NA	0	143	107.25
Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008; 2009)	NA	0	88	145
Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)	NA	0	62	148.8
Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)	NA	0	80	160
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2011-2012)	NA	0	108	162
Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001)	NA	0	31	20.46
Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)	NA	0	105	210
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1996)	NA	0	73	25
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1997)	NA	0	73	25
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1998)	NA	0	73	25
Fowler I, IN (2009)	NA	0	162	301
Big Blue, MN (2013)	NA	0	18	36
Big Blue, MN (2014)	NA	0	18	36
Top of Iowa, IA (2003)	NA	0	89	80
Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)	0.195	0	66	99
Ro	ocky Mounta	ins		
Summerview, Alb (2005-2006)	NA	0.11	39	70.2
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 1999)	0.554	0.08	69	41.4
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 2000)	0.554	0.05	69	41.4
				160.5 (58.5 I, 102
Milford I & II. UT (2011-2012)	NA	0.04	107	ÌI) Í
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 2001-2002)	0.554	0	69	41.4
Pa	cific Northw	vest		
White Creek, WA (2007-2011)	NA	0.47	89	204.7
Tuolumne (Windy Point I), WÁ (2009-2010)	0.77	0.29	62	136.6
Vantage, WA (2010-2011)	NA	0.29	60	90
Linden Ranch, WA (2010-2011)	NA	0.27	25	50

Appendix E2. Wind energy facilities in North America with publicly-available and comparable use and fatality data for raptors, by geographic region.

	<u> </u>	Raptor		
	Use	Fatality	No. of	Total
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Estimate ^B	Turbines	MW
Harvest Wind, WA (2010-2012)	NA	0.23	43	98.9
Goodnoe, WA (2009-2010)	NA	0.17	47	94
Leaning Juniper, OR (2006-2008)	0.522	0.16	67	100.5
Klondike III (Phase I), OR (2007-2009)	NA	0.15	125	223.6
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2006)	0.698	0.14	83	150
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2009-2010)	0.318	0.14	65	150
Big Horn, WA (2006-2007)	0.511	0.11	133	199.5
Stateline, OR/WA (2006)	0.478	0.11	454	299
Kittitas Valley, WA (2011-2012)	NA	0.09	48	100.8
Wild Horse, WA (2007)	0.291	0.09	127	229
Stateline, OR/WA (2001-2002)	0.478	0.09	454	299
Stateline, OR/WA (2003)	0.478	0.09	454	299
Elkhorn, OR (2010)	1.07	0.08	61	101
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2008)	0.698	0.07	87	156.6
Elkhorn, OR (2008)	1.07	0.06	61	101
Klondike II, OR (2005-2006)	0.504	0.06	50	75
Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR (2008-2010)	NA	0.06	51	76.5
Combine Hills, OR (2011)	0.746	0.05	104	104
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III; 2010-2011)	0.318	0.05	76	174.8
Marengo II, WA (2009-2010)	NA	0.05	39	70.2
Windy Flats, WA (2010-2011)	NA	0.04	114	262.2
Pebble Springs, OR (2009-2010)	NA	0.04	47	98.7
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2008)	0.318	0.03	76	125.4
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2010-2011)	0.318	0.03	65	150
Nine Canyon, WA (2002-2003)	0.35	0.03	37	48.1
Hay Canyon, OR (2009-2010)	NA	0	48	100.8
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2009)	0.318	0	76	125.4
Marengo I, WA (2009-2010)	NA	0	78	140.4
Klondike, OR (2002-2003)	0.504	0	16	24
Vansycle, OR (1999)	0.66	0	38	24.9
Combine Hills, OR (Phase I; 2004-2005)	0.746	0	41	41
· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	California			
Montezuma I, CA (2011)	NA	1.06	16	36.8
Solano III, CA (2012-2013)	NA	0.95	55	128
Montezuma I, ČA (2012)	NA	0.79	16	36.8
High Winds, CA (2003-2004)	2.337	0.5	90	162
Montezuma II, CA (2012-2013)	NA	0.46	34	78.2
Shiloh II, CA (2010-2011)	NA	0.44	75	150
Shiloh I, CA (2006-2009)	NA	0.42	100	150
Diablo Winds, CA (2005-2007)	2.161	0.4	31	20.46
High Winds, CA (2004-2005)	2.337	0.28	90	162
Alta I, CA (2011-2012)	0.19	0.27	100	150
Alite, CA (2009-2010)	NA	0.12	8	24
Shiloh II, ČA (2009-2010)	NA	0.11	75	150
Mustang Hills, CA (2012-2013)	NA	0.08	50	150
				720 (150 GE, 570
Alta I-V, CA (2013-2014)	NA	0.08	290	vestas)
Alta II-V, CA (2011-2012)	0.04	0.05	190	570 [′]
Alta VIII, CA (2012-2013)	NA	0.02	50	150
Dillon, CA (2008-2009)	NA	0	45	45

Appendix E2. Wind energy facilities in North America with publicly-available and comparable use and fatality data for raptors, by geographic region.

	<u>9009: aprilo : 09:</u>	Raptor	-	
	Use	Fatality	No of	Total
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Estimate ^B	Turbines	MW
	Southwest			
Dry Lake I, AZ (2009-2010)	0.13	0	30	63
Dry Lake II, AZ (2011-2012)	NA	0	31	65
	Southern Plai	ns		
Barton Chapel, TX (2009-2010)	NA	0.25	60	120
Buffalo Gap I, TX (2006)	NA	0.1	67	134
Red Hills, OK (2012-2013)	NA	0.04	82	123
Big Smile, OK (2012-2013)	NA	0	66	132
Buffalo Gap II, TX (2007-2008)	NA	0	155	233
	Southeast			
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2000-2003)	NA	0	3	1.98
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2005)	NA	0	18	28.98
	Northeast			
Munnsville, NY (2008)	NA	0.59	23	34.5
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2009)	NA	0.25	54	80
Noble Clinton, NY (2009)	NA	0.16	67	100
Noble Wethersfield, NY (2010)	NA	0.13	84	126
Noble Bliss, NY (2009)	NA	0.12	67	100
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2008)	NA	0.11	54	80
Noble Bliss, NY (2008)	NA	0.1	67	100
Noble Clinton, NY (2008)	NA	0.1	67	100
Mount Storm, WV (2010)	NA	0.1	132	264
Noble Chateaugay, NY (2010)	NA	0.08	71	106.5
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (2010)	NA	0.08	50	125
Mountaineer, WV (2003)	NA	0.07	44	66
High Sheldon, NY (2010)	NA	0.06	75	112.5
Mount Storm, WV (2011)	NA	0.03	132	264
Maple Ridge, NY (2007-2008)	NA	0.03	195	321.75
Criterion, MD (2011)	NA	0.02	28	70
Beech Ridge, WV (2012)	NA	0.01	67	100.5
Beech Ridge, WV (2013)	NA	0.01	67	100.5
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2009)	NA	0	51	102
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2010)	NA	0	51	102
High Sheldon, NY (2011)	NA	0	75	112.5
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2009)	NA	0	50	125
Lempster, NH (2009)	NA	0	12	24
Lempster, NH (2010)	NA	0	12	24
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2010)	NA	0	17	25.5
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2012)	NA	0	1/	25.5
Mount Storm, WV (2009)	NA	0	132	264
Casselman, PA (2009)	NA	0	23	34.5
Casselman, PA (2008)	NA	0	23	34.5
Mars Hill, ME (2007)	NA	0	28	42
Mars Hill, ME (2008)	NA	U	28	42
Pinnacie, VVV (2012)	NA	U	23	55.2
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2011)	NA	U	38	5/
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2009)	NA	U	38	5/
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2013)	NA	U	38	5/
NODIE Altona, NY (2010)	NA	0	65	97.5
Nunnsville, NY (2008)	NA	0.59	23	34.5
NODIE Ellendurg, NY (2009)	NA	0.25	54	80

Appendix E2. Wind energy facilities in North America with publicly-available and comparable use and fatality data for raptors, by geographic region.

	<u> </u>	Raptor		
	Use	Fatality	No. of	Total
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Estimate ^B	Turbines	MW
Noble Clinton, NY (2009)	NA	0.16	67	100
Noble Wethersfield, NY (2010)	NA	0.13	84	126
Noble Bliss, NY (2009)	NA	0.12	67	100
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2008)	NA	0.11	54	80
Noble Bliss, NY (2008)	NA	0.1	67	100
Noble Clinton, NY (2008)	NA	0.1	67	100
Mount Storm, WV (2010)	NA	0.1	132	264
Noble Chateaugay, NY (2010)	NA	0.08	71	106.5
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (2010)	NA	0.08	50	125
Mountaineer, WV (2003)	NA	0.07	44	66
High Sheldon, NY (2010)	NA	0.06	75	112.5
Mount Storm, WV (2011)	NA	0.03	132	264
Maple Ridge, NY (2007-2008)	NA	0.03	195	321.75
Criterion, MD (2011)	NA	0.02	28	70
Beech Ridge, WV (2012)	NA	0.01	67	100.5
Beech Ridge, WV (2013)	NA	0.01	67	100.5
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2009)	NA	0	51	102
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2010)	NA	0	51	102
High Sheldon, NY (2011)	NA	0	75	112.5
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2009)	NA	0	50	125
Lempster, NH (2009)	NA	0	12	24
Lempster, NH (2010)	NA	0	12	24
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2010)	NA	0	17	25.5
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2012)	NA	0	17	25.5
Mount Storm, WV (2009)	NA	0	132	264
Casselman, PA (2009)	NA	0	23	34.5
Casselman, PA (2008)	NA	0	23	34.5
Mars Hill, ME (2007)	NA	0	28	42
Mars Hill, ME (2008)	NA	0	28	42
Pinnacle, WV (2012)	NA	0	23	55.2
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2011)	NA	0	38	57
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2009)	NA	0	38	57
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2013)	NA	0	38	57
Noble Altona, NY (2010)	NA	0	65	97.5

Appendix E2. Wind energy facilities in North America with publicly-available and comparable use and fatality data for raptors, by geographic region.

A=number of raptors/plot/20-min survey B=number of fatalities/MW/year

Appendix E2 (continued). Wind energy facilities in North America with publicly-available and comparable use and fatality data for raptors.

Data from the following sources:

Project Name	Use Estimate	Fatality Estimate	Project Name	Use Estimate	Fatality Estimate
Montezuma I, CA (2011)		ICF International 2012	Beech Ridge, WV (2012)		Tidhar et al. 2013
Solano III, CA (2012-2013)		AECOM 2013	Beech Ridge, WV (2013)		Young et al. 2014b
Montezuma I, CA (2012)		ICF International 2013	Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2009)		Arnett et al. 2011
High Winds, CA (2003-2004)	Kerlinger et al. 2005	Kerlinger et al. 2006	Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2010)		Arnett et al. 2011
Montezuma II, CA (2012-2013)		Harvey & Associates 2013	High Sheldon, NY (2011)		Tidhar et al. 2012b
Shiloh II, CA (2010-2011)		Kerlinger et al. 2013a	Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2009)		Stantec 2010
Shiloh I, CA (2006-2009)		Kerlinger et al. 2009	Lempster, NH (2009)		Tidhar et al. 2010
Diablo Winds, CA (2005-2007)	WEST 2006	WEST 2006, 2008	Lempster, NH (2010)		Tidhar et al. 2011
High Winds, CA (2004-2005)		Kerlinger et al. 2006	Stetson Mountain II, ME (2010)		Normandeau Associates 2010
Alta I, CA (2011-2012)	Erickson et al. 2009	Chatfield et al. 2012	Stetson Mountain II, ME (2012)		Stantec 2013d
Alite, CA (2009-2010)		Chatfield et al. 2010b	Mount Storm, WV (2009)		Young et al. 2009a, 2010b
Shiloh II, CA (2009-2010)		Kerlinger et al. 2010	Casselman, PA (2009)		Arnett et al. 2010
Mustang Hills, CA (2012-2013)		Chatfield and Bay 2014	Casselman, PA (2008)		Arnett et al. 2009
Alta I-V, CA (2013-2014)		Chatfield et al. 2014	Mars Hill, ME (2007)		Stantec 2008
Alta II-V, CA (2011-2012)	Erickson et al. 2009	Chatfield et al. 2012	Mars Hill, ME (2008)		Stantec 2009a
Alta VIII, CA (2012-2013)		Chatfield and Bay 2014	Pinnacie, WV (2012)		Hein et al. 2013
Dillon, CA (2008-2009)			Stetson Mountain I, ME (2011)		Normandeau Associates 2011
Maraina II. MNI (2000)		Jonnson et al. 2000b	Stetson Mountain I, ME (2009)		Stantec 2009c
Moralle II, MN (2009) $M(n)$		Derby et al. 20100	Stetson Mountain I, ME (2013)		Stanled 2014
Winnebago, IA (2009-2010)		Derby et al. 2010e	Noble Altona, NY (2010)		Jain et al. 2011b
Builaio Ridge I, SD (2009-2010)		Derby et al. 2010b	Tuolumpo (Mindy Doint I) M/A		Downes and Griski 2012D
Cedar Ridge, WI (2009)		RHE Environmental 2010	(2000-2010)	Johnson et al. 2006	Enz and Roy 2010
Prairie/Winds SD1 SD (2013 2014)		Derby et al. 2014	(2009-2010)	Johnson et al. 2000	Vontus 2012
Top of lowa $IA(2004)$		Jain 2005	Linden Banch WA (2010-2011)		Enz and Bay 2011
Cedar Ridge WI (2010)		BHE Environmental 2011	Harvest Wind WA (2010-2017)		Downes and Gritski 2012a
Ripley Ont (2008)		Jacques Whitford 2009	Goodnoe WA (2009-2010)		LIBS Corporation 2010a
Wessington Springs SD (2010)	Derby et al. 2008	Derby et al. 2011d	Leaning Juniper OR (2006-2008)	Kronner et al. 2005	Gritski et al. 2008
	Donby of all 2000		Klondike III (Phase I) OR (2007-		
Rugby, ND (2010-2011)		Derby et al. 2011b	2009)		Gritski et al. 2010
NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006)		Derby et al. 2007	Hopkins Ridge, WA (2006)	Young et al. 2003a	Young et al. 2007a
Wessington Springs SD (2000)			Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2009-		
Wessington Springs, SD (2009)	Derby et al. 2008	Derby et al. 2010f	2010)	WEST 2005c	Enk et al. 2011a
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot) ND (2011)		Derby et al. 2012c	Big Horn WA (2006-2007)	Johnson and Erickson	
			Big Hom, WA (2000-2007)	2004	Kronner et al. 2008
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)		Derby et al. 2011c	Stateline, OR/WA (2006)	Erickson et al. 2003a	Erickson et al. 2007
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2012-2013)		Derby et al. 2013a	Kittitas Valley, WA (2011-2012)		Stantec 2012
Elm Creek, MN (2009-2010)		Derby et al. 2010c	Wild Horse, WA (2007)	Erickson et al. 2003d	Erickson et al. 2008
Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013)		Good et al. 2013b	Stateline, OR/WA (2001-2002)	Erickson et al. 2003a	Erickson et al. 2004
Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012)		Chodachek et al. 2012	Stateline, OR/WA (2003)	Erickson et al. 2003a	Erickson et al. 2004
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)		Johnson et al. 2000b	Elknorn, OR (2010)	WEST 2005a	Enk et al. 2011b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)		Johnson et al. 2000b	HOPKINS RIdge, WA (2008)	Young et al. 2003a	Young et al. 2009b
Buildio Ridge, Min (Phase II, 1999)		Johnson et al. 2000b	EIKNOM, OR (2008)	WEST 2005a	Jenrey et a. 2009b
		Gruver et al. 2009	Klondike II, OR (2005-2006)	Johnson et al. 2002a	NIM/C and M/EST 2007
2003)			Klandika IIIa (Phasa II) OP (2009	JUINSON EL AL 2002A	
Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)		Derby et al. 2012b	2010)		Gritski et al. 2011
Barton I & II IA (2010-2011)		Derby et al. 20120 Derby et al. 2011a	Combine Hills OR (2011)	Young et al. 2003d	Enzetal 2012
Barton 1 & II, IA (2010-2011)		Doiby 61 al. 2011a	Biglow Canyon OR (Phase III)	Todily St al. 20000	
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2011-2012)		Derby et al. 2012d	2010-2011)	WEST 2005c	Enk et al. 2012a
Kewaunee County. WI (1999-2001)		Howe et al. 2002	Marengo II, WA (2009-2010)		URS Corporation 2010c
Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)		Derby et al. 2012a	Windy Flats, WA (2010-2011)		Enz et al. 2011
J , (· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·			· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		-

Appendix E2 (continued). Wind energy facilities in North America with publicly-available and comparable use and fatality data for raptors.

Data from the following sources:

Project Name	Use Estimate	Fatality Estimate	Project Name	Use Estimate	Fatality Estimate
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1996) Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1997)		Johnson et al. 2000b Johnson et al. 2000b	Pebble Springs, OR (2009-2010) Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2008)	WEST 2005c	Gritski and Kronner 2010b Jeffrey et al. 2009a
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1998)		Johnson et al. 2000b	Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2010- 2011)	WEST 2005c	Enk et al. 2011a
Fowler I, IN (2009) Big Blue, MN (2013) Big Blue, MN (2014) Top of Iowa IA (2003)		Johnson et al. 2010 Fagen Engineering 2014 Fagen Engineering 2015 Jain 2005	Nine Canyon, WA (2002-2003) Hay Canyon, OR (2009-2010) Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2009) Margae L WA (2009 2010)	Erickson et al. 2001b WEST 2005c	Erickson et al. 2003c Gritski and Kronner 2010a Enk et al. 2010
Grand Ridge I, IL (2003) Munnsville, NY (2008)	Derby et al. 2009	Derby et al. 2010g Stantec 2009b	Klondike, OR (2002-2013) Vansycle, OR (1999)	Johnson et al. 2002a WCIA and WEST 1997	Johnson et al. 2003 Erickson et al. 2000
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2009)		Jain et al. 2010c	Combine Hills, OR (Phase I; 2004-2005)	Young et al. 2003d	Young et al. 2006a
Noble Clinton, NY (2009)		Jain et al. 2010b	Summerview, Alb (2005-2006)	1041.g 014 20004	Brown and Hamilton 2006
Noble Wethersfield, NY (2010)		Jain et al. 2011a	1999)	Johnson et al. 2000c	Young et al. 2003c
Noble Bliss, NY (2009)		Jain et al. 2010a	Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 2000)	Johnson et al. 2000c	Young et al. 2003c. 2003e
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2008)		Jain et al. 2009b	Milford I & II, UT (2011-2012)		Stantec 2012
Noble Bliss, NY (2008)		Jain et al. 2009e	2001-2002)		Derby et al. 2012b
Noble Clinton, NY (2008) Mount Storm, WV (2010) Noble Chateaugay, NY (2010)		Jain et al. 2009c Young et al. 2010a, 2011b Jain et al. 2011c	Buffalo Mountain, TN (2000-2003) Buffalo Mountain, TN (2005) Barton Chapel, TX (2009-2010)		Nicholson et al. 2005 Fiedler et al. 2007 WEST 2011
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (2010) Mountaineer, WV (2003)		Stantec 2011a Kerns and Kerlinger 2004	Buffalo Gap I, TX (2006) Red Hills, OK (2012-2013)		Tierney 2007 Derby et al. 2013c
High Sheldon, NY (2010) Mount Storm, WV (2011)		Tidhar et al. 2012a Young et al. 2010a, 2011b	Big Smile, OK (2012-2013) Buffalo Gap II, TX (2007-2008)	Derby et al. 2010a	Derby et al. 2013b Tierney 2009
Maple Ridge, NY (2007-2008) Criterion, MD (2011)		Jain et al. 2009d Young et al. 2012a	Dry Lake I, AZ (2009-2010) Dry Lake II, AZ (2011-2012)	Thompson et al. 2011	Thompson et al. 2011 Thompson and Bay 2012

Appendix G. 2016 Triple H Wind Project Raptor Nest Surveys – Technical Memo



415 W. 17th Street, Suite 200, Cheyenne, WY82001 Phone: 307-634-1756 + www.west-inc.com + Fax: 307-632-3161

July 20, 2016

Christina White Infinity Wind Power, LLC (Infinity) 3760 State Street, Suite 200 Santa Barbara, California 93105

RE: Triple H Wind Project Raptor Nest Survey

Dear Ms. White,

As part of Infinity's Tier 3 baseline field studies, surveys for raptor nests were completed at the Triple H Wind Project (Project) on March 28, 30 and April 1, 2016, by a biologist from Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc (WEST). Surveys were completed from the air in a helicopter before trees had leaves and when most raptors would be actively tending to a nest or incubating eggs. Aerial surveys were supplemented with a one-day ground survey along county roads, when mechanical issues temporarily delayed the start of helicopter surveys.

In general, the methodology followed the USFWS's Eagle Conservation Plan Guidance and Golden Eagle Inventory and Monitoring Protocols; and Other Recommendations¹. Raptors are defined here as kites, accipiters, buteos, harriers, eagles, falcons, and owls. Surveys focused on locating large, stick nest structures in suitable raptor nesting substrate (trees, power poles, etc.) within the proposed Project and a 1-mile buffer. Additionally, surveys were conducted to document all potential eagles nest structures within the area between 1 to 10 miles of the Project boundary. Efforts were made to minimize disturbance to nesting raptors; the greatest possible distance at which the species could be identified was maintained, with distances varying depending upon nest location and wind conditions. Photographs were taken of possible eagle nests.

Potential raptor nest habitat in the proposed Project and associated buffers typically included small stands of deciduous trees and shelterbelts with smaller diameter deciduous and evergreen trees. Raptor nest surveys were conducted between 800 and 1800 hours on days without heavy precipitation, good visibility and mild temperatures. The locations of all raptor

¹ Pagel, J.E., D.M. Whittington, and G.T. Allen. 2010. Interim Golden Eagle inventory and monitoring protocols; and other recommendations. Division of Migratory Bird Management, U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service



415 W. 17th Street, Suite 200, Cheyenne, WY82001 Phone: 307-634-1756 • www.west-inc.com • Fax: 307-632-3161

nests and flight paths were recorded using an onboard hand-held Global Positioning System receiver. To determine the status of a nest, the biologist relied on clues that included behavior of adults and presence of eggs, young, accumulated feces (whitewash), or new greenery within the nest. Attempts were made to identify the species of raptor associated with each active nest. Additionally, date, nest condition, and nest substrate were recorded.

During the 2016 aerial survey, 16 raptor nests were documented within the Project and 1-mile buffer (Figure 1, Table 1). Three nests were occupied by red-tailed hawks and one was occupied by a great-horned owl, while all the remaining nests were unoccupied. No eagle nests were located during the survey within the Project area or 10-mile survey area.

If you have any questions or require additional information, please call me at 307-631-1545.

Sincerely,

Brian Heath

Brian Heath Project Manager



415 W. 17th Street, Suite 200, Cheyenne, WY82001 Phone: 307-634-1756 • www.west-inc.com • Fax: 307-632-3161



Figure 1. Location of raptor nests identified during surveys on March 28, 30 and April 1, 2106 within the Triple H Wind Project area and 1-mile buffer. No eagle nests were identified during the surveys.



415 W. 17th Street, Suite 200, Cheyenne, WY82001 Phone: 307-634-1756 • www.west-inc.com • Fax: 307-632-3161

Table 1. Raptor nests identified within the Triple H Wind Project Area and 1-mile buffer onMarch 28, 30 and April 1, 2016 surveys. (Northing and Easting projection: UTM,NAD83, Zones 14N).

NEST ID	DATE	SPECIES*	SUBSTRATE	STATUS CONDITION		UTM_N	UTM_E
1	3/28/2016	RTHA	Tree	Occupied	Good	4922347	442383
2	3/28/2016	UNRA	Tree	Unoccupied	Fair	4919242	444594
3	3/28/2016	UNRA	Tree	Unoccupied	Fair	4920871	468109
4	3/28/2016	RTHA	Tree	Occupied	Good	4921044	470555
5	3/28/2016	GHOW	Tree	Occupied	Good	4924269	453643
6	3/28/2016	UNRA	Tree	Unoccupied	Poor	4925752	458950
7	3/28/2016	UNRA	Tree	Unoccupied Poor		4925751	458959
8	3/30/2016	UNRA	Tree	Unoccupied	Good	4917797	461664
9	3/30/2016	UNRA	Tree	Unoccupied	Poor	4917677	463979
10	3/30/2016	UNRA	Tree	Unoccupied	Good	4918491	464427
11	3/30/2016	UNRA	Tree	Unoccupied	Good	4918237	469249
12	3/30/2016	UNRA	Tree	Unoccupied	Fair	4921987	468129
13	3/30/2016	UNRA	Tree	Unoccupied	Fair	4921559	469633
14	3/30/2016	UNRA	Tree	Unoccupied	Poor	4924984	464450
15	3/30/2016	UNRA	Tree	Unoccupied	Good	4925019	464478
16	4/1/2016	RTHA	Tree	Occupied	Good	4925361	444423

*=RTHA = red-tailed hawk; GHOW = great-horned owl; UNRA=unknown raptor.

Appendix H. 2018 Triple H Wind Project Raptor Nest Surveys – Technical Memo



TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

Date: October 2, 2018

To: Casey Willis, Engie IR Holdings.

From: Brian Heath, WEST, Inc.

Subject: 2018 Triple H Wind Project Raptor Nest Surveys

Engie IR Holdings (Engie) is proposing to develop the Triple H Wind Project (Project) in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota. In 2016, baseline wildlife studies were completed within a Project area encompassing 39,068 acres based on a 200 MW project. Engie has now expanded the Project boundary to encompass approximately 110,059 acres, including the initial 39,068 acre Project.

One of the baseline studies completed in 2016 was a survey to document raptor and eagle nests within the initial Project area. Sixteen raptor nests and no eagle nests were documented during the 2016 surveys. As part of Engie's 2018 Tier 3 baseline field study efforts, surveys for raptor nests were completed at the expanded Project from March 9-14, 2018, by biologists from Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc (WEST). The objective of the nest survey was to gather information on eagle nest locations and other raptor species nesting in the area which may be subject to disturbance or displacement effects from wind facility construction and operation. Concentrated prey sources were also recorded during surveys. This memo provides a summary of the methods and survey results for the 2018 raptor nest surveys.

Methodology for the raptor nest surveys generally followed the US Fish and Wildlife Services (USFWS) Eagle Conservation Plan Guidance (ECPG; USFWS 2013) and USFWS Wind Energy Guidelines (WEG; USFWS 2012). An aerial survey was conducted to document whether nests identified during 2016 were still present and search for raptor nests within one-mile of the expanded Project area. Surveys were also conducted to document eagle nests within 10-miles of the Project. Prior to the surveys, topographic and aerial maps were evaluated to determine where raptor and eagle nesting habitat is likely to occur (e.g., riparian habitat along creeks, open lakes with large trees, etc) so that these areas could be targeted during the aerial surveys. A biologist conducted the surveys in a helicopter operated by a pilot experienced in conducting low-altitude wildlife surveys. Surveys were conducted on days with good visibility and no precipitation except when light snow occurred on March 10, 2018 from 1350-1410 hours. The locations of all raptor nests and survey paths were recorded using a hand-held onboard Global

Positioning System (GPS) receiver. Raptor nests detected from the ground while conducting other field surveys were also recorded.

For all raptor and eagle nest structures detected, the biologist recorded nest location coordinates with the GPS receiver, species present (if any), condition of the nest, presence of eggs or young (if present and visible), and the substrate of the nest (e.g., tree, power pole, rock outcrop). The status of each nest was determined as either: Occupied - an adult in incubating position, eggs, a newly constructed or refurbished stick nest and/or the presence of one or more adults on or immediately adjacent to, the nest structure(s); or Inactive - a nest with no evidence of recent use, or attendance by adult raptors. Efforts were made to minimize disturbance to nesting raptors, livestock, or occupied dwellings to the greatest extent possible. Photographs were taken of possible eagle nests. Observations of non-nesting eagles, prey sources (prairie dog towns), and heron rookeries were also recorded during the aerial surveys. Aerial imagery was used to delineate the approximate perimeter of prairie dog towns.

All Raptor Nest Survey within Project and One-Mile Buffer

During the survey, 16 nests previously documented in 2016 were re-visited; 10 were confirmed to still be present and six could not be relocated. In addition, 38 previously undocumented raptor nests were detected within the expanded Project and one-mile buffer during surveys. Thirty-three were detected during the initial aerial survey in March 2018 and five were recorded from the ground while conducting other field work or re-checking known nests in early May 2018.

Of the 48 raptor nests documented, 27 were classified as occupied by the following: 12 greathorned owls, eight Swainson's hawk, and seven red-tailed hawks. All nests were located within deciduous trees. Generally, great-horned owls were observed occupying nests during the aerial survey; whereas, red-tailed hawks and Swainson's hawks were observed occupying nests during May. No eagle nests were documented within the Project or one-mile Project buffer. The location of each nest is depicted on Figure 1 and information on each nest is presented in Table 1.

Eagle Nest Surveys

Two occupied eagle nests were documented during surveys between one and 10-miles of the Project. A bald eagle nest was detected within a snag along the Missouri River approximately 8.7-miles southwest of the Project (Figure 2). During the first inspection of the nest, a bald eagle was observed circling the snag and then landed within an adjacent snag. There was no new greenery within the nest. The nest was re-checked the following day and an adult bald eagle was observed perched on the nest. No egg or fresh greenery was observed during the second observation as well. A golden eagle was observed incubating on a nest within a deciduous tree along Chapelle Creek on March 10, 2018. An inactive nest, assumed to be an alternate eagle nest site, was detected approximately 90-feet north of the occupied golden eagle nest. The nests are located approximately 7.2-miles southwest of the Project boundary. The bald eagle and golden eagle are listed as Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN) in South Dakota, the golden eagle was recently added during the 2018 minor revision to the South Dakota Wildlife Action Plan.

A nest previously identified in 2016 as a Ferruginous hawk nest is located approximately 3.5miles southeast of the Project and was inspected on March 9, 2018. The nest was inactive with no fresh twigs or greenery, but was large enough for use by nesting eagles. The nest was rechecked from the ground on May 5, 2018 to determine whether it had become occupied during the breeding season. The nest was visible from a county road approximately 1.2-miles south and an adult raptor was observed on the nest. However, the species could not be ascertained from the county road at this distance. Approximately 20-minutes after the initial inspection an adult Ferruginous hawk flew in and perched on the nest next to the incubating bird. Ferruginous hawks are also a SGCN in South Dakota. The location of each nest is depicted on Figure 2 and information on each nest is presented in Table 2. Photographs of the eagle nests are not included in this report but can be made available upon request.

Non-Nesting Eagle Observations, Prey Sources, and Heron Rookeries

Twenty-two bald eagles within 17 groups and 14 golden eagles within 12 groups were recorded during surveys (Figure 3). Twelve of the 36 observations, six bald eagles in five groups and six golden eagles in five groups, were recorded within the Project area. All observations in the Project were adult eagles perched within trees.

Active prairie dog towns may attract raptors such as eagles, ferruginous hawks, and golden eagles since they provide a concentrated prey source and provide nesting habitat or structure for burrowing owls. Five active black-tailed prairie dog towns were recorded within the Project area and 10 other towns were documented within 10-miles of the Project. Three heron rookeries were also recorded during aerial surveys and great-blue herons were observed tending nests within each rookery during ground checks in early May 2018. Three burrowing owls, a SGCN in South Dakota, were observed incidentally during other field work in early May 2018. All observations were within active black-tailed prairie dog towns.

SUMMARY

The results of the 2018 nest surveys indicate raptors use the deciduous trees scattered across the project for nesting. Although no eagle nests were located within the Project, two occupied nests were located 7.2-miles and 8.7-miles southwest of the Project and several observations of non-nesting eagles were recorded during the surveys. Fixed-point avian use surveys are currently being conducted to further identify how raptors and eagles use the Project area throughout the year. Black-tailed prairie dog towns were noted within and adjacent to the Project and provide raptors with concentrated prey sources. Collectively this information can be used during Project planning to minimize potential impacts to raptors.



Figure 1. Location and status of raptor nests identified during surveys within the Triple H Wind Project area and 1-mile buffer in Spring 2018. No nests were occupied by eagles during the surveys.



Figure 2. Location and status of eagle nests identified during surveys within the Triple H Wind Project area and 10-mile buffer. Includes a large stick nest suitable for nesting eagles that was later confirmed to be a Ferruginous hawk nest.



Figure 3. Location of non-nesting eagle observations, heron rookeries, burrowing owl observations, and prairie dog towns recorded during Triple H Wind Project surveys.

Table 1. Raptor nest observations during the aerial raptor nest surveys within Triple H Wind Project and one-mile buffer, March 2018. Observations include raptor nests identified in May 2018 documented during other field work or during nest re-checks to update productivity or nest status.

NestID ¹	Date	Species	Status ²	Adults	Evidence	Eggs	Chicks	Condition	Substrate	Comment
1*	3/11/2018	Great-horned Owl	Occupied	2	Incubating			Good	Tree	
2*	3/11/2018		DNLO							
3*	3/10/2018		DNLO							
4*	5/4/2018	Red-tailed Hawk	Occupied	1	Incubating					3/10/2018 DNLO, nest later rebuilt and occupied by RTHA
5*	3/10/2018	Great-horned Owl	Occupied	1	Incubating	2	1	Good	Tree	
6*	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Fair	Tree	
7*	3/11/2018		DNLO							
8*	5/5/2018	Red-tailed Hawk	Occupied	1	Incubating			Good	Tree	3/10/2018 GRHO incubating, re-check indicated RTHA incubating
9*	3/10/2018		DNLO							
10*	5/1/2018	Red-tailed Hawk	Occupied	1	Incubating			Good	Tree	3/10/2018 Inactive, re-check RTHA incubating
11*	5/2/2018	Swainson's Hawk	Occupied	1	Tending Nest			Good	Tree	3/10/2018 remnant inactive, re-check SWHA tending nest.
12	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Good	Tree	Re-check 5/4/2018 inactive
13*	3/10/2018		DNLO							
14*	5/4/2018	Red-tailed Hawk	Occupied	1	Tending Nest			Good	Tree	3/10/2018 inactive, re-check RTHA tending
15*	3/9/2018	Other	Inactive					Fair	Tree	Re-check 5/3/2018 inactive
16*	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Fair	Tree	Re-check 5/3/2018 inactive
17*	3/11/2018		DNLO							
18	3/11/2018	Other	Inactive					Fair	Tree	Re-check 5/3/2018 inactive
19	3/9/2018	Other	Inactive					Fair	Tree	
20	3/9/2018	Great-horned Owl	Occupied	1	Incubating			Good	Tree	

NestID ¹	Date	Species	Status ²	Adults	Evidence	Eggs	Chicks	Condition	Substrate	Comment
21	3/9/2018	Great-horned Owl	Occupied	1	Incubating	3		Good	Tree	
22	5/5/2018	Swainson's Hawk	Occupied	2	Territory Defense			Remnant	Tree	3/9/2018 inactive, re-check nest blew out tree, pair defending
23	3/9/2018	Great-horned Owl	Occupied	1	Incubating			Good	Tree	
24	5/4/2018	Red-tailed Hawk	Occupied	1	Incubating			Good	Tree	3/10/2018 GRHO incubating, re-check indicated RTHA incubating
25	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Fair	Tree	Re-check 5/3/2018 inactive
26	5/3/2018	Great-horned Owl	Occupied	1	Tending Chicks		1	Fair	Tree	3/10/2018 inactive, 1+ chicks in nest
27	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Fair	Tree	Re-check 5/2/2018 inactive
28	3/10/2018	Great-horned Owl	Occupied	2	Incubating			Good	Tree	
29	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Fair	Tree	
30	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Fair	Tree	
31	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Good	Tree	Re-check 5/1/2018 inactive
32	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Good	Tree	
33	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Good	Tree	
34	5/1/2018	Swainson's Hawk	Occupied	2	Tending			Good	Tree	3/10/2018 Inactive, re-check pair SWHA in nest tree
35	5/1/2018	Great-horned Owl	Occupied	1	Incubating			Good	Tree	3/10/2018 nest inactive, re-check GRHO in nest.
36	5/2/2018	Swainson's Hawk	Occupied	1	Incubating			Fair	Tree	3/10/2018 inactive, re-check adult SWHA incubating
37	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Good	Tree	5/3/2018 re-check inactive
38	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Fair	Tree	
39	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive					Good	Tree	
40	5/3/2018	Red-tailed Hawk	Occupied	1	Incubating			Good	Tree	3/10/2018 inactive, re-check adult RTHA incubating
41	3/11/2018	Other	Inactive					Fair	Tree	5/3/2018 Heron tending nests in area
42	3/11/2018	Other	Inactive					Fair	Tree	5/4/2018 re-check inactive
43	3/11/2018	Great-horned Owl	Occupied	1	Incubating			Fair	Tree	5/4/2018 re-check nest inactive

NestID ¹	Date	Species	Status ²	Adults	Evidence	Eggs	Chicks	Condition	Substrate	Comment
44	3/11/2018	Other	Inactive					Poor	Tree	5/3/2018 re-check inactive
45	3/11/2018	Other	Inactive					Remnant	Tree	5/3/2018 re-check inactive
46	5/3/2018	Great-horned Owl	Occupied	1	Tending Chicks		1	Good	Tree	3/11/2018 inactive, re-check GRHO on nest
47	3/11/2018	Great-horned Owl	Occupied	1	Incubating	2		Good	Tree	5/3/2018 re-check nest inactive
48	3/11/2018	Other	Inactive					Good	Tree	
49	3/11/2018	Great-horned Owl	Occupied	1	Incubating			Good	Tree	5/3/2018 re-check nest inactive
50	5/5/2018	Swainson's Hawk	Occupied	1	Incubating			Good	Tree	Recorded during other filed work
51	5/5/2018	Swainson's Hawk	Occupied	1	Nest Tending			Good	Tree	Recorded during other filed work
52	5/4/2018	Red-tailed Hawk	Occupied	1	Incubating			Good	Tree	Recorded during other filed work
53	5/3/2018	Swainson's Hawk	Occupied	1	Territory Defense			Good	Tree	Recorded during other filed work
54	5/6/2018	Swainson's Hawk	Occupied	1	Incubating			Good	Tree	Recorded during other filed work

¹ * = Nests documented during 2016 surveys and re-checked in 2018
² DNLO = Did Not Locate Nest from 2016 Survey

Table 2. List of eagle nest observations during the aerial raptor nest surveys within 10-miles of the Triple H Wind Project, March 2018. Observations include a large stick nest suitable for use by nesting eagles that was later confirmed to be occupied by a Ferruginous hawk.

NestID	Date	Species	Status	Adults	Evidence	Condition	Substrate	LgStick	Comment
1	3/10/2018	Golden Eagle	Occupied	1	Incubating	Good	Tree	Yes	Active GOEA nest in valley adjacent to hill
2	3/10/2018	Other	Inactive			Good	Tree	Yes	Alternate GOEA Nest
3	3/11/2018	Bald Eagle	Occupied	1	Tending	Good	Tree	Yes	1 ad BAEA perched nearby briefly then gone, 1 ad BAEA standing in nest following day.
4	5/5/2018	Ferruginous Hawk	Occupied	2	Incubating	Good	Tree	Yes	3/9/2018 inactive but big enough for eagle. FEHA observed on nest 5/5/2018, adult FEHA also flew into nest.

Appendix I. Prairie Grouse Lek Surveys for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota – 2016 Prairie Grouse Lek Report

Prairie Grouse Lek Surveys for the Triple H Wind Project Hughes and Hyde Counties, SD

2016 Prairie Grouse Lek Report



Prepared for:

Infinity Wind Power, LLC

3760 State Street, Suite 200 Santa Barbara, California 93105

Prepared by:

Brian Heath

Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. 415 West 17th Street, Suite 200 Cheyenne, Wyoming 82001

August 1, 2016



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Infinity Wind Power, LLC (Infinity) is proposing a wind energy facility in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota referred to as the Triple H Wind Project (Project). Infinity contracted Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) to conduct surveys and monitor wildlife resources in the Spring 2016 to identify potential impacts of facility construction and operations on wildlife. The following report contains the results of greater prairie-chicken and sharp-tailed grouse (prairie grouse) lek surveys conducted at the Project. The objective of the prairie grouse lek survey is to collect pre-construction data that can be used to help site the wind turbines to minimize impacts on grouse.

Lek surveys were completed across the Project area and one-half mile buffer three times between March 29 and April 30, 2016. Initially three aerial surveys were proposed; however, due to flight cancelations because of weather a combination of aerial and ground-based surveys were used to document breeding prairie grouse locations. The first survey was ground-based and conducted on March 29-30 and April 2, 2016 by traveling accessible roads throughout the Project area and one-half mile buffer. Vehicles were driven along county roads and stops made at approximately one mile intervals to look and listen for breeding grouse. If a lek was visually located from a road, the observer marked the location on a hard copy map and recorded the species along with number of males, females, and birds of unknown sex attending the lek. For leks where only auditory detection occurred, biologists recorded the GPS location on the road and noted the bearing and estimated distance from the point to the lek. The observer then obtained a second bearing and distance to triangulate the lek location.

The second round of surveys were completed from April 20-21, 2016 by flying north/south transects spaced approximately 0.4-km apart across the survey area. An onboard GPS unit was used to keep the plane on transect, record lek locations, and document daily flight paths. Biologists recorded the number of birds on the lek and whether occupied by greater prairie-chicken or sharp-tailed grouse. The third round of surveys consisted of an aerial survey across the western-half of the Project area on April 28, 2016 and ground-based surveys within the eastern-half from April 29-30, 2016. All surveys commenced approximately 30 minutes before sunrise and lasted for approximately two hours after sunrise. Surveys primarily occurred on mornings with good visibility, clear skies, relatively calm winds (<15-20 mph) and no precipitation; although, fog was an issue during the April 29, 2016 ground survey.

Eight greater prairie-chicken leks were documented, all during ground surveys, within the Project area and one-half mile buffer. Five leks were located within the Project area and three were within one-half mile of the Project boundary. No sharp-tailed grouse leks were located. Observations of both greater prairie-chickens and sharp-tailed grouse occurred during surveys but detection of lekking activity was not confirmed at these locations. Two additional greater prairie-chicken leks were detected between one-half mile and one-mile of the Project and have been included within results to aide in Project planning.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	i
INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND	1
STUDY AREA	1
METHODS	2
RESULTS	3
DISCUSSION	6
LITERATURE CITED	8

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Greater prairie-chicken leks observed during aerial and ground surveys for the Triple	
H Wind Project, Spring 2016	4

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Location of the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota..... 2

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A. Survey Results by Date of Prairie Grouse Surveys, Triple H Wind Project, Spring 2016

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Infinity Wind Power, LLC (Infinity) is considering the development of the Triple H Wind Project (Project) in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota. The Project encompasses approximately 39,000 acres currently under or pending easement in central South Dakota (Figure 1). Infinity contracted Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) to conduct surveys and monitor wildlife resources in the Project area to evaluate the potential impacts of wind energy facility construction and operations on wildlife. The Project area occurs within the occupied range of the greater prairie-chicken and sharp-tailed grouse (hereafter prairie grouse) and Infinity requested WEST conduct surveys to evaluate if prairie grouse leks are located within the Project area.

There are more than 10 known or suspected greater prairie-chicken and sharp-tailed grouse leks within both Hughes and Hyde Counties (Flake et al. 2010). Male prairie grouse attend traditional breeding grounds or leks in the spring to display and perform ritualistic courtship behavior to attract females for mating. Leks are typically located on knolls, gentle rises, or openings within grassland habitats and greater prairie-chicken leks are sometimes located on flat bottomlands such as a dry wetland (SDGFP 2011).

In South Dakota, male prairie grouse begin defending territories on leks in late February with peak activity occurring in early April during peak hen attendance (SDGFP 2011). After mating, hens typically nest within a few miles of the lek but some may nest up to 10 miles or farther away (SDGFP 2011). The average distance from lek of capture to nest site for female greater prairie-chickens and sharp-tailed grouse fitted with radio-transmitters on the Fort Pierre National Grasslands was 1.978 km (1.23-miles) and 2.037 km (1.27-miles), respectively (Kirschenmann 2008). Prairie grouse are dependent upon grasslands for nearly all life cycle needs and typically nest in areas with dense or residual grass to conceal nests from predators (Bidwell et al. 2003, Prose et al. 2002). They will use grass and alfalfa hay fields during the spring and summer and both species will also utilize waste grain in agricultural fields primarily during the fall and winter (SDGFP 2011).

The object of this study was to document the location of prairie grouse leks within the Project area and within a one-half mile buffer of the Project area. Data collected during this study can be used to avoid or minimize impacts to prairie grouse leks when siting wind energy facilities.

STUDY AREA

The Project is located in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota (Figure 1) approximately three miles south of Highmore and Holabird, South Dakota, within various Sections in T111-112N–R71-74W. The Project area consists of a mixture of agricultural croplands and native and introduced grasslands. Topography is relatively flat with elevations ranging between 1,950 and 2,040 feet. The general land practices are crop production and livestock grazing.



Figure 1. Location of the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota.

METHODS

Lek surveys were completed across the Project area and one-half mile buffer three times between March 30 and April 30, 2016. Initially three aerial surveys were proposed; however, due to flight cancelations because of weather a combination of aerial and ground-based surveys were used to search for breeding prairie grouse locations. The first survey was ground-based and conducted on March 29, 30, and April 2, 2016 by traveling accessible roads throughout the Project area and one-half mile buffer. Surveys commenced 30 minutes before sunrise and continued until two hours after sunrise. Four-wheel drive vehicles were driven along county roads and stops made at approximately one mile intervals or more frequently depending upon habitat type. The biologist walked ~5-10 meters from the vehicle and looked and listened for breeding grouse for approximately 5 minutes.

If a lek was visually located from a road, the observer marked the location on a hard copy map and recorded the distance and direction from the observation point along with the number of males, females, and birds of unknown sex attending the lek. For leks where only auditory detection occurred, biologists recorded the GPS location on the road and noted the bearing and estimated distance from the point. The observer then obtained a second bearing and distance to triangulate the lek location. Triangulated locations were plotted on a project map and later digitized by ArcMap geographical information system software to obtain coordinates.

The second survey was conducted from the air on April 20-21, 2016. A Cessna 172 flew north/south transects across the survey area spaced approximately 0.4-km apart at an altitude of approximately 100-150 feet above ground level. Surveys commenced approximately 30 minutes before sunrise and lasted for approximately two hours after sunrise on mornings with good visibility, clear skies, relatively calm winds (<15-20 mph) and no precipitation. An onboard GPS unit was used to keep the plane on transect, document lek locations, and record daily flight paths. Biologists recorded the number of birds on the lek and whether occupied by greater prairie-chicken or sharp-tailed grouse. The following characteristics were used to distinguish between these species from the air. A square-tail shape and dark, blocky body for greater prairie-chickens versus a pointed-tail with white under tail coverts and lighter body color for sharp-tailed grouse.

A combination of aerial and ground-based surveys was used to complete the third round of surveys within the Project area and one-half mile buffer from April 28-30, 2016. Aerial surveys were conducted within the western-half of the survey area on April 28, 2016 and ground-based surveys were conducted across the eastern-half of the survey area from April 29-30, 2016. The methods described above for aerial and ground-based surveys were again employed for these surveys.

RESULTS

Eight greater prairie-chicken leks were documented during 2016 surveys within the Project area and within a one-half mile buffer (Figure 2 – Table 1). Five leks were located within the Project area and three within one-half mile of the Project boundary. Two additional greater prairie-chicken leks were documented between one-half mile and one-mile of the Project and have been included within Table 1 (Lek ID's #9 & #10) and on Figure 2 to aide in Project planning. No sharp-tailed grouse leks were recorded.

All leks were initially detected audibly during ground-based surveys and biologists were able visually detect displaying males at seven of the eight locations from county roads. Visual detection of displaying males at Lek ID 5 was not possible from the county roads due to a ridge obstructing the view; however, birds were visually detected at this location during aerial surveys. Visual and/or auditory detections at a given location on two or more occasions was used to distinguish between a lek and an incidental observation. While the objective of the surveys was to document breeding locations to use in help siting the wind turbines, incidental observations of grouse were also recorded during surveys and provide an indication of use within the Project area. Information on incidental observations are not presented within this report but have been included within Appendix A along with all survey dates and results.



Figure 2. Location of greater prairie-chicken leks detected during surveys for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota, 2016.

Table	1.	Greater	prairie-chio	cken leks	observed	during	aerial an	d ground	surveys	for the	Triple H
	V	Vind Pro	ject, Spring	j 2016 .		_		-	_		-

	Date	# Males	=	-	-	-
Lek ID	Observed	Observed	Species	Qtr-Sec-T-R	Habitat	Location
1	3/30/2016	2	GPC	NE-4-111N-71W	Grassland	Project Area
2	3/29/2016	6	GPC	SW-33-112N-71W	Grassland	Half-Mile Buffer Area
3	3/30/2016	4	GPC	NW-15-111N-72W	Grassland	Half-Mile Buffer Area
4	4/2/2016	4	GPC	NW-33-112N-73W	Grassland	Project Area
5	4/2/2016	10*	GPC	SE-4-111N-73W	Grassland	Project Area
6	4/2/2016	4	GPC	NW-32-112N-73W	Wheatfield	Project Area
7	4/2/2016	3	GPC	SE-10-111N-73W	Grassland	Project Area
8	4/29/2016	3	GPC	NE-16-111N-71W	Grassland	Half-Mile Buffer
9	4/2/2016	11	GPC	SW-15-111N-73W	Grassland	Outside Survey Area
10	3/30/2016	3	GPC	NW-29-112N-71W	Grassland	Outside Survey Area

*= Total birds from aerial survey

Lek size varied from 2-6 males; however, it was difficult to obtain an accurate count of males during ground based surveys due to the topography and vegetation obstructing a view of the entire lek from the county roads. Aerial surveys often resulted in flushing of birds which made

getting an accurate count of the birds in the air versus those remaining on the lek difficult. Therefore, numbers could be higher than reported. Seven of the leks were located within grassland habitats while the other lek was on a ridge within a wheat field. No sharp-tailed grouse leks were detected but two incidental observations were recorded during surveys.

Lek ID 1 was first detected on March 30 on a slight ridge in grassland habitat within the Project area. Only two males were visible but other booming was heard from the location. Two males were also observed from the ground on April 30 at this location but birds were not observed during the aerial surveys on April 20 or 21.

Six males were observed displaying at Lek ID 2 on March 29. The birds were located within a meadow approximately 280 m north of the Project area. A bird flushed from the location on April 20 during an aerial survey and five males were observed displaying on April 30 during the ground-based survey.

An auditory detection occurred at Lek ID 3 on March 29; however, visual detection of displaying greater prairie-chickens was not possible after several attempts to view from different positions along the county road. The location was re-surveyed again on March 30 and four males were visually detected displaying within grassland habitat. The lek is located approximately 710 m south of the Project and no birds were observed during subsequent aerial or ground surveys.

Lek ID 4 was first observed on April 2 when four males were observed booming near a fence corner in a grassland pasture in the Project area. The location was checked from the air on April 21 and a bird tentatively identified as a greater prairie-chicken flushed as the plane approached. The location was re-checked later that morning and no birds were observed. On April 28 two birds were observed along the fence in the same location.

Lek ID 5 was detected audibly from listening stops along county roads to the east and south on April 2. Based on the booming calls several males were in attendance on the morning of April 2. Greater prairie-chickens could not be visually detected and the location was estimated based on distance and bearing from the audible detection locations along the roads. The estimated location was inspected during an April 21 aerial survey and was flooded; however, two greater prairie-chickens were flushed from nearby the flooded area. Ten greater prairie-chickens were observed in the grassland habitat just north of the flooded area during the April 28 aerial survey. (See Discussion for further information on the location of this lek).

Four males were observed displaying on Lek ID 6 on April 2 on a ridge within a wheat field within the Project area. Birds were also confirmed at this location during aerial surveys on April 21 and 28. Lek ID 7 is located within the Project boundary and was initially detected during the April 2 ground survey within a pasture with short grass. Three males were observed displaying north of a fence near the center of the section. Three birds were observed at the same location during the April 21 aerial survey but birds were not observed during the April 28 aerial survey.

Lek ID 8 was first audibly detected during the third round of surveys on April 29 but fog precluded observing the birds. The location was re-surveyed on April 30 and three male prairie-chickens were visually detected booming within grassland habitat approximately 65 m south of the Project.

As noted above, Lek ID's #9 & #10 were located outside of the one-half mile survey buffer and both of these leks were located within grassland habitats. Eleven males were visually detected on Lek ID 9 on April 2 and birds were confirmed at the location during April 21 and April 28 aerial surveys. Three males were observed displaying on Lek ID 9 on March 30 and two birds were flushed from the same location during the April 21 aerial survey.

DISCUSSION

The SDGFP has identified wind energy as a potential threat to prairie grouse habitat and wind energy companies have identified South Dakota as a top location for development within the U.S. (SDGFP 2011). The SDGFP has established a strategy to collaborate with wind energy developers to site projects in areas that minimize impacts to prairie grouse. Although SDGFP has no specific setback requirements for siting wind turbines from leks, they recommend avoiding large, intact tracts of native vegetation and avoiding unnecessary ecological impacts through proper planning. The *Siting Guidelines for Wind Power Projects in South Dakota* recommend siting development within altered landscapes absent of native vegetation and avoiding construction of facilities, including mowing or clearing vegetation, during the breeding season (April to July) for ground-nesting birds.

Greater prairie-chicken leks were found in two general areas within the Project area; along the eastern edge and within the portion of the Project area located south of Holabird. Leks were primarily located within grassland habitats and within 1.5-miles of another lek. Because of the clustered occurrence of leks within the Project area, this information provides an indication of important greater prairie-chicken breeding habitats to avoid when siting wind turbines. Developing a general siting strategy that places turbines within agricultural fields and avoids disturbance or fragmentation to grassland habitats would reduce potential impacts to greater prairie-chickens and their breeding habitat within the Project area.

Visual detection for all leks, except Lek ID #5, occurred during ground-based surveys from county roads. Visual confirmation of the location where males displayed at Lek ID #5 could not be obtained from the ground; although, birds were observed within the general area during two aerial surveys. It is likely males moved where they displayed during the breeding season in response to the lowland area becoming flooded. While the coordinates provide a general location of the lek, the location used in micro-siting turbines should be considered approximate at this time and additional ground based surveys to pinpoint the lek location are suggested.

As noted above, the SDGFP does not mandate a distance wind turbines need to be setback from leks but recommends proper planning to avoid unnecessary impacts of wind power development. Results of the lek survey can be used during collaboration with the SDGFP to develop a wind turbine siting strategy that avoids or minimizes impacts to prairie grouse within the Project area.

LITERATURE CITED

- Bidwell, T. G., S. Fuhlendorf, S. Harmon, R. Horton, R. Manes, R. Rodgers, S. Sherrod, and D. Wolfe. 2003. Ecology and Management of the Greater Prairie-Chicken. Oklahoma State University Extension Circular E-969. Oklahoma Cooperative Extension Unit, Stillwater, Oklahoma, USA.
- Flake, L.D., J.W. Connely, T.R. Kirschenmann, and A.J. Lindbloom. 2010. Grouse of Plains and Mountains – The South Dakota Story. South Dakota Department of Game, Fish and Parks, Pierre.
- Kirschenmann, T. R. 2008. Spatial ecology, land use, harvest, and the effect of dog training on sympatric greater prairie-chicken and sharp-tailed grouse on the Fort Pierre National Grassland, South Dakota. Completion Report 2008-08, Project No. 75108.
- Prose, B. L., B. S. Cade and D. Hein. 2002. Selection of Nesting Habitat by Sharp-tailed Grouse in the Nebraska Sandhills. US Geological Survey (USGS) Staff -- Published Research. Paper 89. <u>http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/usgsstaffpub/8</u>
- South Dakota Game Fish and Parks. 2011. Prairie Grouse Management Plan for South Dakota. 26pp.

Appendix A. Survey Results by Date of Prairie Grouse Surveys, Triple H Wind Project, Spring 2016
Lek_ID	Date	Survey Method	# Observed	Time	Status	Species	UTM_N	UTM_E	Comments
1	3/30/2016	Ground	2	717	Active	GPC	4922100	470707	East of windmill not fully visible from road, observed two birds displaying after hearing them.
1	4/20/2016	Air	0	639	Inactive	GPC			No birds observed during aerial survey
1	4/21/2016	Air	0	846	Inactive	GPC			No birds observed during aerial survey
1	4/30/2016	Ground	2	612	Active	GPC			Confirmed birds from ground.
2	3/29/2016	Ground	6	720	Active	GPC	4922806	470285	In meadow east of pond.
2	4/20/2016	Air	1	636	Active	GPC			One flushed to cover, circled and didn't see any other birds
2	4/21/2016	Air	0	842	Inactive	GPC			No birds observed during aerial survey.
2	4/30/2016	Ground	5	635	Active	GPC			Confirmed birds from ground.
3	3/29/2016	Ground		750	Active	GPC			Auditory detection south of road could not observe.
3	3/30/2016	Ground	4	818	Active	GPC	4918549	462147	East of pond on ridge. Visual confirmation of 3/29 auditory.
3	4/20/2016	Air	0	625	Inactive	GPC			No birds observed during aerial survey.
3	4/21/2016	Air	0	852	Inactive	GPC			No birds observed during aerial survey.
3	4/30/2016	Ground	0	815	Inactive	GPC			No auditory or visual, cows / calves in pasture.
4	4/2/2016	Ground	4	709	Active	GPC	4923945	450474	Near fence corner in pasture. Spotted from road to east and birds were on east side of the fence.
4	4/21/2016	Air	0	630	Inactive	GPC			Possible GPC re-checked at 732 no birds observed.
4	4/28/2016	Air	2	751	Active	GPC			Observed during survey, GPS point not recorded but biologists indicated same location as point 4.
5	4/2/2016	Ground	0	734	Active	GPC			Auditory detection and could not get visual of birds after various stops. Birds heard from road to east and south but never could see them.
5	4/21/2016	Air	2	717	Active	GPC	4921643	451128	Observed near corner where fences intersect, area flooded, birds may have moved. Same general location as point 5 auditory.
5	4/28/2016	Air	10	745	Active	GPC	4921968	451387	Same general area a previous point 5, lowland flooded.
6	4/2/2016	Ground	4	808	Active	GPC	4923428	449195	Observed from road to southeast. Birds were observed on ridge in the green wheat field.
6	4/21/2016	Air	4	622	Active	GPC			In wheat field 1 flushed 3 loafing use original point 6
6	4/21/2016	Air	1	622	Active	GPC			Flushed keep with original point 6
6	4/28/2016	Air	2	803	Active	GPC			Near previous point 6 in wheat field.
7	4/2/2016	Ground	3	824	Active	GPC	4919903	453281	North of fence. Observed from road to west and was fairly due east and little north of ranch house. Short grass pasture.
7	4/21/2016	Air	3	641	Active	GPC			Same location as previous point
7	4/28/2016	Air	0	730	Inactive	GPC			No birds observed during aerial survey
8	4/29/2016	Ground		635	Active	GPC			Auditory only, foggy and could not get visual
8	4/30/2016	Ground	3	645	Active	GPC	4919239	470761	Visual of GPC display from ground.

Lek_ID	Date	Survey Method	# Observed	Time	Status	Species	UTM_N	UTM_E	Comments		
9	4/2/2016	Ground	11	830	Active	GPC	4917870	452130	On small ridge can see from road, heard from survey area but lek located >1/2 mile from Project.		
9	4/21/2016	Air	10	627	Active	GPC			Grassy pasture flushed north of road NE part of intersection.		
9	4/28/2016	Air	2	738	Active	GPC			Same location as point 9		
10	3/30/2016	Ground	3	755	Active	GPC	4925184	468613	West of fence in pasture. Observed from road to the west and birds were pretty close to fence in middle of section. Heard from project area, lek located >1/2 mile from project area.		
10	4/20/2016	Air	0	631	Inactive	GPC			No birds observed during aerial survey.		
10	4/21/2016	Air	2	837	Active	GPC			Flushed west of N/S fence in grassy pasture.		
Additiona	Additional Incidental Observations from ground surveys on March 29, 30, April 2 2016										
Point ID	Date		Num_Obs	Lek	Status	Species	UTM_N	UTM_E	Comments		
11	4/2/2016	Ground	2	842	Active	GPC	4920024	454113	North of pond could not see all the birds. Location hard to map could be north or south of this location		
11	4/20/2016	Air	0	840	Inactive	GPC			No birds observed during aerial survey		
11	4/21/2016	Air	0	648	Inactive	GPC			No birds observed during aerial survey		
11	4/28/2016	Air	0	629	Inactive	GPC			No birds observed during aerial survey, GPC flushed to north of location along CR 203.		
Additiona	al Incidental	Observati	ions from ae	rial surve	ys on Apri	20 & 21	2016				
Point ID	Date		Num_Obs	Lek	Status	Species	UTM_N	UTM_E	Comments		
12	4/21/2016	Air	1	731	Observ	STGR	4918437	450220	Flushed from grassy pasture to crops		
12	4/28/2016	Air	0	655	Inactive				No birds observed during aerial survey.		
13	4/21/2016	Air	1	737	Observ	STGR	4923362	448795	Flushed from grassy area. Bird located just west of point 7.		
13	4/28/2016	Air	0	706	Inactive				No birds observed during aerial survey.		
14	4/21/2016	Air	3	808	Observ	GPC	4920450	444714	Pilot observed birds flush from fence line		
14	4/28/2016	Air	0	733	Inactive				No birds observed during aerial survey.		
Additiona	al Incidental	Observati	ions from ae	rial surve	y on April	28 2016					
Point ID	Date		Num_Obs	Lek	Status	Species	UTM_N	UTM_E	Comments		
15	4/28/2016	Air	2	715	Observ	GPC	4922969	453822	In wheat field		
16	4/28/2016	Air	1	724	Observ	GPC	4920887	454021	Point on CR203		
17	4/28/2016	Air	2	806	Observ	GPC	4922526	448762	Fence corner		
18	4/28/2016	Air	2	807	Observ	GPC	4921725	448798	Fence corner		

Appendix J. Prairie Grouse Lek Surveys for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota – 2018 Prairie Grouse Lek Report

Prairie Grouse Lek Surveys for the Triple H Wind Project Hughes and Hyde Counties, SD

2018 Prairie Grouse Lek Report



Prepared for:

Engie IR Holdings

3760 State Street, Suite 200 Santa Barbara, California 93105

Prepared by:

Brian Heath

Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. 415 West 17th Street, Suite 200 Cheyenne, Wyoming 82001

October 2, 2018



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Engie IR Holdings (Engie) is proposing a wind energy facility in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota referred to as the Triple H Wind Project (Project). Engie contracted Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) to conduct surveys and monitor wildlife resources to identify potential impacts of facility construction and operations on wildlife. The following report contains the results of greater prairie-chicken and sharp-tailed grouse (prairie grouse) lek surveys conducted at the Project. The objective of the prairie grouse lek survey is to collect pre- construction data that can be used to help site the wind turbines to minimize impacts on grouse.

In 2016, baseline wildlife studies were completed within a portion of the Project encompassing 39,068 acres, Engie has expanded the Project boundary to encompass approximately 110,059 acres. During 2016 studies, 10 greater prairie-chicken leks were documented within the initial Project area. WEST conducted surveys to document the 2018 breeding season status for the 10 previously identified leks and any prairie grouse leks within the expanded Project area.

Leks documented during 2016 surveys were visited at least three times between March 27 and May 6, 2018 to document current breeding season activity and record counts of prairie grouse attending the leks, if active. The date, time, status, number and species of prairie grouse were recorded during each visit.

Surveys for leks were also conducted three times between March 27 and May 6, 2018 within the entire expanded Project area and extend to a one-mile buffer of the expanded Project area excluding areas that were previously surveyed in 2016. Initially three aerial surveys were proposed; however, due to flight cancelations because of various issues a combination of ground-based and aerial surveys were used to document breeding prairie grouse locations.

The first survey was ground-based and conducted from March 27-30, 2018 by traveling accessible roads throughout the Project area and one-mile buffer. Vehicles were driven along county roads and stops made at approximately one-half to one-mile intervals to look and listen for breeding grouse. If a lek was visually located, the observer marked the location on a hard copy map and recorded the distance and direction from the observation point along with the number of males, females, and birds of unknown sex attending the lek. For potential leks where only auditory detection occurred, biologists recorded the global positioning system location on the road and noted the bearing and estimated distance to the lek from their location. The observer attempted to pinpoint the lek location by stopping at other locations to triangulate the location. On lands currently under easement or to which access could otherwise be obtained, biologists walked into lek locations to obtain a precise location of the lek during the middle of the day when birds were not at the lek. On lands where access could not be obtained, the location on the map was digitized by ArcMap geographical information system software. Observations of non-lekking prairie grouse were also recorded.

The second and third round of surveys were completed from April 23-27 and May 2-5, 2018 by flying north/south transects spaced approximately 0.25-miles apart across the survey area. An onboard GPS unit was used to keep the plane on transect, record lek locations, and document daily flight paths. Biologists recorded the number of birds on the lek and whether occupied by greater prairie-chicken or sharp-tailed grouse. Surveys commenced approximately 30 minutes before sunrise and lasted for approximately two hours after sunrise. Surveys primarily occurred on mornings with good visibility, clear skies, relatively calm winds (<10-15 mph) and no precipitation. Any suspected lek observed from the air was later re-checked from the ground to verify the presence of displaying males, confirm species, and obtain a count of the birds attending the lek. Where access to private land was granted, each lek was visited to record the approximate center of the lek with a GPS receiver. The presence of feathers, droppings, or trampled vegetation was used to confirm the location as a lek.

Of the 10 prairie grouse leks documented during 2016 surveys, six were active with displaying males and four were inactive during at least three lek activity checks. Sharp-tailed grouse were documented on one lek where greater prairie-chickens were observed in 2016. The other five active leks were in approximately the same locations as in 2016 and greater prairie-chickens were again observed displaying at each of the locations. No prairie grouse breeding displays were observed at the four inactive leks during the three visits in 2018. The grassland habitat remained intact at three of the inactive leks and the other inactive lek was located within a cropland. In 2018 the field contained corn stubble, whereas when documented in 2016 it was planted with winter wheat.

Thirty new leks, 29 greater prairie-chicken and one sharp-tailed grouse, were documented during 2018 surveys. Eighteen leks were located within the Project area and 11 within one-mile of the Project boundary, and one lek was located approximately 1.5-miles south of the Project boundary. Four leks were located within croplands and 26 were located within grassland habitats, primarily native grass pastures. The maximum number of birds on greater prairie- chicken leks varied from 3-20 birds with an average maximum count of 10 birds. Ten and six birds were the maximum count for the two sharp-tailed grouse leks.

The South Dakota Game, Fish and Parks Recommendations for Grouse Lek Buffers for wind development and associated infrastructure include: no new construction within one-mile buffer of a prairie grouse lek (NSO buffer), no activity within two-miles of a lek from March 1 to June 30 during construction and operations (TL buffer), and recommends avoiding placing wind development in large, continuous blocks of grasslands and maintaining habitat connectivity between leks. Based on 2018 survey results, approximately 36% of the Project area is located within one-mile of a prairie grouse lek NSO buffer where no new construction is recommended. Approximately 79% of the Project occurs within the recommended two-mile TL construction and operational buffers. These recommendation and results of the lek survey and can be used during collaboration with the SDGFP to develop a wind turbine siting strategy that minimizes impacts to prairie grouse within the Project area.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	. i
INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND	1
STUDY AREA	1
METHODS	2
RESULTS	4
DISCUSSION	7
LITERATURE CITED	9

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Location and maximum number of prairie grouse observed at leks during surveys	
for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota, Spring	
2018	6

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Location of the 2016 and expanded Triple H Wind Projects, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota.	.2
Figure 2. Location of prairie grouse leks and incidental observations detected during surveys for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota, Spring 2018	.5
Figure 3. Prairie grouse leks No Surface Occupancy and Timing Limitation recommended buffers for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota, 2018.	.8

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A. Survey Results by Date of Prairie Grouse Surveys, Triple H Wind Project, Spring 2018

INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND

Engie IR Holdings (Engie) is considering the development of the Triple H Wind Project (Project) in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota. In 2016, baseline wildlife studies were completed within a portion of the Project encompassing 39,068 acres based on a 200 MW project. Engie has expanded the Project boundary to encompass approximately 110,059 acres and may include three separate 250 MW phases. With the expansion, Engie contracted with Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) to conduct surveys and monitor wildlife resources in the expanded Project area to evaluate the potential impacts of wind energy facility construction and operations on wildlife. The Project area occurs within the occupied range of the greater prairie- chicken (*Tympanuchus cupido*) and sharp-tailed grouse (*T. phasianellus* [hereafter prairie grouse]) and during 2016 studies 10 leks were documented within the initial Project area. Greater prairie-chickens are listed as a Species of Greatest Conservation Need (SGCN) in South Dakota. Engie requested WEST conduct surveys to document the 2018 breeding season status for the 10 previously identified leks and any prairie grouse leks within the expanded Project area. The objective of the prairie grouse lek survey is to collect pre-construction data that can be used to help site the wind turbines to minimize impacts on grouse.

Male prairie grouse attend traditional breeding grounds or leks in the spring to display and perform ritualistic courtship behavior to attract females for mating. Leks are defined by the South Dakota Game Fish and Parks (SDGFP) as a "traditional display area where two or more male grouse have attended in two or more of the previous five years" (SDGFP 2017a). Leks are typically located on knolls, gentle rises, and greater prairie-chicken leks are sometimes located on flat bottomlands such as a dry wetland (SDGFP 2017b).

In South Dakota, male prairie grouse begin defending territories on leks in late February with peak activity occurring in early April during peak hen attendance (SDGFP 2017b). After mating, hens typically nest within a few miles of the lek but some may nest up to 10 miles or farther away (SDGFP 2017b). The average distance from lek of capture to nest site for female greater prairie-chickens and sharp-tailed grouse fitted with radio-transmitters on the Fort Pierre National Grasslands was 1.98 km (1.23-miles) and 2.03 km (1.27-miles), respectively (Kirschenmann 2008). Prairie grouse are dependent upon grasslands for nearly all life cycle needs and typically nest in areas with dense or residual grass to conceal nests from predators (Bidwell et al. 2003, Prose et al. 2002). They will use grass and alfalfa hay fields during the spring and summer and both species will also utilize waste grain in agricultural fields primarily during the fall and winter (SDGFP 2017b).

STUDY AREA

The Project is located in Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota approximately three miles south of Highmore and Holabird, South Dakota (Figure 1). The Project is located within the Northwestern Glaciated Plains Level III Ecoregion, a transitional region between the generally more level, moister, more agricultural Northern Glaciated Plains to the east and the generally

more irregular, dryer, Northwestern Great Plains to the west and southwest (USEPA 2015). This ecoregion is characterized by high concentrations of seasonal and semi-permanent wetlands (prairie potholes [USEPA 2015). The topography within the Project consists of rolling hills, with elevations ranging from 1,800 to 2,150 feet above sea level. Land ownership in the Project is primarily private with a few scattered State or County school public lands. The US Fish and Wildlife Services (USFWS) Harter-Cowan Waterfowl Production Area and State Chapelle Water Access Area are also located within the Project area. Chapelle Creek is the main drainage within the Project and prairie potholes occur across the area. The majority of the lands within the Project support agriculture, either as cultivated crop, hay, or pasture lands.



Figure 1. Location of the 2016 and expanded Triple H Wind Projects, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota.

METHODS

Leks documented during 2016 surveys were visited at least three times between March 27 and May 6, 2018 to document current breeding season activity and record counts of prairie grouse attending the leks, if active. The majority of visits occurred from the ground; however, some visits were conducted from the air for leks that were inactive during initial ground checks to survey the general area in the event the location of the lek moved since the previous survey. The date, time, status, number and species of prairie grouse were recorded during each visit.

Surveys for leks were also conducted three times between March 27 and May 6, 2018 within the entire expanded Project area and extend to a one-mile buffer of the expanded Project area excluding areas that were previously surveyed in 2016. Initially three aerial surveys were proposed; however, due to flight cancelations because of mechanical issues, severe weather, and delays with airplane licensing, a combination of ground-based and aerial surveys were used to search for breeding prairie grouse locations.

The first survey was ground-based and conducted between March 27-30, 2018 by traveling accessible roads throughout the Project area and one-mile buffer. Surveys commenced 30 minutes before sunrise and continued until approximately two hours after sunrise. Four-wheel drive vehicles were driven along county roads and stops made at approximately one-half to one-mile intervals or more frequently depending upon habitat type. Biologists walked ~10-20 feet from the vehicle and looked and listened for breeding grouse for approximately 5 minutes before progressing to the next location.

If a lek was visually located, the observer marked the location on a hard copy map and recorded the distance and direction from the observation point along with the number of males, females, and birds of unknown sex attending the lek. For potential leks where only auditory detection occurred, biologists recorded the global positioning system (GPS) location on the road and noted the bearing and estimated distance to the lek from their location. The observer attempted to pinpoint the lek location by stopping at other locations to triangulate the location. On lands currently under easement or to which access could otherwise be obtained, biologists walked into lek locations to obtain a precise GPS location of the lek during the middle of the day when birds were not at the lek. On lands where access could not be obtained, the location on the map was digitized by ArcMap geographical information system (GIS) software.

Observations of non-lekking prairie grouse were also recorded. Visual and/or auditory detections at a given location on two or more occasions was used to distinguish between a lek and an incidental observation. While the objective of the surveys was to document breeding locations to use in help siting the wind turbines, incidental observations of grouse were also recorded during surveys and provide an indication of use within the Project area.

A major blizzard occurred in mid-April and delayed the initial aerial survey. However, several county roads had been cleared and allowed some of the leks documented during the 2016 surveys and during the initial ground survey in March 2018 to be revisited and obtain counts of birds attending the leks. These counts were conducted from April 15-17, 2018 and any new leks detected during the surveys were also recorded.

Two rounds of aerial surveys were conducted from April 23-27 and May 2-5, 2018. A Cessna 172 flew north/south transects across the survey area spaced approximately 0.25-miles apart at an altitude of approximately 100-150 feet above ground level. Surveys commenced approximately 30 minutes before sunrise and lasted for approximately two hours after sunrise on mornings with good visibility, clear skies, relatively calm winds (<10-15 mph) and no precipitation. An onboard GPS unit was used to keep the plane on transect, document prairie

grouse observations, and record daily flight paths. Biologists recorded the number of birds on the lek and whether occupied by greater prairie-chicken or sharp-tailed grouse when possible. The following characteristics were used to distinguish between these species from the air. A square-tail shape and dark, blocky body for greater prairie-chickens versus a pointed-tail with white under tail coverts and lighter body color for sharp-tailed grouse.

Any suspected lek observed from the air was later re-checked from the ground to verify the presence of displaying males, confirm species, and obtain a count of the birds attending the lek. Where access to private land was granted, each lek was visited to record the approximate center of the lek with a GPS receiver. The presence of feathers, droppings, or trampled vegetation was used to confirm the location as a lek.

RESULTS

Of the 10 prairie grouse leks documented during 2016 surveys, six were active with displaying males and four were inactive during at least three lek activity checks (Figure 2, Table1). Sharp-tailed grouse were documented on Lek #1 in 2018; whereas, in 2016 greater prairie-chickens were observed on the lek. The lek was in approximately the same location within grassland habitat that appeared to have been hayed in 2017. Leks #2, #4, #7, #9, #10 were active, in approximately the same locations as in 2016, and greater-prairie chickens were observed displaying at each of the locations at least three times during the breeding season (Appendix A). All active leks were within grasslands; however, the landowner broke the sod where Lek #4 was located during early May 2018. Greater prairie-chickens were still observed on the lek even after the ground had been broke. Leks #3, #5, #6, and #8 were documented as inactive during three visits. The grassland habitat remained intact where Leks #3, #5, and #8 were previously documented in 2016. In 2016, Lek #6 was located within a wheat field and the field contained corn stubble in 2018.

Thirty new leks, 29 greater prairie-chicken and one sharp-tailed grouse, and 28 incidental prairie grouse observations were documented during 2018 surveys. At 26 of the 30 locations, at least two males were observed on at least two occasions during the breeding season and were classified as leks. Leks #56, #58 and #59 were the exceptions and only had one observation each from the air during the final round of surveys in early May 2018. Lek #56 is located within a native grass pasture and is not visible from any road but was inspected from the ground where several feathers and droppings were noted confirming the location as a lek. Lek #58 is located approximately 1.5-miles south of the Project boundary and was observed when flying from one transect to another. Because the lek is located outside of the survey area no attempt to confirm breeding activity was made and the lek has been included for informational or potential future planning purposes. Lek #59 is located within the Harter-Cowan Waterfowl Production Area and is not visible from a ground inspection of the area several feathers, droppings, and trampled grass were noted confirming the location as a lek.

Eighteen leks were located within the Project area and 11 within one-mile of the Project boundary, as noted previously Lek #58 is located approximately 1.5-miles south of the Project



boundary. Leks #17, #22, #37, and #63 were located within croplands and the 26 other leks were located within grassland habitats, primarily native grass pastures.

Figure 2. Location of prairie grouse leks and incidental observations detected during surveys for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota, Spring 2018.

			<u></u>						<u>,</u>	
ld ¹	Date	SPP ²	Status	# Birds ³	QQ	Sec	Twn	Rng	Habitat	Location
1*	3/27/2018	STGR LEK	Active	10	SWNE	4	111	71	Grassland	Project
2*	4/27/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	6	SESW	33	112	71	Grassland	Project
3*	3/27/2018	GRPC LEK	Inactive	0	SWNW	15	111	72	Grassland	Project
4*	4/15/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	14	NWNW	33	112	72	Grassland	Project
5*	3/28/2018	GRPC LEK	Inactive	0	SWNE	4	112	73	Grassland	Project
6*	3/29/2018	GRPC LEK	Inactive	0	SWNW	32	112	73	Cropland	Project
7*	4/24/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	7	NESE	10	111	73	Grassland	Project
8*	3/27/2018	GRPC LEK	Inactive	2	NENE	16	111	71	Grassland	Project
9*	4/27/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	19	SWSW	15	111	73	Grassland	Project
10*	3/27/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	18	SENW	29	112	71	Grassland	One-Mile Buffer
12	4/15/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	13	SWNE	16	111	72	Grassland	Project
13	4/16/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	6	NWSW	27	111	71	Grassland	One-Mile Buffer
14	3/28/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	12	NWSW	6	111	73	Grassland	Project
15	4/24/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	5	NWNE	11	111	74	Grassland	Project
16	4/15/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	10	NWSW	16	111	74	Grassland	Project
17	3/30/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	10	NWSE	25	111	74	Cropland	Project
18	3/29/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	10	SWSE	17	111	71	Grassland	Project
19	3/29/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	6	SESE	30	111	71	Grassland	One-Mile Buffer
20	3/28/2019	GRPC LEK	Active	8	SESW	32	111	73	Grassland	Project
21	3/28/2017	GRPC LEK	Active	11	NWNE	6	111	70	Grassland	One-Mile Buffer
22	4/24/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	7	SENE	22	111	74	Cropland	Project
24	4/24/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	7	NESW	9	111	73	Grassland	Project
25	4/15/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	9	SWSE	25	112	71	Grassland	One-Mile Buffer
27	4/16/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	7	NWSW	22	111	71	Grassland	Project
29	5/2/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	4	SENW	28	111	72	Grassland	One-Mile Buffer
33	4/24/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	7	SWNW	22	111	74	Grassland	Project
34	4/24/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	4	NENE	22	111	72	Grassland	Project
36	4/26/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	15	SESW	17	111	73	Grassland	Project
37	4/26/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	11	SESW	13	112	73	Cropland	One-Mile Buffer
42	5/2/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	10	SENE	3	110	73	Grassland	One-Mile Buffer
47	5/3/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	4	NWNW	23	112	71	Grassland	One-Mile Buffer
52	5/2/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	3	NESW	8	110	74	Grassland	One-Mile Buffer
54	5/3/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	5	SWNE	23	110	74	Grassland	One-Mile Buffer
55	5/3/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	20	SENW	13	110	74	Grassland	Project
56	5/3/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	15	NESW	19	111	73	Grassland	Project
57	5/6/2018	STGR LEK	Active	6	NWNE	21	111	73	Grassland	Project
58	5/4/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	15	SESE	11	110	73	Grassland	1.5 Mile Buffer
59	5/4/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	14	NWSE	17	111	72	Grassland	Project
61	5/5/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	4	NWNE	27	111	72	Grassland	One-Mile Buffer
63	5/5/2018	GRPC LEK	Active	10	SESE	15	111	74	Cropland	Project

Table 1. Location and maximum number of prairie grouse observed at leks during surveys for theTriple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota, Spring 2018.

¹ – * Denotes leks documented during 2016 surveys and re-visited in 2018

² Species – GRPC LEK = greater prairie-chicken lek; STGR Lek = sharp-tailed grouse lek.

³# Birds – Maximum number of prairie grouse observed at a lek during surveys regardless of sex.

Of the 28 prairie grouse incidental observations, 19 were of greater-prairie chickens, five sharptailed grouse, and four observations where the species of grouse was not ascertained during aerial surveys. The incidental observations are presented on Figure 2 and included within Appendix A with the other survey results. It was often difficult to obtain an accurate count of males versus females during aerial surveys as most birds flushed when the plane approached the lek as well as from the ground due to the vegetation and distance from the county roads when attempting to get counts of the birds. Therefore, the maximum number of birds is reported and not maximum number of males; however, in several counts the maximum count represents the number of males observed displaying.

The maximum number of birds on greater prairie-chicken leks varied from 3-20 birds with an average maximum count of 10 birds. Ten and six birds were the maximum count for the two sharp-tailed grouse leks which were even more difficult to distinguish between males and females.

DISCUSSION

The SDGFP has identified wind energy as a potential threat to prairie grouse habitat and wind energy companies have identified South Dakota as a top location for development within the U.S. (SDGFP 2017b). The SDGFP Recommendations for Grouse Lek Buffers (SDGFP 2017a) for wind development and associated infrastructure include:

- "No-surface Occupancy (NSO) Use or occupancy of the land surface for wind development and associated infrastructure is prohibited in order to protect identified resource values." The NSO for prairie grouse leks is at least one-mile as measure from the center of the lek where no new construction is recommended.
- "Timing Limitation (TL) Use and disturbance of the land surface are prohibited during specified time periods to protect identified resource values." The recommended TL buffer during construction is March 1 to June 30 within two-miles of a lek where no activity is recommended to protect leks and nests. When the wind farm is in operation, the recommended TL is 3 hours after sunrise between March 1 and June 30 again to protect leks and no activity is recommended.
- SDGFP also recommends avoiding placing wind development in large, continuous blocks
 of grasslands and maintaining habitat connectivity between leks. Existing roads should be
 used where possible, minimize the volume of traffic on roads, and where possible close
 and re-vegetate travel ways.

Based on 2018 survey results, approximately 36% of the Project area is located within one-mile of a prairie grouse lek NSO buffer where no new construction is recommended (Figure 3). Approximately 79% of the Project occurs within the recommended two-mile TL construction and operational buffers.



Figure 3. Prairie grouse leks No Surface Occupancy and Timing Limitation recommended buffers for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota, 2018.

Prairie grouse leks, primarily greater prairie-chicken leks, were found across the Project area; generally within larger blocks of grassland habitats and within one-mile of another lek. Higher lek density occurred within five general areas of the Project. Two "clusters" of six leks each are located east and west of the Hughes and Hyde County line within the west-central Project area. Another cluster of leks is located within and adjacent to the Cowan Waterfowl Production Area in the south-central Project area. The other two groups of leks are located within the northeastern and southeastern portions of the Project. Because of the clustered occurrence of leks within the Project area, the information provides an indication of important prairie grouse breeding habitats to avoid when siting wind turbines.

The results of the lek survey can be used during collaboration with the SDGFP to develop a wind turbine siting strategy that minimizes impacts to prairie grouse within the Project area. Developing a general siting strategy that places turbines within agricultural fields and avoids disturbance or fragmentation to grassland habitats would help reduce potential impacts to prairie grouse and their breeding habitat within the Project area.

LITERATURE CITED

- Bidwell, T. G., S. Fuhlendorf, S. Harmon, R. Horton, R. Manes, R. Rodgers, S. Sherrod, and D. Wolfe. 2003. Ecology and Management of the Greater Prairie-Chicken. Oklahoma State University Extension Circular E-969. Oklahoma Cooperative Extension Unit, Stillwater, Oklahoma, USA.
- Flake, L.D., J.W. Connely, T.R. Kirschenmann, and A.J. Lindbloom. 2010. Grouse of Plains and Mountains – The South Dakota Story. South Dakota Department of Game, Fish and Parks, Pierre.
- Kirschenmann, T. R. 2008. Spatial ecology, land use, harvest, and the effect of dog training on sympatric greater prairie-chicken and sharp-tailed grouse on the Fort Pierre National Grassland, South Dakota. Completion Report 2008-08, Project No. 75108.
- Prose, B. L., B. S. Cade and D. Hein. 2002. Selection of Nesting Habitat by Sharp-tailed Grouse in the Nebraska Sandhills. US Geological Survey (USGS) Staff -- Published Research. Paper 89. <u>http://digitalcommons.unl.edu/usgsstaffpub/8</u>
- South Dakota Game Fish and Parks. 2017a. Recommendations for Grouse Lek Buffers, 17 February 2017. Provided by L. Murphy, Environmental Review Coordinator, South Dakota Game, Fish, and Parks.
- South Dakota Game Fish and Parks. 2017b. Prairie Grouse Management Plan for South Dakota. 29pp.
- U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015, Level III ecoregions of the continental United States: Corvallis, Oregon, U.S. EPA National Health and Environmental Effects Research Laboratory, map scale 1:7,500,000,

https://www.arcgis.com/home/item.html?id=a550ce1ee2614125b35e522d7ab69770

Appendix A. Survey Results by Date of Prairie Grouse Surveys, Triple H Wind Project, Spring 2018

ID	Date	Survey Method	# Birds¹	Time	Status	Species ²	Type ³	Comments
1	3/27/2018	Ground	10	735	Active	STGR	Lek	Same general location as in 2016. Field was hayed in 2017.
1	4/16/2018	Ground	2	637	Active	STGR	Lek	
1	4/27/2018	Ground	8	614	Active	STGR	Lek	males displaying
2	3/27/2018	Ground	5	735	Active	GRPC	Lek	2016 lek active in 2018, coordinates good for this lek.
2	4/15/2018	Ground	4	1035	Active	GRPC	Lek	birds on lek but not displaying, late in morning for check
2	4/27/2018	Ground	6	619	Active	GRPC	Lek	Males displaying and calling
3	3/27/2018	Ground	0	810	Inactive			2016 GRPC lek, no birds observed or heard. Flock snow geese on pond
3	4/15/2018	Ground	0	910	Inactive			no birds observed or heard.
3	4/26/2018	Air	0		Inactive			No birds observed during aerial survey.
3	5/4/2018	Air	0		Inactive			No birds observed during aerial survey. 2 GRPC flushed from wheat field to south.
4	3/28/2018	Ground	5	740	Active	GRPC	Lek	2016 lek, ground verification and gps of lek on 3/29/2018
4	4/15/2018	Ground	14	814	Active	GRPC	Lek	birds active on snow
4	4/24/2018	Ground	6	920	Active	GRPC	Lek	4 males displaying, 2 unknown loafing
4	5/6/2018	Ground	5	837	Active	GRPC	Lek	farmer has broke sod on lek birds still on lek
5	3/28/2018	Ground	0	707	Inactive			2016 GRPC lek, no birds heard or observed. Also re-checked on 3/29/2018
5	4/15/2018	Ground	0	810	Inactive			No birds heard or observed.
5	4/26/2018	Ground	0	635	Inactive			No birds heard or observed
6	3/28/2019							2016 GRPC lek, unable to check from ground
6	4/17/2018	Ground	0	635	Inactive			Windy but ok light, no birds observed or heard
6	4/25/2016	Air	0		Inactive			Location in cut cornfield. Circled area no birds observed or flushed. Also checked grass qtr section to NE no birds.
6	5/3/2018	Air	0	825	Inactive			No birds observed, framer broke sod to NE.
7	3/28/2017	Ground	0	756	Inactive			2016 GRPC lek, no birds heard or observed. Re-checked on 3/29/2018
7	4/15/2018	Ground	3	824	Active	GRPC	Lek	One displaying 2 loafing. See updated location out from shed in 2018
7	4/17/2015	Ground	3	702	Active	GRPC	Lek	Windy not displaying. GPS of coordinates from ground.
7	4/24/2018	Ground	7	755	Active	GRPC	Lek	Wind not displaying but some standing
8	3/27/2018	Ground	2	750	Inactive	GRPC	Obs	2 birds observed but not displaying. Others heard but could not locate. Re-checked 3/29/2018 nothing heard but several deer in area.
8	4/16/2018	Ground	0	707	Inactive			No birds observed or heard.
8	4/26/2018	Ground	0	720	Inactive			No birds observed or heard.
9	3/27/2018	Ground	12	903	Active	GRPC	Lek	Same location as 2016. 12 males 2 females on 3/28/2018

ID	Date	Survey Method	# Birds¹	Time	Status	Species ²	Type ³	Comments
9	4/15/2018	Ground	9	831	Active	GRPC	Lek	Some birds displaying others loafing, moderate calling.
9	4/24/2018	Ground	10	750	Active	GRPC	Lek	active display although 20mph winds
9	4/27/2018	Ground	19	839	Active	GRPC	Lek	6 males displaying, 13 unknown total 19 birds
9	5/2/2018	Ground	10	2111	Active	GRPC	Lek	displaying and then 9 flew off.
10	3/27/2018	Ground	18	710	Active	GRPC	Lek	2016 GRPC lek, along fence. Out of project area so didn't gps on ground
10	4/16/2017	Ground	13	815	Active	GRPC	Lek	
10	4/26/2018	Ground	8	628	Active	GRPC	Lek	displaying 20 mph winds
10	5/2/2018	Ground	7	1829	Active	GRPC	Lek	displaying and then loafing
11	3/28/2018	Ground	0	811	Inactive			No birds observed or heard, scanned ridge. Another lek heard in general area.
11	4/15/2018	Ground	0	840	Inactive			No brides observed or heard at lek. Hearing GRPC in distance again.
11	4/16/2018	Ground	0		Inactive			No birds observed or heard.
11	4/26/2018	Air	0		Inactive			No birds observed during flight
11	5/4/2018	Air			Inactive			No birds observed during flight
12	3/28/2018	Ground	7	830	Active	GRPC	Lek	More by vocalizations but could not see. GPS on ground 3/29/2018.
12	4/15/2018	Ground	13	915	Active	GRPC	Lek	Some birds displaying some loafing. Also might be birds in wheat stubble to south.
12	4/24/2018	Ground	7	725	Active	GRPC	Lek	Windy all loafing not displaying
12	5/4/2018	Air	0	730	Inactive			Area around lek burned on WPA controlled burn
13	3/29/2018	Ground	5	802	Active	GRPC	Lek	In grassy area, out of project area didn't gps on ground.
13	4/16/2018	Ground	6	731	Active	GRPC	Lek	
13	4/26/2018	Ground	0	748	Inactive			
13	5/4/2018	Ground	4	1924	Active	GRPC	Lek	2 displaying other 2 loafing
14	3/28/2018	Ground	12	802	Active	GRPC	Lek	On ridge north of shed, gps on ground.
14	4/15/2018	Ground	7	756	Active	GRPC	Lek	Others heard to further east but could not observe
14	4/24/2018	Ground	3	820	Active	GRPC	Lek	Windy no display all loafing
14	5/3/2018	Ground	5	2005	Active	GRPC	Lek	All displaying
15	3/30/208	Ground	5	826	Active	GRPC	Lek	GPS on ground
15	4/15/2018	Ground	2	747	Active	GRPC	Lek	Only 2 loafing at lek, but 6 others observed closer to road and flushed.
15	4/17/2018	Ground	4	654	Active	GRPC	Lek	Back to main lek.
15	4/24/2018	Ground	5	828	Active	GRPC	Lek	Four males displaying, one hen.
15	5/3/2018	Ground	3	2020	Active	GRPC	Lek	3 males displaying, could be a 4th bird loafing
16	3/28/2018	Ground	7	830	Active	GRPC	Lek	Also confirmed on 3/30/2018, gps on ground
16	4/15/2018	Ground	10	708	Active	GRPC	Lek	At least 4 males displaying.
16	4/27/2018	Ground	3	650	Active	GRPC	Lek	2 males displaying, one unknown
16	5/16/2018	Ground	4	636	Active	GRPC	Lek	
17	3/30/2018	Ground	10	716	Active	GRPC	Lek	GPS on round in harvest bean field east of fence.

17 44/15/2018 Ground 8 740 Active GRPC Lek Same location, most leading. 17 42/52/018 Ground 8 1940 Active GRPC Lek Some vailing others leading. 18 32/92/018 Ground 3 711 Active GRPC Lek Some vailing others leading. 18 42/02/018 Ground 3 711 Active GRPC Lek Displaying 19 42/52/018 Ground 6 715 Active GRPC Lek 4 males displaying 19 41/52/018 Ground 6 716 Active GRPC Lek 1 displaying 19 41/52/018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek 1 displaying 20 42/2/018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek Also contrimed on 3/0/018. GPS coordinates from ground 21 42/2/018 Ground 7 750 Ac	ID	Date	Survey Method	# Birds¹	Time	Status	Species ²	Type ³	Comments
17 4/25/2018 Arr. 5 740 Active GRPC Lek Five birds observed during aerial survey. 17 56/2018 Ground 8 1949 Active GRPC Lek Some waiking others loafing 18 3/25/2018 Ground 4 1911 Active GRPC Lek GRPS of an additional strain ground. 19 3/25/2018 Ground 6 950 Active GRPC Lek On adje to asst of road, visible at intersection, dicht gps not in paided. 19 4/15/2018 Ground 6 950 Active GRPC Lek Adjustry ing road area. 19 4/15/2018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek Adjustry ing road area. 10 4/42/2018 Ground 7 835 Active GRPC Lek Adjust confirmed on 3/00/2018. GPS condinates from ground area. 10 4/42/2018 Ground 11 1115 Active GRPC Lek 3 males displaying others atther hens or juvenile mal	17	4/15/2018	Ground	8	728	Active	GRPC	Lek	Same location, most loafing.
17 63/2018 Ground 8 1949 Active GRPC Lok Some walking others loading 18 32/2018 Ground 10 730 Active GRPC Lok GPS coordinates from ground. 18 42/2018 Ground 4 1911 Active GRPC Lok Displaying 19 32/2018 Ground 6 715 Active GRPC Lok On ridge to sant or and, visible at intersection, dinth gap not in pare ground area. 19 41/52018 Ground 6 955 Active GRPC Lok displaying rest freeding in bare ground area. 19 41/62018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lok displaying others attive intersection of males, gps updated from air. 20 41/21218 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lok Also contineed a 330/2018. GPS coordinates from ground area. 21 4/272018 Ground 11 1115 Active GRPC Lok Also attive inthene or 3	17	4/25/2018	Air	5	740	Active	GRPC	Lek	Five birds observed during aerial survey.
18 2292018 Ground 10 730 Active GRPC Lek Displaying 18 4/282018 Ground 3 711 Active GRPC Lek Displaying 19 3/292018 Ground 6 715 Active GRPC Lek 4 Table signaying 19 4/152018 Ground 6 950 Active GRPC Lek 1 displaying rest feeding in bare ground area. 1 19 4/152018 Ground 8 830 Active GRPC Lek displaying rest feeding in bare ground area. 1 19 4/172018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek Active GRPC Lek Ass confirmed on 3/30/2018. GPS coordinates from ground 20 4/242018 Ground 7 750 Active GRPC Lek Ass coordinates from ground area a.kk 21 4/272018 Air 11 8114 Active GRPC Lek	17	5/3/2018	Ground	8	1949	Active	GRPC	Lek	Some walking others loafing
18 428/2018 Ground 3 711 Active GRPC Lek 4 makes displaying 18 52/2018 Ground 6 715 Active GRPC Lek 4 makes displaying 19 4/15/2018 Ground 6 950 Active GRPC Lek 1 displaying rest feeding in bare ground area. 19 4/15/2018 Ground 6 955 Inactive 1 1 displaying rest feeding in bare ground area. 20 322/2018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek Good observation of makes, gps updated from air. 20 4/17/2018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek Also confirmed on 3/30/2018. GPS coordinates from ground 20 472/2018 Ground 7 750 Active GRPC Lek Social for mair 21 472/2018 Ground 1 111 Active GRPC Lek Also at 11 flushed when flew over. 21 472/2018 Grou	18	3/29/2018	Ground	10	730	Active	GRPC	Lek	GPS coordinates from ground.
18 Si22018 Ground 4 1911 Active GRPC Lek 4 male displaying 19 322018 Ground 6 75 Active GRPC Lek On righte beast of road, visible at intersection, didn't gas not in project 19 4/152018 Ground 3 830 Active GRPC Lek displaying rest feeding in bare ground area. 19 4/162018 Ground 0 655 nactive Exec Exec Exec Exec Exec GRPC Lek displaying rest feeding in bare ground area. 20 3/22018 Air 3 834 Active GRPC Lek God observation of males. gas updated from air. 20 3/22018 Ground 7 785 Active GRPC Lek anales displaying others either hens or juvenile males. 21 3/22018 Ground 11 1115 Active GRPC Lek Aliex Aliex 11 116 Active GRPC Lek Aliexa <t< td=""><td>18</td><td>4/26/2018</td><td>Ground</td><td>3</td><td>711</td><td>Active</td><td>GRPC</td><td>Lek</td><td>Displaying</td></t<>	18	4/26/2018	Ground	3	711	Active	GRPC	Lek	Displaying
19 3/29/2018 Ground 6 715 Active GRPC Lek Diridge to est of read, visible at intersection, didn't gps not in 19 4/15/2018 Ground 3 830 Active GRPC Lek displaying rest feeding in bare ground area. 19 4/26/2018 Ground 0 655 Inactive Ideplaying rest feeding in bare ground area. 20 3/28/2019 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek Good cbaservation of males, gps updated from air. 20 4/27/2018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek 3 males displaying others either hens or juvenile males 20 4/24/2018 Air 7 750 Active GRPC Lek Out of bits from air 21 3/22018 Air 11 811 Active GRPC Lek Aleast 11 flushed whan flew over. 21 4/22018 Ground 1 856 Active GRPC Lek Two males fighting on what field. 22	18	5/2/2018	Ground	4	1911	Active	GRPC	Lek	4 males displaying
19 4/15/2018 Ground 6 950 Active GRPC Lek 1 displaying rest feeding in bare ground area. 19 4/16/2018 Ground 0 655 inactive 19 4/26/2018 Ground 0 655 inactive 20 3/28/2019 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek Good observation of males, gps updated from air. 20 4/22/2018 Air 7 835 Active GRPC Lek Asso confirmed on 3/30/2018. GPS coordinates from ground 20 4/22/2018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek Asso confirmed on 3/30/2018. GPS coordinates from ground 20 4/22/2018 Air 7 750 Active GRPC Lek Asso confirmed on 3/30/2018. Ground area. Active GRPC Lek Attest 11 flushed when flew over. 21 4/27/2018 Ground 2 753 Active GRPC Lek Three males displaying when waiting rota, taloo barks observed 5/2018 from air <	19	3/29/2018	Ground	6	715	Active	GRPC	Lek	On ridge to east of road, visible at intersection, didn't gps not in project
19 4/16/2018 Ground 3 830 Active GRPC Lak displaying 19 54/2018 Ground 0 655 Inactive Good observation of males, gps updated from air. 10 54/2018 Air 3 834 Active GRPC Lek Good observation of males, gps updated from air. 20 3/28/2018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek Jos observed displaying others either hens or juvenile males 20 4/17/2018 Ground 1 111 Active GRPC Lek Jobserved displaying when walking read. Landowner confirmed as a low. 21 4/27/2018 Air 1 811 Active GRPC Lek At least 11 flushed when flew over. 21 5/3/2018 Ground 0 2020 Inactive No birds observed displaying in wheat field. 22 4/3/30/2018 Ground 0 266. Active GRPC Lek Twe males fighting and displaying in wheat field. 23 4/3/30/20	19	4/15/2018	Ground	6	950	Active	GRPC	Lek	1 displaying rest feeding in bare ground area.
19 4/26/2018 Ground 0 655 Inactive 19 5/4/2018 Air 3 854 Active GRPC Lek Good observation of males, gps updated from air. 20 3/28/2019 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek Also confirmed on 3/30/2018. GPS coordinates from ground 20 4/17/2016 Ground 7 835 Active GRPC Lek Jacker gado count of birds from air 21 3/28/2017 Ground 11 1115 Active GRPC Lek gado count of birds from air 21 3/28/2017 Air 1 811 Active GRPC Lek At least 11 flushed when flew over. 21 14/27/2018 Air 0 2020 Inactive No birds on lek at right, also no birds observed 5/5/2018 from air 22 4/3/2018 Ground 2 740 Active GRPC Lek Three males displaying when walking road. Active 23 4/15/2018 Ground	19	4/16/2018	Ground	3	830	Active	GRPC	Lek	displaying
19 54/2018 Air 3 834 Active GRPC Lek Good observation of males, gps updated from air. 20 3/28/2019 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek Also confirmed on 3/30/2018, GPS coordinates from ground 20 4/24/2018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek 3/30/2018, GPS coordinates from ground 20 4/24/2018 Ground 11 1115 Active GRPC Lek 3 males displaying others atther hens or juvenile males 21 3/28/2017 Ground 11 1115 Active GRPC Lek Descred displaying when walking road. Landowner confirmed as at lek. 21 54/2018 Ground 0 2020 Inactive No birds on lex at hight, als on birds observed 5/5/2018 from air 22 41/5/2018 Ground 3 656 Active GRPC Lek Three males displaying in wheat field. 23 41/5/2018 Ground 7 719 Active GRPC Lek Three males dis	19	4/26/2018	Ground	0	655	Inactive			
20 3/28/2019 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek Also confirmed on 3/30/2018. GPS coordinates from ground 20 4/24/2018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek 3 males displaying others either hens or juvenile males 20 4/22/2018 Air 7 750 Active GRPC Lek 3 males displaying others either hens or juvenile males 21 3/28/2017 Ground 11 1115 Active GRPC Lek 3 males displaying when waiking road. Landowner confirmed as a lek. 21 4/27/2018 Air 11 811 Active GRPC Lek At least 11 flushed when flew over. 21 5/4/2018 Ground 2 753 Active GRPC Lek Two males fighting and displaying in wheat field. 22 4/15/2018 Ground 3 656 Active GRPC Lek Three males displaying in wheat field. 23 4/15/2018 Ground 5 805 Active GRPC Lek	19	5/4/2018	Air	3	834	Active	GRPC	Lek	Good observation of males, gps updated from air.
20 4/17/2018 Ground 8 718 Active GRPC Lek 20 4/24/2018 Ground 7 835 Active GRPC Lek 3 males displaying others either hens or juvenile males 20 5/3/2018 Air 7 750 Active GRPC Lek good count of birds from air 21 3/28/2017 Ground 11 1115 Active GRPC Lek Good count of birds from air 21 4/27/2018 Air 1 Attive GRPC Lek Cbserved displaying when walking road. Landowner confirmed as a lek. 21 4/24/2018 Ground 0 2020 Inactive No birds on lek at night, also no birds observed 5/5/2018 from air 22 4/24/2018 Ground 2 7/19 Active GRPC Lek Three males displaying in wheat field. 23 4/24/2018 Ground 0 656 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 24 4/17/2018 Ground 3 65	20	3/28/2019	Ground	8	718	Active	GRPC	Lek	Also confirmed on 3/30/2018. GPS coordinates from ground
20 4/24/2018 Ground 7 835 Active GRPC Lek 3 males displaying others either hens or juvenile males 20 5/2/2018 Air 7 750 Active GRPC Lek good count of birds from air 21 3/28/2017 Ground 11 111 811 Active GRPC Lek	20	4/17/2018	Ground	8	718	Active	GRPC	Lek	
20 5/3/2018 Air 7 750 Active GRPC Lek good count of birds from air 21 3/28/2017 Ground 11 1115 Active GRPC Lek Observed displaying when waking road. Landowner confirmed as a lak. 21 4/27/2018 Air 11 811 Active GRPC Lek At least 11 flushed when flew over. 21 5/4/2018 Ground 0 2020 Inactive No birds on lek at night, also no birds observed 5/5/2018 from air 22 3/30/2018 Ground 3 656 Active GRPC Lek Two males displaying in wheat field. 23 3/30/2018 Ground 2 740 Active GRPC Lek 3 males in wheat field. 23 3/30/2018 Ground 0 656 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 0 656 Active GRPC Lek Near ponds by spoli/berm in short grassy area. 24 4/12/2018 Ground	20	4/24/2018	Ground	7	835	Active	GRPC	Lek	3 males displaying others either hens or juvenile males
21 3/28/2017 Ground 11 1115 Active GRPC Lek Desrved displaying when walking road. Landowner confirmed as a lek. 21 4/27/2018 Air 11 811 Active GRPC Lek At least 11 flushed when walking road. Landowner confirmed as a lek. 21 5/4/2018 Ground 0 2020 Inactive No birds on lek at night, also no birds observed 5/5/2018 from air 22 3/30/2018 Ground 2 753 Active GRPC Lek Two males fighting and displaying in wheat field. 22 4/15/2018 Ground 7 719 Active GRPC Lek Two males fighting and wheat field. 23 3/30/2018 Ground 0 656 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 0 719 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 5 805 Active GRPC Lek Windy conditions 24 4/24/2018 Ground </td <td>20</td> <td>5/3/2018</td> <td>Air</td> <td>7</td> <td>750</td> <td>Active</td> <td>GRPC</td> <td>Lek</td> <td>good count of birds from air</td>	20	5/3/2018	Air	7	750	Active	GRPC	Lek	good count of birds from air
21 4/27/2018 Air 11 811 Active GRPC Lek At least 11 flushed when flew over. 21 5/4/2018 Ground 2 2020 inactive No birds on lek at night, also no birds observed 5/5/2018 from air 22 3/30/2018 Ground 2 753 Active GRPC Lek Two males fighting and displaying in wheat field. 22 4/15/2018 Ground 3 656 Active GRPC Lek Three males displaying in wheat field. 23 3/30/2018 Ground 7 719 Active GRPC Lek Three males displaying in wheat field. 23 3/30/2018 Ground 0 656 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 0 656 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 3 658 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 24 4/15/2018 Ground 7 810 <td>21</td> <td>3/28/2017</td> <td>Ground</td> <td>11</td> <td>1115</td> <td>Active</td> <td>GRPC</td> <td>Lek</td> <td>Observed displaying when walking road. Landowner confirmed as</td>	21	3/28/2017	Ground	11	1115	Active	GRPC	Lek	Observed displaying when walking road. Landowner confirmed as
21 5/4/2018 Ground 0 2020 Inactive No birds on lek at night, also no birds observed 5/5/2018 from air 22 3/30/2018 Ground 2 753 Active GRPC Lek Two males fighting and displaying in wheat field. 22 4/15/2018 Ground 7 719 Active GRPC Lek Three males displaying in wheat field. 23 3/30/2018 Ground 7 719 Active GRPC Lek Three males displaying in wheat field. 23 3/30/2018 Ground 0 760 Active GRPC Lek No birds observed at this location. 23 4/24/2018 Ground 0 719 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 5 805 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 24 4/17/2018 Ground 7 810 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 24 4/15/2018 Groun	21	4/27/2018	Air	11	811	Active	GRPC	Lek	_a lex. At least 11 flushed when flew over.
22 3/30/2018 Ground 2 753 Active GRPC Lek Two males fighting and displaying in wheat field. 22 4/15/2018 Ground 3 656 Active GRPC Lek Three males displaying in wheat field. 23 4/24/2018 Ground 7 719 Active GRPC Lek 3 males in wheat field. 23 4/24/2018 Ground 0 656 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 23 4/24/2018 Ground 0 676 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 5 805 Active GRPC Lek Near ponds by spoli/berm in short grassy area. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 3 658 Active GRPC Lek Windy conditions 24 4/24/2018 Ground 7 810 Active GRPC Lek Windy conditions 24 4/26/2018 Ground 7 Active GRPC	21	5/4/2018	Ground	0	2020	Inactive			No birds on lek at night, also no birds observed 5/5/2018 from air
22 4/15/2018 Ground 3 656 Active GRPC Lek Three males displaying in wheat field. 22 4/24/2018 Ground 7 719 Active GRPC Lek 3 males in wheat field. 23 3/30/2018 Ground 2 740 Active GRPC Obs One male and one female just off road in field. 23 4/15/2018 Ground 0 655 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 23 4/24/2018 Ground 5 805 Active GRPC Lek Ne birds observed at this location. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 3 658 Active GRPC Lek Windy conditions 24 4/17/2018 Ground 3 658 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 24 4/15/2018 Ground 7 810 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in moning. 25 4/16/2018 Ground 7 620 Active GRPC Lek Out of	22	3/30/2018	Ground	2	753	Active	GRPC	Lek	Two males fighting and displaying in wheat field.
22 4/24/2018 Ground 7 719 Active GRPC Lek 3 males in wheat field. 23 3/30/2018 Ground 2 740 Active GRPC Obs One male and one female just off road in field. 23 4/15/2018 Ground 0 656 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 23 4/24/2018 Ground 0 719 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 5 805 Active GRPC Lek Near ponds by spoil/berm in short grassy area. 24 4/17/2018 Ground 3 658 Active GRPC Lek Windy conditions 24 4/17/2018 Ground 7 810 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 24 5/6/2018 Ground 9 1050 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning. 25 4/16/2017 Ground 7 745 Active GRPC Lek updated location based on position	22	4/15/2018	Ground	3	656	Active	GRPC	Lek	Three males displaying in wheat field.
23 3/30/2018 Ground 2 740 Active GRPC Obs One male and one female just off road in field. 23 4/15/2018 Ground 0 656 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 23 4/24/2018 Ground 0 719 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 5 805 Active GRPC Lek Near ponds by spoil/berm in short grassy area. 24 4/17/2018 Ground 7 810 Active GRPC Lek Windy conditions 24 4/17/2018 Ground 7 810 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 24 5/6/2018 Ground 4 830 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning. 25 4/16/2017 Ground 7 745 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning. 25 4/16/2018 Ground 7 620 Active GRPC <t< td=""><td>22</td><td>4/24/2018</td><td>Ground</td><td>7</td><td>719</td><td>Active</td><td>GRPC</td><td>Lek</td><td>3 males in wheat field.</td></t<>	22	4/24/2018	Ground	7	719	Active	GRPC	Lek	3 males in wheat field.
23 4/15/2018 Ground 0 656 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 23 4/24/2018 Ground 0 719 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 5 805 Active GRPC Lek Near ponds by spoil/berm in short grassy area. 24 4/17/2018 Ground 3 658 Active GRPC Lek windy conditions 24 4/24/2018 Ground 7 810 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 24 4/24/2018 Ground 4 830 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning. 25 4/16/2018 Ground 7 745 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning. 25 4/16/2018 Ground 7 745 Active GRPC Lek Updated location based on position from southern road. 26 4/26/2018 Ground 7 620 Active GRPC	23	3/30/2018	Ground	2	740	Active	GRPC	Obs	One male and one female just off road in field.
23 4/24/2018 Ground 0 719 Inactive No birds observed at this location. 24 4/15/2018 Ground 5 805 Active GRPC Lek Near ponds by spoil/berm in short grassy area. 24 4/17/2018 Ground 3 658 Active GRPC Lek windy conditions 24 4/24/2018 Ground 7 810 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 24 5/6/2018 Ground 4 830 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in moning. 25 4/16/2017 Ground 7 745 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in moning. 25 4/16/2018 Ground 7 745 Active GRPC Lek Junknowns flew off, but at least 7 GRPC displaying 26 5/3/2018 Ground 7 620 Active GRPC Des 200m east auditory, snow on road and no access to get visual 26 5/5/2018 Air Inactive	23	4/15/2018	Ground	0	656	Inactive			No birds observed at this location.
24 4/15/2018 Ground 5 805 Active GRPC Lek Near ponds by spoil/berm in short grassy area. 24 4/17/2018 Ground 3 658 Active GRPC Lek windy conditions 24 4/24/2018 Ground 7 810 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 24 5/6/2018 Ground 4 830 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 25 4/16/2018 Ground 9 1050 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning. 25 4/16/2017 Ground 7 745 Active GRPC Lek Junchnowns flew off, but at least 7 GRPC displaying 25 5/3/2018 Ground 0 806 Inactive updated location based on position from southern road. 26 5/5/2018 Air Inactive RPC Obs 200m east auditory, snow on road and no access to get visual 27 5/5/2018 Air Inactive RPC Lek on grassy ridge	23	4/24/2018	Ground	0	719	Inactive			No birds observed at this location.
24 4/17/2018 Ground 3 658 Active GRPC Lek windy conditions 24 4/24/2018 Ground 7 810 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 24 5/6/2018 Ground 4 830 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 25 4/15/2018 Ground 9 1050 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning. 25 4/16/2017 Ground 7 745 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning. 25 4/16/2017 Ground 0 806 Inactive 3 updated location based on position from southern road. 26 5/3/2018 Ground 0 806 Inactive No birds observed in vicinity during flight. Also checked from ground on 5/4/2018 in evening 26 5/5/2018 Air Inactive Roper Lek on grassy ridge, gps coordinates from ground later in day 27 4/16/2018 Ground 0 735 <td< td=""><td>24</td><td>4/15/2018</td><td>Ground</td><td>5</td><td>805</td><td>Active</td><td>GRPC</td><td>Lek</td><td>Near ponds by spoil/berm in short grassy area.</td></td<>	24	4/15/2018	Ground	5	805	Active	GRPC	Lek	Near ponds by spoil/berm in short grassy area.
24 4/24/2018 Ground 7 810 Active GRPC Lek Windy some displaying others loafing 24 5/6/2018 Ground 4 830 Active GRPC Lek 25 4/15/2018 Ground 9 1050 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning. 25 4/16/2017 Ground 7 745 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning. 25 4/16/2018 Ground 0 806 Inactive 3 unknowns flew off, but at least 7 GRPC displaying 26 4/26/2018 Ground 7 620 Active GRPC Lek updated location based on position from southern road. 26 4/16/2018 Ground 0 806 Inactive No birds observed in vicinity during flight. Also checked from ground on 5/4/2018 in evening 27 4/16/2018 Ground 7 623 Active GRPC Lek on grassy ridge, gps coordinates from ground later in day 27 5/5/2018 Air 2 <td>24</td> <td>4/17/2018</td> <td>Ground</td> <td>3</td> <td>658</td> <td>Active</td> <td>GRPC</td> <td>Lek</td> <td>windy conditions</td>	24	4/17/2018	Ground	3	658	Active	GRPC	Lek	windy conditions
24 5/6/2018 Ground 4 830 Active GRPC Lek 25 4/15/2018 Ground 9 1050 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning. 25 4/16/2017 Ground 7 745 Active GRPC Lek Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning. 25 4/16/2017 Ground 0 806 Inactive 3 unknowns flew off, but at least 7 GRPC displaying 25 5/3/2018 Ground 7 620 Active GRPC Lek updated location based on position from southern road. 26 4/16/2018 Ground 555 Active GRPC Dbs 200m east auditory, snow on road and no access to get visual 26 5/5/2018 Air Inactive No birds observed in vicinity during flight. Also checked from ground on 5/4/2018 in evening 27 4/16/2018 Ground 7 623 Active GRPC Lek on grassy ridge, gps coordinates from ground later in day 27 5/5/2018 Air 2 649 Act	24	4/24/2018	Ground	7	810	Active	GRPC	Lek	Windy some displaying others loafing
254/15/2018Ground91050ActiveGRPCLekOut of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning.254/16/2017Ground7745ActiveGRPCLek3 unknowns flew off, but at least 7 GRPC displaying254/26/2018Ground0806Inactive255/3/2018Ground7620ActiveGRPCLekupdated location based on position from southern road.264/16/2018Ground0806Inactive0200m east auditory, snow on road and no access to get visual264/26/2018Ground0806InactiveNo birds observed in vicinity during flight. Also checked from ground on 5/4/2018 in evening274/16/2018Ground7623ActiveGRPCLekon grassy ridge, gps coordinates from ground later in day274/26/2018Ground0735Inactive284/16/2018Ground5811ActiveGRPCLek2 birds observed on lek from air284/26/2018Air0InactiveObs284/26/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.285/4/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.285/4/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.	24	5/6/2018	Ground	4	830	Active	GRPC	Lek	
254/16/2017Ground7745ActiveGRPCLek3 unknowns flew off, but at least 7 GRPC displaying254/26/2018Ground0806Inactive255/3/2018Ground7620ActiveGRPCLekupdated location based on position from southern road.264/16/2018Ground7620ActiveGRPCObs200m east auditory, snow on road and no access to get visual264/26/2018Ground0806Inactive265/5/2018AirInactiveNo birds observed in vicinity during flight. Also checked from ground on 5/4/2018 in evening274/16/2018Ground7623ActiveGRPCLek274/26/2018Ground0735Inactive275/5/2018Air2649ActiveGRPCLek284/16/2018Ground5811ActiveGRPCLek2 birds observed on lek from air284/26/2018Ground5811ActiveGRPCObs~800m west /southwest from grain bin, birds observed, but went in on ground 4/17/2018 could not pinpoint lekking area. Same area birds heard before but cannot locate consistently.284/26/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.285/4/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.	25	4/15/2018	Ground	9	1050	Active	GRPC	Lek	Out of project, 1/2 mile west of road on grassy ridge. Loafing late in morning
254/26/2018Ground0806Inactive255/3/2018Ground7620ActiveGRPCLekupdated location based on position from southern road.264/16/2018Ground555ActiveGRPCObs200m east auditory, snow on road and no access to get visual264/26/2018Ground0806InactiveNo birds observed in vicinity during flight. Also checked from ground on 5/4/2018 in evening274/16/2018Ground7623ActiveGRPCLekon grassy ridge, gps coordinates from ground later in day274/26/2018Ground0735InactiveInactive7275/5/2018Air2649ActiveGRPCLek2 birds observed on lek from air284/16/2018Ground5811ActiveGRPCObs~800m west /southwest from grain bin, birds observed, but went in on ground 4/17/2018 could not pinpoint lekking area. Same area birds heard before but cannot locate consistently.284/26/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.285/4/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.	25	4/16/2017	Ground	7	745	Active	GRPC	Lek	3 unknowns flew off, but at least 7 GRPC displaying
255/3/2018Ground7620ActiveGRPCLekupdated location based on position from southern road.264/16/2018Ground555ActiveGRPCObs200m east auditory, snow on road and no access to get visual264/26/2018Ground0806Inactive265/5/2018AirInactiveNo birds observed in vicinity during flight. Also checked from ground on 5/4/2018 in evening274/16/2018Ground7623ActiveGRPCLek274/26/2018Ground0735Inactive274/26/2018Ground0735Inactive275/5/2018Air2649ActiveGRPCLek284/16/2018Ground5811ActiveGRPCObs~800m west /southwest from grain bin, birds observed, but went in on ground 4/17/2018 could not pinpoint lekking area. Same area birds heard before but cannot locate consistently.284/26/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.285/4/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.	25	4/26/2018	Ground	0	806	Inactive			
264/16/2018Ground555ActiveGRPCObs200m east auditory, snow on road and no access to get visual264/26/2018Ground0806InactiveNo birds observed in vicinity during flight. Also checked from ground on 5/4/2018 in evening265/5/2018AirInactiveNo birds observed in vicinity during flight. Also checked from ground on 5/4/2018 in evening274/16/2018Ground7623ActiveGRPCLekon grassy ridge, gps coordinates from ground later in day274/26/2018Ground0735InactiveInactiveInactive275/5/2018Air2649ActiveGRPCLek2 birds observed on lek from air284/16/2018Ground5811ActiveGRPCObs~800m west /southwest from grain bin, birds observed, but went in on ground 4/17/2018 could not pinpoint lekking area. Same area birds heard before but cannot locate consistently.284/26/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.285/4/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.	25	5/3/2018	Ground	7	620	Active	GRPC	Lek	updated location based on position from southern road.
26 4/26/2018 Ground 0 806 Inactive 26 5/5/2018 Air Inactive No birds observed in vicinity during flight. Also checked from ground on 5/4/2018 in evening 27 4/16/2018 Ground 7 623 Active GRPC Lek on grassy ridge, gps coordinates from ground later in day 27 4/26/2018 Ground 0 735 Inactive 27 5/5/2018 Air 2 649 Active GRPC Lek on grassy ridge, gps coordinates from ground later in day 27 5/5/2018 Air 2 649 Active GRPC Lek 2 birds observed on lek from air 28 4/16/2018 Ground 5 811 Active GRPC Obs ~800m west /southwest from grain bin, birds observed, but went in on ground 4/17/2018 could not pinpoint lekking area. Same area birds heard before but cannot locate consistently. 28 4/26/2018 Air 0 Inactive No birds observed or flushed. 28 5/4/2018 Air 0 Inactive No birds observed or flushed.	26	4/16/2018	Ground		555	Active	GRPC	Obs	200m east auditory, snow on road and no access to get visual
265/5/2018AirInactiveNo birds observed in vicinity during flight. Also checked from ground on 5/4/2018 in evening274/16/2018Ground7623ActiveGRPCLekon grassy ridge, gps coordinates from ground later in day274/26/2018Ground0735Inactive275/5/2018Air2649ActiveGRPCLek2 birds observed on lek from air284/16/2018Ground5811ActiveGRPCObs~800m west /southwest from grain bin, birds observed, but went in on ground 4/17/2018 could not pinpoint lekking area. Same area birds heard before but cannot locate consistently.284/26/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.285/4/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.	26	4/26/2018	Ground	0	806	Inactive			
274/16/2018Ground7623ActiveGRPCLekon grassy ridge, gps coordinates from ground later in day274/26/2018Ground0735Inactive275/5/2018Air2649ActiveGRPCLek2 birds observed on lek from air284/16/2018Ground5811ActiveGRPCObs~800m west /southwest from grain bin, birds observed, but went in on ground 4/17/2018 could not pinpoint lekking area. Same area birds heard before but cannot locate consistently.284/26/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.285/4/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.	26	5/5/2018	Air			Inactive			No birds observed in vicinity during flight. Also checked from ground on 5/4/2018 in evening
27 4/26/2018 Ground 0 735 Inactive 27 5/5/2018 Air 2 649 Active GRPC Lek 2 birds observed on lek from air 28 4/16/2018 Ground 5 811 Active GRPC Obs ~800m west /southwest from grain bin, birds observed, but went in on ground 4/17/2018 could not pinpoint lekking area. Same area birds heard before but cannot locate consistently. 28 4/26/2018 Air 0 Inactive No birds observed or flushed. 28 5/4/2018 Air 0 Inactive No birds observed or flushed.	27	4/16/2018	Ground	7	623	Active	GRPC	Lek	on grassy ridge, gps coordinates from ground later in day
27 5/5/2018 Air 2 649 Active GRPC Lek 2 birds observed on lek from air 28 4/16/2018 Ground 5 811 Active GRPC Obs ~800m west /southwest from grain bin, birds observed, but went in on ground 4/17/2018 could not pinpoint lekking area. Same area birds heard before but cannot locate consistently. 28 4/26/2018 Air 0 Inactive No birds observed or flushed. 28 5/4/2018 Air 0 Inactive No birds observed or flushed.	27	4/26/2018	Ground	0	735	Inactive			
28 4/16/2018 Ground 5 811 Active GRPC Obs ~800m west /southwest from grain bin, birds observed, but went in on ground 4/17/2018 could not pinpoint lekking area. Same area birds heard before but cannot locate consistently. 28 4/26/2018 Air 0 Inactive No birds observed or flushed. 28 5/4/2018 Air 0 Inactive No birds observed or flushed.	27	5/5/2018	Air	2	649	Active	GRPC	Lek	2 birds observed on lek from air
284/26/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.285/4/2018Air0InactiveNo birds observed or flushed.	28	4/16/2018	Ground	5	811	Active	GRPC	Obs	~800m west /southwest from grain bin, birds observed, but went in on ground 4/17/2018 could not pinpoint lekking area. Same area birds heard before but cannot locate consistently.
28 5/4/2018 Air 0 Inactive No birds observed or flushed.	28	4/26/2018	Air	0		Inactive			No birds observed or flushed.
	28	5/4/2018	Air	0		Inactive			No birds observed or flushed.

ID	Date	Survey Method	# Birds¹	Time	Status	Species ²	Type ³	Comments
29	4/16/2018	Ground	3	834	Active	GRPC	Lek	One male displaying, 2 others loafing on snow. West of stock tank. Out of project no ground access.
29	4/24/2018	Ground	3	707	Active	GRPC	Lek	On grassy ridge west of tanks, could have been more loafing.
29	5/2/2018	Ground	4	2010	Active	GRPC	Lek	4 males displaying
30	4/17/2017	Ground	4	825	Active	STGR	Obs	40m west of road in grass
30	4/27/2018	Ground	0	745	Inactive			No birds observed
30	5/6/2018	Ground	0	755	Inactive			No birds observed or heard
31	4/17/2018	Ground	2	845	Active	GRPC	Obs	One male displaying for hen. Not likely a lek.
31	4/27/2018	Ground	0	816	Inactive			No birds observed
31	5/2/2018	Ground	0	2049	Inactive			No birds observed
32	4/17/2018	Ground	2	850	Inactive	STGR	Obs	No displaying but birds observed on ridge in grass walking.
32	4/27/2018	Ground	0	816	Inactive			No birds observed or heard
32	5/2/2018	Ground	0	2049	Inactive			No birds observed or heard
33	4/24/2018	Ground	7	851	Active	GRPC	Lek	Males displaying and fighting on grassy area. gps from fence where access. Can see from ridge to northwest.
33	5/3/2018	Ground	3	2040	Active	GRPC	Lek	Birds walking around, not displaying
33	5/6/2018	Ground	3	550	Active	GRPC	Lek	
34	4/24/2018	Ground	4	624	Active	GRPC	Lek	4 males, gps ground, landowner said has been active 5-7 years. In grass
34	5/5/2018	Ground	4	1900	Active	GRPC	Lek	Two males displaying, two loafing.
35	4/23/2018	Air	2			GRPC	Obs	checked on ground no birds.
36	4/25/2018	Air	12	821	Active	GRPC	Lek	gps ground later in day
36	4/26/2018	Ground	15	627	Active	GRPC	Lek	14 males displaying, 1 unknown
36	5/3/2018	Air	12	753	Active	GRPC	Lek	
36	5/5/2018	Ground	14	613	Active	GRPC	Lek	14 males displaying
37	4/25/2018	Ground	10	755	Active	GRPC	Lek	~200m north of road, plane affected display
37	4/26/2018	Ground	11	609	Active	GRPC	Lek	Males displaying and calling
37	5/5/2018	Ground	9	550	Active	GRPC	Lek	Males displaying and calling
38	4/25/2018	Air	1	723	Active	GRPC	Obs	1 male displaying on stock dam
39	4/25/2018	Air	1	739		UNK	Obs	1 unknown grouse flushed
40	4/25/2018	Air	1	801		UNK	Obs	2 unknown grouse flushed
41	4/23/2018	Air	1	815		UNK	Obs	1 unknown grouse flushed
42	5/2/2018	Ground	10	2040	Active	GRPC	Lek	Males displaying in pdog town can also see from section road to south.
42	5/6/2018	Ground	8	808	Active	GRPC	Lek	Obs from section road to the south.
43	4/26/2018	Air	2	727		GRPC	Obs	2 birds flushed, no lek
44	4/26/2018	Air	2	741		UNK	Obs	2 unknown flushed no lek
45	4/26/2018	Air	2	833		GRPC	Obs	2 bids flushed from grass, no lek
46	4/26/2018	Ground	3	638	Active	GRPC	Obs	Birds displaying in grass field, not on ridge in flat area
46	5/2/2018	Ground	1	1840	Active	GRPC	Obs	one male displaying and loafing
47	4/27/2018	Air	5	742	Active	GRPC	Lek	flushed on ridge by pond, re-check from ground
47	5/3/2018	Ground	0	605	Inactive	GRPC		auditory, cows in pasture, possibly obs 3 GRPC but could not re- locate
47	5/4/2018	Ground	4	611	Active	GRPC	Lek	Observed birds displaying. Fairly accurate coordinates out of project
48	4/27/2018	Air	5	829	Active	GRPC	Obs	Observed during flight, out of project cannot ground verify
48	5/5/2018	Air	0		Inactive			No birds observed, possibly one on ground during a pass but nothing visible or flushed

ID	Date	Survey Method	# Birds¹	Time	Status	Species ²	Type ³	Comments
49	4/27/2018	Air	2	735		GRPC	Obs	2 birds in draw, no lek
50	4/27/2018	Air	2	806		GRPC	Obs	2 birds in crop field, no lek
51	5/2/2018	Air	1	709		GRPC	Obs	single bird flushed, no lek
52	5/2/2018	Air	3	749	Active	GRPC	Lek	south of fence, out of project cannot ground verify.
52	5/6/2018	Ground	3	656	Active	GRPC	Lek	Observed from road south of the draw
53	5/3/2018	Air	2	648		STGR	Obs	flushed from fence, fairly positive id
54	5/3/2018	Air	5	656	Active	GRPC	Lek	south of reservoir on grassy ridge, did not have access to ground gps, but looked from fence line and fairly accurate
54	5/6/2018	Ground	5	717	Active	GRPC	Lek	clearly visible from road to south
55	5/3/2018	Air	20	710	Active	GRPC	Lek	Ground gps, lots of sign, in pdog, burrowing owl present
55	5/6/2018	Ground	8	729	Active	GRPC	Lek	Cannot see entire lek from road, spray plane also flying overhead
56	5/3/2018	Air	15	733	Active	GRPC	Lek	Ground gps, unlikely anyway to get counts from ground, lots of sign
57	5/3/2018	Air	4	811	Active	STGR	Lek	Ground gps, sign present, need to verify spp from ground
57	5/5/2018	Ground	1	605	Active	STGR	Lek	One grouse observed, other grouse heard, not sure if GRPC or STGR.
57	5/6/2018	Ground	6	819	Active	STGR	Lek	Birds flushed and positive ID of STGR
58	5/4/2018	Air	15	640	Active	GRPC	Lek	Out of project and 1 mile buffer
59	5/4/2018	Air	14	732	Active	GRPC	Lek	In Cowan WPA ground verified
60	5/4/2018	Air	2	744		GRPC	Obs	Flushed from wheat, not a lek but in area where birds observed before
61	5/4/2018	Air	3	800		GRPC	Lek	In grass, not sure if lek, need to ground verify
61	5/5/2018	Ground	4	1907	Active	GRPC	Lek	2 birds calling and displaying 2 others fly in while walking to lek. Ground sign indicative of a lek.
62	5/4/2018	Air	1	834		GRPC	Obs	Not a lek, single male on hill
63	5/5/2018	Ground	10	630	Active	GRPC	Lek	In crop field, gps from road to east
63	5/6/2018	Ground	7	602	Active	GRPC	Lek	Gps from road to east
64	5/6/2018	Ground	1	708		GRPC	Obs	One male observed, others heard but could not located
65	5/6/2018	Ground	2	717		GRPC	Obs	One male, one hen
66	3/28/2017	Ground	1	750		STGR	Obs	1 bird flushed from road
67	3/28/2018	Ground	2	800		GRPC	Obs	2 birds flushed from road
68	3/27/2018	Ground	7	900		STGR	Obs	7 birds flushed from road, re-checked several times no lek

¹# Birds - Total number of birds observed on leks or during incidental observations regardless of sex.

 ² Species - GRPC = greater prairie-chicken; STGR = sharp-tailed grouse, UNK = unknown species
 ³ Type – Lek = at least 2 males observed displaying during observation; Obs = Observation of prairie grouse where breeding activity was not confirmed during the observation.

Appendix K. Bat Activity Studies for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota – Final Report May 26 – October 21, 2016

Bat Activity Studies for the Triple H Wind Project Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota

Final Report

May 26 - October 21, 2016



Prepared for:

Triple H Wind Project, LLC

3760 State Street, Suite 200 Santa Barbara, California 93105

Prepared by:

Brian Heath, Kristina Hammond, Donald Solick

Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. 415 West 17th Street, Suite 200 Cheyenne, Wyoming 82001

February 6, 2017



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In May 2016, Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. initiated a bat acoustic survey for the proposed Triple H Wind Project (Project) in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota. The bat acoustic survey conducted at the Project was designed to estimate levels of bat activity throughout the project during summer and fall.

Acoustic surveys were conducted at four ground stations located in grassland or cropland habitat near features that could be attractive to bats (e.g., along hedge rows, deciduous trees, near ponds, etc.) from May 26 through October 21, 2016. The four monitoring stations used AnaBat SD2 ultrasonic detectors placed 1.5 meters (4.9 feet) above the ground to minimize insect noise. Station locations were selected to provide spatial coverage throughout the Project.

The AnaBat units recorded 1,663 bat passes during 291 detector-nights. All units recorded a combined mean (\pm standard error) of 5.64 \pm 1.61 bat passes per detector-night. For all stations, 57.7% of bat passes were classified as high-frequency (HF; e.g., eastern red bats, and little brown bats), while 42.3% of bat passes were classified as low-frequency (LF; e.g., big brown bats, hoary bats, and silver-haired bats).

Bat activity varied between seasons, with lower activity in the summer and higher activity in fall. At these stations, LF and HF bat pass rates peaked during the first part September. Higher activity during the late summer and early fall may be due to the presence of migrating bats passing through the area.

Bat activity recorded at the Project by ground detectors during the standardized Fall Migration Period (July 30 - October 14; 9.08 ± 3.23 bat passes per detector-night) was similar to activity observed at publicly available and comparable studies at facilities in the Midwest, and the Project is expected to experience similar fatality rates to these other Midwestern facilities.

STUDY PARTICIPANTS

Western EcoSystems Technology

Brian Heath Chris Fritchman Donald Solick Kristina Hammond Carmen Boyd Matt Kwit Jon Cicarelli Kristina Hammond Andrea Palochak Carissa Goodman Brenda Jarski-Weber Project Manager Field Supervisor Bat Biologist Bat Biologist/Bat Data Analyst Data and Report Manager Statistician GIS Technician Report Compiler Technical Editor Technical Editor Field Technician

REPORT REFERENCE

Heath, B., K. Hammond, and D. Solick. 2016. Bat Activity Studies for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota. Final Report: May 26 – October 21, 2016. Prepared for Triple H Wind Project, LLC, Santa Barbara, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 6, 2017.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

This study was funded by Triple H Wind Project. We especially than Brenda Jarski-Weber for collecting field data for this project. We also appreciate the cooperation of landowners for allowing access to their lands for study purposes.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARYi
INTRODUCTION 1
STUDY AREA 1
Overview of Bat Diversity
White-Nose Syndrome 4
METHODS
Bat Acoustic Surveys
Survey Stations
Survey Schedule7
Data Collection and Call Analysis7
Statistical Analysis7
Risk Assessment
RESULTS
Bat Acoustic Surveys
Spatial Variation9
Temporal Variation10
Species Composition10
DISCUSSION12
REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Land cover in the Triple Wind Project according to the United States Geological Survey (USGS) National Land Cover Dataset (NLCD; USGS NLCD 2011, Homer et al. 2015).	4
Table 2. Bat species with potential to occur within the Triple H Wind Project (International Union for Conservation of Nature [IUCN] 2016, US Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS] 2016d) categorized by echolocation call frequency.	4
Table 3. Results of acoustic bat surveys conducted at fixed stations within the Triple H Wind Project from May 26 to October 21, 2016. Passes are separated by call frequency: high frequency (HF) and low frequency (LF)	9
Table 4. The number of bat passes per detector-night recorded at ground stations in the Triple H Wind Project during each season in 2016, separated by call frequency: high- frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats (AB).	.11

Table 5. Periods of peak activity for high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats atthe Triple H Wind Project for the study period May 26 – October 21, 2016......12

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	1. Topographic map showing the location of the Triple H Wind Project.	. 2
Figure	2. Land cover in the Triple H Wind Project (US Geological Survey National Land Cover Database [USGS] 2011, Homer et al. 2015)	. 3
Figure	3. Location of fixed AnaBat stations in the Triple H Wind Project.	. 6
Figure	4. Operational status of bat detectors (n = 4) operating at the Triple H Wind Project during each night of the study period May 26 to October 21, 2016	. 9
Figure	5. Number of high-frequency (HF) and low-frequency (LF) bat passes per detector- night recorded at AnaBat stations in the Triple H Wind Project between May 26 to October 21, 2016. The bootstrapped standard errors are represented by the black error bars on the 'All Bats' columns.	10
Figure	6. Seasonal bat activity by high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats at the Triple H Wind Project from May 26 to October 21, 2016. The bootstrapped standard errors are represented on the 'All Bats' columns	11
Figure	7. Weekly patterns of bat activity by high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats at the Triple H Wind Project for the study period May 26 to October 21, 2016	12
Figure	8. Fatality rates for bats (number of bats per megawatt per year) from publicly available studies at wind energy facilities in the Midwest	15

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: North American Fatality Summary Tables

INTRODUCTION

Triple H Wind Project, LLC is considering the development of the Triple H Wind Project (Project) in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota. Triple H Wind Project, LLC contracted Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) to complete a study of bat activity following the recommendations of the US Fish and Wildlife Service's (USFWS) *Land-Based Wind Energy Guidelines* (USFWS 2012a) and Kunz et al. (2007a). WEST conducted acoustic monitoring surveys to estimate levels of bat activity throughout the Project during the summer and fall. The following report describes the results of acoustic monitoring surveys conducted at the Project between May 26 and October 21, 2016.

STUDY AREA

The proposed 39,069-acre (ac; 15,811-hectare [ha]) Project is located in central South Dakota and is situated northeast of the Missouri River (Figure 1). According to the US Geological Survey (USGS) National Land Cover Dataset (NLCD; USGS NLCD 2011; Homer et al. 2015), the Project is dominated by herbaceous plants (25,312 ac [10,243 ha; 64.8%]) and cultivated crops (12,373 ac [5,007 ha; 31.7%]; Figure 2, Table 1). Developed areas compose approximately 834 ac (341 ha; 2.1%) of the Project. The Project contains approximately 83 ac (34 ha; 0.2%) of emergent herbaceous wetlands, but only 1.44 ac (0.58 ha; less than 0.1%) of deciduous forest habitat (Table 1). Both emergent herbaceous wetlands and deciduous forest provide potential habitat for several bat species, including the federally threatened northern long-eared bat (*Myotis septentrionalis*; USFWS 2015a). The remainder of the Project is composed of approximately 266 ac (108 ha; 0.7%) of open water, 125 ac (51 ha; 0.3%) of pasture and hay fields, and 18 ac (7.2 ha; less than 0.1%) of barren land (Figure 2, Table 1).



Figure 1. Topographic map showing the location of the Triple H Wind Project.



Figure 2. Land cover in the Triple H Wind Project (US Geological Survey National Land Cover Database [USGS] 2011, Homer et al. 2015).

(0505) National Land Cover Dataset (NLCD, 0505 NLCD 2011, Homer et al. 2015).				
Land Cover	Acres	% Composition		
Herbaceous	25,312.31	64.8		
Cultivated Crops	12,373.00	31.7		
Developed, Open Space	826.81	2.1		
Open Water	265.92	0.7		
Hay/Pasture	125.26	0.3		
Emergent Herbaceous Wetlands	82.53	0.2		
Developed, Low Intensity	58.28	0.1		
Barren Land	17.63	<0.1		
Developed, Medium Intensity	5.71	<0.1		
Deciduous Forest	1.44	<0.1		
Total	39,068.90	100		

Table 1. Land cover in the Triple Wind Project according to the United States Geological Survey	y
(USGS) National Land Cover Dataset (NLCD; USGS NLCD 2011, Homer et al. 2015).	

Overview of Bat Diversity

Seven species of bats potentially occur at the Project (Table 2). The northern long-eared bat is listed as a federally threatened species (USFWS 2015b). The range of the northern long-eared bat is considered to be across all of South Dakota, including Hughes and Hyde counties. Due to the relatively low presence of water and deciduous forest, it is unlikely the Project would be an area of high use by the northern long-eared bat. The Project is outside of the White-Nose Syndrome (WNS) Zone per the Final 4(d) Rule (USFWS 2016a), and therefore presence/probable absence surveys were not performed.

Table 2. Bat species with potential to occur within the Triple H Wind Project (International
Union for Conservation of Nature [IUCN] 2016, US Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS]
2016d) categorized by echolocation call frequency.

Common Name	Scientific Name		
High-Frequency (> 30 kHz)			
eastern red bat ^{1,3}	Lasiurus borealis		
western small-footed bat	Myotis ciliolabrum		
little brown bat ¹	Myotis lucifugus		
northern long-eared bat ^{1,2}	Myotis septentrionalis		
Low-Frequency (< 30 kHz)			
big brown bat ¹	Eptesicus fuscus		
silver-haired bat ^{1,3}	Lasionycteris noctivagans		
hoary bat ^{1,3}	Lasiurus cinereus		

¹ species known to have been killed at wind energy facilities (Kunz et al. 2007b);

² federally threatened species (USFWS 2015b); and

³ long-distance migrant.

White-Nose Syndrome

Bats that hibernate in North America are being severely impacted by WNS, an infectious mycosis in which bats are infected with a psychrophilic fungus from Europe (*Pseudogymnoascus* [formerly *Geomyces*] *destructans*) that is thought to act as a chronic disturbance during hibernation (USGS 2010, Minnis and Lindner 2013). Infected bats arouse

frequently from hibernation, leading to premature loss of fat reserves and atypical behavior, which in turn leads to starvation prior to spring emergence (Boyles and Willis 2010, Reeder et al. 2012, Warnecke et al. 2012). WNS was first discovered in New York State in 2006 (Frick et al. 2010, USFWS 2011) and by 2010 had rapidly spread to over 115 caves and mines (Frick et al. 2010); WNS is now confirmed in 29 states and the causative fungus has been identified in an additional three states (White-Nose Syndrome.org 2016). To date, the WNS infection in bats has spread north into five Canadian provinces, reaching as far south as Alabama and as far west as Washington (Heffernan 2016). Currently WNS has not been found in South Dakota and only 12 of the counties in the southeast part of the state are included in the WNS Zone per the Final 4(d) Rule (USFWS 2016a, 2016c). It is estimated that between 5.7 and 6.7 million bats have died as a result of WNS (USFWS 2012b). WNS is the primary reason the USFWS recently listed the northern long-eared bat as threatened under the Endangered Species Act (USFWS 2015b), and the USFWS is currently reviewing the status of the little brown bat (*Myotis lucifugus*; USFWS 2013, 2016b).

METHODS

Bat Acoustic Surveys

WEST conducted acoustic monitoring studies to estimate levels of bat activity throughout the Project during the study period. Although it remains unclear whether baseline acoustic data are able to adequately predict post-construction fatality (Hein et al. 2013c), ultrasonic detectors do collect information on the spatial distribution, timing, and species composition that can provide insights into the possible impacts of wind development on bats (Kunz et al. 2007a, Britzke et al. 2013) and inform potential mitigation strategies (Weller and Baldwin 2012).

Survey Stations

Four AnaBat[™] SD2 ultrasonic bat detectors (Titley Scientific[™], Columbia, Missouri) were used during the study. Detectors were placed at four fixed survey locations and were placed at 1.5 meters (m; 4.9 feet [ft]) above ground level (Figure 3). Species activity levels and composition can vary with altitude (Barclay et al. 2007, Baerwald and Barclay 2009, Collins and Jones 2009, Müeller et al. 2013). All stations were located in grassland or cropland habitat near features that could be attractive to bats (i.e., "bat features"), such as deciduous forest or water, and were spatially distributed throughout the Project area.

Each AnaBat unit was inside a plastic weather-tight container that had a hole cut in the side through which the microphone extended. Each microphone was encased in a 45-degree angle poly-vinyl chloride (PVC) tube, and holes were drilled in the PVC tube to allow water to drain.



Figure 3. Location of fixed AnaBat stations in the Triple H Wind Project.

Survey Schedule

Bats were surveyed in the Project from May 26 to October 21, 2016, and detectors were programmed to turn on approximately 30 minutes before sunset and turn off approximately 30 min after sunrise each night. To highlight seasonal activity patterns, the study was divided into two survey periods: summer (May 26 – August 15) and fall (August 16 – October 21). Mean bat activity was also calculated for a standardized Fall Migration Period (FMP), defined here as July 30 – October 14. The FMP was defined by WEST as a standard for comparison with activity from other wind energy facilities. During this time bats begin moving toward wintering areas, and many species of bats initiate reproductive behaviors (Cryan 2008). This period of increased landscape-scale movement and reproductive behavior is often associated with increased levels of bat fatalities at operational wind energy facilities (Arnett et al. 2008, Arnett and Baerwald 2013).

Data Collection and Call Analysis

AnaBat detectors use a broadband high-frequency microphone to detect the echolocation calls of bats. Incoming echolocation calls are digitally processed and stored on a high-capacity compact flash card. The resulting files can be viewed in appropriate software (e.g., Analook[®] [2004]) as digital sonograms that show changes in echolocation call frequency over time. Frequency versus time displays were used to separate bat calls from other types of ultrasonic noise (e.g., wind, insects, etc.) and to determine the call frequency category and (when possible) the species of bat that generated the calls.

To standardize acoustic sampling effort across the Project, AnaBat units were calibrated and sensitivity levels were set to six (Larson and Hayes 2000), a level that balanced the goal of recording bat calls against the need to reduce interference from other sources of ultrasonic noise (Brooks and Ford 2005).

For each survey location, bat passes were sorted into two groups based on their call's minimum frequency. High-frequency (HF) bats, such as eastern red bats (*Lasiurus borealis*) and *Myotis* species have minimum frequencies greater than 30 kilohertz (kHz). Low-frequency (LF) bats, such as big brown bats (*Eptesicus fuscus*), silver-haired bats (*Lasionycteris noctivagans*), and hoary bats (*Lasiurus cinereus*), typically emit echolocation calls with minimum frequencies below 30 kHz. The HF and LF species that may occur in the Project area are listed in Table 2.

Statistical Analysis

The standard metric used for measuring bat activity is the number of bat passes per detectornight, and this metric was used as an index of bat activity in the Project area. A bat pass was defined as a sequence of at least two echolocation calls (pulses) produced by an individual bat with no pause between calls of more than one second (Fenton 1980). A detector-night was defined as one detector operating for one entire night. The terms bat pass and bat call are used interchangeably. Bat passes per detector-night were calculated for all bats, and for HF and LF bats. Bat pass rates represent indices of bat activity and do not represent numbers of individuals. The number of bat passes was determined by an experienced bat biologist using Analook.

The period of peak sustained bat activity was defined as the 7-day period with the highest average bat activity. If multiple 7-day periods equaled the peak sustained bat activity rate, all dates in these 7-day periods were reported. This and all multi-detector averages in this report were calculated as an unweighted average of total activity at each detector.

Risk Assessment

To assess potential for bat fatalities, bat activity in the Project was compared to existing data at other wind energy facilities in the Midwest region. Among studies measuring both activity and fatality rates, most data were collected during the fall using AnaBat detectors placed near the ground. Therefore, to make valid comparisons to the publicly available data, this report uses the activity rate recorded at fixed ground detectors during the FMP as a standard for comparison with activity data from other wind energy facilities. Given the relatively small number of publicly available studies and the significant ecological differences between geographically dispersed facilities, the risk assessment is qualitative, rather than quantitative.

RESULTS

Bat Acoustic Surveys

Bat activity was monitored at four sampling locations for a total of 291 detector-nights between May 26 and October 21, 2016. AnaBat units were operating for 50.2% of the sampling period (Figure 4). The primary cause of lost data was battery failures, and excessive insect noise in the fall may also have contributed to lost nights of data collection due to filling the compact flash cards or by blocking bat calls. AnaBat units at the fixed ground stations recorded 1,663 bat passes on 291 detector-nights for a mean (\pm standard error) of 5.64 \pm 1.61 bat passes per detector-night (Table 3).


Figure 4. Operational status of bat detectors (n = 4) operating at the Triple H Wind Project during each night of the study period May 26 to October 21, 2016.

Table 3. Results of acoustic bat surveys	conducted at fixed stations within the Triple H Wind Project
from May 26 to October 21, 2016.	Passes are separated by call frequency: high frequency (HF)
and low frequency (LF).	

	# of HF Bat	# of LF Bat	Total Bat	Detector-	Bat Passes/
AnaBat Station	Passes	Passes	Passes	Nights	Night***
TH1	540	461	999	84	11.89 ± 3.00
TH2	244	95	339	51	6.65 ± 3.55
TH3	128	95	223	95	2.35 ± 0.37
TH4	49	53	102	61	1.67 ± 0.44
Total	961	704	1663	291	5.64 ± 1.61

***± bootstrapped standard error.

Spatial Variation

Bat activity in the Project was consistently higher at the TH1 and TH2 ground units compared to units TH3 and TH4 (Figure 5, Table 3). Units TH4 and TH3 recorded the fewest bat passes per detector-night (1.67 \pm 0.44 and 2.35 \pm 0.37 bat calls, respectively); unit TH2 recorded the second highest number of bat passes per detector-night (6.65 \pm 3.55), while unit TH1 recorded the most (11.89 \pm 3.00; Table 3).



Figure 5. Number of high-frequency (HF) and low-frequency (LF) bat passes per detector-night recorded at AnaBat stations in the Triple H Wind Project between May 26 to October 21, 2016. The bootstrapped standard errors are represented by the black error bars on the 'All Bats' columns.

Temporal Variation

Bat activity at fixed stations was relatively low in the summer and increased in the fall (Table 4, Figure 6). Weekly acoustic activity was relatively low from May through July (Figure 7), peaking from September 2 to September 8 (31.61 bat passes per detector-night; Table 5; Figure 7). Overall bat activity decreased again in late September through the remainder of the study period (Figure 7).

Species Composition

At fixed stations, 42.3% of bat passes were classified as LF (e.g., big brown bats, hoary bats, and silver-haired bats), and 57.7% of bat passes were classified as HF (e.g., eastern red bats and *Myotis* species; Tables 2 and 3).

Table 4. The number of bat passes per detector-night recorded at ground stations in the Triple H
Wind Project during each season in 2016, separated by call frequency: high-frequency (HF),
low-frequency (LF), and all bats (AB).

Station	Call Frequency	<u>Summer</u> May 26 – Aug 15	<u>Fall</u> Aug 16 – Oct 21	Fall Migration Period July 30 – Oct 14
		3.56	7.33	7.07
TH1	HF	4.41	8.35	8.67
	AB	7.98	15.63	15.7
	LF	1.07	3	3
TH2	HF	1.2	9.9	9.9
	AB	2.27	12.9	12.9
	LF	0.92	1.16	1.16
TH3	HF	0.51	3	3
	AB	1.43	4.16	4.16
	LF	0.88	0.85	0.75
TH4	HF	0.42	2.23	2.81
	AB	1.29	3.08	3.56
	LF	1.61 ± 0.28	3.08 ± 1.09	2.99 ± 0.98
Overall	HF	1.63 ± 0.45	5.87 ± 2.34	6.10 ± 2.32
	AB	3.24 ± 0.60	8.94 ± 3.38	9.08 ± 3.23



Figure 6. Seasonal bat activity by high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats at the Triple H Wind Project from May 26 to October 21, 2016. The bootstrapped standard errors are represented on the 'All Bats' columns.

Species Group	Start Date of Peak Activity	End Date of Peak Activity	Bat Passes per Detector-Night
HF	9/16/16	9/22/16	20.43
LF	9/5/16	9/11/16	12.17
All Bats	9/2/16	9/8/16	31.61

Table 5. Periods of peak a	activity for high-freque	ncy (HF), low-frequ	ency (LF), and all ba	ats at the
Triple H Wind Proj	ect for the study perio	d May 26 – October	21, 2016.	



Figure 7. Weekly patterns of bat activity by high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats at the Triple H Wind Project for the study period May 26 to October 21, 2016.

DISCUSSION

Bat fatalities have been discovered at most wind energy facilities monitored in North America, ranging from zero (Chatfield and Bay 2014) to 40.2 bat fatalities per megawatt (MW) per year (Hein et al. 2013b; Appendix A). In 2012, an estimated 600,000 bats died as a result of interactions with wind turbines in the US (Hayes 2013). Proximate causes of bat fatalities are primarily due to collisions with moving turbine blades (Grodsky et al. 2011,Rollins et al. 2012), but to a limited extent may also be caused by barotrauma (Baerwald et al. 2008). The underlying reasons for why bats come near turbines are still largely unknown (Cryan and Barclay 2009). To date, post-construction monitoring studies of wind energy facilities show that a) migratory tree-roosting species (e.g., eastern red bat, hoary, and silver-haired bat) compose approximately 78% of reported bat fatalities; b) the majority of fatalities occur during the fall migration season (August and September); and c) most fatalities occur on nights with relatively low wind speeds (e.g., less than 6.0 m per second [m/s; 19.7 ft/s]; Arnett et al. 2008, 2013; Arnett and Baerwald 2013).

It is generally expected that pre-construction bat activity is positively related to post-construction bat fatalities (Kunz et al. 2007b). However, to date, few studies of wind energy facilities have recorded both bat passes per detector-night and bat fatality rates are publicly available (Appendix A). Given the limited availability of pre- and post-construction data sets, differences in protocols among studies (Ellison 2012), and significant ecological differences between geographically diverse facilities, the relationship between activity and fatalities has not yet been empirically established, though Baerwald and Barclay (2009) found a significant positive association between bat pass rates measured at 30 m (98 ft) above the ground and fatality rates for hoary and silver-haired bats across five sites in southern Alberta.

However, on a continental scale, a similar relationship has proven difficult to establish. The relatively few studies that have estimated both pre-construction activity and post-construction fatalities trend toward a positive association between activity and fatality rates, but they lack statistically significant correlations. Hein et al. (2013a) compiled data from wind projects that included both pre- and post-construction data from the same projects, as well as pre- and post-construction data from facilities within the same regions to assess if pre-construction acoustic activity predicted post-construction fatality rates. Based on data from 12 sites that had both pre- and post-construction fatality rates. Based on data from 12 sites that had both pre- and post-construction data, they did not find a statistically significant relationship (p=0.07), although the trend was in the expected direction (i.e., low activity was generally associated with low fatalities and vice-versa). They concluded that pre-construction acoustic data could not currently predict bat fatalities, but acknowledged that the data set was limited and additional data may indicate a stronger relationship. Therefore, the current approach to assessing the risk to bats requires a qualitative analysis of activity levels, spatial and temporal relationships, species composition, and comparison to regional fatality patterns.

Activity by HF bat species composed 57.7% of bat passes recorded at stations in the Project. Eastern red bats are usually the most common HF species found during carcass searches (Arnett et al. 2008, Arnett and Baerwald 2013). *Myotis* species are recorded less commonly than other species in the rotor-swept zone or as fatalities at most post-construction studies of wind energy facilities (Kunz et al. 2007b, Arnett et al. 2008), with a few notable exceptions (Kerns and Kerlinger 2004, Jain 2005, Brown and Hamilton 2006a, Gruver et al. 2009). Approximately 42.3% of bat passes recorded in the Project were emitted by LF bats (Table 3). These LF species may become casualties because they typically fly at higher altitudes (Aldridge and Rautenbach 1987, Norberg and Rayner 1987, Fenton and Bogdanowicz 2002). Given that hoary bats, eastern red bats, and silver-haired bats are among the most commonly found bat fatalities at many facilities (Arnett et al. 2008,, Arnett and Baerwald 2013), it is expected that these three species would likely be the most common fatalities at the Project.

Mean bat activity during the FMP at the fixed ground detectors (9.08 \pm 3.23 bat passes per detector-night; Table 4) was about average for the majority of studies available from the Midwest (Appendix A). Based on available studies in the Midwest, observed bat activity rates may be indicative of fatality rates ranging from 0.16 to 30.61 bats/MW/year, and the Project is expected to have a low to moderate fatality rate. Overall bat activity was highest within the

Project during the FMP, peaking in early September. This timing is consistent with peak fatality periods for most wind energy facilities in the US, and suggests that bat fatalities at the Project will be highest during late summer to early fall, and may consist largely of migrating individuals.

Given that over two-thirds of bat fatality studies in the Midwest report fewer than five bat fatalities/MW/year (Appendix A; Figure 8), it is possible that similar fatality rates could be recorded at the Project. However, some studies indicate that facilities in agricultural settings in the Midwest can produce higher levels of bat fatalities (Jain 2005, Baerwald 2008, Gruver et al. 2009). The closest operating wind-energy facility to the Project with public post-construction fatality data is the PrairieWinds SD1 facility, located approximately 78.1 kilometers (48.5 miles) from the Project. Both the PrairieWinds SD1 facility and the Project are located in landscapes consisting mostly of grasslands and croplands, with little topography and few woodlots. No publicly available pre-construction bat activity estimates from ground based detectors are available for the PrairieWinds SD1 facility. The fatality estimates reported at PrairieWinds SD1 range from 1.05-1.39 bats/MW/year (Derby et al. 2012d, 2013a). The pre-construction bat studies completed at the Project will add to the growing body of research regarding the impacts of wind energy development on bats and will provide a valuable comparison to post-construction studies to be completed at Project.

Regional Bat Fatality Rates

Midwest



Wind Energy Facility

Figure 8. Fatality rates for bats (number of bats per megawatt per year) from publicly available studies at wind energy facilities in the Midwest.

Figure 8 (continued). Fatality rates for bats (number of bats per megawatt per year) from publicly available studies at wind energy
facilities in the Midwest.
Data from the following sources:

Facility, Location	Reference	Facility, Location	Reference	Facility, Location	Reference
Cedar Ridge, WI (09)	BHE Environmental 2010	Ripley, Ont (08)	Jacques Whitford 2009	Barton I & II, IA (10-11)	Derby et al. 2011a
Blue Sky Green Field, WI (08;	Gruver et al. 2009	Winnebago, IA (09-10)	Derby et al. 2010e	Fowler III, IN (09)	Johnson et al. 2010b
Cedar Ridge, WI (10)	BHE Environmental 2011	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 01/Lake Benton I)	Johnson et al. 2004	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 02/Lake Benton II)	Johnson et al. 2004
Fowler I, II, III, IN (11)	Good et al. 2012	Pioneer Prairie II, IA (13)	Chodachek et al. 2014	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 02/Lake Benton I)	Johnson et al. 2004
Fowler I, II, III, IN (10)	Good et al. 2011	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 01/Lake Benton II)	Johnson et al. 2004	Rugby, ND (10-11)	Derby et al. 2011b
Forward Energy Center, WI (08- 10)	Grodsky and Drake 2011	Crescent Ridge, IL (05-06)	Kerlinger et al. 2007	Elm Creek, MN (09-10)	Derby et al. 2010c
Top Crop I & II (12-13) Rail Splitter, IL (12-13)	Good et al. 2013a Good et al. 2013b	Fowler I, II, III, IN (12) Buffalo Ridge II, SD (11-12)	Good et al. 2013c Derby et al. 2012a	Wessington Springs, SD (09) Big Blue, MN (14)	Derby et al. 2010f Fagen Engineering 2015
Harrow, Ont (10)	Natural Resource Solutions Inc. (NRSI) 2011	Elm Creek II, MN (11-12)	Derby et al. 2012b	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (11)	Derby et al. 2012c
Top of Iowa, IA (04)	Jain 2005	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 99)	Johnson et al. 2000	PrairieWinds SD1, SD (11-12)	Derby et al. 2012d
Pioneer Prairie I, IA (Phase II; 11-12)	Chodachek et al. 2012	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 99)	Johnson et al. 2000	NPPD Ainsworth, NE (06)	Derby et al. 2007
Fowler I, IN (09)	Johnson et al. 2010a	Moraine II, MN (09)	Derby et al. 2010d	PrairieWinds SD1, SD (12-13)	Derby et al. 2013a
Crystal Lake II, IA (09)	Derby et al. 2010a	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 98)	Johnson et al. 2000	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 99)	Johnson et al. 2000
Top of Iowa, IA (03)	Jain 2005	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (10)	Derby et al. 2011c	PrairieWinds SD1, SD (13-14)	Derby et al. 2014
Kewaunee County, WI (99-01) Heritage Garden I, MI (12-14)	Howe et al. 2002 Kerlinger et al. 2014	Grand Ridge I, IL (09-10) Big Blue, MN (13)	Derby et al. 2010g Fagen Engineering 2014	Wessington Springs, SD (10) Buffalo Ridge I, SD (09-10)	Derby et al. 2011d Derby et al. 2010b

REFERENCES

- AECOM. 2013. Annual Monitoring Report: July 2012 June 2013. Solano Wind Project Phase 3. Prepared for SMUD - Environmental Management, Sacramento, California. Prepared by AECOM, Sacramento, California. September 2013.
- Aldridge, H. D. J. N. and I. L. Rautenbach. 1987. Morphology, Echolocation and Resource Partitioning in Insectivorous Bats. Journal of Animal Ecology 56: 763-778.
- AnaLook. 2004. Bat call analysis program. © 2004, C. Corben.
- Anderson, R., N. Neuman, J. Tom, W. P. Erickson, M. D. Strickland, M. Bourassa, K. J. Bay, and K. J. Sernka. 2004. Avian Monitoring and Risk Assessment at the Tehachapi Pass Wind Resource Area, California. Period of Performance: October 2, 1996 May 27, 1998. NREL/SR-500-36416. National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, Colorado. September 2004. http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy04osti/36416.pdf
- Anderson, R., J. Tom, N. Neumann, W. P. Erickson, M. D. Strickland, M. Bourassa, K. J. Bay, and K. J. Sernka. 2005. Avian Monitoring and Risk Assessment at the San Gorgonio Wind Resource Area. NREL/SR-500-38054. August 2005. Western EcoSytems Technology, Inc. (WEST). Cheyenne, Wyoming. Phase I and II Field Work. <u>http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy05osti/38054.pdf</u>
- ARCADIS U.S., Inc. 2013. Fall 2012 and Spring 2013 Avian and Bat Post-Construction Mortality Monitoring Report: Pioneer Trail Wind Farm. Prepared for E.On Climate & Renewables, North America. Prepared by ARCADIS U.S., Inc., Milwaukee, Wisconsin. August 2013.
- Arnett, E. B. and E. F. Baerwald. 2013. Impacts of Wind Energy Development on Bats: Implications for Conservation. Chapter 21. Pp. 435-456. *In*: R. A. Adams and S. C. Pederson, eds. Bat Ecology, Evolution and Conservation. Springer Science Press, New York.
- Arnett, E. B., W. P. Erickson, J. Kerns, and J. Horn. 2005. Relationships between Bats and Wind Turbines in Pennsylvania and West Virginia: An Assessment of Fatality Search Protocols, Patterns of Fatality, and Behavioral Interactions with Wind Turbines. Prepared for the Bats and Wind Energy Cooperative. March 2005.
- Arnett, E. B., K. Brown, W. P. Erickson, J. Fiedler, B. L. Hamilton, T. H. Henry, A. Jain, G. D. Johnson, J. Kerns, R. R. Koford, C. P. Nicholson, T. O'Connell, M. Piorkowski, and R. Tankersley, Jr. 2008. Patterns of Bat Fatalities at Wind Energy Facilities in North America. Journal of Wildlife Management 72(1): 61-78.
- Arnett, E. B., M. R. Schirmacher, M. M. P. Huso, and J. P. Hayes. 2009a. Effectiveness of Changing Wind Turbine Cut-in Speed to Reduce Bat Fatalities at Wind Facilities: 2008 Annual Report. Prepared for the Bats and Wind Energy Cooperative (BWEC) and the Pennsylvania Game Commission. Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. April 2009. <u>http://www.batsandwind.org/ pdf/Curtailment_2008_Final_Report.pdf</u>
- Arnett, E. B., M. R. Schirmacher, M. M. P. Huso, and J. P. Hayes. 2009b. Patterns of Bat Fatality at the Casselman Wind Project in South-Central Pennsylvania. 2008 Annual Report. Annual report prepared for the Bats and Wind Energy Cooperative (BWEC) and the Pennsylvania Game Commission. Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. June 2009. Available online at: <u>http://www.batsandwind.org/pdf/2008%20Casselman%20Fatality%20Report.pdf</u>

- Arnett, E. B., M. R. Schirmacher, M. M. P. Huso, and J. P. Hayes. 2010. Patterns of Bat Fatality at the Casselman Wind Project in South-Central Pennsylvania. 2009 Annual Report. Annual report prepared for the Bats and Wind Energy Cooperative (BWEC) and the Pennsylvania Game Commission. Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. January 2010.
- Arnett, E. B., M. R. Schirmacher, C. D. Hein, and M. M. P. Huso. 2011. Patterns of Bird and Bat Fatality at the Locust Ridge II Wind Project, Pennsylvania. 2009-2010 Final Report. Prepared for the Bats and Wind Energy Cooperative (BWEC) and the Pennsylvania Game Commission (PGC). Prepared by Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. January 2011.
- Arnett, E. B., G. D. Johnson, W. P. Erickson, and C. D. Hein. 2013. A Synthesis of Operational Mitigation Studies to Reduce Bat Fatalities at Wind Energy Facilities in North America. A report submitted to the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), Golden Colorado. Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. March 2013.
- Atwell, LLC. 2012. Fall 2011 Post-Construction Monitoring Report for Roth Rock Wind Farm, Garrett County Maryland. Project No. 11001315. Prepared for Gestamp Wind North America, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Atwell, LCC. February 29, 2012. Revised August 15, 2012.
- Barclay, R. M. R., E. F. Baerwald, and J. Gruver. 2007. Variation in Bat and Bird Fatalities at Wind Energy Facilities: Assessing the Effects of Rotor Size and Tower Height. Canadian Journal of Zoology 85: 381-387.
- Baerwald, E. F. 2008. Variation in the Activity and Fatality of Migratory Bats at Wind Energy Facilities in Southern Alberta: Causes and Consequences. Thesis. University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta, Canada.
- Baerwald, E. F. and R. M. R. Barclay. 2009. Geographic Variation in Activity and Fatality of Migratory Bats at Wind Energy Facilities. Journal of Mammalogy 90(6): 1341–1349.
- Baerwald, E. F., G. H. D'Amours, B. J. Klug, and R. M. R. Barclay. 2008. Barotrauma Is a Significant Cause of Bat Fatalities at Wind Turbines. Current Biology 18(16): R695-R696.
- BHE Environmental, Inc. (BHE). 2008. Investigations of Bat Activity and Bat Species Richness at the Proposed Cedar Ridge Wind Farm in Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin. Interim Report prepared for Wisconsin Power and Light.
- BHE Environmental, Inc. (BHE). 2010. Post-Construction Bird and Bat Mortality Study: Cedar Ridge Wind Farm, Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin. Interim Report prepared for Wisconsin Power and Light, Madison, Wisconsin. Prepared by BHE Environmental, Inc. Cincinnati, Ohio. February 2010.
- BHE Environmental, Inc. (BHE). 2011. Post-Construction Bird and Bat Mortality Study: Cedar Ridge Wind Farm, Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin. Final Report. Prepared for Wisconsin Power and Light, Madison, Wisconsin. Prepared by BHE Environmental, Inc. Cincinnati, Ohio. February 2011.
- BioResource Consultants, Inc. (BRC). 2012. Avian Mortality Monitoring Report, Pine Tree Wind Farm, Kern County, California. Prepared for the City of Los Angeles Department of Water and Power. Report prepared by BioResource Consultants, Inc., Ojai, California. March 26, 2012.
- Boyles, J. G. and C. K. R. Willis. 2010. Could Localized Warm Areas inside Cold Caves Reduce Mortality of Hibernating Bats Affected by White-Nose Syndrome? Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 8(2): 92-98.
- Britzke, E. R., E. H. Gillam, and K. L. Murray. 2013. Current State of Understanding of Ultrasonic Detectors for the Study of Bat Ecology. Acta Theriologica: doi: 10.1007/s13364-13013-10131-13363.

- Brooks, R. T. and W. M. Ford. 2005. Bat Activity in a Forest Landscape of Central Massachusetts. Northeastern Naturalist 12(4): 447-462.
- Brown, K., K. S. Smallwood, and B. Karas. 2013. Final 2012-2013 Annual Report, Avian and Bat Monitoring Project, Vasco Winds, Llc. Prepared for NextEra Energy Resources, Livermore, California. Prepared by Ventus Environmental Solutions, Portland, Oregon. September 2013.
- Brown, W. K. and B. L. Hamilton. 2004. Bird and Bat Monitoring at the Mcbride Lake Wind Farm, Alberta, 2003-2004. Report for Vision Quest Windelectric, Inc., Calgary, Alberta, Canada. September 2004.
- Brown, W. K. and B. L. Hamilton. 2006a. Bird and Bat Interactions with Wind Turbines Castle River Wind Facility, Alberta, 2001-2002. Report for Vision Quest Windelectric, Inc., Calgary, Alberta, Canada.
- Brown, W. K. and B. L. Hamilton. 2006b. Monitoring of Bird and Bat Collisions with Wind Turbines at the Summerview Wind Power Project, Alberta: 2005-2006. Prepared for Vision Quest Windelectric, Calgary, Alberta by TAEM Ltd., Calgary, Alberta, and BLH Environmental Services, Pincher Creek, Alberta. September 2006. <u>http://www.batsandwind.org/pdf/Brown2006.pdf</u>
- Chatfield, A. and K. Bay. 2014. Post-Construction Studies for the Mustang Hills and Alta VIII Wind Energy Facilities, Kern County, California. Final Report for the First Year of Operation: July 2012 - October 2013. Prepared for EverPower Wind Holdings, Inc. and Brookfield Renewable Energy Group. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 28, 2014.
- Chatfield, A. and D. Russo. 2014. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring for the Pinyon Pines
 I & II Wind Energy Project, Kern County, California. Final Report for the First Year of Operation:
 March 2013 March 2014. Prepared for MidAmerican Renewables, LLC, Des Moines, Iowa, and
 Alta Windpower Development, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems
 Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 28, 2014.
- Chatfield, A., W. Erickson, and K. Bay. 2009. Avian and Bat Fatality Study, Dillon Wind-Energy Facility, Riverside County, California. Final Report: March 26, 2008 - March 26, 2009. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. June 3, 2009.
- Chatfield, A., W. P. Erickson, and K. Bay. 2010. Final Report: Avian and Bat Fatality Study at the Alite Wind-Energy Facility, Kern County, California. Final Report: June 15, 2009 June 15, 2010.
 Prepared for CH2M HILL, Oakland, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming.
- Chatfield, A., M. Sonnenberg, and K. Bay. 2012. Avian and Bat Mortality Monitoring at the Alta-Oak Creek Mojave Project, Kern County, California. Final Report for the First Year of Operation March 22, 2011 – June 15, 2012. Prepared for Alta Windpower Development, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. September 12, 2012.
- Chatfield, A., D. Riser-Espinoza, and K. Bay. 2014. Bird and Bat Mortality Monitoring at the Alta Wind Energy Center, Phases I - V, Kern County, California. Final Report for the Second Year of Operation: March 4, 2013 - March 6, 2014. Prepared for Alta Windpower Development, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 22, 2014.

- Chodachek, K., C. Derby, M. Sonnenberg, and T. Thorn. 2012. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Pioneer Prairie Wind Farm I Llc Phase II, Mitchell County, Iowa: April 4, 2011 – March 31, 2012.
 Prepared for EDP Renewables, North America LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 27, 2012.
- Chodachek, K., C. Derby, K. Adachi, and T. Thorn. 2014. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Pioneer Prairie II Wind Energy Facility, Mitchell County, Iowa. Final Report: July 1 - October 18, 2013.
 Prepared for EDP Renewables, North America LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. April 2014.
- Chodachek, K., K. Adachi, and G. DiDonato. 2015. Post Construction Fatality Surveys for the Prairie Rose Wind Energy Facility, Rock County, Minnesota. Final Report: April 15 to June 13, 2014, and August 15 to October 29, 2014. Prepared for Enel Green Power, North America, San Diego, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. January 23, 2015.
- Collins, J. and G. Jones. 2009. Differences in Bat Activity in Relation to Bat Detector Height: Implications for Bat Surveys at Proposed Wind Farms. Acta Chiropterologica 11: 343:350.
- Cryan, P. M. 2008. Mating Behavior as a Possible Cause of Bat Fatalities at Wind Turbines. Journal of Wildlife Management 72(3): 845-849. doi: 10.2193/2007-371.
- Cryan, P. M. and R. M. R. Barclay. 2009. Causes of Bat Fatalities at Wind Turbines: Hypotheses and Predictions. Journal of Mammalogy 90(6): 1330-1340.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, W. Erickson, K. Bay, and J. Hoban. 2007. Post-Construction Monitoring Report for Avian and Bat Mortality at the Nppd Ainsworth Wind Farm. Unpublished report prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, for the Nebraska Public Power District.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, and K. Bay. 2010a. Post-Construction Bat and Bird Fatality Study Crystal Lake II Wind Energy Center, Hancock and Winnebago Counties, Iowa. Final Report: April 2009- October 2009. Prepared for NextEra Energy Resources, Juno Beach, Florida. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. June 2, 2010.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010b. Post-Construction Fatality Survey for the Buffalo Ridge I Wind Project. May 2009 - May 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc., Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010c. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Elm Creek Wind Project: March 2009- February 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010d. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Moraine II Wind Project: March - December 2009. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010e. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Winnebago Wind Project: March 2009- February 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.

- Derby, C., A. Dahl, A. Merrill, and K. Bay. 2010f. 2009 Post-Construction Monitoring Results for the Wessington Springs Wind-Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report. Prepared for Wessington Wind Energy Center, LLC, Juno Beach, Florida. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 19, 2010.
- Derby, C., J. Ritzert, and K. Bay. 2010g. Bird and Bat Fatality Study, Grand Ridge Wind Resource Area, Lasalle County, Illinois. January 2009 - January 2010. Prepared for Grand Ridge Energy LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. July 13, 2010. Revised January 2011.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and S. Nomani. 2011a. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Barton I and II Wind Project: Iri. March 2010 - February 2011. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. Version: September 28, 2011.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and S. Nomani. 2011b. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Rugby Wind Project: Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. March 2010 - March 2011. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. Version: October 14, 2011.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, T. Thorn, K. Bay, and S. Nomani. 2011c. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the PrairieWinds ND1 Wind Facility, Basin Electric Power Cooperative, March - November 2010.
 Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 2, 2011.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, K. Bay, and L. McManus. 2011d. 2010 Post-Construction Monitoring Results for the Wessington Springs Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 9 – November 16, 2010. Prepared for Wessington Wind Energy Center, LLC, Juno Beach, Florida. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. November 22, 2011.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, and M. Sonnenberg. 2012a. Post-Construction Casualty Surveys for the Buffalo Ridge II Wind Project. Iberdrola Renewables: March 2011- February 2012. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 31, 2012.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, and M. Sonnenberg. 2012b. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Elm Creek II Wind Project. Iberdrola Renewables: March 2011-February 2012. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. October 8, 2012.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, T. Thorn, and A. Merrill. 2012c. Post-Construction Surveys for the PrairieWinds ND1 (2011) Wind Facility Basin Electric Power Cooperative: March - October 2011. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 31, 2012.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, and A. Merrill. 2012d. Post-Construction Monitoring Results for the PrairieWinds SD1 Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 2011 - February 2012. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. September 27, 2012.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, and D. Fox. 2013a. Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Studies for the PrairieWinds SD1 Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 2012 - February 2013. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. November 13, 2013.

- Derby, C., G. Iskali, S. Howlin, T. Thorn, T. Lyon, and A. Dahl. 2013b. Post-Construction Monitoring Results for the Big Smile Wind Farm, Roger Mills County, Oklahoma. Final Report: March 2012 to February 2013. Prepared for Acciona Wind Energy, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. June 12, 2013.
- Derby, C., G. Iskali, M. Kauffman, T. Thorn, T. Lyon, and A. Dahl. 2013c. Post-Construction Monitoring Results, Red Hills Wind Farm, Roger Mills and Custer Counties, Oklahoma. Final Report: March 2012 to March 2013. Prepared for Acciona Wind Energy, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. June 12, 2013.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, and G. DiDonato. 2014. Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Studies for the PrairieWinds SD1 Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 2013 - February 2014. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Downes, S. and R. Gritski. 2012a. Harvest Wind Project Wildlife Monitoring Report: January 2010 January 2012. Prepared for Harvest Wind Project, Roosevelt, Washington. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc., Pendleton, Oregon May 1, 2012.
- Downes, S. and R. Gritski. 2012b. White Creek Wind I Wildlife Monitoring Report: November 2007 -November 2011. Prepared for White Creek Wind I, LLC, Roosevelt, Washington. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc., Pendleton, Oregon May 1, 2012.
- Ellison, L. E. 2012. Bats and Wind Energy: A Literature Synthesis and Annotated Bibliography. Open-File Report No. 2012-1110. US Geological Survey (USGS).
- Enk, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, J. Baker, M. Kesterke, J. R. Boehrs, and A. Palochak. 2010. Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase I Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring Second Annual Report, Sherman County, Oregon. January 26, 2009 - December 11, 2009. Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc.(WEST) Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. April 2010.
- Enk, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, J. Flaig, J. R. Boehrs, and A. Palochak. 2011a. Year 1 Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring Report: Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase II, Sherman County, Oregon. September 10, 2009 - September 12, 2010. Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. January 7, 2011.
- Enk, T., C. Derby, K. Bay, and M. Sonnenberg. 2011b. 2010 Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Report, Elkhorn Valley Wind Farm, Union County, Oregon. January – December 2010. Prepared for EDP Renewables, North America LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Walla Walla, Washington, and Cheyenne, Wyoming. December 8, 2011.
- Enk, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, and J. R. Boehrs. 2012a. Year 1 Avian and Bat Monitoring Report: Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase III, Sherman County, Oregon. September 13, 2010 - September 9, 2011.
 Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. April 24, 2012.
- Enk, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, and J. R. Boehrs. 2012b. Year 2 Avian and Bat Monitoring Report: Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase II, Sherman County, Oregon. September 13, 2010 September 15, 2011. Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. April 23, 2012.

- Enz, T. and K. Bay. 2010. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring Study, Tuolumne Wind Project, Klickitat County, Washington. Final Report: April 20, 2009 - April 7, 2010. Prepared for Turlock Irrigation District, Turlock, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 6, 2010.
- Enz, T. and K. Bay. 2011. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Linden Ranch Wind Farm, Klickitat County, Washington. Final Report: June 30, 2010 - July 17, 2011. Prepared for EnXco. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. November 10, 2011.
- Enz, T., K. Bay, S. Nomani, and M. Kesterke. 2011. Bird and Bat Fatality Monitoring Study, Windy Flats and Windy Point II Wind Energy Projects, Klickitat County, Washington. Final Report: February 1, 2010 January 14, 2011. Prepared for Windy Flats Partners, LLC, Goldendale, Washington. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 19, 2011.
- Enz, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, and A. Palochak. 2012. Post-Construction Monitoring Studies for the Combine Hills Turbine Ranch, Umatilla County, Oregon. Final Report: January 7 - December 2, 2011. Prepared for Eurus Energy America Corporation, San Diego, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Walla Walla, Washington.
- Erickson, W. P. and L. Sharp. 2005. Phase 1 and Phase 1a Avian Mortality Monitoring Report for 2004-2005 for the Smud Solano Wind Project. Prepared for Sacramento Municipal Utility District (SMUD), Sacramento, California. Prepared by URS Sacramento, California and Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). August 2005.
- Erickson, W. P., G. D. Johnson, M. D. Strickland, and K. Kronner. 2000. Avian and Bat Mortality Associated with the Vansycle Wind Project, Umatilla County, Oregon. Technical Report prepared by WEST, Inc., for Umatilla County Department of Resource Services and Development, Pendleton, Oregon. 21 pp.
- Erickson, W. P., K. Kronner, and R. Gritski. 2003. Nine Canyon Wind Power Project Avian and Bat Monitoring Report. September 2002 – August 2003. Prepared for the Nine Canyon Technical Advisory Committee and Energy Northwest by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. October 2003. <u>http://www.west-inc.com/reports/nine_canyon_monitoring_final.pdf</u>
- Erickson, W. P., J. Jeffrey, K. Kronner, and K. Bay. 2004. Stateline Wind Project Wildlife Monitoring Annual Report. July 2001 - December 2003. Technical report peer-reviewed by and submitted to FPL Energy, the Oregon Energy Facility Siting Council, and the Stateline Technical Advisory Committee. Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. December 2004. Available online at: http://www.west-inc.com/reports/swp final dec04.pdf
- Erickson, W. P., K. Kronner, and R. Gritski. 2005. Nine Canyon Wind Project Phase II, Fall 2004 Avian and Bat Monitoring Report: July 25 – November 2, 2004. Prepared for the Nine Canyon Technical Advisory Committee, Energy Northwest, by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming and Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. March 2005.
- Erickson, W. P., K. Kronner, and K. J. Bay. 2007. Stateline 2 Wind Project Wildlife Monitoring Report, January - December 2006. Technical report submitted to FPL Energy, the Oregon Energy Facility Siting Council, and the Stateline Technical Advisory Committee.

- Erickson, W. P., J. D. Jeffrey, and V. K. Poulton. 2008. Puget Sound Energy Wild Horse Wind Facility Avian and Bat Monitoring: First Annual Report: January–December, 2007. Prepared for Puget Sound Energy, Ellensburg, Washington. Prepared by by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. January 2008.
- Fagen Engineering, LLC. 2014. 2013 Avian and Bat Monitoring Annual Report: Big Blue Wind Farm, Blue Earth, Minnesota. Prepared for Big Blue Wind Farm. Prepared by Fagen Engineering, LLC. May 2014.
- Fagen Engineering, LLC. 2015. 2014 Avian and Bat Monitoring Annual Report: Big Blue Wind Farm, Blue Earth, Minnesota. Prepared for Big Blue Wind Farm. Prepared by Fagen Engineering, LLC.
- Fenton, M. B. 1980. Adaptiveness and Ecology of Echolocation in Terrestrial (Aerial) Systems. Pp. 427-446. *In*: R. G. Busnel and J. F. Fish, eds. Animal Sonar Systems. Plenum Press, New York.
- Fenton, M. B. and W. Bogdanowicz. 2002. Relationships between External Morphology and Foraging Behaviour: Bats in the Genus *Myotis*. Canadian Journal of Zoology 80: 1004-1013.
- Fiedler, J. K. 2004. Assessment of Bat Mortality and Activity at Buffalo Mountain Windfarm, Eastern Tennessee. Thesis. University of Tennessee, Knoxville, Tennessee. Available online at: <u>http://www.tva.gov/environment/bmw_report/bat_mortality_bmw.pdf</u>
- Fiedler, J. K., T. H. Henry, R. D. Tankersley, and C. P. Nicholson. 2007. Results of Bat and Bird Mortality Monitoring at the Expanded Buffalo Mountain Windfarm, 2005. Tennessee Valley Authority. June 28, 2007.
- Fishman Ecological Services LLC. 2003. Carcass Survey Results for Seawest Windpower, Inc., Condon Site 2002-2003. Prepared for SeaWest WindPower Inc.
- Frick, W. F., J. F. Pollock, A. C. Hicks, K. E. Langwig, D. S. Reynolds, G. G. Turner, C. M. Butchkoski, and T. H. Kunz. 2010. An Emerging Disease Causes Regional Population Collapse of a Common North American Bat Species. Science 329: 679-682.
- Golder Associates. 2010. Report on Fall Post-Construction Monitoring, Ripley Wind Power Project, Acciona Wind. Report Number 09-1126-0029. Submitted to Suncor Energy Products Inc., Calgary, Alberta, and Acciona Wind Energy Canada, Toronto, Ontario. February 2010.
- Good, R. E., W. P. Erickson, A. Merrill, S. Simon, K. Murray, K. Bay, and C. Fritchman. 2011. Bat Monitoring Studies at the Fowler Ridge Wind Energy Facility, Benton County, Indiana: April 13 - October 15, 2010. Prepared for Fowler Ridge Wind Farm. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. January 28, 2011.
- Good, R. E., A. Merrill, S. Simon, K. Murray, and K. Bay. 2012. Bat Monitoring Studies at the Fowler Ridge Wind Farm, Benton County, Indiana: April 1 - October 31, 2011. Prepared for the Fowler Ridge Wind Farm. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. January 31, 2012.
- Good, R. E., J. P. Ritzert, and K. Adachi. 2013a. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Top Crop Wind Farm, Gundy and Lasalle Counties, Illinois. Final Report: May 2012 - May 2013. Prepared for EDP Renewables, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. October 22, 2013.
- Good, R. E., M. L. Ritzert, and K. Adachi. 2013b. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Rail Splitter Wind Farm, Tazwell and Logan Counties, Illinois. Final Report: May 2012 - May 2013. Prepared for EDP Renewables, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. October 22, 2013.

- Good, R. E., M. Sonnenburg, and S. Simon. 2013c. Bat Evaluation Monitoring Studies at the Fowler Ridge Wind Farm, Benton County, Indiana: August 1 - October 15, 2012. Prepared for the Fowler Ridge Wind Farm. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. January 31, 2013.
- Grehan, J. R. 2008. Steel Winds Bird Mortality Study, Final Report, Lackawanna, New York. Prepared for Steel Winds LLC. April 2008.
- Gritski, R. and K. Kronner. 2010a. Hay Canyon Wind Power Project Wildlife Monitoring Study: May 2009 -May 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Hay Canyon Wind Power Project LLC. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. September 20, 2010.
- Gritski, R. and K. Kronner. 2010b. Pebble Springs Wind Power Project Wildlife Monitoring Study: January 2009 January 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), and the Pebble Springs Advisory Committee. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. April 20, 2010.
- Gritski, R., K. Kronner, and S. Downes. 2008. Leaning Juniper Wind Power Project, 2006 2008. Wildlife Monitoring Final Report. Prepared for PacifiCorp Energy, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. December 30, 2008.
- Gritski, R., S. Downes, and K. Kronner. 2010. Klondike III (Phase 1) Wind Power Project Wildlife Monitoring: October 2007-October 2009. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon, for Klondike Wind Power III LLC. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. April 21, 2010 (Updated September 2010). Available online at: http://www.oregon.gov/energy/Siting/docs/KWP/KWPWildlifeReport091210.pdf
- Gritski, R., S. Downes, and K. Kronner. 2011. Klondike IIIa (Phase 2) Wind Power Project Wildlife Monitoring: August 2008 - August 2010. Updated Final. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon, for Klondike Wind Power III LLC. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. Updated April 2011. Available online at: http://www.oregon.gov/energy/Siting/docs/KWP/KWPWildlifeReport042711.pdf
- Grodsky, S. M. and D. Drake. 2011. Assessing Bird and Bat Mortality at the Forward Energy Center. Final Report. Public Service Commission (PSC) of Wisconsin. PSC REF#:152052. Prepared for Forward Energy LLC. Prepared by Department of Forest and Wildlife Ecology, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, Wisconsin. August 2011.
- Grodsky, S. M., M. J. Behr, A. Gendler, D. Drake, B. D. Dieterle, R. J. Rudd, and N. L. Walrath. 2011. Investigating the Causes of Death for Wind Turbine-Associated Bat Fatalities. Journal of Mammalogy 92(5): 917-925.
- Gruver, J. 2002. Assessment of Bat Community Structure and Roosting Habitat Preferences for the Hoary Bat (*Lasiurus cinereus*) near Foote Creek Rim, Wyoming. Thesis. University of Wyoming, Laramie, Wyoming. 149 pp.
- Gruver, J. 2008. Bat Acoustic Studies for the Blue Sky Green Field Wind Project, Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin. Final Report: July 24 - October 29, 2007. Prepared for We Energies, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 26, 2008.
- Gruver, J., M. Sonnenberg, K. Bay, and W. Erickson. 2009. Post-Construction Bat and Bird Fatality Study at the Blue Sky Green Field Wind Energy Center, Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin July 21 October 31, 2008 and March 15 June 4, 2009. Unpublished report prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. December 17, 2009.

- Harvey & Associates. 2013. Montezuma II Wind Energy Center: Post Construction Monitoring Report, Year1. Prepared by NextEra Montezuma II Wind, LLC, Juno Beach, Florida. Prepared by H.T. Harvey
 & Associates, Los Gatos, California. September 3, 2013.
- Hayes, M. A. 2013. Bats Killed in Large Numbers at United States Wind Energy Facilities. Bioscience 63(12): 975-979.
- Heffernan, L. 2016. Map of White-Nose Syndrome (WNS) Occurrence by County/District, March 31, 2016. Pennsylvania Game Commission. Map dated August 2, 2016. Available online at: <u>https://www.whitenosesyndrome.org/sites/default/files/wns_map_20160802.jpg</u>
- Hein, C. D., J. Gruver, and E. B. Arnett. 2013a. Relating Pre-Construction Bat Activity and Post-Construction Bat Fatality to Predict Risk at Wind Energy Facilities: A Synthesis. A report submitted to the National Renewable Energy Laboratory (NREL), Golden Colorado. Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. March 2013. Available online at: <u>http://batsandwind.org/pdf/Pre-%20Post-construction%20Synthesis_FINAL%20REPORT.pdf</u>
- Hein, C. D., A. Prichard, T. Mabee, and M. R. Schirmacher. 2013b. Avian and Bat Post-Construction Monitoring at the Pinnacle Wind Farm, Mineral County, West Virginia, 2012. Final Report. Bat Conservation International, Austin, Texas, and ABR, Inc., Forest Grove, Oregon. April 2013.
- Hein, C. D., A. Prichard, T. Mabee, and M. R. Schirmacher. 2013c. Effectiveness of an Operational Mitigation Experiment to Reduce Bat Fatalities at the Pinnacle Wind Farm, Mineral County, West Virginia, 2012. Bat Conservation International, Austin, Texas, and ABR, Inc., Forest Grove, Oregon. April 2013.
- Homer, C. G., J. A. Dewitz, L. Yang, S. Jin, P. Danielson, G. Xian, J. Coulston, N. D. Herold, J. D. Wickham, and K. Megown. 2015. Completion of the 2011 National Land Cover Database for the Conterminous United States-Representing a Decade of Land Cover Change Information. Photogrammetric Engineering and Remote Sensing 81(5): 345-354. Available online from: http://www.mrlc.gov/nlcd2011.php
- Howe, R. W., W. Evans, and A. T. Wolf. 2002. Effects of Wind Turbines on Birds and Bats in Northeastern Wisconsin. Prepared by University of Wisconsin-Green Bay, for Wisconsin Public Service Corporation and Madison Gas and Electric Company, Madison, Wisconsin. November 21, 2002. 104 pp.
- ICF International. 2012. Montezuma Wind Llc (Montezuma I) 2011 Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring Report. Prepared for NextEra Energy Resources. Prepared by ICF International, Sacramento, California. May 17, 2012.
- ICF International. 2013. Montezuma Wind Llc (Montezuma I) 2012 Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring Report. Prepared for NextEra Energy Resources. Prepared by ICF International, Sacramento, California. May 2013.
- Insignia Environmental. 2009. 2008/2009 Annual Report for the Buena Vista Avian and Bat Monitoring Project. Prepared for Contra Costa County, Martinez, California. Prepared by Insignia Environmental, Palo Alto, California. September 4, 2009.
- International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN). 2016. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species: South Dakota Bat Species. Version 2016-3. Available from: <u>www.iucnredlist.org</u>

- Jacques Whitford Stantec Limited (Jacques Whitford). 2009. Ripley Wind Power Project Postconstruction Monitoring Report. Project No. 1037529.01. Report to Suncor Energy Products Inc., Calgary, Alberta, and Acciona Energy Products Inc., Calgary, Alberta. Prepared for the Ripley Wind Power Project Post-Construction Monitoring Program. Prepared by Jacques Whitford, Markham, Ontario. April 30, 2009.
- Jain, A. 2005. Bird and Bat Behavior and Mortality at a Northern Iowa Windfarm. M.S. Thesis. Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, and L. Slobodnik. 2007. Annual Report for the Maple Ridge Wind Power Project: Post-Construction Bird and Bat Fatality Study – 2006. Final Report. Prepared for PPM Energy and Horizon Energy and Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) for the Maple Ridge Project Study.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, and L. Slobodnik. 2009a. Annual Report for the Maple Ridge Wind Power Project: Post-Construction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2007. Final report prepared for PPM Energy and Horizon Energy and Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) for the Maple Ridge Project Study. May 6, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, L. Slobodnik, A. Fuerst, and C. Hansen. 2009b. Annual Report for the Noble Ellenburg Windpark, Llc, Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2008. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC. April 13, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, L. Slobodnik, J. Histed, and J. Meacham. 2009c. Annual Report for the Noble Clinton Windpark, Llc, Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2008. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC. April 13, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, L. Slobodnik, and M. Lehman. 2009d. Maple Ridge Wind Power Avian and Bat Fatality Study Report - 2008. Annual Report for the Maple Ridge Wind Power Project, Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2008. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc, Horizon Energy, and the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) for the Maple Ridge Project Study. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC. May 14, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, L. Slobodnik, J. Quant, and D. Pursell. 2009e. Annual Report for the Noble Bliss Windpark, Llc, Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2008. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC. April 13, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, A. Fuerst, and A. Harte. 2010a. Annual Report for the Noble Bliss Windpark, Llc: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2009. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. March 9, 2010.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and K. Russell. 2010b. Annual Report for the Noble Clinton Windpark, Llc: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2009. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. March 9, 2010.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and K. Russell. 2010c. Annual Report for the Noble Ellenburg Windpark, Llc: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2009. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. March 14, 2010.

- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and A. Harte. 2011a. Annual Report for the Noble Wethersfield Windpark, Llc: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2010. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. January 22, 2011.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and K. Russell. 2011b. Annual Report for the Noble Altona Windpark, Llc: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2010. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. January 22, 2011.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and K. Russell. 2011c. Annual Report for the Noble Chateaugay Windpark, Llc: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2010. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. January 22, 2011.
- James, R. D. 2008. Erie Shores Wind Farm, Port Burwell, Ontario: Fieldwork Report for 2006 and 2007 During the First Two Years of Operation. Report to Environment Canada, Ontario Ministry of Natural Resources, Erie Shores Wind Farm LP - McQuarrie North American and AIM PowerGen Corporation. January 2008.
- Jeffrey, J. D., K. Bay, W. P. Erickson, M. Sonneberg, J. Baker, M. Kesterke, J. R. Boehrs, and A. Palochak. 2009a. Portland General Electric Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase I Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring First Annual Report, Sherman County, Oregon. January 2008 - December 2008. Technical report prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST) Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. April 29, 2009.
- Jeffrey, J. D., W. P. Erickson, K. Bay, M. Sonneberg, J. Baker, J. R. Boehrs, and A. Palochak. 2009b. Horizon Wind Energy, Elkhorn Valley Wind Project, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring, First Annual Report, January-December 2008. Technical report prepared for Telocaset Wind Power Partners, a subsidiary of Horizon Wind Energy, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. May 4, 2009.
- Johnson, G. D., W. P. Erickson, M. D. Strickland, M. F. Shepherd, and D. A. Shepherd. 2000. Final Report: Avian Monitoring Studies at the Buffalo Ridge Wind Resource Area, Minnesota: Results of a 4-Year Study. Final report prepared for Northern States Power Company, Minneapolis, Minnesota, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. September 22, 2000. 212 pp. <u>http://www.west-inc.com</u>
- Johnson, G., W. Erickson, and J. White. 2003. Avian and Bat Mortality During the First Year of Operation at the Klondike Phase I Wind Project, Sherman County, Oregon. Technical report prepared for Northwestern Wind Power, Goldendale, Washington, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. March 2003. <u>http://www.west-inc.com</u>
- Johnson, G. D., M. K. Perlik, W. P. Erickson, and M. D. Strickland. 2004. Bat Activity, Composition and Collision Mortality at a Large Wind Plant in Minnesota. Wildlife Society Bulletin 32(4): 1278-1288.
- Johnson, G. D., M. Ritzert, S. Nomani, and K. Bay. 2010a. Bird and Bat Fatality Studies, Fowler Ridge I Wind-Energy Facility Benton County, Indiana. Unpublished report prepared for British Petroleum Wind Energy North America Inc. (BPWENA) by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST).

- Johnson, G. D., M. Ritzert, S. Nomani, and K. Bay. 2010b. Bird and Bat Fatality Studies, Fowler Ridge III Wind-Energy Facility, Benton County, Indiana. April 2 - June 10, 2009. Prepared for BP Wind Energy North America. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming.
- Kerlinger, P. 2002a. An Assessment of the Impacts of Green Mountain Power Corporation's Wind Power Facility on Breeding and Migrating Birds in Searsburg, Vermont: July 1996-July 1998. NREL/SR-500-28591. Prepared for Vermont Public Service, Montpelier, Vermont. US Department of Energy, National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, Colorado. March 2002. 95 pp. http://www.nrel.gov/docs/fy02osti/28591.pdf
- Kerlinger, P. 2002b. Avian Fatality Study at the Madison Wind Power Project, Madison, New York. Report to PG&E Generating.
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, L. Culp, A. Hasch, and A. Jain. 2009. Revised Post-Construction Avian Monitoring Study for the Shiloh I Wind Power Project, Solano County, California. Final Report: October 2009. Third Year Report (Revised 2010). Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI). Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC., McLean, Virginia. Available online at: <u>https://www.solanocounty.com/ civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?blobid=8914</u>
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, L. Culp, A. Hasch, and A. Jain. 2010. Post-Construction Avian Monitoring Study for the Shiloh II Wind Power Project, Solano County, California. Year One Report. Prepared for enXco Development Inc. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, McLean, Virginia. September 2010. Available online at: <u>https://www.solanocounty.com/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx? blobid=12118</u>
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, L. Culp, A. Jain, C. Wilkerson, B. Fischer, and A. Hasch. 2006. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring Study for the High Winds Wind Power Project, Solano County, California: Two Year Report. Prepared for High Winds LLC, FPL Energy. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, MacLean, Virginia. April 2006. Available online at: <u>http://www.co.solano.ca.us/ civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?blobid=8915</u>
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, A. Hasch, and J. Guarnaccia. 2007. Migratory Bird and Bat Monitoring Study at the Crescent Ridge Wind Power Project, Bureau County, Illinois: September 2005 - August 2006. Final draft prepared for Orrick Herrington and Sutcliffe, LLP. May 2007.
- Kerlinger, P., J. Guarnaccia, L. Slobodnik, and R. Curry. 2011a. A Comparison of Bat Mortality in Farmland and Forested Habitats at the Noble Bliss and Wethersfield Windparks, Wyoming County, New York. Report Prepared for Noble Environmental Power. Report prepared by Curry & Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May Point, New Jersey. November 2011.
- Kerlinger, P., D. S. Reynolds, J. Guarnaccia, L. Slobodnik, and R. Curry. 2011b. An Examination of the Relationship between Bat Abundance and Fatalities at the Noble Altona Windpark, Clinton County, New York. Report prepared for Noble Environmental Power. Report prepared by Curry & Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May Point, New Jersey, and North East Ecological Services. December 2011.
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, A. Hasch, J. Guarnaccia, and D. Riser-Espinoza. 2013a. Post-Construction Bird and Bat Studies at the Shiloh II Wind Project, Llc, Solano County, California. Final Report. Prepared for EDF Renewable Energy (formerly known as enXco). Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, McLean, Virginia. December 2012 (Revised June 2013).
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, A. Hasch, J. Guarnaccia, and D. Riser-Espinoza. 2013b. Post-Construction Bird and Bat Studies at the Shiloh III Wind Project, Llc, Solano County, California. Report on Year 1 Results. Prepared for EDF Renewable Energy (formerly known as enXco). Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, McLean, Virginia. August 2013.

- Kerlinger, P., J. Guarnaccia, R. Curry, and C. J. Vogel. 2014. Bird and Bat Fatality Study, Heritage Garden I Wind Farm, Delta County, Michigan: 2012-2014. Prepared for Heritage Sustainable Energy, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, McLean, Virginia. November 2014.
- Kerns, J. and P. Kerlinger. 2004. A Study of Bird and Bat Collision Fatalities at the Mountaineer Wind Energy Center, Tucker County, West Virginia: Annual Report for 2003. Prepared for FPL Energy and the Mountaineer Wind Energy Center Technical Review Committee. February 14, 2004. 39 pp. http://www.wyhighlands.org/Birds/MountaineerFinalAvianRpt-%203-15-04PKJK.pdf
- Kronner, K., B. Gritski, and S. Downes. 2008. Big Horn Wind Power Project Wildlife Fatality Monitoring Study: 2006–2007. Final report prepared for PPM Energy and the Big Horn Wind Project Technical Advisory Committee by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Mid-Columbia Field Office, Goldendale, Washington. June 1, 2008.
- Kunz, T. H., E. B. Arnett, B. M. Cooper, W. P. Erickson, R. P. Larkin, T. Mabee, M. L. Morrison, M. D. Strickland, and J. M. Szewczak. 2007a. Assessing Impacts of Wind-Energy Development on Nocturnally Active Birds and Bats: A Guidance Document. Journal of Wildlife Management 71(8): 2449-2486. Available online at: <u>http://www.batsandwind.org/pdf/Assessing%20Impacts%20of%20wind-energy%20development%20on%20bats%20and%20birds.pdf</u>
- Kunz, T. H., E. B. Arnett, W. P. Erickson, A. R. Hoar, G. D. Johnson, R. P. Larkin, M. D. Strickland, R. W. Thresher, and M. D. Tuttle. 2007b. Ecological Impacts of Wind Energy Development on Bats: Questions, Research Needs, and Hypotheses. Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 5(6): 315-324. Available online at: https://www.bu.edu/cecb/files/2009/12/kunzbats-wind07.pdf
- Larson, D. J. and J. P. Hayes. 2000. Variability in Sensitivity of Anabat II Detectors and a Method of Calibration. Acta Chiropterologica 2: 209-213.
- Martin, C., E. Arnett, and M. Wallace. 2013. Evaluating Bird and Bat Post-Construction Impacts at the Sheffield Wind Facility, Vermont: 2012 Annual Report. Prepared for Bat Conservation International and First Wind. Prepared by Department of Natural Resources Management, Texas Tech University, Lubbock, Texas. March 25, 2013.
- Miller, A. 2008. Patterns of Avian and Bat Mortality at a Utility-Scaled Wind Farm on the Southern High Plains. Thesis. Texas Tech University, August 2008.
- Minnesota Public Utilities Commission (MPUC). 2012. Lakefield Wind Project Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring. MPUC Site Permit Quarterly Report and USFWS Special Purpose – Utility (Avian Take Monitoring) 30-Day Report: April 1 – September 30, 2012. USFWS Permit No: MB70161A-0; MDNR Permit No: 17930; MPUC Permit No: IP-6829/WS-09-1239, Permit Special Condition VII.B. October 15, 2012.
- Minnis, A. M. and D. L. Lindner. 2013. Phylogenetic Evaluation of *Geomyces* and Allies Reveals No Close Relatives of *Pseudogymnoascus destructans*, Comb. Nov., in Bat Hibernacula of Eastern North America. Fungal Biology 117: 638-649.
- Müeller, J., R. Brandl, J. Buchner, H. Pretzsch, S. Seifert, C. Strätz, M. Veith, and B. Fenton. 2013. From Ground to above Canopy - Bat Activity in Mature Forests Is Driven by Vegetation Density and Height. Forest Ecology and Management 306: 179-184.
- National Geographic Society (National Geographic). 2016. World Maps. Digital Topographic Map.
- Natural Resource Solutions Inc. (NRSI). 2011. Harrow Wind Farm 2010 Post-Construction Monitoring Report. Project No. 0953. Prepared for International Power Canada, Inc., Markham, Ontario. Prepared by NRSI. August 2011.

- New Jersey Audubon Society (NJAS). 2008a. Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring at the Atlantic City Utilities Authority - Jersey Atlantic Wind Power Facility: Periodic Report Covering Work Conducted between 1 August and 30 September 2008. Submitted to New Jersey Board of Public Utilities, New Jersey Clean Energy Program, Newark, New Jersey. Submitted by New Jersey Audubon Society, Center for Research and Education, Cape May Court House, New Jersey. Available online at: <u>http://www.njcleanenergy.com/files/file/Renewable_Programs/Wind/</u> ACUA_Interim%20Report_Jan-Sep08_all.pdf
- New Jersey Audubon Society (NJAS). 2008b. Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring at the Atlantic City Utilities Authority - Jersey Atlantic Wind Power Facility: Periodic Report Covering Work Conducted between 20 July and 31 December 2007. Submitted to New Jersey Board of Public Utilities, New Jersey Clean Energy Program, Newark, New Jersey. Submitted by New Jersey Audubon Society, Center for Research and Education, Cape May Court House, New Jersey. Available online at: <u>http://www.njcleanenergy.com/files/file/Renewable_Programs/CORE/</u> <u>ACUAReportwithimages123107LowRes.pdf</u>
- New Jersey Audubon Society (NJAS). 2009. Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring at the Atlantic City Utilities Authority - Jersey Atlantic Wind Power Facility: Project Status Report IV. Available online at: <u>http://www.njcleanenergy.com/files/file/Renewable_Programs/Wind/ACUA_Quarterly%</u> 20report_to-date_Jan-Aug09_1c.pdf
- Nicholson, C. P., J. R.D. Tankersley, J. K. Fiedler, and N. S. Nicholas. 2005. Assessment and Prediction of Bird and Bat Mortality at Wind Energy Facilities in the Southeastern United States. Final Report. Tennessee Valley Authority, Knoxville, Tennessee.
- Norberg, U. M. and J. M. V. Rayner. 1987. Ecological Morphology and Flight in Bats (Mammalia; Chiroptera): Wing Adaptations, Flight Performance, Foraging Strategy and Echolocation. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society of London 316: 335-427.
- Normandeau Associates, Inc. 2010. Stetson Mountain II Wind Project Year 1 Post-Construction Avian and Bat Mortality Monitoring Study, T8 R4 Nbpp, Maine. Prepared for First Wind, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Normandeau Associates, Inc., Falmouth, Maine. December 2, 2010.
- Normandeau Associates, Inc. 2011. Year 3 Post- Construction Avian and Bat Casualty Monitoring at the Stetson I Wind Farm, T8 R4 Nbpp, Maine. Prepared for First Wind Energy, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Normandeau Associates, Inc., Falmouth, Maine. December 2011.
- North American Datum (NAD). 1983. NAD83 Geodetic Datum.
- Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC) and Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2007. Avian and Bat Monitoring Report for the Klondike II Wind Power Project. Sherman County, Oregon. Prepared for PPM Energy, Portland, Oregon. Managed and conducted by NWC, Pendleton, Oregon. Analysis conducted by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 17, 2007.
- Osborn, R. G., K. F. Higgins, C. D. Dieter, and R. E. Usgaard. 1996. Bat Collisions with Wind Turbines in Southwestern Minnesota. Bat Research News 37: 105-108.
- Osborn, R. G., K. F. Higgins, R. E. Usgaard, C. D. Dieter, and R. G. Neiger. 2000. Bird Mortality Associated with Wind Turbines at the Buffalo Ridge Wind Resource Area, Minnesota. American Midland Naturalist 143: 41-52.
- Piorkowski, M. D. and T. J. O'Connell. 2010. Spatial Pattern of Summer Bat Mortality from Collisions with Wind Turbines in Mixed-Grass Prairie. American Midland Naturalist 164: 260-269.

- Poulton, V. and W. P. Erickson. 2010. Post-Construction Bat and Bird Fatality Study, Judith Gap Wind Farm, Wheatland County, Montana. Final Report: Results from June–October 2009 Study and Comparison with 2006-2007 Study. Prepared for Judith Gap Energy, LLC. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. March 2010.
- Reeder, D. M., C. L. Frank, G. G. Turner, A. Kurta, E. R. Britzke, S. R. Darling, C. W. Stihler, A. C. Hicks, C. U. Meteyer, R. Jacob, L. A. Grieneisen, S. A. Brownlee, M. E. Vodzak, L. K. Muller, and D. S. Blehert. 2012. Frequent Arousal from Hibernation Linked to Severity of Infection and Mortality in Bats with White-Nose Syndrome. PLoS ONE 7(6): e38920. doi: 38910.31371/journal.pone.0038920.
- Reynolds, D. S. 2010a. Post-Construction Acoustic Monitoring, 2009 Sampling Period: Noble Clinton Windpark, Clinton County, New York. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC, Essex, Connecticut. Prepared by North East Ecological Services, Bow, New Hampshire. April 6, 2010.
- Reynolds, D. S. 2010b. Post-Construction Acoustic Monitoring, 2009 Sampling Period: Noble Ellenburg Windpark, Clinton County, New York. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC, Essex, Connecticut. Prepared by North East Ecological Services, Bow, New Hampshire. April 6, 2010.
- Rollins, K. E., D. K. Meyerholz, G. D. Johnson, A. P. Capparella, and S. S. Loew. 2012. A Forensic Investigation into the Etiology of Bat Mortality at a Wind Farm: Barotrauma or Traumatic Injury? Veterinary Pathology 49(2): 362-371.
- Sapphos Environmental, Inc. (Sapphos). 2014. Pacific Wind Energy Project: Year I Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring Report. Prepared for Pacific Wind, LLC, San Diego, California. Prepared by Sapphos, Pasadena, California. September 15, 2014.
- Solick, D., A. Krause, A. Chatfield, and W. P. Erickson. 2010. Bat Acoustic Studies for the Alta East Wind Resource Area, Kern County, California. Final Report: July 7, 2009 – July 9, 2010. Prepared for CH2M HILL, Oakland, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. October 15, 2010.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2008a. 2007 Spring, Summer, and Fall Post-Construction Bird and Bat Mortality Study at the Mars Hill Wind Farm, Maine. Prepared for UPC Wind Management, LLC, Cumberland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec (formerly Woodlot Alternatives, Inc.), Topsham, Maine. January 2008.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2008b. Fall 2007 Migration Survey Report: Visual, Acoustic, and Radar Surveys of Bird and Bat Migration Conducted at the Proposed Record Hill Wind Project in Roxbury, Maine. Prepared for Independence Wind, LLC, Cumberland Foreside, Maine. Prepared by Stantec (formerly Woodlot Alternatives, Inc.), Topsham, Maine. October 2008.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2009a. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Mars Hill Wind Farm, Maine - Year 2, 2008. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec Consulting, Topsham, Maine. January 2009.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2009b. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Munnsville Wind Farm, New York: 2008. Prepared for E.ON Climate and Renewables, Austin, Texas. Prepared by Stantec Consulting, Topsham, Maine. January 2009.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2009c. Stetson I Mountain Wind Project: Year 1 Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2009 for the Stetson Mountain Wind Project in Penobscot and Washington Counties, Maine. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC. Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. December 2009.

- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2010. Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms Year 1 Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2009, for the Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms in Cohocton, New York. Prepared for Canandaigua Power Partners, LLC and Canandaigua Power Partners II, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. January 2010.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2011a. Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms Year 2 Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2010, for the Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms in Cohocton, New York. Prepared for Canandaigua Power Partners, LLC, and Canandaigua Power Partners II, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. October 2011.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2011b. Post-Construction Monitoring 2010 Final Annual Report Year 1, Milford Wind Corridor Phase I, Milford, Utah. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. August 2011.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2012a. 2011 Post-Construction Monitoring Report, Kibby Wind Power Project, Franklin County, Maine. Prepared for TransCanada Hydro Northeast, Inc., North Walpole, New Hampshire. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 2012.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2012b. Post-Construction Monitoring 2011 2012, Milford Wind Corridor Phase I and II, Milford, Utah. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. May 2012.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013a. Palouse Wind Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, 2012-2013. Prepared for Palouse Wind, Whitman County, Washington. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. December 2013.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013b. Record Hill Wind Project Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2012. Prepared for Record Hill Wind LLC, Lyme, New Hampshire. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 2013. Available online at: <u>http://www.maine.gov/dep/ftp/</u> <u>WindPowerProjectFiles/PostConstructionMonitoring/RH%202012%20PCM%20Report_031313.p</u> <u>df</u>
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013c. Rollins Wind Project Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2012. Prepared for First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 2013.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013d. Steel Winds I and II Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2012, Lackwanna and Hamburg, New York. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. April 2013.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013e. Stetson II Wind Project Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2012. Prepared for First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 2013.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2014. Stetson I Wind Project 2013 Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, Year 5. Stetson I Wind Project, Washington County, Maine. Prepared for First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. February 2014.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2015. Record Hill Wind Project Year 2 Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, 2014. Prepared for Record Hill Wind LLC and Wagner Forest Management, Ltd., Lyme, New Hampshire. Prepared by Stantec Consulting, Topsham, Maine. March 2015.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. (Stantec Ltd.). 2008. Melancthon I Wind Plant Post-Construction Bird and Bat Monitoring Report: 2007. File No. 160960220. Prepared for Canadian Hydro Developers, Inc., Guelph, Ontario. Prepared by Stantec Ltd., Guelph, Ontario. June 2008.

- Stantec Consulting Ltd. (Stantec Ltd.). 2010a. Wolfe Island Ecopower Centre Post-Construction Followup Plan. Bird and Bat Resources Monitoring Report No. 1: May - June 2009. File No. 160960494. Prepared for Canadian Hydro Developers, Inc.'s wholly owned subsidiary, Canadian Renewable Energy Corporation. Prepared by Stantec Ltd., Guelph, Ontario. February 2010.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. (Stantec Ltd.). 2010b. Wolfe Island Ecopower Centre Post-Construction Followup Plan. Bird and Bat Resources Monitoring Report No. 2: July - December 2009. File No. 160960494.
 Prepared for TransAlta Corporation's wholly owned subsidiary, Canadian Renewable Energy Corporation. Prepared by Stantec Ltd., Guelph, Ontario. May 2010.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. (Stantec Ltd.). 2011a. Wolfe Island Wind Plant Post-Construction Follow-up Plan.
 Bird and Bat Resources Monitoring Report No. 3: January June 2010. File No. 160960494.
 Prepared for TransAlta Corporation's wholly owned subsidiary, Canadian Renewable Energy Corporation. Prepared by Stantec Consulting Ltd., Guelph, Ontario. January 2011.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. (Stantec Ltd.). 2011b. Wolfe Island Wind Plant Post-Construction Followup Plan.
 Bird and Bat Resources Monitoring Report No. 4: July December 2010. File No. 160960494.
 Prepared for TransAlta Corporation's wholly owned subsidiary, Canadian Renewable Energy Corporation. Prepared by Stantec Consulting Ltd., Guelph, Ontario. July 2011.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. (Stantec Ltd.). 2011c. Wolfe Island Wind Plant Post-Construction Followup Plan.
 Bird and Bat Resources Monitoring Report No. 5: January June 2011. File No. 160960494.
 Prepared for TransAlta Corporation's wholly owned subsidiary, Canadian Renewable Energy Corporation. Prepared by Stantec Consulting Ltd., Guelph, Ontario. December 2011.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. (Stantec Ltd.). 2012. Wolfe Island Wind Plant Post-Construction Follow-up Plan.
 Bird and Bat Resources Monitoring Report No. 6: July-December 2011. File No. 160960494.
 Prepared for TransAlta Corporation's wholly owned subsidiary, Canadian Renewable Energy Corporation. Prepared by Stantec Consulting Ltd., Guelph, Ontario. July 2012.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. (Stantec Ltd.). 2014. Wolfe Island Wind Plant Post-Construction Follow-up Plan. Bird and Bat Resources Monitoring Report No. 7: January - June 2012. File No. 160960494. Prepared for TransAlta Corporation's wholly owned subsidiary, Canadian Renewable Energy Corporation. Prepared by Stantec Consulting Ltd., Guelph, Ontario. April 2014. Available online at: http://www.transalta.com/sites/default/files/Wolfelsland_TransAlta_PostConstruction_BirdBat Report_7.pdf
- Stantec Consulting Services, Inc. (Stantec Consulting). 2012. Post-Construction Monitoring, Summer 2011
 Spring 2012. Year 1 Annual Report. Kittitas Valley Wind Power Project, Cle Elum, Washington.
 Prepared for Sagebrush Power Partners, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Stantec Consulting, Salt Lake City, Utah.
- Tetra Tech. 2013. Spruce Mountain Wind Project Post-Construction Bird and Bat Fatality and Raptor Monitoring: Year 1 Annual Report. Prepared for Patriot Renewables. Prepared by Tetra Tech, Portland, Maine. May 2013.
- Thompson, J. and K. Bay. 2012. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Dry Lake II Wind Project: February 2011 – February 2012. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. June 6, 2012.
- Thompson, J., D. Solick, and K. Bay. 2011. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Dry Lake Phase I Wind Project. Iberdrola Renewables: September 2009 - November 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 10, 2011.

- Tidhar, D., W. Tidhar, and M. Sonnenberg. 2010. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for Lempster Wind Project, Iberdrola Renewables. Prepared for Lempster Wind, Llc, Lempster Wind Technical Advisory Committee, and Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology Inc. (WEST), Waterbury, Vermont. September 30, 2010.
- Tidhar, D., W. L. Tidhar, L. McManus, and Z. Courage. 2011. 2010 Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Lempster Wind Project, Lempster, New Hampshire. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. and the Lempster Wind Technical Committee. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc., Waterbury, Vermont. May 18, 2011.
- Tidhar, D., L. McManus, Z. Courage, and W. L. Tidhar. 2012a. 2010 Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Study and Bat Acoustic Study for the High Sheldon Wind Farm, Wyoming County, New York. Final Report: April 15 - November 15, 2010. Prepared for High Sheldon Wind Farm, Sheldon Energy LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Waterbury, Vermont. April 15, 2012.
- Tidhar, D., L. McManus, D. Solick, Z. Courage, and K. Bay. 2012b. 2011 Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Study and Bat Acoustic Study for the High Sheldon Wind Farm, Wyoming County, New York. Final Report: April 15 - November 15, 2011. Prepared for High Sheldon Wind Farm, Sheldon Energy LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Waterbury, Vermont. April 25, 2012.
- Tidhar, D., J. Ritzert, M. Sonnenberg, M. Lout, and K. Bay. 2013a. 2012 Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Study for the Maple Ridge Wind Farm, Lewis County, New York. Final Report: July 12 - October 15, 2012. Prepared for EDP Renewables North, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), NE/Mid-Atlantic Branch, Waterbury, Vermont. February 12, 2013.
- Tidhar, D., M. Sonnenberg, and D.P. Young, Jr. 2013b. 2012 Post-Construction Carcass Monitoring Study for the Beech Ridge Wind Farm, Greenbrier County, West Virginia. Final Report: April 1 - October 28, 2012. Prepared for Beech Ridge Wind Farm, Beech Ridge Energy, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), NE/Mid-Atlantic Branch, Waterbury, Vermont. January 18, 2013.
- Tierney, R. 2007. Buffalo Gap I Wind Farm Avian Mortality Study: February 2006-January 2007. Final Survey Report. Prepared for AES SeaWest, Inc. TRC, Albuquerque, New Mexico. TRC Report No. 110766-C-01. May 2007.
- Tierney, R. 2009. Buffalo Gap 2 Wind Farm Avian Mortality Study: July 2007 December 2008. Final Survey Report. Submitted by TRC, Albuquerque, New Mexico. TRC Report No. 151143-B-01. June 2009.
- TRC Environmental Corporation. 2008. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring and Grassland Bird Displacement Surveys at the Judith Gap Wind Energy Project, Wheatland County, Montana. Prepared for Judith Gap Energy, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. TRC Environmental Corporation, Laramie, Wyoming. TRC Project 51883-01 (112416). January 2008. http://www.newwest.net/pdfs/AvianBatFatalityMonitoring.pdf
- URS Corporation. 2010a. Final Goodnoe Hills Wind Project Avian Mortality Monitoring Report. Prepared for PacifiCorp, Salt Lake City, Utah. Prepared by URS Corporation, Seattle, Washington. March 16, 2010.
- URS Corporation. 2010b. Final Marengo I Wind Project Year One Avian Mortality Monitoring Report. Prepared for PacifiCorp, Salt Lake City, Utah. Prepared by URS Corporation, Seattle, Washington. March 22, 2010.

- URS Corporation. 2010c. Final Marengo II Wind Project Year One Avian Mortality Monitoring Report. Prepared for PacifiCorp, Salt Lake City, Utah. Prepared by URS Corporation, Seattle, Washington. March 22, 2010.
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2011. A National Plan for Assisting States, Federal Agencies, and Tribes in Managing White-Nose Syndrome in Bats. May 2011. Available online at: <u>http://whitenosesyndrome.org/sites/default/files/white-nose_syndrome_national_plan_may_2011</u> .pdf
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2012a. Land-Based Wind Energy Guidelines. March 23, 2012. 82 pp. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/cno/pdf/Energy/2012_Wind_Energy_Guidelines_final.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2012b. North American Bat Death Toll Exceeds 5.5 Million from White-Nose Syndrome. USFWS News Release, USFWS Office of Communications, Arlington, Virginia. January 17, 2012. Available online at: <u>http://whitenosesyndrome.org/sites/default/files/ms_mortality_2012_nr_final.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2013. Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; 12-Month Finding on a Petition to List the Eastern Small-Footed Bat and the Northern Long-Eared Bat as Endangered or Threatened Species; Listing the Northern Long-Eared Bat as an Endangered Species. Docket No. FWS-R5-ES-2011-0024. 78 Federal Register (FR) 191: 61046-61080. October 2, 2013. Available online at: <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2013-10-02/pdf/2013-23753.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2015a. 2015 Range-Wide Indiana Bat Summer Survey Guidelines. April 2015. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/midwest/endangered/</u> <u>mammals/inba/surveys/pdf/2015IndianaBatSummerSurveyGuidelines01April2015.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2015b. Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; Threatened Species Status for the Northern Long-Eared Bat with 4(D) Rule; Final Rule and Interim Rule. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, 50 CFR Part 17. 80 Federal Register (FR) 63: 17974-18033. April 2, 2015. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/ midwest/endangered/mammals/nleb/pdf/FRnlebFinalListing02April2015.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016a. Endangered and Threatened Wildlife and Plants; 4(D) Rule for the Northern Long-Eared Bat; Final Rule. Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, 50 CFR Part 17. 81 Federal Register (FR) 9: 1900-1922. January 14, 2016. Available online at: http://www.fws.gov/Midwest/endangered/mammals/nleb/pdf/FRnlebFinal4dRule 14Jan2016.pdf
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016b. National Listing Workplan: 7-Year Workplan (September 2016 Version). Available online at: <u>https://www.fws.gov/endangered/improving_ESA/pdf/Listing%207-Year%20Workplan%20Sept%202016.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016c. Northern Long-Eared Bat Interim 4(d) Rule: White-Nose Syndrome Buffer Zone around WNS/Pd Positive Counties/Districts. April 29, 2016. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/midwest/endangered/mammals/nleb/pdf/WNSBufferZone.pdf</u>

- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2016d. Resources for Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota. Initial Project Scoping: IPaC - Information, Planning, and Conservation System, Environmental Conservation Online System (ECOS), USFWS. Accessed December 2016. IPaC information available online at: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/ipac/;</u> IPaC Initial Project Scoping: <u>http://ecos.fws.gov/ ipac/wizard/chooseLocation!prepare.action;</u> Hughes County resources at: <u>https://ecos.fws.gov/ ipac/location/Y2S32JBG3RDINNWL6EXA7UAGA4/resources;</u> Hyde County resources at: <u>https://ecos.fws.gov/ipac/location/LHFXX6RWVRD7PGIBQVG6T7F7WI/resources</u>
- US Geological Survey (USGS). 2010. White-Nose Syndrome Threatens the Survival of Hibernating Bats in North America. USGS Fort Collins Science Center.
- US Geological Survey (USGS) National Land Cover Database (NLCD). 2011. National Land Cover Database 2011 (NLCD 2011). Multi-Resolution Land Characteristics Consortium (MRLC), National Land Cover Database (NLCD). USGS Earth Resources Observation and Science (EROS) Center, Sioux Falls, South Dakota. Information available online at: <u>http://www.mrlc.gov/nlcd2011.php</u>; Legend information available at: <u>http://www.mrlc.gov/nlcd11_leg.php</u>
- USA Topo. 2016. USA Topo Maps. US Geological Survey (USGS) topographical maps for the United States. ArcGIS. ESRI, producers of ArcGIS software. Redlands, California.
- Ventus Environmental Solutions (Ventus). 2012. Vantage Wind Energy Center Avian and Bat Monitoring Study: March 2011- March 2012. Prepared for Vantage Wind Energy, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Ventus, Portland, Oregon. May 16, 2012.
- Warnecke, L., J. M. Turner, T. K. Bollinger, J. M. Lorch, V. Misra, P. M. Cryan, G. Wibbelt, D. S. Blehert, and C. K. R. Willis. 2012. Inoculation of Bats with European *Geomyces destructans* Supports the Novel Pathogen Hypothesis for the Origin of White-Nose Syndrome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109(18): 6999-7003.
- Watt, M. A. and D. Drake. 2011. Assessing Bat Use at the Forward Energy Center. Final Report. PSC REF#:152051. Public Service Commission of Wisconsin. Prepared for Forward Energy LLC. Prepared by Department of Forest and Wildlife Ecology, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, Wisconsin. August 2011.
- Weller, T. J. and J. A. Baldwin. 2012. Using Echolocation Monitoring to Model Bat Occupancy and Inform Mitigations at Wind Energy Facilities. Journal of Wildlife Management 76: 619-631.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2006. Diablo Winds Wildlife Monitoring Progress Report, March 2005 - February 2006. Technical report submitted to FPL Energy and Alameda County California. WEST. Cheyenne, Wyoming.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2008. Diablo Winds Wildlife Monitoring Progress Report: March 2005 – February 2007. Prepared by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 2008.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2011. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Barton Chapel Wind Project: Iberdrola Renewables. Version: July 2011. Iberdrola Renewables, Portland, Oregon.
- White-Nose Syndrome.org. 2016. Where Is It Now? WNS Info, White-Nose Syndrome.org. Accessed December 1, 2016. Available online at: <u>https://www.whitenosesyndrome.org/about/where-is-it-now</u>

- Young, D.P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, R. E. Good, M. D. Strickland, and G. D. Johnson. 2003a. Avian and Bat Mortality Associated with the Initial Phase of the Foote Creek Rim Windpower Project, Carbon County, Wyoming, Final Report, November 1998 - June 2002. Prepared for Pacificorp, Inc. Portland, Oregon, SeaWest Windpower Inc. San Diego, California, and Bureau of Land Management, Rawlins District Office, Rawlins, Wyoming. January 10, 2003. Available online at: http://west-inc.com/reports/fcr_final_mortality.pdf
- Young, D.P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, M. D. Strickland, R. E. Good, and K. J. Sernka. 2003b. Comparison of Avian Responses to Uv-Light-Reflective Paint on Wind Turbines. Subcontract Report July 1999 – December 2000. NREL/SR-500-32840. Prepared for National Renewable Energy Laboratory, Golden, Colorado, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. Foote Creek Rim Wind Plant, Carbon County, Wyoming. January 2003. <u>http://www.west-inc.com</u>
- Young, D.P., Jr., J. Jeffrey, W. P. Erickson, K. Bay, V. K. Poulton, K. Kronner, R. Gritski, and J. Baker. 2006. Eurus Combine Hills Turbine Ranch. Phase 1 Post Construction Wildlife Monitoring First Annual Report: February 2004 February 2005. Technical report prepared for Eurus Energy America Corporation, San Diego, California, and the Combine Hills Technical Advisory Committee, Umatilla County, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla Washington, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. February 21, 2006. Available online at: http://wind.nrel.gov/public/library/young7.pdf
- Young, D.P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, J. Jeffrey, and V. K. Poulton. 2007. Puget Sound Energy Hopkins Ridge Wind Project Phase 1 Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring First Annual Report, January -December 2006. Technical report for Puget Sound Energy, Dayton, Washington and Hopkins Ridge Wind Project Technical Advisory Committee, Columbia County, Washington. Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. 25 pp.
- Young, D.P., Jr., K. Bay, S. Nomani, and W. Tidhar. 2009a. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: March - June 2009. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 17, 2009.
- Young, D.P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, K. Bay, S. Nomani, and W. Tidhar. 2009b. Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Phase 1 Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring, July - October 2008. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 17, 2009.
- Young, D.P., Jr., J. D. Jeffrey, K. Bay, and W. P. Erickson. 2009c. Puget Sound Energy Hopkins Ridge Wind Project, Phase 1, Columbia County, Washington. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring, Second Annual Report: January - December, 2008. Prepared for Puget Sound Energy, Dayton, Washington, and the Hopkins Ridge Wind Project Technical Advisory Committee, Columbia County, Washington. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. May 20, 2009.
- Young, D.P., Jr., K. Bay, S. Nomani, and W. Tidhar. 2010a. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: April - July 2010. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 27, 2010.

- Young, D.P., Jr., K. Bay, S. Nomani, and W. Tidhar. 2010b. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: July - October 2009. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 12, 2010.
- Young, D.P., Jr., S. Nomani, Z. Courage, and K. Bay. 2011a. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: April - July 2011. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 29, 2011.
- Young, D.P., Jr., S. Nomani, W. Tidhar, and K. Bay. 2011b. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: July - October 2010. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 10, 2011.
- Young, D.P., Jr., M. Lout, Z. Courage, S. Nomani, and K. Bay. 2012a. 2011 Post-Construction Monitoring Study, Criterion Wind Project, Garrett County, Maryland: April - November 2011. Prepared for Criterion Power Partners, LLC, Oakland, Maryland. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Waterbury, Vermont. April 20, 2012. Revised November 25, 2013.
- Young, D.P., Jr., S. Nomani, Z. Courage, and K. Bay. 2012b. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: July - October 2011. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 27, 2012.
- Young, D.P., Jr., C. Nations, M. Lout, and K. Bay. 2013. 2012 Post-Construction Monitoring Study, Criterion Wind Project, Garrett County, Maryland. April - November 2012. Prepared for Criterion Power Partners, LLC, Oakland, Maryland. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Waterbury, Vermont. January 15, 2013.
- Young, D.P., Jr., M. Kauffman, M. Lout, and K. Bay. 2014a. 2013 Post-Construction Monitoring Study, Criterion Wind Project, Garrett County, Maryland. April - November 2013. Prepared for Criterion Power Partners, LLC, Oakland, Maryland. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Waterbury, Vermont. February 18, 2014.
- Young, D.P., Jr., M. Lout, L. McManus, and K. Bay. 2014b. 2013 Post-Construction Monitoring Study, Beech Ridge Wind Energy Project, Greenbrier and Nicholas Counties, West Virginia. Final Report: April 1 - November 15, 2013. Prepared for Beech Ridge Energy, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Burlington, Vermont. January 28, 2014.

Appendix A: North American Fatality Summary Tables

Appendix A1. Wind energy facilit	ies in North A	merica with compa	arable activ	ity and fat	ality data
Wind Energy Facility	Bat Activity Estimate ^A	Bat Activity Dates	Fatality Estimate ^B	No. of Turbines	Total MW
Triple H. South Dakota	9.08				
	Mio	lwest			
Cedar Ridge, WI (2009)	9.97 ^{C,D,E,F}	7/16/07-9/30/07	30.61	41	67.6
Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008; 2009)	7.7 F	7/24/07-10/29/07	24.57	88	145
Cedar Ridge, WI (2010) Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011) Fowler I, II, III, IN (2010)	9.97 ^{C,D,E,F}	7/16/07-9/30/07	24.12 20.19 18.96	41 355 355	68 600 600
Forward Energy Center, WI (2008- 2010)	6.97	8/5/08-11/08/08	18.17	86	129
Top Crop I & II (2012-2013)			12.55	200 (68 Phase I, 132 Phase II)	300 (102 Phase I, 198 Phase II)
Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013)			11.21	67 24 (four	100.5
Harrow, Ont (2010)			11.13	6-turb facilities)	39.6
Top of Iowa, IA (2004)	35.7	5/26/04-9/24/04	10.27	89 [′]	80
Pioneer Prairie I, IA (Phase II; 2011-2012)			10.06	62	102.3
Fowler I, IN (2009) Crystal Lake II, IA (2009) Top of Iowa, IA (2003) Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2014) Ripley, Ont (2008) Winnebago, IA (2009-2010)			8.09 7.42 7.16 6.45 5.9 4.67 4.54	162 80 89 31 14 38 10	301 200 80 20.46 28 76 20
2001/Lake Benton I)	2.2 ^C	6/15/01-9/15/01	4.35	143	107.25
Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013)			3.83	62	102.3
Butfalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake Benton II)	2.2 ^c	6/15/01-9/15/01	3.71	138	103.5
Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012) Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012) Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012) Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) Moraine II, MN (2009) Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)			3.27 2.96 2.81 2.81 2.72 2.59 2.42 2.16	33 355 62 105 138 143 33 143	49.5 600 148.8 210 103.5 107.25 49.5 107.25
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)			2.13	80	115.5
Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010) Big Blue, MN (2013) Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011) Fowler III, IN (2009) Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III;	100		2.1 2.04 1.85 1.84	66 18 80 60	99 36 160 99
2002/Lake Benton II)	1.9 °	0/15/02-9/15/02	1.81	138	103.5

	Bat Activity	Bat Activity	Fatality	No. of	Total
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Dates	Estimate ^B	Turbines	MW
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake Benton I)	1.9 ^c	6/15/02-9/15/02	1.64	143	107.25
Rugby, ND (2010-2011)			1.6	71	149
Elm Creek, MN (2009-2010)			1.49	67	100
Wessington Springs, SD (2009)			1.48	34	51
Big Blue, MN (2014) Brairie Minde ND1 (Minet) ND			1.43	18	36
(2011)			1.39	80	115.5
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2011-2012)			1.23	108	162
NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006)			1.16	36	20.5
Prairievvinds SD1, SD (2012-2013)			1.05	108	162
PrairieWinds SD1 SD (2013-2014)			0.74	108	162
Wessington Springs, SD (2010)			0.41	34	51
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (2009-2010)			0.16	24	50.4
	Southe	rn Plains			
Barton Chapel, TX (2009-2010)			3.06	60	120
Big Smile, OK (2012-2013)			2.9	66	132
Buttalo Gap II, TX (2007-2008)			0.14	155	233
Red Hills, OK (2012-2013) Buffalo Gap L TX (2006)			0.11	02 67	120
	Rocky N	lountains	0.1	07	104
Summer in the (2006, 2007)	770	07/15/06-07-	11 10	20	70.0
Summerview, Alb (2006; 2007)	1.10	09/30/06-07	11.42	39	70.2
Summerview, Alb (2005-2006)			10.27	39	70.2
Judith Gap, MT (2006-2007)			8.93	90	135
1999)			3.97	69	41.4
Judith Gap, MT (2009)			3.2	90	135
Milford I, UT (2010-2011)			2.05	58	145
Milford 1 8 11 LIT (2011 2012)			1 67	107	160.5 (59.5.1
			1.07	107	(58.51, 102 II)
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I;	2.2 ^{C,D}	6/15/01-9/1/01	1.57	69	41.4
2001-2002)					
2000)	2.2 ^{C,D}	6/15/00-9/1/00	1.05	69	41.4
	Sout	hwest			
Dry Lake I, AZ (2009-2010)	8.8	4/29/10-11/10/10	4.29	30	63
Dry Lake II, AZ (2011-2012)	11.5	<u>5/11/11-10/26/11</u>	1.66	31	65
Shiloh I. CA (2006-2009)	Cam	ornia	3 02	100	150
Shiloh II. CA (2010-2011)			3.8	75	150
Shiloh II, CA (2009-2010)			2.6	75	150
High Winds, CA (2003-2004)			2.51	90	162
Dillon, CA (2008-2009)			2.17	45	45
Montezuma I, CA (2011)			1.9	16	36.8
High Winds, CA (2004-2005)	4 40 6		1.52	90	162
Alta Wind I, CA (2011-2012)	4.42 ^G	0/26/09 -10/31/09	1.28	100 24	150 70 0
Montezuma I, CA ($2012-2013$)			0.91	54 16	70.∠ 36.8
Diablo Winds. CA (2005-2007)			0.82	31	20.46
, - ()					

Appendix A1. Wind energy facilities in North America with comparable activity a	and fatality data
for bats, separated by geographic region.	

					Tatal
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Dates	Estimate ^B	NO. OF	n otal MW
Shiloh III. CA (2012-2013)			0.4	50	102.5
Solano III. CA (2012-2013)			0.31	55	128
$\Delta lite CA (2009-2010)$			0.24	8	24
Ante, 6A (2003-2010)			0.24	0	720 (150
Alta Wind LV CA (2013-2014)			0.2	200	CE 570
Alta Wind 1-V, CA (2013-2014)			0.2	230	UL, 570
Mustang Hills, CA (2012-2012)			0.1	50	150
Alto Mind II.V. CA (2012-2013)	0.70	6/26/00 10/21/00	0.1	100	130 570
Alla WING II-V, CA $(2011-2012)$	0.70	0/20/09 - 10/31/09	0.06	190	570
Pinyon Pines I & II, CA (2013-2014)			0.04	100	NA 150
Alta VIII, CA (2012-2013)			0	50	150
	Pacific I	Northwest			
Palouse Wind, WA (2012-2013)			4.23	58	104.4
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II;			2 71	65	150
2009-2010)			2.7 1	00	100
Nine Canyon, WA (2002-2003)			2.47	37	48.1
Stateline, OR/WA (2003)			2.29	454	299
Elkhorn, OR (2010)			2.14	61	101
White Creek, WA (2007-2011)			2.04	89	204.7
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2008)			1.99	76	125.4
Leaning Juniper, OR (2006-2008)			1.98	67	100.5
Big Horn. WA (2006-2007)			1.9	133	199.5
Combine Hills, OR (Phase I: 2004-			4.00		
2005)			1.88	41	41
Linden Ranch, WA (2010-2011)			1.68	25	50
Pebble Springs, OR (2009-2010)			1.55	47	98.7
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2008)			1.39	87	156.6
Harvest Wind, WA (2010-2012)			1.27	43	98.9
Elkhorn, OR (2008)			1.26	61	101
Vansvcle, OR (1999)			1.12	38	24.9
Klondike III (Phase I). OR (2007-					
2009)			1.11	125	223.6
Stateline, OR/WA (2001-2002)			1.09	454	299
Stateline, OR/WA (2006)			0.95	454	299
Tuolumne (Windy Point I), WA			0.04	60	126.6
(2009-2010)			0.94	02	130.0
Klondike, OR (2002-2003)			0.77	16	24
Combine Hills, OR (2011)			0.73	104	104
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2006)			0.63	83	150
Biglow Canvon, OR (Phase I: 2009)			0.58	76	125.4
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II:					
2010-2011)			0.57	65	150
Hav Canyon OR $(2009-2010)$			0.53	48	100.8
Windy Elate WA (2010-2011)			0.00	11/	262.2
K (2010-2011)			0.41	50	75
$V_{antage} = W/\Lambda (2010, 2010)$			0.41	60	00
Wild Horse (MA (2010-2011)			0.4	107	30 220
$\frac{1}{2}$			0.39	121	229
Guouride, WA (2009-2010)			0.34	4/	94
warengo II, WA (2009-2010)			0.27	39	10.2

Appendix A1. Wind energy facilities in North America with comparable activity and fatality data for bats, separated by geographic region.

Det Activity Det Activity Det Activity Det Activity					
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Dates	Estimate ^B	Turbines	MW
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III; 2010-2011)			0.22	76	174.8
Marengo I, WA (2009-2010) Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR (2008			0.17	78	140.4
2010)			0.14	51	76.5
<u>Kittitas Valley, WA (2011-2012)</u>	Sou	thoast	0.12	48	100.8
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2005)	000	incust	39 70	18	28.98
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2000-2003)	23.7 ^D		31.54	3	1.98
Northeast					
Pinnacle, WV (2012)			40.2	23	55.2
Mountaineer, WV (2003)			31.69	44	66
Mount Storm, WV (2009)	30.09	7/15/09-10/7/09	17.53	132	264
Noble Wethersfield, NY (2010)			16.3	84	126
Criterion, MD (2011)			15.61	28	70
Mount Storm, WV (2010)	36.67 ^H	4/18/10-10/15/10	15.18	132	264
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II: 2010)			14.38	51	102
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II: 2009)			14.11	51	102
Casselman, PA (2008)			12.61	23	34.5
Maple Ridge NY (2006)			11 21	120	198
Cohocton/Dutch Hills NY (2010)			10.32	50	125
Wolfe Island Ont (July-December			10.02	00	120
2010)			9.5	86	197.8
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2009)			8.62	50	125
Casselman, PA (2009)			8.6	23	34.5
Noble Bliss, NY (2008)			7.8	67	100
Criterion, MD (2012)			7.62	28	70
Mount Storm, WV (2011)			7.43	132	264
Maple Ridge, NY (2012)			7.3	195	321.75
Mount Storm, WV (Fall 2008)	35.2	7/20/08-10/12/08	6.62	82	164
Maple Ridge, NY (2007)			6.49	195	321.75
Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December			6.42	86	197.8
Criterion MD (2013)			5 32	28	70
Monto Ridgo, NV (2007 2008)			1.06	20	201 75
Nable Clinton NV (2000)	1 O F	9/1/00 00/21/00	4.90	195	100
Casadman Curtailmant DA (2008)	1.9 -	0/1/09-09/31/09	4.5	07	100
Cassellian Curtaiment, PA (2006)			4.4	23	33.4 07.5
Noble Allona, NY (2010)	10 1 F	0/46/00 00/45/00	4.34	00	97.5
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2009)	10.1 -	8/10/09-09/15/09	3.91	54	80
NODIE BIISS, NY (2009)			3.85	67	100
Lempster, NH (2010)			3.57	12	24
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2008)			3.46	54	80
Noble Clinton, NY (2008)	2.1 ⊧	8/8/08-09/31/08	3.14	67	100
Lempster, NH (2009)			3.11	12	24
Record Hill, ME (2012)	24.6	4/16/12-10/23/12	2.96	22	50.6
Mars Hill, ME (2007)			2.91	28	42
Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 2011)			2.49	86	197.8
Noble Chateaugay, NY (2010)			2.44	71	106.5
High Sheldon NY (2010)			2.33	75	112 5
Stetson Mountain II MF (2012)			2.00	17	25.5
Beech Ridge, WV (2012)			2.03	67	100.5

Appendix A1. Wind energy facilities in North America with comparable activity and fatality data for bats, separated by geographic region.
	Bat Activity	Bat Activity	Fatality	No. of	Total
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Dates	Estimate ^B	Turbines	MW
Munnsville, NY (2008)			1.93	23	34.5
High Sheldon, NY (2011)			1.78	75	112.5
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2010)			1.65	17	25.5
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2009)	28.5; 0.3	7/10/09-10/15/09	1.4	38	57
Beech Ridge, WV (2013)			0.58	67	100.5
Record Hill, ME (2014)			0.55	22	50.6
Mars Hill, ME (2008)			0.45	28	42
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2011)			0.28	38	57
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2013)			0.18	38	57
Rollins, ME (2012)			0.18	40	60
Kibby, ME (2011)			0.12	44	132

Appendix A1. Wind energy facilities in North America with comparable activity and fatality data for bats, separated by geographic region.

A = Bat passes per detector-night

B = Number of fatalities per megawatt per year

C = Activity rate was averaged across phases and/or years

D = Activity rate calculated by WEST from data presented in referenced report

E = Activity rate based on data collected at various heights all other activity rates are from ground-based units only

F = Activity rate based on pre-construction monitoring; data for all other activity and fatality rates were collected concurrently

G = Average of ground-based detectors at CPC Proper (Phase I) for late summer/fall period only

H = Activity rate based on data collected from ground-based units excluding reference stations during the spring, summer and fall seasons

I = The overall activity rate of 28.5 is from reference stations located along forest edges which may be attractive to bats; the activity rate of 0.3 is from one unit placed on a nacelle

		-		-	-
Project, Location	Activity Reference	Fatality Reference	Project, Location	Activity Reference	Fatality Reference
Alite, CA (09-10)		Chatfield et al. 2010	Lempster, NH (09)		Tidhar et al. 2010
Alta Wind I. CA (11-12)	Solick et al.	Chatfield et al. 2012	Lempster, NH (10)		Tidhar et al. 2011
Alta Wind I-V CA (13-14)	2010	Chatfield et al. 2014	Linden Ranch WA (10-11)		Enz and Bay 2011
Alta Wind II-V, CA (11-12)	Solick et al. 2010	Chatfield et al. 2012	Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 09)		Arnett et al.
Alta VIII, CA (12-13)		Chatfield and Bay 2014	Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 10)		Arnett et al.
Barton I & II, IA (10-11) Barton Chapel, TX (09-10) Beech Ridge, WV (12) Big Blue, MN (13) Big Blue, MN (14) Big Horn, WA (06-07) Big Smile, OK (12-13)		Derby et al. 2011a WEST 2011 Tidhar et al. 2013b Young et al. 2014b Fagen Engineering 2014 Fagen Engineering 2015 Kronner et al. 2008 Derby et al. 2013b	Maple Ridge, NY (06) Maple Ridge, NY (07) Maple Ridge, NY (07-08) Maple Ridge, NY (12) Marengo I, WA (09-10) Marengo II, WA (09-10) Mars Hill, ME (07) Mars Hill, ME (08)		Jain et al. 2007 Jain et al. 2009a Jain et al. 2009d Tidhar et al. 2013a URS Corporation 2010b URS Corporation 2010c Stantec 2008a Stantec 2009a
08)		Jeffrey et al. 2009a	Milford I, UT (10-11)		Stantec 2011b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 09)		Enk et al. 2010	Milford I & II, UT (11-12)		Stantec 2012b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 09-10)		Enk et al. 2011a	Montezuma I, CA (11)		ICF International 2012
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 10-11)		Enk et al. 2012b	Montezuma I, CA (12)		ICF International 2013
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III; 10-11)		Enk et al. 2012a	Montezuma II, CA (12-13)		Harvey & Associates 2013
Blue Sky Green Field, WI (08; 09)	Gruver 2008	Gruver et al. 2009	Moraine II, MN (09)		Derby et al. 2010d
Buffalo Gap I, TX (06)		Tierney 2007	Mount Storm, WV (Fall 08)	Young et al. 2009b	Young et al. 2009b
Buffalo Gap II, TX (07-08)		Tierney 2009	Mount Storm, WV (09)	Young et al. 2009a, 2010b	Young et al. 2009a, 2010b
Buffalo Mountain, TN (00-03)	Fiedler 2004	Nicholson et al. 2005	Mount Storm, WV (10)	Young et al. 2010a, 2011b	Young et al. 2010a, 2011b
Buffalo Mountain, TN (05) Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 99) Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 98)		Johnson et al. 2007 Johnson et al. 2000	Mount Storm, WV (11) Mountaineer, WV (03) Munnsville, NY (08)		Young et al. 2011a, 2012b Kerns and Kerlinger 2004 Stantec 2009b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II;		Johnson et al. 2000	Mustang Hills, CA (12-13)		Chatfield and Bay 2014
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 01/I ake Benton I)	Johnson et al. 2004	Johnson et al. 2004	Nine Canyon, WA (02-03)		Erickson et al. 2003
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 02/Lake Benton I)	Johnson et al. 2004	Johnson et al. 2004	Noble Altona, NY (10)		Jain et al. 2011b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 99)		Johnson et al. 2000	Noble Bliss, NY (08)		Jain et al.2009e
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 01/Lake Benton II)	Johnson et al. 2004	Johnson et al. 2004	Noble Bliss, NY (09)		Jain et al. 2010a
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 02/Lake Benton II)	Johnson et al.	Johnson et al. 2004	Noble Chateaugay, NY (10)		Jain et al. 2011c
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (09-10) Buffalo Ridge II, SD (11-12) Casselman, PA (08) Casselman, PA (09) Casselman Curtailment PA		Derby et al. 2010b Derby et al. 2012a Arnett et al. 2009b Arnett et al. 2010	Noble Clinton, NY (08) Noble Clinton, NY (09) Noble Ellenburg, NY (08) Noble Ellenburg, NY (09) Noble Wethersfield, NY	Reynolds 2010a Reynolds 2010a Reynolds 2010b	Jain et al. 2009c Jain et al. 2010b Jain et al. 2009b Jain et al. 2010c
(08)	BHE	Arnett et al. 2009a	(10)		Jain et al. 2011a
Cedar Ridge, WI (09)	Environmenta I 2008 BHE	BHE Environmental 2010	NPPD Ainsworth, NE (06)		Derby et al. 2007
Cedar Ridge, WI (10)	Environmenta	BHE Environmental 2011	Palouse Wind, WA (12-13)		Stantec 2013a
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (09) Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (10)		Stantec 2010 Stantec 2011a	Pebble Springs, OR (09-10) Pinnacle, WV (12) Pinyon Pinos I&II, CA (13)		Gritski and Kronner 2010b Hein et al. 2013b
04-05)		Young et al. 2006	14) Dioneer Prairie L IA (Phase		Chatfield and Russo 2014
Combine Hills, OR (11)		Enz et al. 2012	II; 11-12)		Chodachek et al. 2012
Crescent Ridge, IL (05-06)		Kerlinger et al. 2007	Pioneer Prairie II, IA (13)		Chodachek et al. 2014
Criterion, MD (11)		Young et al. 2012a	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (10)		Derby et al. 2011c
Criterion, MD (12)		Young et al. 2013	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (11)		Derby et al. 2012c

Appendix A1 (*continued*). Wind energy facilities in North America with comparable activity and fatality data for bats.

ActivityFatalityProject, LocationActivityFatalityProject, LocationReferenceReferenceReferenceReferenceReferenceReferenceReferenceReferenceReferenceReferenceDetby et al. 2012dCrystal Lake II, IA (09)Derby et al. 2010aDerby et al. 2010aPraineWinds SD (17-2)Derby et al. 2013aDerby et al. 2013aDiablo Winds, CA (06-07)WEST 2006, 2008PraineWinds SD (12-13)Derby et al. 2014Derby et al. 2014Dillo, CA (08-09)Thompson et al. 2011Record HII, ME (12)Stantec 2018bStantec 2015Dry Lake II, AZ (11-12)Thompson et al. 2010bRecord HII, ME (12)Stantec 2015Stantec 2015Elkhorn, OR (08)Elkhorn, OR (06)End Hail, SC (12-13)Derby et al. 2013cDerby et al. 2013cElm Creek, IM (11-12)Derby et al. 2010bRed Hill, SC (12-13)Derby et al. 2013cStantec 2013bFoode Creek Rim, WY (Phase I: (08-10)Cruwer 2002Young et al. 2003aShiloh I, CA (06-09)Kerlinger et al. 2010bBrower II, IN (09)Grode Rim, WY (Phase I: 2003bGrode Rim, WY (Phase I: 2003bStaleine, ORWA (03)Kerlinger et al. 2013bGrower Clever Will (08-10)Wet and DrakeStaleine, ORWA (06)Staleine, ORWA (06)Kerlinger et al. 2013bGrower II, III, IN (10)Grode et al. 2014Staleine, ORWA (06)Erickson et al. 2004bGrower II, III, IN (11)Grode et al. 2014Staleine, ORWA (06)Erickson et al. 2004bGrower II, III, IN (10)Derby et a		ה המנשי				
Criterion, MD (13) Young et al. 2014a PrainieWinds SD (1-Crow PrainieWinds SD (1-Crow Lake), SD (1-12) Derby et al. 2012d Crystal Lake II, LA (09) Derby et al. 2010a PrainieWinds SD (1-Crow Lake), SD (12-13) Derby et al. 2013a Diablo Winds, CA (05-07) WEST 2006, 2008 PrainieWinds SD (1-Crow Lake), SD (12-13) Derby et al. 2014 Diulo, CA (06-09) Thompson et al. 2011 Record HiII, ME (12) Stantec 2008b Stantec 2015 Dry Lake II, AZ (11-12) Thompson et al. 2011 Thompson et al. 2011 Record HiII, ME (14) Stantec 2015 Elkhorn, OR (08) Thompson et al. 2010e Thompson et al. 2010e Red Hills, OK (12-13) Derby et al. 2013e Elm Caek I, MN (10+10) Derby et al. 2002a Young et al. 2003a Shioh II, CA (10-11) Derby et al. 2013e Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 00) Gruver 2002 Young et al. 2003a, 2011 Shioh II, CA (10-11) Kerlinger et al. 2013a Fower II, NI, N(09) Gruver 2002 Young et al. 2012a Shioh II, CA (10-11) Kerlinger et al. 2014 Fower II, NI, N(09) Gruver 2002 Shioh II, CA (10-13) Kerlinger et al. 2014 Fower II, NI, N(09) Kerlinger et	Project, Location	Activity Reference	Fatality Reference	Project, Location	Activity Reference	Fatality Reference
Crystal Lake II, LA (09) Derby et al. 2010a Praine/Winds SD (12-row Praine/Winds SD (12-row Praine/Winds SD (12-row 14) Derby et al. 2013a Dablo Winds, CA (05-07) WEST 2006, 2008 Rall Splitter, IL (12-13) Good et al. 2015b Dry Lake II, AZ (09-10) Thompson et al. 2011 Thompson et al. 2011 Record Hill, ME (12) Stantec 2008b Stantec 2015b Elkhorn, OR (08) Thompson et al. 2011b Thompson et al. 2010b Record Hill, ME (12) Stantec 2015b Stantec 2015b Elkhorn, OR (08) Elkhorn, OR (08) Derby et al. 2010b Record Hill, ME (12) Stantec 2015c Elm Creek, NM (09-10) Derby et al. 2010b Roll Hill, OA (10-11) Derby et al. 2010c Roll Hill, OA (06-00) Kerlinger et al. 2010b Foote Creek Rin, WY (Phase I; 00) Gruver 2002 Young et al. 2003a, 2003b Shiloh II, CA (10-11) Kerlinger et al. 2013a Foower II, III, NI (00) Good et al. 2012b Shiloh II, CA (10-11) Kerlinger et al. 2013b Foower II, III, NI (10) Good et al. 2012b Shiloh II, CA (10-13) Kerlinger et al. 2014b Fower II, III, NI (10) Good et al. 2012b Shiloh III, CA (10-13) Kerlinger et al. 2014b <td>Criterion, MD (13)</td> <td></td> <td>Young et al. 2014a</td> <td>PrairieWinds SD1 (Crow Lake), SD (11-12)</td> <td></td> <td>Derby et al. 2012d</td>	Criterion, MD (13)		Young et al. 2014a	PrairieWinds SD1 (Crow Lake), SD (11-12)		Derby et al. 2012d
Dablo Winds, CA (05-07) WEST 2006, 2008 PrairieWinds SD1, SD (13- 14) Derby et al. 2014 Dillon, CA (08-09) Thompson et al. 2010 Rail Splitter, IL (12-13) Good et al. 2013b Dry Lake I, AZ (09-10) Thompson at Bay 2012 Record Hill, ME (12) Stantec 2013b Dry Lake II, AZ (11-12) Thompson at Bay 2012 Record Hills, ME (12-13) Berby et al. 2015 Ekhorn, OR (08) Ernk et al. 2011b Derby et al. 2012b Berby et al. 2012b Derby et al. 2013c Elm Creek, NW (96-10) Derby et al. 2012b Porty et al. 2012b Record Hills, OK (12-13) Derby et al. 2013c 10 Code, KW (96-10) Derby et al. 2003a Shioh I, CA (06-09) Kerlinger et al. 2010b 000 Grower 2002 Young et al. 2003a, 2003b Shioh II, CA (12-13) Kerlinger et al. 2013c 01-02/ Grower 2002 Young et al. 2003a, 2003b Shioh II, CA (12-13) Kerlinger et al. 2013b 01-02/ Grower 2002 Grode st al. 2010a Shioh II, CA (12-13) Kerlinger et al. 2013b 01-02/ Grower 2002 Grode st al. 2010a Shioh II, CA (12-13) Kerlinger et al. 2013b 01-02/ <td>Crystal Lake II, IA (09)</td> <td></td> <td>Derby et al. 2010a</td> <td>PrairieWinds SD1 (Crow Lake), SD (12-13)</td> <td></td> <td>Derby et al. 2013a</td>	Crystal Lake II, IA (09)		Derby et al. 2010a	PrairieWinds SD1 (Crow Lake), SD (12-13)		Derby et al. 2013a
Dillon, CA (08-09) Chaffeld et al. 2009 Raif Splitter, IL (12-13) Good et al. 2013b Dry Lake (I, AZ (09-10) Thompson et al. 2011 Record Hill, ME (12) Stantec 2008b Dry Lake II, AZ (11-12) Thompson and Bay 2012 Record Hill, ME (12) Stantec 2015b Elkhorn, OR (0) Hills, OK (10-11) Derby et al. 2012b Belry et al. 2012b Derby et al. 2012b Elkhorn, OR (0) Enk et al. 2017b Ripley, OK (08) Derby et al. 2012b Derby et al. 2012b Poote Creek III, MN (11-12) Young et al. 2003a Shiloh I, CA (06-09) Ketlinger et al. 2013b Ooto Creek Rim, WY (Phase) Grouve 2002 Young et al. 2003a Shiloh II, CA (10-11) Ketlinger et al. 2013b Orbode Creek Rim, WY (Phase) Grouve 2002 Young et al. 2003a Shiloh II, CA (10-11) Ketlinger et al. 2013b Orbode Creek Rim, WY (Phase) Grouve 2002 Young et al. 2003b Staletine, ORWA (01-02) Erckson et al. 2014b Forward Elnergy Centery, WI Watt and Drake Good et al. 2012b Staletine, ORWA (01-02) Erckson et al. 2001b Fowler I, II, III, N (10) Good et al. 2012b Staletine, ORWA (00-12) Erckson et al. 2004b Fowler I, II, III, N (11) Ketlinger et al. 2014b Staletine, ORWA (00-12) Erckson et al. 2004b Fowler I, II, III, N (11)	Diablo Winds, CA (05-07)		WEST 2006, 2008	PrairieWinds SD1, SD (13- 14)		Derby et al. 2014
Dry Lake I, AZ (09-10) Thompson et al. 2011 Thompson et al. 2011 Record Hill, ME (12) Stantec 2008b Stantec 2013b Dry Lake II, AZ (11-12) Thompson and Bay 2012 Jeffrey et a. 2009b Red Hills, OK (12-13) Jacques Whitford 2009 Elkhorn, OR (08) Enk et al. 2011b Derby et al. 2011b Red Hills, OK (12-13) Jacques Whitford 2009 Elm Creek, INN (10-10) Derby et al. 2012b Rugby, ND (10-11) Derby et al. 2012b Stantec 2013c Stantec Creek, RM, WY (Phase I; Gruver 2002 Young et al. 2012b Staltel, OR (06-09) Kertinger et al. 2010 Forde Creek, INN (WP (Phase I; Gruver 2002 Young et al. 2003a, 2003b Shiloh II, CA (06-10) Kertinger et al. 2013a Forward Energy Center, WI (08) Wat and Drake 2011 Johnson et al. 2010b Solano III, CA (12-13) Kertinger et al. 2013a Fowler II, IN (09) Good et al. 2013c Stateline, ORWA (06-02) Erickson et al. 2004 Fowler I, II, III, IN (11) Good et al. 2013c Stateline, ORWA (06-02) Erickson et al. 2004 Good nee, WA (09-10) URS Corporation 2010a Stateline, ORWA (06-02) Erickson et al. 2004 Grand R	Dillon, CA (08-09)		Chatfield et al. 2009	Rail Splitter, IL (12-13)		Good et al. 2013b
Dry Lake II, AZ (11-12) Thompson and Bay 2012 Bay 2012 Thompson and Bay 2012 Jeffrey et a. 2009b Rec of Hill, NE (14) Stantec 2013c Ekhorn, OR (08) Enk et al. 201b Perby et al. 2010b Red Hills, OK (12-13) Derby et al. 2013c Elm Creek I, MN (09-10) Derby et al. 2012b Rubley, ND (10-11) Derby et al. 2019c Stantec 2013c Fonde Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 90) Gruver 2002 Young et al. 2003a Shiloh I, CA (06-09) Kerlinger et al. 2010 Foode Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 90 Gruver 2002 Young et al. 2003a, 2003b Shiloh I, CA (06-10) Kerlinger et al. 2013a Foode Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 90 Gruver 2002 Young et al. 2010a, 2003b Shiloh II, CA (10-11) Kerlinger et al. 2013a Foode Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 90 Gruver 2002 Gruver 2002 Stateline, ORWA (01-02) Erickson et al. 2010b Fowler I, II, IN (09) Johnson et al. 2010a Stateline, ORWA (01-02) Erickson et al. 2004 Fowler I, II, II, N (11) Good et al. 2013c Stateline, ORWA (01-02) Erickson et al. 2007 Fowler I, II, II, N (11) Lesson Mountain I, ME (12) Stateline, ORWA (06) Erickson et al. 2007 Goo	Dry Lake I, AZ (09-10)	Thompson et al. 2011	Thompson et al. 2011	Record Hill, ME (12)	Stantec 2008b	Stantec 2013b
Elkhorn, CR (06) Jeffrey et a. 2009b Red Hills, OK (12-13) Derby et al. 2013c Elkhorn, CR (10) Enk et al. 2011b Stantec 2013c Elm Creek, IM (09-10) Derby et al. 2010c Rollins, ME (12) Stantec 2013c Elm Creek, IM (1M) (11-12) Derby et al. 2003a Shiloh I, CA (06-09) Kerlinger et al. 2009 90 Young et al. 2003a Shiloh I, CA (06-09) Kerlinger et al. 2010 Forde Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 00) Gruwer 2002 Young et al. 2003a, 2003b Shiloh I, CA (06-09) Kerlinger et al. 2010 Foward Energy Center, WI (08-10) Gruwer 2002 Grudsky and Drake 2011 Solano III, CA (12-13) Kerlinger et al. 2013a Fowler I, II, IN (109) Johnson et al. 2010a Stateline, OR/WA (01-02) Enckson et al. 2004 Fowler I, II, II, N (10) Good et al. 2012 Stateline, OR/WA (03) Enckson et al. 2004 Good nee, WA (09-10) URS Corporation 2010a Statelse 2009c Statelse 2009c Good nee, WA (09-10) URS Corporation 2010a Statelse 2014 Statelse 2014 Harrow, Ont (10) NRSI 2011 Stetsom Mountain I, ME (13) Stetsom Mountain I, ME (14)	Dry Lake II, AZ (11-12)	Thompson and Bay 2012	Thompson and Bay 2012	Record Hill, ME (14)		Stantec 2015
Poole Order Kilm, WY (Phase I; 99)Young et al. 2003a Young et al. 2003b, Young et al. 2014b, Johnson et al. 2010b, Johnson et al. 2010b, Stateline, ORWA (01-02) Stateline, ORWA (00), Stateline, ORWA (00), Erickson et al. 2004 Stateline, ORWA (06), Stateline, ORWA (07), Stateline, ORWA (07), <b< td=""><td>Elkhorn, OR (08) Elkhorn, OR (10) Elm Creek, MN (09-10) Elm Creek II, MN (11-12)</td><td></td><td>Jeffrey et a. 2009b Enk et al. 2011b Derby et al. 2010c Derby et al. 2012b</td><td>Red Hills, OK (12-13) Ripley, Ont (08) Rollins, ME (12) Rugby, ND (10-11)</td><td></td><td>Derby et al. 2013c Jacques Whitford 2009 Stantec 2013c Derby et al. 2011b</td></b<>	Elkhorn, OR (08) Elkhorn, OR (10) Elm Creek, MN (09-10) Elm Creek II, MN (11-12)		Jeffrey et a. 2009b Enk et al. 2011b Derby et al. 2010c Derby et al. 2012b	Red Hills, OK (12-13) Ripley, Ont (08) Rollins, ME (12) Rugby, ND (10-11)		Derby et al. 2013c Jacques Whitford 2009 Stantec 2013c Derby et al. 2011b
Fonte Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 00)Gruver 2002 Young et al. 2003a, Young et al. 2003bShiloh II, CA (09-10)Kerlinger et al. 2010Fonter L, NU (Phase I; 01-02)Gruver 2002 Grodsky and Drake 2011Shiloh II, CA (10-11)Kerlinger et al. 2013aForward Energy Center, WI (08-10)Watt and Drake 2011Grodsky and Drake 2011Shiloh II, CA (12-13)Kerlinger et al. 2013bForward I, II, IN (09) Fowler I, II, II, IN (10)Johnson et al. 2010bStateline, ORWA (01-02)Erickson et al. 2004Fowler I, II, II, IN (10)Good et al. 2011Stateline, ORWA (06)Erickson et al. 2004Fowler I, II, II, IN (11)Good et al. 2013cStateline, ORWA (06)Erickson et al. 2004Goodnee, WA (09-10)URS Corporation 2010aStateline, ORWA (06)Stantec 2009cGoodnee, WA (09-10)Derby et al. 2010gStetson Mountain I, ME (13)Stantec 2014Grand Ridge I, IL (09-10)NRSI 2011Stetson Mountain I, ME (12)Stantec 2014Harrow, Ort (10)NRSI 2011Stetson Mountain I, ME (12)Stantec 2013eHay Canyon, OR (09-10)Gritski and Kronner 2010aSummerview, Alb (05-06)Baerwald 2008Heigh Sheldon, NY (11)Tidhar et al. 2014Summerview, Alb (05-07)Baerwald 2008High Winds, CA (04-05)Kerlinger et al. 2007Yang et al. 2007Yang et al. 2017Hopkins Ridge, WA (06)Young et al. 2007Yang et al. 2007Yang et al. 2016High Winds, CA (04-05)Kerlinger et al. 2014Yuong et al. 2017Yang et al. 2016High Win	Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 99)		Young et al. 2003a	Shiloh I, CA (06-09)		Kerlinger et al. 2009
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 01-02)Gruver 2002 Watt and Drake 2011Young et al. 2003a, 	Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 00)	Gruver 2002	Young et al. 2003a, 2003b	Shiloh II, CA (09-10)		Kerlinger et al. 2010
Forward Energy Center, WI (08-10)Watt and Drake 2011Grodsky and Drake 2011 2011Shiloh III, CA (12-13)Kerlinger et al. 2013bFowler I, IN (09) 	Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 01-02)	Gruver 2002	Young et al. 2003a, 2003b	Shiloh II, CA (10-11)		Kerlinger et al. 2013a
Fowler I, IN (09)Johnson et al. 2010aSolano III, CA (12-13)AECOM 2013Fowler II, IN, III, N (10)Good et al. 2011bStateline, ORWA (01-02)Erickson et al. 2004Fowler I, II, III, N (11)Good et al. 2012Stateline, ORWA (03)Erickson et al. 2004Fowler I, II, III, N (12)Good et al. 2013cStateline, ORWA (06)Erickson et al. 2007Goodnoe, WA (09-10)URS Corporation 2010aStateline, ORWA (06)Stantec 2009cGrand Ridge I, IL (09-10)Derby et al. 2010gStetson Mountain I, ME (11)Statel controlHarrow, Ont (10)NRSI 2011Stetson Mountain I, ME (2012a)Stetson Mountain I, ME (13)Stantec 2014Harvest Wind, WA (10-12)Downes and Gritski 2012aStetson Mountain I, ME (13)Stantec 2013eHeritage Garden I, MI (12-14)Kerlinger et al. 2014Summerview, Alb (05-06)Brown and Hamilton 2008bHigh Sheldon, NY (10)Tidhar et al. 2012b Tidhar et al. 2012bTop of Iowa, IA (03) 	Forward Energy Center, WI (08-10)	Watt and Drake 2011	Grodsky and Drake 2011	Shiloh III, CA (12-13)		Kerlinger et al. 2013b
Fowler I, II, III, IN (12)Good et al. 2013cStattes on Mountain I, ME (09)Stantec 2009cStattec 2009cGoodnoe, WA (09-10)URS Corporation 2010a(11)Stattec 2014Normandeau Associates 2011Grand Ridge I, IL (09-10)Derby et al. 2010gStetson Mountain I, ME (13)Stattec 2014Harrow, Ont (10)NRSI 2011Stetson Mountain II, ME 	Fowler I, IN (09) Fowler III, IN (09) Fowler II, II, III, IN (10) Fowler I, II, III, IN (11)		Johnson et al. 2010a Johnson et al. 2010b Good et al. 2011 Good et al. 2012	Solano III, CA (12-13) Stateline, OR/WA (01-02) Stateline, OR/WA (03) Stateline, OR/WA (06)		AECOM 2013 Erickson et al. 2004 Erickson et al. 2004 Erickson et al. 2007
Goodnoe, WA (09-10)URS Corporation 2010aStetson Mountain I, ME (11)Normandeau Associates 2011Grand Ridge I, IL (09-10)Derby et al. 2010gStetson Mountain I, ME (13)Stantec 2014Harrow, Ont (10)NRSI 2011Stetson Mountain II, ME (13)Normandeau Associates 2010aHarvest Wind, WA (10-12)Downes and Gritski 2012aStetson Mountain II, ME (10)Normandeau Associates 2010aHay Canyon, OR (09-10)Gritski and Kronner 2010aSummerview, Alb (05-06)Brown and Hamilton 2006bHeirtage Garden I, MI (12-14)Kerlinger et al. 2014 Tidhar et al. 2012bSummerview, Alb (06; 07) Top of Iowa, IA (03)Baerwald 2008 Jain 2005High Sheldon, NY (11)Tidhar et al. 2012b Top of Iowa, IA (04)Jain 2005Jain 2005High Winds, CA (04-05)Kerlinger et al. 2006 Young et al. 2007Top of Iowa, IA (04) Vansycle, OR (99)Jain 2005High Sheldon, NT (06-07)TRC 2008Wessington Springs, SD (09)Derby et al. 2010Judith Gap, MT (09) Ketiby, ME (11)Poulton and Erickson 2010Wessington Springs, SD (10)Derby et al. 2011dKittitas Valley, WA (11-12)Stantec Consulting Stantec Consulting 	Fowler I, II, III, IN (12)		Good et al. 2013c	Stetson Mountain I, ME	Stantec 2009c	Stantec 2009c
Grand Ridge I, IL (09-10)Derby et al. 2010gStetson Mountain I, ME (13)Stantec 2014Harrow, Ont (10)NRSI 2011Stetson Mountain II, ME (10)2010Harvest Wind, WA (10-12)Downes and Gritski 2012aStetson Mountain II, ME (10)Stantec 2013eHay Canyon, OR (09-10)Gritski and Kronner 2010aStetson Mountain II, ME (12)Stantec 2013eHeritage Garden I, MI (12-14)Kerlinger et al. 2014Summerview, Alb (05-06)Brown and Hamilton 2006bHigh Sheldon, NY (10)Tidhar et al. 2012aTop Crop I & II, IL (12-13)Good et al. 2013aHigh Sheldon, NY (11)Tidhar et al. 2012bTop of Iowa, IA (03) Top of Iowa, IA (04)Jain 2005Jain 2005High Winds, CA (04-05)Kerlinger et al. 2006Young et al. 2007 Vansycle, OR (99)Vansycle, OR (99)Erickson et al. 2000Hopkins Ridge, WA (06)Young et al. 2007 Voung et al. 2007Vansycle, OR (99)Derby et al. 2017Judith Gap, MT (09)2010White Creek, WA (07-11)Downes and Gritski 2012bKibby, ME (11)Howe et al. 2002 Stantec 2012aWhite Creek, WA (07-11)Downes and Gritski 2012bKittitas Valley, WA (11-12)Stantec 2012a Stantec 2012aWindy Flats, WA (10-11)Enz et al. 2016Kittitas Valley, WA (11-12)Stantec 2012a Stantec Consulting Stantec 2013aWindy Flats, WA (10-11)Enz et al. 2016Kittitas Valley, WA (11-12)Stantec 2012a Stantec Consulting Stantec 2012aWindy Flats, WA (10-11)Enz et al. 2011Kittitas Valley, WA (11-12)Stantec 2	Goodnoe, WA (09-10)		URS Corporation 2010a	Stetson Mountain I, ME		Normandeau Associates 2011
Harrow, Ont (10)NRSI 2011Stetson Mountain II, ME (10)Normandeau Associates 2010Harvest Wind, WA (10-12)Downes and Gritski 2012aStetson Mountain II, ME 	Grand Ridge I, IL (09-10)		Derby et al. 2010g	Stetson Mountain I, ME (13)		Stantec 2014
Harvest Wind, WA (10-12)Downes and Gritski 2012aStetson Mountain II, ME (12)Stantec 2013eHay Canyon, OR (09-10)Gritski and Kronner 2010aSummerview, Alb (05-06)Brown and Hamilton 2006bHeritage Garden I, MI (12-14)Kerlinger et al. 2014 	Harrow, Ont (10)		NRSI 2011	Stetson Mountain II, ME		Normandeau Associates 2010
Hay Canyon, OR (09-10)Gritski and Kronner 2010aSummerview, Alb (05-06)Brown and Hamilton 2006bHeritage Garden I, MI (12-14)Kerlinger et al. 2014Summerview, Alb (06; 07)Baerwald 2008Baerwald 2008High Sheldon, NY (10)Tidhar et al. 2012aTop Crop I & II, IL (12-13)Good et al. 2013aHigh Sheldon, NY (11)Tidhar et al. 2012bTop of Iowa, IA (03)Jain 2005High Winds, CA (03-04)Kerlinger et al. 2006Top of Iowa, IA (04)Jain 2005High Winds, CA (04-05)Kerlinger et al. 2007Young et al. 2007Vansycle, OR (99)Erickson et al. 2000Hopkins Ridge, WA (06)Young et al. 2007Vansycle, OR (99)Erickson et al. 2012Derby et al. 2010Judith Gap, MT (06-07)TRC 2008Wessington Springs, SD (09)Derby et al. 2011dDownes and Gritski 2012bJudith Gap, MT (09)Poulton and Erickson 2010(10)White Creek, WA (07-11)Downes and Gritski 2012bKittitas Valley, WA (11-12)Stantec Consulting 	Harvest Wind, WA (10-12)		Downes and Gritski 2012a	Stetson Mountain II, ME (12)		Stantec 2013e
Heritage Garden I, MI (12-14)Kerlinger et al. 2014Summerview, Alb (06; 07)Baerwald 2008Baerwald 2008High Sheldon, NY (10)Tidhar et al. 2012aTop Crop I & II, IL (12-13)Good et al. 2013aHigh Sheldon, NY (11)Tidhar et al. 2012bTop of Iowa, IA (03)Jain 2005High Winds, CA (03-04)Kerlinger et al. 2006Top of Iowa, IA (04)Jain 2005High Winds, CA (04-05)Kerlinger et al. 2007Vansycle, OR (99)Enz and Bay 2010Hopkins Ridge, WA (06)Young et al. 2007Vansycle, OR (99)Erickson et al. 2000Hopkins Ridge, WA (08)Young et al. 2008Wessington Springs, SD (09)Derby et al. 2011dJudith Gap, MT (06-07)TRC 2008Wessington Springs, SD (10)Derby et al. 2011dJudith Gap, MT (09)Poulton and Erickson 2010(10)Derby et al. 2011dKittitas Valley, WA (11-12)Stantec 2012aWhid Horse, WA (07)Enz et al. 2008Kittitas Valley, WA (11-12)Stantec Consulting Services 2012Windy Flats, WA (10-11)Enz et al. 2011Kittitas Valley, WA (11-12)Ichersen et al. 2003Windy Flats, WA (10-11)Enz et al. 2011	Hay Canyon, OR (09-10)		Gritski and Kronner 2010a	Summerview, Alb (05-06)		Brown and Hamilton 2006b
High Winds, CA (04-05)Kerlinger et al. 2006Tuolumne (Windy Point I), WA (09-10)Enz and Bay 2010Hopkins Ridge, WA (06)Young et al. 2007Vansycle, OR (99)Erickson et al. 2000Hopkins Ridge, WA (08)Young et al. 2009cVansycle, OR (99)Erickson et al. 2000Judith Gap, MT (06-07)TRC 2008Wessington Springs, SD (09)Derby et al. 2010fJudith Gap, MT (09)Poulton and Erickson 2010Wessington Springs, SD 	Heritage Garden I, MI (12-14) High Sheldon, NY (10) High Sheldon, NY (11) High Winds, CA (03-04)		Kerlinger et al. 2014 Tidhar et al. 2012a Tidhar et al. 2012b Kerlinger et al. 2006	Summerview, Alb (06; 07) Top Crop I & II, IL (12-13) Top of Iowa, IA (03) Top of Iowa, IA (04)	Baerwald 2008 Jain 2005	Baerwald 2008 Good et al. 2013a Jain 2005 Jain 2005
Hopkins Ridge, WA (06)Young et al. 2007Vansycle, OR (99)Erickson et al. 2000Hopkins Ridge, WA (08)Young et al. 2009cVansycle, OR (99)Ventus 2012Judith Gap, MT (06-07)TRC 2008Wessington Springs, SD (09)Derby et al. 2010fJudith Gap, MT (09)Poulton and Erickson 2010Wessington Springs, SD (10)Derby et al. 2011dKewaunee County, WI (99-01)Howe et al. 2002White Creek, WA (07-11)Downes and Gritski 2012bKittitas Valley, WA (11-12)Stantec Consulting Services 2012Windy Flats, WA (10-11)Enz et al. 2011Klondike, OR (02-03)Johnson et al. 2003Winnehago, IA (09-10)Derby et al. 2010e	High Winds, CA (04-05)		Kerlinger et al. 2006	Tuolumne (Windy Point I),		Enz and Bay 2010
Judith Gap, MT (06-07)TRC 2008Wessington Springs, SD (09)Derby et al. 2010fJudith Gap, MT (09)Poulton and Erickson 2010Wessington Springs, SD (10)Derby et al. 2011dKewaunee County, WI (99-01)Howe et al. 2002White Creek, WA (07-11)Downes and Gritski 2012bKibby, ME (11)Stantec 2012aWild Horse, WA (07)Erickson et al. 2008Kittitas Valley, WA (11-12)Stantec Consulting Services 2012Windy Flats, WA (10-11)Enz et al. 2011Klondike, OR (02-03)Johnson et al. 2003Winnehago, IA (09-10)Derby et al. 2010e	Hopkins Ridge, WA (06) Hopkins Ridge, WA (08)		Young et al. 2007 Young et al. 2009c	Vansycle, OR (99) Vantage, WA (10-11)		Erickson et al. 2000 Ventus 2012
Judith Gap, MT (09) Poulton and Erickson 2010 Wessington Springs, SD (10) Derby et al. 2011d Kewaunee County, WI (99-01) Howe et al. 2002 White Creek, WA (07-11) Downes and Gritski 2012b Kibby, ME (11) Stantec 2012a Wild Horse, WA (07) Erickson et al. 2008 Kittitas Valley, WA (11-12) Stantec Consulting Services 2012 Windy Flats, WA (10-11) Enz et al. 2011 Klondike, OR (02-03) Johnson et al. 2003 Winnebago, IA (09-10) Derby et al. 2010e	Judith Gap, MT (06-07)		TRC 2008	Wessington Springs, SD		Derby et al. 2010f
Kewaunee County, WI (99-01) Howe et al. 2002 White Creek, WA (07-11) Downes and Gritski 2012b Kibby, ME (11) Stantec 2012a Wild Horse, WA (07) Erickson et al. 2008 Kittitas Valley, WA (11-12) Stantec Consulting Services 2012 Windy Flats, WA (10-11) Enz et al. 2011 Klondike, OR (02-03) Johnson et al. 2003 Winnebago, IA (09-10) Derby et al. 2010e	Judith Gap, MT (09)		Poulton and Erickson	Wessington Springs, SD		Derby et al. 2011d
Kittitas Valley, WA (11-12) Stantec Consulting Services 2012 Windy Flats, WA (10-11) Enz et al. 2011 Klondike, OR (02-03) Johnson et al. 2003 Winnehago, IA (09-10) Derby et al. 2010e	Kewaunee County, WI (99-01) Kibby, ME (11)		Howe et al. 2002 Stantec 2012a	White Creek, WA (07-11) Wild Horse, WA (07)		Downes and Gritski 2012b Erickson et al. 2008
Klondike OR (02-03) Johnson et al. 2003 Winnebago IA (09-10) Derby et al. 2010e	Kittitas Valley, WA (11-12)		Stantec Consulting Services 2012	Windy Flats, WA (10-11)		Enz et al. 2011
	Klondike, OR (02-03)		Johnson et al. 2003	Winnebago, IA (09-10)		Derby et al. 2010e
Klondike II, OR (05-06) NWC and WEST 2007 Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 09) Stantec Ltd. 2010b	Klondike II, OR (05-06)		NWC and WEST 2007	Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 09)		Stantec Ltd. 2010b
Klondike III (Phase I), OR (07- 09) Gritski et al. 2010 Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 10) Stantec Ltd. 2011b	Klondike III (Phase I), OR (07- 09)		Gritski et al. 2010	Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 10)		Stantec Ltd. 2011b
Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR Gritski et al. 2011 Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 11) Stantec Ltd. 2012	Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR (08-10)		Gritski et al. 2011	Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 11)		Stantec Ltd. 2012

Appendix A1 (*continued*). Wind energy facilities in North America with comparable activity and fatality data for bats.

					•	N				e
Λn	nondiv	Λ.)	E at a lity	Actimate	tor	North	Amorican	wind_c	noray	tacilitiae
AU	DELIUIA	MZ .	ιαιαπιν	estimates	IUI	NULLI	AIIIEIICali	willu-e	FILEI U V	iacilices.

	Bat Fatalities		
	(bats/MW/	Predominant	
Project	year)	Habitat Type	Citation
Alite, CA (2009-2010)	0.24	shrub/scrub & grassland	Chatfield et al. 2010
Alta VIII, CA (2012-2013)	0	grassland and riparian	Chatfield and Bay 2014
Alta Wind I, CA (2011-2012)	1.28	woodland, grassland, shrubland	Chatfield et al. 2012
Alta Wind I-V, CA (2013-2014)	0.2	NA	Chatfield et al. 2014
Alta Wind II-V, CA (2011-2012)	0.08	desert scrub	Chatfield et al. 2012
Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)	1.85	agriculture	Derby et al. 2011a
Barton Chapel, TX (2009-2010)	3.06	agriculture/forest	WEST 2011
Beech Ridge, WV (2012)	2.03	forest	Tidhar et al. 2013b
Beech Ridge, WV (2013)	0.58	forest	Young et al. 2014b
Big Blue, MN (2013)	2.04	agriculture	Fagen Engineering 2014
Big Blue, MN (2014)	1.43	agriculture	Fagen Engineering 2015
Big Horn, WA (2006-2007)	1.9	agriculture/grassland	Kronner et al. 2008
Big Smile, OK (2012-2013)	2.9	grassland, agriculture	Derby et al. 2013b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2008)	1.99	agriculture/grassland	Jeffrey et al. 2009a
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2009)	0.58	agriculture/grassland	Enk et al. 2010
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2009-2010)	2.71	agriculture	Enk et al. 2011a
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2010-2011)	0.57	grassland/shrub- steppe, agriculture	Enk et al. 2012b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III; 2010-2011)	0.22	grassland/shrub- steppe, agriculture	Enk et al. 2012a
Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008; 2009)	24.57	agriculture	Gruver et al. 2009
Buffalo Gap I, TX (2006)	0.1	grassland	Tierney 2007
Buffalo Gap II, TX (2007-2008)	0.14	forest	Tierney 2009
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2000- 2003)	31.54	forest	Nicholson et al. 2005
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2005)	39.7	forest	Fiedler et al. 2007
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1999)	0.74	agriculture	Johnson et al. 2000
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)	2.16	agriculture	Johnson et al. 2000
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)	2.59	agriculture	Johnson et al. 2000
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake Benton I)	4.35	agriculture	Johnson et al. 2004
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake Benton I)	1.64	agriculture	Johnson et al. 2004
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)	2.72	agriculture	Johnson et al. 2000
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake Benton II)	3.71	agriculture	Johnson et al. 2004
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake Benton II)	1.81	agriculture	Johnson et al. 2004

	Bat Fatalities	-	-
	(bats/MW/	Predominant	
Project	`year)	Habitat Type	Citation
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (2009-2010)	0.16	agriculture/grassland	Derby et al. 2010b
Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)	2.81	agriculture, grassland	Derby et al. 2012a
Casselman, PA (2008)	12.61	forest	Arnett et al. 2009b
Casselman, PA (2009)	8.6	forest, pasture, grassland	Arnett et al. 2010
Casselman Curtailment, PA (2008)	4.4	forest	Arnett et al. 2009a
Cedar Ridge, WI (2009)	30.61	agriculture	BHE Environmental 2010
Cedar Ridge, WI (2010)	24.12	agriculture	BHE Environmental 2011
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2009)	8.62	agriculture/forest	Stantec 2010
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (2010)	10.32	agriculture, forest	Stantec 2011a
Combine Hills, OR (Phase I; 2004-2005)	1.88	agriculture/grassland	Young et al. 2006
Combine Hills, OR (2011)	0.73	grassland/shrub- steppe, agriculture	Enz et al. 2012
Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006)	3.27	agriculture	Kerlinger et al. 2007
Criterion, MD (2011)	15.61	forest, agriculture	Young et al. 2012a
Criterion, MD (2012)	7.62	forest, agriculture	Young et al. 2013
Criterion, MD (2013)	5.32	forest, agriculture	Young et al. 2014a
Crystal Lake II, IA (2009)	7.42	agriculture	Derby et al. 2010a
Diablo Winds, CA (2005-2007)	0.82	NA	WEST 2006, 2008
Dillon, CA (2008-2009)	2.17	desert	Chatfield et al. 2009
Dry Lake I, AZ (2009-2010)	3.43	desert grassland/forested	Thompson et al. 2011
Dry Lake II, AZ (2011-2012)	1.66	desert grassland/forested	Thompson and Bay 2012
Elkhorn, OR (2008)	1.26	shrub/scrub & agriculture	Jeffrey et al. 2009b
Elkhorn, OR (2010)	2.14	shrub/scrub & agriculture	Enk et al. 2011b
Elm Creek, MN (2009-2010)	1.49	agriculture	Derby et al. 2010c
Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)	2.81	agriculture, grassland	Derby et al. 2012b
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 1999)	3.97	grassland	Young et al. 2003a
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 2000)	1.05	grassland	Young et al. 2003a
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 2001-2002)	1.57	grassland	Young et al. 2003a
Forward Energy Center, WI (2008-2010)	18.17	agriculture	Grodsky and Drake 2011
Fowler I, IN (2009)	8.09	agriculture	Johnson et al. 2010a
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2010)	18.96	agriculture	Good et al. 2011
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011)	20.19	agriculture	Good et al. 2012
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012)	2.96	agriculture	Good et al. 2013c
Fowler III, IN (2009)	1.84	agriculture	Johnson et al. 2010b
Goodnoe, WA (2009-2010)	0.34	grassland and shrub- steppe	URS Corporation 2010a
Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)	2.1	agriculture	Derby et al. 2010g

Appendix A2. Fatality estimates for North American wind-energy facilities.

A	opendix	A2.	Fatality	estimates	for	North	American	wind-energy	av fac	ilities
· ·	ponan	/	i acancy	ootimatoo		110111	/		99	

Appendix A2. Fatality estimates for North American wind-energy facilities.						
Project	Bat Fatalities (bats/MW/ year)	Predominant Habitat Type	Citation			
Harrow, Ont (2010)	11.13	agriculture	Natural Resource Solutions Inc. (NRSI) 2011			
Harvest Wind, WA (2010-2012)	1.27	grassland/shrub-steppe	Downes and Gritski 2012a			
Hay Canyon, OR (2009-2010)	0.53	agriculture	Gritski and Kronner 2010a			
Heritage Garden I, MI (2012- 2014)	5.9	agriculture	Kerlinger et al. 2014			
High Sheldon, NY (2010)	2.33	agriculture	Tidhar et al. 2012a			
High Sheldon, NY (2011)	1.78	agriculture	Tidhar et al. 2012b			
High Winds, CA (2003-2004)	2.51	agriculture/grassland	Kerlinger et al. 2006			
High Winds, CA (2004-2005)	1.52	agriculture/grassland	Kerlinger et al. 2006			
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2006)	0.63	agriculture/grassland	Young et al. 2007			
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2008)	1.39	agriculture/grassland	Young et al. 2009c			
Judith Gap, MT (2006-2007)	8.93	agriculture/grassland	TRC 2008			
Judith Gap, MT (2009)	3.2	agriculture/grassland	Poulton and Erickson 2010			
Kewaunee County, WI (1999- 2001)	6.45	agriculture	Howe et al. 2002			
Kibby, ME (2011)	0.12	forest; commercial forest	Stantec 2012a			
Kittitas Valley, WA (2011-2012)	0.12	sagebrush-steppe, grassland	Stantec Consulting Services 2012			
Klondike, OR (2002-2003)	0.77	agriculture/grassland	Johnson et al. 2003			
Klondike II, OR (2005-2006)	0.41	agriculture/grassland	NWC and WEST 2007			
Klondike III (Phase I), OR (2007- 2009)	1.11	agriculture/grassland	Gritski et al. 2010			
Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR (2008-2010)	0.14	grassland/shrub-steppe and agriculture	Gritski et al. 2011			
Leaning Juniper, OR (2006- 2008)	1.98	agriculture	Gritski et al. 2008			
Lempster, NH (2009)	3.11	grasslands/forest/rocky embankments	Tidhar et al. 2010			
Lempster, NH (2010)	3.57	grasslands/forest/rocky embankments	Tidhar et al. 2011			
Linden Ranch, WA (2010-2011)	1.68	grassland/shrub- steppe, agriculture	Enz and Bay 2011			
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2009)	14.11	grassland	Arnett et al. 2011			
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2010)	14.38	grassland	Arnett et al. 2011			
Maple Ridge, NY (2006)	11.21	agriculture/forested	Jain et al. 2007			
Maple Ridge, NY (2007)	6.49	agriculture/forested	Jain et al. 2009a			
Maple Ridge, NY (2007-2008)	4.96	agriculture/forested	Jain et al. 2009d			
Maple Ridge, NY (2012)	7.3	agriculture/forested	Tidhar et al. 2013a			
Marengo I, WA (2009-2010)	0.17	agriculture	URS Corporation 2010b			
Marengo II, WA (2009-2010)	0.27	agriculture	URS Corporation 2010c			
Mars Hill, ME (2007)	2.91	forest	Stantec 2008a			
Mars Hill, ME (2008)	0.45	forest	Stantec 2009a			
Milford I, UT (2010-2011)	2.05	desert shrub	Stantec 2011b			
Milford I & II. UT (2011-2012)	1.67	desert shrub	Stantec 2012b			

Annendix A2 Fatali	tv estimates	for North	American	wind_energy	facilities
Appendix A2. I atan	Ly Estimates		American	winu-energy	lacinties

Appendix A2. Fatality estimates for North American wind-energy facilities.						
Project	Bat Fatalities (bats/MW/ year)	Predominant Habitat Type	Citation			
Montezuma I, CA (2011)	1.9	agriculture and grasslands	ICF International 2012			
Montezuma I, CA (2012)	0.84	agriculture and grasslands	ICF International 2013			
Montezuma II, CA (2012-2013)	0.91	agriculture	Harvey & Associates 2013			
Moraine II, MN (2009)	2.42	agriculture/grassland	Derby et al. 2010d			
Mount Storm, WV (Fall 2008)	6.62	forest	Young et al. 2009b			
Mount Storm, WV (2009)	17.53	forest	Young et al. 2009a, 2010b			
Mount Storm, WV (2010)	15.18	forest	Young et al. 2010a, 2011b			
Mount Storm, WV (2011)	7.43	forest	Young et al. 2011a, 2012b			
Mountaineer, WV (2003)	31.69	forest	Kerns and Kerlinger 2004			
Munnsville, NY (2008)	1.93	agriculture/forest	Stantec 2009b			
Mustang Hills, CA (2012-2013)	0.1	grasslands and riparian	Chatfield and Bay 2014			
Nine Canyon, WA (2002-2003)	2.47	agriculture/grassland	Erickson et al. 2003			
Noble Altona, NY (2010)	4.34	forest	Jain et al. 2011b			
Noble Bliss, NY (2008)	7.8	agriculture/forest	Jain et al. 2009e			
Noble Bliss, NY (2009)	3.85	agriculture/forest	Jain et al. 2010a			
Noble Chateaugay, NY (2010)	2.44	agriculture	Jain et al. 2011c			
Noble Clinton, NY (2008)	3.14	agriculture/forest	Jain et al. 2009c			
Noble Clinton, NY (2009)	4.5	agriculture/forest	Jain et al. 2010b			
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2008)	3.46	agriculture/forest	Jain et al. 2009b			
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2009)	3.91	agriculture/forest	Jain et al. 2010c			
Noble Wethersfield, NY (2010)	16.3	agriculture	Jain et al. 2011a			
NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006)	1.16	agriculture/grassland	Derby et al. 2007			
Palouse Wind, WA (2012-2013)	4.23	agriculture and grasslands	Stantec 2013a			
Pebble Springs, OR (2009-2010)	1.55	grassland	Gritski and Kronner 2010b			
Pinnacle, WV (2012)	40.2	forest	Hein et al. 2013b			
Pinyon Pines I & II, CA (2013- 2014)	0.04	NA	Chatfield and Russo 2014			
Pioneer Prairie I, IA (Phase II; 2011-2012)	10.06	agriculture, grassland	Chodachek et al. 2012			
Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013)	3.83	agriculture	Chodachek et al. 2014			
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)	2.13	agriculture	Derby et al. 2011c			
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2011)	1.39	agriculture, grassland	Derby et al. 2012c			
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2011- 2012)	1.23	grassland	Derby et al. 2012d			
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2012- 2013)	1.05	grassland	Derby et al. 2013a			
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2013- 2014)	0.52	grassland	Derby et al. 2014			
Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013)	11.21	agriculture	Good et al. 2013b			
Record Hill, ME (2012)	2.96	forest	Stantec 2013b			
Record Hill, ME (2014)	0.55	forest	Stantec 2015			
Red Hills, OK (2012-2013)	0.11	grassland	Derby et al. 2013c			
Ripley, Ont (2008)	4.67	agriculture	Jacques Whitford 2009			
Rollins, ME (2012)	0.18	forest	Stantec 2013c			

Annondiy A2 Fatality	v actimatos for Nort	h American wind-energ	w facilitios
Appendix Az. I alani	y estimates for Nort	II American winu-energ	y iaciiiles.

	Bat Fatalities		-
Protoci	(bats/MW/	Predominant	
Project	year)	Habitat Type	
Rugby, ND (2010-2011)	1.6	agriculture	Derby et al. 2011b
Shilon I, CA (2006-2009)	3.92	agriculture/grassland	Kerlinger et al. 2009
Shilon II, CA (2009-2010)	2.6	agriculture	Kerlinger et al. 2010, 2013a
Shilon II, CA (2010-2011)	3.8	agriculture	Kerlinger et al. 2013a
Shiloh III, CA (2012-2013)	0.4	NA	Kerlinger et al. 2013b
Solano III, CA (2012-2013)	0.31	NA	AECOM 2013
Stateline, OR/WA (2001-2002)	1.09	agriculture/grassland	Erickson et al. 2004
Stateline, OR/WA (2003)	2.29	agriculture/grassland	Erickson et al. 2004
Stateline, OR/WA (2006)	0.95	agriculture/grassland	Erickson et al. 2007
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2009)	1.4	forest	Stantec 2009c
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2011)	0.28	forest	Normandeau Associates 2011
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2013)	0.18	forest	Stantec 2014
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2010)	1.65	forest	Normandeau Associates 2010
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2012)	2.27	forest	Stantec 2013e
Summerview, Alb (2005-2006)	10.27	agriculture	Brown and Hamilton 2006b
Summerview, Alb (2006; 2007)	11.42	agriculture/grassland	Baerwald 2008
Top Crop I & II (2012-2013)	12.55	agriculture	Good et al. 2013a
Top of Iowa, IA (2003)	7.16	agriculture	Jain 2005
Top of Iowa, IA (2004)	10.27	agriculture	Jain 2005
Tuolumne (Windy Point I), WA (2009-2010)	0.94	grassland/shrub- steppe, agriculture and forest	Enz and Bay 2010
Vansycle, OR (1999)	1.12	agriculture/grassland	Erickson et al. 2000
Vantage, WA (2010-2011)	0.4	Shrub-steppe, grassland	Ventus Environmental Solutions 2012
Wessington Springs, SD (2009)	1.48	grassland	Derby et al. 2010f
Wessington Springs, SD (2010)	0.41	grassland	Derby et al. 2011d
White Creek, WA (2007-2011)	2.04	grassland/shrub- steppe, agriculture	Downes and Gritski 2012b
Wild Horse, WA (2007)	0.39	grassland	Erickson et al. 2008
Windy Flats, WA (2010-2011)	0.41	grassland/shrub- steppe, agriculture	Enz et al. 2011
Winnebago, IA (2009-2010)	4.54	agriculture/grassland	Derby et al. 2010e
Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 2009)	6.42	grassland	Stantec Ltd. 2010b
Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 2010)	9.5	grassland	Stantec Ltd. 2011b
Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 2011)	2.49	grassland	Stantec Ltd. 2012

Project Name	Total # of Turbines	Total MW	Tower Size (m)	Number Turbines Searched	Plot Size	Length of Study	Survey Frequency
Alite, CA (2009-2010)	8	24	80	8	200 m x 200 m	1 year	weekly (spring, fall), bi- monthly (summer, winter)
Alta Wind I, CA (2011- 2012)	100	150	80	25	120-m radius circle	12.5 months	every two weeks
Alta Wind I-V, CA (2013-2014)	290	720 (150 GE, 570 vestas)	80	55 (25 at Alta I, 30 at Alta II-V)	120 m radius circles	NA	monthly or bi-weekly
Alta Wind II-V, CA (2011-2012)	190	570	80	41	120-m radius circle	14.5 months	every two weeks
Alta VIII, CA (2012- 2013)	50	150	90	12 plots (equivalent to 15 turbines)	240 x 240 m	1 year	bi-weekly
Barton I & II, IA (2010- 2011)	80	160	100	35 (9 turbines were dropped in June 2010 due to landowner issues) 26 turbines were searched for the remainder of the study	200 m x 200 m	1 year	weekly (spring, fall; migratory turbines), monthly (summer, winter; non- migratory turbines)
Barton Chapel, TX (2009-2010)	60	120	78	30	200 m x 200 m	1 year	10 turbines weekly, 20 monthly
Beech Ridge, WV (2012)	67	100.5	80	67	40 m radius	7 months	every two days
Beech Ridge, WV (2013)	67	100.5	80	67	40 m radius	7.5 months	every two days
Big Blue, MN (2013)	18	36	78 or 90 (according to Gamesa website)	18	200m diameter	NA	weekly, monthly (Nov and Dec)
Big Blue, MN (2014)	18	36	78 or 90 (according to Gamesa website)	18	200m diameter	NA	weekly, monthly (Nov and Dec)
Big Horn, WA (2006- 2007)	133	199.5	80	133	180 m x 180 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Big Smile, OK (2012- 2013)	66	132	78	17 (plus one met tower)	100 x 100	1 year	weekly (spring, summer, fall), monthly (winter)

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology.

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2008)	76	125.4	80	50	110 m x 110 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2009)	76	125.4	80	50	110 m x 110 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2009-2010)	65	150	80	50	250 m x 250 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2010-2011)	65	150	80	50	252 m x 252 m	1 year	bi-weekly(spring, fall), monthly (summer, winter)
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III; 2010- 2011)	76	174.8	80	50	252 m x 252 m	1 year	bi-weekly(spring, fall), monthly (summer, winter)
Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008; 2009)	88	145	80	30	160 m x 160 m	fall, spring	daily(10 turbines), weekly (20 turbines)
Buena Vista, CA (2008- 2009)	38	38	45-55	38	75-m radius	1 year	monthly to bi-monthly starting in September 2008
Buffalo Gap I, TX (2006)	67	134	78	21	215 m x 215 m	10 months	every 3 weeks
Buffalo Gap II, TX (2007-2008)	155	233	80	36	215 m x 215 m	14 months	every 21 days
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2000-2003)	3	1.98	65	3	50-m radius	3 years	bi-weekly, weekly, bi-monthly
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2005)	18	28.98	V47 = 65; V80 = 78	18	50-m radius	1 year	bi-weekly, weekly, bi-monthly, and 2 to 5 day intervals
Buffalo Ridge, MN (1994-1995)	73	25	37	1994:10 plots (3 turbines/plot), 20 addition plots in Sept & Oct 1994, 1995: 30 turbines search every other week (Jan-Mar), 60 searched weekly (Apr, July, Aug) 73 searched weekly (May-June and Sept- Oct), 30 searched weekly (Nov-Dec)	100 x 100m	20 months	varies. See number turbines searched or page 44 of report

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology.

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1996)	73	25	36	21	126 m x 126 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1997)	73	25	36	21	126 m x 126 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1998)	73	25	36	21	126 m x 126 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1999)	73	25	36	21	126 m x 126 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)	143	107.25	50	40	126 m x 126 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)	143	107.25	50	40	126 m x 126 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake Benton I)	143	107.25	50	83	60 m x 60 m	summer, fall	bi-monthly
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake Benton I)	143	107.25	50	103	60 m x 60 m	summer, fall	bi-monthly
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)	138	103.5	50	30	126 m x 126 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake Benton II)	138	103.5	50	83	60 m x 60 m	summer, fall	bi-monthly
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake Benton II)	138	103.5	50	103	60 m x 60 m	summer, fall	bi-monthly
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (2009-2010)	24	50.4	79	24	200 m x 200 m	1 year	weekly (migratory), monthly (non-migratory)
Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)	105	210	78	65 (60 road and pad, 5 turbine plots)	100 x 100m	1 year	weekly (spring, summer, fall), monthly (winter)
Casselman, PA (2008)	23	34.5	80	10	126 m x 120 m	7 months	daily
Casselman, PA (2009)	23	34.5	80	10	126 m x 120 m	7.5 months	daily searches
Casselman Curtailment, PA (2008)	23	35.4	80	12 experimental; 10 control	126 m x 120 m	2.5 months	daily
Castle River, Alb (2001)	60	39.6	50	60	50-m radius	2 years	weekly, bi-weekly
Castle River, Alb (2002)	60	39.6	50	60	50-m radius	2 years	weekly, bi-weekly

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology.

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Cedar Ridge, WI (2009)	41	67.6	80	20	160 m x 160 m	spring,	daily, every 4 days; late fall
	••	0110		20		summer, fall	searched every 3 days
Cedar Ridge, WI (2010)	41	68	80	20	160 m x 160 m	1 year	Five turbines were surveyed daily, 15 turbines surveyed every 4 days in rotating groups each day. All 20 surveyed every three days during late fall
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2009)	50	125	80	17	130 m x 130 m	spring, summer, fall	daily (5 turbines), weekly (12 turbines)
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (2010)	50	125	80	17	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	daily, weekly
Combine Hills, OR (Phase I; 2004-2005)	41	41	53	41	90-m radius	1 year	monthly
Combine Hills, OR (2011)	104	104	53	52 (plus 1 MET tower)	180 m x 180 m	1 year	bi-weekly(spring, fall), monthly (summer, winter)
Condon, OR	84	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA	NA
Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006)	33	49.5	80	33	70-m radius	1 year	weekly (fall, spring)
Criterion, MD (2011)	28	70	80	28	40-50m radius	7.3 months	daily
Criterion, MD (2012)	28	70	80	14	40-50m radius	7.5 months	weekly
Criterion, MD (2013)	28	70	80	14	40-50m radius	7.5 months	weekly
Crystal Lake II, IA (2009)	80	200	80	16 turbines through week 6, and then 15 for duration of study	100 m x 100 m	spring, summer, fall	3 times per week for 26 weeks
Diablo Winds, CA (2005-2007)	31	20.46	50 and 55	31	75 m x 75 m	2 years	monthly
Dillon, CA (2008-2009)	45	45	69	15	200 m x 200 m	1 year	weekly, bi-monthly in winter
Dry Lake I, AZ (2009- 2010)	30	63	78	15	160 m x 160 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Dry Lake II, AZ (2011- 2012)	31	65	78	31: 5 (full plot), 26 (road & pad)	160 m x 160 m	1 year	twice weekly (spring, summer, fall), weekly (winter)
Elkhorn, OR (2008)	61	101	80	61	220 m x 220 m	1 year	monthly
Elkhorn, OR (2010)	61	101	80	31	220 m x 220 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology.

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Elm Creek, MN (2009- 2010)	67	100	80	29	200 m x 200 m	1 year	weekly, monthly
Elm Creek II, MN (2011- 2012)	62	148.8	80	30	200 x 200m (2 random migration search areas 100 x 100m)	1 year	20 searched every 28 days, 10 turbines every 7 days during migration)
Erie Shores, Ont (2006)	66	99	80	66	40-m radius	2 years	weekly, bi-monthly, 2-3 times weekly (migration)
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 1999)	69	41.4	40	69	126 m x 126 m	1 year	monthly
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 2000)	69	41.4	40	69	126 m x 126 m	1 year	monthly
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 2001-2002)	69	41.4	40	69	126 m x 126 m	1 year	monthly
Forward Energy Center, WI (2008-2010)	86	129	80	29	160 m x 160 m	2 years	11 turbines daily, 9 every 3 days, 9 every 5 days
Fowler I, IN (2009)	162	301	78 (Vestas), 80 (Clipper)	25	160 m x 160 m	spring, summer, fall	weekly, bi-weekly
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2010)	355	600	Vestas = 80, Clipper = 80, GE = 80	36 turbines, 100 road and pads	80 m x 80 m for turbines ; 40-m radius for roads and pads	spring, fall	daily, weekly
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011)	355	600	Vestas = 80, Clipper = 80, GE = 80	177 road and pads (spring), 9 turbines & 168 roads and pads (fall)	turbines (80 m circular plot), roads and pads (out to 80 m)	spring, fall	daily, weekly
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012)	355	600	Vestas = 80, Clipper = 80, GE = 80	118 roads and pads	roads and pads (out to 80 m)	2.5 months	weekly
Fowler III, IN (2009)	60	99	78	12	160 m x 160 m	10 weeks	weekly, bi-weekly
Goodnoe, WA (2009- 2010)	47	94	80	24	180 m x 180 m	1 year	14 days during migration periods, 28 days during non-migration periods

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select st	tudy i	meth	odolo	ogy.

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Grand Ridge I, IL (2009- 2010)	66	99	80	30	160 m x 160 m	1 year	weekly, monthly
Harrow, Ont (2010)	24 (four 6- turb facilities)	39.6	NA	12 in July, 24 Aug-Oct	50-m radius from turbine base	4 months	twice-weekly
Harvest Wind, WA (2010-2012)	43	98.9	80	32	180 m x 180 m & 240 m x 240 m	2 years	twice a week, weekly and monthly
Hay Canyon, OR (2009- 2010)	48	100.8	79	20	180 m x 180 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2014)	14	28	90	14	120x120 m except one plot that was 280x280 m	1 years	weekly (spring, summer, and fall) and bi-weekly (winter)
High Sheldon, NY (2010)	75	112.5	80	25	115 m x 115 m	7 months	daily (8 turbines), weekly (17 turbines)
High Sheldon, NY (2011)	75	112.5	80	25	115 m x 115 m	7 months	daily (8 turbines), weekly (17 turbines)
High Winds, CA (2003- 2004)	90	162	60	90	75-m radius	1 year	bi-monthly
High Winds, CA (2004- 2005)	90	162	60	90	75-m radius	1 year	bi-monthly
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2006)	83	150	67	41	180 m x 180 m	1 year	monthly, weekly (subset of 22 turbines spring and fall migration)
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2008)	87	156.6	67	41-43	180 m x 180 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Jersey Atlantic, NJ (2008)	5	7.5	80	5	130 m x 120 m	9 months	weekly
Judith Gap, MT (2006- 2007)	90	135	80	20	190 m x 190 m	7 months	monthly
Judith Gap, MT (2009)	90	135	80	30	100 m x 100 m	5 months	bi-monthly
Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001)	31	20.46	65	31	60 m x 60 m	2 years	bi-weekly (spring, summer), daily (spring, fall migration), weekly (fall, winter)

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology.

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Kibby, ME (2011)	44	132	124	22 turbines	75-m diameter circular plots	22 weeks	avg 5-day
Kittitas Valley, WA (2011-2012)	48	100.8	80	48	100 m x 102 m	1 year	bi-weekly from Aug 15 - Oct 31 and March 16 - May 15; every 4 weeks from Nov 1 - March 15 and May 16 - Aug 14
Klondike, OR (2002- 2003)	16	24	80	16	140 m x 140 m	1 year	monthly
Klondike II, OR (2005- 2006)	50	75	80	25	180 m x 180 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (summer, winter)
Klondike III (Phase I), OR (2007-2009)	125	223.6	GE = 80; Siemens= 80, Mitsubishi = 80	46	240 m x 240 m (1.5MW) 252 m x 252 m (2.3MW)	2 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall migration), monthly (summer, winter)
Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR (2008-2010)	51	76.5	GE = 80	34	240 m x 240 m	2 years	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (summer, winter)
Lakefield Wind, MN (2012)	137	205.5	80	26	100 m x 100 m	7.5 months	3 times per week
Leaning Juniper, OR (2006-2008)	67	100.5	80	17	240 m x 240 m	2 years	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Lempster, NH (2009)	12	24	78	4	120 m x 130 m	6 months	daily
Lempster, NH (2010)	12	24	78	12	120 m x 130 m	6 months	weekly
Linden Ranch, WA (2010-2011)	25	50	80	25	110 m x 110 m	1 year	bi-weekly(spring, fall), monthly (summer, winter)
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2009)	51	102	80	15	120m x 126m	6.5 months	daily
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2010)	51	102	80	15	120m x 126m	6.5 months	daily
Madison, NY (2001- 2002)	7	11.55	67	7	60-m radius	1 year	weekly (spring, fall), monthly (summer)
Maple Ridge, NY (2006)	120	198	80	50	130 m x 120 m	5 months	daily (10 turbines), every 3 days (10 turbines), weekly (30 turbines)
Maple Ridge, NY (2007)	195	321.75	80	64	130 m x 120 m	7 months	weekly

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology.

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Maple Ridge, NY (2007- 2008)	195	321.75	80	64	130 m x 120 m	7 months	weekly
Maple Ridge, NY (2012)	195	321.75	80	105 (5 turbines, 100 roads/pads)	100 m x 100 m	3 months	weekly
Marengo I, WA (2009- 2010)	78	140.4	67	39	180 m x 180 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Marengo II, WA (2009- 2010)	39	70.2	67	20	180 m x 180 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Mars Hill, ME (2007)	28	42	80.5	28	76-m diameter, extended plot 238-m diameter	spring, summer, fall	daily (2 random turbines), weekly (all turbines): extended plot searched once per season
Mars Hill, ME (2008)	28	42	80.5	28	76-m diameter, extended plot 238-m diameter	spring, summer, fall	weekly: extended plot searched once per season
McBride, Alb (2004)	114	75	50	114	4 parallel transects 120-m wide	1 year	weekly, bi-weekly
Melancthon, Ont (Phase I; 2007)	45	NA	NA	45	35m radius	5 months	weekly, twice weekly
Meyersdale, PA (2004)	20	30	80	20	130 m x 120 m	6 weeks	daily (half turbines), weekly (half turbines)
Milford I, UT (2010- 2011)	58	145	80	24	120x120	NA	weekly
Milford I & II, UT (2011- 2012)	107	160.5 (58.5 I, 102 II)	80	43	120x120	NA	every 10.5 days
Montezuma I, CA (2011)	16	36.8	80	16	105 m radius	1 year	Weekly and bi-Weekly
Montezuma I, CA (2012)	16	36.8	80	16	105 m radius	1 year	Weekly and bi-Weekly
Montezuma II, CA (2012-2013)	34	78.2	80	17	105 m radius	1 year	Weekly
Moraine II, MN (2009)	33	49.5	82.5	30	200 m x 200 m	1 year	weekly (migratory), monthly (non-migratory)

Appendix A3. A	Il post-construction	monitoring studies	 project characteristics, 	and select study	methodology.
	•	0	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	,	

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Mount Storm, WV (Fall 2008)	82	164	78	27	varied	3 months	weekly (18 turbines), daily (9 turbines)
Mount Storm, WV (2009)	132	264	78	44	varied	4.5 months	weekly (28 turbines), daily (16 turbines)
Mount Storm, WV (2010)	132	264	78	24	20 to 60 m from turbine	6 months	daily
Mount Storm, WV (2011)	132	264	78	24	varied	6 months	daily
Mountaineer, WV (2003)	44	66	80	44	60-m radius	7 months	weekly, monthly
Mountaineer, WV (2004)	44	66	80	44	130 m x 120 m	6 weeks	daily, weekly
Munnsville, NY (2008)	23	34.5	69.5	12	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	weekly
Mustang Hills, CA (2012-2013)	50	150	90	13 plots (equivalent to 15 turbines)	240 x 240 m	1 year	bi-weekly
Nine Canyon, WA (2002-2003)	37	48.1	60	37	90-m radius	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, summer, fall), monthly (winter)
Nine Canyon II, WA (2004)	12	15.6	60	12	90 m x 90 m	3 months	once every two weeks
Noble Altona, NY (2010)	65	97.5	80	22	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	daily, weekly
Noble Altona, NY (2011)	65	97.5	80	22	120m x 120m	2 months	daily
Noble Bliss, NY (2008)	67	100	80	23	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	daily (8 turbines), 3-day (8 turbines), weekly (7 turbines)
Noble Bliss, NY (2009)	67	100	80	23	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	weekly, 8 turbines searched daily from July 1 to August 15
Noble Bliss/Wethersfield, NY (2011)	′ 151	226	80	48 (24 from each site:12 ag, 12 forest)	road & pad 70 m out from turbine	2 months	daily
Noble Chateaugay, NY (2010)	71	106.5	80	24	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	weekly

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology.

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Noble Clinton, NY (2008)	67	100	80	23	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	daily (8 turbines), 3-day (8 turbines), weekly (7 turbines)
Noble Clinton, NY (2009)	67	100	80	23	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	daily (8 turbines), weekly (15 turbines), all turbines weekly from July 1 to August 15
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2008)	54	80	80	18	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	daily (6 turbines), 3-day (6 turbines), weekly (6 turbines)
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2009)	54	80	80	18	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	daily (6 turbines), weekly (12 turbines), all turbines weekly from July 1 to August 15
Noble Wethersfield, NY (2010)	84	126	80	28	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	weekly
NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006)	36	20.5	70	36	220 m x 220 m	spring, summer, fall	bi-monthly
Oklahoma Wind Energy Center, OK (2004; 2005)	68	102	70	68	20m radius	3 months (2 years)	bi-monthly
Pacific, CA (2012-2013)	70	140	78.5	20	126 m radius	NA	Twice weekly (fall), and biweekly
Palouse Wind, WA (2012-2013)	58	104.4	80, 90, or 105 M (according to the Vestas website)	19	120m x 120m	1 year	Montly (Winter) and Weekly (Spring-Fall)
Pebble Springs, OR (2009-2010)	47	98.7	79	20	180 m x 180 m	1 year	bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Pine Tree, CA (2009- 2010, 2011)	90	135	65	40	100 m radius	1.5 year	bi-weekly, weekly
Pinnacle, WV (2012)	23	55.2	80	11	126 m x 120m	9 months	weekly

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select stu	udy methodology.

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Pinnacle Operational Mitigation Study (2012)	23	55.2	80	12	126m x 120m	2.5 months	daily
Pinyon Pines I & II, CA (2013-2014)	100	NA	90	25 plots (aprox 31 turbines)	240x240 m	NA	bi-weekly
Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013)	62	102.3	80	62	80x80 m (5 turbines), road and pad within 100 m of turbine (57 turbines)	NA	weekly
Pioneer Prairie I, IA (Phase II; 2011-2012)	62	102.3	80	62 (57 road/pad) 5 full search plots	80 x 80m	1 year	weekly (spring and fall), every two weeks (summer), monthly (winter)
Pioneer Trail, IL (2012- 2013)	94	150.5	NA	50	80x80m	fall, spring	weekly
Prairie Rose, MN (2014)	119	200	80	10	100x100m	6 months	weekly
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)	80	115.5	89	35	minimum of 100 m x 100 m	3 seasons	bi-monthly
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2011)	80	115.5	80	35	minimum 100 x 100m	3 season	twice monthly
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2011-2012)	108	162	80	50	200 x 200m	1 year	twice monthly (spring, summer, fall), monthly (winter)
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2012-2013)	108	162	80	50	200 x 200m	1 year	bi-weekly
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2013-2014)	108	162	80	45	200 x 200m	1 year	twice monthly (spring, summer, fall), monthly (winter)
Rail Splitter, IL (2012- 2013)	67	100.5	80	34	60 m radius	1 year	weekly (spring, summer, and fall) and bi-weekly (winter)
Record Hill, ME (2012)	22	50.6	80	22	126.5x126.5	5 months	three times every two weeks
Record Hill, ME (2014)	22	50.6	80	10	varied due to steep terrain and heavily vegetated areas	4.5 months	daily for 5 days a week

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology.

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Red Canyon, TX (2006- 2007)	56	84	70	28	200 m x 200 m in fall and winter; 160 m x 160 m in spring and summer	1 year	every 14 days in fall and winter; 7 days in spring, 3 days in summer
Red Hills, OK (2012- 2013)	82	123	80	20 (plus one met tower)	100 x 100	1 year	weekly (spring, summer, fall), monthly (winter)
Ripley, Ont (2008)	38	76	64	38	80 m x 80 m	spring, fall	twice weekly for odd turbines; weekly for even turbines.
Ripley, Ont (2008-2009)	38	76	64	38	80 m x 80 m	6 weeks	twice weekly for odd turbines; weekly for even turbines.
Rollins, ME (2012)	40	60	80	20	varied; turbine laydown area and gravel access roads out to 60m	6 months	weekly
Roth Rock, MD (2011)	20	50	80	10	80m x 80m	3 months	daily
Rugby, ND (2010-2011)	71	149	78	32	200 m x 200 m	1 year	weekly (spring, fall; migratory turbines), monthly (non- migratory turbines)
San Gorgonio, CA (1997-1998; 1999- 2000)	3000	NA	24.4-42.7	NA	50-m radius	2 years	quarterly
Searsburg, VT (1997)	11	7	65	11	20- to 55-m radius	spring, fall	weekly (fall migration)
Sheffield, VT (2012)	16	40	80	8	126m x 120m	3 months	daily
Sheffield Operational Mitigation Study (2012)	16	40	80	16	126m x 120m	4 months	daily
Shiloh I, CA (2006- 2009)	100	150	65	100	105-m radius	3 years	weekly
Shiloh II, CA (2009- 2010)	75	150	80	25	100m radius	1 year	weekly
Shiloh II, CA (2010- 2011)	75	150	80	25	100 m radius	1 year	weekly

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology.

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Shiloh III, CA (2012- 2013)	50	102.5	78.5	25	100 m radius	NA	weekly
SMUD Solano, CA (2004-2005)	22	15	65	22	60-m radius	1 year	bi-monthly
Solano III, CA (2012- 2013)	55	128	80	19	100 m radius	NA	bi-Weekly
Spruce Mountain, ME (2012)	10	20	78	10	100 m x 100 m	7 months	weekly
Stateline, OR/WA (2001-2002)	454	299	50	124	minimum 126 m x 126 m	17 months	bi-weekly, monthly
Stateline, OR/WA (2003)	454	299	50	153	minimum 126 m x 126 m	1 year	bi-weekly, monthly
Stateline, OR/WA (2006)	454	299	50	39	variable turbine strings	1 year	bi-weekly
Steel Winds I & II, NY (2012)	14	35	80	8 (1 was just gravel pad)	120m x 120m	6 months	weekly, bi-weekly (November only)
Steel Winds I, NY (2007)	8	20	80	8	176m x 176m	6.5 months	every 10 days (spring, fall) every 21 days (summer)
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2009)	38	57	80	19	76-m diameter	27 weeks (spring, summer, fall)	weekly
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2011)	38	57	80	19	79.45x79.45m	6 months	weekly
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2013)	38	57	80	19	76 m diameter	6 months	weekly
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2010)	17	25.5	80	17	74.5x74.5m	6 months	weekly (3 turbines twice a week)
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2012)	17	25.5	80	17	laydown area and road up to 60m	6 months	weekly
Summerview, Alb (2005-2006)	39	70.2	67	39	140 m x 140 m	1 year	weekly, bi-weekly (May to July, September)
Summerview, Alb (2006; 2007)	39	70.2	65	39	52-m radius; 2 spiral transects 7 m apart	summer, fall (2 years)	daily (10 turbines), weekly (29 turbines)

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology.

	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Tehachapi, CA (1996- 1998)	3300	NA	14.7 to 57.6	201	50-m radius	20 months	quarterly
Top Crop I & II (2012- 2013)	200 (68 Phase I, 132 Phase II)	300 (102 Phase I, 198 Phase II)	65 (Phase I) 80 (Phase II)	100	61 m radius	1 year	weekly (spring, summer, and fall) and bi-weekly (winter)
Top of Iowa, IA (2003)	89	80	71.6	26	76 m x 76 m	spring, summer, fall	once every 2 to 3 days
Top of Iowa, IA (2004)	89	80	71.6	26	76 m x 76 m	spring, summer, fall	once every 2 to 3 days
Tuolumne (Windy Point I), WA (2009-2010)	62	136.6	80	21	180 m x 180 m	1 year	monthly throughout the year, a sub-set of 10 turbines were also searched weekly during the spring, summer, and fall
Vansycle, OR (1999)	38	24.9	50	38	126 m x 126 m	1 year	monthly
Vantage, WA (2010- 2011)	60	90	80	30	240 m x 240 m	1 year	monthly, a subset of 10 searched weekly during migration
Vasco, CA (2012-2013)	34	78.2	80	34	105 m radius	1 year	weekly, monthly
Wessington Springs, SD (2009)	34	51	80	20	200 m x 200 m	spring, summer, fall	bi-monthly
Wessington Springs, SD (2010)	34	51	80	20	200 m x 200 m	8 months	bi-weekly (spring, summer, fall)
White Creek, WA (2007-2011)	89	204.7	80	89	180 m x 180 m & 240 m x 240 m	4 years	twice a week, weekly and monthly
Wild Horse, WA (2007)	127	229	67	64	110 m from two turbines in plot	1 year	monthly, weekly (fall, spring migration at 16 turbines)
Windy Flats, WA (2010- 2011)	114	262.2	80	36 (plus 1 MET tower)	180 m x 180 m (120m at MET tower)	1 year	monthly (spring, summer, fall, and winter), weekly (spring and fall migration)
Winnebago, IA (2009- 2010)	10	20	78	10	200 m x 200 m	1 year	weekly (migratory), monthly (non-migratory)
Wolfe Island, Ont (May- June 2009)	86	197.8	80	86	60-m radius	spring	43 twice weekly, 43 weekly

Appendix A3. All post-construction	n monitoring studies	, project characteristics,	and select study	methodology.
	0			

				· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		-	
	Total # of	Total	Tower Size	Number Turbines		Length of	
Project Name	Turbines	MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 2009)	86	197.8	80	86	60-m radius	summer, fall	43 twice weekly, 43 weekly
Wolfe Island, Ont (January-June 2010)	86	197.8	80	86	60-m radius	6 months	43 twice weekly, 43 weekly
Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 2010)	86	197.8	80	86	50-m radius	6 months	43 twice weekly, 43 weekly
Wolfe Island, Ont (January-June 2011)	86	197.8	80	86	50m radius	6 months	43 twice weekly, 43 weekly
Wolfe Island, Ont (July- December 2011)	86	197.8	80	86	50m radius	6 months	43 twice weekly, 43 weekly
Wolfe Island, Ont (January-June 2012)	86	197.8	NA	86	50 m radius	NA	1/2 searched twice weekly,1/2 searched weekly

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology.

Appendix A3 (*continued*). All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology. Data from the following sources:

Data from the following sources.			
Project, Location	Reference	Project, Location	Reference
Alite CA (09-10)	Chatfield et al. 2010	Marengo I, WA (09-10)	URS Corporation 2010b
Alta Wind L CA (11.12)	Chatfield et al. 2012	Marongo II, WA (00, 10)	LIPS Corporation 2010c
Alta Wind I, CA $(11-12)$	Chatfield et al. 2012	Mare Hill ME (07)	Stantos 2008s
Alta Wind II.V. $CA(13-14)$	Chatfield et al. 2014	Mars Lill $ME(07)$	Stantes 2000a
Alta Wind II-V, CA $(11-12)$	Chatterid et al. 2012		Stantec 2009a
Alta VIII, CA (12-13)	Chattleid and Bay 2014	MCBride, Alb (04)	Brown and Hamilton 2004
Barton I & II, IA (10-11)	Derby et al. 2011a	Melancthon, Ont (Phase I; 07)	Stantec Ltd. 2008
Barton Chapel, TX (09-10)	WEST 2011	Meyersdale, PA (04)	Arnett et al. 2005
Beech Ridge, WV (12)	Tidhar et al. 2013b	Milford I, UT (10-11)	Stantec 2011b
Beech Ridge, WV (13)	Young et al. 2014b	Milford I & II, UT (11-12)	Stantec 2012b
Big Blue, MN (13)	Fagen Engineering 2014	Montezuma I, CA (11)	ICF International 2012
Big Blue, MN (14)	Fagen Engineering 2015	Montezuma I, CA (12)	ICF International 2013
Big Horn, WA (06-07)	Kronner et al. 2008	Montezuma II, CA (12-13)	Harvey & Associates 2013
Big Smile, OK (12-13)	Derby et al. 2013b	Moraine II, MN (09)	Derby et al. 2010d
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 08)	Jeffrey et al. 2009a	Mount Storm, WV (Fall 08)	Young et al. 2009b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 09)	Enk et al. 2010	Mount Storm, WV (09)	Young et al. 2009a, 2010b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 09-10)	Enk et al. 2011a	Mount Storm, WV (10)	Young et al. 2010a, 2011b
Biglow Canvon, OR (Phase II: 10-11)	Enk et al. 2012b	Mount Storm, WV (11)	Young et al. 2011a, 2012b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III: 10-11)	Enk et al. 2012a	Mountaineer WV (03)	Kerns and Kerlinger 2004
Blue Sky Green Field WI (08: 09)	Gruver et al. 2009	Mountaineer WV (04)	Arnett et al. 2005
Buena Vista CA (08-09)	Insignia Environmental 2009	Munnsville NY (08)	Stantec 2009b
Buffalo Gan L TX (06)	Tierney 2007	Mustang Hills CA (12-13)	Chatfield and Bay 2014
Buffalo Gap II, TX (00)	Tierney 2000	Nine Canyon $WA (02-03)$	Frickson et al. 2003
Buffalo Mountain TN (00.03)	Nicholson et al. 2005	Nine Canyon II $WA (02)$	Erickson et al. 2005
Buffalo Mountain, TN (05)	Fiedler et al. 2003	Noble Altona NV (10)	lain at al 2011b
Buffalo Pidao MN (04 05)	Osborn at al. 1006, 2000	Noble Altena, NY (10)	Korlingor of al. 2011b
Buffalo Didgo MN (Dhaco 1:00)	lobpson at al. 2000	Noble Rise NV (09)	lain at al 2000a
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I, 90)	Johnson et al. 2000	Noble Bliss, NY (00)	Jain et al.2009e
Buffala Distra MN (Phase I, 97)		Noble Bliss, NY (09)	Jain et al. 2010a
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 98)	Johnson et al. 2000	Noble Bliss/Wetnerstield, NY (11)	Kerlinger et al. 2011a
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 99)	Jonnson et al. 2000	Noble Chateaugay, NY (10)	Jain et al. 2011c
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 98)	Johnson et al. 2000	Noble Clinton, NY (08)	Jain et al. 2009c
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 99)	Jonnson et al. 2000	Noble Clinton, NY (09)	Jain et al. 2010b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 01/Lake Benton I)	Johnson et al. 2004	Noble Ellenburg, NY (08)	Jain et al. 2009b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 02/Lake Benton I)	Johnson et al. 2004	Noble Ellenburg, NY (09)	Jain et al. 2010c
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 99)	Johnson et al. 2000	Noble Wethersfield, NY (10)	Jain et al. 2011a
Butfalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 01/Lake Benton II)	Johnson et al. 2004	NPPD Ainsworth, NE (06)	Derby et al. 2007
Butfalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 02/Lake Benton II)	Johnson et al. 2004	Oklahoma Wind Energy Center, OK (04; 05)	Piorkowski and O'Connell 2010
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (09-10)	Derby et al. 2010b	Pacific, CA (12-13)	Sapphos 2014
Buffalo Ridge II, SD (11-12)	Derby et al. 2012a	Palouse Wind, WA (12-13)	Stantec 2013a
Casselman, PA (08)	Arnett et al. 2009b	Pebble Springs, OR (09-10)	Gritski and Kronner 2010b
Casselman, PA (09)	Arnett et al. 2010	Pine Tree, CA (09-10, 11)	BioResource Consultants 2012
Casselman Curtailment, PA (08)	Arnett et al. 2009a	Pinnacle, WV (12)	Hein et al. 2013b
Castle River, Alb. (01)	Brown and Hamilton 2006a	Pinnacle Operational Mitigation Study (12)	Hein et al. 2013c
Castle River, Alb. (02)	Brown and Hamilton 2006a	Pinyon Pines I & II, CA (13-14)	Chatfield and Russo 2014
Cedar Ridge, WI (09)	BHE Environmental 2010	Pioneer Prairie I, IA (Phase II; 11- 12)	Chodachek et al. 2012
Cedar Ridge, WI (10)	BHE Environmental 2011	Pioneer Prairie II, IA (13)	Chodachek et al. 2014
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (09)	Stantec 2010	Pioneer Trail, IL (12-13)	ARCADIS 2013
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (10)	Stantec 2011a	Prairie Rose, MN (14)	Chodachek et al. 2015
Combine Hills, OR (Phase I; 04-05)	Young et al. 2006	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (10)	Derby et al. 2011c
Combine Hills, OR (11)	Enz et al. 2012	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (11)	Derby et al. 2012c
Condon, OR	Fishman Ecological Services 2003	PrairieWinds SD1 (Crow Lake), SD (11-12)	Derby et al. 2012d
Crescent Ridge, IL (05-06)	Kerlinger et al. 2007	PrairieWinds SD1 (Crow Lake), SD (12-13)	Derby et al. 2013a
Criterion, MD (11)	Young et al. 2012a	PrairieWinds SD1 (Crow Lake), SD (13-14)	Derby et al. 2014
Criterion, MD (12)	Young et al. 2013	Rail Splitter, IL (12-13)	Good et al. 2013b
Criterion, MD (13)	Young et al. 2014a	Record Hill, ME (12)	Stantec 2013b
Crystal Lake II, IA (09)	Derby et al. 2010a	Record Hill, ME (14)	Stantec 2015
Diablo Winds, CA (05-07)	WEST 2006, 2008	Red Canyon, TX (06-07)	Miller 2008
Dillon, CA (08-09)	Chatfield et al. 2009	Red Hills, OK (12-13)	Derby et al. 2013c
Drv Lake I. AZ (09-10)	Thompson et al. 2011	Ripley, Ont (08)	Jacques Whitford 2009
Dry Lake II, AZ (11-12)	Thompson and Bay 2012	Ripley, Ont (08-09)	Golder Associates 2010
Elkhorn, OR (08)	Jeffrey et a. 2009b	Rollins, ME (12)	Stantec 2013c
Elkhorn, OR (10)	Enk et al. 2011b	Roth Rock, MD (11)	Atwell 2012
Elm Creek, MN (09-10)	Derby et al. 2010c	Rugby, ND (10-11)	Derby et al. 2011b
Elm Creek II, MN (11-12)	Derby et al. 2012b	San Gorgonio, CA (97-98: 99-00)	Anderson et al. 2005
Erie Shores, Ont. (06)	James 2008	Searsburg, VT (97)	Kerlinger 2002a

Appendix A3 (*continued*). All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology. Data from the following sources:

Project, Location	Reference	Project, Location	Reference
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 99)	Young et al. 2003a	Sheffield, VT (12)	Martin et al. 2013
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 00)	Young et al. 2003a	Sheffield Operational Mitigation Study (12)	Martin et al. 2013
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 01-02)	Young et al. 2003a	Shiloh I, CA (06-09)	Kerlinger et al. 2009
Forward Energy Center, WI (08-10)	Grodsky and Drake 2011	Shiloh II, CA (09-10)	Kerlinger et al. 2010
Fowler I, IN (09)	Johnson et al. 2010a	Shiloh II, CA (10-11)	Kerlinger et al. 2013a
Fowler I, II, III, IN (10)	Good et al. 2011	Shiloh III, CA (12-13)	Kerlinger et al. 2013b
Fowler I, II, III, IN (11)	Good et al. 2012	SMUD Solano, CA (04-05)	Erickson and Sharp 2005
Fowler I, II, III, IN (12)	Good et al. 2013c	Solano III, CA (12-13)	AECOM 2013
Fowler III, IN (09)	Johnson et al. 2010b	Spruce Mountain, ME (12)	Tetra Tech 2013
Goodnoe, WA (09-10)	URS Corporation 2010a	Stateline, OR/WA (01-02)	Erickson et al. 2004
Grand Ridge I, IL (09-10)	Derby et al. 2010g	Stateline, OR/WA (03)	Erickson et al. 2004
Harrow, Ont (10)	Natural Resource Solutions 2011	Stateline, OR/WA (06)	Erickson et al. 2007
Harvest Wind, WA (10-12)	Downes and Gritski 2012a	Steel Winds I, NY (07)	Grehan 2008
Hay Canvon, OR (09-10)	Gritski and Kronner 2010a	Steel Winds I & II. NY (12)	Stantec 2013d
Heritage Garden I, MI (12-14)	Kerlinger et al. 2014	Stetson Mountain I, ME (09)	Stantec 2009c
High Sheldon, NY (10)	Tidhar et al. 2012a	Stetson Mountain I. ME (11)	Normandeau Associates 2011
High Sheldon, NY (11)	Tidhar et al. 2012b	Stetson Mountain I. ME (13)	Stantec 2014
High Winds, CA (03-04)	Kerlinger et al. 2006	Stetson Mountain II. ME (10)	Normandeau Associates 2010
High Winds, CA (04-05)	Kerlinger et al. 2006	Stetson Mountain II. ME (12)	Stantec 2013e
Hopkins Ridge, WA (06)	Young et al. 2007	Summerview, Alb (05-06)	Brown and Hamilton 2006b
Hopkins Ridge, WA (08)	Young et al. 2009c	Summerview, Alb (06: 07)	Baerwald 2008
Jersey Atlantic, NJ (08)	NJAS 2008a, 2008b, 2009	Tehachapi, CA (96-98)	Anderson et al. 2004
Judith Gap, MT (06-07)	TRC 2008	Top Crop I & II, IL (12-13)	Good et al. 2013a
Judith Gap, MT (09)	Poulton and Erickson 2010	Top of Iowa, IA (03)	Jain 2005
Kewaunee County, WI (99-01)	Howe et al. 2002	Top of Iowa, IA (04)	Jain 2005
Kibby, ME (11)	Stantec 2012a	Tuolumne (Windy Point I), WA (09-	Enz and Bay 2010
Kittitas Valley, WA (11-12)	Stantec Consulting 2012	Vansycle, OR (99)	Erickson et al. 2000
Klondike, OR (02-03)	Johnson et al. 2003	Vantage, WA (10-11)	Ventus Environmental Solutions 2012
Klondike II, OR (05-06)	NWC and WEST 2007	Vasco, CA (12-13)	Brown et al. 2013
Klondike III (Phase I), OR (07-09)	Gritski et al. 2010	Wessington Springs, SD (09)	Derby et al. 2010f
Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR (08-10)	Gritski et al. 2011	Wessington Springs, SD (10)	Derby et al. 2011d
Lakefield Wind, MN (12)	MPUC 2012	White Creek, WA (07-11)	Downes and Gritski 2012b
Leaning Juniper, OR (06-08)	Gritski et al. 2008	Wild Horse, WA (07)	Erickson et al. 2008
Lempster, NH (09)	Tidhar et al. 2010	Windy Flats, WA (10-11)	Enz et al. 2011
Lempster, NH (10)	Tidhar et al. 2011	Winnebago, IA (09-10)	Derby et al. 2010e
Linden Ranch, WA (10-11)	Enz and Bay 2011	Wolfe Island, Ont (May-June 09)	Stantec Ltd. 2010a
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 09)	Arnett et al. 2011	Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 09)	Stantec Ltd. 2010b
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 10)	Arnett et al. 2011	Wolfe Island, Ont (January-June 10)	Stantec Ltd. 2011a
Madison, NY (01-02)	Kerlinger 2002b	Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 10)	Stantec Ltd. 2011b
Maple Ridge, NY (06)	Jain et al. 2007	Wolfe Island, Ont (January-June 11)	Stantec Ltd. 2011c
Maple Ridge, NY (07)	Jain et al. 2009a	Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 11)	Stantec Ltd. 2012
Maple Ridge, NY (07-08)	Jain et al. 2009d	Wolfe Island, Ont (January-June 12)	Stantec Ltd. 2014
Maple Ridge, NY (12)	Tidhar et al. 2013a		

Appendix L. Bat Activity Survey for the Triple Wind Project, Hyde and Hughes Counties, South Dakota – Final Report April 25 – October 25, 2018

Bat Activity Survey for the Triple H Wind Project Hyde and Hughes Counties, South Dakota

Final Report

April 25 – October 25, 2018



Prepared for:

Triple H Wind Project, LLC.

3760 State Street, Suite 200 Santa Barbara, California 93105

Prepared by:

Brian Health, Ashley Matteson, and Kristina Hammond-Rendon

Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. 415 West Seventeenth Street, Suite 200 Cheyenne, Wyoming 82001

February 4, 2019



EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

In 2018, Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. initiated a bat acoustic survey for the proposed Triple H Wind Project (Project) in Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota. The bat acoustic survey was designed based on a larger Project area (Project), however, Triple H is proposing to initially develop an area located within the northcentral portion of the Project area that will be Triple H Phase I. The bat acoustic survey was designed to estimate levels of bat activity during spring, summer, and fall within the larger Project area.

Acoustic surveys were conducted from April 25 – October 25, 2018 at six monitoring stations where AnaBat SD2 detectors were placed near the ground at 5.0 feet (ft; 1.5 meters [m]). Four monitoring stations were located in croplands or herbaceous grassland habitat, which are the dominant land cover types within the Project area and therefore representative of future turbine placement ('representative stations'). Two additional detectors were designated as 'bat feature stations" and were located near habitat potentially attractive to bats (e.g., ponds, deciduous trees, shelterbelts, etc.).

Detectors in representative habitat recorded an average bat activity of 0.29 ± 0.04 bat passes per detector-night over 670 detector nights. Bat feature stations recorded 256 bat passes during 309 detector-nights (0.86 ± 0.12 bat passes per detector-night).

Bat activity at representative stations varied little among seasons with the lowest activity in the spring and highest activity in summer and fall. At these stations, activity by low-frequency (LF; e.g., big brown bats, hoary bats, and silver-haired bats) and high-frequency (HF; e.g., eastern red bats and *Myotis* species) bats peaked during the end of July and first week of August. Bat activity at bat feature stations had similar temporal patterns with bat activity being lowest in the spring and higher in the summer and fall. Bat feature stations had peak activity in late August and early September.

Approximately 62.1% and 64.1% of bat passes recorded at representative and bat feature stations in the Project area were classified as LF bats. Bat activity throughout the Project area was similar to the bat activity recorded at the two stations within the Triple H Phase I boundary. Bat activity recorded at the Project area at ground representative stations during the Fall Migration Period (0.39 ± 0.06 bat passes per detector-night) was lower than activity at facilities in the Midwest. The precise level of fatalities at this site is difficult to predict given the broad range of fatality rates observed at other wind-energy facilities in the Midwest, and the lack of a direct link between pre-construction bat activity and post-construction fatality rates.

STUDY PARTICIPANTS

Brian Heath **Project Manager** Clayton Derby Senior Review Kristina Hammond Bat Biologist Amelia Wade Bat Data Labeler Kristina Hammond Data Analyst Casi Lathan Bat Activity Project Coordinator Jason Mitchell Statistician Kristen Klaphake **GIS** Technician Ashley Matteson **Report Writer** Jeanette Haddock **Technical Editor** Daniel Pecenka **Field Technician** Brenda Jarski-Weber Field Technician

REPORT REFERENCE

 Heath, B., A. Matteson., and K. Hammond-Rendon. 2019. Bat Activity Surveys for the Triple H Wind Project, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota. Final Report: April 25 – October 25, 2018.
 Prepared for Triple H Wind Project, LLC. Santa Barbara, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

EXECUTIVE SUMMARYi
INTRODUCTION 1
PROJECT AREA 1
Overview of Bat Diversity
White-Nose Syndrome
METHODS
Bat Activity Survey
Survey Stations
Survey Schedule
Data Collection and Call Analysis6
Statistical Analysis
RESULTS
Bat Activity Surveys
Spatial Variation
Temporal Variation11
Species Composition16
DISCUSSION16
REFERENCES

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Digitized land cover types, coverage, and percent (%) composition within the overall Triple H Wind Project area and Triple H Phase I Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota.	. 1
Table 2. Bat species with potential to occur within the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde andHughes counties, South Dakota categorized by echolocation call frequency	. 4
Table 3. Results of bat activity surveys conducted at stations within the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota from April 25 – October 25, 2018. Passes are separated by call frequency: high frequency (HF) and low frequency (LF).	.11
Table 4a. The number of bat passes per detector-night recorded at representative stations within the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota during each season, separated by call frequency: high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats (AB).	12

Table 4b. The number of bat passes per detector-night recorded at bat feature stations within	
the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota during each	
season, separated by call frequency: high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats (AB)	12
Table 5. Periods of peak activity at representative and bat feature stations for high-frequency	

•					•			
(HF), low-frequency	/ (LF), and	all bats at	the Triple H	Wind Project	area,	Hyde	and	
Hughes counties, S	outh Dako	ta from Apr	il 25 – Octob	oer 25, 2018				13

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Location the Triple H Wind Project areas, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota	ı 2
Figure 2. Digitized land cover types within the Triple H Wind Project Area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota.	; 3
Figure 3. Location of bat stations within the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota.	; 7
Figure 4. Operational status of all bat detectors and microphones (n=6) operating at the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota during each night of the survey period April 25 – October 25, 2018	, f 9
Figure 5. Number of high-frequency (HF) and low-frequency (LF) and all bats recorded bat passes per detector-night recorded at representative stations (top) and bat feature stations (bottom) within the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties South Dakota from April 25 – October 25, 2018. The bootstrapped standard errors are represented by the black error bars on the 'All Bats' columns	; ; ;10
Figure 6. Seasonal bat activity at representative stations (top) and bat feature stations (bottom) by high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats at the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota from April 25 – October 25 2018. The bootstrapped standard errors are represented on the 'All Bats' columns HF column is absent in the spring because no HF bat passes were recorded	; 14
Figure 7. Weekly patterns of bat activity at representative stations (top) and bat feature stations (bottom) by high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats at the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota from April 25 – October 25, 2018. HF columns are absent in the spring and early summer because no HF bat passes were recorded.	, - -
Figure 8. Fatality rates for bats (number of bats per megawatts per year) from publically available wind energy facilities in the Midwest Region of North America.	, 18

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: North American Fatality Summary Tables

INTRODUCTION

Triple H Wind Project, LLC (Triple H) is considering the development of the Triple H Wind Project (Project) in Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota (Figure 1). Triple H contracted Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) to complete a bat activity survey following the recommendations of the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) *Land-based Wind Energy Guidelines* (USFWS 2012a) and Kunz et al. (2007).

Objectives for the bat activity survey included acoustic monitoring surveys to estimate levels of bat activity throughout the Project area during spring, summer, and fall. The bat acoustic surveys were designed based on a larger Project area; however, Triple H is proposing to initially develop an area located within the northcentral portion of the Project area (Triple H Phase I; Figure 1). This report describes the results of the acoustic monitoring conducted within both the overall Project area as well as the initial proposed Phase I Project area from April 25 – October 25, 2018.

PROJECT AREA

The Project area (110,058.9 acres [ac]; 44,539.3 hectares [ha]) is located approximately 3.0 miles (mi; 4.8 kilometers [km]) south of Highmore, Holabird, and Harrold South Dakota (Figure 1). The topography within the Project area consists of rolling hills, with elevations ranging from 1,850 to 2,100 feet (ft; 564-640 meters [m]) above mean sea level. The Triple H Phase I will consist of 27,226.5 ac (11,018.2 ha) in the northcentral portion of the Project area.

The dominant land cover types, based on digitized land cover mapping, are cropland, comprising 47.03% of the Project area (51,759.38 ac [20,946.28 ha]); followed by grassland pasture (46,064.68 ac [18,641.72 ha; 41.85%]), NWI wetlands (5,985.64 ac [2,422.30 ha; 5.44%]), grass hay (2,789.08 ac [1,128.70 ha; 2.53%]), and developed space (2,377 ac [961.94 ha; 2.16%]). Trees accounted for 1,042.91 ac (422.05 ha; 0.95%) and 40.23 ac (16.28 ha; 0.04%) of water sources were digitized within the Project area (Table 1: Figure 2).

Land cover type within the Triple H Phase I Project area is comprised of more cropland and less grassland pastures than within the overall Project area (Table 1). The percentage of the remaining land cover types were approximately the same between the overall Project area and Triple H Phase I Project area. Deciduous forest provides potential roosting and foraging habitat for several bat species, including the federally threatened northern long-eared bat (*Myotis septentrionalis*; USFWS 2007).

Table	1.	Digitiz	ed l	and	cover	[·] types,	cove	rage,	and	per	cent (%)	compos	sition	within	the
	ov	verall 1	Friple	θH	Wind	Project	area	and	Triple	H	Phase		Project	area,	Hyde	and
	Ηι	ughes	coui	nties	s, Sout	h Dakot	a.									

	Triple H P	<u>Triple H Phase I</u>			
		%			
Land Cover Type	Coverage (Acres)	Composition	Coverage Acres	% Composition	
Cropland	51,759.38	47.03%	17,060.5	62.7	
Grassland Pasture	46,064.68	41.85%	7,027.3	25.8	
NWI Wetlands ^a	5,985.64	5.44%	1,670.3	6.1	
Grass Hay	2,789.08	2.53%	701.0	2.6	
Developed	2,377.00	2.16%	516.4	1.9	
Trees	1,042.91	0.95%	250.9	0.9	
Water	40.23	0.04%	0.1	< 0.1	
Total	110,058.9	100	27,226.5	100	

^aUS Fish and Wildlife Service National Wetlands Inventory 2017.

1



Figure 1. Location the Triple H Wind Project areas, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota.



Figure 2. Digitized land cover types within the Triple H Wind Project Area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota.

Overview of Bat Diversity

Seven bat species potentially occur within the Project area (Table 2; International Union for Conservation of Nature 2017; USFWS 2017), one of which is federally listed at threatened, the northern long-eared bat (USFWS 2007). No bat species have state-protected status in South Dakota (South Dakota Game, Fish and Parks 2018).

 Table 2. Bat species with potential to occur within the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota categorized by echolocation call frequency.

Common Name	Scientific Name				
High-Frequency (>30 kHz)					
eastern red bat ^{1,3}	Lasiurus borealis				
little brown bat ¹	Myotis lucifugus				
northern long-eared bat ^{1,2}	Myotis septentrionalis				
western small-footed bat	Myotis ciliolabrum				
Low-Frequency (<30 kHz)					
big brown bat ¹	Eptesicus fuscus				
hoary bat ^{1,3}	Lasiurus cinereus				
silver-haired bat ^{1,3}	Lasionycteris noctivagans				

¹ species known to have been killed at wind energy facilities (American Wind Wildlife Institute 2018);

² federally threatened species (US Fish and Wildlife Service [USFWS] 2015); and

³ long-distance migrant.

Sources: International Union for Conservation of Nature 2017; USFWS 2017.

White-Nose Syndrome

Hibernating bats in North America are being severely impacted by white-nose syndrome (WNS) an infectious mycosis in which bats are infected with a psychrophilic fungus from Europe (*Pseudogymnoascus* [formerly *Geomyces*] *destructans*) thought to act as a chronic disturbance during hibernation (USGS 2010; Minnis and Lindner 2013). Infected bats arouse frequently from hibernation, leading to premature loss of fat reserves and atypical behavior, which in turn can lead to starvation prior to spring emergence (Boyles and Willis 2010; Reeder et al. 2012; Warnecke et al. 2012). Data suggests in 2012 that between 5.7 and 6.7 million bats died as a result of WNS (USFWS 2012b).

WNS is the primary reason the USFWS recently listed the northern long-eared bat as threatened under the Endangered Species Act (USFWS 2015). WNS was first discovered in New York State in 2006 and to date the disease has spread to 33 states and seven Canadian provinces, reaching as far south as Alabama, as far north as Newfoundland, and as far west as Washington (Heffernan 2016; https://www.whitenosesyndrome.org). Recently, the causative fungus was identified in an additional three states including Wyoming, Texas, and Mississippi. The nearest county to confirm WNS is Custer County, South Dakota, approximately 156 mi (252 km) to the southwest of the Project area. The nearest county with suspected WNS is Jackson County, South Dakota, approximately 76 mi (122 km) southwest of the Project area (https://www.whitenosesyndrome.org).
METHODS

Bat Activity Survey

The bat activity acoustic monitoring was conducted to estimate the level of bat activity throughout the current Project area from April 25 – October 25, 2018.

Survey Stations

Six AnaBat SD2 ultrasonic bat detectors (Titley[™] Scientific, Columbia, Missouri) were used during the surveys (Figure 3). All six AnaBat detectors were placed approximately 5.0 ft [1.5 m] above ground level [AGL] and were considered ground stations. Since species activity levels and composition can vary with altitude (Baerwald and Barclay 2009; Collins and Jones 2009; Müeller et al. 2013), microphones at ground stations likely detect a more complete sample of the bat species present within the Project area, whereas microphones at raised stations may give a more accurate assessment of risk to bat species flying at rotor swept heights (Kunz et al. 2007b; Collins and Jones 2009; Müeller et al. 2013; Roemer et al. 2017).

Four of the stations were located in habitat representative of potential turbine locations ('representative stations'). Of those four, two stations were located in croplands (TH5 and TH6; Figure 3) and two within grassland habitat (TH1 and TH3; Figure 3), which are the dominant land cover types (Table 1) within the Project area. Representative stations TH3 and TH6 were located specifically in the Triple H Phase I Project area and stations TH1 and TH3 were located at meteorological (met) towers.

Two stations (TH2 and TH4; Figure 3) were placed in habitat with features attractive to bats for foraging, drinking, or roosting opportunities ('bat feature stations'; e.g., ponds, deciduous trees, and shelterbelts). Monitoring at these features provides an upper threshold for bat activity in the Project area for comparison with representative stations. An experienced bat biologist selected locations of bat feature stations. Both bat feature stations were ground stations near ponds offering a potentially attractive perennial water source for bats.

Each AnaBat detector was enclosed within a plastic weather-tight container with a hole cut in the side through which the microphone extended. Each microphone was encased in a 45-degree angle PVC tube and holes were drilled in the PVC tube to allow water to drain. The container was placed on a PVC pole approximately 5.0 ft AGL and secured to the ground with guy lines and tent stakes.

Survey Schedule

Bat activity surveys were conducted from April 25 – October 25, 2018 and detectors were programmed to turn on 30 minutes (min) before sunset and turn off 30 min after sunrise each night. To highlight seasonal activity patterns, the surveys were divided into three survey periods: spring (April 25 – May 31), summer (June 1 – August 15), and fall (August 16 – October 25). Mean bat activity was also calculated for a standardized Fall Migration Period (FMP), defined here as July 30 – October 14. WEST defined the FMP as a standard for comparison with activity

from other wind projects. During this time, bats begin moving toward wintering areas, and many species of bats initiate reproductive behaviors (Cryan 2008). This period of increased landscape-scale movement and reproductive behavior is often associated with increased levels of bat fatalities at operational wind energy facilities (Arnett et al. 2008; Cryan 2008; Arnett and Baerwald 2013; Barclay et al. 2017).

Data Collection and Call Analysis

AnaBat detectors use a broadband high-frequency microphone to detect the echolocation calls of bats. To standardize acoustic sampling effort across the Project area, AnaBat detectors were calibrated and sensitivity levels were set to six (Larson and Hayes 2000), a level that balanced the goal of recording bat calls against the need to reduce interference from other sources of ultrasonic noise (Brooks and Ford 2005). Incoming echolocation calls are digitally processed and stored on a high capacity compact flash card. The resulting files can be viewed in appropriate software (e.g., Analook[®]) as digital sonograms that show changes in echolocation calls from other types of ultrasonic noise (e.g., wind, insects, etc.) and to determine the call frequency category of the bat that generated the calls.

For each survey location, bat passes were sorted into two groups based on their minimum call frequency. A bat pass was defined as a sequence of at least two echolocation calls (pulses) produced by an individual bat with no pause between calls of more than one second (Fenton 1980, Gannon et al. 2003). High-frequency (HF) bats such as eastern red bats (*Lasiurus borealis*) and *Myotis* species have minimum frequencies greater than 30 kHz. Low-frequency (LF) bats such as big brown bats (*Eptesicus fuscus*), silver-haired bats (*Lasionycteris noctivagans*), and hoary bats (*Lasiurus cinereus*) typically emit echolocation calls with minimum frequencies equal to or below 30 kHz. HF and LF species that may occur in the Project area are listed in Table 2.



Figure 3. Location of bat stations within the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota.

Confidential Business Information

Statistical Analysis

The standard metric used for measuring bat activity is the number of bat passes per detectornight; this metric was used as an index of bat activity in the Project area. A detector-night was defined as one detector operating for one entire night. Bat passes per detector-night were calculated for all bats, HF bats, and LF bats. Bat pass rates represent indices of bat activity and do not represent numbers of individuals. An experienced bat biologist determined the number of bat passes using Analook.

The period of peak sustained bat activity was defined as the seven-day period with the highest average bat activity. If multiple seven day periods equaled the peak sustained bat activity rate, all dates in these seven-day periods were reported. This and all multi-detector averages in this report were calculated as an unweighted average of total activity at each detector. Comparisons were made of mean bat activity during the spring, summer, and fall, to evaluate seasonal variation in bat activity during the study period and compared to the FMP. Comparisons between the representative stations and bat feature stations were not made due to bias caused by how the locations were selected.

RESULTS

Bat Activity Surveys

Bat activity was monitored at six stations for a total of 979 detector-nights from April 25 – October 25, 2018. All detectors and microphones were operating for 89.2% of the sampling period for all stations (Figure 4). The primary cause of lost data was excessive wind and insect noise in early August that filled up data cards and prevented further recording.

Spatial Variation

Bat activity within the overall Project area had low variation amongst representative stations (TH1, TH3, TH5, and TH6; Figure 5; Table 3). Station TH5 recorded the fewest bat passes per detector-night (0.11 ± 0.04) while station TH3 recorded the most (0.56 ± 0.08 ; Table 3, Figure 5). The two stations within the Triple H Phase I recorded 0.56 (TH3) and 0.23 (TH6) bat passes per detector-night.

Activity at bat feature stations (TH2 and TH4) was approximately three times higher (0.86 ± 0.12 bat passes per detector-night) than at representative ground stations (0.29 ± 0.04 ; Table 3). Variation amongst the bat feature station also was low with bat activity highest at TH4 (1.05 ± 0.20) compared to TH2 (0.68 ± 0.12 ; Table 3).



Figure 4. Operational status of all bat detectors and microphones (n=6) operating at the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota during each night of the survey period April 25 – October 25, 2018.



Figure 5. Number of high-frequency (HF) and low-frequency (LF) and all bats recorded bat passes per detector-night recorded at representative stations (top) and bat feature stations (bottom) within the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota from April 25 – October 25, 2018. The bootstrapped standard errors are represented by the black error bars on the 'All Bats' columns.

are separated by can nequency. This nequency (Th') and tow nequency (L').						
Station	Туре	# of HF Bat Passes	# of LF Bat Passes	Total Bat Passes	Detector- Nights	Bat Passes/ Night ¹
TH1	representative	15	33	48	179	0.27 ± 0.06
TH3 ²	representative	39	55	94	167	0.56 ± 0.08
TH5	representative	5	12	17	151	0.11 ± 0.04
TH6 ²	representative	16	23	39	173	0.23 ± 0.04
TH2	bat feature	38	85	123	182	0.68 ± 0.12
TH4	bat feature	54	79	133	127	1.05 ± 0.20
Total Representative		75	123	198	670	0.29 ± 0.04
Total Bat Feature		92	164	256	309	0.86 ± 0.12
Total		167	287	454	979	

Table 3. Results of bat activity surveys conducted at stations within the Triple H Wind Project area,Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota from April 25 – October 25, 2018. Passesare separated by call frequency: high frequency (HF) and low frequency (LF).

¹± bootstrapped standard error.

²Stations within the Triple H Phase I project area

---Total not given due to differences in how stations were selected and their objectives

Temporal Variation

Bat activity at representative stations was relatively low (less than one bat pass per detectornight) across all seasons (Table 4a; Figure 6). Weekly acoustic activity at representative stations was relatively low from April through mid-July (Figure 7), but increased in late July through the second week in September, peaking from July 26 – August 1 (1.29 bat passes per detector-night; Table 5; Figure 7). Individually, HF and LF bat activity did not exceed one bat pass per detector night throughout the entire duration of the study. Overall bat activity declined sharply after the week of September 10 and remained relatively low, with low to no bat activity, for the remainder of the survey period (Figure 7). Bat activity at representative stations was 0.39 \pm 0.06 during the FMP (Table 4a).

Bat activity at bat feature stations was relatively low in the spring and summer and higher in fall (Table 4b; Figure 6). Weekly acoustic activity at representative stations was relatively low from April through early July (Figure 7), but increased in mid-July through the second week in September, peaking from August 26 – September 1 (3.86 bat passes per detector-night; Table 5; Figure 7). HF bat activity peaked earlier, from July 15 – July 21 (2.00 bat passes per detector-night; Table 5; Figure 7). Overall bat activity declined sharply by the week of September 10 and remained relatively low, with low to no bat activity, for the remainder of the survey period (Figure 7). Bat activity at bat feature stations was 1.24 ± 0.29 during the FMP (Table 4b).

Table 4a. The number of bat passes per detector-night recorded at representative stations within the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota during each season, separated by call frequency: high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats (AB).

	Call	Spring	Summer	<u>Fall</u>	Fall Migration
Station	Frequency	Apr 25 – May 31	Jun 1 – Aug 15	Aug 16 – Oct 25	Jul 30 – Oct 14
	LF	0.19	0.10	0.27	0.31
TH1	HF	0	0.10	0.11	0.18
	AB	0.19	0.20	0.38	0.49
	LF	0.28	0.29	0.39	0.47
TH3 ¹	HF	0	0.29	0.27	0.32
	AB	0.28	0.59	0.66	0.79
	LF	0.17	0.03	0.08	0.07
TH5	HF	0	0.06	0.02	0.03
	AB	0.17	0.09	0.10	0.10
	LF	0.25	0.13	0.07	0.10
TH6 ¹	HF	0	0.18	0.03	0.08
	AB	0.25	0.32	0.10	0.18
Depresentative	LF	0.22 ± 0.05	0.14 ± 0.02	0.20 ± 0.05	0.23 ± 0.04
Totals	HF	0.00 ± 0.00	0.16 ± 0.05	0.11 ± 0.03	0.16 ± 0.04
	AB	0.22 ± 0.05	0.30 ± 0.07	0.31 ± 0.06	0.39 ± 0.06

¹Stations within the Triple H Phase I project area

Table 4b. The number of bat passes per detector-night recorded at bat feature stations within the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota during each season, separated by call frequency: high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats (AB).

	0	<u>Spring</u>	Summer	Fall	Fall Migration
Station	Call Frequency	Apr 25 – May 31	Jun 1 – Aug 15	Aug 16 – Oct 25	<u>Period</u> Jul 30 – Oct 14
	LF	0.53	0.25	0.67	0.66
TH2	HF	0.03	0.28	0.23	0.28
	AB	0.56	0.53	0.90	0.93
	LF	0.75	0.38	1.33	0.89
TH4	HF	0	0.64	0.39	0.66
	AB	0.75	1.03	1.72	1.54
Pot Footuro	LF	0.64 ± 0.14	0.32 ± 0.05	1.00 ± 0.46	0.77 ± 0.24
Dal Fealure	HF	0.01 ± 0.01	0.46 ± 0.10	0.31 ± 0.11	0.47 ± 0.12
IULAIS	AB	0.65 ± 0.14	0.78 ± 0.13	1.31 ± 0.50	1.24 ± 0.29

Table 5. Periods of peak activity at representative and bat feature stations for high-frequency(HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats at the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde andHughes counties, South Dakota from April 25 – October 25, 2018.

Station Type	Species Group	Start Date of Peak Activity	End Date of Peak Activity	Bat Passes per Detector-Night
	HF	July 26	August 1	0.96
Representative	LF	August 21	August 27	0.95
-	All Bats	July 26	August 1	1.29
	HF	July 15	July 21	2.00
Bat Feature	LF	August 26	September 1	3.14
	All Bats	August 26	September 1	3.86



Figure 6. Seasonal bat activity at representative stations (top) and bat feature stations (bottom) by high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats at the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota from April 25 – October 25, 2018. The bootstrapped standard errors are represented on the 'All Bats' columns. HF column is absent in the spring because no HF bat passes were recorded.



Figure 7. Weekly patterns of bat activity at representative stations (top) and bat feature stations (bottom) by high-frequency (HF), low-frequency (LF), and all bats at the Triple H Wind Project area, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota from April 25 – October 25, 2018. HF columns are absent in the spring and early summer because no HF bat passes were recorded.

Species Composition

Of the total bat passes recorded at representative stations, 62.1% were classified as LF (e.g., big brown bats, hoary bats, and silver-haired bats), and 37.9% of bat passes were classified as HF (e.g., eastern red bats and *Myotis* species; Tables 2 and 3; Figure 6). At bat feature stations, the majority of recorded calls also were produced by LF bats (64.1%; Table 3; Figure 6).

DISCUSSION

Bat fatalities have been discovered at most wind energy facilities monitored in North America, with fatality estimates ranging from 0 to 49.70 bat fatalities/megawatt (MW)/year (American Wind Wildlife Institute [AWWI] 2018). A summary of 202 studies at 137 wind energy facilities in the US found that the majority of wind energy facilities reported fewer than five bat fatalities/MW/year, with a nationwide median of 2.66 bat fatalities/MW/year (AWWI 2018). In 2012, an estimated 600,000 bats died as a result of interactions with wind turbines in the US (Hayes 2013). Wind development may pose a threat to populations of migratory bats in particular. Projection models estimate that populations of hoary bats could decline as much as 90% in the next 50 years (Frick et al. 2017). Proximate causes of bat fatalities are primarily due to collisions with moving turbine blades (Grodsky et al. 2011; Rollins et al. 2012). The underlying reason(s) why bats come near turbines is still largely unknown (Cryan and Barclay 2009; Barclay et al. 2017).

To date, post-construction monitoring studies of wind energy facilities in the US show the following: a) migratory tree-roosting species (e.g., eastern red bat, hoary bat, and silver-haired bat) compose approximately 72% of reported bat fatalities; b) the majority of fatalities occur during the fall migration season (August and September); and c) most fatalities occur on nights with relatively low wind speeds (e.g., <6.0 m/s; Arnett et al.2008; Arnett et al. 2013; AWWI 2018; Thompson et al. 2017).

Overall bat activity was low at the Project (0.29 bat passes per detector-night at representative stations and 0.86 bat passes per detector-night at bat feature stations). Mean bat activity during the FMP, the time period when most bats are migrating, at representative stations (0.39 ± 0.06 bat passes per detector-night; Table 4) was lower than the national median (7.68 bat passes per detector-night) and lower than the median of the studies available from the Midwest (6.97 bat passes per detector-night; Appendix A). Bat activity was highest within the Project area during the fall migration period, peaking from late July to early August at representative stations. This timing is slightly earlier than peak fatality periods for most wind energy facilities in the US (AWWI 2018), and suggests that bat fatalities at the Project maybe higher during late summer to early fall.

Bat activity at the two stations within the Triple H Phase I Project area (TH3 and TH6) had similar bat activity to the other representative stations within the overall Project area; therefore, the data indicates that patterns seen at the Phase I Project area are similar to the overall Project area.

Activity by HF bat species composed 37.9% of bat passes recorded at representative stations and 35.9% at bat feature stations in the Project area. Eastern red bats are usually the most common HF species found during carcass searches (Arnett et al. 2008; Arnett and Baerwald 2013; AWWI 2018). *Myotis* species are recorded less commonly than other species in the rotor-swept zone or as fatalities at most post-construction studies of wind energy facilities (Kunz et al. 2007b; Arnett et al. 2008; AWWI 2018), with a few notable exceptions (Kerns and Kerlinger 2004; Jain 2005; Brown and Hamilton 2006; Gruver et al. 2009).

Approximately 62.1% and 64.1% of bat passes recorded at representative and bat feature stations in the Project area were emitted by LF bats. LF species may become casualties because they fly at higher altitudes (Table 3; Figure 6). Given that hoary bats, eastern red bats, and silver-haired bats are among the most common bat fatalities at many facilities (Arnett et al. 2008; Arnett and Baerwald 2013; AWWI 2018), it is expected that these three species would be the most common fatalities at the Project.

Over two-thirds of bat fatality studies in the Midwest report fewer than five bat fatalities/MW/year (Appendix A; Figure 8), it is possible that similar fatality rates could be recorded at the Project. However, some studies indicate that facilities in agricultural settings in the Midwest can produce higher levels of bat fatalities (Jain 2005, Baerwald 2008, Gruver et al. 2009). The closest operating wind-energy facility to the Project with public post-construction fatality data is the Prairie Winds SD, located approximately 50 mi (80 km) southeast of the Project. The Prairie Winds SD wind-energy facility is primarily composed of herbaceous grassland habitat, whereas the Project is primarily composed of cropland and grassland habitat. Bat casualty rates at Prairie Winds SD have ranged from 0.52–1.23 bats/MW/study period (Derby et al. 2012d, 2013a, and 2014a); it is likely that Triple H will have similar fatality rates.

In summary, bat activity rates within the Project area are much lower than other wind projects in the Midwest. The bat activity patterns within the overall Project area were similar to the bat activity recorded within the Triple H Phase I Project area. Data suggests that most bat fatalities within the overall Project area and the Triple H Phase I Project area will occur during the fall consisting primarily of hoary, eastern red, and silver-haired bats. The pre-construction bat activity surveys completed within the Project area will add to the growing body of research regarding the impacts of wind energy development on bats.



Figure 8. Fatality rates for bats (number of bats per megawatts per year) from publically available wind energy facilities in the Midwest Region of North America.

	Activity	Fatality		Activity	Fatality
	Estimate	Estimate		Estimate	Estimate
Facility Study	Citation	Citation	Facility Study	Citation	Citation
Triple H, SD		This study			
Cedar Ridge, WI (2009)	BHE Environ- mental 2008	BHE Environ- mental 2010	Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)		Derby et al. 2012a
Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008; 2009)	Gruver 2008	Gruver et al. 2009	Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)		Derby et al. 2012b
Cedar Ridge, WI (2010)	BHE Environ- mental 2008	BHE Environ- mental 2011	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)		Johnson et al. 2000
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011)		Good et al. 2012	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)		Johnson et al. 2000
Lakefield Wind, MN (2012)		Minnesota Public Utilities Commission 2012	Moraine II, MN (2009)		Derby et al. 2010f
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2010)		Good et al. 2011	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)		Johnson et al. 2000
Forward Energy Center, WI (2008- 2010)	Watt and Drake 2011	Grodsky and Drake 2011	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)		Derby et al. 2011d
Top Crop I & II, IL (2012-2013) Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013)		Good et al. 2013c Good et al. 2013b	Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010) Big Blue, MN (2013)		Derby et al. 2010a Fagen Engineering 2014
Harrow, Ont (2010)		Natural Resources Solutions Inc. (NRSI) 2011	Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)		Derby et al. 2011b
Top of Iowa, IA (2004)	Jain 2005	Jain 2005	Fowler III, IN (2009)		Johnson et al. 2010b
Waverly Wind, KS (2016-2017)		Tetra Tech 2017a	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake Benton II)	Johnson et al. 2004	Johnson et al. 2004
Fowler I, IN (2009)		Johnson et al. 2010a	Pleasant [´] Valley, MN (2016-2017)		Tetra Tech 2017b
Crystal Lake II, IA (2009)		Derby et al. 2010b	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake Benton I)	Johnson et al. 2004	Johnson et al. 2004
Top of Iowa, IA (2003)		Jain 2005	Rugby, ND (2010-2011)		Derby et al. 2011c
Odell, MN (2016- 2017)		Chodachek and Gustafson 2018	Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)		Derby et al. 2012b

Figure 8. Fatality rates for bats (number of bats per megawatts per year) from publically available	ole
wind energy facilities in the Midwest region of North America.	

	Activity	Fatality		Activity	Fatality
	Estimate	Estimate		Estimate	Estimate
Facility Study	Citation	Citation	Facility Study	Citation	Citation
Triple H, SD		This study			
Kewaunee County,		Howe et al. 2002	Wessington		Derby et al.
WI (1999-2001)			Springs, SD		2010c
			(2009)		_
Fowler, IN (2014)		Good et al. 2015	Big Blue, MN		Fagen
			(2014)		Engineering
Rinley Ont (2008)			Prairie\//inde		2015 Derby et al
Ripley, Ont (2000)		Whitford 2009	ND1 (Minot) ND		2012d
			(2011)		20124
Fowler, IN (2015)		Good et al. 2016	PrairieWinds		Derby et al.
			SD1, SD (2011-		2012c
			2012)		
Fowler, IN (2016)		Good et al. 2017	NPPD		Derby et al.
			Ainsworth, NE		2007
			(2006)		
Winnebago, IA		Derby et al.	PrairieWinds		Derby et al.
(2009-2010)		2010g	SD1, SD (2012-		2013a
Diopoor Drairia L. IA		Chadaabak at al	2013) Ruffolo Ridgo		lohnoon ot ol
(Phase II: 2011-		2012	MN (Phase I		2000
(111ase 11, 2011- 2012)		2012	1999)		2000
Buffalo Ridge, MN	Johnson et al.	Johnson et al.	PrairieWinds		Derby et al.
(Phase II;	2004	2004	SD1, SD (2013-		2014b
2001/Lake Benton			2014)		
I)					
Pioneer Prairie II,		Chodachek et al.	Prairie Rose, MN		Chodachek et al.
IA (2013)		2014	(2014)		2015
Buffalo Ridge, MN	Johnson et al.	Johnson et al.	Wessington		Derby et al.
(Phase III;	2004	2004	Springs, SD		2011a
			(2010)		
''' Crescent Ridge II		Kerlinger et al	Buffalo Ridge I		Derby et al
(2005-2006)		2007	SD (2009-2010)		2010d
Fowler I, II, III, IN		Good et al.	()		
(2012)		2013a			

Figure 8. Fatality rates for bats (number of bats per megawatts per year) from publically available)
wind energy facilities in the Midwest region of North America.	

REFERENCES

- AECOM. 2013. Annual Monitoring Report: July 2012 June 2013. Solano Wind Project Phase 3. Prepared for SMUD - Environmental Management, Sacramento, California. Prepared by AECOM, Sacramento, California. September 2013.
- Agranat, I. 2012. Bat Species Identification from Zero Crossing and Full Spectrum Echolocation Calls Using Hmms, Fisher Scores, Unsupervised Clustering and Balanced Winnow Pairwise Classifiers. Wildlife Acoustics, Inc., Concord, Massachusetts. Available online: <u>http://www.wildlifeacoustics.com/images/documentation/Classification%20of%20Bat%20Echoloc</u> <u>ation%20Calls%20FINAL%2020120913A.pdf</u>
- American Wind Wildlife Institute (AWWI). 2018. AWWI Technical Report: A Summary of Bat Fatality Data in a Nationwide Database. AWWI, Washington, D. C. July 25, 2018.
- Arnett, E. B., K. Brown, W. P. Erickson, J. Fiedler, B. L. Hamilton, T. H. Henry, A. Jain, G. D. Johnson, J. Kerns, R. R. Koford, C. P. Nicholson, T. O'Connell, M. Piorkowski, and R. Tankersley, Jr. 2008. Patterns of Bat Fatalities at Wind Energy Facilities in North America. Journal of Wildlife Management 72(1): 61-78.
- Arnett, E. B., M. R. Schirmacher, M. M. P. Huso, and J. P. Hayes. 2009a. Effectiveness of Changing Wind Turbine Cut-in Speed to Reduce Bat Fatalities at Wind Facilities: 2008 Annual Report. Prepared for the Bats and Wind Energy Cooperative (BWEC) and the Pennsylvania Game Commission. Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. April 2009. Available online: <u>http://www.batsandwind.org/pdf/Curtailment 2008 Final Report.pdf</u>
- Arnett, E. B., M. R. Schirmacher, M. M. P. Huso, and J. P. Hayes. 2009b. Patterns of Bat Fatality at the Casselman Wind Project in South-Central Pennsylvania: 2008 Annual Report. Annual report prepared for the Bats and Wind Energy Cooperative (BWEC) and the Pennsylvania Game Commission. Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. June 2009. Available online: <u>http://www.batsandwind.org/pdf/2008%20Casselman%20Fatality%20Report.pdf</u>
- Arnett, E. B., M. R. Schirmacher, M. M. P. Huso, and J. P. Hayes. 2010. Patterns of Bat Fatality at the Casselman Wind Project in South-Central Pennsylvania. 2009 Annual Report. Annual report prepared for the Bats and Wind Energy Cooperative (BWEC) and the Pennsylvania Game Commission. Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. January 2010.
- Arnett, E. B., M. R. Schirmacher, C. D. Hein, and M. M. P. Huso. 2011. Patterns of Bird and Bat Fatality at the Locust Ridge II Wind Project, Pennsylvania. 2009-2010 Final Report. Prepared for the Bats and Wind Energy Cooperative (BWEC) and the Pennsylvania Game Commission (PGC). Prepared by Bat Conservation International (BCI), Austin, Texas. January 2011.
- Arnett, E. B. and E. F. Baerwald. 2013. Chapter 21. Impacts of Wind Energy Development on Bats: Implications for Conservation. Pp. 435-456. *In*: R. A. Adams and S. C. Pederson, eds. Bat Ecology, Evolution and Conservation. Springer Science Press, New York.
- Atwell, LLC. 2012. Fall 2011 Post-Construction Monitoring Report for Roth Rock Wind Farm, Garrett County Maryland. Project No. 11001315. Prepared for Gestamp Wind North America, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Atwell, LCC. February 29, 2012. Revised August 15, 2012.
- Baerwald, E. F. 2008. Variation in the Activity and Fatality of Migratory Bats at Wind Energy Facilities in Southern Alberta: Causes and Consequences. Thesis. University of Calgary, Calgary, Alberta, Canada.

- Baerwald, E. F., G. H. D'Amours, B. J. Klug, and R. M. R. Barclay. 2008. Barotrauma Is a Significant Cause of Bat Fatalities at Wind Turbines. Current Biology 18(16): R695-R696.
- Baerwald, E. F., J. Edworthy, M. Holder, and R. M. R. Barclay. 2009. A Large-Scale Mitigation Experiment to Reduce Bat Fatalities at Wind Energy Facilities. Journal of Wildlife Management 73(7): 1077-1081.
- Barclay, R. M. R., E. F. Baerwald, and J. Rydell. 2017. Bats. Pp. 191-221. In: M. Perrow, ed. Wildlife and Wind Farms - Conflicts and Solutions, Volume 1. Onshore: Potential Effects. Pelagic Publishing, United Kingdom.
- BHE Environmental, Inc. (BHE). 2008. Investigations of Bat Activity and Bat Species Richness at the Proposed Cedar Ridge Wind Farm in Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin. Interim Report prepared for Wisconsin Power and Light.
- BHE Environmental, Inc. (BHE). 2010. Post-Construction Bird and Bat Mortality Study: Cedar Ridge Wind Farm, Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin. Interim Report prepared for Wisconsin Power and Light, Madison, Wisconsin. Prepared by BHE Environmental, Inc. Cincinnati, Ohio. February 2010.
- BHE Environmental, Inc. (BHE). 2011. Post-Construction Bird and Bat Mortality Study: Cedar Ridge Wind Farm, Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin. Final Report. Prepared for Wisconsin Power and Light, Madison, Wisconsin. Prepared by BHE Environmental, Inc. Cincinnati, Ohio. February 2011. 6000.
- BioResource Consultants, Inc. (BRC). 2012. Avian Mortality Monitoring Report, Pine Tree Wind Farm, Kern County, California. Prepared for the City of Los Angeles Department of Water and Power. Report prepared by BioResource Consultants, Inc., Ojai, California. March 26, 2012.
- Boyles, J. G. and C. K. R. Willis. 2010. Could Localized Warm Areas inside Cold Caves Reduce Mortality of Hibernating Bats Affected by White-Nose Syndrome? Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 8(2): 92-98.
- Brown, W. K. and B. L. Hamilton. 2006. Monitoring of Bird and Bat Collisions with Wind Turbines at the Summerview Wind Power Project, Alberta: 2005-2006. Prepared for Vision Quest Windelectric, Calgary, Alberta by TAEM Ltd., Calgary, Alberta, and BLH Environmental Services, Pincher Creek, Alberta. September 2006. Available online: http://www.batsandwind.org/pdf/Brown2006.pdf
- Brooks, R. T. and W. M. Ford. 2005. Bat Activity in a Forest Landscape of Central Massachusetts. Northeastern Naturalist 12(4): 447-462.
- Brown, W. K. and B. L. Hamilton. 2006. Monitoring of Bird and Bat Collisions with Wind Turbines at the Summerview Wind Power Project, Alberta: 2005-2006. Prepared for Vision Quest Windelectric, Calgary, Alberta by TAEM Ltd., Calgary, Alberta, and BLH Environmental Services, Pincher Creek, Alberta. September 2006. Available online: <u>http://www.batsandwind.org/pdf/Brown2006.pdf</u>
- Chatfield, A., W. Erickson, and K. Bay. 2009. Avian and Bat Fatality Study, Dillon Wind-Energy Facility, Riverside County, California. Final Report: March 26, 2008 - March 26, 2009. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. June 3, 2009.
- Chatfield, A., W. P. Erickson, and K. Bay. 2010. Avian and Bat Fatality Study at the Alite Wind-Energy Facility, Kern County, California. Final Report: June 15, 2009 – June 15, 2010. Prepared for CH2M HILL, Oakland, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming.

- Chatfield, A., M. Sonnenberg, and K. Bay. 2012. Avian and Bat Mortality Monitoring at the Alta-Oak Creek Mojave Project, Kern County, California. Final Report for the First Year of Operation March 22, 2011 – June 15, 2012. Prepared for Alta Windpower Development, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. September 12, 2012.
- Chatfield, A. and D. Russo. 2014. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring for the Pinyon Pines
 I & II Wind Energy Project, Kern County, California. Final Report for the First Year of Operation:
 March 2013 March 2014. Prepared for MidAmerican Renewables, LLC, Des Moines, Iowa, and
 Alta Windpower Development, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems
 Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 28, 2014.
- Chatfield, A. and K. Bay. 2014. Post-Construction Studies for the Mustang Hills and Alta VIII Wind Energy Facilities, Kern County, California. Final Report for the First Year of Operation: July 2012 - October 2013. Prepared for EverPower Wind Holdings, Inc. and Brookfield Renewable Energy Group. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 28, 2014.
- Chatfield, A., D. Riser-Espinoza, and K. Bay. 2014. Bird and Bat Mortality Monitoring at the Alta Wind Energy Center, Phases I - V, Kern County, California. Final Report for the Second Year of Operation: March 4, 2013 - March 6, 2014. Prepared for Alta Windpower Development, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 22, 2014.
- Chatfield, A., K. Levenstein, and G. DiDonato. 2015. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Mortality Monitoring, Alta X, LLC, Kern County, California. Final Report for the First Year of Operation: March 2014 -March 2015. Prepared for Alta Wind X, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 10, 2015.
- Chatfield, A., T. Rintz, and R. Clark. 2018. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring at the Rising Tree and Addison Wind Energy Projects, Kern County, California. Year 2 Final Report: June 2017 – June 2018. Prepared for EDP Renewables North America, LLC (EDPR), Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Corvallis, Oregon. August 20, 2018. 35 pp. + appendices.
- Chodachek, K., C. Derby, M. Sonnenberg, and T. Thorn. 2012. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Pioneer Prairie Wind Farm I LLC Phase II, Mitchell County, Iowa: April 4, 2011 – March 31, 2012.
 Prepared for EDP Renewables, North America LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 27, 2012.
- Chodachek, K., C. Derby, K. Adachi, and T. Thorn. 2014. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Pioneer Prairie II Wind Energy Facility, Mitchell County, Iowa. Final Report: July 1 - October 18, 2013.
 Prepared for EDP Renewables, North America LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. April 2014.
- Chodachek, K., K. Adachi, and G. DiDonato. 2015. Post Construction Fatality Surveys for the Prairie Rose Wind Energy Facility, Rock County, Minnesota. Final Report: April 15 to June 13, 2014, and August 15 to October 29, 2014. Prepared for Enel Green Power, North America, San Diego, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. January 23, 2015. Available online: https://www.edockets.state.mn.us/EEiling/edockets/searchDocuments.do?method=showPoup&do

https://www.edockets.state.mn.us/EFiling/edockets/searchDocuments.do?method=showPoup&do cumentId=%7BF38C2FEC-ED84-4813-AF3E-5A397A954A34%7D&documentTitle=20152-107006-01

- Chodachek, K. and Z. Gustafson. 2018. Tier 4 Post-Construction Mortality Monitoring Study for the Odell Wind Energy Project, Cottonwood and Jackson Counties, Minnesota. Final Fatality Report: December 2016 – December 2017. Prepared for Odell Wind Farm, LLC, Oakville, Ontario, Canada. Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. March 15, 2018.
- Collins, J. and G. Jones. 2009. Differences in Bat Activity in Relation to Bat Detector Height: Implications for Bat Surveys at Proposed Wind Farms. Acta Chiropterologica 11: 343:350.
- Cryan, P. M. 2008. Mating Behavior as a Possible Cause of Bat Fatalities at Wind Turbines. Journal of Wildlife Management 72(3): 845-849. doi: 10.2193/2007-371.
- Cryan, P. M. and R. M. R. Barclay. 2009. Causes of Bat Fatalities at Wind Turbines: Hypotheses and Predictions. Journal of Mammalogy 90(6): 1330-1340.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, W. Erickson, K. Bay, and J. Hoban. 2007. Post-Construction Monitoring Report for Avian and Bat Mortality at the NPPD Ainsworth Wind Farm. Unpublished report prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, for the Nebraska Public Power District.
- Derby, C., J. Ritzert, and K. Bay. 2010a. Bird and Bat Fatality Study, Grand Ridge Wind Resource Area, Lasalle County, Illinois. January 2009 - January 2010. Prepared for Grand Ridge Energy LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. July 13, 2010. Revised January 2011.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, and K. Bay. 2010b. Post-Construction Bat and Bird Fatality Study Crystal Lake II Wind Energy Center, Hancock and Winnebago Counties, Iowa. Final Report: April 2009- October 2009. Prepared for NextEra Energy Resources, Juno Beach, Florida. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. June 2, 2010.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, A. Merrill, and K. Bay. 2010c. 2009 Post-Construction Monitoring Results for the Wessington Springs Wind-Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report. Prepared for Wessington Wind Energy Center, LLC, Juno Beach, Florida. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 19, 2010.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010d. Post-Construction Fatality Survey for the Buffalo Ridge I Wind Project. May 2009 - May 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc., Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010e. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Elm Creek Wind Project: March 2009- February 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010f. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Moraine II Wind Project: March - December 2009. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and A. Merrill. 2010g. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Winnebago Wind Project: March 2009- February 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.

- Derby, C., A. Dahl, K. Bay, and L. McManus. 2011a. 2010 Post-Construction Monitoring Results for the Wessington Springs Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 9 – November 16, 2010. Prepared for Wessington Wind Energy Center, LLC, Juno Beach, Florida. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. November 22, 2011.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and S. Nomani. 2011b. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Barton I and II Wind Project: Iri. March 2010 - February 2011. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. Version: September 28, 2011.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, K. Bay, and S. Nomani. 2011c. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Rugby Wind Project: Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. March 2010 - March 2011. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. Version: October 14, 2011.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, T. Thorn, K. Bay, and S. Nomani. 2011d. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the PrairieWinds ND1 Wind Facility, Basin Electric Power Cooperative, March - November 2010.
 Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 2, 2011.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, and M. Sonnenberg. 2012a. Post-Construction Casualty Surveys for the Buffalo Ridge II Wind Project. Iberdrola Renewables: March 2011- February 2012. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 31, 2012.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, and M. Sonnenberg. 2012b. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Elm Creek II Wind Project. Iberdrola Renewables: March 2011-February 2012. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. October 8, 2012.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, and A. Merrill. 2012c. Post-Construction Monitoring Results for the PrairieWinds SD1 Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 2011 - February 2012. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. September 27, 2012.
- Derby, C., K. Chodachek, T. Thorn, and A. Merrill. 2012d. Post-Construction Surveys for the PrairieWinds ND1 (2011) Wind Facility Basin Electric Power Cooperative: March - October 2011. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. August 31, 2012.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, and D. Fox. 2013a. Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Studies for the PrairieWinds SD1 Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 2012 - February 2013. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. November 13, 2013.
- Derby, C., G. Iskali, S. Howlin, T. Thorn, T. Lyon, and A. Dahl. 2013b. Post-Construction Monitoring Results for the Big Smile Wind Farm, Roger Mills County, Oklahoma. Final Report: March 2012 to February 2013. Prepared for Acciona Wind Energy, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. June 12, 2013.
- Derby, C., G. Iskali, M. Kauffman, T. Thorn, T. Lyon, and A. Dahl. 2013c. Post-Construction Monitoring Results, Red Hills Wind Farm, Roger Mills and Custer Counties, Oklahoma. Final Report: March 2012 to March 2013. Prepared for Acciona Wind Energy, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota. June 12, 2013.

- Derby, C., A. Dahl, and T. Rintz. 2014a. Avian Use Studies for the PrairieWinds SD1 Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 2013 - March 2014. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Derby, C., A. Dahl, and G. DiDonato. 2014b. Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Studies for the PrairieWinds SD1 Wind Energy Facility, South Dakota. Final Report: March 2013 - February 2014. Prepared for Basin Electric Power Cooperative, Bismarck, North Dakota. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bismarck, North Dakota.
- Downes, S. and R. Gritski. 2012a. Harvest Wind Project Wildlife Monitoring Report: January 2010 January 2012. Prepared for Harvest Wind Project, Roosevelt, Washington. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc., Pendleton, Oregon. May 1, 2012.
- Downes, S. and R. Gritski. 2012b. White Creek Wind I Wildlife Monitoring Report: November 2007 -November 2011. Prepared for White Creek Wind I, LLC, Roosevelt, Washington. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc., Pendleton, Oregon. May 1, 2012.
- Enk, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, J. Baker, M. Kesterke, J. R. Boehrs, and A. Palochak. 2010. Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase I Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring Second Annual Report, Sherman County, Oregon. January 26, 2009 - December 11, 2009. Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc.(WEST) Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. April 2010.
- Enk, T., C. Derby, K. Bay, and M. Sonnenberg. 2011a. 2010 Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Report, Elkhorn Valley Wind Farm, Union County, Oregon. January – December 2010. Prepared for EDP Renewables, North America LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Walla Walla, Washington, and Cheyenne, Wyoming. December 8, 2011.
- Enk, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, J. Flaig, J. R. Boehrs, and A. Palochak. 2011b. Year 1 Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring Report: Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase II, Sherman County, Oregon. September 10, 2009 - September 12, 2010. Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. January 7, 2011.
- Enk, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, and J. R. Boehrs. 2012a. Year 1 Avian and Bat Monitoring Report: Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase III, Sherman County, Oregon. September 13, 2010 - September 9, 2011.
 Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. April 24, 2012.
- Enk, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, and J. R. Boehrs. 2012b. Year 2 Avian and Bat Monitoring Report: Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase II, Sherman County, Oregon. September 13, 2010 September 15, 2011. Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. April 23, 2012.
- Enz, T. and K. Bay. 2010. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring Study, Tuolumne Wind Project, Klickitat County, Washington. Final Report: April 20, 2009 - April 7, 2010. Prepared for Turlock Irrigation District, Turlock, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 6, 2010.

- Enz, T. and K. Bay. 2011. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Linden Ranch Wind Farm, Klickitat County, Washington. Final Report: June 30, 2010 - July 17, 2011. Prepared for EnXco. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. November 10, 2011.
- Enz, T., K. Bay, S. Nomani, and M. Kesterke. 2011. Bird and Bat Fatality Monitoring Study, Windy Flats and Windy Point II Wind Energy Projects, Klickitat County, Washington. Final Report: February 1, 2010 January 14, 2011. Prepared for Windy Flats Partners, LLC, Goldendale, Washington. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 19, 2011.
- Enz, T., K. Bay, M. Sonnenberg, and A. Palochak. 2012. Post-Construction Monitoring Studies for the Combine Hills Turbine Ranch, Umatilla County, Oregon. Final Report: January 7 - December 2, 2011. Prepared for Eurus Energy America Corporation, San Diego, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Walla Walla, Washington.
- Erickson, W. P., G. D. Johnson, M. D. Strickland, and K. Kronner. 2000. Avian and Bat Mortality Associated with the Vansycle Wind Project, Umatilla County, Oregon: 1999 Study Year. Prepared for Umatilla County Department of Resource Services and Development, Pendleton, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc., (WEST). February 7, 2000.
- Erickson, W. P., K. Kronner, and R. Gritski. 2003. Nine Canyon Wind Power Project Avian and Bat Monitoring Report: September 2002 - August 2003. Prepared for the Nine Canyon Technical Advisory Committee and Energy Northwest by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. October 2003. Available online: <u>http://www.west-inc.com/reports/nine_canyon_monitoring_final.pdf</u>
- Erickson, W. P., J. Jeffrey, K. Kronner, and K. Bay. 2004. Stateline Wind Project Wildlife Monitoring Annual Report: July 2001 - December 2003. Technical report peer-reviewed by and submitted to FPL Energy, the Oregon Energy Facility Siting Council, and the Stateline Technical Advisory Committee. Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. December 2004. Available online: http://www.west-inc.com/reports/swp final dec04.pdf
- Erickson, W. P., K. Kronner, and K. J. Bay. 2007. Stateline 2 Wind Project Wildlife Monitoring Report, January - December 2006. Technical report submitted to FPL Energy, the Oregon Energy Facility Siting Council, and the Stateline Technical Advisory Committee.
- Erickson, W. P., J. D. Jeffrey, and V. K. Poulton. 2008. Puget Sound Energy Wild Horse Wind Facility Avian and Bat Monitoring: First Annual Report: January–December, 2007. Prepared for Puget Sound Energy, Ellensburg, Washington. Prepared by by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. January 2008.
- ESRI. 2018. World Imagery and Aerial Photos. ArcGIS Resource Center. Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI), producers of ArcGIS software. Redlands, California. Information online: <u>http://www.arcgis.com/home/webmap/viewer.html?useExisting=1</u>
- Fagen Engineering, LLC. 2014. 2013 Avian and Bat Monitoring Annual Report: Big Blue Wind Farm, Blue Earth, Minnesota. Prepared for Big Blue Wind Farm. Prepared by Fagen Engineering, LLC. May 2014.
- Fagen Engineering, LLC. 2015. 2014 Avian and Bat Monitoring Annual Report: Big Blue Wind Farm, Blue Earth, Minnesota. Prepared for Big Blue Wind Farm. Prepared by Fagen Engineering, LLC.
- Fenton, M. B. 1980. Adaptiveness and Ecology of Echolocation in Terrestrial (Aerial) Systems. Pp. 427-446. *In*: R. G. Busnel and J. F. Fish, eds. Animal Sonar Systems. Plenum Press, New York.

- Fiedler, J. K. 2004. Assessment of Bat Mortality and Activity at Buffalo Mountain Windfarm, Eastern Tennessee. Thesis. University of Tennessee, Knoxville, Tennessee.
- Fiedler, J. K., T. H. Henry, R. D. Tankersley, and C. P. Nicholson. 2007. Results of Bat and Bird Mortality Monitoring at the Expanded Buffalo Mountain Windfarm, 2005. Tennessee Valley Authority. June 28, 2007.
- Frick, W. F., E. F. Baerwald, J. F. Pollock, R. M. R. Barclay, J. A. Szymanski, T. J. Weller, A. L. Russell, S. C. Loeb, R. A. Medellin, and L. P. McGuire. 2017. Fatalities at Wind Turbines May Threaten Population Viability of a Migratory Bat. Biological Conservation 209: 172-177. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2017.02.023.
- Gannon, W. L., R. E. Sherwin, and S. Haymond. 2003. On the Importance of Articulating Assumptions When Conducting Acoustic Studies of Habitat Use by Bats. Wildlife Society Bulletin 31: 45-61.
- Good, R. E., W. P. Erickson, A. Merrill, S. Simon, K. Murray, K. Bay, and C. Fritchman. 2011. Bat Monitoring Studies at the Fowler Ridge Wind Energy Facility, Benton County, Indiana: April 13 - October 15, 2010. Prepared for Fowler Ridge Wind Farm. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. January 28, 2011.
- Good, R. E., A. Merrill, S. Simon, K. Murray, and K. Bay. 2012. Bat Monitoring Studies at the Fowler Ridge Wind Farm, Benton County, Indiana: April 1 - October 31, 2011. Prepared for the Fowler Ridge Wind Farm. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. January 31, 2012.
- Good, R. E., M. Sonnenburg, and S. Simon. 2013a. Bat Evaluation Monitoring Studies at the Fowler Ridge Wind Farm, Benton County, Indiana: August 1 - October 15, 2012. Prepared for the Fowler Ridge Wind Farm. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. January 31, 2013.
- Good, R. E., M. L. Ritzert, and K. Adachi. 2013b. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Rail Splitter Wind Farm, Tazwell and Logan Counties, Illinois. Final Report: May 2012 - May 2013. Prepared for EDP Renewables, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. December 16, 2013.
- Good, R. E., J. P. Ritzert, and K. Adachi. 2013c. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Top Crop Wind Farm, Gundy and Lasalle Counties, Illinois. Final Report: May 2012 - May 2013. Prepared for EDP Renewables, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. December 13, 2013.
- Good, R. E., G. Iskali, and K. Adachi. 2015. Bat Evaluation Monitoring Studies at the Fowler Ridge Wind Farm, Benton County, Indiana: August 4 - October 14, 2014. Prepared for Fowler Ridge Wind Farm. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. January 30, 2015. Available online: <u>https://www.fws.gov/midwest/endangered/permits/hcp/FowlerRidge/pdf/MonitoringReportYr2014F</u> <u>owlerRidge013015.pdf</u>
- Good, R. E., G. Iskali, and K. Nasman. 2016. Bat Evaluation Monitoring Studies at the Fowler Ridge Wind Farm, Benton County, Indiana: August 3 October 14, 2015. Prepared for Fowler Ridge Wind Farm.
 Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. January 28, 2016.

https://www.fws.gov/midwest/endangered/permits/hcp/FowlerRidge/pdf/MonitoringReport2015Fo wlerHCP28Jan2015.pdf

- Good, R. E., A. Ciecka, G. Iskali, and K. Nasman. 2017. Bat Monitoring Studies at the Fowler Ridge Wind Farm, Benton County, Indiana: August 3 - October 12, 2016. Draft. Prepared for Fowler Ridge Wind Farm. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Bloomington, Indiana. January 31, 2017. Available online: https://www.fws.gov/midwest/endangered/permits/hcp/FowlerRidge/pdf/MonitoringReportFowler2 016Dated013117.pdf
- Gritski, R., K. Kronner, and S. Downes. 2008. Leaning Juniper Wind Power Project, 2006 2008. Wildlife Monitoring Final Report. Prepared for PacifiCorp Energy, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. December 30, 2008.
- Gritski, R. and K. Kronner. 2010a. Hay Canyon Wind Power Project Wildlife Monitoring Study: May 2009 -May 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Hay Canyon Wind Power Project LLC. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. September 20, 2010.
- Gritski, R. and K. Kronner. 2010b. Pebble Springs Wind Power Project Wildlife Monitoring Study: January 2009 January 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), and the Pebble Springs Advisory Committee. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. April 20, 2010.
- Gritski, R., S. Downes, and K. Kronner. 2010. Klondike III (Phase 1) Wind Power Project Wildlife Monitoring: October 2007-October 2009. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon, for Klondike Wind Power III LLC. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. April 21, 2010 (Updated September 2010).
- Gritski, R., S. Downes, and K. Kronner. 2011. Klondike IIIa (Phase 2) Wind Power Project Wildlife Monitoring: August 2008 - August 2010. Updated Final. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI), Portland, Oregon, for Klondike Wind Power III LLC. Prepared by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. Updated April 2011.
- Grodsky, S. M. and D. Drake. 2011. Assessing Bird and Bat Mortality at the Forward Energy Center. Final Report. Public Service Commission (PSC) of Wisconsin. PSC REF#:152052. Prepared for Forward Energy LLC. Prepared by Department of Forest and Wildlife Ecology, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, Wisconsin. August 2011.
- Grodsky, S. M., M. J. Behr, A. Gendler, D. Drake, B. D. Dieterle, R. J. Rudd, and N. L. Walrath. 2011. Investigating the Causes of Death for Wind Turbine-Associated Bat Fatalities. Journal of Mammalogy 92(5): 917-925.
- Gruver, J. 2002. Assessment of Bat Community Structure and Roosting Habitat Preferences for the Hoary Bat (*Lasiurus Cinereus*) near Foote Creek Rim, Wyoming. Thesis. University of Wyoming, Laramie, Wyoming.
- Gruver, J. 2008. Bat Acoustic Studies for the Blue Sky Green Field Wind Project, Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin. Final Report: July 24 - October 29, 2007. Prepared for We Energies, Milwaukee, Wisconsin. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 26, 2008.
- Gruver, J., M. Sonnenberg, K. Bay, and W. Erickson. 2009. Post-Construction Bat and Bird Fatality Study at the Blue Sky Green Field Wind Energy Center, Fond Du Lac County, Wisconsin July 21 October 31, 2008 and March 15 June 4, 2009. Unpublished report prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. December 17, 2009.

- Hallingstad, E., M. Gerringer, and J. Lombardi. 2016. Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring for the Tucannon River Wind Facility, Columbia County, Washington. Final Report: January – December 2015. Prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. March 18, 2016.
- Hallingstad, E. and D. Riser-Espinoza. 2017. Post-Construction Studies for the Chopin Wind Energy Facility, Umatilla County, Oregon. Final Report: October 2016 – October 2017. Prepared for Chopin Wind, LLC, Carlsbad, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. December 6, 2017. 41 pp. + appendices.
- Harvey & Associates. 2013. Montezuma II Wind Energy Center: Post Construction Monitoring Report, Year1. Prepared by NextEra Montezuma II Wind, LLC, Juno Beach, Florida. Prepared by H.T. Harvey
 & Associates, Los Gatos, California. September 3, 2013.
- Heffernan, L. 2016. Map of White-Nose Syndrome (WNS) Occurrence by County/District. PennsylvaniaGameCommission.August2,2016.Availableonline:https://www.whitenosesyndrome.org/mmedia-education/august-2-2016
- Hein, C. D., A. Prichard, T. Mabee, and M. R. Schirmacher. 2013. Avian and Bat Post-Construction Monitoring at the Pinnacle Wind Farm, Mineral County, West Virginia, 2012. Final Report. Bat Conservation International, Austin, Texas, and ABR, Inc., Forest Grove, Oregon. April 2013.
- Howe, R. W., W. Evans, and A. T. Wolf. 2002. Effects of Wind Turbines on Birds and Bats in Northeastern Wisconsin. Prepared by University of Wisconsin-Green Bay, for Wisconsin Public Service Corporation and Madison Gas and Electric Company, Madison, Wisconsin. November 21, 2002. 104 pp.
- ICF International. 2012. Montezuma Wind LLC (Montezuma I) 2011 Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring Report. Prepared for NextEra Energy Resources. Prepared by ICF International, Sacramento, California. May 17, 2012.
- ICF International. 2013. Montezuma Wind LLC (Montezuma I) 2012 Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring Report. Prepared for NextEra Energy Resources. Prepared by ICF International, Sacramento, California. May 2013.
- International Union for Conservation of Nature (IUCN). 2017. IUCN Red List of Threatened Species: Bat Species. Version 2017-3. Accessed April 2018. Information online: www.iucnredlist.org
- Jacques Whitford Stantec Limited (Jacques Whitford). 2009. Ripley Wind Power Project Postconstruction Monitoring Report. Project No. 1037529.01. Report to Suncor Energy Products Inc., Calgary, Alberta, and Acciona Energy Products Inc., Calgary, Alberta. Prepared for the Ripley Wind Power Project Post-Construction Monitoring Program. Prepared by Jacques Whitford, Markham, Ontario. April 30, 2009.
- Jain, A. 2005. Bird and Bat Behavior and Mortality at a Northern Iowa Windfarm. Thesis. Iowa State University, Ames, Iowa.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, and L. Slobodnik. 2007. Annual Report for the Maple Ridge Wind Power Project: Post-Construction Bird and Bat Fatality Study – 2006. Final Report. Prepared for PPM Energy and Horizon Energy and Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) for the Maple Ridge Project Study.

- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, and L. Slobodnik. 2009a. Annual Report for the Maple Ridge Wind Power Project: Post-Construction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2007. Final report prepared for PPM Energy and Horizon Energy and Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) for the Maple Ridge Project Study. May 6, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, L. Slobodnik, and M. Lehman. 2009b. Maple Ridge Wind Power Avian and Bat Fatality Study Report - 2008. Annual Report for the Maple Ridge Wind Power Project, Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2008. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc, Horizon Energy, and the Technical Advisory Committee (TAC) for the Maple Ridge Project Study. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC. May 14, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, L. Slobodnik, J. Quant, and D. Pursell. 2009c. Annual Report for the Noble Bliss Windpark, LLC, Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2008. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC. April 13, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, L. Slobodnik, J. Histed, and J. Meacham. 2009d. Annual Report for the Noble Clinton Windpark, LLC, Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2008. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC. April 13, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, R. Curry, L. Slobodnik, A. Fuerst, and C. Hansen. 2009e. Annual Report for the Noble Ellenburg Windpark, LLC, Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2008. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC. April 13, 2009.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and K. Russell. 2010a. Annual Report for the Noble Clinton Windpark, LLC: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2009. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. March 9, 2010.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and K. Russell. 2010b. Annual Report for the Noble Ellenburg Windpark, LLC: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2009. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. March 14, 2010.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, A. Fuerst, and A. Harte. 2010c. Annual Report for the Noble Bliss Windpark, LLC: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2009. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. March 9, 2010.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and K. Russell. 2011a. Annual Report for the Noble Altona Windpark, LLC: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2010. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. January 22, 2011.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and K. Russell. 2011b. Annual Report for the Noble Chateaugay Windpark, LLC: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2010. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. January 22, 2011.
- Jain, A., P. Kerlinger, L. Slobodnik, R. Curry, and A. Harte. 2011c. Annual Report for the Noble Wethersfield Windpark, LLC: Postconstruction Bird and Bat Fatality Study - 2010. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, Cape May, New Jersey. January 22, 2011.

- Jeffrey, J. D., W. P. Erickson, K. Bay, M. Sonneberg, J. Baker, J. R. Boehrs, and A. Palochak. 2009a. Horizon Wind Energy, Elkhorn Valley Wind Project, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring, First Annual Report, January-December 2008. Technical report prepared for Telocaset Wind Power Partners, a subsidiary of Horizon Wind Energy, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. May 4, 2009.
- Jeffrey, J. D., K. Bay, W. P. Erickson, M. Sonneberg, J. Baker, M. Kesterke, J. R. Boehrs, and A. Palochak.
 2009b. Portland General Electric Biglow Canyon Wind Farm Phase I Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring First Annual Report, Sherman County, Oregon. January 2008 - December 2008.
 Technical report prepared for Portland General Electric Company, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST) Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. April 29, 2009.
- Johnson, G., W. Erickson, and J. White. 2003. Avian and Bat Mortality During the First Year of Operation at the Klondike Phase I Wind Project, Sherman County, Oregon. Technical report prepared for Northwestern Wind Power, Goldendale, Washington, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. March 2003.
- Johnson, G. D., W. P. Erickson, M. D. Strickland, M. F. Shepherd, and D. A. Shepherd. 2000. Final Report: Avian Monitoring Studies at the Buffalo Ridge Wind Resource Area, Minnesota: Results of a 4-Year Study. Final report prepared for Northern States Power Company, Minneapolis, Minnesota, by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. September 22, 2000. 212 pp.
- Johnson, G. D., M. K. Perlik, W. P. Erickson, and M. D. Strickland. 2004. Bat Activity, Composition and Collision Mortality at a Large Wind Plant in Minnesota. Wildlife Society Bulletin 32(4): 1278-1288.
- Johnson, G. D., M. Ritzert, S. Nomani, and K. Bay. 2010a. Bird and Bat Fatality Studies, Fowler Ridge I Wind-Energy Facility Benton County, Indiana. Unpublished report prepared for British Petroleum Wind Energy North America Inc. (BPWENA) by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST).
- Johnson, G. D., M. Ritzert, S. Nomani, and K. Bay. 2010b. Bird and Bat Fatality Studies, Fowler Ridge III Wind-Energy Facility, Benton County, Indiana. April 2 - June 10, 2009. Prepared for BP Wind Energy North America. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming.
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, L. Culp, A. Jain, C. Wilkerson, B. Fischer, and A. Hasch. 2006. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring Study for the High Winds Wind Power Project, Solano County, California: Two Year Report. Prepared for High Winds LLC, FPL Energy. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, MacLean, Virginia. April 2006. Available online: http://www.co.solano.ca.us/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?blobid=8915
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, A. Hasch, and J. Guarnaccia. 2007. Migratory Bird and Bat Monitoring Study at the Crescent Ridge Wind Power Project, Bureau County, Illinois: September 2005 - August 2006. Final draft prepared for Orrick Herrington and Sutcliffe, LLP. May 2007.
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, L. Culp, A. Hasch, and A. Jain. 2009. Revised Post-Construction Avian Monitoring Study for the Shiloh I Wind Power Project, Solano County, California. Final Report: October 2009. Third Year Report (Revised 2010). Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. (IRI). Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC., McLean, Virginia. Available online: <u>https://www.solanocounty.com/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?blobid=8914</u>

- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, L. Culp, A. Hasch, and A. Jain. 2010. Post-Construction Avian Monitoring Study for the Shiloh II Wind Power Project, Solano County, California. Year One Report. Prepared for enXco Development Inc. Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, McLean, Virginia. September 2010. Available online: <u>https://www.solanocounty.com/civicax/filebank/blobdload.aspx?blobid=12118</u>
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, A. Hasch, J. Guarnaccia, and D. Riser-Espinoza. 2013a. Post-Construction Bird and Bat Studies at the Shiloh II Wind Project, LLC, Solano County, California. Final Report. Prepared for EDF Renewable Energy (formerly known as enXco). Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, McLean, Virginia. December 2012 (Revised June 2013).
- Kerlinger, P., R. Curry, A. Hasch, J. Guarnaccia, and D. Riser-Espinoza. 2013b. Post-Construction Bird and Bat Studies at the Shiloh III Wind Project, LLC, Solano County, California. Report on Year 1 Results. Prepared for EDF Renewable Energy (formerly known as enXco). Prepared by Curry and Kerlinger, LLC, McLean, Virginia. August 2013.
- Kerns, J. and P. Kerlinger. 2004. A Study of Bird and Bat Collision Fatalities at the Mountaineer Wind Energy Center, Tucker County, West Virginia: Annual Report for 2003. Prepared for FPL Energy and the Mountaineer Wind Energy Center Technical Review Committee. February 14, 2004. 39 pp.
- Kronner, K., B. Gritski, and S. Downes. 2008. Big Horn Wind Power Project Wildlife Fatality Monitoring Study: 2006–2007. Final report prepared for PPM Energy and the Big Horn Wind Project Technical Advisory Committee by Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Mid-Columbia Field Office, Goldendale, Washington. June 1, 2008.
- Kunz, T. H., ed. 2007. Methods and Metrics for Studying Impacts of Wind Energy Development on Nocturnal Species (Birds and Bats). National Wind Coordinating Collaborative (Nwcc).
- Larson, D. J. and J. P. Hayes. 2000. Variability in Sensitivity of Anabat II Detectors and a Method of Calibration. Acta Chiropterologica 2(2): 209-213.
- Levenstein, K. and K. Bay. 2013a. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Mortality Study at the Lower West Wind Energy Project, Kern County, California. Final Report for the First Year of Operation: May 2012 -May 2013. Prepared for Brookfield Renewable Energy Partners, LP. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. October 31, 2013.
- Levenstein, K. and K. Bay. 2013b. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Mortality Study at the Windstar Wind Energy Project, Kern County, California. Final Mortality Report: May 2012 - May 2013. Prepared for Brookfield Renewable Energy Partners, LP. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. October 29, 2013.
- Levenstein, K. and G. DiDonato. 2015. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Mortality Study at the Lower West Wind Energy Project, Kern County, California. Final Report for the Third Year of Operation: July 2014 - July 2015. Prepared for Brookfield Renewable Energy Partners, LP. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. October 31, 2013.
- Lukins, W., M. Lout, and K. Bay. 2014. 2013 Post-Construction Monitoring Studies for the Howard Wind Project, Steuben County, New York. Final Report: May 15 - November 15, 2013. Prepared for Howard Wind, LLC, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Northeast/Mid-Atlantic Branch, Burlington, Vermont. February 13, 2014.
- Minnesota Public Utilities Commission (MPUC). 2012. Lakefield Wind Project Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring. MPUC Site Permit Quarterly Report and USFWS Special Purpose – Utility (Avian Take Monitoring) 30-Day Report: April 1 – September 30, 2012. USFWS Permit No: MB70161A-0; MDNR Permit No: 17930; MPUC Permit No: IP-6829/WS-09-1239, Permit Special Condition VII.B. October 15, 2012.

- Minnis, A. M. and D. L. Lindner. 2013. Phylogenetic Evaluation of *Geomyces* and Allies Reveals No Close Relatives of *Pseudogymnoascus Destructans*, Comb. Nov., in Bat Hibernacula of Eastern North America. Fungal Biology 117: 638-649.
- Müeller, J., R. Brandl, J. Buchner, H. Pretzsch, S. Seifert, C. Strätz, M. Veith, and B. Fenton. 2013. From Ground to above Canopy - Bat Activity in Mature Forests Is Driven by Vegetation Density and Height. Forest Ecology and Management 306: 179-184.
- Natural Resource Solutions Inc. (NRSI). 2011. Harrow Wind Farm 2010 Post-Construction Monitoring Report. Project No. 0953. Prepared for International Power Canada, Inc., Markham, Ontario. Prepared by NRSI, Waterloo, Ontario. August 2011.
- Nicholson, C. P., R. D. Tankersley, Jr., J. K. Fiedler, and N. S. Nicholas. 2005. Assessment and Prediction of Bird and Bat Mortality at Wind Energy Facilities in the Southeastern United States. Final Report. Tennessee Valley Authority, Knoxville, Tennessee.
- Normandeau Associates, Inc. 2010. Stetson Mountain II Wind Project Year 1 Post-Construction Avian and Bat Mortality Monitoring Study, T8 R4 Nbpp, Maine. Prepared for First Wind, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Normandeau Associates, Inc., Falmouth, Maine. December 2, 2010.
- Normandeau Associates, Inc. 2011. Year 3 Post- Construction Avian and Bat Casualty Monitoring at the Stetson I Wind Farm, T8 R4 Nbpp, Maine. Prepared for First Wind Energy, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Normandeau Associates, Inc., Falmouth, Maine. December 2011.
- North American Datum (NAD). 1983. Nad83 Geodetic Datum.
- Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC) and Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2007. Avian and Bat Monitoring Report for the Klondike II Wind Power Project. Sherman County, Oregon. Prepared for PPM Energy, Portland, Oregon. Managed and conducted by NWC, Pendleton, Oregon. Analysis conducted by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 17, 2007.
- Poulton, V. and W. P. Erickson. 2010. Post-Construction Bat and Bird Fatality Study, Judith Gap Wind Farm, Wheatland County, Montana. Final Report: Results from June-October 2009 Study and Comparison with 2006-2007 Study. Prepared for Judith Gap Energy, LLC. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. March 2010.
- Reeder, D. M., C. L. Frank, G. G. Turner, A. Kurta, E. R. Britzke, S. R. Darling, C. W. Stihler, A. C. Hicks, C. U. Meteyer, R. Jacob, L. A. Grieneisen, S. A. Brownlee, M. E. Vodzak, L. K. Muller, and D. S. Blehert. 2012. Frequent Arousal from Hibernation Linked to Severity of Infection and Mortality in Bats with White-Nose Syndrome. PLoS ONE 7(6): e38920. doi: 38910.31371/journal.pone.0038920.
- Reynolds, D. S. 2010a. Post-Construction Acoustic Monitoring, 2009 Sampling Period: Noble Clinton Windpark, Clinton County, New York. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC, Essex, Connecticut. Prepared by North East Ecological Services, Bow, New Hampshire. April 6, 2010.
- Reynolds, D. S. 2010b. Post-Construction Acoustic Monitoring, 2009 Sampling Period: Noble Ellenburg Windpark, Clinton County, New York. Prepared for Noble Environmental Power, LLC, Essex, Connecticut. Prepared by North East Ecological Services, Bow, New Hampshire. April 6, 2010.
- Rintz, T. and K. Bay. 2012. Year 1 Post-Construction Monitoring for the Top of the World Windpower Project, Converse County, Wyoming. Final Report: November 2010 - November 2011. Prepared for Top of the World Windpower, LLC/Duke Energy Generation Services, Glenrock, Wyoming. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. March 12, 2012.

- Rintz, T. and K. Bay. 2013. Year 2 Post-Construction Monitoring for the Top of the World Windpower Project, Converse County, Wyoming. Final Report: November 2011 - November 2012. Prepared for Top of the World Windpower LLC/Duke Energy Generation Services, Glenrock, Wyoming. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Laramie, Wyoming. February 25, 2013.
- Rintz, T. and K. Bay. 2014. Year 3 Post-Construction Monitoring for the Top of the World Windpower Project, Converse County, Wyoming. Final Report: December 2012 - November 2013. Prepared for Top of the World Windpower, LLC/Duke Energy Generation Services, Glenrock, Wyoming. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Laramie, Wyoming. April 10, 2014.
- Rintz, T. and L. A. Starcevich. 2016. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring for the Pinyon Pines I & II Wind Energy Project, Kern County, California. Final Report for the Third Year of Operation: March 2015 - March 2016. Prepared for Berkshire Hathaway Energy Renewables, LLC, Des Moines, Iowa, and Alta Windpower Development, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Corvallis, Oregon. October 17, 2016.
- Rintz, T. and J. Thompson. 2017. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Mortality Monitoring at the Cameron Ridge-Section 15 Wind Farm, Coram California Development, Lp, Kern County, California. Mortality Analysis, Fourth Year of Operation: August 2015 - August 2016. Prepared for Renewable Energy Trust, San Francisco, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Corvallis, Oregon. January 12, 2017.
- Roemer, C., T. Disca, A. Coulon, and Y. Bas. 2017. Bat Flight Height Monitored from Wind Masts Predicts Mortality Risk at Wind Farms. Biological Conservation 215: 116-122.
- Rollins, K. E., D. K. Meyerholz, G. D. Johnson, A. P. Capparella, and S. S. Loew. 2012. A Forensic Investigation into the Etiology of Bat Mortality at a Wind Farm: Barotrauma or Traumatic Injury? Veterinary Pathology 49(2): 362-371.
- Solick, D., A. Krause, A. Chatfield, and W. P. Erickson. 2010. Bat Acoustic Studies for the Alta East Wind Resource Area, Kern County, California. Final Report: July 7, 2009 – July 9, 2010. Prepared for CH2M HILL, Oakland, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. October 15, 2010.
- South Dakota Game, Fish and Parks (SDGFP). 2018. Threatened and Endangered Species. Wildlife Diversity Program. Available Online: https://gfp.sd.gov/threatened-endangered/
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2008a. 2007 Spring, Summer, and Fall Post-Construction Bird and Bat Mortality Study at the Mars Hill Wind Farm, Maine. Prepared for UPC Wind Management, LLC, Cumberland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec (formerly Woodlot Alternatives, Inc.), Topsham, Maine. January 2008.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2008b. Fall 2007 Migration Survey Report: Visual, Acoustic, and Radar Surveys of Bird and Bat Migration Conducted at the Proposed Record Hill Wind Project in Roxbury, Maine. Prepared for Independence Wind, LLC, Cumberland Foreside, Maine. Prepared by Stantec (formerly Woodlot Alternatives, Inc.), Topsham, Maine. October 2008.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2009a. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Mars Hill Wind Farm, Maine - Year 2, 2008. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec Consulting, Topsham, Maine. January 2009.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2009b. Post-Construction Monitoring at the Munnsville Wind Farm, New York: 2008. Prepared for E.ON Climate and Renewables, Austin, Texas. Prepared by Stantec Consulting, Topsham, Maine. January 2009.

- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2009c. Stetson I Mountain Wind Project: Year 1 Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2009 for the Stetson Mountain Wind Project in Penobscot and Washington Counties, Maine. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC. Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. December 2009.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2010. Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms Year 1 Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2009, for the Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms in Cohocton, New York. Prepared for Canandaigua Power Partners, LLC and Canandaigua Power Partners II, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. January 2010.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2011a. Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms Year 2 Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2010, for the Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms in Cohocton, New York.
 Prepared for Canandaigua Power Partners, LLC, and Canandaigua Power Partners II, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. October 2011.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2011b. Post-Construction Monitoring 2010 Final Annual Report Year 1, Milford Wind Corridor Phase I, Milford, Utah. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. August 2011.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2012a. 2011 Post-Construction Monitoring Report, Kibby Wind Power Project, Franklin County, Maine. Prepared for TransCanada Hydro Northeast, Inc., North Walpole, New Hampshire. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 2012.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2012b. Post-Construction Monitoring 2011 2012, Milford Wind Corridor Phase I and II, Milford, Utah. Prepared for First Wind Management, LLC, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. May 2012.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013a. Palouse Wind Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, 2012-2013. Prepared for Palouse Wind, Whitman County, Washington. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. December 2013.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013b. Record Hill Wind Project Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2012. Prepared for Record Hill Wind LLC, Lyme, New Hampshire. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 2013.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013c. Rollins Wind Project Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2012. Prepared for First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 2013.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2013d. Stetson II Wind Project Post-Construction Monitoring Report, 2012. Prepared for First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 2013.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2014a. Bull Hill Wind Project Year 1 Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, 2013. Bull Hill Wind Project, Hancock County, Maine. Prepared for Blue Sky East, LLC, and First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. February 2014.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2014b. Cohocton and Dutch Hill Wind Farms 2013 Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report. Cohocton and Dutch Hill, Steuben County, New York. Prepared for First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. May 2014. 41 pages + frontmatter and appendices.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2014c. Steel Winds I & II Year 2 Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, 2013. Steel Winds I & II, Erie County, New York. Prepared for First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. May 2014. 39 pp. + frontmatter and appendices.

- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2014d. Stetson I Wind Project 2013 Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, Year 5. Stetson I Wind Project, Washington County, Maine. Prepared for First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. February 2014.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec) and Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2014. 2013 Post Construction Avian and Bat Survey Report, Groton Wind Plant, Grafton County, New Hampshire. Prepared for Groton Wind, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine, and WEST, Bismarck, North Dakota. April 2014.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2015a. Record Hill Wind Project Year 2 Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, 2014. Prepared for Record Hill Wind LLC and Wagner Forest Management, Ltd., Lyme, New Hampshire. Prepared by Stantec Consulting, Topsham, Maine. March 2015.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2015b. Rollins Wind Project Year 2 Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, 2014. Rollins Wind Project, Penobscot County, Maine. Prepared for Evergreen Wind Power III, LLC, Portland, Maine, and First Wind, Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 2015.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec). 2015c. Stetson II Wind Project Year 3 Post-Construction Wildlife Monitoring Report, 2014. Stetson II Wind Project, Penobscot County, Maine. Prepared for SunEdison (formerly First Wind), Portland, Maine. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. June 2015.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec) and Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2015a. 2014 Post Construction Avian and Bat Survey Report, Groton Wind Plant, Grafton County, New Hampshire. Prepared for Groton Wind, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine, and WEST, Burlington, Vermont. January 2015.
- Stantec Consulting, Inc. (Stantec) and Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2015b. 2015 Post Construction Avian and Bat Survey Report, Groton Wind Plant, Grafton County, New Hampshire. Prepared for Groton Wind, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine, and WEST, Burlington, Vermont. December 2015.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. (Stantec Ltd.). 2010. Wolfe Island Ecopower Centre Post-Construction Followup Plan. Bird and Bat Resources Monitoring Report No. 2: July - December 2009. File No. 160960494. Prepared for TransAlta Corporation's wholly owned subsidiary, Canadian Renewable Energy Corporation. Prepared by Stantec Ltd., Guelph, Ontario. May 2010.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. (Stantec Ltd.). 2011. Wolfe Island Wind Plant Post-Construction Followup Plan.
 Bird and Bat Resources Monitoring Report No. 4: July December 2010. File No. 160960494.
 Prepared for TransAlta Corporation's wholly owned subsidiary, Canadian Renewable Energy Corporation. Prepared by Stantec Consulting Ltd., Guelph, Ontario. July 2011.
- Stantec Consulting Ltd. (Stantec Ltd.). 2012. Wolfe Island Wind Plant Post-Construction Follow-up Plan.
 Bird and Bat Resources Monitoring Report No. 6: July-December 2011. File No. 160960494.
 Prepared for TransAlta Corporation's wholly owned subsidiary, Canadian Renewable Energy Corporation. Prepared by Stantec Consulting Ltd., Guelph, Ontario. July 2012.
- Stantec Consulting Services, Inc. (Stantec Consulting). 2012. Post-Construction Monitoring, Summer 2011
 Spring 2012. Year 1 Annual Report. Kittitas Valley Wind Power Project, Cle Elum, Washington.
 Prepared for Sagebrush Power Partners, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Stantec Consulting, Salt Lake City, Utah.

- Stantec Consulting Services Inc. (Stantec). 2017. Final Post-Construction Monitoring Report, Year 3, Record Hill Wind Project. Prepared for Record Hill Wind LLC, Lyme, New Hampshire. Prepared by Stantec, Topsham, Maine. March 16, 2017.
- Tetra Tech. 2013. Hatchet Ridge Wind Farm Post-Construction Mortality Monitoring: Year Two Annual Report. Prepared for Hatchet Ridge Wind, LLC. Prepared by Tetra Tech, Portland, Oregon. March 2013. Available online: <u>http://wintuaudubon.org/Documents/HatchetRidgeYear2FinalReport3-13.pdf</u>
- Tetra Tech. 2014. Hatchet Ridge Wind Farm Post-Construction Mortality Monitoring: Comprehensive Three Year Report. Prepared by Tetra Tech, Portland, Oregon.
- Tetra Tech. 2017a. 2016-2017 Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Annual Report: Waverly Wind Farm, Coffey County, Kansas. Prepared for Waverly Wind Farm, LLC. Prepared by Portland, Oregon. October 2017.
- Tetra Tech. 2017b. 2016 2017 Post-Construction Mortality Monitoring Annual Report, Pleasant Valley Wind Farm, Mower and Dodge Counties, Minnesota. Prepared for Northern States Power Company-Minnesota, Xcel Energy. Prepared by Tetra Tech, Bloomington, Minnesota. June 2017. Available online: <u>https://mn.gov/commerce/energyfacilities/Docket.html?ld=25724</u>
- Tetra Tech, Inc. (Tetra Tech). 2015. Post-Construction Monitoring Report 2014: Spruce Mountain Wind Project, Woodstock, Maine. Final. Prepared for Patriot Renewables and Spruce Mountain Wind. Prepared by Tetra Tech, Portland, Maine. February 2015.
- Thompson, J., D. Solick, and K. Bay. 2011. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Dry Lake Phase I Wind Project. Iberdrola Renewables: September 2009 - November 2010. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 10, 2011.
- Thompson, J. and K. Bay. 2012. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Dry Lake II Wind Project: February 2011 – February 2012. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, LLC, Portland, Oregon. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. June 6, 2012.
- Thompson, J., J. Lombardi, and C. Boyd. 2016a. Bird and Bat Mortality Monitoring at the Alta Wind Energy Center, Phases I - V, Kern County, California. Final Report for the Third Year of Monitoring: March 10, 2015 - March 4, 2016. Prepared for Alta Windpower Development, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. June 9, 2016.
- Thompson, J., C. Boyd, and J. Lombardi. 2016b. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Mortality Monitoring at the Alta X Wind Energy Project, Kern County, California. Final Report for the Second Year of Operation: April 2015 - April 2016. Prepared for Alta Wind X, LLC, Mojave, California. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. July 22, 2016.
- Thompson, M., J. A. Beston, M. Etterson, J. E. Diffendorfer, and S. R. Loss. 2017. Factors Associated with Bat Mortality at Wind Energy Facilities in the United States. Biological Conservation 215: 241-245. doi: 10.1016/j.biocon.2017.09.014.
- Tidhar, D., W. Tidhar, and M. Sonnenberg. 2010. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for Lempster Wind Project, Iberdrola Renewables. Prepared for Lempster Wind, LLC, Lempster Wind Technical Advisory Committee, and Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Waterbury, Vermont. September 30, 2010.

- Tidhar, D., W. L. Tidhar, L. McManus, and Z. Courage. 2011. 2010 Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Lempster Wind Project, Lempster, New Hampshire. Prepared for Iberdrola Renewables, Inc. and the Lempster Wind Technical Committee. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc., Waterbury, Vermont. May 18, 2011.
- Tidhar, D., L. McManus, Z. Courage, and W. L. Tidhar. 2012a. 2010 Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Study and Bat Acoustic Study for the High Sheldon Wind Farm, Wyoming County, New York. Final Report: April 15 - November 15, 2010. Prepared for High Sheldon Wind Farm, Sheldon Energy LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Waterbury, Vermont. April 15, 2012.
- Tidhar, D., L. McManus, D. Solick, Z. Courage, and K. Bay. 2012b. 2011 Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Study and Bat Acoustic Study for the High Sheldon Wind Farm, Wyoming County, New York. Final Report: April 15 - November 15, 2011. Prepared for High Sheldon Wind Farm, Sheldon Energy LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Waterbury, Vermont. April 25, 2012.
- Tidhar, D., M. Sonnenberg, and D. P. Young, Jr. 2013a. 2012 Post-Construction Carcass Monitoring Study for the Beech Ridge Wind Farm, Greenbrier County, West Virginia. Final Report: April 1 - October 28, 2012. Prepared for Beech Ridge Wind Farm, Beech Ridge Energy, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), NE/Mid-Atlantic Branch, Waterbury, Vermont. January 18, 2013.
- Tidhar, D., J. Ritzert, M. Sonnenberg, M. Lout, and K. Bay. 2013b. 2012 Post-Construction Fatality Monitoring Study for the Maple Ridge Wind Farm, Lewis County, New York. Final Report: July 12 - October 15, 2012. Prepared for EDP Renewables North, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), NE/Mid-Atlantic Branch, Waterbury, Vermont. February 12, 2013.
- Tidhar, D., M. Sonnenberg, J. Griswold, E. Baumgartner, and K. Bay. 2013c. 2012 Post-Construction Monitoring Studies for the Howard Wind Project, Steuben County, New York. Final Report: April 13
 November 16, 2012. Prepared for Howard Wind, LLC, Pittsburgh, Pennsylvania. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Northeast/Mid-Atlantic Branch, Waterbury, Vermont. February 15, 2013.
- Tierney, R. 2007. Buffalo Gap I Wind Farm Avian Mortality Study: February 2006-January 2007. Final Survey Report. Prepared for AES SeaWest, Inc. TRC, Albuquerque, New Mexico. TRC Report No. 110766-C-01. May 2007.
- Tierney, R. 2009. Buffalo Gap 2 Wind Farm Avian Mortality Study: July 2007 December 2008. Final Survey Report. Submitted by TRC, Albuquerque, New Mexico. TRC Report No. 151143-B-01. June 2009.
- TRC. 2017a. Bingham Wind Project: Post-Construction Bird and Bat Fatality Monitoring Report, Year 1 (2017). Prepared for Novatus Energy, LLC, New York, New York. Prepared by TRC, Scarborough, Maine. December 2017.
- TRC. 2017b. Hancock Wind Project: Post-Construction Bird and Bat Fatality Monitoring Report, Year 1 (2017). Prepared for Novatus Energy, LLC, New York, New York. Prepared by TRC, Scarborough, Maine. December 2017.
- TRC. 2018. Oakfield Wind Project: Post-Construction Bird and Bat Fatality Monitoring Report, Year 2 (2017). Prepared for Novatus Energy, LLC, New York, New York. Prepared by TRC, Scarborough, Maine. January 2018.

- TRC Environmental Corporation. 2008. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring and Grassland Bird Displacement Surveys at the Judith Gap Wind Energy Project, Wheatland County, Montana. Prepared for Judith Gap Energy, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. TRC Environmental Corporation, Laramie, Wyoming. TRC Project 51883-01 (112416). January 2008.
- URS Corporation. 2010a. Final Goodnoe Hills Wind Project Avian Mortality Monitoring Report. Prepared for PacifiCorp, Salt Lake City, Utah. Prepared by URS Corporation, Seattle, Washington. March 16, 2010.
- URS Corporation. 2010b. Final Marengo I Wind Project Year One Avian Mortality Monitoring Report. Prepared for PacifiCorp, Salt Lake City, Utah. Prepared by URS Corporation, Seattle, Washington. March 22, 2010.
- URS Corporation. 2010c. Final Marengo II Wind Project Year One Avian Mortality Monitoring Report. Prepared for PacifiCorp, Salt Lake City, Utah. Prepared by URS Corporation, Seattle, Washington. March 22, 2010.
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2007. USFWS Ecological Services. Endangered Species in Iowa: County Distribution of Federally Threatened, Endangered, Proposed and Candidate Species.
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2012a. Land-Based Wind Energy Guidelines. March 23, 2012. 82 pp. Available online: <u>http://www.fws.gov/cno/pdf/Energy/2012 Wind Energy Guidelines final.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2012b. White-Nose Syndrome: A Devastating Disease of North American Bats. Updated March 20, 2012. Information online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/WhiteNoseSyndrome/</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2015. Endangered Species Program. USFWS South Dakota Field Office Mountain-Prairie Region. Updated September 1, 2015. Available online at: <u>http://www.fws.gov/southdakotafieldoffice/endangered_species_newVersionP2.htm</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2017. Northern Long-Eared Bat Range Map. USFWS Endangered Species, Midwest Region. Midwest Ecological Services, Bloomington, Minnesota. Map created May 1, 2017. Page last updated May 2, 2017. Available online: https://www.fws.gov/midwest/endangered/mammals/nleb/nlebRangemap.html
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) National Wetlands Inventory (NWI). 2017. Seamless Wetlands Data by State. Geodatabase and Shapefile data. National Wetlands Inventory website, Washington, D. C. Last updated October 2017. Information online: <u>http://www.fws.gov/wetlands/data/State-Downloads.html</u>
- US Geological Survey (USGS). 2010. White-Nose Syndrome Threatens the Survival of Hibernating Bats in North America. USGS Fort Collins Science Center.
- Ventus Environmental Solutions (Ventus). 2012. Vantage Wind Energy Center Avian and Bat Monitoring Study: March 2011- March 2012. Prepared for Vantage Wind Energy, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Ventus, Portland, Oregon. May 16, 2012.
- Warnecke, L., J. M. Turner, T. K. Bollinger, J. M. Lorch, V. Misra, P. M. Cryan, G. Wibbelt, D. S. Blehert, and C. K. R. Willis. 2012. Inoculation of Bats with European *Geomyces Destructans* Supports the Novel Pathogen Hypothesis for the Origin of White-Nose Syndrome. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109(18): 6999-7003.
- Watt, M. A. and D. Drake. 2011. Assessing Bat Use at the Forward Energy Center. Final Report. PSC REF#:152051. Public Service Commission of Wisconsin. Prepared for Forward Energy LLC. Prepared by Department of Forest and Wildlife Ecology, University of Wisconsin-Madison, Madison, Wisconsin. August 2011.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2006. Diablo Winds Wildlife Monitoring Progress Report, March 2005 - February 2006. Technical report submitted to FPL Energy and Alameda County California. WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2008. Diablo Winds Wildlife Monitoring Progress Report: March 2005 – February 2007. Prepared by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 2008.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2011. Post-Construction Fatality Surveys for the Barton Chapel Wind Project: Iberdrola Renewables. Version: July 2011. Iberdrola Renewables, Portland, Oregon.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2014. Second Annual Report of Post-Construction Wildlife Studies at the Spring Valley Wind Energy Facility, White Pine County, Nevada. August 1, 2012 – October 5, 2013. Final Report. Prepared for Spring Valley Wind LLC. Prepared by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. March 25, 2014. 183 pp.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2016a. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring at the Pacific Wind Energy Facility, Kern County, California. Final Report for the Third Year of Operation: October 2014 - October 2015. Prepared for Pacific Wind, LLC, San Diego, California. Prepared by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. January 27, 2016.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2016b. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Mortality Monitoring at the Cameron Ridge-Section 15 Wind Farm, Coram California Development, Lp, Kern County, California. Mortality Analysis, Third Year of Operation: August 2014 - August 2015. Prepared for Renewable Energy Trust, San Francisco, California. Prepared by WEST, Corvallis, Oregon. January 2016.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2016c. Post-Construction Studies for the Mustang Hills and Alta VIII Wind Energy Facilities, Kern County, California. Draft Report for the Third Year of Operation: September 2014 - September 2015. Prepared for EverPower Wind Holdings, Inc. and Brookfield Renewable Energy Group. Prepared by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 22, 2016.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2017a. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Fatality Monitoring at the Pacific Wind Energy Facility, Kern County, California. Final Report for the Fourth Year of Operation, October 2015 - October 2016. Prepared for Pacific Wind, LLC, San Diego, California. Prepared by WEST, Cheyenne, Wyoming. January 2017.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2017b. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Mortality Study at the Lower West Wind Energy Project, Kern County, California. Final Report for the Fifth Year of Operation: July 2016 – August 2017. Prepared for Brookfield Renewable Energy Partners, LP. Prepared by WEST, Corvallis, Oregon. December 15, 2017.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). 2018. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Mortality Studies for the Mustang Hills and Alta VIII Wind Energy Facilities, Kern County, California. Final Report for the Fifth Year of Operation: September 2016 – September 2017. Prepared for EverPower Wind Holdings, Inc. and Brookfield Renewable Energy Partners, LP. Prepared by WEST, Corvallis, Oregon. January 12, 2018.

- World Geodetic System (WGS) Sphere Mercator. 1984. Wgs 84/Pseudo Mercator. Mercator variation projection data.
- Young, D. P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, R. E. Good, M. D. Strickland, and G. D. Johnson. 2003. Avian and Bat Mortality Associated with the Initial Phase of the Foote Creek Rim Windpower Project, Carbon County, Wyoming, Final Report, November 1998 - June 2002. Prepared for Pacificorp, Inc. Portland, Oregon, SeaWest Windpower Inc. San Diego, California, and Bureau of Land Management, Rawlins District Office, Rawlins, Wyoming. January 10, 2003. Available online: http://west-inc.com/reports/fcr_final_mortality.pdf
- Young, D. P., Jr., J. Jeffrey, W. P. Erickson, K. Bay, V. K. Poulton, K. Kronner, R. Gritski, and J. Baker.
 2006. Eurus Combine Hills Turbine Ranch. Phase 1 Post Construction Wildlife Monitoring First Annual Report: February 2004 - February 2005. Technical report prepared for Eurus Energy America Corporation, San Diego, California, and the Combine Hills Technical Advisory Committee, Umatilla County, Oregon. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla Washington, and Northwest Wildlife Consultants, Inc. (NWC), Pendleton, Oregon. February 21, 2006. Available online: http://wind.nrel.gov/public/library/young7.pdf
- Young, D. P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, J. Jeffrey, and V. K. Poulton. 2007. Puget Sound Energy Hopkins Ridge Wind Project Phase 1 Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring First Annual Report, January -December 2006. Technical report for Puget Sound Energy, Dayton, Washington and Hopkins Ridge Wind Project Technical Advisory Committee, Columbia County, Washington. Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. 25 pp.
- Young, D. P., Jr., K. Bay, S. Nomani, and W. Tidhar. 2009a. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: March - June 2009. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 17, 2009.
- Young, D. P., Jr., J. D. Jeffrey, K. Bay, and W. P. Erickson. 2009b. Puget Sound Energy Hopkins Ridge Wind Project, Phase 1, Columbia County, Washington. Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring, Second Annual Report: January - December, 2008. Prepared for Puget Sound Energy, Dayton, Washington, and the Hopkins Ridge Wind Project Technical Advisory Committee, Columbia County, Washington. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Walla Walla, Washington. May 20, 2009.
- Young, D. P., Jr., W. P. Erickson, K. Bay, S. Nomani, and W. Tidhar. 2009c. Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Phase 1 Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring, July - October 2008. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 17, 2009.
- Young, D. P., Jr., K. Bay, S. Nomani, and W. Tidhar. 2010a. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: April - July 2010. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 27, 2010.
- Young, D. P., Jr., K. Bay, S. Nomani, and W. Tidhar. 2010b. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: July - October 2009. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 12, 2010.

- Young, D. P., Jr., S. Nomani, Z. Courage, and K. Bay. 2011a. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: April - July 2011. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. August 29, 2011.
- Young, D. P., Jr., S. Nomani, W. Tidhar, and K. Bay. 2011b. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: July - October 2010. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 10, 2011.
- Young, D. P., Jr., S. Nomani, Z. Courage, and K. Bay. 2012a. Nedpower Mount Storm Wind Energy Facility, Post-Construction Avian and Bat Monitoring: July - October 2011. Prepared for NedPower Mount Storm, LLC, Houston, Texas. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology (WEST), Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 27, 2012.
- Young, D. P., Jr., M. Lout, Z. Courage, S. Nomani, and K. Bay. 2012b. 2011 Post-Construction Monitoring Study, Criterion Wind Project, Garrett County, Maryland: April - November 2011. Prepared for Criterion Power Partners, LLC, Oakland, Maryland. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Waterbury, Vermont. April 20, 2012. Revised November 25, 2013.
- Young, D. P., Jr., C. Nations, M. Lout, and K. Bay. 2013. 2012 Post-Construction Monitoring Study, Criterion Wind Project, Garrett County, Maryland. April - November 2012. Prepared for Criterion Power Partners, LLC, Oakland, Maryland. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Waterbury, Vermont. January 15, 2013.
- Young, D. P., Jr., M. Lout, L. McManus, and K. Bay. 2014a. 2013 Post-Construction Monitoring Study, Beech Ridge Wind Energy Project, Greenbrier and Nicholas Counties, West Virginia. Final Report: April 1 - November 15, 2013. Prepared for Beech Ridge Energy, LLC, Chicago, Illinois. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Burlington, Vermont. January 28, 2014.
- Young, D. P., Jr., M. Kauffman, M. Lout, and K. Bay. 2014b. 2013 Post-Construction Monitoring Study, Criterion Wind Project, Garrett County, Maryland. April - November 2013. Prepared for Criterion Power Partners, LLC, Oakland, Maryland. Prepared by Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming, and Waterbury, Vermont. February 18, 2014.

Appendix A: North American Fatality Summary Tables

Data Activity Fatality		Bat Activity	Bot Activity	Eatality	No of	Total
Tripie H, SD 0.39 4/25/18-10/25/18 Cedar Ridge, WI (2009) 9.97 7/16/07-9/30/07 30.61 41 67.6 Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008; 2009) 7.7 7/24/07-10/29/07 24.57 88 145 Cedar Ridge, WI (2010) 9.97 7/16/07-9/30/07 24.12 41 68 Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011) NA NA 18.96 355 600 Forward Energy Center, WI (2008-2010) 6.97 8/5/08-11/08/08 167 86 300 Forward Energy Center, WI (2012-2013) NA NA NA 12.55 129 (phase (p	Wind Energy Facility	Estimato ^A	Dat Activity Dates	Fatanty Fetimato ^B	Turbines	MW
Input PLO Oxad Midwest Cedar Ridge, WI (2009) 9.97 7/16/07-9/30/07 30.61 41 67.6 Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008; 2009) 9.97 7/16/07-9/30/07 24.57 88 145 Cedar Ridge, WI (2010) 9.97 7/16/07-9/30/07 24.57 88 145 Cedar Ridge, WI (2010) 9.97 7/16/07-9/30/07 24.57 88 145 Forward Energy Center, WI (2008-2010) NA NA NA 18.96 355 600 Forward Energy Center, WI (2008-2010) NA NA NA 12.55 132 (1) 132 Top Crop I & II (2012-2013) NA NA NA 11.21 67 100.5 Rait Splitter, IL (2012-2013) NA NA NA 11.21 67 100.5 Top of lowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 80 10 Top of lowa, IA (2003) NA NA NA 8.09 162 301 Crystal Lake II, IA (2003) <		0.39	A/25/18-10/25/18	Lotinate	TUIDING	
Cedar Ridge, WI (2009) 9.97 7/16/07-9/30/07 30.61 4.1 67.6 Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008; 2009) 7.7 7/24/07-10/29/07 24.57 88 145 Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011) NA NA 24.57 88 145 Forward Energy Center, WI (2008-2010) 6.97 8/5/08-11/08/08 18.17 86 129 Forward Energy Center, WI (2002-2010) 6.97 8/5/08-11/08/08 11.07 86 102 Top Crop I & II (2012-2013) NA NA NA 11.21 67 100.5 Harrow, Ont (2010) NA NA NA 11.21 67 100.5 Top of Iowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 89 80 Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014) NA NA NA 8.2 14 28 For of Iowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 89 80 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA NA 5.9 14 28		0.59 Midwoot	4/23/10-10/23/10			
Count Nuge, WI (2008; 2009) 7.7 7/16/07-30/29/07 24.57 88 145 Cedar Ridge, WI (2010) 9.97 7/16/07-39/30/07 24.57 88 145 Cedar Ridge, WI (2010) NA NA 20.19 355 600 Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011) NA NA 18.96 355 600 Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011) NA NA NA 18.97 86 129 Top Crop I & II (2012-2013) NA NA NA 11.21 67 100.5 Rair Splitter, IL (2012-2013) NA NA NA 11.21 67 100.5 Harrow, Ont (2010) NA NA NA 11.21 67 100.5 Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014) NA NA 8.2 12 28 Crystal Lake II, IA (2009) NA NA 8.2 12 28 Crystal Lake II, IA (2009) NA NA 7.16 89 80 Crystal Lake II, IA (2003) NA NA	Cedar Ridge W/I (2009)	0 07	7/16/07-0/30/07	30.61	/1	67.6
Libe Sof, Green H, M. (2003, 2009) 1.1 1/24/10/10/39/30/07 24.12 4.1 64 Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011) NA NA 24.12 4.1 68 Fowler I, II, III, IN (2010) NA NA 18.96 355 600 Forward Energy Center, WI (2008-2010) 6.97 8/5/08-11/08/08 18.17 86 129 Top Crop I & II (2012-2013) NA NA 12.55 (phase I) (phase I) Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013) NA NA NA 11.21 67 100.5 Harrow, Ont (2010) NA NA NA 11.3 6-turb 39.6 Top of Iowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 89 80 Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014) NA NA 8.2 14 28 Fowler I, IN (2009) NA NA 7.42 80 200 Top of Iowa, IA (2003) NA NA 7.42 80 201 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA 7.42 80 201 Typ of Iowa, IA (2003) NA </td <td>Blue Sky Green Field WI (2008: 2000)</td> <td>5.57</td> <td>7/24/07 10/20/07</td> <td>24 57</td> <td>88</td> <td>1/5</td>	Blue Sky Green Field WI (2008: 2000)	5.57	7/24/07 10/20/07	24 57	88	1/5
Gua Nuge, Wi (2010) 9.37 //100/930007 24.12 41 00 Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011) NA NA 20.19 355 600 Forward Energy Center, WI (2008-2010) 6.97 8/5/08-11/08/08 18.17 86 120 (phase I)	Codar Pidgo M/I (2010)	0.07	7/16/07 0/20/07	24.57	00 /1	69
Lower I, II, III, IN (2011) NA NA 20.19 30.3 000 Forward Energy Center, WI (2008-2010) 6.97 8/5/08-11/08/08 18.17 86 129 Top Crop I & II (2012-2013) NA NA NA 12.55 (phase I) (phase II) (phase III) (phase II) (phase I	Equip Fill III III (2010)	9.97	1/10/07-9/30/07	24.12	41	600
Power Provest	Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011)		INA NA	20.19	355	600
Forward Energy Center, WI (2005-2010) 6.97 6/3/05-11/05/05 18.17 66 129 (phase I) (phase I) Top Crop I & II (2012-2013) NA NA 12.55 132 (phase I) 198 (phase (II) 199 (phase (II) 199 (phase (II) 199 (phase (II) 199 (phase (II) 191 (II) Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013) NA NA NA 11.13 67 100.5 24 (four Harrow, Ont (2010) NA NA NA 8.2 14 28 Fowier I, IN (2009) NA NA NA 8.0 162 301 Crystal Lake II, IA (2009) NA NA NA 8.0 162 301 Crystal Lake II, IA (2003) NA NA NA 5.9 14 28 Ripley, Ont (2008) NA NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012) NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II): 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5	Fowler I, II, III, III (2010)			10.90	300	400
Top Crop I & II (2012-2013) NA NA NA 12:55 500 (phase I) (phase (l) 1002 (phase (l) 1002 (phase (l) 1002 (l) Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013) NA NA NA 11:21 67 100.5 Harrow, Ont (2010) NA NA NA 11:31 6-turb 39.6 Top of Iowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 89 80 Fowler I, IN (2009) NA NA 8.2 14 28 Fowler I, IN (2009) NA NA 8.0 200 Top of Iowa, IA (2003) NA NA 7.42 80 200 Top of Iowa, IA (2003) NA NA 7.42 80 200 Top of Iowa, IA (2003) NA NA 7.43 80 20 Suffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Benton I) Suffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5	Forward Energy Center, WI (2008-2010)	0.97	8/5/08-11/08/08	18.17	80	129
Top Crop I & II (2012-2013) NA NA NA 12.55 (phase (phase (phase (II)) (phase (phase (II)) (phase (II)) (phase (III)) (phase (III)) (III) (phase (III)) (III) (phase (III)) (III) (III					68	300
Top Crop I & II (2012-2013) NA NA NA 12.55 (phase (phase (II) (phase (II) (II) (II)					(phase I)	(102
Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013) NA NA 11.21 67 100.5 Harrow, Ont (2010) NA NA 11.13 6-turb 39.6 fracilities) Top of Iowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 89 80 Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014) NA NA NA 8.2 14 28 Fowler I, IN (2009) NA NA NA 8.2 14 28 Crystal Lake II, IA (2009) NA NA 7.16 89 80 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA 7.16 89 80 Heritage Garder I, MI (2012-2013) NA NA 4.67 38 76 Pioneer Prainie II, IA (2011-2012) NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Pioneer Prainie II, IA (2013) NA NA A.4 362 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA 3.26 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, IL (2012-2012) NA <td>Top Crop & (2012-2013)</td> <td>NA</td> <td>NA</td> <td>12.55</td> <td>[¨] 132 [´]</td> <td>(pnase</td>	Top Crop & (2012-2013)	NA	NA	12.55	[¨] 132 [´]	(pnase
Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013) NA NA NA 11.21 67 100.5 Harrow, Ont (2010) NA NA 11.13 6-turb 39.6 Top of lowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 89 80 Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014) NA NA 8.2 14 28 Fowler I, IN (2009) NA NA 8.2 14 28 Crystal Lake II, IA (2009) NA NA 7.16 89 80 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA 7.16 89 80 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA 7.16 89 80 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2013) NA NA 4.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009.2010) NA NA 4.63 10 20 20.23 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.33 107.25 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA 3.83 62					(phase	1) 198
Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013) NA NA 11.21 67 100.5 Harrow, Ont (2010) NA NA NA 11.13 6-turb 39.6 Top of Iowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 89 80 Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014) NA NA NA 8.2 14 28 Fowler I, IN (2009) NA NA NA 8.09 162 301 Crystal Lake II, IA (2003) NA NA NA 7.42 80 200 Top of Iowa, IA (2003) NA NA NA 6.45 31 20.46 Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2013) NA NA A 4.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA NA 3.83 62 102.3 Buff					Ξ (II)	(phase
Rail Spiitter, IL (2012-2013) NA NA 11.21 67 100.5 Harrow, Ont (2010) NA NA 11.13 6-turb 39.6 Top of Iowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 89 80 Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014) NA NA NA 8.2 14 28 Fowler I, IN (2009) NA NA NA 8.0 162 301 Crystal Lake II, IA (2009) NA NA NA 7.16 89 80 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA NA 6.45 31 20.46 Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2013) NA NA A.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA 4.54 10 20 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012) NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Benton I) Pioneer Prairie II, IL (2015-2006) NA NA 2.96 355 600 <t< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>()</td><td>II))</td></t<>					()	II))
Harrow, Ont (2010) NA NA 11.13 6-turb 39.6 Top of lowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 89 80 Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014) NA NA 8.2 14 28 Fowler I, IN (2009) NA NA 8.09 162 301 Crystal Lake II, IA (2009) NA NA NA 7.42 80 200 Top of lowa, IA (2003) NA NA NA 7.42 80 200 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA 6.45 31 20.46 Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2013) NA NA 4.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA 4.54 10 20.3 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012) NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Fowler I, II, II, IN (2012) NA NA 2.81	Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013)	NA	NA	11.21	67	100.5
Harrow, Ont (2010) NA NA NA 11.13 6-turb facilities) Top of Iowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 89 80 Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014) NA NA NA 8.2 14 28 Fowler I, IN (2009) NA NA NA 8.09 162 301 Crystal Lake II, IA (2003) NA NA 7.42 80 200 Top of Iowa, IA (2003) NA NA 7.42 80 200 Forger County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA 6.45 31 20.46 Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2013) NA NA 4.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Benton I) 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA 2.96 355 600 Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012) NA NA					24 (four	
Top of Iowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 89 80 Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014) NA NA NA 8.0 162 301 Crystal Lake II, IA (2009) NA NA NA 8.0 162 301 Crystal Lake II, IA (2009) NA NA 7.42 80 200 Crystal Lake II, IA (2003) NA NA 7.42 80 80 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA 6.45 31 20.46 Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2013) NA NA 4.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA A.4.54 10 20 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012) NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA NA 2.86 355 600 Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012) NA	Harrow, Ont (2010)	NA	NA	11.13	6-turb	39.6
Top of lowa, IA (2004) 35.7 5/26/04-9/24/04 10.27 89 80 Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014) NA NA NA 8.2 14 28 Fowler I, IN (2009) NA NA NA 8.09 162 301 Crystal Lake II, IA (2003) NA NA NA 7.16 89 80 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA NA 5.9 14 28 Ripley, Ont (2008) NA NA NA 5.9 14 28 Ripley, Ont (2008) NA NA NA 4.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA NA 3.83 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA 2.42 349.5					facilities)	
Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014) NA NA NA 8.2 14 28 Fowler I, IN (2009) NA NA NA 8.09 162 301 Crystal Lake II, IA (2009) NA NA NA 7.42 80 200 Top of lowa, IA (2003) NA NA NA 7.46 89 80 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA NA 5.9 14 28 Ripley, Ont (2008) NA NA NA 4.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA NA 3.83 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.81	Top of Iowa, IA (2004)	35.7	5/26/04-9/24/04	10.27	89	80
Fowler I, IN (2009) NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA NA Solution Solution <td>Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014)</td> <td>NA</td> <td>NA</td> <td>8.2</td> <td>14</td> <td>28</td>	Heritage Garden I, MI (2013-2014)	NA	NA	8.2	14	28
Crystal Lake II, IA (2009) NA NA NA 7.42 80 200 Top of Iowa, IA (2003) NA NA NA NA 7.16 89 80 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA NA S.9 14 28 Ripley, Ont (2008) NA NA NA 4.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA NA 3.83 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012) NA NA NA 2.96 355 600 Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 105 210 Buffalo Ridge, IN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.42 </td <td>Fowler I, IN (2009)</td> <td>NA</td> <td>NA</td> <td>8.09</td> <td>162</td> <td>301</td>	Fowler I, IN (2009)	NA	NA	8.09	162	301
Top of Iowa, IA (2003) NA NA NA 7.16 89 80 Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA 6.45 31 20.46 Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2013) NA NA NA 5.9 14 28 Ripley, Ont (2008) NA NA NA 4.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA NA 4.63 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA NA 3.83 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA 3.27 33 49.5 Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, IN (2011-2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.72 138 103.5 <t< td=""><td>Crystal Lake II, IA (2009)</td><td>NA</td><td>NA</td><td>7.42</td><td>80</td><td>200</td></t<>	Crystal Lake II, IA (2009)	NA	NA	7.42	80	200
Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001) NA NA NA 5.9 14 20.46 Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2013) NA NA NA 5.9 14 28 Ripley, Ont (2008) NA NA NA 4.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA 4.54 10 20 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012) NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Benton II) 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Grescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA 3.27 33 49.5 Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, MN (2011-2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.81 105 210 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998) NA	Top of Iowa, IA (2003)	NA	NA	7.16	89	80
Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2013) NA NA NA 5.9 14 28 Ripley, Ont (2008) NA NA NA 4.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA NA 4.54 10 20 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012) NA NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA NA 3.83 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Grescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA NA 2.96 355 600 Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, IN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.81 105 210 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Grand Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998) NA NA 2.42 33	Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001)	NA	NA	6.45	31	20.46
Ripley, Ont (2008) NA NA NA 4.67 38 76 Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA NA 4.54 10 20 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012) NA NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA NA 3.83 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA NA 2.96 355 600 Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012) NA NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA NA 2.72 138 103.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998) NA NA 2.16 </td <td>Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2013)</td> <td>NA</td> <td>NA</td> <td>5.9</td> <td>14</td> <td>28</td>	Heritage Garden I, MI (2012-2013)	NA	NA	5.9	14	28
Winnebago, IA (2009-2010) NA NA NA 4.54 10 20 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012) NA NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA NA 3.83 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA NA 2.96 355 600 Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.72 138 103.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA 2.42 143 107.25 Moraine II, MN (2009) NA NA 2.81 105 210 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffal	Ripley, Ont (2008)	NA	NA	4.67	38	76
Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012) NA NA 4.43 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA NA 3.83 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Benton II) Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA NA 3.27 33 49.5 Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012) NA NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, IN (2011-2012) NA NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.81 105 210 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, II, MN (2009) NA NA NA <t< td=""><td>Winnebago, IA (2009-2010)</td><td>NA</td><td>NA</td><td>4.54</td><td>10</td><td>20</td></t<>	Winnebago, IA (2009-2010)	NA	NA	4.54	10	20
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake Benton I) 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA NA 3.83 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake Benton II) 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA 3.27 33 49.5 Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012) NA NA 2.86 355 600 Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.81 105 210 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.59 143 107.25 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Suffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND	Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012)	NA	NA	4.43	62	102.3
Benton I) 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 4.35 143 107.25 Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA 3.83 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA 3.27 33 49.5 Fowler I, II, III, N (2011-2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, IN (2011-2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, II, SD (2011-2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.81 105 210 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA 2.59 143 107.25 Moraine II, MN (2009) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010) NA NA 2.16 143 107.25 PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010) NA	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake	2.2	6/15/01 0/15/01	4.25	140	107.05
Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013) NA NA 3.83 62 102.3 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake Benton II) 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 138 103.5 Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA NA 2.96 355 600 Elm Creek II, MN (2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012) NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.81 105 210 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA 2.72 138 103.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998) NA NA 2.16 143 107.25 PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010) NA NA 2.1 66 99 Big Blue, MN (2013) NA NA 2.1 66 99 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake </td <td>Benton I)</td> <td>2.2</td> <td>0/15/01-9/15/01</td> <td>4.55</td> <td>143</td> <td>107.25</td>	Benton I)	2.2	0/15/01-9/15/01	4.55	143	107.25
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake Benton II)2.26/15/01-9/15/013.71138103.5Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006)NANANA3.273349.5Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012)NANA2.96355600Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)NANA2.8162148.8Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)NANA2.81105210Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)NANA2.59143107.25Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)NANA2.423349.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)NANA2.423349.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)NANA2.423349.5Buffalo Ridge, IN (Phase II; 1998)NANA2.16143107.25PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)NANA2.1380115.5Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)NANA2.041836Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)NANA1.8580160Fowler III, IN (2009)NANA1.846099Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.64143107.25Benton I)NANA1.671149	Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013)	NA	NA	3.83	62	102.3
Benton II) 2.2 6/15/01-9/15/01 3.71 136 103.5 Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006) NA NA NA 2.96 355 600 Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012) NA NA NA 2.81 62 148.8 Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012) NA NA NA 2.81 105 210 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999) NA NA NA 2.59 143 107.25 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999) NA NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010) NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010) NA NA NA 2.16 69 9 Big Blue, MN (2013) NA NA NA 1.85 80	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake	2.2	6/15/01 0/15/01	2 71	120	102 E
Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006)NANANA3.273349.5Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012)NANANA2.96355600Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)NANANA2.8162148.8Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)NANANA2.81105210Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)NANA2.72138103.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)NANA2.59143107.25Moraine II, MN (2009)NANA2.16143107.25PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)NANA2.1380115.5Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)NANA2.041836Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)NANA1.8580160Fowler III, IN (2009)NANA1.846099Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.81138103.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.64143107.25Bunton I)NANA1.671149	Benton II)	2.2	0/15/01-9/15/01	3.71	130	103.5
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012)NANANA2.96355600Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)NANANA2.8162148.8Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)NANANA2.81105210Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)NANA2.59143107.25Moraine II, MN (2009)NANA2.423349.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)NANA2.16143107.25PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)NANA2.16143107.25Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)NANA2.16699Big Blue, MN (2013)NANA2.041836Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)NANA1.846099Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.64143107.25Benton II)Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.64143107.25Buffalo Ridge, ND (2010-2011)NANA1.671149	Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006)	NA	NA	3.27	33	49.5
Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)NANANA2.8162148.8Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)NANANA2.81105210Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)NANANA2.72138103.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)NANANA2.59143107.25Moraine II, MN (2009)NANANA2.423349.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)NANANA2.16143107.25PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)NANANA2.1380115.5Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)NANANA2.041836Big Blue, MN (2013)NANANA1.8580160Fowler III, IN (2009)NANANA1.846099Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.64143107.25Benton I)NANANA1.671149	Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012)	NA	NA	2.96	355	600
Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)NANANA2.81105210Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)NANANA2.72138103.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)NANA2.59143107.25Moraine II, MN (2009)NANA2.423349.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)NANA2.16143107.25PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)NANA2.1380115.5Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)NANA2.146699Big Blue, MN (2013)NANA2.041836Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)NANA1.8580160Fowler III, IN (2009)NANA1.846099Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.81138103.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.64143107.25Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.64143107.25Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.64143107.25Buffalo Ridge, ND (2010-2011)NANA1.671149	Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)	NA	NA	2.81	62	148.8
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)NANANA2.72138103.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)NANANA2.59143107.25Moraine II, MN (2009)NANANA2.423349.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)NANA2.16143107.25PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)NANA2.1380115.5Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)NANA2.116699Big Blue, MN (2013)NANA2.041836Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)NANA1.8580160Fowler III, IN (2009)NANA1.846099Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.81138103.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.64143107.25Benton II)NANANA1.671149	Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)	NA	NA	2.81	105	210
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)NANANA2.59143107.25Moraine II, MN (2009)NANANA2.423349.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)NANANA2.16143107.25PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)NANA2.1380115.5Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)NANA2.16699Big Blue, MN (2013)NANA2.041836Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)NANA1.8580160Fowler III, IN (2009)NANA1.846099Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.81138103.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.64143107.25Buffalo Ridge, MD (2010-2011)NANA1.671149	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)	NA	NA	2.72	138	103.5
Moraine II, MN (2009) NA NA NA 2.42 33 49.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998) NA NA NA 2.16 143 107.25 PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010) NA NA NA 2.13 80 115.5 Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010) NA NA NA 2.1 66 99 Big Blue, MN (2013) NA NA NA 2.04 18 36 Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011) NA NA NA 1.85 80 160 Fowler III, IN (2009) NA NA NA 1.84 60 99 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.81 138 103.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.64 143 107.25 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.64 143 107.25 Benton I) NA NA NA 1.6 71 149	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)	NA	NA	2.59	143	107.25
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)NANANA2.16143107.25PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)NANA2.1380115.5Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)NANA2.16699Big Blue, MN (2013)NANA2.041836Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)NANA1.8580160Fowler III, IN (2009)NANA1.846099Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.81138103.5Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake1.96/15/02-9/15/021.64143107.25Benton I)NANA1.671149	Moraine II, MN (2009)	NA	NA	2.42	33	49.5
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010) NA NA 2.13 80 115.5 Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010) NA NA NA 2.1 66 99 Big Blue, MN (2013) NA NA NA 2.04 18 36 Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011) NA NA NA 1.85 80 160 Fowler III, IN (2009) NA NA NA 1.84 60 99 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.81 138 103.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.64 143 107.25 Benton I) NA NA NA 1.6 71 149	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)	NA	NA	2.16	143	107.25
Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010) NA NA NA 2.1 66 99 Big Blue, MN (2013) NA NA NA 2.04 18 36 Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011) NA NA NA 1.85 80 160 Fowler III, IN (2009) NA NA NA 1.84 60 99 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.81 138 103.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.64 143 107.25 Benton I) NA NA NA 1.6 71 149	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)	NA	NA	2.13	80	115.5
Big Blue, MN (2013) NA NA NA 2.04 18 36 Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011) NA NA NA 1.85 80 160 Fowler III, IN (2009) NA NA NA 1.84 60 99 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.81 138 103.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.64 143 107.25 Benton I) NA NA NA 1.6 71 149	Grand Ridge I. IL (2009-2010)	NA	NA	2.1	66	99
Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011) NA NA 1.85 80 160 Fowler III, IN (2009) NA NA 1.84 60 99 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.81 138 103.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.64 143 107.25 Benton I) NA NA NA 1.6 71 149	Big Blue, MN (2013)	NA	NA	2.04	18	36
Fowler III, IN (2009) NA NA 1.84 60 99 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.81 138 103.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.64 143 107.25 Benton I) NA NA NA 1.6 71 149	Barton I & II. IA (2010-2011)	NA	NA	1.85	80	160
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.81 138 103.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.64 143 107.25 Benton I) NA NA 1.6 71 149	Fowler III. IN (2009)	NA	NA	1.84	60	99
Benton II) 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.81 138 103.5 Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.64 143 107.25 Benton I) NA NA 1.6 71 149	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III: 2002/Lake					
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.64 143 107.25 Benton I) NA NA 1.6 71 149	Benton II)	1.9	6/15/02-9/15/02	1.81	138	103.5
Benton I) 1.9 6/15/02-9/15/02 1.64 143 107.25 Rugby, ND (2010-2011) NA NA 1.6 71 149	Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II: 2002/Lake					
Rugby, ND (2010-2011) NA NA 1.6 71 149	Benton I)	1.9	6/15/02-9/15/02	1.64	143	107.25
	Rugby ND (2010-2011)	NA	NA	16	71	149
Elm Creek, MN (2009-2010) NA NA 1 49 67 100	Elm Creek, MN (2009-2010)	NA	NA	1.49	67	100

Appendix A1. Wind energy facilities in North America with comparable activity and fatality data for bats, separated by geographic region.

	Bat Activity	Bat Activity	Fatality	No. of	Total
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Dates	Estimate ^B	Turbines	MW
Wessington Springs, SD (2009)	NA	NA	1.48	34	51
Big Blue, MN (2014)	NA	NA	1.43	18	36
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2011)	NA	NA	1.39	80	115.5
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2011-2012)	NA	NA	1.23	108	162
NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006)	NA	NA	1.16	36	20.5
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2012-2013)	NA	NA	1.05	108	162
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1999)	NA	NA	0.74	73	25
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2013-2014)	NA	NA	0.52	108	162
Wessington Springs, SD (2010)	NA	NA	0.41	34	51
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (2009-2010)	NA	NA	0.16	24	50.4
	California				
Shiloh I, CA (2006-2009)	NA	NA	3.92	100	150
Shiloh II, CA (2010-2011)	NA	NA	3.8	75	150
Shiloh II, CA (2011-2012)	NA	NA	3.4	75	150
Shiloh II, CA (2009-2010)	NA	NA	2.6	75	150
High Winds, CA (2003-2004)	NA	NA	2.51	90	162
Dillon, CA (2008-2009)	NA	NA	2.17	45	45
Montezuma I, CA (2011)	NA	NA	1.9	16	36.8
High Winds, CA (2004-2005)	NA	NA	1.52	90	162
Alta I. C.A. (2011-2012)	1 10	6/26/2009 -	1 22	100	150
Alla I, CA (2011-2012)	4.42	10/31/2009	1.20	100	150
Montezuma II, CA (2012-2013)	NA	NA	0.91	34	78.2
Montezuma I, CA (2012)	NA	NA	0.84	16	36.8
Diablo Winds, CA (2005-2007)	NA	NA	0.82	31	20.46
Shiloh III, CA (2012-2013)	NA	NA	0.4	50	102.5
Solano III, CA (2012-2013)	NA	NA	0.31	55	128
Alite, CA (2009-2010)	NA	NA	0.24	8	24
Mustang Hills, CA (2012-2013)	NA	NA	0.1	50	150
Alta II-V CA (2011-2012)	0.78	6/26/2009 -	0.08	190	570
A = 0, O = 0,	0.70	10/31/2009	0.00	100	570
Pinyon Pines I & II, CA (2013-2014)	NA	NA	0.04	100	NA
Alta VIII, CA (2012-2013)	NA	NA	0	50	150
	Pacific Northw	est	4.00	50	404.4
Palouse Wind, WA (2012-2013)	NA	NA	4.23	58	104.4
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2009-2010)	NA	NA	2.71	65	150
Nine Canyon, WA (2002-2003)	NA	NA	2.47	37	48.1
Stateline, OR/WA (2003)	NA	NA	2.29	454	299
Elkhorn, OR (2010)	NA	NA	2.14	61	101
White Creek, WA (2007-2011)	NA	NA	2.04	89	204.7
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2008)	NA	NA	1.99	76	125.4
Leaning Juniper, OR (2006-2008)	NA	NA	1.98	67	100.5
Big Horn, WA (2006-2007)	NA	NA	1.9	133	199.5
Combine Hills, OR (Phase I; 2004-2005)	NA	NA	1.88	41	41
Linden Ranch, WA (2010-2011)	NA	NA	1.68	25	50
Pebble Springs, OR (2009-2010)	NA	NA	1.55	47	98.7
HOPKINS RIdge, WA (2008)	NA	NA	1.39	87	156.6
Harvest Wind, WA (2010-2012)	NA	NA	1.27	43	98.9
Elkhorn, OR (2008)	NA	NA	1.26	61	101
vansycle, OR (1999)	NA	NA	1.12	38	24.9
Kiondike III (Phase I), OR (2007-2009)	NA	NA	1.11	125	223.6
Stateline, OR/WA (2001-2002)	NA	NA	1.09	454	299
Stateline, OR/WA (2006)	NA	NA	0.95	454	299

Appendix A1. Wind energy facilities in North America with comparable activity and fatality data for bats, separated by geographic region.

	Bat Activity	Bat Activity	Fatality	No. of	Total
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Dates	Estimate ^B	Turbines	MW
Tuolumne (Windy Point I), WA (2009-2010)	NA	NA	0.94	62	136.6
Klondike, OR (2002-2003)	NA	NA	0.77	16	24
Combine Hills, OR (2011)	NA	NA	0.73	104	104
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2006)	NA	NA	0.63	83	150
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2009)	NA	NA	0.58	76	125.4
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2010-2011)	NA	NA	0.57	65	150
Hay Canyon, OR (2009-2010)	NA	NA	0.53	48	100.8
Windy Flats, WA (2010-2011)	NA	NA	0.41	114	262.2
Klondike II, OR (2005-2006)	NA	NA	0.41	50	75
Vantage, WA (2010-2011)	NA	NA	0.4	60	90
Wild Horse, WA (2007)	NA	NA	0.39	127	229
Goodnoe, WA (2009-2010)	NA	NA	0.34	47	94
Marengo II, WA (2009-2010)	NA	NA	0.27	39	70.2
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III; 2010-2011)	NA	NA	0.22	76	174.8
Marengo I, WA (2009-2010)	NA	NA	0.17	78	140.4
Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR (2008-2010)	NA	NA	0.14	51	76.5
Kittitas Valley, WA (2011-2012)	NA	NA	0.12	48	100.8
	Rocky Moun	tains			
Summerview, Alb (2006; 2007)	7.65	07/15/06-07- 09/30/06-07	11.42	39	70.2
Summerview, Alb (2005-2006)	NA	NA	10.27	39	70.2
Judith Gap, MT (2006-2007)	NA	NA	8.93	90	135
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 1999)	NA	NA	3.97	69	41.4
Judith Gap, MT (2009)	NA	NA	3.2	90	135
Milford I, UT (2010-2011)	NA	NA	2.05	58	145
					160.5
Milford I & II, UT (2011-2012)	NA	NA	1.67	107	(58.5 I,
					102 II)
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 2001-	2.2	6/15/01 0/1/01	1 57	60	A1 A
2002)	2.2	0/15/01-9/1/01	1.57	09	41.4
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 2000)	2.2	6/15/00-9/1/00	1.05	69	41.4
	Southern Pl	ains			
Barton Chapel, TX (2009-2010)	NA	NA	3.06	60	120
Big Smile, OK (2012-2013)	NA	NA	2.9	66	132
Buffalo Gap II, TX (2007-2008)	NA	NA	0.14	155	233
Red Hills, OK (2012-2013)	NA	NA	0.11	82	123
Buffalo Gap I, TX (2006)	NA	NA	0.1	67	134
	Southwes	st			
Dry Lake I, AZ (2009-2010)	8.8	4/29/10-11/10/10	3.43	30	63
Dry Lake II, AZ (2011-2012)	11.5	5/11/11-10/26/11	1.66	31	65
	Southeas	st			
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2005)	NA	NA	39.7	18	28.98
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2000-2003)	23.7	NA	31.54	3	1.98
	Northeas	st			
Pinnacle, WV (2012)	NA	NA	40.2	23	55.2
Mountaineer, WV (2003)	NA	NA	31.69	44	66
Mount Storm, WV (2009)	30.09	7/15/09-10/7/09	17.53	132	264
Noble Wethersfield, NY (2010)	NA	NA	16.3	84	126
Criterion, MD (2011)	NA	NA	15.61	28	70
Mount Storm, WV (2010)	36.67	4/18/10-10/15/10	15.18	132	264
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II: 2010)	NA	NA	14.38	51	102
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2009)	NA	NA	14.11	51	102

Appendix A1. Wind energy facilities in North America with comparable activity and fatality data for bats, separated by geographic region.

	Bat Activity	Bat Activity	Fatality	No. of	Total
Wind Energy Facility	Estimate ^A	Dates	Estimate ^B	Turbines	MW
Casselman, PA (2008)	NA	NA	12.61	23	34.5
Maple Ridge, NY (2006)	NA	NA	11.21	120	198
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (2010)	NA	NA	10.32	50	125
Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 2010)	NA	NA	9.5	86	197.8
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2009)	NA	NA	8.62	50	125
Casselman, PA (2009)	NA	NA	8.6	23	34.5
Noble Bliss, NY (2008)	NA	NA	7.8	67	100
Criterion, MD (2012)	NA	NA	7.62	28	70
Mount Storm, WV (2011)	NA	NA	7.43	132	264
Maple Ridge, NY (2012)	NA	NA	7.3	195	321.75
Mount Storm, WV (Fall 2008)	35.2	7/20/08-10/12/08	6.62	82	164
Maple Ridge, NY (2007)	NA	NA	6.49	195	321.75
Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 2009)	NA	NA	6.42	86	197.8
Criterion, MD (2013)	NA	NA	5.32	28	70
Maple Ridge, NY (2007-2008)	NA	NA	4.96	195	321.75
Noble Clinton, NY (2009)	1.9	8/1/09-09/31/09	4.5	67	100
Casselman Curtailment, PA (2008)	NA	NA	4.4	23	35.4
Noble Altona, NY (2010)	NA	NA	4.34	65	97.5
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2009)	16.1	8/16/09-09/15/09	3.91	54	80
Noble Bliss, NY (2009)	NA	NA	3.85	67	100
Lempster, NH (2010)	NA	NA	3.57	12	24
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2008)	NA	NA	3.46	54	80
Noble Clinton, NY (2008)	2.1	8/8/08-09/31/08	3.14	67	100
Lempster, NH (2009)	NA	NA	3.11	12	24
Record Hill, MÈ (2012)	24.6	4/16/12-10/23/12	2.96	22	50.6
Mars Hill, ME (2007)	NA	NA	2.91	28	42
Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 2011)	NA	NA	2.49	86	197.8
Noble Chateaugay, NY (2010)	NA	NA	2.44	71	106.5
High Sheldon, NY (2010)	NA	NA	2.33	75	112.5
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2012)	NA	NA	2.27	17	25.5
Beech Ridge, WV (2012)	NA	NA	2.03	67	100.5
Munnsville, NY (2008)	NA	NA	1.93	23	34.5
High Sheldon, NY (2011)	NA	NA	1.78	75	112.5
Stetson Mountain II. ME (2010)	NA	NA	1.65	17	25.5
Stetson Mountain I. ME (2009)	28.5: 0.3	7/10/09-10/15/09	1.4	38	57
Beech Ridge, WV (2013)	NA	NA	0.58	67	100.5
Record Hill, ME (2014)	NA	NA	0.55	22	50.6
Mars Hill. ME (2008)	NA	NA	0.45	28	42
Stetson Mountain I. ME (2011)	NA	NA	0.28	38	57
Stetson Mountain I. ME (2013)	NA	NA	0.18	38	57
Rollins, ME (2012)	NA	NA	0.18	40	60
Kibby, ME (2011)	NA	NA	0.12	44	132

Appendix A1. Wind energy facilities in North America with comparable activity and fatality data for bats, separated by geographic region.

A = Bat passes per detector-night

B = Number of fatalities per megawatt per year

C = Activity rate based on data collected at various heights all other activity rates are from ground-based units only

D = Activity rate was averaged across phases and/or years

E = Activity rate calculated by WEST from data presented in referenced report

F= Activity rate based on pre-construction monitoring; data for all other activity and fatality rates were collected concurrently

G = The overall activity rate of 28.5 is from reference stations located along forest edges which may be attractive to bats; the activity rate of 0.3 is from one unit placed on a nacelle

	Activity	Fatality	<u> </u>	Activity	Fatality
Project, Location	Reference	Reference	Project, Location	Reference	Reference
Alite, CA (2009-2010)		Chatfield et al. 2010	Lempster, NH (2010)		Tidhar et al. 2011
Alta I. CA (2011-2012)	Solick et al. 2010	Chatfield et al. 2012	Linden Ranch, WA (2010-2011)		Enz and Bay 2011
Alta II-V, CA (2011- 2012)	Solick et al. 2010	Chatfield et al. 2012	Locust Ridge, PA		Arnett et al. 2011
2012)	Chatfield and Bay	Chatfield and Bay 2014	Locust Ridge, PA		Arnett et al. 2011
Alta VIII, CA (2012-2013) Barton Chapel, TX (2009-2010)	2014	WEST 2011	(Phase II; 2010) Maple Ridge, NY (2006)		Jain et al. 2007
Barton I & II, IA (2010- 2011)		Derby et al. 2011b	Maple Ridge, NY (2007)		Jain et al. 2009a
Beech Ridge. WV (2012)		Tidhar et al. 2013a	Maple Ridge, NY (2007-2008)		Jain et al. 2009b
Beech Ridge, WV (2013)		Young et al. 2014a	Maple Ridge, NY (2012)		Tidhar et al. 2013b
Big Blue, MN (2013)		Fagen Engineering 2014	Marengo I, WA (2009- 2010)		URS 2010b
Big Blue, MN (2014)		Fagen Engineering 2015	Marengo II, WA (2009-2010)		URS 2010c
Big Horn, WA (2006- 2007)		Kronner et al. 2008	Mars Hill ME (2007)		Stantec 2008a
Big Smile, OK (2012- 2013)		Derby et al. 2013b	Mars Hill ME (2008)		Stantec 2009a
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I: 2008)		Jeffrey et al. 2009b	Milford I & II, UT (2011-2012)		Stantec 2012b
Biglow Canyon, OR		Enk et al. 2010	Milford I, UT (2010-		Stantec 2011b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II: 2009-2010)		Enk et al. 2011b	Montezuma I, CA		ICF International 2013
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II: 2010-2011)		Enk et al. 2012b	Montezuma I, CA		ICF International 2013
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III: 2010-2011)		Enk et al. 2012a	Montezuma II, CA (2012-2013)		Harvey & Associates 2013
Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008: 2009)	Gruver 2008	Gruver et al. 2009	Moraine II. MN (2009)		Derby et al. 2010f
()		Tierney 2007	Mount Storm, WV	∕oung et al. 2009a,	Young et al. 2009a, 2010b
Buffalo Gap I, TX (2006)			(2009)	2010b	
Buffalo Gap II, TX (2007- 2008)		Lierney 2009	Mount Storm, WV	7oung et al. 2010a, 2011b	Young et al. 2010a, 2011b
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2000-2003)	Fiedler 2004	Nicholson et al. 2005	Mount Storm, WV (2011)	20110	Young et al. 2011a, 2012a
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2005)		Fiedler et al. 2007	Mount Storm, WV N (Fall 2008)	∕oung et al. 2009c	Young et al. 2009c
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (2009-2010)		Derby et al. 2010d	Mountaineer, WV (2003)		Kerns and Kerlinger 2004
Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)		Derby et al. 2012a	Munnsville, NY (2008)		Stantec 2009b

Appendix A1	(continued).	Wind energy	/ facilities	in North	America	with	comparable	fatality	data for
bats.									

	Activity	Fatality		Activity	Fatality
Project, Location	Reference	Reference	Project, Location	Reference	Reference
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I: 1999)		Johnson et al. 2000	Mustang Hills, CA (2012-2013)		2014
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II: 1998)		Johnson et al. 2000	Nine Canyon, WA		Erickson et al. 2003
Buffalo Ridge, MN		Johnson et al. 2000	Noble Altona, NY		Jain et al. 2011a
Buffalo Ridge, MN J	Johnson et	Johnson et al. 2004			Jain et al.2009c
Benton I)	al. 2004		Noble Bliss, NY (2008)		
Buffalo Ridge, MN J (Phase II; 2002/Lake Benton I)	Johnson et al. 2004	Johnson et al. 2004	Noble Bliss, NY (2009)		Jain et al. 2010c
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)		Johnson et al. 2000	Noble Chateaugay, NY (2010)		Jain et al. 2011b
Buffalo Ridge, MN J (Phase III; 2001/Lake Benton II)	lohnson et al. 2004	Johnson et al. 2004	Noble Clinton, NY (2008)	Reynolds 2010a	Jain et al. 2009d
Buffalo Ridge, MN J (Phase III; 2002/Lake Benton II)	lohnson et al. 2004	Johnson et al. 2004	Noble Clinton, NY (2009)	Reynolds 2010a	Jain et al. 2010a
Casselman Curtailment, PA (2008)		Arnett et al. 2009a	Noble Ellenburg, NY (2008)		Jain et al. 2009e
Casselman, PA (2008)		Arnett et al. 2009b	Noble Ellenburg, NY (2009)	Reynolds 2010b	Jain et al. 2010b
Casselman, PA (2009)		Arnett et al. 2010	Noble Wethersfield, NY (2010)		Jain et al. 2011c
E Cedar Ridge, WI (2009)	3HE Environ- mental 2008	BHE Environ- mental 2010	NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006)		Derby et al. 2007
E Cedar Ridge WI (2010)	3HE Environ- mental	BHE Environ- mental 2011	Palouse Wind, WA		Stantec 2013a
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2009)	2008	Stantec 2010	Pebble Springs, OR (2009-2010)		Gritski and Kronner 2010b
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (2010)		Stantec 2011a	Pinnacle, WV (2012)		Hein et al. 2013
Combine Hills, OR (2011)		Enz et al. 2012	Pinyon Pines I & II, CA (2013-2014)		Chatfield and Russo 2014
Combine Hills, OR (Phase I; 2004-2005)		Young et al. 2006	Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012)		Chodachek et al. 2012
Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006)		Kerlinger et al. 2007	Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013)		Chodachek et al. 2014
Criterion. MD (2011)		Young et al. 2012b	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot). ND (2010)		Derby et al. 2011d
Criterion, MD (2012)		Young et al. 2013	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2011)		Derby et al. 2012d
Critorion MD (2012)		Young et al. 2014b	PrairieWinds SD1,		Derby et al. 2012c
			30 (2011-2012)		

Appendix A1 (continued).	Wind energy	facilities in	North	America wi	ith comparable	fatality	data for
bats.							

	Activity	Fatality	-	Activity	Fatality
Project, Location	Reference	Reference	Project, Location	Reference	Reference
Crystal Lake II, IA (2009)		Derby et al. 2010b	PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2012-2013)		Derby et al. 2013a
Diablo Winds, CA (2005-2007)		WEST 2006, 2008	PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2013-2014)		Derby et al. 2014b
Dillop (CA (2008, 2009))		Chatfield et al.	Rail Splitter, IL (2012-		Good et al. 2013b
Dry Lake I, AZ (2009- 2010)	Thompson et al. 2011	Thompson et al. 2011	Record Hill, ME § (2012)	Stantec 2008b	Stantec 2013b
Dry Lake II, AZ (2011- 2012)	Thompson and Bay 2012	Thompson and Bay 2012	Record Hill, ME (2014)		Stantec 2015a
Elkhorn, OR (2008)		Jeffrey et a. 2009a	Red Hills, OK (2012- 2013)		Derby et al. 2013c
Elkhorn, OR (2010)		Enk et al. 2011a	Ripley, Ont (2008)		Jacques Whitford 2009
Elm Creek II, MN (2011- 2012)		Derby et al. 2010e	Rollins, ME (2012)		Stantec 2013c
Elm Creek, MN (2009-2010)		Derby et al. 2012b	Rugby, ND (2010- 2011)		Derby et al. 2011c
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I: 1999)		Young et al. 2003	Shiloh I, CA (2006- 2009)		Kerlinger et al. 2009
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I: 2000)	Gruver 2002	Young et al. 2003	Shiloh II, CA (2009- 2010)		Kerlinger et al. 2010, 2013a
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I: 2001-2002)	Gruver 2002	Young et al. 2003	Shiloh II, CA (2010- 2011)		Kerlinger et al. 2013a
Forward Energy Center, WI (2008-2010)	Watt and Drake 2011	Grodsky and Drake 2011	Shiloh II, CA (2011- 2012)		Kerlinger et al. 2013a
Fowler I II III IN (2010)	2011	Good et al. 2011	Shiloh III, CA (2012- 2013)		Kerlinger et al. 2013b
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011)		Good et al. 2012	Solano III, CA (2012-		AECOM 2013
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012)		Good et al. 2013a	Stateline, OR/WA		Erickson et al. 2004
Fowler I, IN (2009)		Johnson et al. 2010a	Stateline, OR/WA (2003)		Erickson et al. 2004
Fowler III, IN (2009)		Johnson et al. 2010b	Stateline, OR/WA (2006)		Erickson et al. 2007
Goodnoe, WA (2009- 2010)		URS Corporation (URS) 2010a	Stetson Mountain I, S ME (2009)	Stantec 2009c	Stantec 2009c
Grand Ridge I, IL (2009- 2010)		Derby et al. 2010a	Stetson Mountain I, ME (2011)		Normandeau Associates 2011
, Harrow, Ont (2010)		Natural Resources Solutions Inc.	Stetson Mountain I, ME (2013)		Stantec 2014d
Harvest Wind, WA (2010-2012)		Downes and Gritski 2012a	Stetson Mountain II, MF (2010)		Normandeau Associates 2010
Hay Canyon, OR (2009- 2010)		Gritski and Kronner 2010a	Stetson Mountain II, ME (2012)		Stantec 2013d
High Sheldon, NY (2010)		Tidhar et al. 2012a	Summerview, Alb (2005-2006)		Brown and Hamilton 2006

Appendix A1 (*continued*). Wind energy facilities in North America with comparable fatality data for bats.

Project, Location	Activity Reference	Fatality Reference	Project, Location	Activity Reference	Fatality Reference
		Tidhar et al. 2012b	Summerview, Alb	Baerwald	Baerwald 2008
High Sheldon, NY (2011)			(2006; 2007)	2008	
High Winds, CA (2003-		Kerlinger et al.	Top Crop I & II (2012-		Good et al. 2013c
2004)		2006	2013)		
High Winds, CA (2004-		Kerlinger et al.			Jain 2005
2005)		2006	Top of Iowa, IA (2003)		
Hopkins Ridge, WA		Young et al. 2007		Jain 2005	Jain 2005
(2006)			Top of Iowa, IA (2004)		
		Young et al. 2009b	Tuolumne (Windy		Enz and Bay 2010
Hopkins Ridge, WA			Point I), WA (2009-		
(2008)			2010)		
Judith Gap, MT (2006-		TRC Environmental			Erickson et al. 2000
2007)		Corporation 2008	Vansycle, OR (1999)		
		Poulton and	Vantago WA (2010		Ventus
ludith Gap, MT (2000)		Erickson 2010	2011)		Environmental
Kewaunee County WI		Howe et al. 2002	Wessington Springs		Derby et al. 2010c
(1999-2001)					Derby et al. 20100
(1000-2001)		Stantec 2012a	Wessington Springs		Derby et al. 2011a
Kibby MF (2011)		0101100 20120	SD (2010)		Dorby of all 2011a
Kittitas Vallev WA		Stantec Consulting	White Creek WA		Downes and Gritski
(2011-2012)		Services 2012	(2007-2011)		2012b
()		Northwest Wildlife	(Frickson et al. 2008
		Consultants			
Klondike II, OR (2005-		(NWC) and	Wild Horse, WA		
2006)		WEST 2007	(2007)		E () 0044
Klondike III (Phase I),		Gritski et al. 2010	Windy Flats, WA		Enz et al. 2011
OR (2007-2009)		Critalii at al. 2011	(2010-2011)		Darby at al. 2010r
Kiondike IIIa (Phase II),		Gritski et al. 2011	winnebago, IA (2009-		Derby et al. 2010g
OR (2008-2010)		Johnson at al. 2002	2010) Walfa Jaland Ont		Chambra Ltd. 2010
Klandika OD (2002		Johnson et al. 2003	Wolle Island, Onl		Stantec Ltd. 2010
			(July-December		
2003)		Critaki at al. 2009	2009) Wolfo Jolond Ont		Stanton Ltd. 2011
Looping Junipor OP		GHISKI EL AL 2000	(July Decombor		Stanled Ltu. 2011
(2000-2000)		Tidhar et al. 2010	Wolfe Island Ont		Stantec Ltd 2012
		1011al Ct al. 2010	(July-December		
Lempster NH (2009)			2011)		
Lompster, Nr (2009)			2011)		

Appendix A1 (*continued*). Wind energy facilities in North America with comparable fatality data for bats.

,		0,	
	Bat Fatalities (bats/		
Study	MW/year)	Predominant Habitat Type	Citation
Alite CA (2009-2010)	0.24	Shrub/scrub and grassland	Chatfield et al 2010
Alta I CA (2011-2012)	1 28	Woodland grassland shrubland	Chatfield et al. 2012
Alta I, CA (2013 2014)	0.26	woodiand, grassiand, sindbiand	Chatfield et al. 2012
Alta I, CA $(2015-2014)$	0.30		Therefore an at al. 2014
Alla I, CA (2015-2016)	0.7		Thompson et al. 2016a
Alta II-V, CA (2011-2012)	0.08	Desert scrub	Chatfield et al. 2012
Alta II-V, CA (2013-2014)	0		Chatfield et al. 2014
Alta II-V, CA (2015-2016)	0		Thompson et al. 2016a
Alta VIII, CA (2012-2013)	0	Grassland and riparian	Chatfield and Bay 2014
Alta VIII, CA (2014-2015)	0.17		Western EcoSystems
			Technology, Inc. (WEST) 2016c
Alta X, CA (2014-2015)	0.42		Chatfield et al. 2015
Alta X. CA (2015-2016)	0.8	Desert scrub	Thompson et al. 2016b
Barton I & II IA (2010-2011)	1 85	Agriculture	Derby et al. 2011b
Barton Chapel TX (2009-2010)	3.06	Agriculture/forest	WEST 2011
Beech Ridge $WV/(2012)$	2.03	Forest	Tidhar et al. 2013a
Beech Ridge, WV (2012)	2.03	Forest	Vound of al. 2013a
Biz Dhus MNL (2013)	0.56		Found et al. 2014a
Big Blue, MIN (2013)	2.04	Agriculture	Fagen Engineering 2014
Big Blue, MN (2014)	1.43	Agriculture	Fagen Engineering 2015
Big Horn, WA (2006-2007)	1.9	Agriculture/grassland	Kronner et al. 2008
Big Smile, OK (2012-2013)	2.9	Grassland, agriculture	Derby et al. 2013b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2008)	1.99	Agriculture/grassland	Jeffrey et al. 2009b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2009)	0.58	Agriculture/grassland	Enk et al. 2010
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2009- 2010)	2.71	Agriculture	Enk et al. 2011b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2010- 2011)	0.57	Grassland/shrub-steppe, agriculture	Enk et al. 2012b
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III; 2010- 2011)	0.22	Grassland/shrub-steppe,	Enk et al. 2012a
Bingham Wind Project ME (2017)	0.23	NA	TRC 2017a
Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008: 2009)	24 57	Agriculture	Gruver et al. 2009
Buffalo Cap L TX (2006)	0.1	Grassland	Tierney 2007
Buffalo Gap II, TX (2000) Buffalo Gap II, TX (2007 2008)	0.1	Eorost	Tiorpov 2000
Buffale Mauntain TN $(2007-2000)$	0.14	Forest	Nichologn et al. 2005
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2000-2003)	31.34	Forest	Nicholson et al. 2005
	39.7	Forest	Fiedler et al. 2007
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1999)	0.74	Agriculture	Johnson et al. 2000
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)	2.16	Agriculture	Johnson et al. 2000
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)	2.59	Agriculture	Johnson et al. 2000
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake Benton I)	4.45	Agriculture	Johnson et al. 2004
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake Benton II)	1.64	Agriculture	Johnson et al. 2004
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)	2.72	Agriculture	Johnson et al. 2000
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake Benton I)	3.71	Agriculture	Johnson et al. 2004
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake Benton II)	1.81	Agriculture	Johnson et al. 2004
Buffalo Ridge I. SD (2009-2010)	0.16	Agriculture/grassland	Derby et al. 2010d
Buffalo Ridge II SD (2011-2012)	2 81	Agriculture grassland	Derby et al 2012a
Bull Hill ME (2013)	1.62	Forest	Stantec Consulting
Compron Didgo/Section 15 CA (2014	0.45		(Stantec) 2014a
2015)	0.15		
Cameron Ridge/Section 15, CA (2015- 2016)	0.19		Rintz and Thompson 2017

Appendix A2. Bat fatality estimates for North American wind-energy facilities.

	Bat	-	-
	Fatalities		
	(bate/		
Study	(Dats/ MW/woar)	Prodominant Habitat Type	Citation
Study	10.61	Fredominant Habitat Type	
Casselman, PA (2008)	12.01	Forest	Amell et al. 2009b
Casselman, PA (2009)	0.0	Forest, pasiure, grassianu	Amett et al. 2010
Casselman Curtailment, PA (2008)	4.4	Forest	Amell et al. 2009a
Cedar Ridge, WI (2009)	30.01	Agriculture	BHE Environmental 2010
	24.12	Agriculture	BHE Environmental 2011
Chopin, OR (2016-2017)	1.9	Agriculture	Espinoza 2017
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2009)	8.62	Agriculture/forest	Stantec 2010
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2013)	1.37	Agriculture, forest	Stantec 2011a
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (2010)	10.32	Agriculture, forest	Stantec 2014b
Combine Hills, OR (Phase I; 2004-2005)	1.88	Agriculture/grassland	Young et al. 2006
Combine Hills, OR (2011)	0.73	Grassland/shrub-steppe, agriculture	Enz et al. 2012
Crescent Ridge II (2005-2006)	3 27	Agriculture	Kerlinger et al. 2007
Criterion MD (2011)	15.61	Forest agriculture	Young et al. 2012b
Criterion MD (2012)	7 62	Forest agriculture	Young et al. 2013
Criterion MD (2013)	5.32	Forest agriculture	Young et al. 2014b
Crystal Lake II IA (2009)	7 42	Agriculture	Derby et al. 2010b
Diable Winds $CA(2005-2007)$	0.82	NA	WEST 2006 2008
Diable Winds, $CA(2003-2007)$	2 17	Desert	Chatfield et al. 2009
$Dry Lake I \Delta 7 (2000-2003)$	3/3	Desert grassland/forested	Thompson et al. 2003
Dry Lake II AZ (2003-2010)	1 66	Desert grassland/forested	Thompson and Bay 2012
Elkhorn $OR(2008)$	1.00	Shrub/scrub and adriculture	leffrey et a 2009a
Elkhorn $OR(2000)$	2 1/	Shrub/scrub and agriculture	Enk et al. 2009a
Elm Creek MNI (2000-2010)	2.14	Agriculture	Derby et al. 2011a
Elm Creek II MN (2003-2010)	2.81	Agriculture grassland	Derby et al. 2010e
Easte Creek Rim WV (Phase I: 1000)	2.01	Grassland	Vound et al. 20120
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I, 1999)	1.05	Grassland	Young et al. 2003
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I: 2000)	1.05	Grassland	Young et al. 2003
2002)	1.57		
Forward Energy Center, WI (2008- 2010)	18.17	Agriculture	Grodsky and Drake 2011
Fowler I, IN (2009)	8.09	Agriculture	Johnson et al. 2010a
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2010)	18.96	Agriculture	Good et al. 2011
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011)	20.19	Agriculture	Good et al. 2012
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012)	2.96	Agriculture	Good et al. 2013a
Fowler III, IN (2009)	1.84	Agriculture	Johnson et al. 2010b
Fowler, IN (2014)	4.86	Agriculture	Good et al. 2015
Fowler, IN (2015)	4.54	Agriculture	Good et al. 2016
Fowler, IN (2016)	4.54	Agriculture	Good et al. 2017
Goodnoe, WA (2009-2010)	0.34	Grassland and shrub-steppe	URS Corporation (URS) 2010a
Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)	2.1	Agriculture	Derby et al. 2010a
Groton, NH (2013)	1.31	Foothills, forest	Stantec and WEST 2014
Groton, NH (2014)	1.63	Foothills, forest	Stantec and WEST 2015a
Groton, NH (2015)	1.74	Foothills, forest	Stantec and WEST 2015b
Hancock, MÈ (2017)	0.3	Gravel, grassland	TRC 2017b
Harrow, Ont (2010)	11.13	Agriculture	Natural Resources Solutions Inc. 2011
Harvest Wind, WA (2010-2012)	1.27	Grassland/shrub-steppe	Downes and Gritski 2012a
Hatchet Ridge, CA (2011)	2.23		Tetra Tech 2013
Hatchet Ridge, CA (2012)	5.22		Tetra Tech 2013
Hatchet Ridge, CA (2012-2013)	4.2		Tetra Tech 2014
Hay Canyon, OR (2009-2010)	0.53	Agriculture	Gritski and Kronner 2010a

Fatalities (bats/		
MW/year)	Predominant Habitat Type	Citation
2.33	Agriculture	Tidhar et al. 2012a
1.78	Agriculture	Tidhar et al. 2012b
2.51	Agriculture/grassland	Kerlinger et al. 2006
1.52	Agriculture/grassland	Kerlinger et al. 2006
0.63	Agriculture/grassland	Young et al. 2007
1.39	Agriculture/grassland	Young et al. 2009b
10	Agriculture	Tidhar et al. 2013c
2.13	Agriculture	Lukins et al. 2014
8.93	Agriculture/grassland	TRC Environmental Corporation 2008
3.2	Agriculture/grassland	Poulton and Erickson 2010
6.45	Agriculture	Howe et al. 2002
0.12	Forest: commercial forest	Stantec 2012a
0.12	Sagebrush-steppe, grassland	Stantec Consulting Services 2012
0.77	Agriculture/grassland	Johnson et al. 2003
0.41	Agriculture/grassland	Northwest Wildlife Consultants (NWC) and WEST 2007
1.11	Agriculture/grassland	Gritski et al. 2010
0.14	Grassland/shrub-steppe and agriculture	Gritski et al. 2011
19.87	Agriculture	Minnesota Public Utilities Commission 2012
1.98	Agriculture	Gritski et al. 2008
3.11	Grasslands/forest/rocky embankments	Tidhar et al. 2010
3.57	Grasslands/forest/rocky embankments	Tidhar et al. 2011
1.68	Grassland/shrub-steppe, agriculture	Enz and Bay 2011
14.11	Grassland	Arnett et al. 2011
14.38 2.17	Grassland	Arnett et al. 2011 Levenstein and Bay
1.13		2013a Levenstein and DiDonato
•		2015
0	Desert scrub, Joshua tree	VVEST 2017b
11.21	Agriculture/forested	Jain et al. 2007
6.49	Agriculture/forested	Jain et al. 2009a
4.96	Agriculture/forested	Jain et al. 2009b
7.3	Agriculture/forested	lidhar et al. 2013b
0.17	Agriculture	URS 2010b
0.27	Agriculture	URS 2010c
2.91	Forest	Stantec 2008a
0.45	Forest	Stantec 2009a
2.05	Desert shrub	Stantec 2011b
1.67	Desert shrub	Stantec 2012b
1.9	Agriculture and grasslands	ICF International 2012
0.84	Agriculture and grasslands	ICF International 2013
0.91	Agriculture	Harvey & Associates 2013
2.42	Agriculture/grassland Forest	Derby et al. 2010f Young et al. 2009c
	Fatalities (bats/ MW/year) 2.33 1.78 2.51 1.52 0.63 1.39 10 2.13 8.93 3.2 6.45 0.12 0.77 0.41 1.98 3.11 3.57 1.68 14.11 14.38 2.17 1.13 0 11.21 6.49 4.96 7.3 0.17 0.27 2.91 0.45 2.05 1.67 1.9 0.84 0.91 2.42	Fatalities (bats/Predominant Habitat Type2.33Agriculture Agriculture1.78Agriculture Agriculture/grassland1.52Agriculture/grassland1.52Agriculture/grassland0.63Agriculture/grassland1.39Agriculture Agriculture2.13Agriculture Agriculture2.13Agriculture Agriculture2.13Agriculture Agriculture3.2Agriculture/grassland3.2Agriculture/grassland6.45Agriculture/grassland0.12Forest; commercial forest 0.120.12Sagebrush-steppe, grassland0.77Agriculture/grassland agriculture0.14Grassland/shrub-steppe and agriculture1.98Agriculture1.98Agriculture3.57Grasslands/forest/rocky embankments1.68Grassland/shrub-steppe, agriculture1.13O0Desert scrub, Joshua tree11.21Agriculture/forested 4.964.438Grassland2.171.130Desert scrub, Joshua tree11.21Agriculture/forested 4.966.49Agriculture/forested 4.967.3Agriculture2.91Forest 0.270.27Agriculture2.91Forest 2.050.25Desert shrub 1.671.67Desert shrub 1.671.68Agriculture and grasslands 0.840.84Agriculture and grasslands 0.81 <tr< td=""></tr<>

Appendix A2. Bat fatality estimates for North American wind-energy facilities

	Fatalities (bats/		
Study	MW/year)	Predominant Habitat Type	Citation
Mount Storm, WV (2009)	17.53	Forest	Young et al. 2009a, 2010b
Mount Storm, WV (2010)	15.18	Forest	Young et al. 2010a, 2011b
Mount Storm, WV (2011)	7.43	Forest	Young et al. 2011a, 2012a
Mountaineer, WV (2003)	31.69	Forest	Kerns and Kerlinger 2004
Munnsville, NY (2008)	1.93	Agriculture/forest	Stantec 2009b
Mustang Hills, CA (2012-2013)	0.1	Grasslands and riparian	Chatfield and Bay 2014
Mustang Hills, CA (2014-2015)	0	NA	WEST 2016c
Mustang Hills, CA (2016-2017)	0.33	Desert scrub, Joshua tree	WEST 2018
Nine Canyon, WA (2002-2003)	2.47	Agriculture/grassland	Erickson et al. 2003
Noble Altona, NY (2010)	4.34	Forest	Jain et al. 2011a
Noble Bliss, NY (2008)	7.8	Agriculture/forest	Jain et al.2009c
Noble Bliss, NY (2009)	3.85	Agriculture/forest	Jain et al. 2010c
Noble Chateaugay, NY (2010)	2.44	Agriculture	Jain et al. 2011b
Noble Clinton, NY (2008)	3.14	Agriculture/forest	Jain et al. 2009d
Noble Clinton, NY (2009)	4.5	Agriculture/forest	Jain et al. 2010a
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2008)	3.46	Agriculture/forest	Jain et al. 2009e
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2009)	3.91	Agriculture/forest	Jain et al. 2010b
Noble Wethersfield, NY (2010)	16.3	Agriculture	Jain et al. 2011c
NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006)	1.16	Agriculture/grassland	Derby et al. 2007
Oakfield, ME (2017)	0.51	Grassland	TRC 2018
Odell, MN (2016-2017)	6.74	Agriculture	Chodachek and Gustafson 2018
Pacific Wind. CA (2014-2015)	0.21		WEST 2016a
Pacific Wind, CA (2015-2016)	0		WEST 2017a
Palouse Wind, WA (2012-2013)	4.23	Agriculture and grasslands	Stantec 2013a
Pebble Springs, OR (2009-2010)	1.55	Grassland	Gritski and Kronner 2010
Pinnacle, WV (2012)	40.2	Forest	Hein et al. 2013
Pinvon Pines I & II. CA (2013-2014)	0.04		Chatfield and Russo 201
Pinvon Pines I & II, CA (2015-2016)	0.18		Rintz and Starcevich 201
Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012)	4.43	Agriculture, grassland	Chodachek et al. 2012
Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013)	3.83	Agriculture	Chodachek et al. 2014
Pleasant Valley, MN (2016-2017)	1.8	, ignoulture	Tetra Tech 2017b
Prairie Rose MN (2014)	0.41	Agriculture	Chodachek et al. 2015
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot) ND (2010)	2 13	Agriculture	Derby et al. 2011d
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)	1 30	Agriculture grassland	Derby et al. 2012d
PrairieWinds SD1_SD (2011-2012)	1.00	Grassland	Derby et al. 2012c
Prairie/Winds SD1, SD (2011-2012)	1.25	Grassland	Derby et al. 2012c
Prairie/Winds SD1, SD (2012-2013)	0.52	Grassland	Derby et al. 2010a
Pail Splitter II. (2012-2013)	11 21	Agriculture	Good et al. 2013b
Record Hill ME $(2012-2013)$	2.96	Forest	Stantec 2013b
Record Hill ME (2014)	2.50	Forest	Stantec 2015a
Record Hill, ME (2016)	1 25	Forest	Stantec 2017
$Pod Hill_{OK} OK (2012, 2013)$	0.11	Grassland	Dorby of al. 2013c
Red Fills, OR (2012-2013) Piplov, Opt (2008)	0.11	Agriculturo	Lectures Whitford 2000
Nipicy, Ulit (2000) Rising Tree CA (2017 2019)	4.07	Aynoulluite Desert scrub, woodlood	Chatfield at al 2019
Rolling ME (2012)	0 19	Forest	Stantec 2013c
$\frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}{2} = \frac{1}$	0.10	Crovel	Stantos 2015b
$ \begin{array}{l} \textbf{R} \\ \textbf$	0.33		
ROIN ROCK, MD (2011) Durby ND (2010 2011)	0.24	KOCKY	Alwell, LLC 2012
Rugby, ND (2010-2011)	1.6	Agriculture	Derby et al. 2011c
Sniion I, CA (2006-2009)	3.92	Agriculture/grassland	Kerlinger et al. 2009
Shiloh II, CA (2009-2010)	2.6	Agriculture	Kerlinger et al. 2010, 2013a

Appendix Az. Dat latanty estimates for North American white-energy facilities

Study	Bat Fatalities (bats/ MW/year)	Prodominant Habitat Type	Citation
Shiloh II. CA (2011-2012)	3.4	Agriculture	Kerlinger et al. 2013a
Shiloh III. CA (2012 2012)	0.4	Agriculture	Korlinger et al. 2013b
Solono III, CA (2012-2013)	0.4		
Solario III, CA (2012-2013) Spring Valley, $NV(2012, 2012)$	0.31	Creadend shrub stanns	
Spring valley, NV (2012-2013)	3.73	Grassiand, shrub steppe	
(2014)	0.31		
Stateline, OR/WA (2001-2002)	1.09	Agriculture/grassland	Erickson et al. 2004
Stateline, OR/WA (2003)	2.29	Agriculture/grassland	Erickson et al. 2004
Stateline, OR/WA (2006)	0.95	Agriculture/grassland	Erickson et al. 2007
Steel Winds I & II, NY (2013)	6.14	Steel Winds I: grassland, shrub forest; Steel Wind II: gravel, steel slag	Stantec 2014c
Stetson II, ME (2014)	0.83	Forest	Stantec 2015c
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2009)	1.4	Forest	Stantec 2009c
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2011)	0.28	Forest	Normandeau Associates 2011
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2013)	0.18	Forest	Stantec 2014d
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2010)	1.65	Forest	Normandeau Associates 2010
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2012)	2.27	Forest	Stantec 2013d
Summerview, Alb (2005-2006)	10.27	Aariculture	Brown and Hamilton 2006
Summerview, Alb (2006: 2007)	11.42	Agriculture	Baerwald 2008
Top Crop I & II (2012-2013)	12.55	Agriculture	Good et al. 2013c
Top of Iowa IA (2003)	7 16	Agriculture	Jain 2005
Top of Iowa, $IA(2000)$	10.27	Agriculture	lain 2005
Top of the World WV (2010-2011)	2 74	Scrub-shrub grassland	Pintz and Bay 2012
Top of the World, $WY (2011-2012)$	2.74	Scrub-shrub grassland	Rintz and Bay 2012
Top of the World, $WV (2012, 2012)$	2.40	Scrub shrub grassland	Pintz and Bay 2013
Tupoppon Divor $M(A (2012-2013))$	2.04	Agriculture	Killiz allu Bay 2014 Hellingsted et al. 2016
Tucannon River, VVA (2015)	2.22	Agriculture	Failingstad et al. 2010
2010)	0.94	agriculture and forest	Enz and Bay 2010
Vansycle, OR (1999)	1.12	Agriculture/grassland	Erickson et al. 2000
Vantage, WA (2010-2011)	0.4	Shrub-steppe, grassland	Ventus Environmental Solutions 2012
waverly Wind, KS (2016-2017)	8.2	NA	Tetra Tech 2017a
Wessington Springs, SD (2009)	1.48	Grassland	Derby et al. 2010c
Wessington Springs, SD (2010)	0.41	Grassland	Derby et al. 2011a
White Creek, WA (2007-2011)	2.04	Grassland/shrub-steppe, agriculture	Downes and Gritski 2012b
Wild Horse, WA (2007)	0.39	Grassland	Erickson et al. 2008
Windstar, CA (2012-2013)	0		Levenstein and Bay 2013b
Windy Flats, WA (2010-2011)	0.41	Grassland/shrub-steppe, agriculture	Enz et al. 2011
Winnebago, IA (2009-2010)	4.54	Agriculture/grassland	Derby et al. 2010g
Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 2009)	6.42	Grassland	Stantec Consulting Ltd. (Stantec Ltd.) 2010
Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 2010)	9.5	Grassland	Stantec Ltd. 2011
Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 2011)	2.49	Grassland	Stantec Ltd. 2012

		-	-	Number			
Study	Total # of Turbines	Total MW	Tower Size (m)	Turbines Searched	Plot Size	Length of Study	Survey Frequency
Alite, CA (2009-2010)	8	24	80	8	200 m x 200 m	1 year	Weekly (spring, fall), bi- monthly (summer, winter)
Alta I, CA (2011-2012)	100	150	80	25	120-m radius circle	12.5 months	Every 2 weeks
Alta I, CA (2013-2014)	290	720	80		120m radius circle		Monthly ; bi-monthly
Alta I, CA (2015-2016)	290	720	80		120-m radius circle		Monthly; bi-monthly
Alta II-V, CA (2011-2012)	190	570	80	41	120-m radius circle	14.5 months	Every two weeks
Alta II-V, CA (2013-2014)	290	720	80		120-m radius circle		Monthly ; bi-monthly
Alta II-V, CA (2015-2016)	290	720	80		120-m radius circle		Monthly; bi-monthly
Alta VIII, CA (2012-2013)	50	150	90	12 plots (equivalent to 15 turbines)	240 m x 240 m	1 year	Bi-weekly
Alta VIII, CA (2014-2015)	100	300	90	NA	240 m x 240m	NA	Bi-monthly
Alta VIII, CA (2016-2017)	100	300	100	NA	240 m x 240m	1 year	Bi-weekly
Alta X, CA (2014-2015)	48	137	100	NA	240 m x 240m	NA	Bi-monthly
Alta X, CA (2015-2016)	48	137	100	NA	240 m x 240m	NA	Bi-monthly
Barton Chapel, TX (2009-2010)	60	120	78	30	200 m x 200 m	1 year	10 turbines weekly, 20 monthly
Barton I & II, IA (2010-2011)	80	160	100	35 (9 turbines were dropped in June 2010 due to landowner issues) 26 turbines were searched for the remainder of the study	200 m x 200 m	1 year	Weekly (spring, fall; migratory turbines), monthly (summer, winter; non-migratory turbines)
Beech Ridge, WV (2012)	67	100.5	80	67	40-m radius	7 months	Every 2 days
Beech Ridge, WV (2013)	67	100.5	80	67	40-m radius	7.5 months	Every 2 days
Big Blue, MN (2013)	18	36	78 or 90 (according to Gamesa website)	18	200-m diameter		Weekly, monthly (Nov and Dec)

Appendix A3. All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select study methodology.

	-	-	-	Number			-
	Total # of		Tower Size	Turbines		Length of	
Study	Turbines	Total MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Big Blue, MN (2014)	18	36	78 or 90 (according to Gamesa website)	18	200-m diameter	NA	Weekly, monthly (Nov and Dec)
Big Horn, WA (2006-2007)	133	199.5	80	133	180 m x 180 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Big Smile, OK (2012-2013)	66	132	78	17 (plus one met tower)	100 m x 100 m	1 year	Weekly (spring, summer, fall), monthly (winter)
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2008)	76	125.4	80	50	110 m x 110 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase I; 2009)	76	125.4	80	50	110 m x 110 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2009- 2010)	65	150	80	50	250 m x 250 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II; 2010- 2011)	65	150	80	50	252 m x 252 m	1 year	Bi-weekly(spring, fall), monthly (summer, winter)
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III; 2010- 2011)	76	174.8	80	50	252 m x 252 m	1 year	Bi-weekly(spring, fall), monthly (summer, winter)
Bingham Wind Project, ME (2017)	56	185			within 80 m; within 140 m	7 months	Twice weekly
Blue Sky Green Field, WI (2008; 2009)	88	145	80	30	160 m x 160 m	fall, spring	Daily(10 turbines), weekly (20 turbines)
Buffalo Gap I, TX (2006)	67	134	78	21	215 m x 215 m	10 months	Every 3 weeks
Buffalo Gap II, TX (2007-2008)	155	233	80	36	215 m x 215 m	14 months	Every 21 days
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2000-2003)	3	1.98	65	3	50-m radius	3 years	Bi-weekly, weekly, bi- monthly
Buffalo Mountain, TN (2005)	18	28.98	V47 = 65; V80 = 78	18	50-m radius	1 year	Bi-weekly, weekly, bi- monthly, and 2 to 5 day intervals
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1996)	73	25	36	21	126 m x 126 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1997)	73	25	36	21	126 m x 126 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1998)	73	25	36	21	126 m x 126 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 1999)	73	25	36	21	126 m x 126 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1998)	143	107.25	50	40	126 m x 126 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)

	-		-	Number	-	-	-
	Total # of		Tower Size	Turbines		Lenath of	
Study	Turbines	Total MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 1999)	143	107.25	50	40	126 m x 126 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2001/Lake Benton I)	143	107.25	50	83	60 m x 60 m	summer, fall	Bi-monthly
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 2002/Lake Benton II)	143	107.25	50	103	60 m x 60 m	summer, fall	Bi-monthly
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 1999)	138	103.5	50	30	126 m x 126 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, summer, and fall)
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2001/Lake Benton I)	138	103.5	50	83	60 m x 60 m	summer, fall	Bi-monthly
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 2002/Lake Benton II)	138	103.5	50	103	60 m x 60 m	summer, fall	Bi-monthly
Buffalo Ridge I, SD (2009-2010)	24	50.4	79	24	200 m x 200 m	1 year	Weekly (migratory), monthly (non-migratory)
Buffalo Ridge II, SD (2011-2012)	105	210	78	65 (60 road and pad, 5 turbine plots)	100 m x 100 m	1 year	Weekly (spring, summer, fall), monthly (winter)
Bull Hill, ME (2013)	19	34	95	19	80-m radius	6 months	Weekly (spring), daily and weekly (fall)
Cameron Ridge/Section 15, CA (2014- 2015)	34	102	80		62.5-m radius circle		Weekly
Cameron Ridge/Section 15, CA (2015- 2016)	34	102	80		125-m radius circle		Weekly
Casselman, PA (2008)	23	34.5	80	10	126 m x 120 m	7 months	Daily
Casselman, PA (2009)	23	34.5	80	10	126 m x 120 m	7.5 months	Daily searches
Cedar Ridge, WI (2009)	41	67.6	80	20	160 m x 160 m	spring, summer, fall	Daily, every 4 days; late fall searched every 3 days
Casselman Curtailment, PA (2008)	23	35.4	80	12 experimental; 10 control	126 m x 120 m	2.5 months	Daily
Cedar Ridge, WI (2010)	41	68	80	20	160 m x 160 m	1 year	Five turbines were surveyed daily, 15 turbines surveyed every 4 days in rotating groups each day. All 20 surveyed every 3 days during late fall
Chopin, OR (2016-2017)	6	10			270 m x 270 m	1 year	Monthly
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (2009)	50	125	80	17	130 m x 130 m	spring, summer, fall	Daily (5 turbines), weekly (12 turbines)

				Number			-
Study	Total # of		Tower Size	Turbines	Plot Sizo	Length of	
Cohoston/Dutch Hill NV (2012)	Turbines	101111111	(m)	Searched	120 m x 120 m	Sludy	Survey Frequency
	50	125	NA	NA	120 11 x 120 11	fall	Weekiy
Cohocton/Dutch Hills, NY (2010)	50	125	80	17	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	Daily, weekly
Combine Hills, OR (Phase I; 2004- 2005)	41	41	53	41	90-m radius	1 year	Monthly
Combine Hills, OR (2011)	104	104	53	52 (plus 1 MET tower)	180 m x 180 m	1 year	Bi-weekly(spring, fall), monthly (summer, winter)
Crescent Ridge, IL (2005-2006)	33	49.5	80	33	70-m radius	1 year	Weekly (fall, spring)
Criterion, MD (2011)	28	70	80	28	40- to 50-m radius	7.3 months	Daily
Criterion, MD (2012)	28	70	80	14	40- to 50-m radius	7.5 months	Weekly
Criterion, MD (2013)	28	70	80	14	40- to 50-m radius	7.5 months	Weekly
Crystal Lake II, IA (2009)	80	200	80	16 turbines through week 6, and then 15 for duration of study	100 m x 100 m	spring, summer, fall	3 times per week for 26 weeks
Diablo Winds, CA (2005-2007)	31	20.46	50 and 55	31	75 m x 75 m	2 years	Monthly
Dillon, CA (2008-2009)	45	45	69	15	200 m x 200 m	1 year	Weekly, bi-monthly in winter
Dry Lake I, AZ (2009-2010)	30	63	78	15	160 m x 160 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Dry Lake II, AZ (2011-2012)	31	65	78	31: 5 (full plot), 26 (road & pad)	160 m x 160 m	1 year	Twice weekly (spring, summer, fall), weekly (winter)
Elkhorn, OR (2008)	61	101	80	61	220 m x 220 m	1 year	Monthly
Elkhorn, OR (2010)	61	101	80	31	220 m x 220 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Elm Creek, MN (2009-2010)	67	100	80	29	200 m x 200 m	1 year	Weekly, monthly
Elm Creek II, MN (2011-2012)	62	148.8	80	30	200 m x 200m (2 random migration search areas 100 m x 100 m)	1 year	20 searched every 28 days, 10 turbines every 7 days during migration)
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 1999)	69	41.4	40	69	126 m x 126 m	1 year	Monthly
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 2000)	69	41.4	40	69	126 m x 126 m	1 year	Monthly
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 2001- 2002)	69	41.4	40	69	126 m x 126 m	1 year	Monthly

	-	-		Number	-		
	Total # of		Tower Size	Turbines		Length of	
Study	Turbines	Total MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Foote Creek Rim, WY (UV study; 1999- 2000)	105	67.5	Mitsubishi = 40, NEG = 50	105	120 m x 120 m	17 months	Monthly
Forward Energy Center, WI (2008- 2010)	86	129	80	29	160 m x 160 m	2 years	11 turbines daily, 9 every 3 days, 9 every 5 days
Fowler I, IN (2009)	162	301	78 (Vestas), 80 (Clipper)	25	160 m x 160 m	spring, summer, fall	Weekly, bi-weekly
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2010)	355	600	Vestas = 80, Clipper = 80, GE = 80	36 turbines, 100 road and pads	80 m x 80 m for turbines ; 40-m radius for roads and pads	spring, fall	Daily, weekly
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2011)	355	600	Vestas = 80, Clipper = 80, GE = 80	177 road and pads (spring), 9 turbines & 168 roads and pads (fall)	turbines (80 m circular plot), roads and pads (out to 80 m)	spring, fall	Daily, weekly
Fowler I, II, III, IN (2012)	355	600	Vestas = 80, Clipper = 80, GE = 80	118 roads and pads	roads and pads (out to 80 m)	2.5 months	Weekly
Fowler III, IN (2009)	60	99	78	12	160 m x 160 m	10 weeks	Weekly, bi-weekly
Fowler, IN (2014)	355	600			roads and pads	2.5 months	Twice weekly
Fowler, IN (2015)	420	NA			roads and pads	2.5 months	Weekly
Fowler, IN (2016)	420	750	80		roads and pads (out to 80 m)	3 months	Weekly
Goodnoe, WA (2009-2010)	47	94	80	24	180 m x 180 m	1 year	14 days during migration periods, 28 days during non-migration periods
Grand Ridge I, IL (2009-2010)	66	99	80	30	160 m x 160 m	1 year	Weekly, monthly
Groton, NH (2013)	24	48	NA	NA	roads and pads	7 months	Weekly
Groton, NH (2014)	NA	48	NA	NA	roads and pads	6 months	Weekly
Groton, NH (2015)	24	48	NA	NA	roads and pads	6 months	Weekly
Hancock, ME (2017)	17	51	80	NA	within 80 m; within 140 m	7 months	Twice weekly
Harrow, Ont (2010)	24 (four 6- turbine facilities)	39.6		12 in July, 24 Aug-Oct	50-m radius from turbine base	4 months	Twice-weekly
Harvest Wind, WA (2010-2012)	43	98.9	80	32	180 m x 180 m & 240 m x 240 m	2 years	Twice a week, weekly and monthly

Study	Total # of Turbines	Total MW	Tower Size (m)	Number Turbines Searched	Plot Size	Length of Studv	Survey Frequency
Hatchet Ridge, CA (2011)	44	101	80		127 m x 127 m (bi-monthly), 190 m x 190 m (monthly)	NA	Half bi-monthly; half monthly
Hatchet Ridge, CA (2012-2013)	44		80		127 m x 127 m	1 year	Bi-weekly
Hatchet Ridge, CA (2012)	44	101	80		127 m x 127 m (bi-monthly), 190 m x 190 m (monthly)		Half bi-monthly; half monthly
Hay Canyon, OR (2009-2010)	48	100.8	79	20	180 m x 180 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
High Sheldon, NY (2010)	75	112.5	80	25	115 m x 115 m	7 months	Daily (8 turbines), weekly (17 turbines)
High Sheldon, NY (2011)	75	112.5	80	25	115 m x 115 m	7 months	Daily (8 turbines), weekly (17 turbines)
High Winds, CA (2003-2004)	90	162	60	90	75-m radius	1 year	Bi-monthly
High Winds, CA (2004-2005)	90	162	60	90	75-m radius	1 year	Bi-monthly
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2006)	83	150	67	41	180 m x 180 m	1 year	Monthly, weekly (subset of 22 turbines spring and fall migration)
Hopkins Ridge, WA (2008)	87	156.6	67	41-43	180 m x 180 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Howard, NY (2012)	27	54	78.5		120 m x 120 m	7 months	Daily; weekly
Howard, NY (2013)	27	54	78.5		120 m x 120 m	6 months	Daily; weekly
Judith Gap, MT (2006-2007)	90	135	80	20	190 m x 190 m	7 months	Monthly
Judith Gap, MT (2009)	90	135	80	30	100 m x 100 m	5 months	Bi-monthly
Kewaunee County, WI (1999-2001)	31	20.46	65	31	60 m x 60 m	2 years	Bi-weekly (spring, summer), daily (spring, fall migration), weekly (fall, winter)
Kibby, ME (2011)	44	132	124	22 turbines	75-m diameter circular plots	22 weeks	Avg. 5-day
Kittitas Valley, WA (2011-2012)	48	100.8	80	48	100 m x 102 m	1 year	Bi-weekly from Aug 15 - Oct 31 and March 16 - May 15; every 4 weeks from Nov 1 - March 15 and May 16 - Aug 14
Klondike II, OR (2005-2006)	50	75	80	25	180 m x 180 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (summer, winter)

	-		-	Number		-	-
	Total # of		Tower Size	Turbines		Length of	
Study	Turbines	Total MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Klondike III (Phase I), OR (2007-2009)	125	223.6	GE = 80; Siemens=	46	240 m x 240 m (1 5 MW) 252 m	2 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall migration) monthly
			80,		x 252 m (2.3		(summer, winter)
			Mitsubishi =		MW)		
			80		,		
Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR (2008- 2010)	51	76.5	GE = 80	34	240 m x 240 m	2 years	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (summer, winter)
Klondike, OR (2002-2003)	16	24	80	16	140 m x 140 m	1 year	Monthly
Lakefield Wind, MN (2012)	137	205.5	80	26	100 m x 100 m	7.5 months	3 times per week
Laurel Mountain, WV (2014)	61	98	80	NA	90 m x 90 m	7 months	Every 3 days; daily
Leaning Juniper, OR (2006-2008)	67	100.5	80	17	240 m x 240 m	2 years	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Lempster, NH (2009)	12	24	78	4	120 m x 130 m	6 months	Daily
Lempster, NH (2010)	12	24	78	12	120 m x 130 m	6 months	Weekly
Linden Ranch, WA (2010-2011)	25	50	80	25	110 m x 110 m	1 year	Bi-weekly(spring, fall), monthly (summer, winter)
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2009)	51	102	80	15	120 m x 126 m	6.5 months	Daily
Locust Ridge, PA (Phase II; 2010)	51	102	80	15	120 m x 126 m	6.5 months	Daily
Lower West, CA (2012-2013)	7	14	110.5		120-m radius circle		Bi-monthly
Lower West, CA (2014-2015)	7	14	110.5		120-m radius circle		Bi-monthly
Lower West, CA (2016-2017)	7	14	110.5		120-m radius	1 year	Twice weekly
Maple Ridge, NY (2006)	120	198	80	50	130 m x 120 m	5 months	Daily (10 turbines), every 3 days (10 turbines), weekly (30 turbines)
Maple Ridge, NY (2007)	195	321.75	80	64	130 m x 120 m	7 months	Weekly
Maple Ridge, NY (2007-2008)	195	321.75	80	64	130 m x 120 m	7 months	Weekly
Maple Ridge, NY (2012)	195	321.75	80	105 (5 turbines, 100 roads/pads)	100 m x 100 m	3 months	Weekly
Marengo I, WA (2009-2010)	78	140.4	67	39	180 m x 180 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Marengo II, WA (2009-2010)	39	70.2	67	20	180 m x 180 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Mars Hill, ME (2007)	28	42	80.5	28	76-m diameter, extended plot 238-m diameter	spring, summer, fall	Daily (2 random turbines), weekly (all turbines): extended plot searched once per season

		-	-	Number			-
	Total # of		Tower Size	Turbines		Length of	
Study	Turbines	Total MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Mars Hill, ME (2008)	28	42	80.5	28	76-m diameter,	spring,	Weekly: extended plot
					extended plot 238-m diameter	summer, fall	searched once per season
Milford I, UT (2010-2011)	58	145	80	24	120 m x 120 m		Weekly
Milford I & II, UT (2011-2012)	107	160.5 (58.5 Phase I, 102 Phase II)	80	43	120 m x120 m		Every 10.5 days
Montezuma I, CA (2011)	16	36.8	80	16	105-m radius	1 year	Weekly and bi-Weekly
Montezuma I, CA (2012)	16	36.8	80	16	105-m radius	1 year	Weekly and bi-Weekly
Montezuma II, CA (2012-2013)	34	78.2	80	17	105-m radius	1 year	Weekly
Moraine II, MN (2009)	33	49.5	82.5	30	200 m x 200 m	1 year	Weekly (migratory), monthly (non-migratory)
Mount Storm, WV (2008)	82	164	78	27	varied	3 months	Weekly (18 turbines), daily (9 turbines)
Mount Storm, WV (2009)	132	264	78	44	varied	4.5 months	Weekly (28 turbines), daily (16 turbines)
Mount Storm, WV (2010)	132	264	78	24	20 m to 60 m from turbine	6 months	Daily
Mount Storm, WV (2011)	132	264	78	24	varied	6 months	Daily
Mountaineer, WV (2003)	44	66	80	44	60-m radius	7 months	Weekly, monthly
Munnsville, NY (2008)	23	34.5	69.5	12	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	Weekly
Mustang Hills, CA (2012-2013)	50	150	90	13 plots (equivalent to 15 turbines)	240 m x 240 m	1 year	Bi-weekly
Mustang Hills, CA (2014-2015)	100	300	90	·	240 m x 240 m		Bi-monthly
Mustang Hills, CA (2016-2017)	100	300	100		240 m x 240 m	1 year	Bi-weekly
Nine Canyon, WA (2002-2003)	37	48.1	60	37	90-m radius	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, summer, fall), monthly (winter)
Noble Altona, NY (2010)	65	97.5	80	22	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	Daily, weekly
Noble Bliss, NY (2008)	67	100	80	23	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	Daily (8 turbines), 3-day (8 turbines), weekly (7 turbines)
Noble Bliss, NY (2009)	67	100	80	23	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	Weekly, 8 turbines searched daily from July 1 to August 15

		-		Number	-		-
Ctudy.	Total # of		Tower Size	Turbines	Diat Size	Length of	
Study			(11)	Searcheu	100 m x 100 m	Study	Survey Frequency
Noble Chaleaugay, NY (2010)	71	106.5	80	24	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	текту
Noble Clinton, NY (2008)	67	100	80	23	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	Daily (8 turbines), 3-day (8 turbines), weekly (7 turbines)
Noble Clinton, NY (2009)	67	100	80	23	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	Daily (8 turbines), weekly (15 turbines), all turbines weekly from July 1 to August 15
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2008)	54	80	80	18	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	Daily (6 turbines), 3-day (6 turbines), weekly (6 turbines)
Noble Ellenburg, NY (2009)	54	80	80	18	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	Daily (6 turbines), weekly (12 turbines), all turbines weekly from July 1 to August 15
Noble Wethersfield, NY (2010)	84	126	80	28	120 m x 120 m	spring, summer, fall	Weekly
NPPD Ainsworth, NE (2006)	36	20.5	70	36	220 m x 220 m	spring, summer, fall	Bi-monthly
Oakfield, ME (2017)	48	148	94		within 80 m; within 140 m	7 months	Every other day
Odell, MN (2016-2017)	100	200			120 m x 120 m	1 year	Monthly; weekly
Pacific Wind, CA (2014-2015)	70	144			126-m radius circle		Weekly
Pacific Wind, CA (2015-2016)	70	144	78.5		126-m diameter circle		Weekly
Palouse Wind, WA (2012-2013)	58	104.4	80, 90, or 105 m (according to the Vestas website)	19	120 m x 120 m	1 year	Monthly (winter) and weekly (spring-fall)
Passadumkeag, ME (2016)	13	43	•		80-m radius	6 months	Every 3 days
Pebble Springs, OR (2009-2010)	47	98.7	79	20	180 m x 180 m	1 year	Bi-monthly (spring, fall), monthly (winter, summer)
Pine Tree, CA (2009-2010, 2011)	90	135	65	40	100-m radius	1.5 year	Bi-weekly, weekly
Pinnacle, WV (2012)	23	55.2	80	11	126 m x 120m	9 months	Weekly
Pinyon Pines I & II, CA (2013-2014)	100		90	25 plots (approx. 31 turbines)	240 m x 240 m		Bi-weekly

	-	-		Number			-
	Total # of		Tower Size	Turbines		Length of	
Study	Turbines	Total MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Pinyon Pines I & II, CA (2015-2016)	100	300	90	NA	240 m x 240 m	NA	Bi-monthly
Pinyon Pines I & II, CA (2017-2018)	100	300	90	NA	240 m x 240 m	1 year	Bi-weekly
Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2011-2012)	62	102.3	80	62 (57 road/pad) 5 full search plots	80 m x 80 m	1 year	Weekly (spring and fall), every two weeks (summer), monthly (winter)
<u>Pioneer Prairie II, IA (2013)</u>	62	102.3	80	62	80x80 m (5 turbines), road and pad within 100 m of turbine (57 turbines)		Weekly
Pleasant Valley, MN (2016-2017)	100	200	95		160 m x 160 m		Weekly
Prairie Rose, MN (2014)	119	200	80		100 m x 100 m (spring); roads and pads (fall)	1 year	Weekly
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2010)	80	115.5	89	35	minimum of 100 m x 100 m	3 seasons	Bi-monthly
PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (2011)	80	115.5	80	35	minimum 100 m x 100m	3 season	Twice monthly
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2011-2012)	108	162	80	50	200 m x 200m	1 year	Twice monthly (spring, summer, fall), monthly (winter)
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2012-2013)	108	162	80	50	200 m x 200 m	1 year	Bi-weekly
PrairieWinds SD1, SD (2013-2014)	108	162	80	45	200 m x 200 m	1 year	Twice monthly (spring, summer, fall), monthly (winter)
Rail Splitter, IL (2012-2013)	67	100.5	80	34	60-m radius	1 year	Weekly (spring, summer, and fall) and bi-weekly (winter)
Record Hill, ME (2012)	22	50.6	80	22	126.5 m x 126.5 m	5 months	Three times every two weeks
Record Hill, ME (2014)	22	50.6	80	10	varied due to steep terrain and heavily vegetated areas	4.5 months	Daily for 5 days a week
Record Hill, ME (2016)	22	51	80		85-m diameter	7 months	3 times every 2 weeks
Red Hills, OK (2012-2013)	82	123	80	20 (plus one met tower)	100 m x 100 m	1 year	Weekly (spring, summer, fall), monthly (winter)

		-		Number			-
	Total # of		Tower Size	Turbines		Length of	
Study	Turbines	Total MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Ripley, Ont (2008)	38	76	64	38	80 m x 80 m	spring, fall	Twice weekly for odd
							turbines; weekly for even
							turbines.
Rising Tree, CA (2015-2016)	60	198	84		280 m x 280 m		Bi-monthly
Rising Tree, CA (2017-2018)	60	198	84		280 m x 280 m	1 year	Bi-weekly
Rollins, ME (2012)	40	60	80	20	varied; turbine	6 months	Weekly
					laydown area		
					and graver		
					to 60 m		
Polling ME (2014)	40	60			60 m radius	6 months	Weekly
Rollins, ME (2014)	40	<u> </u>	00		00-111 Taulus	2 months	
Rudhy ND (2010 2011)	20	140	79	30	200 m x 200 m		Wookly (spring fall:
Rugby, ND (2010-2011)	7 1	149	10	32	200 111 X 200 111	i year	migratory turbines)
							monthly (non-migratory
							turbines)
Shiloh I. CA (2006-2009)	100	150	65	100	105-m radius	3 vears	Weekly
Shiloh II. CA (2009-2010)	75	150	80	25	100-m radius	1 vear	Weekly
Shiloh II. CA (2010-2011)	75	150	80	25	100-m radius	1 vear	Weekly
Shiloh II, CA (2011-2012)	75	150	80	25	100-m radius	1 year	Weekly
Shiloh III, CA (2012-2013)	50	102.5	78.5	25	100-m radius	,	Weekly
Solano III, CA (2012-2013)	55	128	80	19	100-m radius		Bi-Weekly
Spring Valley, NV (2012-2013)					126 m x 126 m	14 months	Bi-weekly; daily
Spruce Mountain Wind Project, ME	10	20			roads and pads	А	Twice weekly
(2014)					-		-
Stateline, OR/WA (2001-2002)	454	299	50	124	minimum 126 m	17 months	Bi-weekly, monthly
					x 126 m		
Stateline, OR/WA (2003)	454	299	50	153	minimum 126 m	1 year	Bi-weekly, monthly
					x 126 m		
Stateline, OR/WA (2006)	454	299	50	39	variable turbine	1 year	Bi-weekly
					strings		
Steel Winds I & II, NY (2013)	14	35	80		120 m x 120 m	5 months	
Stetson II, ME (2014)	17	26	00	10	60-m radius	6 months	VVeekly
Stetson Mountain I, ME (2009)	38	57	80	19	76-m diameter	27 Weeks	Weekly
						(spring,	
Stateon Mountain L ME (2011)	20	57	00	10	70 /5 m v70 /5	Summer, Iall)	Maakhy
	30	57	ou	19	19.40 III X19.40 m	o monuns	VVCCKIY
Stetson Mountain L ME (2013)	38	57	80	10	76-m diameter	6 months	Weekly
	50	51	00	19		0 monuis	VV CONIY

		-		Number			-
Churcher	I otal # of		lower Size	lurbines		Length of	
Study	1 urbines		<u>(m)</u>	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
	17	25.5	80	17	74.5 m x 74.5 m	6 months	week)
Stetson Mountain II, ME (2012)	17	25.5	80	17	laydown area and road up to 60 m	6 months	Weekly
Summerview, Alb (2005-2006)	39	70.2	67	39	140 m x 140 m	1 year	Weekly, bi-weekly (May to July, September)
Summerview, Alb (2006; 2007)	39	70.2	65	39	52-m radius; 2 spiral transects 7 m apart	summer, fall (2 years)	2 Daily (10 turbines), weekly (29 turbines)
Thunder Spirit, ND (2016-2017)	43	108	80		160m x 160m; roads and pads	10 months	Twice monthly
Top Crop I & II (2012-2013)	68 (Phase I), 132 (Phase (II)	300 (102 Phase I, 198 Phase II)	65 (Phase I), 80 (Phase II)	100	61-m radius	1 year	Weekly (spring, summer, and fall) and bi-weekly (winter)
Top of Iowa, IA (2003)	89	80	71.6	26	76 m x 76 m	spring, summer, fall	Once every 2 to 3 days
Top of Iowa, IA (2004)	89	80	71.6	26	76 m x 76 m	spring, summer, fall	Once every 2 to 3 days
Top of the World, WY (2010-2011)	110	200			160 m x 160 m	1 year	Weekly; bi-monthly
Top of the World, WY (2011-2012)	110	200			160 m x 160 m	1 year	Weekly; bi-monthly
Top of the World, WY (2012-2013)	110	200			160 m x 160 m	1 year	Weekly; bi-monthly
Tucannon River, WA (2015)	116	267			134-m radius	1 year	Na
Tuolumne (Windy Point I), WA (2009- 2010)	62	136.6	80	21	180 m x 180 m	1 year	Monthly throughout the year, a sub-set of 10 turbines were also searched weekly during the spring, summer, and fall
Vansycle, OR (1999)	38	24.9	50	38	126 m x 126 m	1 year	Monthly
Vantage, WA (2010-2011)	60	90	80	30	240 m x 240 m	1 year	Monthly, a subset of 10 searched weekly during migration
Waverly Wind, KS (2016-2017)	95	199	93		160 m x 160 m; roads and pads	1 year	Weekly, bi-weekly
Wessington Springs, SD (2009)	34	51	80	20	200 m x 200 m	spring, summer, fall	Bi-monthly

		-		Number	-		-
	Total # of		Tower Size	Turbines		Length of	
Study	Turbines	Total MW	(m)	Searched	Plot Size	Study	Survey Frequency
Wessington Springs, SD (2010)	34	51	80	20	200 m x 200 m	8 months	Bi-weekly (spring, summer, fall)
White Creek, WA (2007-2011)	89	204.7	80	89	180 m x 180 m & 240 m x 240 m	4 years	Twice a week, weekly and monthly
Wild Horse, WA (2007)	127	229	67	64	110 m from 2 turbines in plot	1 year	Monthly, weekly (fall, spring migration at 16 turbines)
Windstar, CA (2012-2013)	53	106	107 /110.5	NA	120-m radius circle	NA	Monthly; bi-monthly
Windy Flats, WA (2010-2011)	114	262.2	80	36 (plus 1 MET tower)	180 m x 180 m (120 m at MET tower)	1 year	Monthly (spring, summer, fall, and winter), weekly (spring and fall migration)
Winnebago, IA (2009-2010)	10	20	78	10	200 m x 200 m	1 year	Weekly (migratory), monthly (non-migratory)
Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 2009)	86	197.8	80	86	60-m radius	summer, fall	43 twice weekly, 43 weekly
Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 2010)	86	197.8	80	86	50-m radius	6 months	43 twice weekly, 43 weekly
Wolfe Island, Ont (July-December 2011)	86	197.8	80	86	50m radius	6 months	43 twice weekly, 43 weekly

Data from the following sources.	Deferrere	Duciant Lanation	Deferrere
	Chatfield at al. 2010		
Alite, CA Alta Wind I. CA (11)	Chatfield et al. 2010 Chatfield et al. 2012	Kewaunee County, WI	Howe et al. 2002 Stantec 2012a
Alta Wind II-V. CA (11)	Chatfield et al. 2012	Kittitas Vallev. WA (11-12)	Stantec Consulting
Barton I&II, IA	Derby et al. 2011b	Klondike, OR	Services 2012 Johnson et al. 2003
Barton Chapel, TX	WEST 2011	Klondike II, OR	Northwest Wildlife Consultants (NWC) and
Beech Ridge, WV	Tidhar et al. 2013a	Klondike III (Phase I). OR	WEST 2007 Gritski et al. 2010
Big Horn, WA	Kronner et al. 2008	Klondike IIIa (Phase II), OR	Gritski et al. 2011
Big Smile, OK	Derby et al. 2013b	Leaning Juniper, OR	Gritski et al. 2008
Biglow Canvon, OR (Phase I: 08)	Jeffrev et al. 2009b	Lempster, NH (09)	Tidhar et al. 2010
Biglow Canvon, OR (Phase I: 09)	Enk et al. 2010	Lempster, NH (10)	Tidhar et al. 2011
Biglow Canvon, OR (Phase II:	Enk et al. 2011b		Enz and Bay 2011
09/10)		Linden Ranch, WA	
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase II;	Enk et al. 2012b	Locust Ridge, PA (Phase	Arnett et al. 2011
Biglow Canyon, OR (Phase III; 10/11)	Enk et al. 2012a	Locust Ridge, PA (Phase	Arnett et al. 2011
Blue Sky Green Field, WI	Gruver et al. 2009	Maple Ridge, NY (06)	Jain et al. 2007
Buffalo Gap I. TX	Tiernev 2007	Maple Ridge, NY (07)	Jain et al. 2009a
Buffalo Gap II. TX	Tierney 2009	Maple Ridge, NY (08)	Jain et al. 2009b
Buffalo Mountain, TN (00-03)	Nicholson et al. 2005	Marengo I, WA (09)	URS 2010b
Buffalo Mountain, TN (05)	Fiedler et al. 2007	Marengo II, WA (09)	URS 2010c
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 96)	Johnson et al. 2000	Mars Hill, ME (07)	Stantec 2008a
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 97)	Johnson et al. 2000	Mars Hill, ME (08)	Stantec 2009a
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 98)	Johnson et al. 2000	Moraine II, MN	Derby et al. 2010f
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase I; 99)	Johnson et al. 2000	Mount Storm, WV (Fall 08)	Young et al. 2009c
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II;98)	Johnson et al. 2000	Mount Storm, WV (09)	Young et al. 2009a, 2010b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 99)	Johnson et al. 2000	Mount Storm, WV (10)	Young et al. 2010a, 2011b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II;	Johnson et al. 2004		Young et al. 2011a, 2012a
01/Lake Benton I)			C
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase II; 02/Lake Benton I)	Johnson et al. 2004	Mountaineer, WV (03)	Kerns and Kerlinger 2004
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III; 99)	Johnson et al. 2000	Munnsville, NY (08)	Stantec 2009b
Buffalo Ridge, MN (Phase III;	Johnson et al. 2004		Frielder at al. 0000
01/Lake Benton II)	Johnson et al. 2004	Nine Canyon, WA	Erickson et al. 2003
02/Lake Benton II)	Johnson et al. 2004	Noble Altona, NY	Jain et al. 2011a
Buffalo Ridge L SD (10)	Derby et al. 2010d	Noble Bliss NV (08)	lain et al 2009c
Buffalo Ridge II SD (10)	Derby et al. 2010a	Noble Bliss, NY (09)	lain et al 2010c
Casselman PA (08)	Arnett et al. 2009b	Noble Chateaugay, NY	lain et al 2011b
Casselman, PA (09)	Arnett et al. 2000	Noble Clinton NY (08)	Jain et al 2009d
Casselman Curtailment PA (08)	Arnett et al. 2009a	Noble Clinton, NY (09)	lain et al. 2000d
Cedar Ridge WI (09)	BHE Environmental 2010	Noble Ellenburg, NY (08)	Jain et al. 2009e
Cedar Ridge, WI (10)	BHE Environmental 2011	Noble Ellenburg, NY (09)	Jain et al 2010b
Cohocton/Dutch Hill, NY (09)	Stantec 2010	Noble Wethersfield, NY	Jain et al. 2011c
Cohocton/Dutch Hills NY (10)	Stantec 2011a	NPPD Ainsworth NF	Derby et al. 2007
Combine Hills OR	Young et al. 2006	Pebble Springs OR	Gritski and Kronner 2010b
Combine Hills, OR (11)	Enz et al. 2012	Pine Tree, CA	BioResource Consultants
	Kerlinger at al. 2007	Dioneer Proirie L IA (Dhees	2012 Chodachek at al. 2012
Crescent Ridge, IL			
Criterion, MD (11)	roung et al. 2012b	ND	Derby et al. 2011d
Criterion, MD (12)	Young et al. 2013	PrairieWinds ND1 (Minot), ND (11)	Derby et al. 2012d

Appendix A3 (*continued*). All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select survey methodology. Data from the following sources:

Data non the following sources.			
Project, Location	Reference	Project, Location	Reference
Crystal Lake II, IA	Derby et al. 2010b	PrairieWinds SD1, SD	Derby et al. 2012c
Diablo Winds, CA	WEST 2006, 2008	Prince Wind Farm, Ont	Natural Resource
Dillon, CA	Chatfield et al. 2009	Prince Wind Farm, Ont (07)	Natural Resource Solutions 2009
Dry Lake I, AZ	Thompson et al. 2011	Prince Wind Farm, Ont (07)	Natural Resource Solutions 2009
Dry Lake II, AZ Elkhorn, OR (08) Elkhorn, OR (10) Flm Creek, MN	Thompson and Bay 2012 Jeffrey et a. 2009a Enk et al. 2011a Derby et al. 2010e	Red Hills, OK Ripley, Ont (08) Rugby, ND Shiloh I, CA	Derby et al. 2013c Jacques Whitford 2009 Derby et al. 2011c Kerlinger et al. 2009
Elm Creek II, MN	Derby et al. 2012b	Shiloh II, CA	Kerlinger et al. 2010,
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I;	Young et al. 2003	Stateline, OR/WA (02)	Erickson et al. 2004
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 00)	Young et al. 2003	Stateline, OR/WA (03)	Erickson et al. 2004
Foote Creek Rim, WY (Phase I; 01-02)	Young et al. 2003	Stateline, OR/WA (06)	Erickson et al. 2007
Forward Energy Center, WI	Grodsky and Drake 2011	Stetson Mountain I, ME (09)	Stantec 2009c
Fowler I, IN (09)	Johnson et al. 2010a	Stetson Mountain I, ME (11)	Normandeau Associates 2011
Fowler I, II, III, IN (10)	Good et al. 2011	Stetson Mountain II, ME (10)	Normandeau Associates 2010
Fowler I, II, III, IN (11) Fowler I, II, III, IN (12) Fowler III, IN (09)	Good et al. 2012 Good et al. 2013a Johnson et al. 2010b	Summerview, Alb (06) Summerview, Alb (08) Top of Iowa, IA (03)	Brown and Hamilton 2006 Baerwald 2008 Jain 2005
Goodnoe, WA	URS Corporation (URS) 2010a	Top of Iowa, IA (04)	Jain 2005
Grand Ridge I, IL	Derby et al. 2010a	Tuolumne (Windy Point I), WA	Enz and Bay 2010
Harrow, Ont (10)	Natural Resources Solutions Inc. 2011	Vansycle, OR	Erickson et al. 2000
Harvest Wind, WA (10-12)	Downes and Gritski 2012a	Vantage, WA	Ventus Environmental Solutions 2012
Hay Canyon, OR	Gritski and Kronner 2010a	Wessington Springs, SD (09)	Derby et al. 2010c
High Sheldon, NY (10)	Tidhar et al. 2012a	Wessington Springs, SD (10)	Derby et al. 2011a
High Sheldon, NY (11) High Winds, CA (04) High Winds, CA (05) Hopkins Ridge, WA (06)	Tidhar et al. 2012b Kerlinger et al. 2006 Kerlinger et al. 2006 Young et al. 2007	White Creek, WA (07-11) Wild Horse, WA Windy Flats, WA Winnebago, IA	Downes and Gritski 2012b Erickson et al. 2008 Enz et al. 2011 Derby et al. 2010g
Hopkins Ridge, WA (08)	Young et al. 2009b	Wolfe Island, Ont (July-Dec 09)	Stantec Ltd. 2010
Judith Gap, MT (06-07)	TRC Environmental Corporation 2008	Wolfe Island, Ont (July-Dec 10)	Stantec Ltd. 2011
Judith Gap, MT (09)	Poulton and Erickson 2010	Wolfe Island, Ont (July-Dec 11)	Stantec Ltd. 2012

Appendix A3 (*continued*). All post-construction monitoring studies, project characteristics, and select survey methodology. Data from the following sources: Appendix M. Whooping Crane Operational Procedure and Monitoring Program for the North Bend Wind Project,

WHOOPING CRANE MONITORING PLAN AND TURBINE SHUT-DOWN PROTOCOL NORTH BEND WIND PROJECT, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota

Prepared for:

North Bend Wind Project, LLC

3760 State Street, Suite 200 Santa Barbara, California 93105

Prepared by:

Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc.

4007 State Street, Suite 109 Bismarck, North Dakota 85801

June 13, 2022



Pre-Decisional Document - Business Confidential Information - Not for Distribution

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1	INTRODUCTION	2
2	WHOOPING CRANE MONITORING	6
3	ACTIVITY SHUT-DOWN PROTOCOL	6
4	REFERENCES	7

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	1. Location of the North Bend Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.	_
		3
Figure	2. The Watershed Institute suitable whooping crane stopover habitat wetlands (scores	
	>12; TWI [2012]) for the North Bend Wind Project within one mile of proposed	
	turbines	.4
Figure	3. Relative probability of whooping crane use within the North Bend Wind Project	
	based on Niemuth et al. (2018)	.5

1 INTRODUCTION

North Bend Wind Project, LLC (North Bend) is proposing to develop the North Bend Wind Project (Project) in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota (Figure 1). As currently proposed, the Project would have a generation capacity of approximately 200 megawatts (MW), consisting of up to 71 GE 2.8MW wind turbines encompassing approximately 47,000 acres. The Project would also include electric underground collection lines and communication lines, a transmission line, a Project substation, a switchyard, access roads connecting turbines and associated facilities, a permanent meteorological tower, and a temporary laydown yard. The location of the Project in Hughes and Hyde counties has been sited and initially developed with coordination between US Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS), South Dakota Game, Fish, and Parks (GFP), and Western Area Power Administration (WAPA).

The Project is located within the migration corridor of the federally endangered whooping crane (*Grus americana*). North Bend conducted a stopover habitat assessment to identify suitable wetland habitat for whooping crane, using The Watershed Institute model (TWI 2012) and a scoring threshold of wetlands that scored 12 or better (Figure 2). The project layout was also evaluated using a stopover habitat model developed by Niemuth et al. (2018; Niemuth Model) to create a predictive map of relative probability of use by whooping cranes (Figure 3). The stopover habitat assessment analyses using the Niemuth Model and the TWI model show similar results. Suitable stopover habitat for whooping cranes (TWI scored wetlands 12 or greater) occurs in limited amounts within a mile of proposed turbines at the Project (Figure 2), and the Niemuth Model shows a low probability of whooping crane use as compared to the surrounding landscape (Figure 3).

North Bend has developed a whooping crane monitoring and voluntary activity shut-down protocol to minimize the potential for impacts to whooping cranes during spring and fall migration seasons, when the species may potentially be present. This study plan is based on commitments provided in the North Bend Bird and Bat Conservation Strategy (BBCS).


Figure 1. Location of the North Bend Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.



Figure 2. The Watershed Institute suitable whooping crane stopover habitat wetlands (scores >12; TWI [2012]) for the North Bend Wind Project within one mile of proposed turbines.



Figure 3. Relative probability of whooping crane use within the North Bend Wind Project based on Niemuth et al. (2018).

2 WHOOPING CRANE MONITORING

Whooping crane monitoring will be focused during the spring and fall migration seasons during construction and operation of the Project. The spring migration season is defined as approximately April 1 to May 15, and the fall migration season is September 10 to October 31. South Dakota Ecological Services Field Office may be contacted to define the timing of annual whooping crane migration in subsequent years. Monitoring will take place daily, and because whooping cranes are diurnal migrants, will primarily focus with the first and last two hours of daylight each day. A Project Construction Manager or Site Manager (or their designee) will drive along public roads and Project access roads within two miles of turbine locations and visually scan the skies, fields, grasslands, wetlands, and other open areas for the presence of cranes, using binoculars or a spotting scope on a daily basis. If any whooping cranes are observed, the number of cranes, UTM location coordinates, and behavior will be recorded, along with maps depicting any flight paths in the Project. Any flocks of sandhill cranes (*Grus canadensis*) will also be examined closely because whooping cranes sometimes travel with sandhill cranes.

The whooping crane monitoring protocol applies to both construction and operation periods as stated below:

- Construction Manager or their designee will conduct construction monitoring during the above defined spring and fall migration seasons, and stop construction activities (see shut-down protocol below) within two miles of observed whooping cranes until the area is vacated.
- Site Manager or their designee will conduct operational monitoring during the above defined spring and fall migration seasons. Operations staff will be trained to identify whooping cranes, and if any are noted in the Project, turbines within two miles of the whooping crane(s) will be shut down (see shut down protocol below) until whooping cranes have vacated the area.

3 ACTIVITY SHUT-DOWN PROTOCOL

Construction, and Operation and Maintenance (O&M) personnel will be made aware of potential for the species to occur during spring and fall migration and the process to follow if a whooping crane(s) is believed to have been observed in the Project. A whooping crane identification poster will be permanently posted in the O&M facility for reference, and tri-fold identification pamphlets will be made available for personnel to carry on their person. A communication calling tree will be developed for any confirmed sightings of whooping cranes within two miles.

If construction personnel observe a crane(s) within two miles of the Project, the Construction Manager or their designee will halt construction activities within two miles of the observed crane(s) until cranes(s) are greater than two miles away. North Bend will inform the US Fish and Wildlife Service and South Dakota Game Fish and Parks of any whooping crane observations and any construction modification made based on the location of the observation.

Similarly, if operations personnel observe a crane(s) within 2-miles of the Project, the Site Manager or their designee will halt all turbine operations within two miles of the observed crane(s) until whooping cranes(s) are more than two miles away for more than two hours. North Bend will inform the agencies of any whooping crane observations and any corresponding shut-down of turbines.

4 **REFERENCES**

ArcGIS. GIS Software. ArcGIS 10.2. ESRI, Redlands, California.

- ESRI. 2019. World Imagery and Aerial Photos. (World Topo). ArcGIS Resource Center. Environmental Systems Research Institute (ESRI), producers of ArcGIS software. Redlands, California. Information online: <u>http://www.arcgis.com/home/webmap/viewer.html?useExisting=1</u>
- Niemuth, N. D., A. J. Ryba, A. T. Pearse, S. M. Kvas, D. A. Brandt, B. Wangler, J. E. Austin, and M. J. Carlisle. 2018. Opportunistically Collected Data Reveal Habitat Selection by Migrating Whooping Cranes in the U.S. Northern Plains. Condor 120(2): 343-356. doi: 10.1650/CONDOR-17-80.1.

North American Datum (NAD). 1983. Nad83 Geodetic Datum.

The Watershed Institute, Inc. (TWI) 2012. Potentially suitable habitat assessment for the whooping crane (*Grus americana*). Topeka, KS.

Appendix N. North Bend Wind Project Field Studies and Habitat Assessments Summary 2016 – 2021 Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota North Bend Wind Project Field Studies and Habitat Assessments Summary 2016 – 2021 Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota



Prepared for:

North Bend Wind Project, LLC

3760 State Street, Suite 200 Santa Barbara, California 93105

Prepared by:

Martin Piorkowski and Caleb Arellano

Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. 4007 State Street, Suite 109 Bismarck, North Dakota

June 30, 2021



Privileged and Confidential - Not for Distribution

TABLE OF CONTENTS

NTRODUCTION	. 1
PROJECT AREA DESCRIPTION	. 3
Land Cover	. 5
AVIAN USE SURVEYS	. 5
Fixed-point Survey Efforts (2016 – 2017)	. 6
Fixed-point Survey Efforts (2018 – 2019)	. 7
Fixed-point Survey Efforts (2019 – 2020)	. 7
Fixed-point Survey Efforts (2020 – 2021): Ongoing	. 7
RAPTOR NEST SURVEYS	10
2016 Surveys	.10
2018 Surveys	.12
2019 Surveys	.14
2020 Surveys	16
PRAIRIE GROUSE LEK SURVEYS	19
Aerial Surveys	.19
Ground Surveys	20
BAT ACOUSTIC SURVEYS	23
Summarized Results	23
NORTHERN LONG-EARED BAT HABItAT ASSESSMENT	26
WHOOPING CRANE STOPOVER HABITAT	29
REFERENCES	31

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Land cover, coverage, and percent (%) composition within the North Bend Wind	
Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota Error! Bookmark not defin	ed.
Table 2. Location of raptor nest sites observed during 2016 surveys located in the currentNorth Bend Wind Project and surrounding 3.2-kilometer (2.0-mile) buffer, Hughes andHyde counties, South Dakota.	10
Table 3. Location of raptor nest sites surveyed and/or observed during 2018 surveys located in the current North Bend Wind Project and surrounding 3.2-kilometer (2.0-mile) buffer, Hughes and Hude counties. South Dekete	10
builer, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.	12

14
16
22
23

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1. Location of the North Bend Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.	2
Figure 2. Land cover types and protected lands within the current North Bend Wind Project boundary located in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota	4
Figure 3. Location of fixed-point avian use survey stations completed in from 2016-2021 throughout the North Bend Wind Project boundary located in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota. The MCP Boundary (purple outline) encapsulates the final proposed turbine layout.	9
Figure 4. Location of raptor nests identified during surveys in 2016 for the North Bend Wind Project and 3.2-kilometer (km; 2.0-mile [mi]) buffer in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota	.11
Figure 5. Location of raptor nests identified during surveys in 2018 for the North Bend Wind Project and 3.2-kilometer (km; 2.0-mile [mi]) buffer in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota	.13
Figure 6. Location of raptor nests identified during surveys in 2019 for the North Bend Wind Project and 3.2-kilometer (km; 2.0-mile [mi]) buffer in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota. Shaded "No Fly Areas" included lands not surveyed in 2019	.15
Figure 7. Location of raptor nests identified during surveys in 2020 for the North Bend Wind Project and 3.2-kilometer (km; 2.0-mile [mi]) buffer in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota. Shaded "No Fly Area" included lands not surveyed in 2020	.18
Figure 8. Location and 2020 status of potential prairie grouse leks identified during surveys within the North Bend Wind Project and 1.6-kilometer (1.0-mile) buffer from the 2016, 2018, 2019, and 2020 breeding seasons, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.	.21

Figure 9. Location of AnaBat detectors deployed during 2016 and 2018 within the North Bend	
Wind Project boundary in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota	25
Figure 10. Northern long-eared bat habitat assessment of the North Bend Wind Project and 4.0-kilometer (2.5-mile) buffer, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota	28
Figure 11. Map of wetlands scored using the predictive habitat use model (Niemuth et al. 2018) for the current North Bend Wind Project boundary and surrounding area in Hughes, Hyde, and Sully counties, South Dakota	30

INTRODUCTION

North Bend Wind Project, LLC (North Bend) is considering the development of the North Bend Wind Project (Project) in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota. North Bend contracted with Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) to conduct baseline wildlife and habitat studies to evaluate potential impacts of wind energy facility construction and operations on wildlife.

In 2016, baseline wildlife studies were completed within a previous defined wind resources area encompassing 15,822.9 hectares (ha; 39,099.3 acres [ac]) based on a 200-megawatt (MW) project. In 2017, this wind resource area was expanded to encompass 44,573.0 ha (110,142.3 ac) based on up to three separate 250 MW phases. This expanded wind resource area was the largest of the proposed boundaries. North Bend recently refined the area for the Project, which is primarily located along the western portion of the previously surveyed wind resource area and encompasses approximately 18,978.7 ha (46,897.1 ac; Figure 1, Table 1).

Baseline wildlife studies within the Project area were designed to address the questions posed under Tier 3 of the US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) *Final Land-Based Wind Energy Guidelines* (WEG; USFWS 2012) and Stage 2 of the USFWS *Eagle Conservation Plan Guidance* (ECPG; USFWS 2013). Studies conducted within the Project area from 2016 to 2021 include avian use surveys, raptor and eagle nest surveys, prairie grouse lek surveys, general bat acoustic monitoring, northern long-eared bat (NLEB; *Myotis septentrionalis*) summer habitat analysis, whooping crane (*Grus americana*) stopover habitat analysis, and a land cover characterization study.

The studies conducted to date also incorporate WEST's experience working in South Dakota with USFWS Ecological Services, the USFWS Region 6 Ecological Services Field Office, and South Dakota Game, Fish, and Parks (SDGFP). The following provides a summary of studies conducted, in progress, or applicable to the current Project area.



Figure 1. Location of the North Bend Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.

PROJECT AREA DESCRIPTION

The Project area is located in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota, approximately six kilometers (km; four miles [mi]) south of Harrold, South Dakota. This area is within the intersection of the Northwestern Great Plains Level III Ecoregions (US Environmental Protection Agency [USEPA] 2017) and the Bird Conservation Region (BCR 11; Prairie Potholes [Bird Studies Canada and NABCI 2014]). The Northwestern Glaciated Plains ecoregion has significant surface irregularity and dense concentrations of wetlands. In contrast, this area along the Southern Missouri Coteau exhibits a topography of gentle, rolling hills rather than steep hummocks, with fewer areas of high wetland density, and more stream erosion (USEPA 2017) much of which has been converted to cultivated crops. The river breaks landform is also common near riparian areas and consists of uplands with broken terraces that descend to the Missouri River and its major tributaries. This rough and broken river break topography, with its wooded draws and uncultivated areas, provides habitat for wildlife.

The topography within the Project area consists of rolling hills, with elevations ranging from 548.5–653.8 meters (m; 1,800.0–2,145.0 feet [ft]) above mean sea level (US Geological Survey [USGS] Digital Elevation Model 2017). Land ownership within the Project area is primarily private with a few scattered State Resource Management Areas (USGS Protected Areas Database of the US 2019) one of which fall within the Project area (Figure 2). Chapelle Creek and South Chapelle Creek are the named creeks within the Project area (Figure 2; USGS National Hydrography Dataset 2019). Wetlands are dispersed throughout the Project area, but most are located in the northeastern portion of the Project area (Figure 2; National Wetlands Inventory [NWI] 2019). The majority of wetlands are herbaceous wetlands, followed by open water (i.e., freshwater pond, and lakes; Table 1).



Figure 2. Land cover types and protected lands within the current North Bend Wind Project boundary located in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.

Land Cover

Land cover types were digitized using ArcGIS (version 10.4) within the current Project area. Using US Department of Agriculture (USDA) National Agriculture Imagery Program (NAIP [USDA 2019]) aerial imagery in combination with 2011 South Dakota Land Cover Patterns (National Land Cover Database (NLCD; 2016), USDA National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS) National Cropland Layer (USDA NASS 2018) cropland classification, and field inspections, all lands within the current Project area were digitized and assigned one of seven cover types (Table 1). NWI data were used to represent water for the purpose of mapping within the current Project area. Water features visible on the aerial imagery, but not located in the NWI data tables, were digitized as "Wetland/Water" on the map (Figure 2).

The dominant land cover type within the current Project area is herbaceous, representing 51.9% of the land cover (9,846.3 ha [24,330.7 ac]) followed by cultivated crops (8,334.6 ha [20,595.2 ac]; 43.9%; Table 1, Figure 2). Additional land cover types included developed (389.7 ha [963.0 ac]; 2.1%) followed by herbaceous wetlands (347.7 ha [859.1 ac]; 1.8%). All remaining land cover types in the Project area were less than 0.15% (Table 1).

Land Cover	Coverage (Hectares)	% Composition
Herbaceous	9,846.3	51.9
Cultivated crops	8,334.6	43.9
Developed	389.7	2.1
Herbaceous wetlands	347.7	1.8
Open water	29.1	0.15
Hay/Pasture	22.9	0.12
Barren land	6.6	<0.1
Shrub/Scrub	1.8	<0.1
Total	18,978.7	100

Table 1. Land cover, coverage, and percent (%) composition within the North
Bend Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.

Source: National Land Cover Database (2016).

AVIAN USE SURVEYS

Avian point-count surveys are the most widely used methodology for pre-construction avian use characterization and turbine siting considerations (e.g., USFWS Tier 3 studies [USFWS 2012]) because of their effectiveness and efficiency for characterizing the use of selected sites by a broad spectrum of diurnally active birds (Ralph et al. 1993, Strickland et al. 2011). The objective of the fixed-point avian use surveys was to estimate the seasonal and spatial use of the Project area by birds over the four-year period surveys were conducted. Project boundaries changed over time, and therefore altered avian use survey locations. Unless otherwise noted, surveys were conducted once a month for 70 minutes (min) each. Small bird species were recorded during the first 10 min of the survey period, and then only large bird species were recorded for the next 60 min. The initial 10-min surveys allowed for comparison of small use with the majority of wind projects in the region. The 60-min surveys encompassing large birds were consistent with the

ECPG and used to obtain a stronger dataset with which to evaluate large bird use, particularly for eagles.

Survey plots were selected to survey representative habitats and topography of the Project area, while meeting ECPG spatial sampling recommendations. The ECPG recommended at least 30% coverage of areas within 1.0 km (0.6 mi) of turbine locations or within the minimum convex polygon (MCP) of the complete turbine array (USFWS 2013) should be surveyed. As location of turbines were unknown at the time of sampling, survey coverage attempted to include 30% coverage of the Project area, at the time. Base on the final turbine layout survey coverage included 28.1% of the proposed MCP. Large birds observed within an 800-m (2,625-ft) plot and small birds within a 100-m (328-ft) plot were used for quantitative analysis and other comparative metrics. During surveys, locations of diurnal raptors, other large birds, and species of concern observed during surveys were recorded on field maps by unique observation numbers. Flight paths and perch locations were digitized using ArcGIS 10.4. Additionally, for all eagle observations, data were collected following ECPG methodology (USFWS 2013).

A number of avian protected or species of concern (SOC) have the potential to occur within South Dakota. This includes bald and golden eagles, two federally listed species, and four additional state-listed species (SDGFP 2014). Recently the USFWS has updated the Birds of Conservation Concern (BCC) for each BCR (USFWS 2021). There are 34 BCC species and 8 Tier 2a South Dakota species of greatest conservation need (SDGFP 2014).

The Project area has shifted numerous times during development (Figure 3) due to various logistic constraints. As such, avian use information from 2016 to 2019 is synthesized to provide a high level overview of the methods and results as limited sampling points overlap the most recent and constricted Project area. The conclusion of this section provides preliminary survey results of ongoing avian use efforts focused on the southern portion of the current proposed Project area.

Fixed-point Survey Efforts (2016 – 2017)

The following provides a summary of the avian use survey effort conducted April 18, 2016 – March 28, 2017 within the current Project area (Figure 3). Surveys covered approximately 34% of the 2016 Project area (Figure 3). During this effort, surveys were conducted for 60 min at each survey point location with all birds recorded for the first 20 min and only large birds recorded for the following 40 min. While this methodology differs from later surveys, results from these previous efforts can provide general information on species composition and diversity within the current Project area. Sixty hours (hr) of surveys were completed at five point count locations. This effort resulted in 41 unique species being observed during surveys, regardless of bird size, with horned lark (*Eremophila alpestris*; 387 observations, 9 groups), Canada goose (*Branta canadensis*; 201, 5), and Franklin's gull (*Leucophaeus pipixcan*; 95, 1), being the most commonly observed species. Northern harrier (*Circus hudsonius*; 4, 4), bald eagle (*Haliaeetus leucocephalus*; 1, 1) and merlin (*Falco columbarius*; 1, 1) were the only identified diurnal raptors during surveys. No golden eagles (*Aquila chrystaetos*) were documented during survey effort. No federally or state-listed species were observed during surveys.

Fixed-point Survey Efforts (2018 – 2019)

The following provides a summary of avian use survey effort conducted January 23, 2018 – January 14, 2019 within the current Project area (Figure 3). There were 27 survey locations resulting in 324 fixed-point surveys completed for each large and small bird surveys. This effort resulted in 60 unique large bird species being observed. The most commonly recorded large bird species were snow goose (*Anser caerulescens*; 19,515 observations, 19 groups), Canada goose (6,007, 31), and greater white-fronted goose (*A. albifrons*; 4,870, 14). Nine diurnal raptor species were documented during surveys with northern harrier (*Circus hudsonius*; 17, 17) as the most frequently recorded species. For small birds, western meadowlark (*Sturnella neglecta*; 197, 102) was the most regularly observed species, followed by red-winged blackbird (*Agelaius phoeniceus*; 91, 25), and brown-headed cowbird (*Molothrus ater*, 90, 31). Six golden eagles and four bald eagles were documented during survey efforts. No federally or state-listed species were observed while conducting surveys.

Fixed-point Survey Efforts (2019 – 2020)

Surveys were conducted from April 5, 2019 – March 31, 2020 at 19 survey points (Figure 3). There were 212 fixed-point surveys completed for each large and small bird survey. Sixty unique species were recorded during surveys including 38 unique large bird and 22 unique small bird species. The most common large bird species were sandhill crane (Antigone Canadensis; 2,950 observations, 15 groups), Canada goose (674, 26), and mallard (Anas platyrhynchos; 175, 45). The most abundance raptors identified within the Project area were red-tailed hawk (Buteo jamaicensis; 48, 30) followed by northern harrier (16, 15). Red-winged blackbird (714, 84), brownheaded cowbird (274, 58), and western meadowlark (251, 145) were the most frequently recorded small bird species. One bald eagle was observed during fixed-point surveys. No other eagle, federal- or state-listed species were observed while conducting surveys within the Project area during the 2019 – 2020 survey year. There were four species that are identified as both BCC and SGCN including: marbled godwit (Limosa fedoa; 22 observations), black tern (Chlidonias niger; 16), greater prairie-chicken (Tympanuchus cupido; 1), and chestnut-collared longspur (Calcarius ornatus; 11). Five species identified are categorized as BCC species only including: Franklin's gull (65 observations), northern harrier (27), bobolink (Dolichonyx oryzivorus; 73), grasshopper sparrow (Ammodramus savannarum; 36), and red-headed woodpecker (Melanerpes erythrocephalus; 2). There was also lark buntings observed (Calamospiza melanocorys; 45 observations) which is categorized as a SGCN species only.

Fixed-point Survey Efforts (2020 – 2021)

Surveys were conducted from April 6, 2020 through March 13, 2021 at 23 survey points (Figure 3). There were 276 fixed-point surveys completed for large and small birds each. Sixty-nine unique species were recorded during surveys, including 37 unique large bird and 32 unique small bird species. For large birds, the most common species recorded included Canada goose (589 observations, 27 groups), snow goose (428, 6) and sandhill crane (94, 5). Five diurnal raptor species were identified within the Project area, with northern harrier (31, 31) and red-tailed hawk (25, 25) being the most abundant. For small bird species, red-winged blackbirds (211 observations, 39 groups), western meadowlark (192, 192), horned lark (177, 38) and brown-

headed cowbird (101, 22) were the most common. No eagle, federal- or state-listed species have been observed while conducting surveys within the Project area during this effort. There were three species that are identified as both BCC and SGCN including: marbled godwit (1 observation), black tern (5), and chestnut-collared longspur (26). Five species identified are categorized as BCC species only including: Franklin's gull (9 observations), northern harrier (31), bobolink (4), grasshopper sparrow (56), and red-headed woodpecker (4).

Fixed-point Survey Efforts (2021 - 2022): Ongoing

An additional 11 points were surveyed in the southern portion of the Project area (Figure 3; orange squares in 2019 for a brief time but were later stopped due to anticipated project development. In early 2021, it was determined that there could be potential development in this area again. These 11 survey locations were again surveyed starting February 25, 2021, and this summary includes preliminary data collected through April 2021. There were 33 fixed-point surveys completed for each large and small bird survey. Forty-four unique species were recorded during surveys including 28 unique large bird and 16 unique small bird species. The most common large bird species were Franklin's gull (153 observations, 3 groups), Canada goose (100, 5), and ringnecked pheasant (Phasianus colchicus; 21, 19). The most abundance raptors identified within the Project area were red-tailed hawk (9, 9) followed by northern harrier (4, 4). Red-winged blackbird (71, 10), western meadowlark (57, 57), and brown-headed cowbird (53, 20) were the most frequently recorded small bird species. No eagles, federal- or state-listed species were observed while conducting surveys within the Project area during this survey effort. There were two species that are identified as both BCC and SGCN including: marbled godwit (7 observations) and chestnut-collared longspur (24). Four species identified are categorized as BCC species only including: Franklin's gull (153 observations), northern harrier (4), bobolink (4), and grasshopper sparrow (11).



Figure 3. Location of fixed-point avian use survey stations completed in from 2016-2021 throughout the North Bend Wind Project boundary located in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota. The MCP Boundary (purple outline) encapsulates the final proposed turbine layout.

RAPTOR NEST SURVEYS

Raptor nest surveys were conducted in the spring of 2016, 2018, 2019, and 2020. The objectives of the nest surveys were to gather information on eagle nest locations and other raptor species nesting in the area, which may be subject to disturbance or displacement effects from wind facility construction and operation. Surveys were conducted within the Project area and a 1.0-mi buffer for all raptors. Due to various guidance from USFWS over the past several years, additional eagle nest survey efforts have included various buffers from 16.1-km (10-mi; USFWS 2013), 6.4-km (4-mi; USFWS 2020b) and 3.2-km (2-mi; USFWS 2020c). For the purposes of this section, the current 2-mi buffer was used to summarize the results of these efforts. Prior to the surveys, topographic and aerial maps were evaluated to determine where raptor and eagle nesting habitat is likely to occur (e.g., riparian habitat along creeks, open lakes with large trees) so these areas could be targeted during the aerial surveys. A biologist conducted the surveys in a helicopter operated by a pilot experienced in conducting low-altitude wildlife surveys. Surveys were generally conducted on days with good visibility and no precipitation. The locations of all raptor nests and survey paths were recorded using a hand-held onboard Global Positioning System (GPS) receiver.

For all raptor and eagle nest structures detected, the biologist recorded nest location coordinates with the GPS receiver, species present (if any), condition of the nest, presence of eggs or young (if present and visible), and the substrate of the nest (e.g., tree, power pole, rock outcrop). The status of each nest was determined as either: Occupied – an adult in incubating position, eggs, nestlings or fledglings, a newly constructed or refurbished stick nest and/or the presence of one or more adults on or immediately adjacent to the nest structure(s), or Unoccupied – a nest with no evidence of recent use, or attendance by adult raptors. Efforts were made to minimize disturbance to nesting raptors, livestock, or occupied dwellings to the greatest extent possible. Photographs were taken of possible eagle nests.

2016 Surveys

Aerial surveys were conducted from March 28 – April 1, 2016, to search for eagle and raptor nests. During the 2016 aerial survey, three raptor nests were documented within the Project area (Figure 4; Table 2). Two nests were occupied by red-tailed hawks, while one nest was inactive. No eagle or potential eagle nests were located within the Project area and 2-mi buffer.

located in the current North Bend Wind Project and surrounding 3.2-kilometer (2.0-mile) buffer, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.						
Nest ID	Northing	Easting	Species ¹	2016 Status		
1	442383	4922347	RTHA	Occupied		
2	444594	4919242	UNRA	Unoccupied		
16	444423	4925361	RTHA	Occupied		

^{1.} RTHA = red-tailed hawk, UNRA = unknown raptor.

ID = Identification.



Figure 4. Location of raptor nests identified during surveys in 2016 for the North Bend Wind Project and 3.2-kilometer (km; 2.0-mile [mi]) buffer in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.

2018 Surveys

An aerial survey for raptor nests was completed for the Project from March 9 - 14, 2018, with follow-up ground surveys conducted in conjunction with other work in May 2018. During these surveys, 15 raptor nests were identified (Figure 5). All three of the previously documented nests from 2016 were re-visited; one was confirmed occupied with a great-horned owl (*Bubo virginianus*) and two could not be relocated. No potential eagle nests were identified within the Project area or 2-mi buffer. Nine of the 15 nests were classified as unoccupied nests of unknown raptor. The remaining occupied nests included four great-horned owls, one Swainson's hawk (*Buteo swainsoni*), and one red-tailed hawk (Table 3).

nugiles and fryde counties, south Dakota.						
Nest ID	Northing	Easting	Species ¹	2018 Status		
1	442383	4922347	GHOW	Occupied		
2	444594	4919242	DNL	n/a		
17 ²	444423	4925361	DNL	n/a		
19	447561	4925661	UNRA	Unoccupied		
30	448709	4915493	GHOW	Occupied		
46	451315	4923410	UNRA	Unoccupied		
47	450147	4927430	UNRA	Unoccupied		
48	450012	4916820	UNRA	Unoccupied		
53	452476	4916512	UNRA	Unoccupied		
58	445523	4914147	UNRA	Unoccupied		
59	435866	4923410	UNRA	Unoccupied		
60	437402	4918910	UNRA	Unoccupied		
61	438491	4919700	GHOW	Occupied		
62	443789	4915766	UNRA	Unoccupied		
63	446691	4925852	GHOW	Occupied		
69	448861	4910473	RTHA	Occupied		
70	443433	4906458	SWHA	Occupied		

Table 3. Location of raptor nest sites surveyed and/or observed
during 2018 surveys located in the current North Bend Wind
Project and surrounding 3.2-kilometer (2.0-mile) buffer,
Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.

^{1.}DNL = did not locate, GHOW = great horned owl, UNRA = unknown raptor, RTHA = red-tailed hawk, SWHA = Swainson's hawk.

² Originally labeled Nest ID 16 in 2016 survey efforts.

ID = Identification.



Figure 5. Location of raptor nests identified during surveys in 2018 for the North Bend Wind Project and 3.2-kilometer (km; 2.0-mile [mi]) buffer in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.

2019 Surveys

Two aerial surveys for the Project were conducted on March 26 and April 16 – 17, 2019. Eighteen nests were documented during surveys (Figure 6) and seven previously identified nests were either not present or excluded from surveys due to safety considerations (Figure 6; No Fly Areas). Eleven nests were determined to be occupied with adults in the nest, perched in the same tree, or eggs in the nest. Seven nests were considered unoccupied as no activity was recorded during either survey in accordance with the ECPG (Figure 6; Table 4). Of occupied nests, five were occupied by great horned owl, one by ferruginous hawk (*Buteo regalis*), three by red-tailed hawk, and two by unidentified raptors (eggs were present in the nest or adults were not identified; Table 4). No eagle or potential eagle nests were identified within the Project area or 2-mi buffer.

Northing	Easting	Species	2019 Status
444594	4919242	DNL	n/a
444423	4925361	DNL	n/a
444179	4925747	DNL	n/a
448709	4915493	UNRA	Occupied
451315	4923410	UNRA	Unoccupied
450147	4927430	GHOW	Occupied
450012	4916820	DNL	n/a
459961	4913766	DNL	n/a
445523	4914147	UNRA	Unoccupied
435866	4923410	DNL	n/a
437402	4918910	UNRA	Unoccupied
438491	4919700	GHOW	Occupied
443789	4915766	RTHA	Occupied
446691	4925852	DNL	n/a
443433	4906458	UNRA	Unoccupied
437079	4918884	UNRA	Unoccupied
447665	4925512	RTHA	Occupied
447117	4911890	RTHA	Occupied
442263	4909846	FEHA	Occupied
440967	4914462	GHOW	Occupied
439921	4917768	UNRA	Occupied
439620	4917741	GHOW	Occupied
456143	4916029	GHOW	Occupied
437892	4926281	UNRA	Unoccupied
435635	4920750	UNRA	Unoccupied
	Northing 444594 444423 444179 448709 451315 450147 450012 459961 445523 435866 437402 438491 443789 446691 443433 437079 447665 447117 442263 440967 439921 439620 456143 437892 435635	NorthingEasting44459449192424444234925361444179492574744870949154934513154923410450147492743045001249168204599614913766445523491414743586649234104374024918910438491491576644669149258524434334906458437079491888444766549255124471174911890442263490984644096749177684396204917741456143491602943789249262814356354920750	NorthingEastingSpecies4445944919242DNL4445944925361DNL4444234925361DNL4441794925747DNL4487094915493UNRA4513154923410UNRA4501474927430GHOW4500124916820DNL4599614913766DNL4358664923410DNL4358664923410DNL4374024918910UNRA4384914919700GHOW4437894915766RTHA4466914925852DNL4434334906458UNRA4370794918884UNRA4476654925512RTHA4471174911890RTHA4422634909846FEHA4409674914462GHOW4399214917768UNRA4396204917741GHOW4561434916029GHOW4378924926281UNRA4356354920750UNRA

Table 4. Location of raptor nest sites surveyed and/or observed
during 2019 surveys located in the current North Bend Wind
Project and surrounding 3.2-kilometer (2.0-mile) buffer,
Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.

^{1.} DNL = did not locate, UNRA = unknown raptor, GHOW = great horned owl, RTHA = red-tailed hawk, FEHA = ferruginous hawk.

ID = Identification.



Figure 6. Location of raptor nests identified during surveys in 2019 for the North Bend Wind Project and 3.2-kilometer (km; 2.0-mile [mi]) buffer in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota. Shaded "No Fly Areas" included lands not surveyed in 2019.

2020 Surveys

Three surveys for the Project area were conducted on March 2 – 3, March 12 and 20, and April 20, 2020. Thirty-five nests were documented during surveys. Nineteen nests were previously identified within the Project and associated 2-mi buffer, and four previously identified nests were either not present or excluded from surveys due to safety considerations. Of the 35 observed nests, seven were occupied by red-tailed hawks, five by great horned owls, and one by ferruginous hawks. One occupied nests could not be identified to species (i.e., unknown raptor). Of special interest, two nest locations were used by two different species (Table 5, Figure 7). Nest ID 62 and 90 were first occupied by great horned owls and then by red-tailed hawks. A final nest (Nest ID 108) was a raptor stick nest with a Canada goose occupying the nest. The remaining nests were considered unoccupied as no activity was recorded during either survey in accordance with the ECPG (Figure 7). No eagle or potential eagle nests were identified within the Project area or 2-mi buffer. Table 5 presents a cumulative summary of survey results in 2016, 2018, 2019, and 2020 for occupied nests within the Project area and 2-mi buffer.

Nest ID	Northing	Easting	2016 Status	2018 Status	2019 Status	2020 Status
1	442383	4922347	RTHA	GHOW	n/a³	n/a
2	444594	4919242	UNRA	DNL	DNL	n/a
16 ⁴	444423	4925361	RTHA	DNL	DNL	n/a
19	447561	4925661		UNRA	DNL	
30	448709	4915493		GHOW	UNRA	RTHA
46	451315	4923410		UNRA	UNRA	UNRA
47	450147	4927430		UNRA	GHOW	
48	450012	4916820		UNRA	DNL	
53	452476	4916512		UNRA		RTHA
54	452741	4916572				GHOW
56	459961	4913766		UNRA	DNL	
58	445523	4914147		UNRA	UNRA	UNRA
59	435866	4923410		UNRA	DNL	n/a
60	437402	4918910		UNRA	UNRA	UNRA
61	438491	4919700		GHOW	GHOW	UNRA
62	443789	4915766		UNRA	DNL	GHOW
62	443789	4915766			RTHA	RTHA
63	446691	4925852		GHOW	DNL	
69	448861	4910473		RTHA	n/a	
70	443433	4906458		SWHA	UNRA	
73	437079	4918884			UNRA	UNRA
75	447665	4925512			RTHA	GHOW
86	447117	4911890			RTHA	RTHA
87	442263	4909846			FEHA	DNL
89	440967	4914462			GHOW	GHOW
90	439921	4917768			UNRA	GHOW
90	439921	4917768			UNRA	RTHA
91	439620	4917741			GHOW	UNRA
92	456143	4916029			GHOW	RTHA
94	437892	4926281			UNRA	UNRA

Table 5. Yearly summary of all potential raptor nests¹ surveyed and/or observed during survey efforts for the North Bend Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota².

Nest ID	Northing	Easting	2016 Status	2018 Status	2019 Status	2020 Status
95	435635	4920750			UNRA	UNRA
100	452654	4916585				UNRA
101	450680	4917677				GHOW
102	437420	4918824				UNRA
103	440497	4921656				RTHA
104	440905	4910925				UNRA
106	447119	4920622				GHOW
107	444593	4919229				UNRA
108 ⁵	452741	4916580				CAGO
109	443810	4915783				UNRA
110	448289	4920613				UNRA
111	447491	4926950				UNRA
113	450014	4916821				RTHA
114	441881	4911305				UNRA
115	443356	4906471				FEHA
116	454972	4914450				UNRA

Table 5. Yearly summary of all potential raptor nests¹ surveyed and/or observed during survey efforts for the North Bend Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota².

^{1.} UNRA = unknown raptor, GHOW = great horned owl, RTHA = red-tailed hawk, SWHA = Swainson's hawk, FEHA = ferruginous hawk, CAGO = Canada goose.

² Occupied nest sites in a given year are denoted by species code of the individuals that nested there.

^{3.} n/a denotes nests no longer available (e.g., due to being in a new No Fly Zone or falling out of a tree due to winds)

⁴ Nest ID 16 was changed to Nest ID 17 for 2018, 2019, and 2020.

⁵ Raptor stick nest identified with a nesting Canada goose.



Figure 7. Location of raptor nests identified during surveys in 2020 for the North Bend Wind Project and 3.2-kilometer (km; 2.0-mile [mi]) buffer in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota. Shaded "No Fly Area" included lands not surveyed in 2020.

PRAIRIE GROUSE LEK SURVEYS

The Project area occurs within the occupied range of the greater prairie-chicken and sharp-tailed grouse (*T. phasianellus*; combined as "prairie grouse"). Greater prairie-chickens are listed as a species of greatest conservation need in South Dakota, but both species are considered upland game birds and are hunted in South Dakota (SDGFP 2014). WEST conducted surveys to document prairie grouse leks during the breeding season within the Project area. The objective of the prairie grouse lek surveys was to identify potential leks and determine status of each to help inform Project siting decisions. These surveys were conducted in 2016, 2018, 2019, and 2020 and followed Project changes as described above in "Avian Use Surveys" for their respective years (Figure 3).

Surveys were conducted three times from late March to the end of the first week of May each year (with the exception of 2019 surveys) and included their respective Project areas and 1.6-km (1.0-mi) buffer. Surveys began approximately 30 min prior to sunrise until 90–120 min after sunrise. To the extent possible, all surveys were conducted on relatively calm mornings (winds less than 24–32 km [15–20 mi] per hr) and on days with no precipitation. Surveys were conducted to document the presence and the number of male and female birds attending leks. Because both sharp-tailed grouse and greater prairie-chickens are found within the area, identification of species during the survey was recorded, when possible. Information collected during all surveys included date, time, temperature, cloud cover, precipitation, and observer(s).

The SDGFP defines a lek as "a traditional display area where two or more male sage-grouse have attended in two or more of the previous five years" (Connelly et al. 2003). "Active leks" are locations where two or more birds have been observed or heard in courtship behavior during more than one survey period. "Potential leks" are locations where birds have been observed or heard engaging in courtship behavior during only one survey period, where birds were observed in more than one survey period but not in courtship behavior, or where number of birds could not be confirmed (e.g., heard at least one bird). If no birds were seen or heard in any of the three surveys, the lek was classified as inactive for the season. Results include a cumulative summary of all survey efforts across years as it relates to the current Project area and 1-mi buffer (Figure 8).

Aerial Surveys

Aerial surveys were conducted in 2016 and 2018 with a Cessna 172. Surveys included north/south transects across the Project area and 1-mi buffer spaced approximately 0.40 km (0.25 mi) apart at an altitude of approximately 30–45 m (100–150 ft) above ground level. An onboard GPS unit was used to keep the plane on transect, document lek locations, and record daily flight paths. Biologists recorded the number of birds on the lek and whether occupied by greater prairie-chicken or sharp-tailed grouse. The following characteristics were used to distinguish between these species from the air: a square-tail shape and dark, blocky body for greater prairie-chickens versus a pointed-tail shape with white under tail coverts and lighter body color for sharp-tailed grouse.

Ground Surveys

Ground visits were conducted in 2019 and 2020 by traveling publically accessible roads (or roads where permission was previously obtained) throughout the Project area and 1-mi buffer. During ground visits, the following information was recorded and included lek ID, location, species, type of detection (auditory or visual), number of males (if possible), and number of females (if possible). If a new lek was identified during this effort it was documented with the same information and identified using a new unique lek ID.

Sixteen prairie grouse leks were identified during a combination of aerial surveys and ground lek visits during the 2016, 2018, 2019, and 2020 breeding season within the Project area and 1-mi buffer (Figure 8). One lek location was active in 2016, fourteen in 2018, six in 2019, and eight in 2020 (Table 6). Of these active and potential leks, all were greater prairie-chicken leks (Table 6).



Figure 8. Location and 2020 status of potential prairie grouse leks identified during surveys within the North Bend Wind Project and 1.6-kilometer (1.0-mile) buffer from the 2016, 2018, 2019, and 2020 breeding seasons, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.

Lek ID	Northing	Easting	Species	2016 Status	2018 Status	2019 Status	2020 Status	Grouse # (2020)
6	449195	4923428	GRPC	active	inactive	inactive	Inactive	0
13	447884	4921599	GRPC	NA	active	active	Active	5
14	444949	4920674	GRPC	NA	active	active	Active-Auditory Only	at least 3
15	441411	4918223	GRPC	NA	active	inactive	Inactive	0
16	444744	4913615	GRPC	NA	active	active-auditory only	Potentially Active	at least 1
19	449214	4913008	GRPC	NA	active	active	Active	4
21	442248	4920168	GRPC	NA	active	inactive	Inactive	0
22	450661	4919869	GRPC	NA	active	inactive	Active-Auditory Only	at least 2
26	442688	4917054	GRPC	NA	active	inactive	Inactive	0
28	449496	4918102	GRPC	NA	active	inactive	Active	5
30	453409	4912128	GRPC	NA	active	inactive	Inactive	0
33	444800	4907382	GRPC	NA	active	active	Active-Auditory Only	unknown
34	446025	4908887	GRPC	NA	active	inactive	Inactive	0
35	447735	4916644	GRPC	NA	active	inactive	Inactive	0
40	443708	4917928	GRPC	NA	active	inactive	Inactive	0
42	443038	4917050	GRPC	NA	NA	active	Active-Auditory Only	at least 3

 Table 6. Location and maximum number of prairie grouse observed at potential leks during surveys for the current North Bend Wind

 Project and 1.6-kilometer (1.0-mile) buffer, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.

ID = identification; GRPC = greater prairie-chicken

BAT ACOUSTIC SURVEYS

WEST conducted acoustic monitoring studies to estimate levels of bat activity within the Project area from May 26 through October 21, 2016 and April 25 – October 25, 2018 at three locations (two cropland [representative of the Project area] and one bat feature). The bat feature included proximity with water features, trees, hedge rows, and other bat-associated habitats. AnaBat™ SD2 ultrasonic bat detectors (Titley Scientific™, Columbia, Missouri) were placed 1.5 m (5.0 ft) above the ground, to minimize insect noise were used during the study. Studies of bat activity followed the recommendations of the WEG (USFWS 2012) and Kunz et al. (2007), detectors were programmed to turn on approximately 30 min before sunset and turn off approximately 30 min after sunrise each night. The study was divided into two primary seasons (summer and fall). WEST defined the fall migration period FMP as a standard for comparison with activity from other wind energy facilities. During the FMP (July 30 – October 14), bats begin moving toward wintering areas, and many species of bats initiate reproductive behaviors (Cryan 2008). This period of increased levels of bat fatalities at operational wind energy facilities (WEST 2019).

For each survey location, bat passes were sorted into two groups based on their call's minimum frequency. High-frequency (HF) bats, such as eastern red bats (*Lasiurus borealis*) and *Myotis* species (such as northern long-eared bat [NLEB; *M. septentrionalis*]) have minimum frequencies greater than 30 kilohertz (kHz). Low-frequency (LF) bats, such as big brown bats (*Eptesicus fuscus*), silver-haired bats (*Lasionycteris noctivagans*), and hoary bats (*L. cinereus*), typically emit echolocation calls with minimum frequencies below 30 kHz.

Summarized Results

Summarized results of these efforts included three general trends. First overall bat activity varied by season with lower activity recorded in the summer and higher activity in the fall. Secondly, at all stations and frequencies, bat passes peaked during the first half of September. Finally, the bat feature recorded more bat passes/detector night than in the cropland as was expected. However, there was little variation in overall activity between seasons in croplands.

There was some variation between years in the composition of HF and LF activity. In 2016, there were more HF bat passes recorded while in 2018 more LF bat passes were recorded (Table 7). Generally, there was less activity in 2018 than in 2016.

Table 7. Results of bat activity surveys conducted at stations within the North Bend Wind Project
area, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota, from May 26 - October 21, 2016, and
April 25 – October 25, 2018. Passes are separated by call frequency: high frequency (HF)
and low frequency (LF).

Year	Station	Туре	# of HF Bat Passes	# of LF Bat Passes	Total Bat Passes	Detector- Nights	Bat Passes/Night ¹
2016	West	representative	49	53	102	61	1.67 ± 0.44
	East	bat feature	128	95	223	95	2.35 ± 0.37
Total			177	148	325	156	

Table 7. Results of bat activity surveys conducted at stations within the North Bend Wind Project area, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota, from May 26 – October 21, 2016, and April 25 – October 25, 2018. Passes are separated by call frequency: high frequency (HF) and low frequency (LF).

Year	Station	Туре	# of HF Bat Passes	# of LF Bat Passes	Total Bat Passes	Detector- Nights	Bat Passes/Night ¹
2018	West	representative	5	12	17	151	0.11 ± 0.04
	East	bat feature	54	79	133	127	1.05 ± 0.20
Total			59	91	150	278	

¹± bootstrapped standard error.

---Total not given due to differences in how stations were selected and their objectives.

Use of bat activity to predict post-construction mortality is difficult to relate and lacks any direct relationship based on pre-construction survey efforts (Solick et al. 2020). Furthermore, there is some evidence that activity increases from pre-construction to post-construction. Acoustic surveys can provide some level of species composition including the presence of HF bats within the Project area and possible presence of listed species such as NLEB. Though the study was not designed to survey specifically for NLEB, the presence of HF bats along with a habitat assessment for the species (see below) may help inform siting decisions for the Project.



Figure 9. Location of AnaBat detectors deployed during 2016 and 2018 within the North Bend Wind Project boundary in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.

NORTHERN LONG-EARED BAT HABITAT ASSESSMENT

The NLEB is listed as a federally threatened species. The range of the NLEB is considered to be across all of South Dakota, including Hughes and Hyde counties. A desktop assessment of the presence of potentially suitable habitat for the NLEB was conducted across the Project area in 2017 and updated in 2020 using the USFWS *2020 Range-Wide Indiana Bat Summer Survey Guidelines* (USFWS 2020a; Figure 8). Suitable habitat for this species consists of forested areas where bats might roost, forage, and commute between roosting and foraging sites. NLEB primarily forage or travel in forest habitat and are typically constrained to forest features (Boyles et al. 2009). Therefore, habitat suitability was evaluated based primarily on the presence of forested areas that NLEB might use for roosting and foraging.

WEST conducted a desktop assessment of potentially suitable NLEB habitat by reviewing the NLCD within a 4.0-km (2.5-mi) buffer of the Project area, and delineating potential suitable habitat types (i.e., deciduous forest, evergreen forest, mixed forest, and woody wetlands) using ArcGIS (version 10.4). The habitat delineations were then cross-checked and edited based on the most recent publicly available aerial imagery from the USDA NAIP for the Project area. The overall habitat layer was edited to remove areas that had been cleared of trees and to refine habitat boundaries. Narrow commuting corridors not captured by the NLCD were also added based on the aerial imagery.

Once the desktop assessment was completed, a habitat analysis was conducted to assess connectivity of suitable foraging habitats (i.e., woodlots, forested riparian corridors, and natural vegetation communities adjacent to these habitats), roosting habitats, and commuting habitats (i.e., shelterbelts/tree-lines, wooded hedgerows) as suggested in the USFWS Indiana Bat Section 7 and Section 10 Guidance for Wind Energy Projects (USFWS 2011). The guidance suggests assessing the potential presence of Indiana bats (Myotis sodalis) and NLEB within a Project based on availability of travel/commuting corridors within the Project's boundary, and connectivity to foraging or roosting habitat within a 4.0-km buffer of the Project. The minimum size for suitable foraging/roosting habitat is not well understood, but lower estimates are approximately eight ha (20 ac; Broders et al. 2006). We used a minimum patch size of four ha (10 ac) to assign potential roosting habitat. Trees up to 305 m (1,000 ft) from the next nearest suitable roost tree, woodlot, or wooded fencerow were considered suitable habitat (USFWS 2011). The 305-m distance is based on observations of NLEB behavior indicating isolated trees might only be suitable as habitat when they are less than 305 m from other forested/wooded habitats (USFWS 2020a). Based on this informed guidance, it is reasonable to conclude NLEB are unlikely to occur within the Project area, beyond patches separated by more than 305 m from the nearest connected suitable habitat (USFWS 2011, 2020a Figure 10).

Forested patches were sorted by size into the following groups: less than four ha (small forest patches), four to 20 ha (10–50 ac; potential NLEB roost/foraging habitat), and greater than 20 ha (large potential roost/foraging habitat). All polygons representing forested habitats were buffered by 152 m (500 ft) and dissolved to group any habitat patches within 305 m of each other. This
buffer, representing all forested habitats within 305 m of each other, was then purged of small isolated patches by selecting only those connected habitats containing forested patches at least four ha in size. This selection of habitat patches was then buffered by 305 m to represent the potential foraging area for NLEB resulting in eight patches covering 1,734.4 ha (4,285.7 total ac) within the Project area and 4.0-km buffer (Figure 10). Within the Project potentially suitable NLEB habitat was limited to two patches covered 277.6 ha (686.0 ac).



Figure 10. Northern long-eared bat habitat assessment of the North Bend Wind Project and 4.0-kilometer (2.5-mile) buffer, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota.

WHOOPING CRANE STOPOVER HABITAT

Whooping crane use of habitat along their migration corridor has been poorly understood and resulted in numerous approaches to identify those habitats. Niemuth et al. (2018) developed a predictive model specific for North and South Dakota to help identify areas that may be used by whooping crane during migration. They used whooping crane sightings, landscape data, and statistical models to provide a better insight into habitat use within the Dakotas. Figure 9 displays the results of this model along with whooping crane sightings in the region through fall of 2019, and telemetry data from 2009 through 2018. The entire Project area is contained within the 50th percentile of all sightings along the migration corridor (Niemuth et al. 2018, Pearse et al. 2018).

Based on this predictive model, potential stopover habitat varies across the Project area. The south and southwestern portion of the Project area has lower potential habitat quality, while the northcentral portion of the Project area potentially contains relatively high quality (Figure 11). There have been two confirmed whooping cranes within the Project area, one from telemetry data in the extreme northern portion of the Project area and one confirmed sighting along the western portion of the Project area (Figure 11). Though whooping cranes have been documented within the Project area and a 16.1-km (10-mi) buffer, most telemetry and sighting data indicated whooping crane are infrequently using the habitat within 16.1 km of the Project area based on the Niemuth et al. (2018) model, only 16 whooping cranes have been confirmed within 16.1 km of the Project. In comparison, it appears that more confirmed habitat use has been to the northeast, east, and south of the Project (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Map of wetlands scored using the predictive habitat use model (Niemuth et al. 2018) for the current North Bend Wind Project boundary and surrounding area in Hughes, Hyde, and Sully counties, South Dakota.

REFERENCES

- Bird Studies Canada and NABCI. 2014. Bird Conservation Regions. Published by Bird Studies Canada on behalf of the North American Bird Conservation Initiative. <u>https://www.birdscanada.org/bird-science/nabci-bird-conservation-regions</u> Accessed June 29, 2021.
- Boyles, J. G., J. C. Timpone, and L. W. Robbins. 2009. Bats of Missouri. Indiana State University Center for North American Bat Research and Conservation, Publication Number 3. Indiana State University Press, Terre Haute, Indiana.
- Broders, H. G., G. J. Forbes, S. Woodley, and I. D. Thompson. 2006. Range Extent and Stand Selection for Roosting and Foraging in Forest-Dwelling Northern Long-Eared Bats and Little Brown Bats in the Greater Fundy Ecosystem, New Brunswick. Journal of Wildlife Management 70: 1174-1184.
- Connelly, J. W., K. P. Reese, and M. A. Schroeder. 2003. Monitoring of Greater Sage-Grouse Habitats and Populations. College of Natural Resources Experiment Station, Station Bulletin 80, University of Idaho, Moscow, Idaho.
- Cryan, P. M. 2008. Mating Behavior as a Possible Cause of Bat Fatalities at Wind Turbines. Journal of Wildlife Management 72(3): 845-849. doi: 10.2193/2007-371.
- Esri. 2013. World Topographic Map. ArcGIS Resource Center. Environmental Systems Research Institute (Esri), producers of ArcGIS software, Redlands, California. Created June 13, 2013. Updated October 14, 2020. Accessed November 2020. Information online: <u>https://www.arcgis.com/home/item.html?id=30e5fe3149c34df1ba922e6f5bbf808f</u>
- Kunz, T. H., E. B. Arnett, B. M. Cooper, W. P. Erickson, R. P. Larkin, T. Mabee, M. L. Morrison, M. D. Strickland, and J. M. Szewczak. 2007. Assessing Impacts of Wind-Energy Development on Nocturnally Active Birds and Bats: A Guidance Document. Journal of Wildlife Management 71(8): 2449-2486. doi: 10.2193/2007-270.

National Land Cover Database (NLCD). 2016. *As cited* includes:

Yang, L., S. Jin, P. Danielson, C. Homer, L. Gass, S. M. Bender, A. Case, C. Costello, J. Dewitz, J. Fry, M. Funk, B. Granneman, G. C. Liknes, M. Rigge, and G. Xian. 2018. A New Generation of the United States National Land Cover Database: Requirements, Research Priorities, Design, and Implementation Strategies. ISPRS Journal of Photogrammetry and Remote Sensing 146: 108-123. doi: 10.1016/j.isprsjprs.2018.09.006.

and

Multi-Resolution Land Characteristics (MRLC). 2019. National Land Cover Database (NLCD) 2016. Multi-Resolution Land Characteristics (MRLC) Consortium. US Geological Survey (USGS) Earth Resources Observation and Science (EROS) Center, MRLC Project, Sioux Falls, South Dakota. May 10, 2019. Information online: <u>https://www.mrlc.gov/data</u>

Niemuth, N. D., A. J. Ryba, A. T. Pearse, S. M. Kvas, D. A. Brandt, B. Wangler, J. E. Austin, and M. J. Carlisle. 2018. Opportunistically Collected Data Reveal Habitat Selection by Migrating Whooping Cranes in the U.S. Northern Plains. Condor 120(2): 343-356. doi: 10.1650/CONDOR-17-80.1.

North American Datum (NAD). 1983. NAD83 Geodetic Datum.

- Pearse, A. T., M. Rabbe, L. M. Juliusson, M. T. Bidwell, L. Craig-Moore, D. A. Brandt, and W. Harrell. 2018. Delineating and Identifying Long-Term Changes in the Whooping Crane (*Grus Americana*) Migration Corridor. PLoS ONE 13(2): e0192737. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0192737.
- Ralph, C. J., G. R. Geupel, P. Pyle, T. E. Martin, and D. F. DeSante. 1993. Handbook of Field Methods for Monitoring Landbirds. General Technical Report (GTR). PSW-GTR-144. US Department of Agriculture (USDA) Forest Service General Technical Report (GTR), Pacific Southwest (PSW) Research Station, Albany, California. Available online: <u>http://www.fs.fed.us/psw/publications/ documents/gtr-144/</u>
- Solick, D., P. Diem, K. Nasman, and K. Bay. 2020. Bat activity rates do not predict bat fatality rates at wind energy facilities. Acta Chiroperologica 22(1): 135-146. doi: 10.3161/15081109ACC2020.22.1.012.
- South Dakota Game Fish and Parks (SDGFP). 2014. Species of Greatest Conservation Need. Pp. 8-23. *In*: South Dakota Wildlife Action Plan. Wildlife Division Report 2014-03. SDGFP, Pierre, South Dakota.
- Strickland, M. D., E. B. Arnett, W. P. Erickson, D. H. Johnson, G. D. Johnson, M. L. Morrison, J. A. Shaffer, and W. Warren-Hicks. 2011. Comprehensive Guide to Studying Wind Energy/Wildlife Interactions. Prepared for the National Wind Coordinating Collaborative (NWCC), Washington, D.C., USA. June 2011. Available online at: <u>http://www.batsandwind.org/pdf/Comprehensive_Guide_to_Studying Wind Energy Wildlife Interactions 2011.pdf</u>
- US Department of Agriculture (USDA). 2018. Imagery Programs National Agriculture Imagery Program (NAIP). USDA, Farm Service Agency (FSA), Aerial Photography Field Office (APFO), Salt Lake City, Utah. Accessed December 2019. Information online: <u>https://www.fsa.usda.gov/programs-and-services/aerial-photography/imagery-programs/index</u>
- US Department of Agriculture (USDA). 2019. Imagery Programs National Agriculture Imagery Program (NAIP). USDA, Farm Service Agency (FSA), Aerial Photography Field Office (APFO), Salt Lake City, Utah. Accessed January 2019. Information online: <u>https://www.fsa.usda.gov/programs-and-services/aerial-photography/imagery-programs/index</u>
- US Department of Agriculture (USDA) National Agricultural Statistics Service (NASS). 2018. 2018 South Dakota Cropland Data Layer. USDA Nass. Metadata. Available online: <u>https://www.nass.usda.gov/</u> <u>Research_and_Science/Cropland/metadata/metadata_sd18.htm</u>
- US Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 2017. Ecoregion Download Files by State Region 8: South Dakota. Ecoregions of the United States, Ecosystems Research, USEPA. Last updated August 28, 2019. Accessed October 2020. Information online: <u>https://www.epa.gov/eco-research/ecoregiondownload-files-state-region-8#pane-39</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2011. Indiana Bat Section 7 and Section 10 Guidance for Wind Energy Projects. Revised October 26, 2011. Available online: <u>http://www.fws.gov/midwest/endangered/mammals/inba/pdf/inbaS7and10WindGuidanceFinal26Oct2011.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2012. Land-Based Wind Energy Guidelines. March 23, 2012. 82 pp. Available online: <u>http://www.fws.gov/cno/pdf/Energy/2012_Wind_Energy_Guidelines_final.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2013. Eagle Conservation Plan Guidance: Module 1 Land-Based Wind Energy, Version 2. US Department of the Interior, Fish and Wildlife Service, Division of Migratory Bird Management. April 2013. 103 pp. + frontmatter. Available online: <u>https://www. fws.gov/migratorybirds/pdf/management/eagleconservationplanguidance.pdf</u>

- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2017. 2017 Range-Wide Indiana Bat Summer Survey Guidelines. USFWS Ecological Services, Midwest Region, Bloomington, Minnesota. May 9, 2017. Available online: <u>https://www.fws.gov/midwest/endangered/mammals/inba/surveys/pdf/2017INBASummer</u> <u>SurveyGuidelines9May2017.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2018. Cooperative Whooping Crane Tracking Project-GIS Database (CWCTP-GIS). USFWS Nebraska Ecological Services Field Office, Wood River, Nebraska.
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2021. Birds of Conservation Concern 2021. April 2021. USFWS Migratory Bird Program, Washington, D.C. Available online: <u>https://www.fws.gov/birds/management/managed-species/birds-of-conservationconcern.php</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2020a. Range-Wide Indiana Bat Survey Guidelines. USFWS Midwest Region Endangered Species. March 2020. 65 pp. Available online: <u>https://www.fws.gov/</u> <u>midwest/endangered/mammals/inba/surveys/pdf/FINAL%20Range-wide%20IBat%20Survey%20</u> <u>Guidelines%203.23.20.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2020b. Region 6 Recommended Protocol for Conducting Pre-Construction Eagle Nest Surveys at Wind Energy Projects. USFWS, Region 6, Migratory Bird Management Office, Mountain-Prairie Region. January 14, 2020. Available online: <u>https://www.fws.gov/mountain-</u> <u>prairie/migbirds/library/USFWS%20R6%20recommended%20Eagle%20Nest%20Survey%20Prot</u> <u>ocol%20for%20wind%20projects_14Jan2020.pdf</u>
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS). 2020c. Updated Eagle Nest Survey Protocol. 4 pp. Attachment to: USFWS. 2020. Eagle Surveys. Memorandum to Regional Directors, Regions 1-12. From J. Ford, Assistant Director for Migratory Birds. Ecological Services, United States Department of the Interior Fish and Wildlife Service, Washington, D.C. April 21, 2020. Available online: https://www.fws.gov/birds/management/managed-species/eagle-management.php
- US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) National Wetlands Inventory (NWI). 2019. Seamless Wetlands Data by State. Geodatabase and Shapefile data. National Wetlands Inventory website, Washington, D. C. Updated October 2019. Accessed October 2020. Information online: <u>http://www.fws.gov/ wetlands/data/State-Downloads.html</u>US Geological Survey (USGS). 2019. National Hydrography Dataset (NHD). USGS NHD Extracts. August 8, 2019. Accessed October 2020. Information online: <u>https://www.usgs.gov/core-science-systems/ngp/national-hydrography</u>
- US Geological Survey (USGS). 2020. Location Data for Whooping Cranes of the Aransas-Wood Buffalo Population, 2009-2018. *By:* Pearse, A. T., D. A. Brandt, D. M. Baasch, M. T. Bidwell, J. A. Conkin, M. J. Harner, W. Harrell, and K. L. Metzger. USGS data release. USGS Reston, Virginia. May 15, 2020. doi: 10.5066/P9Y8KZJ9. Available online: <u>https://www.sciencebase.gov/ catalog/item/5ea3071582 cefae35a19349a</u>
- US Geological Survey (USGS) Digital Elevation Model (DEM). 2017. Digital Elevation Model (DEM) Imagery. USGS, Reston, Virginia.
- US Geological Survey (USGS) Protected Areas Database of the United States (PAD-US). 2019. Protected Areas Database of the United States Interactive Map. US Department of the Interior. Accessed October 2020. Information online: <u>https://maps.usgs.gov/padus/</u>

- USA Topo. 2013. USA Topo Maps. US Geological Survey (USGS) topographical maps for the United States. ArcGIS. Environmental Systems Research Institute (Esri), producers of ArcGIS software, Redlands, California.
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc (WEST). 2019. Regional summaries of wildlife fatalities at wind facilities in the United States. 2019 Report from the Renew Database. Published by WEST, Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. December 31, 2019.

Appendix O. Summary of Triple H Whooping Crane Monitoring Efforts: April 11 – 20, 2022, Hyde County, South Dakota



ENVIRONMENTAL & STATISTICAL CONSULTANTS

4007 State Street, Suite 109, Bismarck, ND 58503 Phone: 701-250-1756 • www.west-inc.com • Fax: 701-250-1756

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

Date:	July 8, 2022
То:	Carolyn Edwards, ENGIE North America
From:	Martin Piorkowski, Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc.
Subject:	Summary of Triple H WHCR Monitoring Efforts: April 11 – 20, 2022

BACKGROUND

At 2:28PM (all times are CST) on April 11, 2022, Darren Kearney (South Dakota Public Utility Commission [SD PUC]) contacted Casey Willis (*Senior Regional Director of Development*, ENGIE North America) by email to notify him of a reported observation of two Whooping Cranes (WHCR; *Grus americana*) within the Triple H Wind Project (Triple H), as per Condition 37 of the Triple H *Public Utility Commission (PUC)* permit. The report was called into to D. Kearney by a local resident, Leonard Spomer. At 2:40pm South Dakota Game, Fish and Parks (SDGFP) Hilary Morey contacted C. Willis via email that a SDGFP Conservation Officer (Cory Flor) was on site and confirmed the presence of two WHCR. At approximately 4:00pm, C. Willis contacted the Triple H site manager (Shane McDaniel) to shut down any turbines within 2-miles (mi) of the location provided by SDGFP until a professional biologist could reach the location to confirm the birds and appropriate protocol. At 4:16PM, Deb Gregg (SD PUC) emailed D. Kearney to confirm that Triple H had been contacted, as turbines apparently had not been shut down (as of approximately 3:00PM). Between 4:00PM and 5:00PM, turbines were identified within 2-miles of the provided location and shutdown protocols were initiated. All identified turbines were stopped and shutdown just after 5:00PM.

At approximately 6:00PM C. Willis contacted Carolyn Edwards (*Environmental Manager*, ENGIE North America), and discussed the steps taken to that point, including his contact via phone call to Martin Piorkowski, Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST). C. Edwards then took leadership to determine next steps, including monitoring options. At 10:13PM on the same day, an initial plan was developed by M. Piorkowski that indicated WEST would provide monitoring support starting the following morning (4/12/2022). C. Edwards contacted SDGFD and US Fish and Wildlife Service (USFWS) by email as to the observations and procedures implemented to shut down turbines and monitor the birds. Response from USFWS was to continue monitoring until at least the following morning after the last sighting of the birds before repowering turbines.

Below is a description of the monitoring efforts and a timeline of the events that occurred, in chronological order.

MONITORING

Summary

Two WHCR were identified within approximately 1.75 miles (mi) of the Triple H Wind Project in Hughes County, South Dakota at a wetland adjacent to Highway 47 (Figure 1). One of the WHCR was outfitted with color bands and a GPS telemetry transmitter on the right leg. The color bands of the individual was: left leg (top to bottom) white, yellow and red. The other WHCR did not have a telemetry device or bands. The two birds stayed primarily in the areas adjacent to the wetland from April 11 through April 19, 2022 (9 days) with the last observation of either bird occurring at approximately 12:01 pm as the WHCR walked out of the monitor's sight into a cornfield; Figure 1. The primary habitats being used were cut corn fields and the wetland. The last day of monitoring was conducted on 4/20/2022, with no WHCR being observed. The site manager (Shane McDaniel) indicated by phone that they would continue to check on the wetland at least in the morning and evenings to confirm that the two WHCR did not return for the next week (through 4/27/2022). Images of the birds are provided at the end of this memo, along with a brief description of the photograph.

Turbine Shut-Down Procedures Implemented

- 4/11/2022 Three turbines (D-08, D-09, and E-06) were shut down at approximately 5:00pm based on reported observations (see Background, above) of two WHCR within 2 miles of operating turbines.
- 4/12/2022 Based on early morning WHCR movement from the initial wetland location to a corn field north of the wetland an additional five turbines were shut down beyond 2-mi out of an abundance of caution. These include D-07 to D-09 and E-05 to E-09.
- 4/18/2022 4/22/2022 The entire wind project was shut down to complete maintenance to the substation.
- 4/22/2022 After confirming WHCR were no longer in the area, all turbines were returned to operation at approximately 4:30pm.

Monitoring Details

- Day 1: 4/11/2022
 - 2:00pm Initial report local resident of two WHCR located at 44.430° north, -99.444° west. No monitoring occurred.

Day 2: 4/12/2022: Professional monitoring initiated.

- 9:15am Started searching at Triple H Operations and Maintenance Building. Searched areas to include county roads near original sighting and eastern half of the turbine access roads (survey tracks available).
- 2:00pm Two WHCR observed in a field of corn stubble approximately 225 meters west of the wetland and walked out of sight.

• 5:00pm –One WHCR observed immediately west of the wetland with a small flock of sandhill cranes (SACR) in a field of small grain stubble. WHCR was loafing/sleeping.

Day 3: 4/13/2022

- 9:10am Monitoring started at the wetland where the two WHCR were located along the edge of some cattails.
- 9:10am 11:40am The WHCR were generally standing, either preening, loafing or just standing.
- 11:40am 4:45pm No change. WHCR were in the same place nearly all day along the cattails.
- 4:47pm Both WHCR flew to the corn field just north of the wetlands, where they primarily fed and stood around.

Day 4: 4/14/2022

- 9:12am 1:17pm WHCR located at the wetland in the same spot as the previous day. Winds were 30-40 mile-per-hour (mph). They did not move and were sleeping or loafing the entire time.
- 10:09am Small flock of SACR walked out of the nearby cattails and walked towards the WHCR.
- 1:18pm WHCR started walking north along the edge of the wetland for approximately 100 meters.
- 1:26pm WHCR flew from the north end of the wetland back to their original spot at 9:12am.
- 1:27pm 3:08pm WHCR continued to loaf with periodic preening.
- 3:08pm Stefan Jones (*Wind Technician*, Triple H Wind Project) drove up to where the monitor (A. Fryman, WEST) was to provide some contact information. WHCR moved and walked south along the edge of the wetland about 25 meters but did not fly.
- 3:19pm WHCR slowly walked back to their locations after the Wind Technician departed.
- 4:04pm WHCR started walking north out of the wetland into the adjacent grasses.
- 4:09pm WHCR flew up and landed in the corn field directly north of the wetland.
- 4:10pm 4:43pm WHCR started walking out into the corn field and were out of view for this duration. Several attempts were made by the monitor to try to find other vantage points to observe this field with no success, and returned to the wetland.
- 4:44pm 5:00pm WHCR had moved back to the grasses on the north end of the wetland. Mostly feeding and preening.

Day 5: 4/15/2022

- 7:33am 9:56am WHCR not found at wetland. Continued to search area expanding out from the wetland focused on the adjacent cornfield.
- 9:57am Two WHCR flew up from cornfield and seen flying approximately 30 meters in the air and heading northward along the eastern edge of the wind facility. Matt Wallace (WEST monitor) called M. Piorkowski (WEST) to report flight.

- 10:00am While on the phone with M. Piorkowski (WEST) the two WHCR flew between turbines (E-08 and E-09; one turbine was not moving and the other was moving slowly). WHCR flew between the two turbines and disappeared in the distance.
- 10:02am 10:55am Searched area along the eastern edge of the wind facility scanning fields and isolated wetlands and headed northward towards Highmore, SD.
- 10:15am M. Piorkowski (WEST) contacted Triple H site manager (S. McDaniel) to report the observation and indicated that the monitor was currently out trying to locate the WHCR as the two birds flew past the wind facility and were flying northward until they flew out of view.
- 10:56am M. Wallace returned to the wetland and observed the two WHCR with a flock of about 150 SACR.
- 10:57am to 5:00pm WHCR stayed with the SACR at the wetland all day primarily sleeping with some foraging and preening periodically.

Day 6: 4/16/2022

- 7:00am 7:45am WHCR were at the wetland upon monitor's arrival with a flock of approximately 400 SACR. They were primarily walking around the edge of the wetland foraging.
- 7:46am 10:35am WHCR and SACR walked along shelterbelt to the northern corn field and spent the time foraging.
- 10:35am 10:45am WHCR and SACR walked back to the wetland.
- 10:45am 3:50pm WHCR spent the time sleeping with a few periodic foraging events throughout the day.
- 3:50pm 4:35pm WHCR walked to the northern corn field and spent the time foraging.

Day 7: 4/17/2022

- 7:00am 9:18am WHCR were observed at the wetland. Foggy conditions with snow moving through.
- 9:19am 12:00pm Flew to the western corn field where a flock of SACR were. Primarily foraging while they were there. Observations were difficult due to the snow.
- 12:00pm 4:15pm WHCR walked back to the wetland. They primarily spent the time sleeping/loafing with occasional foraging.

• 4:16pm – 5:00pm – WHCR flew to the northern corn field with SACR primarily foraging. Day 8: 4/18/2022

- 9:00am WHCR not located at wetland.
- 9:12am 10:18am WHCR located in corn field north of the wetland with 200+ SACR. Primarily feeding with occasional loafing.
- 9:45am SDGFP Conservation Officer (C. Flor) stopped by to confirm the presence of the monitor as SDGFP has regularly been receiving calls about people being close to the WHCR. He provided no changes or suggestions and stated that he was responding to local landowner calls and following up.
- 10:19am WHCR flew from the corn field south back to the wetland.
- 10:20am 10:46am WHCR were primarily feeding along the edge of the wetland.

- 10:39am Public observer came to look at the WHCR (stopped for about 30 seconds). No reaction from the WHCR.
- 10:47am Slow moving farm equipment along the main road (highway 47, approximately 180 meters to the east) appeared to make the WHCR nervous. They moved towards the northern end of the wetland, but were looking around constantly.
- 10:50am The WHCR moved closer to a small group of SACR and then resumed feeding.
- 11:18am A large group of SACR (200+) flew in from northern corn field to the wetland. The WHCR showed had no obvious reaction when the SACR flew in.
- 11:19am 12:16pm WHCR were primarily sleeping.
- 12:16pm Car stopped by for a few seconds to look at the WHCR from their car. No reaction by the WHCR.
- 12:20pm 20-24 SACR flew in with the rest of the flock already there.
- 12:37pm 1:15pm Flock of SACR and the two WHCR flew to the northern most corn field. Primarily feeding. Tried to find a better spot to monitor them.
- 1:17pm WHCR flew back to the wetland but were pacing around and restless.
- 1:20pm WHCR flew west and out of view.
- 1:23pm WHCR were observed at the western edge of the northern corn field.
- 1:24pm 2:25pm Difficult to observe their behaviors at the distance they were but generally seen loafing and feeding.
- 2:26pm WHCR flew back to the wetland.
- 2:27pm 3:03pm WHCR were walking around along the edge of the wetland, and looking around.
- 3:04pm 3:28pm WHCR were primarily sleeping just inside the wetland, then at 3:28pm one started preening.
- 3:28pm 4:14pm WHCR moved a bit closer to the western edge of the wetland. Both were preening and loafing.
- 4:44pm 250+ SACR flew in and landed close to the WHCR. No reaction by the WHCR.
- 5:02pm Birds were sleeping within a flock of hundreds of SACR.

Day 9: 4/19/2022

- 7:50am 9:38am Large group of SACR still present at the wetland. No WHCR could be located at the wetland or in adjacent corn field. Continued surveying surrounding area.
- 9:39am 9:57am Observed WHCR in a large flock of SACR in the northern corn field, birds were generally walking around and feeding.
- 9:58am WHCR started flying south towards wetland but lost sight of them.
- 10:10am Observed WHCR at the wetland sleeping.
- 10:28am Local resident stopped by to discuss the birds. Said he's been keeping an eye on them for several days.
- 12:01pm WHCR flew to corn field, but landed out of sight. Biomonitor stopped in at the O&M facility for about 15 minutes.

- 12:15pm 1:00pm Could not find the WHCR in the corn field. Drove back to the wetland and didn't find them there either.
- 1:00pm 5:14pm Drove around the area on the county roads and access roads slowly. Did not relocate the WHCR.
- 5:15pm Returned to the wetland and could not locate the WHCR.

Day 10: 4/20/2022

- 7:50am 10:30am Did not locate the WHCR at the wetland. Drove the country roads and eastern half of the access roads and did not find the WHCR. Ended the survey back at the wetland and the WHCR were not there either.
- ~12:30pm M. Piorkowski (WEST) contacted the site manager (S. McDaniel) by phone and updated him of the status of the WHCR and that they had not been seen since approximately 12:00 noon the day before. Site manager suggested that the operations personnel would continue to survey the wetland and adjacent corn fields in the mornings and evenings until the wind facility came back online (afternoon of 4/22/2022) to confirm that the WHCR did not return to the area.



Figure 1. Whooping crane tracking log, of positions identified during 10 days of monitoring (April 11 – 20, 2022) with two mile buffer of the initial sighting locations.



Image 1. Photo from South Dakota Game, Fish and Parks Conservation Officer (C. Flor) taken in the afternoon of April 11, 2022.



Image 2. Photo taken by A. Fryman (WEST) adjacent to the wetland in a cut small grain field where one whooping crane primarily slept with some sandhill cranes. Photo was taken at 2:38pm on April 12, 2022.



Image 3. Photo taken by A. Fryman (WEST) at the wetland with two whooping cranes foraging along the edges of the wetland. Photo was taken at 5:24pm on April 13, 2022.



Image 4. Photo taken by A. Fryman (WEST) at the wetland of two whooping cranes walking along the edges of the wetland. Photo was taken at 1:42pm on April 14, 2022.



Image 5. Photo taken by M. Wallace (WEST) at the northern cornfield of two whooping cranes foraging alongside a small flock of sandhill cranes. Photo was taken on April 15, 2022.



Image 6. Photo taken by M. Wallace (WEST) along the wetland of two whooping cranes with approximately 400 sandhill cranes. Photo was taken on April 15, 2022.



Image 7. Photo taken by A. Fryman (WEST) at the northern cornfield with two whooping cranes foraging alongside a flock of sandhill cranes Photo was taken at 09:16am on April 18, 2022.

Appendix P. 2016 and 2018 Bat Acoustic Monitoring at the North Bend Wind Project, Hyde and Hughes Counties, South Dakota - Technical Memo



ENVIRONMENTAL & STATISTICAL CONSULTANTS

415 West 17th Street, Suite 200, Cheyenne, Wyoming 82001 Phone: 307-634-1756 • www.west-inc.com • Fax: 307-637-6981

TECHNICAL MEMORANDUM

Date:	January 30, 2023
То:	John Russell, Western Area Power Administration
From:	Martin Piorkowski, Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc.
Subject:	2016 and 2018 Bat Acoustic Monitoring at the North Bend Wind Project

INTRODUCTION

North Bend Wind Project, LLC (North Bend) is considering the development of the North Bend Wind Project (Project) in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota. The new facility would consist of 71 proposed wind turbines and associated facilities. North Bend contracted with Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc. (WEST) to conduct a bat acoustic review of data collected previously in 2016 and 2018. Details for bat acoustic data collection can be found in *Bat Activity Studies for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota* (Heath et al. 2017) and *Bat Activity Surveys for the Triple H Wind Project, Hyde and Hughes Counties, South Dakota. Final Report: April 25 – October 25, 2018* (Heath et al. 2019), but a summary of the general methodologies and survey design are provided below for simplicity.

METHODS

WEST conducted acoustic monitoring studies to estimate levels of bat activity within the Project area from May 26 through October 21, 2016 and April 25 through October 25, 2018. For each year of survey two stations were surveyed, one representative station and one bat feature station. A representative station is placed in a location of future turbine locations, often in open areas of cropland or grassland habitat. While bat feature stations are placed in habitat with features considered attractive to bats for foraging, drinking, or roosting opportunities (, e.g., riparian forest, forest edges, ponds, streams, and forested flyways. The bat feature station remained the same between years, however, representative station changed between 2016 and 2018, resulting in three total locations being surveyed (Figure 1).

For each survey location, bat passes were sorted into two groups based on their call's minimum frequency. High-frequency (HF) bats, including eastern red bats (*Lasiurus borealis*) and *Myotis* species (northern long-eared bat [NLEB; *M. septentrionalis*], western small footed bat [*M. ciliolabrum*], and little brown bat [*M. lucifugus*]) have minimum frequencies greater than 30 kilohertz (kHz). Low-frequency (LF) bats, including big brown bats (*Eptesicus fuscus*), silver-

haired bats (*Lasionycteris noctivagans*), and hoary bats (*L. cinereus*), typically emit echolocation calls with minimum frequencies below 30 kHz.



Figure 1. Location of AnaBat detectors deployed during 2016 and 2018 within the North Bend Wind Project boundary in Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota

Acoustic data was classified by Kaleidoscope Pro (Kaleidoscope; Wildlife Acoustics, Inc. 2022) and bat calls classified as potential NLEB received further qualitative review. In 2018 the acoustic analysis included processing the zero-cross acoustic files confirmed to contain bats through Kaleidoscope version 5.1.6 using the Bats of North America classifier 4.2.0 at the "0" balanced (neutral) sensitivity setting, meeting the approved USFWS settings and version in 2018. The 2016 acoustic data was originally only labeled to frequency group and not run through an automated identification program. In December of 2022, zero-cross calls confirmed to be bat passes were run through the automated identification feature in Kaleidoscope 5.4.7 using the Bats of North America classifier 5.4.7 at the -1 sensitivity setting (Wildlife Acoustics, Inc. 2022), meeting current **USFWS** acoustic software approved automated bat ID program standards (https://www.fws.gov/media/automated-acoustic-bat-id-software-program).

A qualified acoustic analyst (Kevin Murray) qualitatively reviewed calls identified as NLEB through visual comparison of echolocation call metrics (e.g., minimum frequency, slope, and duration) to reference calls of known bats (O'Farrell and Gannon 1999, Murray et al. 2001, Yates and Muzika 2006).

RESULTS

Some variation between 2016 and 2018 occurred in the composition of HF and LF activity. In 2016, more HF bat passes were recorded, and in 2018 more LF bat passes were recorded (Table 1). Generally, there was more bat activity in 2016 than in 2018 at both station types.

Table 1. Results of bat activity surveys conducted at stations within the North Bend Wind Project area, Hughes and Hyde counties, South Dakota, from May 26 – October 21, 2016, and April 25 – October 25, 2018. Passes are separated by call frequency: high frequency (HF) and low frequency (LF).

			# of HF Bat	# of LF Bat	Total Bat	Detector-	Bat
Year	Station	Туре	Passes	Passes	Passes ¹	Nights	Passes/Night ²
2016	TH4	representative	49	53	102	61	1.67 ± 0.44
	TH3	bat feature	128	95	223	95	2.35 ± 0.37
Total			177	148	325	156	
2018	TH5	representative	5	12	17	151	0.11 ± 0.04
	TH4	bat feature	54	79	133	127	1.05 ± 0.20
Total			59	91	150	278	

¹ Data on bat pass rates represent indices of bat activity and does not necessarily represent numbers of individuals.

 2 ± bootstrapped standard error.

---Total not given due to differences in how stations were selected and their objectives.

In 2016, Kaleidoscope flagged three potential NLEB files, which upon qualitative review were determined not to be NLEB. In 2018, no NLEB were identified by Kaleidoscope and therefore no qualitative review was required.

REFERENCES

Cryan, P. M. 2008. Mating Behavior as a Possible Cause of Bat Fatalities at Wind Turbines. Journal of Wildlife Management 72(3): 845-849. doi: 10.2193/2007-371.

- Heath, B., K. Hammond, and D. Solick. 2017. Bat Activity Studies for the Triple H Wind Project, Hughes and Hyde Counties, South Dakota. Prepared for Triple H Wind Project, LLC. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming. February 6, 2017.
- Heath, B., A. Matteson, and K. Hammond-Rendon. 2019. Bat Activity Surveys for the Tripl H Wind Project, Hyde and Hughes counties, South Dakota. Final Report: April 25 – October 25, 2018. Prepared for Triple H Wind Project, LLC. Prepared by Western Ecosystems Technology, Inc. (WEST), Cheyenne, Wyoming.
- Kunz, T. H., E. B. Arnett, B. M. Cooper, W. P. Erickson, R. P. Larkin, T. Mabee, M. L. Morrison, M. D. Strickland, and J. M. Szewczak. 2007. Assessing Impacts of Wind-Energy Development on Nocturnally Active Birds and Bats: A Guidance Document. Journal of Wildlife Management 71(8): 2449-2486. doi: 10.2193/2007-270.
- US Fish and Wildlife Service. 2012. Land-Based Wind Energy Guidelines. March 23, 2012. 82 pp. Available online: http://www.fws.gov/cno/pdf/Energy/2012_Wind_Energy_Guidelines_final.pdf
- Western EcoSystems Technology, Inc (WEST). 2019. Regional summaries of wildlife fatalities at wind facilities in the United States. 2019 Report from the Renew Database. Published by WEST, Inc., Cheyenne, Wyoming. December 31, 2019.